Soil Organic Matter Dynamics in Eurasian Steppes ユーラシア・ステップにおける土壌有機物のダイナミックス 一地球温暖化・砂漠化対策としての土地利用の適正化とは何か? --

> Final Report on Research Project (Number: 13460032) under Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (B)(2) for 2001 to 2003



図書館 Takashi Kosaki Professor Graduate School of Global Enviromental Studies Kyoto University

March 2005

# Soil Organic Matter Dynamics in Eurasian Steppes

ユーラシア・ステップにおける土壌有機物のダイナミックス --地球温暖化・砂漠化対策としての土地利用の適正化とは何か?--

# Final Report on Research Project (Number: 13460032) under Grant-in-Aid for Scientific Research (B)(2) for 2001 to 2003

## Takashi Kosaki

#### Charteren son in North Kazakhstan, ett Professor et fullow, Soil Blochem, 16, 1

Graduate School of Global Enviromental Studies Kyoto University

# March 2005

matter dynamics in the seisi-arid croplands of northern Kazakhstan. International Symposium ovaluation and monitoring of descriptionilon - symbolic activities for the consolution to UNCCD Tailniba, Japan

#### [研究組織]

| 研究代表者   | 小崎隆山                | 京都大学大学院・地球環境学堂・教授     |
|---------|---------------------|-----------------------|
| 研究分担者   | 舟川晋也                | 京都大学大学院・農学研究科・助教授     |
|         | 矢内純太                | 京都大学大学院・地球環境学堂・助手     |
|         | 真常仁志                | 京都大学大学院・農学研究科・助手      |
|         | 長縄貴彦                | 島根大学・生物資源学部・助教授       |
|         | 谷昌幸                 | 帯広畜産大学・畜産学部・助手        |
| 海外共同研究者 | Kanat Akshalov      | カザフ穀作研究所・主任研究官        |
|         | Konstantin Pachikin | カザフ土壌研究所・主任研究官        |
|         | Vadim Solovey       | ウクライナ土壌・農芸科学研究所・主任研究官 |
|         | Tibor Toth          | ハンガリー農芸化学研究所・主任研究官    |
| (研究協力者) | Nikolai I. Polupan  | ウクライナ土壌・農芸科学研究所       |
|         | 角野貴信                | 京都大学大学院・農学研究科         |
|         | 三島あずさ               | 京都大学大学院・農学研究科         |
|         | 高田裕介                | 京都大学大学院・農学研究科         |
|         |                     |                       |

[交付決定額] (配分額)

|          |         |                               | (金額単位:  | 千円) |
|----------|---------|-------------------------------|---------|-----|
|          | 直接経費    | 間接経費                          | 合計      |     |
| 平成13年度   | 9, 300  | 0                             | 9, 300  |     |
| 平成14年度   | 2, 700  | 0                             | 2, 700  |     |
| 平成 15 年度 | 3, 500  | ues, and le <b>O</b> cturredy | 3, 500  |     |
| 総計       | 15, 500 | 0                             | 15, 500 |     |

## [研究発表]

(学会誌等)

舟川晋也 2003:ジオスタティスティクスを用いた四次元的土壌プロセスの解明――北部カザ フスタン穀作農業地帯における土壌有機物収支――, ペドロジスト, 47, 55-63.

Karbozova-Saljnikov, E., Funakawa, S., Akhmetov, K. and Kosaki, T. 2004: Soil organic matter status of Chernozem soil in North Kazakhstan: effects of summer fallow. *Soil Biol. Biochem.*, 36, 1373-1381.
Funakawa, S., Nakamura, I., Akshalov, K., and Kosaki, T. 2004: Soil organic matter dynamics under the factor of the state of the state

grain farming in northern Kazakhstan. *Soil Sci. Plant. Nutr.*, 50(8), 1211-1218. Funakawa, S., Nakamura, I., Akshalov, K., and Kosaki, T. 2004: Water dynamics in soil-plant systems

under grain farming in northern Kazakhstan. Soil Sci. Plant. Nutr., 50(8), 1219-1227.

Mishima, A., Yanai, J., Funakawa, S., Akshalov, K. and Kosaki, T. 2004: Spatial variability of organic matter dynamics in the semi-arid croplands of northern Kazakhstan. International Symposium: evaluation and monitoring of desertification - synthetic activities for the contribution to UNCCD -, Tsukuba, Japan.

- Takata, Y., Mishima, A., Funakawa, S., Yanai, J., Akshalov, K. and Kosaki, T. 2004: Carbon budget in the semi-arid croplands of northern Kazakhstan. International Symposium: evaluation and monitoring of desertification synthetic activities for the contribution to UNCCD -, Tsukuba, Japan.
- Yanai, J., Mishima, A., Funakawa, S., Akshalov, K., and Kosaki, T. 2005: Spatial variability of organic matter dynamics in semi-arid croplands in northern Kazakhstan. *Soil Sci. Plant. Nutr.*, 51(2), 191-199.
- 舟川晋也・小崎隆 2005:カザフスタン・ステップ地帯に分布する土壌の特性、ペドロジスト、
  49、投稿中.

(学会発表)

- Karbozova R. Elmira, Takashi Kosaki, Shinya Funakawa and Iwao Nakamura 2000: Effect of Crop Rotations on Soil Organic Matter Characteristics in Chernozems of northern Kazakstan. 日本土壤肥料 学会 2000 年度大会.
- 舟川晋也,中村岩生, Kanat Akshalov,小崎 隆 2001:カザフスタン北部畑作地における土 壌有機物の動態.日本土壌肥料学会 2001 年度大会(高知).
- 舟川晋也 2002:ジオスタティスティクスを用いた四次元的土壌プロセスの解明──北部カザ フスタン穀作農業地帯における土壌有機物収支──,日本ペドロジー学会2002年度大会シ ンポジウム(福井).
- 三嶋あずさ,矢内純太,舟川晋也,A. Kanat,E. Koishibai,小崎隆 2002:カザフスタン北 部畑作地における炭素動態の空間変動解析,日本土壌肥料学会 2002 年度大会(名古屋).
- 三嶋あずさ,矢内純太,舟川晋也,A. Kanat,E. Koishibai,小崎隆 2003:土壌有機物動態 に基づく土地利用の適正化-カザフスタン北部における半乾燥畑作地の事例,日本土壌肥 料学会 2003 年度大会(神奈川).

#### Preface

Eurasian steppe - it sounds so exotic, romantic, wild, and extensive and is calling me to visit. I have dreamed many times of wondering around in the steppe with patches of farms and birch forests since I started learning soil science in the university. Whatever textbook of soil science you pick up, you can find the name of V.V. Dokuchaev, The Father of Modern Soil Science, together with the name of Chernozem, one of the most productive soils in the world. As you know, he studied soils in the Southern Russian Plain under steppe and forest-steppe vegetation and published his classic work "Russian Chernozems" in 1883, since then it became the bible of soil science. We learned soil-forming factors and processes, soil classification, etc. according to his ideas and their modification done by his successors in various countries. Yes, I did in Japan as well, but mostly in a textbook only. Unfortunately, our climate is too humid to learn his ideas under field condition of Japan. We never observe carbonate accumulated B horizon in a soil profile. One of the motivations with which we started this research project is to learn what steppe soils are and what processes are going on there in the classroom of Eurasian Steppe.

As I mentioned above, Chernozem soils are one of the most productive soils and thus they have been used for agricultural production, mainly of upland crops such as wheat, barley, sugar beet, corn, sunflower, etc. We should, however, remind us of their vulnerability as well which has been shown as "dustbowl" in 1930s of the United States. Chernozem soils have been converted from virgin steppe vegetation into mechanized farm for upland crop cultivation since the beginning of the 20th century and now land degradation such as soil organic matter decline can be observed in many of Chernozem soils. Particularly in the end of the last century, the former Soviet Union collapsed and most of the upland farms converted from Eurasian Steppe were exposed to privatization and swallowed in the world trading system. Not a small numbers of farms are now poorly maintained and/or exploited without proper soil and land management. Soil degradation in Eurasian Steppe is one of the urgent issues to cope with for world food security and consequently for stability of the countries independent from the former Soviet Union in terms of their political as well as economical situation. We, the Japanese, are responsible for assisting the re-establishment of appropriate land use systems protecting against land degradation, because Japan was the member of the allied forces to promote the reformation of Russia and eastern countries. This is the second motivation for this project.

The third motivation was to discuss with local scientists, shared the ideas with them, and make them open to the world for further discussion. The soil scientists in the former Soviet Union and eastern European countries were thought to be well trained and accumulated a lot of research outcomes, but unfortunately most of them were published in Russian and/or local languages only and thus they were quite difficult for us to access. We took an opportunity of the collapse of the former Soviet Union to start collaborative research firstly with Kazakhstan, next with Ukraine and finally with Hungary. In the course of the joint research, we were very lucky to be introduced a few very knowledgeable soil scientists with high potential. They were very well trained in Russian School of soil science and did a lot of valuable work in their places. They were not only reliable collaborators but also superb teachers and/or supervisors for us in this research topics. Frankly speaking, we still can find some gaps in understanding the concepts about the processes of land degradation and recognizing parameters to evaluate and predict them. I would say, however, that it is one of the best outcomes to find those gaps in our project.

This is just the beginning of collaborative research with our colleagues in Kazakhstan, Ukraine and Hungary, and hopefully shall be expanding into Russia and other countries in Central Asia, Baltic and Eastern Europe. We do hope the articles published here shall provide the readers with a variety of ideas and concepts which are from classical ones developed by Dokuchaev through newly and uniquely modified and/or developed ones by his successors in Kazakhstan, Ukraine, Hungary, and Japan. We would very much appreciate any comments and criticism from all of you. I am sure all of them should contribute to our research and I would be pleased if you could join us together in the next phase. You may hear what Eurasian Steppe whispers to you;

"Hey, come and step on me like Prof. Dokuchaev did! It's a fun!"

March, 2005

#### Acknowledgments

v

This research is supported by many researchers, especially of Ukraine, Hungary and Kazakhstan.

We are very grateful to Dr. Vitaliy W. Medvedev, Director of Institute for Soil Science and Agrochemistry Research, Kharkov and his staff members, Dr. Valentina Samokhvalova and Mr. Pavel A. Volkov. We also thank Mr. Maxim Baydyuk, Director of Grakovo Experimental Field, for his kind support during our field measurement.

We wish to express our sincere gratitude to Dr. Viktor S. Havrylenko, Director of the F. Falz-Fein Biosphere Reserve "Askania-Nova" and his staff members, Dr. Tatiana I. Ushachova and Ms. Eugenia Morgun.

We would like to thank Dr. Lajos Blasko, Director of Karcag Research Institute of the University of Debrecen, and his staff members, and also to staff members of the Velence Experimental farm.

We are very grateful to Messrs. Koishibai Erzhanov, Pavel Pankinstaff, Denis Usachev and Kairat Kuitenov for their collaboration during the field studies, Dr. Norio Ishida, Kyoto University, for his assistance in the overall research in Kazakhstan, and to Mrs. Sholpan Akshalova for her constant assistance during the long-term stay of the second author at Shortandy, Kazakhstan.

othe 3. Soft-realogical routility of Eurosium aroppes and soft classification around principles - selentific base for adving the problem of soft organic testier dynamics.

A. A. Typology of shines of European but based as therefor comparison

3.2. Productivity: relationship between abovegraund and billowground blumase, and humas economistion in the stepped-notio

 Bydrathement coefficient, ancount of precisionanianing cold period and its animitation by Wolf sprinting ordered of resources of water supply and energy of roll formation

3.4. Suil-scological romain of support of tilevans successfully of reacting of support of support soils.

3.5. Chantishive deprocedes of and formation type - it is promising present determinants of exalting bally and an exactly states.

begier 4 – Research and regimes in wells inder Period Mipo stoppe and reclained applicational hund in Addams, configern Licening, whit special reference is dynamics of coll organic matter

4.1. Ceneral minimum alson: Askenia stappe
4.2. Characteristics of solid at the station.
4.3. Characteristics of solid at the station.
4.4. To mentione regime of the solid during the period of stateants on states to be to all of the solid during the period.
4.5. Modulation regime of the solid during the period of stateants on states to be to all of the solid during the period.
4.6. Modulation regime index natural condition.
4.6. Modulation of solid to be the general solid.
4.6. Modulation of solid to be the general solid.
4.6. Productivity of plant biometry of virgin and compact conducting.
4.7. Productivity of plant biometry of virgin and compact conducting.
4.8. Productivity of plant biometry of virgin and compact conducting.
4.9. Productivity of plant biometry of virgin and compact conducting.
4.10. Endogical activity and as a solid set of solid solid.

4112. Scallas deformentation of humble content fit finite of Askenisi stands and failud debroubline in

| Chante         | r 1 Introduction   |        |
|----------------|--|--------|
| pre            | Shinya Funakawa and Elmira Karbozova-Salinikov   |        |
| 1.1.           | Significance of soil organic matter in Chernozem soils   |        |
| 1.2.           | General characteristics of Chernozem soils   |        |
| 1.3.           | Factors determining organic C levels   |        |
| 1.4.           | Decomposition of organic matter  |        |
| 1.5.           | Human impact on decomposition scientifies in operation Kazakistan  |        |
| 1.6.           | Objectives of the study  | 1.S. 1 |
|                | References the state derived souls on the sould be blocked on the Main following and the bound in to build   |        |
| Chapte         | 2 Characteristics of soils in Ukraine and their classification with special reference to dynamics of   |        |
| soil           | organic matter - actual problem of fundamental and applied soil sciences   |        |
|                | Conclusion for characteristics of steppe soils in Kazachster alertoto Nikolai Ivanovich Polupan  |        |
|                | References "million" and the Philip Constant of the Philip Constant  |        |
| Chapte         | - Soil-ecological zonation of Eurasian steppes and soil classification according to quantitative   |        |
| ,<br>pri       | iciples - scientific base for solving the problem of soil organic matter dynamics  |        |
| 98             | Nikolai Ivanovich Polupan  |        |
| 3.1.           | Typology of steppes of European part based on florestic composition  |        |
| 3.2.           | Productivity, relationship between aboveground and belowground biomass, and humus accumulation in the  |        |
|                | .4.4. Carbon mineralization potentials   |        |
| 3.3.           | Hydrothermal coefficient, amount of precipitation during cold period and its assimilation by soil - priority   |        |
|                | criteria of resources of water supply and energy of soil formation   |        |
| 3.4.           | Soil-ecological zonation of steppe part of Ukraine and pattern of spatial dynamic of organic matter in the   |        |
|                | Hinot of humilization and irregation in Kherson experimental site ago for lefor bus notices of ago hos   |        |
| 3.5.           | Quantitative diagnostics of soil formation type - it is promising precise determination of ecological/genetic  |        |
|                | status of soils and their humus stocks   |        |
| 3.6.           |  |        |
|                | Keterences (1997) and an and a set of the se |        |
| Chante         | A Processes and regimes in soils under <i>Easting</i> . Sting steppe and reelaimed agricultural land in  |        |
| Chapte<br>A el | ania southern Ilkraine with special reference to dynamics of soil organic matter   |        |
|                | Nikolai Ivanovich Polunan  |        |
| 4.1            | General information about Askania steppe   |        |
| 4.2.           | Characteristics of soils at the station  |        |
| 4.3.           | Climatic conditions during the experiment  |        |
| 4.4.           | Temperature regime of the soils during the period of research on water balance   |        |
| 4.5.           | Moisture regime under natural condition  |        |
| 4.6.           | Moisture regime of cultivated non-irrigated soils  |        |
| 4.7.           | Evolution of salt regime in agro-ecosystem   | 1.0    |
| 4.8.           | Productivity of plant biomass of virgin and cropped ecosystems   |        |
| 4.9.           | Peculiarities of microbiological processes in the study zone   |        |
| 4.10           | Biological activity  |        |
| 4.11           | Carbon-dioxide regime in soil gas phase and its emission   | \$. }  |
| 4.12           | Spatial heterogeneity of humus content in soils of Askania steppe and factors determining it   |        |

| 4.12. Ohen statistics and i standies of here a formation is the similar and the authings of Dark sheetenst suite of | <b>C</b> 1 |
|---|------------|
| 4.13. Characteristics and intensity of numus formation in the virgin and the cultivated Dark chestnut soils of      | 01         |
| tescue-stipa steppe   | 65         |
| 4.14. Conclusion  | 66         |
| References  | 00         |
| Chapter 5 Effect of fertilization and manure application on soil organic matter dynamics of Chernozem               | 71         |
| soils in Ukraine  |            |
| Elmira Karbozova-Saljnikov and Takashi Kosaki   |            |
| 5.1. Background   | 71         |
| 5.2. Soil sampling and analytical methods   | 71         |
| 5.3. Effect of manure application in Kharkov experimental site  | 72         |
| 5.3.1. Soil organic carbon and total nitrogen   | 72         |
| 5.3.2. Soil mineral nitrogen  | 73         |
| 5.3.3. Nitrogen mineralization potentials   | 73         |
| 5.3.4. Carbon mineralization potentials   | 74         |
| 5.3.5. "Light fraction" organic matter  | 75         |
| 5.3.6. Microbial biomass  | 75         |
| 5.3.7. Discussion   | 76         |
| 5.4. Effect of fertilization and manure application at Uman experimental site                                       | 76         |
| 5.4.1. Soil organic carbon and total nitrogen   | 76         |
| 5.4.2. Soil mineral nitrogen  | 76         |
| 5.4.3. Nitrogen mineralization potentials   | 77         |
| 5.4.4. Carbon mineralization potentials   | 78         |
| 5.4.5. "Light fraction" organic matter  | 79         |
| 5.4.6. Microbial biomass  | 79         |
| 5.4.7. Discussion   | 79         |
| 5.5. Effect of fertilization and irrigation in Kherson experimental site  | 80         |
| 5.5.1. Soil organic carbon and total nitrogen   | 80         |
| 5.5.2. Soil mineral nitrogen  | 80         |
| 5.5.3. Nitrogen mineralization potentials   | 81         |
| 5.5.4. Carbon mineralization potentials   | 81         |
| 5.5.5. "Light fraction" organic matter  | 82         |
| 5.5.6. Microbial biomass  | 82         |
| 5.5.7. Discussion   | 82         |
| 5.6. General discussion   | 83         |
| 5.7. Conclusions  | 83         |
| References  | 83         |
|   |            |
| Chapter 6 Carbon flux in semi-arid grassland ecosystems and its dependence on soil temperature and                  | 87         |
| moisture in Ukraine   |            |
| Atsunobu Kadono   | 0.5        |
| 0.1. Background   | 87         |
| 6.2. Soil sampling and analytical methods   | 88         |
| 6.5. Air temperature, precipitation, soil temperature and moisture  | 89         |
| 0.4. In suu son respiration rates   | 90         |

6.5. Amount of the whole soil respiration, soil microbial respiration and root respiration measured in 2003

6.6. Dependence of the soil respiration on soil temperature and moisture

ņ

90

91

#### Contents

| 6.7. Estimation of annual total soil respiration using monitored soil temperature and moisture data  | 92                      |
|--|-------------------------|
| 6.8. Comparison of above- and below-ground biomasses with soil respiration rates   | 93                      |
| 6.9. Conclusion rechanged proversion of Cherneteres in Likrains sum noticulator lice but insurvo and a   | 93                      |
| References and home and antibute Association of States in the second states of the second s  | 94                      |
| Chapter 7 General outline of soil properties and agriculture in Kazakhstan steppe  | 95                      |
| Shinya Funakawa and Azusa Mishima  | a <sup>l notratil</sup> |
| 7.1. General background  | 95                      |
| 7.2. Historical background of rainfed agriculture in northern Kazakhstan   | 95                      |
| 7.3. Materials and methods   | 96                      |
| 7.4. Characteristics of the loess-derived soils on the foothill of Mt. Alatau in the south   | 101                     |
| 7.5. Characteristics of the Chernozem soils in northern steppe   | 102                     |
| 7.6. Comparison of properties of soils formed under grassland and forest in northern forest steppe zone  | 104                     |
| 7.7. Characteristics of soils developed under different hydrological conditions in the northern steppe   | 104                     |
| 7.8. Conclusion for characteristics of steppe soils in Kazakhstan  | 105                     |
| References   | 105                     |
| Appendix - profile description   | 107                     |
| Chapter 8 Soil organic matter status of Chernozem soil in North Kazakhstan: effects of summer fallow   | 109                     |
| Elmira Karbozova-Saljnikov and Takashi Kosak   | i                       |
| 8.1. Background manal burger and sets A sense struct   | 109                     |
| 8.2. Materials and methods   | 109                     |
| 8.2.1. Site description and crop rotation  | 109                     |
| 8.2.2. Soil sampling and analysis  | 110                     |
| 8.2.3. Statistics a containe matter solution and a contained being | 111                     |
| 8.3. Results many between sail organic matter and clay content sumanyo mattern cinagio to yuidainey feitag   | 111                     |
| 8.3.1. Soil organic carbon and total nitrogen  | 111                     |
| 8.3.2. Potentially mineralizable carbon  | 111                     |
| 8.3.3. Soil mineral nitrogen   | 111                     |
| 8.3.4. Potentially mineralizable nitrogen  | 112                     |
| 8.3.5. "Light fraction" organic matter   | 113                     |
| 8.3.6. Grain yields and weed biomass   | 113                     |
| 8.4. Discussion  | 114                     |
| 8.4.1. Soil organic carbon and total nitrogen  | 114                     |
| 8.4.2. Potentially mineralizable carbon  | 114                     |
| 8.4.3. Soil mineral nitrogen   | 114                     |
| 8.4.4. Potentially mineralizable nitrogen  | 114                     |
| 8.4.5. "Light fraction" organic matter   | 115                     |
| 8.4.6. Grain yields and weed biomass   | 115                     |
| 8.5. Conclusions   | 116                     |
| References and a source sease, results a sease and the sease and the sease of the s | 116                     |
| Chapter 9 Soil organic matter dynamics under grain farming in northern Kazakhstan  | 119                     |
| Shinya Funakawa. Iwao Nakamura and Kanat Akshalov  | ,                       |
| 9.1. Background  | 119                     |
| 9.2. Study methods   | 119                     |
| 9.3 Eluctuations of soil temperature soil moisture content and soil respiration rate   | 121                     |

| X  |      |
|--|------|
|  | 100  |
| 9.4. Dynamics of soil microbial biomass  | 122  |
| 9.5. Estimation of $CO_2$ emissions throughout the cropping period using the measured data of soil temperature,  | 123  |
| moisture content, and soil respiration rate  | 104  |
| Beforences   | 124  |
| Keieleiikes  | 123  |
| Chapter 10 Water dynamics in soil-plant systems under grain farming in northern Kazakhstan   | 127  |
| Shinya Funakawa, Iwao Nakamura and Kanat Akshalov  |      |
| 2 10.1. Background   | 127  |
| 10.2. Study methods  | 128  |
| 10.3. Water dynamics in the pre-cropping seasons of 1998/1999 and 1999/2000 under different land use stages  | 129  |
| and types of field management  |      |
| 10.4. Water dynamics in the cropping seasons of 1999 and 2000 under different land use stages and types of field management  | 133  |
| 10.5 Conclusion  | 134  |
| References   | 135  |
|  | 100  |
| Chapter 11 Spatial variability of organic matter dynamics in the semi-arid croplands of northern   | 137  |
| Kazakhstan: analysis on distribution patterns of organic matter-related properties of soils in agro-   |      |
| landscape using geostatistics  |      |
| Junta Yanai, Azusa Mishima and Kanat Akshalov  |      |
| and 11.1. Background   | 137  |
| 11.2. Materials and methods  | 138  |
| 11.3. General trend of organic matter dynamics   | 140  |
| 11.4. Correlation of the field properties  | 142  |
| 11.5. Spatial variability of organic matter dynamics   | 142  |
| 11.6. Site-specific management for sustainable agriculture   | 144  |
| References who can be and total bitrages.  | 144  |
| 3.3. Suit minorea nimorea  | 1.47 |
| Chapter 12 Spatial variation of carbon budget in agro-landscape in northern Kazakhstan<br>Visuka Takata, Azusa Mishima and Kanat Akshalov  | 147  |
| 12.1. Packground   | 147  |
| 12.1. Dataground methods   | 147  |
| 12.2. Materials and methods  | 147  |
| 12.4. Detentially mineralizable errorais serber  | 149  |
| 12.4. Potentially mineralizable organic carbon noduci oldsvilatanim vilaitastoff .C.A.   | 149  |
| 12.5. Seasonal change of soli  | 149  |
| Deferment  | 151  |
| Cill Kelerences  | 152  |
| Chapter 13 Features and properties of chernozemic soils and humic substances in the Eurasian Steppe  | 153  |
| Masayuki Tani, Mika Sasaki, Yosuke Takahashi, Hitoshi Shinjo,  |      |
| Nobuhide Fujitake, Hiroaki Sumida, and Takashi Kosaki  |      |
| (13.1. Background and a metal and a metal metal of the solution of the solutio | 153  |
| 13.2. Materials and methods  | 154  |
| 13.2.1. Soil survey and sample collection  | 154  |
| 13.2.2. Analytical methods for physico-chemical properties   | 156  |
| 13.2.3. Analytical methods for humic substances  | 156  |

| 13.3. Climate and soils in the Eurasian steppe   | 156 |
|--|-----|
| 13.3.1. Moisture regime and soil development in Ukraine  | 156 |
| 13.3.2. Physico-chemical properties of Chernozems in Ukraine   | 157 |
| 13.3.3. Characteristics of humic substances of Chernozems in Ukraine   | 158 |
| 13.4. Agricultural use and soils in the Eurasian steppe  | 161 |
| 13.4.1. Chernozemic soils in Hungary and Canada  | 161 |
| 13.4.2. Intensive agriculture and soil physico-chemical properties   | 162 |
| 13.4.3. Intensive agriculture and SOM dynamics of humic acids  | 163 |
| 13.5. Conclusion   | 166 |
| References<br>References   | 166 |
| Chapter 14 Characterization of soil organic matter status of Chernozem soils from different climatic regions   | 169 |
| of former Soviet Union and and over a weaksard avenue  |     |
| Elmira Karbozova-Saljnikov and Takashi Kosaki  |     |
| 1014.1. Background   | 169 |
| 1014.2. Description of study soils   | 169 |
| 14.2.1 Ukraine experimental sites  | 170 |
| 14.2.2. Northern Kazakhstan experimental site  | 171 |
| 14.3. Analytical methods   | 171 |
| 14.4. Soil organic carbon and total nitrogen   | 173 |
| 14.5. Labile soil organic matter   | 173 |
| 14.6. Carbon mineralization potentials and an analysis and a prior and another obtained and an analysis and a potentials and a potential of a | 174 |
| 14.7. Site variation in potentially mineralizable carbon and mineralization rate constant $(k)$  | 175 |
| 114.8. Microbial biomass carbon one appendicated to transfer to minuton to validiated att to release the tested  | 175 |
| 14.9. "Light fraction" organic matter  | 176 |
| 14.10.Relationship between soil organic matter and clay content  | 177 |
| 14.11.Distribution of labile and stable carbon   | 177 |
| 14.12.General discussion   | 177 |
| 14.13.Conclusions of the sublem F spin 2   | 178 |
| References References (2 or 2 status of the  | 178 |
| Chapter 15 Factors controlling mineralization of soil organic matter in Eurasian steppe  | 183 |
| 1996 Atsunobu Kadono and Shinya Funakawa   |     |
| 1115.1. Background Obinoution of standard standing about fallow comments 1. Of to the minimum and proved at  | 183 |
| 15.2. Materials and methods  | 183 |
| 15.3. Soil properties and the comparison in land use   | 186 |
| 15.4. Amounts of $C_0$ and $N_0$ under different land use  | 186 |
| 15.5. Principal component analysis (PCA) on soil and meteorological properties   | 187 |
| 15.6. Relationship between factors and land use  | 188 |
| 15.7. Determination of factors controlling readily mineralizable C and N by linear regression with the stepwise  | 188 |
| method   |     |
| 15.8. Conclusion   | 189 |
| References   | 189 |

| Chapter 16 Comparison of <i>in situ</i> soil respiration in di  | fferent regions of Eurasia steppes   | 193        |
|---|--|------------|
| $\delta \mathcal{E}(5, \beta)$ and $\delta \mathcal{E}(3, \beta)$ embed on the stop $\mathbf{S}$  | hinya Funakawa, Konstantin Pachikin and Tibor Toth   |            |
| 16.1. Background  | 13.3.2. Physics-chemical properties of Chernozenis in UK   | 193        |
| 16.2. Materials and methods   | 13.3.3.Characteristics of humic substituties of humic  | 193        |
| 16.3. Fluctuation of soil temperature and moisture and <i>ir</i>  | <i>situ</i> soil respiration rate at the experimental plots  | 195        |
| 16.4. Parameters for simulating <i>in situ</i> soil respiration ra  | tes anna Las varanti ai nice oimerbare (3.1.8.1.   | 195        |
| 16.5. Simulation of annual fluctuation of soil respiration  | using the parameters with the second due of the second of the second second second second second second second   | 198        |
| 16.6 Factors affecting the amounts of annual soil respira   | tion in study plots  | 199        |
| References  |  | 200        |
|   |  |            |
| Chapter 17 Temperature/moisture dependence of org   | anic matter decomposition in soils from different  | 201        |
| environments with special reference to contribution   | of light- and heavy-fraction C   |            |
| environments with special reference to contribution   | Shinya Funakawa Vuko Nishiyama and Ayako Kato  |            |
| 17.1 Background   | Sinnya Funakawa, Tuko Nisinyania and Ayako Kato  | 201        |
| 17.1. Background  |  | 201<br>201 |
| 17.2.1 Soil somelos   | <ul> <li>CONTRACT</li> <li>Contract&lt;</li></ul>  | 201        |
|   |  | 201        |
| 17.2.2. Analytical methods  |  | 203        |
| 17.3. Results   |  | 203        |
| 17.4. Outline of data analysis  | n konne hennen hennen hen her her soldet soldet sin soldet soldet soldet soldet soldet soldet soldet soldet so<br>Soldet soldet  | 206        |
| 17.5. Simulation of C mineralization patterns under diffe   | erent temperature/moisture conditions using first-order  | 207        |
| kinetics for determining $C_0$ and $k$  |  |            |
| 17.6. Simulation of C mineralization patterns using a uni   | versal relationship between the C mineralization rates   | 207        |
| at 7th day of incubation and amounts of LFC and F   | IFC in each of ecosystems with the dot and the set of a constant of the set o |            |
| 17.7. General discussion on the possibility of inclusion of   | of physical fractionation into SOM dynamic models  | 211        |
| 17.8. Conclusion  | * 9. "Light fraction" organic matter   | 212        |
| References have been a second | <ol> <li>Relationship perween soil ceganic matter and clay con</li> </ol>  | 212        |
| TTLE. Shoopedile management for seminable agricultu   |  |            |
| Chapter 18 Conclusion   | 1.12.General discussion  | 215        |
| 871   | Shinya Funakawa and Takashi Kosaki   |            |
| 18.1. SOM dynamics in Ukrainian steppe (Chapters 2 to   | 6) decade à moithern à azaklasian economia.  | 215        |
| 18.2. SOM dynamics in northern Kazakhstan steppe (Ch  | apters 7 to 10)  | 217        |
| 18.3. Comparison of properties of SOM in steppe ecosys  | stems in different environments (Chapters 13 and 14)   | 218        |
| 18.4. 18.4. Geostatistic approach to realize SOM study f  | or reagional scale agriculture (Chapters 11 and 12)  | 219        |
| 18.5. Toward the establishment of SOM dynamics model  | under different bio-climatic conditions (Chapters 15 to  | 221        |
| (812 d. 17) mially mideralizable consideration  | 5.2 Moterials and methods  |            |
| 18.6. General conclusion  | <ol> <li>Soll properties and the comparison in land use</li> </ol>   | 223        |
| 8012 F. Carina baripar from 2001 to 2003  | 5.4. Amounts of C. and A. under different land use   |            |
|   |  |            |
|   |  |            |
|   |  |            |
|   |  |            |
|   |  |            |
|   |  |            |
|   |  |            |
|   |  |            |
|   |  |            |
|   |  |            |
|   |  |            |

# List of tables and figures

| Chapter 1  |        |
|--|--------|
| Table 1.1. Amount of organic C in natural and agro-ecosystems.   | (ds) 1 |
| Figure 1.1. Soil-ecological zones of former Soviet Union.  | 1      |
| Chapter 2  |        |
| Table 2.1. Humus content in Ap horizon of Chernozems depending on hydrothermal coefficients of warmperiod, amount of rainfall and its assimilation during cold periods and particle-size distribution. | 6      |
| Table 2.2. Humus content in 0-30 cm layer in Typical chernozems under relatively similar particle-sizedistribution in the regions with different climate continentality.                               | 7      |
| Table 2.3. Changes of humus content and its losses in plow layer (0-30cm) of Chernozems of European part offormer Soviet Union for 100 years.  | 9      |
| Table 2.4. Diagnostic factors of zonal types of soil formation.  | 10     |
| Table 2.5. Differentiation of soil types into subtypes upon humus accumulation through CRAH parameters.  | 11     |
| Table 2.6. Typological sorts of soils using particle size distribution.  | 11     |
| Table 2.7. Differentiation of soils into profile class based on thickness of profile.  | 12     |
| Figure 2.1. Isohumus map of Ukraine.   | 7      |
| Figure 2.2. Schematic map of the humus content in surface soils of chernozem region in 1960-1980.  | 8      |
| Figure 2.3. Humus contents in different types of Chernozems.   | 9      |
| Figure 2.4. Relationships between hydrothermal coefficient (HTC) and coefficient of relative accumulation of   | 11     |
| humus (CRAH) for different types of soils.   |        |
| Chapter 3  |        |
| Table 3.1. Dependence of humus accumulation on hydrothermal coefficient in steppe soils of Ukraine.  | 20     |
| Table 3.2. Soil-ecological zones and subzones of steppe soils in Ukraine, parameters of their hydrothermal conditions, and intensity of humus accumulation.  | 22     |
| Table 3.3. Differentiation of soils upon parameters of humus accumulation and thickness of the profile at the same texture within provinces.   | 25     |
| Table 3.4. Ecological/genetic status of Chernozems of southwestern part of the Steppe zone (Moldova) onmorphological diagnostics and quantitatively corrected criteria.                                | 27     |
| Table 3.5. Ecological/genetic status of soils of central European part of Forest-steppe based on morphological diagnostics and corrected based on quantitative criteria.                               | 28     |
| Table 3.6. Ecological/genetic status of soils of central European part of Forest-steppe based on morphological diagnostics and corrected based on quantitative criteria.                               | 29     |
| Table 3.7. Ecological/genetic status of soils of Forest-steppe, sub-Volga and sub-Ural based on morphological diagnostics and corrected diagnostics based on quantitative criteria.                    | 29     |
| Table 3.8. Genetic-diagnostic properties of Chernozem in Orenburg region.  | 30     |
| Figure 3.1. Quantity of above- and below-ground biomasses and their distribution along profile in virgin soils.  | 18     |
| Figure 3.2. Climatograms of steppened meadow zones and properties of Leached chernozems.   | 18     |
| Figure 3.3. Climatograms of the meadow steppe zones and properties of Typical chernozems.  | 19     |
| Figure 3.4. Climatograms of the typical motley-fescue-feather grass steppe zones and properties of Ordinary chernozems.  | 20     |
| Figure 3.5. Soil-ecological zones of Ukraine divided by hydrothermal conditions, type of soil formation, and quantitative indices of humus accumulation.   | 23     |
| Figure 3.6. Dynamics of total humus stock in soils of the steppe zones in Ukraine.   | 24     |
| ,一方,一方,一方,一方,一方,一方,一方,一方,一方,一方,一方,一方,后方都是了。"我想着你说道:"你想是你的你?"他说道,我的问道,你能是你不能能能能能能能  |        |

| Ch | apter 4   |          |
|----|---|----------|
|    | Table 4.1. Characteristic of Dark chestnut soils at the study plots.  | 34       |
|    | Table 4.2. Physical properties of the study soils.  | 35       |
|    | Table 4.3. Frequency of occurrence of annual or periodical precipitation in long-term basis (1925-1981) and for years of our research (1967-1974); at meteorological station of Askania Nova (without 1941-1943). | 36       |
|    | Table 4.4. Mean annual air temperature and relative humidity on studied plots in long-term average and in the   | 37       |
|    |   |          |
|    | Table 4.5. water balance in the Dark chestnut soils under virgin vegetation.<br>Table 4.6. Total stock of moisture at the end of October in 0-500 cm layer of the Dark chestnut soils of different ecosystems.    | 42<br>43 |
|    | Table 4.7 Moisture content in soils under natural and cultivated vegetation (April-May)   | 43       |
|    | Table 4.8 Moisture balance in soils under cultivated crops in non-irrigated conditions.   | 45       |
|    | Table 4.9. Changes of the Cl and Na contents in cultivated lands relative to virgin lands.  | 48       |
|    | Table 4 10. Changes of the Cl and Na contents in the cultivated lands after 17-27 years.  | 49       |
|    | Table 4.11 Seasonal change in the contents of exchangeable cations (average for 1967-1974)  | 50       |
|    | Table 4 12. Plant biomass of the Dark chestnut soils under different land use.  | 51       |
|    | Table 4.13. Biological cycle of nitrogen and mineral elements in different ecosystems on Dark chestnut soils (average for 1967-1974 at Askania site).   | 53       |
|    | Table 4.14. Concentration of $CO_2$ (%) in the soil air and its emission rate from the soil surface in the Dark chestnut soils of Askania experimental site.  | 57       |
|    | Table 4.15. Spatial variation of humus contents in Askania steppe depending on depth of humified layers and particle size distribution of the soils.  | 60       |
|    | Table 4.16. Contents of humic substances and plant detritus in soils under natural vegetation and cultivation.  | 61       |
|    | Table 4.17. Seasonal fluctuation of total humus content in Dark chestnut soils on Askania site (average for1968-1971).  | 62       |
|    | Table 4.18. Seasonal fluctuation of labile humus content in Dark chestnut soils on Askania site, using extractionwith 0.1 M sodium pyrophosphate at pH 7 (average for 1968-1971).                                 | 62       |
|    | Table 4.19. Concentration of dissolved organic matter in lysimetric water along profiles of Dark chestnut soilson Askania site (average for 1967-1969).   | 63       |
|    | Table 4.20. Seasonal fluctuation of fractionated organic matter (humic acid and Fulvic acid) in Dark chestnutsoils on Askania site, using extraction with 0.1 M sodium pyrophosphate at pH 7.                     | 63       |
|    | Table 4.21. Fractional composition of humus from virgin and cultivated soils (average data).  | 64       |
|    | Figure 4.1. Distribution of particle size (0.25-0.05, 0.05-0.01, 0.01-0.001 and < 0.001 mm) of soils from virgin and cultivated lands.  | 34       |
|    | Figure 4.2. Composition of water-soluble ions of the loess-derived soils from virgin land and pod, and contents of CaCO <sub>3</sub> and CaSO <sub>4</sub> .  | 35       |
|    | Figure 4.3. Analysis of long-term fluctuation of annual precipitation at meteorological stations of Askania Nova and Kherson.   | 36       |
|    | Figure 4.4. Chronoisoplets of temperature of the Dark chestnut soil on virgin land.   | 38       |
|    | Figure 4.5. Dynamics of moisture content in the Dark chestnut soil on virgin land.  | 40       |
|    | Figure 4.6. Chronoisoplets of moisture content in the Dark chestnut soil on virgin land.  | 41       |
|    | Figure 4.7. Dynamic of moisture content in the Dark chestnut soil on cultivated land.   | 46       |
|    | Figure 4.8. Chronoisoplets of moisture content in the Dark chestnut soil on cultivated  | 47       |
|    | Figure 4.9. Changes (±) in the contents of salts and representative ions in the profile of Dark chestnut soil under natural vegetation upon seasons of the year of 1967-1974.                                     | 48       |
|    | Figure 4.10. Changes (±) of salt contents in the profile of Dark chestnut soil under cultivation in non-irrigated conditions upon seasons of the year of 1967-1972  | 49       |

| Figure 4.11. Correlation between productivity of aboveground biomass of virgin vegetation and moisture accumulation in the soil during cold period plus precipitation in April-June.   | 51 |
|--|----|
| Figure 4.12. Mean data of cellulose decomposition in Dark chestnut soil along months for the studied years (1967-1974) and for the whole warm period of the years on the virgin land and the cultivated non-irrigated  | 55 |
| land. The second sec  |    |
| Figure 4.13. Fragment of dynamic of cellulose decomposition on the virgin and the fallowed land (1967).  | 56 |
| Figure 4.14. Dynamics of CO <sub>2</sub> concentration in 0-40 cm layer of Dark chestnut soil on the virgin and the  | 58 |
| cultivated land and the rate of CO <sub>2</sub> emission into the atmosphere. The store store store in the store is a store in the store in the store in the store is a store in the sto |    |
| Chapter 5  |    |
| Table 5.1. Sampling scheme at the Kharkov experimental site for 9-year crop rotation.  | 72 |
| Table 5.2. Organic carbon and total nitrogen concentrations in the phases of the rotation upon manure application,         Kharkov.  | 73 |
| Table 5.3. "Light fraction" dry matter (LFDM), "light fraction" carbon and nitrogen (LFC and LFN) in the   | 74 |
| of the phases of the rotation in Kharkov.  |    |
| Table 5.4. Microbial biomass carbon and nitrogen content as influenced by manure application in a rotation,<br>Kharkov.  | 75 |
| Table 5.5. Sampling scheme in Uman experimental site from 10-year crop rotation.   | 75 |
| Table 5.6. Organic carbon and total nitrogen concentrations as influenced by application of different rates of mineral fertilizer and manure.  | 76 |
| Table 5.7. Soil labile carbon and nitrogen in fertilization treatment, Uman.   | 77 |
| Table 5.8. "Light fraction" dry matter (LFDM), "light fraction" carbon and nitrogen (LFC and LFN) in manureapplication and fertilization experiment, Uman.   | 78 |
| Table 5.9. Microbial biomass in fertilization experiment, Uman.  | 79 |
| Table 5.10. Sampling scheme in Kherson experimental site from 7-year crop rotation.  | 79 |
| Table 5.11. Organic carbon and total nitrogen concentration in irrigation experiment, Kherson.   | 80 |
| Table 5.12. Mineralizable carbon and nitrogen (PMC and PMN) in irrigation experiment, Kherson.   | 81 |
| Table 5.13. "Light fraction" dry matter (LFDM), carbon (LFC) and nitrogen (LFN) in irrigation experiment,<br>Kherson.  | 82 |
| Table 5.14. Microbial biomass in irrigation experiment, Kherson.   | 82 |
| Figure 5.1. Locations of Ukrainian experimental sites in selected soil-ecological zones.   | 71 |
| Figure 5.2. Soil mineral nitrogen under manured and control rotation.  | 73 |
| Figure 5.3. Potentially mineralizable nitrogen in manure application experiment.   | 73 |
| Figure 5.4. Fitting curves of C mineralization in fertilization experiment as described with the first order kinetic model: $C_{\min} = C_0(1 - e^{-kt})$ .  | 74 |
| Figure 5.5. Soil mineral nitrogen as influenced by different rates of fertilization,   | 76 |
| Figure 5.6. Fitting curves of nitrogen mineralization in fertilization experiment in Uman, as described with the first order kinetic model: $N_{\min} = N_0 (1 - e^{-kt})$ .   | 77 |
| Figure 5.7. Fitting curves of C mineralization in fertilization experiment, Uman, as described with the first order kinetic model: $C_{\min} = C_0 (1 - e^{-kt})$ .  | 78 |
| Figure 5.8. Soil mineral nitrogen in irrigation experiment, Kherson.   | 80 |
| Figure 5.9. Fitting curves of nitrogen mineralization in fertilization experiment, Kherson, as described by the first order kinetic model: $N_{\min} = N_0 (1 - e^{-kt})$ .  | 80 |
| Figure 5.10. Fitting curves of carbon mineralization in fertilization experiment, Kherson, as described by the first order kinetic model: $C_{\min} = C_0(1 - e^{-kt})$ .  | 81 |
|  |    |

xv

| Chapter 6  |     |
|--|-----|
| Table 6.1. Average monthly air temperature and precipitation in Kharkov and Askania Nova.  | 88  |
| Table 6.2. Calculated coefficients in the equation of whole soil respiration for each site throughout the years of   | 91  |
| 2003 and 2003.   | 91  |
| Table 6.3. Calculated coefficients for whole soil respiration, soil microbial respiration and root respiration in each site in 2003  | 92  |
| Table 6.4. Calculated annual soil respiration for each year.   | 92  |
| Table 6.5. Calculated annual whole soil respiration, soil microbial respiration and root respiration in 2003.  | 93  |
| Figure 6.1. Distribution of soils in Ukraine based on the classification of World Reference base for Soil Resources.   | 87  |
| Figure 6.2. Location of Grakovo Experimental and Askania Nova Biosphere Reserve.   | 87  |
| Figure 6.3. Closed-chamber method for determination of <i>in situ</i> soil respiration rate.   | 88  |
| Figure 6.4. Monthly air temperature and precipitation for the years of 2002 and 2003 with the long-term average in Kharkov and Askania Nova.   | 89  |
| Figure 6.5. Meteorological data of the study sites during the experiment.  | 89  |
| Figure 6.6. In situ soil respiration rates measured in Grakovo and Askania Nova in 2002 and 2003.  | 90  |
| Figure 6.7. Average soil respiration rates during the years of 1967-1974 in Askania Nova virgin steppe.  | 90  |
| Figure 6.8. Rates of whole soil respiration, soil microbial respiration and root respiration in each site in 2003.   | 90  |
| Figure 6.9. Estimated and measured soil respiration rate for each site in 2002 and 2003.   | 92  |
| Figure 6.10. Estimated and measured amount of whole soil respiration, soil microbial respiration and root respiration in 2003.   | 93  |
| Figure 6.11. Above- and below-ground plant biomasses in each site.   | 93  |
| Chapter 7  |     |
| Table 7.1. Physicochemical properties of the soils studied.  | 98  |
| Figure 7.1. Study sites.   | 96  |
| Figure 7.2. Fluctuation of monthly temperature and precipitation at Almaty and Shortandy during 1990 - 1999.   | 96  |
| Figure 7.3. Representative soil profiles in Kazakhstan steppe.   | 97  |
| Figure 7.4. X-ray diffractograms of clay specimen collected from soils in Kazakhstan steppe.   | 100 |
| <ul> <li>Table 6.1. Average monthly air temperature and precipitation in Kharkov and Askania Nova.</li> <li>Table 6.2. Calculated coefficients in the equation of whole soil respiration for each site throughout the years of 2003 and 2003.</li> <li>Table 6.3. Calculated coefficients for whole soil respiration, soil microbial respiration and root respiration in each site in 2003.</li> <li>Table 6.4. Calculated annual soil respiration for each year.</li> <li>Table 6.5. Calculated annual whole soil respiration, soil microbial respiration and root respiration in 2003.</li> <li>Figure 6.1. Distribution of Soils in Ultraine based on the classification of World Reference base for Soil Resources.</li> <li>Figure 6.3. Closed-chamber method for determination of <i>in situ</i> soil respiration rate.</li> <li>Figure 6.4. Monthly air temperature and precipitation for the years of 2002 and 2003 with the long-term average in Kharkov and Askania Nova.</li> <li>Figure 6.5. Meteorological data of the study sites during the experiment.</li> <li>Figure 6.5. Meteorological data of the study sites during the experiment.</li> <li>Figure 6.5. Meteorological data of the study sites during the years of 1967-1974 in Askania Nova virgin steppe.</li> <li>Figure 6.7. Average soil respiration rates during the years of 1967-1974 in Askania Nova virgin steppe.</li> <li>Figure 6.10. Estimated and measured anount of whole soil respiration and root respiration in each site in 2003.</li> <li>Figure 6.11. Above- and below-ground plant biomasses in each site.</li> </ul> Chapter 7 <ul> <li>Table 7.1. Physicochemical properties of the soils studied.</li> <li>Figure 7.2. Fluctuation of monthly temperature and precipitation at Almaty and Shortandy during 1990 - 1999.</li> <li>Figure 7.3. Representative soil profiles in Kazakhstan steppe.</li> <li>Figure 7.4. V-ray diffractograms of clay specimen collected from soils in Kazakhstan steppe.</li> <li>Figure 7.5. Vertical distribution of soil ph, content of carbonates-C, and clay content in soil profiles und</li></ul> | 102 |
| Figure 7.6. Vertical distribution of soil pH, content of carbonates-C, and clay content in soil profiles under grassland and adjacent forest in the forest steppe.   | 103 |
| Figure 7.7. Vertical distribution of contents of soluble Na, exchangeable Na, gypsum, carbonates, and clay in soil profiles affected by salinization.  | 104 |
| Chapter 8  |     |
| Table 8.1. Average (1976-1998) monthly air temperatures and precipitation at the Shortandy experimental site.  | 110 |
| Table 8.2. Effects of fallow (F) frequency and rotation phase on soil organic C (SOC) and total N (TN) in surface soil of Southern Chernozem.  | 111 |
| Table 8.3. Effects of fallow frequency and rotation phase on labile fractions of SOM in surface soil of Southern Chernozem.  | 112 |
| Table 8.4. Grain yield (1986 - 1998) and weed biomass (1986 - 1996 and 1997) in wheat-based rotation systems with different frequency of fallow in Southern Chernozem.   | 113 |

| Figure 8.1. Fitting curves of N mineralization of surface soils from pre- and post-fallow phases of the 2-, 4-,  | 112 |
|--|-----|
| and 6-y wheat-failow fotations in Southern Chernozem, as described by the first order kinetic model with<br>an initial delay of mineralization $(N_{\rm ent} - N_{\rm eff})$   |     |
| Figure 8.2 Correlation of potential mineralizable C (PMC) with "light fraction" C (LEC)  | 11/ |
| Figure 8.3 Correlation of potential mineralizable N (PMN) with "light fraction" N (LE-N)   | 114 |
| Figure 8.4. Grain yield (1004-1000) of spring wheat as affected by years after follow  | 115 |
| rigure 6.4. Orani yield (1994-1999) of spring wheat as anceled by years and ranow.   | 110 |
| Chanter 9  |     |
| Table 9.1 Description of study plots   | 120 |
| Table 9.2 Comparison of monthly meteorological data in 2000 with the 10-year average   | 120 |
| Table 9.3. Coefficients determined by sterwise multiple regression analysis  | 123 |
| Table 9.4. Budget of soil organic carbon during the period of April 10 to October 3, 2000, in the experimental field of Shortandy.   | 124 |
| Figure 9.1. Distribution of precipitation and air temperature during the experiment.   | 120 |
| Figure 9.2. Fluctuations of soil temperature and soil moisture content during the experiment, measured by datalogger.  | 121 |
| Figure 9.3. $CO_2$ emissions from the soil surface of the experimental plots.  | 121 |
| Figure 9.4. Fluctuations of microbial biomass C and N contents in the surface soils.   | 122 |
| Figure 9.5. Relationship between the volumetric water content of soils and the microbial biomass C content.  | 122 |
| Figure 9.6. Fluctuations of the values of soil respiration rate / microbial biomass C content during the experiment.   | 122 |
| Figure 9.7. Estimation of $CO_2$ emissions throughout the cropping season using the regression equations obtained  | 124 |
| in Table 9.1. General physics of the soft as marked in Ukrainal and a soft of the soft of the soft of the soft   |     |
| ste.13.5. Properties of humic substances in the surface and subsurface horizons.   |     |
| chapter 10 . Brief description of the soft profiles in Hunguy and Canada.  |     |
| Table 10.1. Climatic conditions in Shortandy during the experiments.   | 128 |
| Table 10.2. Description of study plots. In a characterized and a subsection of study plots.  | 129 |
| Table 10.3.1. Water balance during the pre-cropping season of 1999 (from Sep. 1998 to Apr. 1999).  | 129 |
| Table 10.3.2. Water balance during the pre-cropping season of 2000 (from Sep. 1999 to Mar. 2000).  | 129 |
| Table 10.4.1. Water balance during the cropping season in 1999.  | 133 |
| Table 10.4.2. Water balance during the cropping season in 2000.  | 133 |
| snow-rows at certain intervals (February 1, 1998).   | 127 |
| <ul> <li>b) Landscape of cropped field after harvest (left) and adjacent fallow field (right) (April 13, 2000). In the cropped field, plant residues were left standing in order to accumulate snowfall as much as possible. In the fallow field, on the contrary, almost no plant residues remained were incorporated into soil.</li> <li>c) Attachment for conservation tillage (subsoil cutting) (replica in the exhibition room of the Center).</li> </ul> |     |
| Figure 10.2. Dynamics of soil moisture and cumulative precipitation, including water derived from thawing and estimated cumulative evapotranspiration.   | 130 |
| Figure 10.3. Relationships between soil moisture content in autumn and increment of soil moisture or loss of water by evaporation and/or surface runoff during thawing.  | 131 |
| Figure 10.4. Fluctuations of soil temperature in April 1999 and 2000.  | 132 |
| Figure 10.5. Relationships between crop yield or biomass and evapotranspiration estimated based on the water budget or soil moisture storage just before seeding in spring.  | 134 |
| Chanter 11 Constants for an analysis of a constant of a<br>Chanter 11  |     |
| Table 11.1. Descriptive statistics of the soil plant and water properties  | 141 |
| Table 11.2. Correlation matrix of selected field properties.   | 141 |

ternigit bee enhand to the i

| Table 11.3. Geostatistical parameters of the soil, plant and water properties.  | 142 |
|---|-----|
| Figure 11.1. Location of the study site. I double the analysis of the study with the study we have a location of the study site.  | 138 |
| Figure 11.2. Schematic diagram of the sampling sites indicated as dots in the field and topography of the study   | 139 |
| re 8.2. Correlation of potential universitzable C (PMC) with "light fraction" C (D+C). 2005, 200, 300 (14   |     |
| Figure 11.3. Average C stock and flow of the soil-plant system at the study site (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> ).  | 140 |
| Figure 11.4. Spatial variability of selected field properties related to organic matter dynamics.   | 143 |
| Chapter 12 Concentration in which concentration, soil metrolical respiration and most recurrentee in 2003. The  |     |
| Table 12.1. Descriptive statistics of CO <sub>2</sub> emission, carbon input as plant residue, and carbon budget.   | 151 |
| Figure 12.1. Schematic diagram of the sampling plots indicated as dots in the field and topography of the study site.   | 148 |
| Figure 12.2. Land-use history. And the ball of the bal  | 149 |
| Figure 12.3. Spatial variability of potentially mineralizable organic carbon.   | 149 |
| $^{02}$ Figure 12.4. Dynamics of CO <sub>2</sub> emission. $\approx$ 50 and $\approx$ 5 | 150 |
| Figure 12.5. Estimation for daily $CO_2$ emission.  | 150 |
| Figure 12.6. Spatial variability of total carbon input as plant residue, total CO <sub>2</sub> emission, and carbon budget.   | 151 |
| Chapter 13 A second solution mession and statements of the 9 control independent of 2 control in  |     |
| Table 13.1. Location and land use of study sites and soil classification of the profiles.   | 155 |
| Table 13.2. Statistical data of agricultural production from 1998 to 2000 in Ukraine, Hungary, and Canada.  | 155 |
| Table 13.3. Brief description of the soil profiles in Ukraine.  | 157 |
| Table 13.4. General physico-chemical properties of the soil samples in Ukraine.   | 158 |
| Table.13.5. Properties of humic substances in the surface and subsurface horizons.  | 159 |
| Table 13.6. Brief description of the soil profiles in Hungary and Canada.   | 160 |
| Table 13.7. General physico-chemical properties of the soil samples in Hungary and Canada.  | 162 |
| Table 13.8. Properties of humic substances in the surface and subsurface horizons of the profiles of Hungary and Canada.  | 163 |
| Table 13.9. Distribution of carbon species of humic acids in the surface horizons of each profile in Ukraine,         Hungary, and Canada.  | 165 |
| Figure 13.1. Organic and inorganic carbon contents of the soil samples in Ukraine.  | 158 |
| Figure 13.2. Classification diagram of humic acids in the surface and subsurface horizons of the soil profiles in Ukraine.  | 159 |
| Figure 13.3. Solution <sup>13</sup> C NMR spectra of humic acids extracted and purified from surface and subsurface horizons of Chernozems and Chestnut soils in Ukraine.   | 161 |
| Figure 13.4. Weighted-average of organic carbon contents in topsoils (0-30 cm) of Chernozems.   | 163 |
| Figure 13.5. Classification diagram of humic acids in surface and subsurface horizons of the Chernozems in Ukraine, Hungary, and Canada.  | 164 |
| Figure 13.6. Solution <sup>13</sup> C NMR spectra of humic acids extracted and purified from surface horizons of  | 164 |
| Chernozems in Hungary.  |     |
| Figure 13.7. Solution <sup>13</sup> C NMR spectra of humic acids extracted and purified from surface horizons of  | 164 |
| SELING Chernozems in Canada.  |     |
| Chapter 14. Chapte  |     |
| Table 14.1. General characteristics of study sites.   | 169 |
| Table 14.2. Soil organic C and N and some chemical characteristics of Chernozem soils from different climatic regions.  | 173 |
| Table 14.3. Pearson correlation coefficients between fractions of SOM.  | 173 |

|    | Table 14.4. Microbial biomass carbon (MBC), "light fraction" carbon (LFC) and nitrogen (LFN) of Chernozem soils from different climatic regions.   | 176 |
|----|--|-----|
|    | Table 14.5. Soil organic carbon and clay content.  | 176 |
|    | Figure 14.1. Profiles of Typical Chernozem in forest-steppe zone, Kharkov, Ukraine (2000); Podzolized  | 170 |
|    | Chernozem in forest-steppe zone, Uman, Ukraine (2000); Southern Chernozem in dry-steppe of Crimea,<br>Kherson, Ukraine (2000); and Southern Chernozem in steppe zones of northern Kazakhstan, Shortandy<br>(1998). |     |
|    | Figure 14.2. Carbon mineralization pattern and rate constant (k).  | 174 |
|    | Figure 14.3. Relationship between mineralized C and mineralization rate constant (k) in Chernozem soils from different climatic regions.   | 174 |
|    | Figure 14.4. Distribution of labile and stable C among the study sites.  | 177 |
| Ch | apter 15 global warming. Is leased that approximately streaming with Solvia promotion is interesting of  |     |
|    | Table 15.1. Location, land use and meteorological data for sampling sites.   | 184 |
|    | Table 15.2. General properties of sample soils.  | 185 |
|    | Table 15.3. Average and SD values of soil properties in each land use.   | 186 |
|    | Table 15.4. Readily mineralizable C and N of the soils.  | 187 |
|    | Table 15.5. Average and SD values of $C_0$ and $N_0$ and their proportions in each land use.   | 187 |
|    | Table 15.6. Correlation matrix between factors and soil properties.  | 188 |
|    | Figure 15.1. Location of Ukraine and Kazakhstan, and sampling sites in Ukraine and Kazakhstan.   | 184 |
|    | Figure 15.2. Scatter plot between LF C/N and mean annual temperature for each land use.  | 188 |
|    | Figure 15.3. Scatter plots among factors.  | 188 |
| Ch | apter 16   |     |
|    | Table 16.1. Outline and general physicochemical properties of the soils studied.   | 193 |
|    | Table 16.2.Comparison of parameters for <i>in situ</i> soil respiration rate and estimated amounts of annual soil respiration in different steppe soils.   | 196 |
|    | Table 16.3. Amounts of plant biomass at the study sites.   | 198 |
|    | Table 16.4. Factor pattern for the first three principal components.   | 199 |
|    | Figure 16.1. Fluctuation of soil temperature and moisture and precipitation recorded datalogger stations at CH, CN and VC.   | 194 |
|    | Figure 16.2. Measured values of soil temperature, moisture and respiration rates in the plots of southern Kazakhstan.  | 195 |
|    | Figure 16.3. Simulated fluctuation of soil respiration rates using the parameters given in Table 16.2 superimposed with the measured values.   | 197 |
|    | Figure 16.4. Scattergram between the first and second or third principal component scores determined for each plot.  | 199 |
|    | Figure 16.5. Relationship between the annual soil respiration based on the field-measured data and that from bio-environmental factors.  | 200 |
| Ch | apter 17   |     |
|    | Table 17.1. Outline and general physicochemical properties of the soils studied.   | 202 |
|    | Table 17.2. Soil properties relating to physical fractionation   | 203 |

Table 17.3. Fitting parameters for incubation data assuming a fixed value of  $C_0$ .206Table 17.4. Correlation coefficients between parameters determined for C mineralization and physicochemical<br/>properties of the soils.207

xix

- Table 17.5. Fitting parameters for determining CO<sub>2</sub> emission rate at 7th day of incubation using LFC and HFC 209 contents for separately all the steppe and forest soils.
   Figure 17.1. C mineralization pattern of the soils under different temperature / moisture conditions in the 204
- incubation experiment. Figure 17.2. Comparison of the measured and calculated CO<sub>2</sub> emission rates.
- Figure 17.3. Relationships between the decomposition rates measured and estimated on the 7th day of the 209 incubation; a) Eurasian steppe soils and b) Japanese forest soils.
- Figure 17.4. Temperature and moisture dependence of the rate constants of decomposition both for light and 210 heavy fractions and their ratios estimated for the Eurasian steppe and the Japanese forest soils.

(1able 15.1. Location, land use and muteroplogical data for campling antermorenters (12.1e contained 12.1) angl 984
(1able 15.2. General properties of sample 2014 anterposition and a state of the state of the

Field I. Outine and neuronical physical sum (asymmetric product) and an an inclusion and a set of the set o

Frequeries and a second second second second second and a static structure and a second second second second and second s Figure 16.2. Measured second se Second s Second seco

Figure 13 with the measured winds to (mp 000) situated at strained noting simple in species benight, 2.11 angli Follow backdeautigasti banesamine/litatend succedure the Spencial companying correction in the species (199 each plot.

bio-environmentation averagination anti-approximation and average and an average and anti-approximation and approximate and a second of the antipart antipart

[able 17.1] Ottilae and general physicochemical properties of the soils andred.
 [able 17.2] Soil properties relating to physical fractionation.
 [4] targoit
 [4] targoit</

Teles 14.5. Pears a portuguor portugion, benerat mations of 60.56.

хx

# 161636 (addit 1801 the mostly) month (excession noise Chapter 1 is equity formalisting to Beilevinius unsubsidue day

#### Introduction

#### Shinya Funakawa and Elmira Karbozova-Saljnikov

#### 1.1. Significance of soil organic matter in Chernozem soils

Accumulation of soil organic matter (SOM) is a quite significant process in terrestrial ecosystems. It is widely accepted that the SOM is indispensable for increasing soil fertility. In addition to such a traditional aspect, SOM has recently drawn considerable attention in terms of both the large source and sink of carbon dioxide in relation to the problem of "global warming". It is said that approximately 15% of atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> cycles between terrestrial ecosystems including soils and atmosphere annually (Stevenson, 1986) and, hence, it is very important to understand quantitatively such SOM/CO<sub>2</sub> dynamics in individual ecosystems. In this sense, Chernozem soils, or Mollisols, which can store a huge amount of SOM, are one of the most important resources from both the agricultural and environmental viewpoints (Paustian et al., 1997). The area of Chernozem soils in the territory of former Soviet Union amounts 189×10<sup>6</sup> hectares that is 48% of that kind of soils in the word (Kaurichev and Gromyko, 1974).



**Figure 1.1.** Soil-ecological zones of former Soviet Union. The area encircled is the Chernozem belt that was formed in forest-steppe and steppe zones.

Table 1.1. Amount of organic C in natural and agro-ecosystems (from Titlyanova, et al., 1982).

| Organic carbon resource | Natural ecosystem Agro ecosystem |
|-------------------------|----------------------------------|
| Detritus                | <u>(g m²)</u><br>340             |
| Microorganisms          | 166 and 100 and 100 and 100      |
| Humus                   | 5359 4768                        |

#### 1.2. General characteristics of Chernozem soils

Chernozem soils were mainly formed in forest steppe and steppe zones (Fig. 1.1), under virgin steppe vegetation with non-percolative water regime (Prasolov, 1939) that is characterized with dry period in summer-autumn and water saturated period in winter-spring.

The main grass vegetation in forest steppe zone is presented with *Salvia pratensis, Carex humilus, Artemisia armeniaca*, and *A. latifilia*. In steppe zone *Stipa* and *Festuca* associations dominate as natural vegetation: *S. ucrainica, S. lussingiana, S. capillata, S. rubens, S. kirghisorum,* and *F. sulcata*. Rich steppe vegetation annually leaves in the soil large amount of organic substrate (0.6-1.4 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>) (Gromyko et al., 1974). Subsequently, steppe vegetation annually retrieves from the soil large amount of nutrients that are involved in plant biomass and thus are not leached out from the soil. Subsequently, the large amounts of nutrients are involved into biological cycle annually that continuously accumulated in the surface layer of the soil.

Chernozem soil is characterized with high activity of microbiological processes. Most intensively these processes take place in spring and early in summer, when the soil has optimal temperature regime and enough water reservoir that favor humus formation processes. Drying of soil in summer and freezing in winter causes attenuation of biochemical processes that leads to denaturation of SOM, compaction and transformation of molecules of humic acids into less labile forms.

The largest part of the chernozem belt is formed on plain to undulating landscape. Parent materials of the chernozem zone vary widely. Most of them are rich with calcium and magnesium carbonates (carbonaceous rocks such as limestone, dolomite, marl, and different clays). Most spread parent materials are loess (Ukrainian chernozems) and light to heavy loess-loam and clay (northern Kazakhstan chernozems).

#### 1.3. Factors determining organic C levels

Steppe ecosystems provide soil with 30 to 40 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> of plant biomass, where 70 to 90% is concentrated belowground (Titlyanova and Nurmedov, 1982). Tillage of virgin lands

with subsequent cultivation of agricultural crops causes extensive reorganization of annual cycles of plant input and SOM dynamics. According to Titlyanova and Nurmedov (1982), the total amount of plant biomass in arable lands of northern Kazakhstan decreased 3 to 4 folds, accounting for approximately 10 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> (Table 1.1).

The amount of organic carbon (organic C) contained in a particular soil is a function of the balance between the rate of deposition of plant residues in or on soil and the rate of mineralization of the residue carbon by soil biota (Baldock and Nelson, 2000). The mechanisms through which soil organic C can be biologically stabilized depend on properties of the soil mineral phase and the chemical structure of the organic residues added to the soil.

*Climate:* Climate impacts on soil organic carbon (SOC) content primarily through the effects of temperature, moisture, and solar radiation on the array and growth rate of plant species, and on the rate of SOC mineralization. Post et al. (1982) found that amounts of SOC were positively correlated with precipitation and, at a given level of precipitation, negatively correlated with temperature.

Soil mineral parent material: The structural condition of a soil can exert significant control over processes of biological decomposition by limiting the accessibility of SOC to decomposer microorganisms and of microorganisms to their faunal predators. This limitation results from the ability of clays to encapsulate organic materials (Tisdall and Oades, 1982); the burial of organic carbon within aggregates (Golchin et al., 1997; Golchin et al., 1994) and the entrapment of organic carbon within small pores (Elliott and Coleman, 1988).

Vegetation and soil organisms: All organic carbon in soils can serve as a substrate. Vegetation can influence SOC levels as a result of the amount, placement and biodegradability of plant residues returned to the soil. The fate of surface deposited residues depends on the activity of soil microorganisms and fauna and their ability to mix these residues into surface mineral horizons. Microorganisms are the major contributors to soil respiration and are responsible for 80-95% of the mineralization of carbon.

*Mechanical disturbance:* Mechanical disturbance of soil is one of the most significant factors that determine deterioration of soil humus under intensive agricultural use. Number of authors concluded that losses of humus under agricultural use are determined by biological (domination of mineralization processes over humification) and by mechanical (reduction of thickness of humus layer caused by erosion processes) factors (Chesnyak, 1981; Nosko et al., 1987; Buyanovsky et al., 1986; Anderson et al., 1986).

#### 1.4. Decomposition of organic matter

Decomposition of plant and animal remains in soil constitutes a basic biological process in that carbon is recirculated to the atmosphere as carbon dioxide; nitrogen is made available as ammonium ( $NH_4^+$ ) and nitrate ( $NO_3^-$ ) (Stevenson, 1986). During decomposition by microorganisms, some of the carbon is released to the atmosphere as  $CO_2$  and the remainder becomes part of the SOM. Part of the native humus is mineralized concurrently.

SOM is highly heterogeneous, consisting of fractions varying in turnover time from hours to many centuries. Gregorich et al. (1994) reported that more than 75% of SOM exists as compounds that are only slowly decomposable and the remainder is readily decomposable or "mineralizable" compounds. The amount of mineralizable organic matter in a soil is an indicator of organic matter quality, because it affects nutrient dynamics within single growing seasons, organic matter content in soils under contrasting management regimes, and carbon sequestration over extended periods of time.

Fresh plant litter decomposes quickly; consequently, though it represents only a small fraction of carbon in soil, about half of the carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) output from soil, globally, comes from decomposition of the annual litter fall (Couteaux et al., 1995). Thus, transformations of SOM are generally concentrated within labile pool. And the end products of organic matter mineralization (e.g., CO<sub>2</sub>, NO<sub>3</sub>, NH<sub>4</sub>) can give us valuable information about ability of a given soil to supply plants with nutrients or ability to stabilize SOM.

#### 1.5. Human impact on decomposition

In agricultural systems, where soil and plant residues are often intensively manipulated, human impact on decomposition is especially pronounced (Campbell, 1978). Management practices like tillage, selection of crops and cropping sequences, and fertilization can alter decomposition rates by their effects on soil moisture, soil temperature, aeration, composition and placement of residues.

Organic carbon and nitrogen retention in soil is influenced by crop rotation (Biederbeck et al., 1984), tillage (Campbell and Souster, 1982), residue management (Rasmussen et al., 1980) and fertility (Biederbeck et al., 1984; Rasmussen et al., 1980).

#### 1.6. Objectives of the study

Factors that can influence SOM/CO<sub>2</sub> dynamics in natural and/or agricultural ecosystems in the territory of former Soviet Union is thus considered to be quite variable. In the present study, we will analyze the carbon dynamics in the area in order to: reveal factors that can affect SOM dynamics in steppe/agricultural ecosystems in Eurasian steppes, propose possible frameworks of ecological models that describe SOM dynamics after influence of agricultural practices, and discuss land use strategy that can satisfy both the requirements from the viewpoints of agricultural production and environmental soundness in post-Soviet period.

In the following chapters, studies relating SOM dynamics in each region of Ukraine and Kazakhstan will be presented in Chapters 2 to 6 and Chapters 7 to 12, respectively. Then the quality of different steppes will be compared in Chapters 13 to 17 and necessary factors that should be taken into consideration in SOM dynamics model will be clarified.

#### References

- Anderson DW, deJoug E, Verity GE, Gregorich EG, 1986. The effect of cultivation on the organic matter of soils of the Canada prairies. Transact. 13 Cong. Int. Soc. Soil Sci., Hamburg, 13-20 Aug., V. 4, SI, S.9., pp.1344-1345.
- Baldock JA, Nelson PN, 2000. Soil organic matter. *In* Handbook of Soil Science. Sumner M.E., (Ed.), pp.B25-B84.
- Beiderbeck VO, Campbell CA, Zentner RP, 1984. Effect of crop rotation and fertilization on some biological properties of a loam in southwestern Saskatchewan. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 64, 355-367.
- Buyanovsky GA, Wagner GH, Gantzer CJ, 1986. Soil respiration in a winter wheat ecosystem. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 50, 338-344.
- Campbell CA, 1978. Soil organic carbon, nitrogen, and fertility. *In*: Schnitzer M., Khan, S.U., (Eds.) Soil organic matter. Elsevier, New York, pp 173-271.
- Campbell CA, Souster W, 1982. Loss of organic matter and potentially mineralizable nitrogen from Saskatchewan soils due to cropping. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 62, 651-656.
- Chesnyak GYa, 1981. Changes of humus quantity and quality and the ways of providing of positive humus balance in Typical Chernozems of Ukraine under intensive agricultural use. *In* publications of VI Meeting of Soil Science Society of USSR, V.2, pp.42-43 (in Russian).

- Coûteaux MM, Bottner P, Berg B, 1995. Litter decomposition, climate and litter quality. *Tree* 10, 63-66.
- Elliot ET, Coleman DC, 1988. Let the soil do the work for us. *Ecol. Bull.* 39, 23-32.
- Golchin A, Baldock JA, Clarke P, Higashi T, Oades JM, 1997.
  The effects of vegetation and burning on the chemical composition of soil organic matter in a volcanic ash soil.
  II. Density fractions. *Geoderma* 76, 175-192.
- Golchin A, Oades JM, Skjemstad JO, Clarke P, 1994. Soil structure and carbon cycling. *Aust. J. Soil Res.* 32, 1043-1068.
- Gregorich EG, Carter MR, Angers DA, Monreal CM, Elert BH, 1994: Towards a minimum data set to access soil organic matter quality in agricultural soils. *Can J. Soil Sci.* 74, 367-385.
- Gromyko ID, Kulakov EV, Mershin AP, Panov NP, 1974. Biological cycle and fertility of chernozem and chestnut soils of Virgin region. *In* Fertility and melioration of soils of SSSR. Moscow, pp.37-45.
- Kaurichev IS, Gromyko ID (Eds), 1974. Atlas of USSR Soils. pp.80-112. Kolos, Moscow (in Russian).
- Nosko BS, 1987. Changes of humus status of Typical Chernozem upon fertilization. *Pochvovedenie* 5, 26-31 (in Russian).
- Paustian K, Andren O, Janzen HH, Lal R, Smith P, Tian G, Tiessen H, Van Noordwijk M, Woomer PL, 1997. Agricultural soils as a sink to mitigate CO<sub>2</sub> emissions, Soil Use and Management 13, 230-244.
- Prasolov DI, 1939. Chernozem as a type of soil formation. Soils of SSSR, Moscow, *Izd. Acad. Nauk* 1, 225-259 (in Russian).
- Post WM, Emmanuel WR, Zinke PJ, Stangenberger AG, 1982. Soil carbon pools and world life zones. *Nature* 298, 156-159.
- Rasmussen PE, Allmaras RR, Rohde RR, Roager NC, 1980. Crop residue influences on soil carbon and nitrogen in a wheat-fallow system. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 44, 596-600.
- Stevenson FJ, 1986: Cycles of soil. A Wiley-Interscience Publication, New York.
- Tisdall JM, Oades JM, 1982. Organic matter and water-stable aggregates. J. Soil Sci. 33,141-163.
- Titlyanova AA, Nurmedov SS, 1982. Productive-destructive processes and the balance of plant matter in desert ecosystem of West Turkmeniya. *Ecology* 3, 31-37 (in Russian).

## Chapter 2

## Characteristics of soils in Ukraine and their classification with special reference to dynamics of soil organic matter - actual problem of fundamental and applied soil sciences Nikolai Ivanovich Polupan

Eurasian steppe zone in central Europe is distributed insularly and occupies the river valleys of Morava, Vltava and Laba, as well as the vast plains of Mid-German low hills. In the southeastern part it lays as a large continuous massive within Lower-Danube lowland and in the west - within the system of Middle Danube lowlands. Eurasian steppes continuously spread from the western border of Ukraine, including Moldova, through Northern Caucasus, Lower Volga, southern Ural, Kazakhstan, Mongolia, and southern Siberia to northern China. Total surface area of Eurasian steppe is about  $700 \times 10^6$  ha.

Lands with predominated steppe communities, which consist predominantly of perennial microthermic xerophytic (frost- and drought-resistant) grassy plants (mostly *caespitose gramineous*) (Kononova, 1968), fall into the zone. In addition to the steppe zone itself, a part of forest-steppe is included here, since in the latter the steppes occupied up to 40-50% of total area in the past (Lavrenko, 1956).

Formation of steppe landscapes is conditioned mainly by climate and first of all by water insufficiency, whereas in the forest-steppe physico-geographical zone, which receives more water, it is conditioned by a geomorphologic factor, namely by the poor drainage of the territory. In the sufficiently moistened central Europe steppe complexes correspond to the location of loess insular where steppe relicts such as *Stipa capillata* is present (Shishov et al., 1985). Aside from nature of soil formation in some places, formation of steppe landscapes is related to a local climate deviation. So, Magdeburg low hills are located in a rainy shadow west of the Garts mountain range.

A unique characteristic of steppe ecosystems, unlike forest ecosystems, is that they are in an unstable state of balance and are very dynamic. They are formed under deficiency of water and influence of periodic animal grazing and fire. Unlike forests where accumulation of biomass prevails falls, in steppes about 80% of biomass annually dies off and is quickly mineralized, which specifies the elemental cycling and formation of original soils.

According to the contemporary concepts, steppes are a particular type of environment within the sub-boreal physico-

geographical belt (Kononova, 1968; Ponomareva and Nikolaeva, 1965; Chesnyak et al., 1983). Steppe landscapes are characterized with sub-humid or semi-arid climate (Berg, 1952; Budyko, 1965), predominance of grassy vegetation, absence of forests in watersheds, and presence of Chernozems and Chestnut soils.

Sub-boreal steppe regions are righteously called the main granary of the mankind. Proportion of ploughed lands reaches 30% in average, 70% for Chernozems and 50% for Chestnut soils. It follows that soil forming process on most of the territory, which is the most important part of the zone, takes place not under natural vegetation but in conditions of agroecosystems that is absolutely not adequate to the original virgin steppes.

Organic matter is a main, the most active and powerful factor in soil formation and soil fertility. This is because the soil formation process controls formation and accumulation of humic materials in the soil. They are a function of interactions between the biological factors and parent materials in certain hydrothermal conditions and are one of the sections of a continuous chain of trophic links between different life forms, serving as a last and a first section at the same time. The "last" means that they contain the main nitrogen stock, nearly half of phosphorus, significant parts of sulphur and other macro- and micronutrients. During mineralization of humic materials the nutritional elements are gradually released into plant available forms. In addition, quality and quantity of soil organic matter (SOM) influences a number of important agronomic properties of soils, e.g. water-physical, physico-chemical, etc. Also, SOM directly influences growth and development of plants.

Quantity of humus in steppe soils is determined by hydrothermal conditions of vegetative period, represented by the hydrothermal coefficient (HTC), particle-size distribution, amount and assimilation of precipitation during cold period (Table 2.1).

Due to an enormous extension from west to east and from north to south, Eurasian steppes are characterized with a great variety of moisture conditions as well as of soil particle-size distribution, which are naturally reflected in the geography of dynamics of SOM content. It is necessary to point out that today there is no unique opinion about the spatial regularity of the steppe. The most spread statement is that quantity of humus in soils of Chernozems area increases from west to east due to the increase of climate continentality in this direction. This statement is based on the study of V.V. Dokuchaev and is presented on the map of European part of Russia in the monograph "Russian Chernozem" (Dokuchaev; shown in Fig. 2.1) as the isohumus stripes. This is the first and the last generalizing work that covers a huge region. Many researchers consider Dokluchaev's data on humus content as a benchmark that can serve as a source when studying evolution of humus in agro-ecosystems. However, discussion about the influence of climate continentality upon humus accumulation and on the validity of humus content data in chernozems is arguable. According to our analysis, soil samples that are taken for determination of humus contents are often not comparable due to different thickness of humus horizon; therefore the results are also not comparable in many points. And the main point is that particle-size distribution was not taken into account because at that time there was no data on classification and no methods of its determination.

Analysis of the geography of particle-size distribution of chernozems within the European part of the steppe shows that in its western region there is a predominance of lightmiddle loam types, in the central - heavy loam, and in Ural region - middle clay types. Chernozems with similar particlesize distribution within the whole zone are characterized with insignificant deviation in the humus content (Table 2.2).

There is no published information concerning the regularity of spatial distribution in the humus content in soils of Asian part of the steppe that occupies more than 2/3 of European zone. This is due to the absence of summarizing works on soil characteristics in this region though there are enough numbers of published monographs on some of its parts.

In order to reveal more clearly the most important genetic properties and regularities of distribution of these soils on the basis of natural diversity, systematization of soil characteristics of European steppe in relation to physicogeographic regions is in urgent necessity. This requires development of soil-ecological zonation using quantitative criteria of allocation of territorial units. Herewith, a special attention should be given to revealing the regularities of spatial distribution of SOM as well as to determining factors of that regulation. It is getting more important to solve the problem of evolution of organic matter in agro-ecosystems, because large areas of steppe soils are being used as ploughed field.

| Table 2.1. Humus co  | ontent in Ap hori | zon of Cl | hernozems o | lependir | ig on hydro | otherma | l coefficient | ts |
|----------------------|-------------------|-----------|-------------|----------|-------------|---------|---------------|----|
| of warm period, am   | nount of rainfall | and its a | ssimilation | during   | cold perio  | ds and  | particle-siz  | e  |
| distribution (Polupa | n et al., 2001).  |           |             |          |             |         |               |    |

| Type of           | Hidro-<br>coefficie | thermal<br>ent (HTC)                   | Ra              | ainfall             | Depth of | Particl<br>distrib | e size<br>ution   | Humus       |
|-------------------|---------------------|--|-----------------|---------------------|----------|--------------------|-------------------|-------------|
| Chernozems        | V-VII               | VIII-IX                                | XI-III<br>(mm)  | Assimilation<br>(%) | (cm)     | < 0.01 mm<br>(%)   | < 0.001<br>mm (%) | content (%) |
| Typical           | 1.05                | 0.77                                   | 120-140         | 65                  | 120-130  | 63±3               | 43±2              | 6.3±0.2     |
|                   | . n_n_              | _ n                                    | 2 m             | _ * _               | 125-135  | 55±2               | 36±1              | 5.4±0.3     |
|                   | _ " _               | _ " _                                  | 140-160         | 52                  | 130-140  | 33±3               | 22±3              | 4.1±0.3     |
|                   |                     | •••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••••• |                 | 52                  | 115-125  | 54±2               | 34±2              | 5.6±0.2     |
|                   | 110-0-0-0           | - " -                                  | 160-180         | 47                  | 115-125  | 65±4               | 40±3              | 6.5±0.3     |
|                   | 1.25                | 1.05                                   | 120-140         | 52                  | 150-160  | 30±4               | 19±3              | 3.7±0.2     |
|                   | 2.02                | - " -                                  | _ " _           | 52                  | -"-      | 33±3               | 21±2              | 4.2±0.3     |
| nah si shine naha | 1.35                | 1.25                                   | 140-160         | 58                  | 130-140  | 37±2               | 21±4              | 5.2±0.4     |
|                   | - <b>1</b>          | - " -                                  | - " -           | 58                  | 130-140  | 43±2               | 22±4              | 5.5±0.3     |
| Ordinary          | 0.85                | 0.61                                   | 120-140         | 65                  | 80-90    | 57±5               | 37±3              | 4.6±0.3     |
| o TOTRO mete      | 0.85                | 0.69                                   | 140-160         | 52                  | 85-95    | 54±4               | 32±3              | 4.7±0.2     |
|                   | 0.95                | 0.69                                   | 120-140         | 65                  | 105-115  | 63±2               | 32±3              | 5.9±0.3     |
|                   | 10028_00            | the mean                               | 000000.000      | 5 <b>.</b> 1110.6   | 110-120  | 57±2               | 37±3              | 5.4±0.3     |
|                   | 0.95                | 0.77                                   | 160-180         | 47                  | 100-110  | 55±5               | 36±4              | 5.4±0.3     |
|                   | - " -               | - " -                                  | - " -           | _ H                 | 95-105   | 65±3               | 40±3              | 6.1±0.2     |
|                   | 012 1201            | 000 <b>1."</b> 118 O                   | sec <b>:</b> "- | 58                  | 120-130  | 64±1               | 38±3              | 6.0±0.3     |
| Southern          | 0.77                | 0.45                                   | 120-140         | 80                  | 65-75    | 53±1               | 31±3              | 2.9±0.2     |
|                   | 0.77                | 0.54                                   | 140-160         | 65                  | 70-80    | 56±1               | 36±2              | 3.5±0.3     |
|                   | S 0747510           | က မွေက်ရွှဲက                           | en sega se      | 2 <b>H</b> 20 GA    | 65-75    | 62±2               | 41±3              | 3.7±0.3     |
|                   | 0.85                | 0.54                                   | 120-140         | 80                  | 80-90    | 57±2               | 36±3              | 3.7±0.2     |

Since the early period of genetic soil science, discussion about our attitude to humus has been continuing. It had started from the time of Dokuchaev-Kostychev. Dokuchaev considered that humus must be preserved in soils, while Kostychev was a supporter of the idea that humus must be included into general cycles in order to receive as much "active capital" as possible that allows to apply "more capital goods not only for supporting soil fertility but also for increasing it" (Kostychev, 1951).

Today soil science possesses enough data to prove that almost everywhere loss of soil humus is observed due to plowing of soils under extensive agricultural practices. The rate of humus loss in soils in first years after reclamation is more significant, following decrease of loss until humus

**Table 2.2.** Humus content in 0-30 cm layer in Typical chernozems under relatively similar particle-size distribution in the regions with different climate continentality.

|                     |         |                                 |         | Sites                          |  |                          |
|---------------------|---------|---------------------------------|---------|--------------------------------|--|--------------------------|
| Index               |         | Frunzovka<br>(Odessa<br>region) | Kharkov | Kursk<br>(Afanasieva,<br>1966) | Lipetsk<br>(Akhtyrtsev<br>and Sushko,<br>1983) | Saransk<br>(Kolos, 1978) |
| Averagr monthly     | January | -4.0                            | -7.5    | -8.8                           | -10.3  | -11.7                    |
| temperature (°C)    | July    | 20.4                            | 20.3    | 19.9                           | 19.8   | 19.8                     |
| Clay content (%)    |         | 63±2                            | 63±2    | 53.0                           | 60±2   | 66.0                     |
| HTC <sub>V-IX</sub> |         | 0.9-1.1                         | 0.9-1.1 | 1.1-1.2                        | 1.1-1.2  | 1.1-1.2                  |
| Humus content (%)   |         | 6.3±0.3                         | 6.2±0.3 | 5.8                            | 6.4±0.3  | 7.5                      |



Figure 2.1. Isohumus map of Russian chernozems (Dokuchaev, 1883).

content is nearly stabilized but on a low level.

As mentioned above, data on humus content of V.V. Dokuchaev of chernozems of European part of former Soviet Union has been considered as a benchmark by many scientists and, therefore, there was an attempt to calculate the amount of losses of humus stock from the plow layer during 100 years (Fig. 2.2; Table 2.3). The losses are huge and amounted 20-69% of the initial contents. The isohumus stripes of Dokuchaev were significantly transformed.

It is not reasonable to criticize the data of Dokuchaev because it was the first attempt ever. However, data on humus in Fig. 2.2 need some comments. First of all they do not reflect the type of soil formation, hydrothermal regime and particle size distribution that all together regulate parameters of humus accumulation. As far as discussing for Ukraine, there is no clear point why in northern part soils have 0.5-2% humus in plow layer, then 2-3% and in most of the parts 4-7%. Generally, data presenting on Ukraine do not show spatial distribution pattern of humus content that is actually observed. This is the same for the rest of the territory. According to some authors humus losses for long period in Chernozems reach 4-41% of the initial stock (Afanasieva, 1966; Aderikhin, 1964; Gusev and Kolesnichenko, 1958; Kononova, 1968; Polupan et al., 2001), in Dark chestnut soils - 0-40% (Lavrenko and Prozorski, 1935; Sochaeva, 1970; Kolos, 1978). Such large ranges of changes in humus contents when using soils for agriculture should be drawn attention. This is partially caused by methodical errors when measuring the humus losses. Parameters for correction on the changes of humus contents under different land use and soil meliorations can be obtained under the condition of precise determination of genetic properties of the compared pairs of soils, adequacy of the content of fine particle-size fractions of the soils and parameters of profile thickness, as well as water supplying properties mainly due to topographic factors (Polupan et al., 2001).



Figure 2.2. Schematic map of the humus content in surface soils of chernozem region in 1960-1980.

Today it is well known that determination of genetic status of soil only based on morphology of soil profile does not ensure its identification. This is why in soil science there has been a search for quantitative criteria of determination of genetic attribute of soil. Humus as an index of ecological/ genetic status of soil is one of the perspective approaches in this direction (Laktionov et al., 1982).

Every type of soil formation together with the combination of genetic horizons is characterized with distribution pattern and contents of humus in the profile (Fig. 2.3). It is necessary to point out the presence of subjectivism in field observation such as determination of genetic horizons or qualitative morphological properties due to influence of many factors that cannot always be controlled. On the contrary, the quantity of humus in a profile can be measured and practically fixed constant. Every type of soil is characterized with certain parameters of humus accumulation. Its reflection is represented by the following factors: the coefficient of profile humus accumulation (CPHA) and the coefficient of profile humus content (CPHC). The first is the ratio between the quantities of humus in soil profile and the quantity of physical clay (< 0.01 mm); the second is the humus content at a certain profile thickness and equals to CPHA times profile thickness in cm.

These factors are in itself practically the same, but they complement each other; CPHC more clearly and quantitatively reflects the genetic properties of SOM-profile and whole typology of soil attribute (Table 2.4).

Soil is a function of ecological conditions in its formation. This is the main paradigm of genetic soil science that is recognized worldwide. Therefore, soil, as a naturalhistorical body and a product of human activity as well as the main field of agricultural production, cannot be separated from the geographical conditions of its formation. This

ostorna (od

Table 2.3. Changes of humus content and its losses in plow layer (0-30cm) of Chernozems of European part of former Soviet Union for 100 years.

| and the second second second | and the second | Co    | ntent and whole        | stock of hun | nus                    | Humus loss for     |                   | Percentage of humus  |
|------------------------------|--|-------|------------------------|--------------|------------------------|--------------------|-------------------|----------------------|
| Sub-types of                 | Region   | 18    | 81                     | 1981         |                        | 100 years (Mg      | Annual humus loss | loss against initial |
| chernozenis                  | renter and the second | (%)   | (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> ) | (%)          | (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> ) | ha- <sup>1</sup> ) | (ivig na )        | stock (%)            |
| Typical                      | Tambov and Voronezh  | 10-13 | 300-390                | 7-10         | 210-300                | 90                 | 0.9-0.9           | 23-30                |
| Typical                      | Kursk and Kharkov  | 7-10  | 221-315                | 4-7          | 142-248                | 67-79              | 0.7-0.8           | 21-36                |
| Leached                      | Stavropol  | 7-10  | 231-330                | 4-7          | 150-263                | 67-81              | 0.7-0.8           | 20-34                |
| Ordinary                     | Voronezh   | 7-10  | 221-315                | 4-7          | 150-263                | 52-71              | 0.5-0.7           | 17-32                |
| Ordinary                     | Moldova  | 4-7   | 126-221                | 2-4          | 75-150                 | 51-71              | 0.5-0.7           | 32-40                |
| Typical                      | Kuibushev  | 13-16 | 390-480                | 8-10         | 240-300                | 150-180            | 1.5-1.8           | 38-39                |
| Ordinary                     | Orenburg   | 9-11  | 270-330                | 6-8          | 180-240                | 90                 | 0.9               | 27-33                |
| Leached                      | Ul'yanovsk   | 13-16 | 390-480                | 4-7          | 120-210                | 270                | 2.7               | 56-69                |



Figure 2.3. Humus contents in different types of Chernozems.

functional dependence of genesis and soil properties on factors of soil formation is the main law of soil formation, which lays in unity of soils and environment. This law came in soil science as a teaching framework of soil zones. Hence in soil classification zonal principles must be fully used.

The reflection of genetic attributes of soil as a function of ecological conditions is the soil profile. Genetic status of soil is determined depending on its construction of genetic horizons. Today, diagnosis based on qualitative combination of genetic horizons in profile is given to priority, irreplaceable and recognizable worldwide. This is the fundamental basis on which soil classification is constructed. The classification where the above-mentioned points of genetic soil science are not reflected is artificial but not of natural construction.

In field conditions at zonal aspect every type of soil formation is diagnosed based on genetic horizons and is quantified using the parameters of intensity of humus accumulation.

The structure of soil cover in zones is differentiated into regional sub-zones where either certain types of soil formation predominate or they are characterized by different appearances of humus accumulation. In Ukraine, in the Forest-steppe zone there are allocated 6 sub-zones, in the Typical steppe zone - 4 and in the Dry steppe zone - 2 (Polupan et al., 2002).

Therefore, as a basis for subtype differentiation of soils using field diagnostic morphological/genetic properties, intensity of humus accumulation in upper 0-30 cm layer, that is, the coefficient of relative accumulation of humus (CRAH) is taken. It is a ratio between humus content in 0-30 cm and quantity of physical clay. A close relationship between the values of CRAH and  $HTC_{V-IX}$  is determined; i.e. R=0.91-0.92 for Chestnut, Dark chestnut, Dark-grey podzolized and Grey forest soils, R=0.94 for Podzolized chernozem, R=0.97-0.98 for Southern, Ordinary and Typical chernozems, and R=0.71 for Light-grey forest soil (Fig. 2.4).

For each type of soil formation corresponding subtypical gradations of CRAH are developed (Table 2.5). It is necessary to point out that gradation of CRAH within each sub-zone does not coincide among different types of soil formation. For example, among sub-zones in the Foreststeppe zone with  $HTC_{VIX}$  of 1.40-1.48, the intensity of humus accumulation is very high (1.40-1.45) in Typical chernozems, high (1.03-1.07) in Podzolized chernozems, moderately high (0.88-0.92) in Dark-grey podzolized soils, medium (0.71-0.74) in Grey forest soils, and poorly moderate (0.64-0.67) in Light-grey forest soils. This is the reflection of different characters of carbon cycling in these ecosystems.

An important characteristic of soil is its humus content. Its absolute parameter is determined by the intensity of humus accumulation under a given particle-size composition. For example, at the same Forest-steppe zone upon 26-30% of physical clay, Typical chernozems contain 3.6-4.4% of humus, Podzolized chernozems - 2.7-3.2%, Dark-gray podzolized soils - 2.3-2.8%, Grey forest soils - 1.8-2.2% and Light-grey forest soils - 1.7-2.0%. Hence, particle size

| Soil types                               | Profile thickness | Diagnostic  | factors |
|--|-------------------|-------------|---------|
|  | (cm)              | СРНА        | CPHC    |
| Sod-podzolic soil                        | 90-110            | 0.02-0.04   | 2-4     |
| Sod-podzolized soil                      | 90-110            | 0.04-0.07   | 4-7     |
| Sod-gleyed soil                          | 80-100            | 0.08-0.11   | 8-11    |
| Brown-earth                              | 60-90             | 0.21-0.34   | 15-27   |
| Brown-earth forest (podzolized) soil     | 70-110            | 0.05-0.26   | 4-25    |
| Brown-earth podzolic surface-gleyed soil | 80-100            | 0.02-0.04   | 2-4     |
| Light-grey forest                        | 110-140           | 0.015-0.02  | 1.5-3   |
| Grey forest soil                         | 110-140           | 0.02-0.03   | 2-4     |
| Dark-grey podzolized soil                | 110-140           | 0.03-0.045  | 4-6     |
| Podzolized chernozem                     | 110-140           | 0.05-0.065  | 7-8     |
| Typical chernozem                        | 120-150           | 0.066-0.075 | 8-10    |
| Ordinary chernozem                       | 70-130            | 0.055-0.065 | 4-8     |
| Southern chernozem                       | 55-75             | 0.045-0.055 | 3-4     |
| Dark chestnut soil                       | 60-70             | 0.035-0.045 | 2.5-3.0 |
| Chestnut soil                            | 55-65             | 0.03-0.035  | 1.5-2.5 |
| Solonetzic chestnut soil                 | 50-60             | 0.02-0.03   | 1-2     |

composition, or soil texture, is laid in the basis of differentiation of each subtype of soils into typological sorting level (Table 2.6).

Hydrothermal properties of warm period fully characterize parameters of relative humus accumulation of soils on type- and sub-type-levels, while sorts are reflected by the texture in its absolute values. However, for energy of soil formation and agronomic potential of lands, water accumulation during cold period has an important value. It is determined by absolute quantity of precipitation and its assimilation by soils.

The functional dependence between length of frosty period and assimilation of precipitation by soils is established. It is reflected in the thickness of the soil profile, which usually varies between 25-200 cm. Analysis of functional dependence between the profile thickness and the soil formation within each sort by texture allowed to develop natural differentiation of soils based on the parameters of profile classes (Table 2.7).

Every subtype of soil formation has ecologicallydetermined differentiation in profile class based on thickness of the profile. Within Ukraine, 2 profile classes are differentiated in the Dry steppe zone and the Southern steppe sub-zone (belonging to the Typical steppe zone), and 3 profile classes are in the other sub-zones in the Typical steppe zone and the Forest-steppe zone.

Above given parameters of soil differentiation into the profile classes in the hierarchical system are typical for plakor

|                                  | · 말씀 아님께서는 아이들은 아니는 아니는 아니는 것을 가지 않았다. 관심하는 것은 것이 가지 않는 것이 없는 것이다. |                            | CTD ATT           |
|----------------------------------|--|----------------------------|-------------------|
| able / a Differentiation of co   | I types into subtypes linon him                                    | alle acclimitation through | I RAH narametere  |
| Table 2.5. Differentiation of se |  | ius accumulation unough    | UNALI Darameters. |

|                                    | an Shi manakan sa Shi   | ann Marsanai        | Antorial constants                      | initi dini       | Cherne                                      | ozemhs                | Angel and the second second             | Dark  |                   |  |
|------------------------------------|---|---------------------|---|------------------|---|-----------------------|---|---|-------------------|--|
| Gradation of humus<br>accumulation | Light grey<br>forest soil   | Grey forest<br>soil | Dark grey<br>podzolized<br>soil         | Podzolized       | Typical                                     | Ordinary              | Southern                                | chestnut<br>soil                                    | Chestnu<br>soil   |  |
| Very high                          | ácse <u>p</u> ado:  | l aqistaoi          | usion <u>(</u> keup                     | юі <u>.</u>      | 1.40-1.45                                   | gattis <u>s</u> eejee | tato <u>1</u> 0385                      |   | na aider          |  |
| High                               | ngsaertini  | site (1600)         | 63/48-60tte                             | 58. <b>-</b> 888 | 1.21-1.37                                   | Alexandress.          | Mila 2993).                             | d breaket is  | nik lirika        |  |
| Very good                          | Sast nise   | din winishin        | ü neitisen                              | 1.07-1.25        | 1.12-1.20                                   | dation in             | aldin al be                             |   | 1998 - 510        |  |
| Good                               |   | n an the stand      | 0.92-1.00                               | 1.03-1.07        | 0.98-1.10                                   | Service and services  | ana an | an Francisca  | Kanalaran sanaran |  |
| Moderately good                    | 1999-1993 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1<br>1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 -<br>1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - | 0.74-0.90           | 0.88-0.92                               | 0.92-1.01        |   | 0.90-0.97             | 4 (1994) - 1997 - 1997 - 1997<br>       |   |                   |  |
| Medium                             | 0.67-0.82   | 0.71-0.74           | 0.77-0.87                               | 0.87-0.91        | area g                                      | 0.80-0.89             | s solution                              | d jaogi ja  | ndation           |  |
| Moderately weak                    | 0.64-0.67   | 0.60-0.69           | 0.71-0.82                               | 0.80-0.90        | Repl <b>e</b> s Nil                         | 0.68-0.78             | 1313863                                 | la stalendar se | de dien           |  |
| Weak                               | 0.53-0.61   | 0.55-0.66           | 0.63-0.74                               | det - bein       | 12 Con San                                  | an an an Ara          | 0.55-0.66                               | . SPARS COLORS                                      |                   |  |
| Low                                | 0.49-0.52   | 0.43-0.57           | nan an | -                | a sa ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang an |                       | onder der Berger<br>Stadie der Berger   | 0.45-0.54   |                   |  |
| Very low                           | 0.42-0.51   | anter attalie       | ayon yugan.<br>•                        |                  |   |                       | 0.1790 <b>8</b> 293                     |   | 0.35-0.4          |  |





**Table 2.6.** Typological sorts of soils usingparticle size distribution.

| No | Sorts based on particle-<br>size composition            | Content of physical cla<br>(< 0.01 mm) (%) |  |  |
|----|---|--|--|--|
| 1  | Sandy   | 0-5  |  |  |
| 2  | consolidated-sandy                                      | 6-10                                       |  |  |
| 3  | Light loam sandy  | 10-15                                      |  |  |
| 4  | Heavy loam sandy  | 16-20                                      |  |  |
| 5  | Sandy-light loam sandy                                  | 21-25                                      |  |  |
| 6  | Light loam sandy  | 26-30                                      |  |  |
| 7  | Light medium loamy                                      | 31-35                                      |  |  |
| 8  | Medium loamy  | 36-40                                      |  |  |
| 9  | Heavy medium loamy                                      | 41-45                                      |  |  |
| 10 | Light heavy loamy                                       | 46-50                                      |  |  |
| 11 | Heavy loamy   | 51-55                                      |  |  |
| 12 | Light clayey  | 56-60                                      |  |  |
| 13 | Light medium clayey                                     | 61-65                                      |  |  |
| 14 | Medium clayey   | 66-70                                      |  |  |
| 15 | Heavy clayey  | 71-75                                      |  |  |
|    | A second to the second state of the second state of the |  |  |  |

automorphic conditions. Deviations are derived from variations in hydromorphic and xeromorphic conditions.

Within soil-ecological sub-zones of the Forest-steppe, Typical steppe and Dry steppe zones of Ukraine, with an increase in humidity, the values of CRAH are increased by 108-125% relative to background soils, thickness of profile by 110-130%, and humus content in plow layer up to 105-125%. Under lowered humidity all these parameters are decreased relative to background values; weaklyxeromorphic types have parameters of CRAH 75-90%, thickness of profile 75-90% and humus 88-92%, respectively; moderately-xeromorphics of 65-75%, 75-50%, and 65-88%, respectively; and strongly-xeromorphics of 55-65%, 30-50%, and 50-65%, respectively.

On the type level described above, soils are further divided depending on the degree of alkalinity, salinity, macadam and stoniness according to quantitative indicators.

Variants reflect change of soil properties as a result of their exploitation in agriculture. Virgin and cultivated soils are divided separately as modal, tamed, eroded, secondary alkalinized, over-deep plowed, reclaimed, secondary hydromorphic etc., according to corresponding parameters. Parent rocks are taken into consideration for the lithoparticle-size series.

Approach to soil classification on the basis of parameterization of their properties and forming conditions together with indication of their genetic nature can fully characterize the qualities of the soils from agro-industrial viewpoints and allow its utilization in different ways.

Now there should be something said to comment about selection of criteria for soil classification. According to general rules of classification, the selection of criteria is more valid when considering collection of numerous characteristics of the objects. This rule worked in soil science as well

 
 Table 2.7. Differentiation of soils into profile class based on thickness of profile.

| Non Profile thickness, cm Profile class |         |                 |
|---|---------|-----------------|
| <b>I</b>                                | <25     | Shallow         |
| 2                                       | 25-45   | Short           |
| 3                                       | 45-65   | Non-deep        |
| 4                                       | 65-85   | Medium-deep     |
| 5                                       | 85-105  | Moderately deep |
| 6                                       | 105-125 | Deep            |
| 7                                       | 125-145 | Highly deep     |
| 8                                       | >145    | Extremely deep  |

(Khvorov and Onokhova, 1969; Fridland, 1982). However, soil is a specific natural body where properties depend on causal relationships; and herewith it is desirable to have a set of independent properties. In 60-80's so-called quantitative classification was being developed. Attempt to find parametric criteria of similarity and difference between types of soil formation on the basis of formalization of numerous (30-64) digital values of soil properties was undertaken. However, this attempt did not work because the principal of 'unity of difference' was unsatisfied. It is impossible to compare types of soils with different particlesize composition that determine parameters relating to many properties.

There is no room for argument about the existence of close relationships between soil properties, soil processes, and factors. This axiom is for genetic soil science. However, nobody succeeded in formalization with general criteria of these relationships using full spectrum of data of the triad (soil properties-soil processes-factors). Therefore, we started searching priority of selected factor parameters in formation of zonal types of soils and intensity of its manifestation. Causal relationships between hydrothermal conditions of May-September, humus accumulation and type of soil formation under a certain particle-size composition were established.

Therefore, humus is considered to be an index of typological and ecological memory. Its reflection is manifested in peculiarities of organo-profile and humus content together with the system of genetic horizons.

Under precise determination of genetic status, soil is characterized by relatively compact parameters indicating other properties as well together with humus content.

Significance of the forthcoming monograph both in research and agricultural production will increase if classification of Eurasian steppe soils is developed on the basis of parameters in hierarchical system of units and is determined by ecological conditions of formation, and if anthropogenic influence is reflected there.

Thus, creation of research work "Dynamics of organic matter in Eurasian Steppe soils" is a claimed task of contemporary soil science and soil geography. The work must be based upon generalization of the newest achievements in soil genesis, agronomic properties, classification and rational usage. It must solve the following important problems of fundamental and applied significance:

- Soil-ecological plotting based on adequacy of parameters of soil properties and conditions for their

formation, which in turn are the most important from the agronomic point of view. This is fundamental basis that influences genetic diversity of soil cover and its rational usage.

- Soil classification as a determined functional/ ecological construction where every type of soil formation is characterized with certain parametric properties in a system of hierarchical units, while their deviation depends on conditions of formation and anthropogenic influences.

- Characterization of steppe types based on vegetation cover correspondingly plotted soil-ecological territorial units.

- Dynamics of organic matter in soils with systematic list of investigated regions under natural ecosystems and controlling factors.

- Evolution of organic matter in agro-ecosystems of Eurasian steppes.

- Emission of carbon dioxide in natural and agricultural ecosystems and dynamics of organic matter.

- Ways for controlling organic matter content in zonal aspect in Eurasian steppes.

#### References

- Aderikhin PG, 1964. Changes of chernozem soil of CCR (Central Chernozemic Region) under their use in agriculture. *In* Chernozems, CCR and their fertility, *M. Nauka* (in Russian).
- Afanasieva EA, 1966. Chernozems of Middle-Russian highland, *In* Chernozems, CCR and their fertility, *M. Nauka* (in Russian).
- Akhtyrtsev BP, Sushko VD, 1983. Soil cover of Lipetsk region. Voronezh, Voronezh University (in Russian).
- Berg LS, 1952. Geografical zones of Soviet Union. Vol. II, M. Geografgiz (in Russian).
- Budyko LI, 1965. To the theory of photosynthesis in layer of plant cover. Reports of Academy of Science of USSR, Vol. 164, No.2 (in Russian).
- Chesnyak GYa, Gavrilyuk FYa, Krupenikov IA, Laktionov NI, Shilikina II, 1983. Russian Chernozem-in 100 years after Dokuchaev, *Nauka*, Moscow, pp186-199 (in Russian).
- Dokuchaev VV, 1883. Russian Chernozem. Report of Free Economic Society, SPb (in Russian).
- Fridland VM, 1982. Main principles and elements of basic classification of soils and a working program for its creation. M. (in Russian).
- Gusev VP, Kolesnichenko VT, 1958. Peculiarities of soil formation in North Crimea lowland. Bull. Crimea

Department of Geographic Society USSR. Ed.6, Simferopol (in Russian).

Khvorov NP, Onokhova KYa, 1969. Changes of soil properties due to plowing of virgin lands. Publ. of Kazakh research Institute of Agriculture, Vol.1, Agro soil science and Agrochemistry, Alma-Ata (in Russian).

- Kolos M, 1978. Chernozems of USSR (Volga and Ural regions). (in Russian).
- Kononova MM, 1968. Processes of organic matter transformation and their relation with fertility. *Pochvovedenie* 8 (in Russian).
- Kostychev PA, 1951. Publ., M., Academy of Science USSR (in Russian).
- Laatsch W, 1957. Dynamics in European mineral soils. 4 Auft. (in Germany).
- Laktionov BI, Andrusenko II, Baryavnik VG, 1982. Alfalfa in southern Ukraine. Simferopol, Tavria (in Russian).
- Lavrenko EM, 1956. Vegetation cover of USSR, Vol. II, Publ. Academy of Sciences USSR (in Russian).
- Lavrenko EM, Prozorski AV, 1935. Vegetation of European part of USSR. *In* Soils of USSR, Vol. I, M., -L. Academy of Science USSR (in Russian).
- Polupan NI, Kovalev VG, 1997. Theoretical basis of humus accumulation in natural conditions, its evolution and controlling it in agrocenoses. Vestnik Agrarnoi Nauki 9, Kiev (in Russian).
- Polupan NI, Solovei VB, Polupan VI, Velichko VA, 2001. Coefficient of relative humus accumulation - valuable diagnostic index of ecological/genetic status of soils. Vestnik Agrarnoi Nauki, special ed., Kiev (in Russian).
- Polupan NI, Solovei VB, Velichko VA, 2001. Methodical ways to create genetic-substance classification of Ukraine soils on parametric basis. Vestnik Agrarnoi nauki, 11, Kiev (in Russian).
- Polupan NI, Solovei VB, Velichko VA, 2002. Diagnosis, nomenclature and classification of brown forest soils in Carpathian region. Vestnik Agrarnoi Nauki, 5, Kiev (in Russian).
- Ponomareva VV, Nikolaeva TA, 1965. Content and composition of humus in chernozems of Streletskaya steppe under different usage. Publ. of Central Chernozem Natural Reserve, 8, ed. Voronezh (in Russian).
- Rozov NN, Stroganova MM, 1979. Soil cover of the world. Moscow. MGU (in Russian).
- Shishov LL, Rozhkov VA, Stolbovoi VS, 1985. Informative base for soil classification. *Pochvovedenie* 9 (in

Russian).

- Sochaeva VB, 1970. Experience of accounting of above ground biomass productivity. *Botanical J.* 47-4 (in Russian).
- Titova NA, 1972. Nature of humus and forms of its bonds with mineral part of virgin and cultivated soils of drysteppe areas of south-east European part of USSR. *In* Organic matter of virgin and cultivated soils, *M. Nauka* (in Russian).

A mathematikanian semiarah Jaman (miramina)
 A mathematikanian semiarah (miramina)
 A mathematikanian (ASBR) (miramina)
 A mathematikanian (Miramina)

 nomenclature and classification of brown forest softs in Carpathian region. Venturk Agramol Naule, 5, Kiev (in Programs (in 1996), and Stressing (in 1996), and Stressing (in 1996), and composition of human in 1965). Content and composition of human informations of Streipistays.

- Churupzem Matural Reserve, 8, od. Varonezh (in Raviani:
- Razdy MN, "Stoggalova MM, 1979. Soli cover of the world each marshold Moscaw, MOU (m Russian)

Shishop R.B.Rokov, VA; Solibovoi, VS, 1985. Informative Solis and American Date for abil classification. Perhvovedence 9 (in peterment tenenoper store, alternal station, during, destantial peterment tenenoper store, alternal station of stores are been been electromental social between to store allow son of independent, no perfiest in 60 millions as assess intermitation distributed in a store of models and 100 millions automatic distributed in a store of models and 100 millions automatic distributed in a store of models and 100 millions automatic distributed in a store of models and 100 millions automatic distributed in a store of models and 100 millions automatic distributed in a store of the best introduced by automatic distributed in a store of the best introduced by an and the store of the best intermediate and the best introduced by an analysis into a store of the best intermediate and 100 millions and an approximation of the best intermediate and 100 millions and an approximation of the best intermediate and the store of the analysis and the store of the best intermediate and the store of the analysis and the store of the best intermediate and the store of the analysis and the store of the best intermediate and the store of the analysis and the store of the best intermediate and the store of the analysis and the store of the best intermediate and the store of the store best and the store of the store of the best intermediate and the store of the store of the store best and the store of the store of the best intermediate and the store of the s

Permissing trainments memory and memory and and asses from information approximation in temporerary density berowned by more than a temporerary of an analysis of the association and dynamicsal approximation association and become Mary affect and by numbered approximation around become affect and by numbered approximation around a construction of the formation form allows to estate the temp. To approximate a feature and by the second approximation and by a construction of the formation and approximation around a second approximation and approximation and an approximation. Market and approximation around approximation of the more and approximation and approximation approximation. Market and approximation and approximation approximation. Market and approximation and approximation approximation of the more and approximation and approximation and approximation. Market approximation and approximation approximation and approximation. Market approximation and approximation approximation

Yo Widekurda Kurshirini teasa si sumuri, puritanan Alamaria Ita E.A. 1900m Gibumagura ar Wideki anglarana an minghana Dari Ommoretina (Gibuma Gibi Institution) (ankarita Kutana) teasaya arti (Civ. radiana) teano Aldus trancis P. Gashiro, Mika Mitu Budanaya; ak bibetsk pritangana Nonasani, Kapasaki Gubanaigi Inskatanan Surg U.S. 1922. Gasgiri Instangan (Davieski Instantan)).

en delle literignetignetignetignetionen en to somerninger Budylee i.d., UP 65 chordbetelsepity officielogeningers restager et met geminourie/Reports of/Euclidemy of Sciencical Tability et pr/Vokult/Colling/Rubinm) en et ensemmer to stand Chrempsick/Euclide/Restignib/Files Euclipolities (Collingers) and Chrempsick/Euclide/Restignib/Files.

Sim an Ebisachilevi Menazar Maskasan applithe/189 (10 10 Sikhishilala e ei Sule equi? Internet ei voitan Dahadaaree Voithige Suleentukkeeningang oogi baar oo Bakasanthaiboareen Sift (in Skashingang oogi baar oo Feiderechtek II 200 Sift (in Skashingang oogi baar oo treestor M. (in Remailing): baique oos instaating treestor M. (in Remailing): baique oos instaating) Sitteeri M. (in Staating): baique oos instaating) Sitteeri M. (instaating): baique oos instaating) Sitteeri M. (instaating): baique oos instaating) Sitteeri M. (instaating): baique oo instaating) Sitteeri M. (instaating): baique oo instaating) Sitteeri M. (instaating) Sitteeri M. (instaati

## Chapter 3

# Soil-ecological zonation of Eurasian steppes and soil classification according to quantitative principles - scientific base for solving the problem of soil organic matter dynamics Nikolai Ivanovich Polupan

# 3.1. Typology of steppes of European part based on floristic composition

During the last century a significant transformation of nature and steppe landscapes took place. Virgin steppes are today preserved only in natural reserves: "Mihailovskaya steppe", "Homutovskaya steppe", "Stone graves", "Derkulskaya steppe", "Streltsovskaya steppe", "Aksaniskaya steppe" and others (Ukraine), Chernozem reserve (Kursk), "Talovskaya steppe", Burzhinskaya steppe", "Aituarskaya steppe" and others (Russia). They represent vegetation associations of the steppe regions. Available virgin pastures and hayfields are very much altered by human activities and differ from the original vegetation associations.

Preserved natural reserves give information about early historical steppe ecosystems. At present their geography was reconstructed with high accuracy based on soil materials since soil and vegetation have direct correlation.

Large extension of European steppe zone from west to east and from north to south conditions variability of climatic characteristics, which has influenced the characteristics of distribution of vegetation cover.

<u>Meadow steppes and steppened meadows</u> as the most water-resistant type of steppe landscapes (HTC<sub>V-IX</sub> of 0.90 to 1.48) are spread over the territory of the Forest-steppe zone. This type of steppes is combined with deciduous forests and is attached to low weakly-divided watersheds (Krasnov, 1881; Dokuchaev, 1891).

Composition of grassy vegetation of meadow steppes and steppened meadows was predominated by turf-cereals: feather grass (*Stipa capillata* and *Stipa stenophylla*), tipchak (*Festuca sulcata*), tonkonog (*Koeleria*), myatlik (*Poa* sp.) and others, as well abundant colorful motley grass: *Filipendula steposa*, *Salvia pratensis*, *Trifolium montanum* and many others. In total herbage, motley grass occupy up to 80%, with population of more than 200 species of steppe associations (Keller, 1931). Typical grass for them is sedge (*Carex humilis*). The surface free from cereals was covered with moss (*Thuidium abietnum*). Vegetation cover was quite dense, evolution during whole vegetation period was uniform, and therefore, ephemerals were insignificantly present. In the herbage of steppened meadows motley grass and rhizome cereals were predominant, while meadow turf cereals were less, and xerophyte steppe cereals (*Festuca, Stipa* etc.) occur as admixture. Main place in meadow steppes was occupied by turf cereals (*Festuca, Stipa, Koeleria*, etc.) with insignificant quantity of rhizome cereals.

In the vegetation composition of steppened meadows and meadow steppes of eastern regions many plants disappear or become rare (*Bromus* sp., *Carex*, etc.), and eastern species (*Artemisia armeniaca*, *A. Latifolia*, etc.) appear.

In the meadow steppes of humid climate of Central Europe, many species that was observed in East-European steppes were lacking (*Plantago urvilleana, valiria rossica, Salvia nutaus*, etc.), but alpine elements such as *Sesleria coerulea, Saxifraga aizoon, Daphne cneorum*, etc. could be found, as well as sub-mediterranean species such as orchids etc. (Valter, 1975).

In the Typical steppe zone that occupies vast territories of Eastern Europe and also in lowlands of middle and lower Danube in southeastern Europe, vegetation cover was more represented by xerophytes due to dry climate, which led to increase of quantity of turf cereals and decrease of water resistance rhizome cereals and sedges. The period of "halfhibernation" that falls in middle summer appears in the evolution of typical steppes when the herbage was more rarefied; therefore the quantity of ephemerals increased in the vegetation composition.

Unequal moisture conditions due to vast extension of steppe from north to south conditioned formation of vegetation cover where motley-tipchak-feathergrass, tipchakfeathergrass and wormwood-tipchek-feathergrass steppes were predominant.

<u>Motley-tipchak-feathergrass typical steppe</u> is extended in northern part of the Typical steppe zone with  $HTC_{VIX}$  of 0.61-0.89. It extends continuously from Budapest through Danube valley across southern part of Moldova till Ural, and occupies southern part of Crimea and Pre-Caucasus because here reverse latitudinal zonality is observed. In the last region they occupy almost whole Kuban-Azov plain.

Vegetation cover of this steppe was dominated with

narrow leaved turf cereals: *Stipa capillata, S. stenophylla, S. rubens, S. lessingiana, S. ucrainica, Festuca sulcata, Koeliria gracilis, Avena desertorum* etc., with mixture of motley grass: *Adonis wolgensis, Grambe tatarica, Statice latifolia, Salvia nutans,* etc. Following species are also found: steppe brushwoods of blackthorn (*Prunus spinosa*), steppe cherry (*Prunus chamaecerasus*), almond (*Amygalus*), etc., on the slopes of gullies - bairak oak forests.

In eastern part many of plant species disappear, ephemerals become few, while new species characteristics for Kazakhstan and Siberian steppes appear. Based on this Lavrenko (1956) distinguishes motley-tipchak-feathergrass steppes of eastern bank Volga into independent Volga-Kazakhstan province.

In western part of motley-tipchak-feathergrass steppes herbage contains large weight of Mediterranean and Pannonian species. They penetrated into southeastern Europe from Balkan peninsula, and include: *Quercus pubescens, Coronilla emerus, Amelanchier ovalis* and many others. According to Shabanova (1972), among cereals palearctic cereals occupy 26.9%, Mediterranean 26.2%, Pontic 16.7%, golarctic 14.3%, European 8.8%, subarctic 4.7% and cosmopolitan 2.4%.

<u>Tipchak-feathergrass steppe</u> extends only in Eastern Europe over three regions: Black Sea coast, Caucasus-Lower Don and eastern bank of Volga. It was characterized with domination of xerophile dense-turf cereals (*Stipa, Festuca, Koeleria*, etc.). Motley grass is represented by more xerophyle species: *Linosyris villosa, Statice, Galium*, etc.

Characteristic feature of this steppe was the presence of ephemerals that occupy free spots among main components: *Tulipa, Gagea pusilla, Veronica verna, Allyssum minimum, Erophila verna*, etc. Aboveground litter contained many lichens and blue-green algae. In 1923, totally 365 species of plants were found in Askania steppe (Pachoski, 1923), while at present there are 478 plant species (Vedenkov and Drogobych, 1998). *Stipa ucrainica* disappears from Volga steppes, but *Stipa rubens, S. sareptana* and *S. korshins*ki appear.

Wormwood-tipchak-feathergrass steppe is typical for the Dry steppe zone and is extended along the coast of Sivash in Ukraine, on eastern Caucasus-Low Don sections and Volga coast. Major difference between the tipchak-feathergrass and this steppes is the presence of significant quantity of xerophile semi brushes in the latter: Artemisia taurica, A. boschnickiana, Agropyron pectiniforme, Poa angustifolia, Artemisia incana and, east from Don, Kochia prostrata, *Camforos ma monspeliacum*, etc. This steppe is abundant in ephemerals and there are many lichens and blue-green algae.

In southern part of tipchak-feathergrass and especially in wormwood-tipchak-feathergrass steppe, steppened-desert and desert vegetation cover, which was conditioned by solonetz and solonchak spots, could be found (Lavrenko and Prozorovski, 1939).

On solonetz soils together with turf cereals, there is a significant amount of subshrub wormwood (*Artemisia maritima*) and subshrub prutnyak (*Kochia prostrata*), or they dominate in vegetative cover. On solonchak soils there are halophyte subshrubs: *Obiona verrucifera, Halocnemum strobilaceum*, etc.

Beside zonal (climatic) distribution of vegetation cover of steppes described above, litho-chemical composition of soils, different forms of macro- and meso-relief, and/or hydrological conditions also exerted an influence on its specific diversity. On stony and macadam soils on eluvium of hard rocks, petrophyte (stony) steppes with rarefied herbage were formed. Beside turf cereals, petrophile species such as *Oposma stellatum*, *Teucrium*, *Achillea nobilis*, *Sedum*, *helianthemum*, etc. were typical for the stony steppes.

On Donetsk kryazh that is situated in the typical motleytipchak-feathergrass steppe zone due to specific moisture conditions, large quantity of plant species of the meadow steppes were observed; this is the reason why many botanists consider it belonging to the Forest-steppe zone although in fact this is Typical steppe zone. Therefore, flora of higher plants here counted 422 species (Beregovoi et al., 1972).

In zone of tipchak-feathergrass and wormwood-tipchakfeathergrass steppes on plains of non-drained or weaklydrained territories, "pods" ("estuaries") can be found, which are vast (till 16 km in diameter) shallow (0.5-20 m) locked depressions that serve as an accumulator of surface flow water; therefore, usually in spring, they are sporadically flooded with water. Therefore, their vegetation cover is very dynamic.

In 'pods' with deep ground waters in dry years, when they were not flooded for many years, steppe and meadow vegetation grows: *Festuca sulcata, Falcria rivini, Statice tatarica, Galium pedemontanum, Agropyron pseudocaesium, Alopecurus pratensis, Carex praecox, Inula britannica, Vicia villosa, V. hirsute*, etc.

During flood, steppe elements of vegetation disappear and typical meadow and marshy plants cover the pods: Botomus umbellatus, Carex gracilis, Eleocharis mamillata, Phalacrachena inuloides, Prumex crispuc, Phlomis tuberosa, etc. (Korotkov, 1957; Lavrenko and Prozorovski, 1939; Pachoski, 1923; Shalyt, 1930).

For 'pods' with shallow strongly mineralized ground water and strongly salinized soils solonchak, following vegetation is typical: *Salicornia herbacea, Statice caspia, S. meyerri, Holocemum strobilaceum, Artemisia salsoloids,* etc. (Bilik, 1963; Shalyt, 1949).

Steppe regions are also characterized by the existence of meadows attached to river flood-lands. Duration of high water, level of moistening and salinity of soil determine their vegetation composition.

In the driest parts of flood-lands that predominantly consist of sandy soils, rarefied grass vegetation that consists of *Agrostis*, *Phleum phleoides*, *Festuca ovina*, etc. is common. On the most part of flood-lands with short-flood regime (spring tide is less than 20 days) of small rivers and in central part of flood-lands with middle-flood regime (tide is 25-30 days) of middle and large rivers, the typical (moist) meadows are common that predominantly contain cereals: *Alopecurus, Poa pratensis, P. palustris*, and also legumes: *Trifolium pratense, Vicia cracca*, etc.

Differences due to salinity of the typical steppes are observed in southern part of flood-lands of the steppe. In the composition of vegetation cover halophyte cereals are predominant: *Atropis maritime, A. convoluta* and *Agropyron orientale*, as well solonchak sedge and motley-grass: *Aster tripolium, Statice tripolium*, etc.

Wet (marshy) meadows are located at near-terrace parts of flood-lands. Typical plant species for these meadows are *Agrosis stolonifera, Beckmannia, Glyceria, Carex, Runux crispus, Phragmites communis, Scirpus*, etc. The latter plants are also typical for lower flows of large rivers (Danube, Dnieper, Dniestr, Kuban, etc.) with long flood-land regime (50-60 days). There, three types of vegetation could be found. In halophyte types of waterlogged meadows Scirpus maritimus and Juncus maritimus are predominate.

The main regularity of vegetation distribution is closely related to geography of soil cover of the steppe region. According to reference sources, Leached chernozems are predominantly formed under the steppened meadows, Typical chernozems are under the meadow steppes, Ordinary chernozems are under the motley-tipchak-feathergrass, Southern chernozems are under the tipchak-feathergrass, and Chestnut soils are under the tipchak-feathergrass-chestnut steppes, respectively. On flood-lands of riverbeds Alluvial turf soils were formed, under the true meadows - Alluvial meadow soils, in southern part of the steppe their salty types and on waterlogged meadows - Alluvial meadow-marshy and Marshy soils.

# 3.2. Productivity, relationship between aboveground and belowground biomass, and humus accumulation in the steppes soils

Individual steppe ecosystems are characterized with different ratio of root to aboveground biomass: it increases from north to south. It is equal to 2-3, 4-5, and 6-10 in the steppened meadows and the meadow steppes, the typical motely-tipchak-feathergrass steppes, and the tipchakfeathergrass and the wormwood-tipchak-feathergrass steppes, respectively (Rodin and Bazilevich, 1965). In the same direction, quantity of aboveground biomass decreases. Productivity of aboveground biomass is 1.5-8.3, 1.0-3.2, 0.8-2.4, and 0.3-2.5 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> for the meadow steppes (Afanasieva, 1966; Bolotina and Korovikna, 1960; Keller, 1931; Lavrenko et al., 1955; Rodin and Bazilevich, 1965), the motley-tipchakfeathergrass steppes (Kulakov, 1960; Lavrenko et al., 1955; Novopokrovski, 1925; Shalyt, 1950), the tipchakfeathergrass and the dry wormwood-tipchak-feathergrass steppes (Lavrenko et al., 1955; Larin, 1936; Pershina and Yakovleva, 1960; Shalyt, 1950), respectively.

Large fluctuations in productivity within one steppe are mainly caused by study conditions in meteorologically different years. According to Korotkov (1957), for example on the tipchak-feathergrass steppes, the productivity of aboveground biomass was 0.7-2.7 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> in droughty years, whereas it reached 4.5-6.2 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> in moist years. Nevertheless, according to the quoted data there is a clear regularity in decrease of aboveground biomass from the meadow steppes to the dry steppes. However, by summarizing numerous data on actual biomass of different steppes, Rodin and Bazilevich (1965) pointed out that there was a little change in biomass upon single type of steppes since the portion of roots in total stock of biomass increased from north to south.

The distribution patterns of root biomass in soils of the steppes are also worth attention. In more humid meadow steppes root biomass distributes mainly in upper soil layers, and as climate is getting drier the depth of root concentration is deepen as well (Fig. 3.1).

In these steppes different biological cycles are observed. Annually, in steppened meadows and meadow steppes 50-55% of total biomass entered the soil as a fall, in temperate droughty and droughty steppes - about 45%, and in dry steppes - about 40% (Rodin and Bazilevich, 1965). In the


**Figure 3.1.** Quantity of above- and below-ground biomasses and their distribution along profile in virgin soils; 1: Typical chernozem (Central-chernozem National Reserve), 2: Ordinary chernozem (Khomutovskaya steppe), 3: Dark chestnut soil (Askania steppe), 4: Solonetzic chestnut soil (Askania steppe), 5: Chestnut soil, 6: Light chestnut soil and 7: Solonetzic light chestnut soil (Afanasieva, 1966; Totowa 1972; Shalyt, 1949; Shalyt, 1950).





The values in the upper figures (A) are: e.g. at Beldy, 27.4 - average temperature of the warmest month; 39.0 - absolute maximum temperature; -7.9 - average temperature of the coldest month; -35.0 - absolute minimum temperature; 163 - mean duration (days) of frost-free period.

In the upper figures (A),  $\hat{1}$  (solid line) is monthly precipitation (1 point of scale is 20 mm); 2 (dotted line) is monthly temperature (1 point of scale is 10°C); 3 (area in the figures) means moistened period in a year; 4 is period of droughts in a year (but not seen in this region); 5 is the period with mean daily minimum temperatures of below 0°C; and 6 is the period with absolute minimum temperature of below 0°C.

In the lower figures (B), 1 (solid line) represents humus content in the agricultural soils (with upper scale); 2 shows humus content in virgin land (with upper scale); 3 is pH (H<sub>2</sub>O) also with upper scale; 4 is CaCO<sub>3</sub> in % with lower scale; 5 is the content of particles of < 0.001 mm (with lower scale); 6 is the content of R<sub>2</sub>O<sub>3</sub>; 7 is the content of SiO<sub>2</sub>; and 8 is sum of exchangeable Ca<sup>2+</sup> + Mg<sup>2+</sup>.

first case, green parts of plants predominantly fall, while in the latter cases root biomass is predominantly added to soils as detritus.

Decomposition rate of plant residues in all the types of steppes lags after input, but rate of mineralization increases towards south and as a result amount of residue input decreased in this direction. It was 8.0-10.0, 6.0, and 3.0 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> in the steppened meadows and the meadow steppes, the motley-tipchak-feathergrass steppes, and the tipchakfeathergrass steppes, respectively (Afanasieva, 1966; Rodin and Bazilevich, 1965; Semenova-Tian-Shanskaia, 1960).

The water-resistant steppes were characterized with most active biological cycle; 50-60% of mineral elements and nitrogen in biomass annually returned into soils, while in other steppes the ratio fell to 40-45% (Rodin and Bazilevich, 1965).

Different productivity of the steppes and especially distribution of root biomass in soil profile was reflected in humus accumulation and its distribution in the profile.

Every type of soil is tied up with a certain ecosystem productivity, which depends on moisture conditions and trophic environments of substrates. In steppe ecosystems with soils having similar particle-size distribution, the productivity decreases as follows: the meadow, the motely-tipchakfeathergrass, the tipchak-feathergrass and the dry wormwoodtipchak-feathergrass associations. According to references, annual productivity of natural vegetation of Typical chernozems with physical clay of 50-55% and humus content of 7.3-7.7% in 0-30 cm layer or 600-650 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> in humified laver is 8.4 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> in average. Based on our research on Ordinary chernozems of northern steppe (physical clay 56-60%, humus content of 5.7-5.9% in 0-30 cm layer or of 480-530 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> in humified layer), the annual productivity was 6.9 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>. It was 3.1 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> in Southern chernozems (correspondingly, 56-60%, 3.6-3.8% and 220-240 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>), 2.8 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> in Dark chestnut soils (56-60%, 3.3-3.5% and 180-220 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>), and 2.0 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> in Chestnut soils (56-60%, 2.3-2.5% and 140-160 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>) (Polupan and Solovei, 2001). Correlations between productivity and humus content in any pair of ecosystems are relatively high, indicating a close relationship between soil humus and productivity of natural ecosystems. In relation to this fact, based on soil humus content, it is possible to predict average indexes of productivity of steppes of different geographic regions with high probability.



**Figure 3.3.** Climatograms of the meadow steppe zones (A) and properties of Typical chernozems (B). Legends are same as for Fig. 3.2.

3.3. Hydrothermal coefficient, amount of precipitation during cold period and its assimilation by soil priority criteria of resources of water supply and energy of soil formation

Today practically nobody disputes that soil science refers as fundamental science among natural sciences. Its founder V.V. Dokuchaev as well foresaw it. He noted that on the beginning stage of its evolution soil science has qualitative level due to lack of information, but as time passes soil science becomes exact science. It conditions limit numbers of quantitative indexes when characterizing different soil phenomenon and regularity of their development. Such terms as 'humid', 'more humid', 'less humid' etc. can't reflect the precise essence of the subject without parameterization of certain indexes.

Climate is the most important factor for soil formation

|                    | (1997)<br>(1997)<br>(1997) | HTC       |           | Prec    | ipitation [mm | <b>I]</b> | Profile   | Physical     | Humus       |  | (to de sit | idhiid, avisos                              |
|--------------------|----------------------------|-----------|-----------|---------|---------------|-----------|-----------|--------------|-------------|--|------------|---|
| Chernozems         | V IV                       | inclu     | iding     | VI III  | %             |           | thickness | clay (<0.01  | content (0- | CRAH                                     | CPAH       | Total humus<br>stock (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> ) |
| ismo: b            | V-1X                       | V-VI      | VIII-IX   | AI-III  | assimilated   | pnase     | (cm)      | mm) (%)      | 30 cm) (%)  | en e |            | Stock (ing in )                             |
|                    | 1.26-1.36                  | 1.40-1.40 | 1.20-1.30 | 140-160 | 58            | Ш         | 140-150   | 30-35        | 4.0-4.6     | 1.32                                     | 0.074      | 468   |
| a <u>a</u> minai a | 1.06-1.16                  | 1.10-1.20 | 1.00-1.10 | 120-140 | 52            | п         | 135-145   | 30-35        | 3.5-4.1     | 1.16                                     | 0.075      | 433   |
| Typical            | 0.96-1.06                  | 1.00-1.10 | 0.91-1.00 | 140-160 | 47            | Ι         | 135-140   | 30-35        | 3.1-3.5     | 1.01                                     | 0.071      | 405   |
|                    | 0.90-0.98                  | 1.00-1.10 | 0.74-0.80 | 120-140 | 65            | IV        | 130-140   | 56-60        | 5.9-6.3     | 1.05                                     | 0.067      | 610   |
| 106. jiq bo        | 0.90-0.98                  | 1.00-1.10 | 0.74-0.80 | 160-180 | 47            | Ι         | 120-130   | 56-60        | 5.8-6.2     | 1.03                                     | 0.066      | 580   |
|                    | 0.80-0.89                  | 0.91-1.00 | 0.64-0.73 | 120-140 | 65            | IV        | 100-110   | 56-60        | 5.4-5.7     | 0.94                                     | 0.061      | 490   |
| 0.0000             | 0.80-0.89                  | 0.91-1.00 | 0.64-0.73 | 180-210 | 47            | Ι         | 110-120   | 56-60        | 5.2-5.8     | 0.95                                     | 0.061      | 500   |
| Ordinary           | 0.74-0.83                  | 0.81-0.90 | 0.64-0.73 | 120-140 | 65            | IV        | 85-95     | 56-60        | 4.8-5.1     | 0.85                                     | 0.058      | 410   |
|                    | 0.74-0.83                  | 0.81-0.90 | 0.64-0.73 | 120-140 | 52            | П         | 75-85     | 56-60        | 4.7-5.1     | 0.84                                     | 0.058      | 380   |
|                    | 0.74-0.83                  | 0.81-0.90 | 0.64-0.72 | 140-160 | 47            | I         | 75-85     | <u>56-60</u> | 4.8-5.1     | 0.84                                     | 0.058      | 390   |
| Southern           | 0.60-0.68                  | 0.74-0.80 | 0.40-0.49 | 120-140 | 80            | VI        | 65-75     | 56-60        | 3.1-3.3     | 0.55                                     | 0.045      | 230   |
|                    | 0.64-0.70                  | 0.74-0.80 | 0.50-0.57 | 120-140 | 65            | IV        | 56-65     | 56-60        | 3.3-3.6     | 0.6                                      | 0.053      | 250   |





and soil fertility. Analysis of literature sources showed that its parametric indexes upon characteristics of individual territories are usually presented in the form of: average annual precipitation and its monthly dynamics, average air temperature and its monthly dynamics, average temperature of the warmest and coldest months, length of non-frost period, etc. The main climate indexes used today are presented as climatogram for some chernozem subtypes from west to east together with their parametric characteristics in Figs. 3.2, 3.3 and 3.4.

In the previous sections we pointed out that existence of the steppes as a natural phenomenon and its typological differentiation based on vegetation composition is conditioned by the level of humidity. Generally, according to the figures, we can qualitatively confirm that the zone of Leached chernozems (Fig. 3.2) is more humid than the zone of Typical chernozems (Fig. 3.3); such pattern is also true for Typical chernozems when comparing with Ordinary chernozems (Fig. 3.4). At the same time, however, large difference in humidity within each subtype is observed, that is not expected at first sight. In addition, similar humidity parameters can be found in all the regions of the chernozem subtypes listed above, which is theoretically not acceptable. Attempt to correlate the climatic indexes with energy of soil formation, as in the case of humus accumulation, was not successful. Therefore, it is impossible to correctly reveal the reason of organic matter dynamics in soils of steppe zone depending solely on humidity conditions. If soil science in fact is a fundamental science, then today based upon the climatic indexes it is impossible to precisely determine parameters of humidity under which one or another soil formation process develops including the intensity of humus accumulation. The problem can be solved on a quantitative level.

We determined that  $HTC_{v-IX}$ , amount of precipitation during cold period, and its assimilation by soil fully reflect resources of humidity of territories. Consequently, they have very high correlation both with type of soil formation and humus accumulation as well (R = 0.94-0.98; Table 3.1; Polupan et al, 1999).

#### $HTC = \Sigma P_{10} / \Sigma T \times 10$

where HTC is the hydrothermal coefficient,  $\Sigma P_{10}$  is sum of precipitation for the period when air temperature is above 10°C, and  $\Sigma$  T is sum of temperature for that period.

These indexes can be applied when differentiating soil cover into uniformly humid territories (Polupan and Solovei, 1997; Polupan, et al., 2001).

### 3.4. Soil-ecological zonation of steppe part of Ukraine and pattern of spatial dynamic of organic matter in the soils

Main principle of soil-ecological zonation is: spatial differentiation of territory into homogeneous natural habitants of soil cover, components of which have certain morphogenetic parameters because of commonness of ecological conditions of their formation that at the same time are agronomically important parameters. This is a principle of adequacy of soil bodies to the conditions of environment.

The indexes of climatic conditions for soil formation are  $HTC_{V-IX}$ , amount of precipitation during cold period, and its assimilation by soil, whereas that of soil characteristics is mainly humus content.

The concept of HTC for May-September was further divided into two parts: those for May-July and August-September. This was done for precise characterization of ecological advantages of the territories assigned for agricultural crops with short vegetative period, and in whole for long vegetating crops.

Steppe zone of Ukraine is clearly divided into 4 soilecological zones; each of them is characterized by inherent parameters of hydrothermal conditions, type of soil formation, and quantitative indices of humus accumulation (Fig. 3.5; Table 3.2).

Structure of soil cover in the individual zones is differentiated into regional sub-zones with predominance of certain type of soil formation, or with intensity of humus accumulation due to difference in hydrothermal conditions.

In the moderately humid and humid forest-steppe subzones with  $HTC_{VIX}$  1.48-1.84, there are no steppe soils but predominantly surface-gleyed Gray forest soils with inclusion of Dark-grey podzolized soils and Podzolized chernozems.

Soil-ecological zones and sub-zones are differentiated into phases based on peculiarities of soil formation that were conditioned by difference in thermal regime of the cold period. In the phase level, soils are discriminated by morphological parameters as a result of different water regime that is conditioned by thermal regime of cold period. For example, heavy loamy Typical chernozems at average air temperature in January -7.0 to -8.0°C have thickness of profile 115-125 cm, while at -5.6 to -6.8°C they have 130-140 cm under the same soil forming condition. An inversely proportional dependence was established between thickness of soil profile and length of frosty period. There is an almost linear functional dependence between the frosty period (x) and an average temperature of January (y): y = -0.0112x + 7.025

This dependence is valid only for plain part of Ukraine. It is divided into 6 phases (see Table 3.1). Correlation between given phases and the assimilation of winter precipitation is established, and is expressed for whole profile. This allowed the development of standards for absolute absorption of precipitation by soil on the territory of the phase.

Basic unit of soil cover distribution on relatively homogeneous territory is province. It is distinguished within individual sub-zones and is characterized with the same indices of both humidity and soil properties.

This gives a possibility to establish pattern of humus accumulation in soils depending on ecological conditions of soil formation and to develop their typology based on humus content. We developed empirical model for determining humus content steppe soil profiles:

 $Y = 9.07X_1X_3 + 0.05X_2X_3 - 4.9X_3$ 

where Y is total humus content in soil profile (Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>),  $X_1$  is HTC<sub>V-IX</sub>,  $X_2$  is thickness of humified profile (cm), and  $X_3$  is the content of physical clay (%).

Coefficient of the multiple regression (R) is 0.96,

Table 3.2. Soil-ecological zones and subzones of steppe soils in Ukraine, parameters of their hydrothermal conditions, and intensity of humus accumulation.

|  |                         |            | Period                |                 |                       |                 | Annual        | Intensity o  | f humus    |
|--|-------------------------|------------|-----------------------|-----------------|-----------------------|-----------------|---------------|--------------|------------|
| Code in the  | May-                    | Jul        | Aug-                  | Sep             | Nov-Mar               | Temperature     | precipitation | accuntu      | iation     |
| map  | Precipitation<br>(mm)   | HTC        | Precipitation<br>(mm) | HTC             | Precipitation<br>(mm) | in Jan (°C)     | (mm)          | СРАН         | CRAI       |
| лс   |                         |            | FORES                 | <b>F-STEPPE</b> | ZONE OF TY            | VPICAL CHI      | ERNOZEM       |              |            |
|  | 165-280                 | 1.00-1.90  | /5-160                | 0.72-1.70       | 130-220               | -7.93.8         | 450-760       | 0.066-0.075  | 0.98-1.4   |
|  |                         |            | 0.070000.30           | FOREST-         | STEPPE ZONI           | E; SUB-ZONE     | S             | . dağır izmi | 50100 al   |
| ПЛС-1  | 005.000                 | 1 60 1 00  | 120,120,000           | Fores           | -steppe; extrer       | nely humid      | incigo obi    |              |            |
| <u></u>  | 235-280                 | 1.60-1.90  | 120-160               | 1.40-1.75       | 140-210               | -5.53.8         | 590-760       |              | <u></u>    |
| ПЛС-2  |                         |            |                       | Fo              | est-steppe; ver       | y humid         |               |              |            |
|  | 220-240                 | 1.50-1.60  | 110-120               | 1.10-1.30       | 140-160               | -5.54.5         | 560-610       | 0.066-0.075  | 1.40-1.4   |
| ПЛС-3  | 105 000                 | 1 00 1 70  | 105                   | Forest-step     | be; well- and su      | ufficiently-hur | nid           | 0 0 C C 0 0  |            |
| 160101VI   | 185-220                 | 1.20-1.50  | 105-120               | 1.00-1.30       | 120-210               | -7.94.5         | 500-590       | 0.066-0.075  | 1.21-1.    |
| ПЛС-4  | 100.100                 | los istois |                       | For             | est-steppe; high      | nly humid       |               |              | alangto    |
|  | 180-190                 | 1.10-1.20  | 100-110               | 1.00-1.10       | 120-180               | -7.95.6         | 490-560       | 0.066-0.075  | 1.12-1.    |
| ПЛС-5  |                         |            |                       | ]               | Forest-steppe; 1      | humid           |               |              |            |
|  | 180-200                 | 1.10-1.20  | 80-100                | 0.81-1.00       | 140-180               | -7.94.5         | 470-560       | 0.066-0.075  | 1.05-1.    |
| ПЛС-6  |                         |            |                       | Forest          | -steppe; moder        | ately humid     |               |              |            |
| attende bl   | 165-175                 | 1.00-1.10  | 75-90                 | 0.74-1.00       | 120-180               | -7.94.5         | 450-520       | 0.066-0.075  | 0.98-1.    |
| C  |                         |            | TYPICAL               | STEPPE          | ZONE OF OR            | DINARY CH       | IERNOZEM      |              |            |
|  | 125-175                 | 0.67-1.00  | 60-90                 | 0.42-0.80       | 120-210               | -7.90.7         | 370-520       | 0.055-0.065  | 0.69-0.    |
|  |                         |            |                       | STEE            | PE ZONE: SI           | B-ZONES         |               |              |            |
|  | <u>in a s</u> h tan i s |            |                       | Norths          | tenne: insuffic       | iontly humid    |               |              |            |
| ncc-i  | 160-175                 | 0 91-1 00  | 70-90                 | 0 64-0 80       | 120-210               | -7 93 3         | 440-520       | 0 055-0 065  | 0.90-0     |
|  | 100 115                 | 0.91 1.00  |                       | North cent      | al stenne: mod        | lerotely droug  |               |              | 0.90 0.    |
| пссц-2   | 150-165                 | 0 81-0 90  | 65-75                 | 0 64-0 73       | 120-210               | -7 92 0         | 400-500       | 0.055-0.065  | 0.80-0     |
|  |                         |            |                       | Cou+L           | -central stan         | droughty        |               | 0.000 0.000  | 0.00 0.    |
| псюц-3   | 140-155                 | 0 74-0 81  | 60-70                 | 0 50-0 64       | 120-210               | -5 50 7         | 400-460       | 0 055-0 065  | 0.68-0     |
| CIO  |                         |            | South ste             | nne moder       | tely dry typic        | al for Souther  | 100 (00       |              |            |
| CIU .  | 125-140                 | 0 67-0 74  | 55-60                 | 0 42-0 57       | 120-160               | -4 40 7         | 370-430       | 0 045-0 055  | 0 55-0     |
| and a second s |                         |            |                       |                 |                       |                 |               |              |            |
| CC   | in teant ann            |            | DRY SEPEP             | PPE ZONE        | OF CHESTN             | UT SOIL AN      | D SOLONET     | 'Z           |            |
|  | 90-125                  | 0.47-0.70  | 50-60                 | 0.40-0.50       | 120-140               | -4.42           | 310-390       | 0.035-0.045  | 0.35-0.    |
|  |                         |            |                       | DRY ST          | EPPE ZONE;            | SUB-ZONES       |               |              |            |
| ПССТ-1   | DOMENCE                 | and Sold   | Ē                     | Dry steppe; o   | lry, typical for      | Dark chestnut   | soil          | ine n eng    |            |
| Chere is a   | 105-125                 | 0.57-0.70  | 50-60                 | 0.40-0.49       | 120-140               | -4.42.0         | 340-390       | 0.035-0.045  | 0.45-0.    |
| ПССК-2   | u na sanad              | Saristina  | Dry step              | ope; very dr    | , typical for C       | hestnut soil an | d Solonetz    | an kiran kan | (indition) |
|  | 90-105                  | 0.47-0.57  | 50-60                 | 0.40-0.49       | 120-140               | -3.22.0         | 310-345       | 0.035-0.045  | 0.35-0.4   |



Figure 3.5. Soil-ecological zones of Ukraine divided by hydrothermal conditions, type of soil formation, and quantitative indices of humus accumulation.

determination (R<sup>2</sup>) is 0.92, and standard deviation is  $\pm$  21 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>.

Verification of the model upon the actual data in geographical aspect both in Ukraine and in European part of Russia showed good conformity to natural realities; difference between calculated and actual values of humus content did not exceed 10%.

Based on the measured data of organic matter content in soil profiles in the steppe zones, total stock of organic matter was calculated (Fig. 3.6). The parameters increase along with the increase in fine particles and the increase of humidity. The latter, besides HTC, determines the vegetative period, by the amount of precipitation during the cold period and by its assimilation to soils. It is found that under the same HTC values additional assimilation of 10 mm of winter precipitation results in an increase of humus stock up to 30 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> due to increase of thickness of humified layers; but that the humus contents in upper layers of soils are practically not changed. Humus accumulation in soils is related to the humidity both in the warm and the cold periods. The parameters increase as winter temperature increases from very cold to warm due to increase of assimilation of precipitation from soil surface.

On the basis of natural distribution and zonal condition, 11 classes of humus stock parameters are separated: < 80, 80-140, 140-180, 180-230, 230-280, 280-340, 340-400, 400-480, 480-540, 540-650 and more than 650 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. Humus amounts within the range of 40-80 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> are characteristics for light-loamy Chestnut soils, sandyloamy Dark chestnut soils and sandy Southern chernozems. The amounts within 80-140 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> are typical for Solonetz, heavy-textured Chestnut, medium-loamy Chestnut, lightloamy Chestnut and loamy Southern chernozem soils. Similarly humus amounts within the ranges of 140-180, 180-230 and 230-280 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> are typically found among claytextured Chestnut soils, Dark chestnut soils, and Southern chernozems, respectively. Humus content of 280-340 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> is a most widespread parameter of heavy-textured Ordinary chernozem of South-central steppe sub-zone, as well medium-loamy Ordinary chernozems in moisture-



**Figure 3.6.** Dynamics of total humus stock in soils of the steppe zones in Ukraine. CH, Solonetzic chestnut soils; K, Chestnut soils; TK, Dark chestnut soils; U 10, Southern chernozems; U 0, Ordinary chernozems; and U T, Typical chernozems.

deficient North steppe sub-zone of the Typical steppe zone, and light-loamy Typical chernozems of well-and-sufficiently humid Forest-steppe sub-zone. Humus amounts within the range of 340-400 and 400-480 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> are typical for heavyloamy and light-clayey Ordinary chernozems of moderatelydroughty North-central steppe sub-zone of the Typical steppe zone and also upper limit of humus content in heaviertextured soils, respectively. Humus amounts of 480-540 and 650 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> are the limits for Ordinary chernozems of North steppe sub-zone of the Typical steppe zone and for Typical chernozems of the Forest-steppe zone, respectively.

It should be emphasized that peculiarities of natural potential of Typical chernozems are correlated both with wide range of humidity (HTC<sub>v-Ix</sub>: 0.90-1.45), and with specificity of distribution of parent materials having different textures. Moderately-humid part of the Forest-steppe (HTC<sub>v-Ix</sub>: 0.90-

1.00) is characterized with predominance of loess layer of heavy texture that resulted in 'a peak' in humus stock. Welland-sufficiently humid part of the Forest-steppe is characterized with predominance of parent materials of lightand medium-loamy textures; therefore, absolute values of humus contents decrease a little. However, in Typical chernozems of very humid part of the Forest-steppe, humus accumulation reaches its maximum values, i.e. 650 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>.

Cited patterns of humus accumulation and its standard indices are typical for soils of a plateau. However, it is well known that both on slopes and on plateau water supply is not the same due to different meso- and micro-relief. On plain watersheds water is redistributed through the system of negative shallow depressions, while on slopes - through flow-forming system of micro-relief, resulting in an difference in temperature regime, parameters of which

Table 3.3. Differentiation of soils upon parameters of humus accumulation and thickness of the profile at the same texture within provinces.

| <u> </u>  | Climati  | c parameters   | Temperature                                     |          | 10200<br>A 14    | Amount              | Humi    | us content         | Profile | e thickness        | Hum                    | us stock           |
|-----------|--|--|---|----------|------------------|---------------------|---------|--------------------|---------|--------------------|------------------------|--------------------|
| province* | HTC  | precipitation<br>during the cold<br>period (mm)      | of January<br>(°C)                              | clay (%) | Soll<br>regime** | of soil<br>profiles | (%)     | % of<br>background | (cm)    | % of<br>background | (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> ) | % of<br>background |
| 12        | 0.74±0.02  | 120-140  | -6.85.6   | 56-60    | aline 1 .        | 15                  | 4.5±0.3 | 100                | 65±6    | 100                | 320                    | 100                |
|           |  |  |   | 56-60    | 2                | 2                   | 5.2±0.2 | 115                | 77±3    | 118                | 370                    | 115                |
|           |  |  |   | 56-60    | 3                | 6                   | 4.0±0.2 | 89                 | 57±4    | 88                 | 250                    | 78                 |
|           |  |  |   | 56-60    | 4                | 4                   | 3.4±0.3 | 76                 | 50±4    | 77                 | 173                    | 54                 |
|           |  |  |   | 56-60    | 5                | 2                   | 2.7±0.3 | 60                 | 35±3    | 54                 | 120                    | 38                 |
|           |  |  |   | 51-55    | 1                | 9                   | 3.9±0.3 | 100                | 70±5    | 100                | 300                    | 100                |
|           |  |  |   | 51-55    | 2                | 3                   | 4.6±0.2 | 118                | 80±5    | 114                | 350                    | 116                |
|           |  |  |   | 51-55    | 3                | 6                   | 3.3±0.3 | 85                 | 60±5    | 86                 | 230                    | 77                 |
|           |  |  |   | 51-55    | 4                | 2                   | 2.9±0.3 | 74                 | 52±5    | 74                 | 150                    | 50                 |
|           |  |  |   | 51-55    | 5                | 1                   | 2.3     | 59                 | 38      | 54                 | 110                    | 37                 |
| 19        | 0.81±0.02  | 120-140  | -6.85.6   | 56-60    | 1                | 18                  | 5.0±0.3 | 100                | 85±5    | 100                | 390                    | 100                |
|           |  |  |   | 56-60    | 2                | 4                   | 5.8±0.3 | 116                | 100±5   | 118                | 460                    | 118                |
|           |  |  |   | 56-60    | 3                | 13                  | 4.2±0.4 | 84                 | 67±5    | 79                 | 280                    | 72                 |
|           |  |  |   | 56-60    | 4                | 3                   | 3.7±0.2 | 74                 | 55±5    | 65                 | 200                    | 51                 |
|           |  |  |   | 56-60    | 5                | 2                   | 2.9±0.3 | 58                 | 40±5    | 47                 | 140                    | 36                 |
|           |  |  |   | 51-55    | 1                | 8                   | 4.4±0.3 | 100                | 90±5    | 100                | 375                    | 100                |
|           |  |  |   | 51-55    | 2                | 1                   | 5.0     | 114                | 106     | 118                | 430                    | 115                |
|           |  |  |   | 51-55    | 3                | 2                   | 3.8±0.2 | 86                 | 70±4    | 78                 | 260                    | 69                 |
|           |  |  |   | 51-55    | 4                | 3                   | 3.4±0.2 | 77                 | 50±8    | 56                 | 185                    | 49                 |
|           |  |  |   | 51-55    | 5                | 2                   | 2.8±0.2 | 64                 | 42±5    | 47                 | 130                    | 35                 |
| 26        | 0.87±0.02  | 160-180  | -8.06.9   | 56-60    | <u>, 1</u> , ,   | 21                  | 5.3±0.3 | 100                | 105±5   | 100                | 500                    | 100                |
|           |  |  |   | 56-60    | 2                | 8                   | 5.5±0.2 | 104                | 125±5   | 119                | 580                    | 116                |
|           |  |  |   | 56-60    | 3                | 17                  | 4.5±0.3 | 85                 | 85±10   | 81                 | 370                    | 75                 |
|           |  |  |   | 56-60    | 4                | 9                   | 3.8±0.2 | 72                 | 60±10   | 57                 | 250                    | 51                 |
|           |  |  |   | 56-60    | 5                | 5                   | 3.4±0.4 | 64                 | 45±5    | 43                 | 150                    | 30                 |
|           |  |  |   | 51-55    | 1                | 8                   | 5.0±0.3 | 100                | 110±5   | 100                | 480                    | 100                |
|           |  |  |   | 51-55    | 2                | 3                   | 5.4±0.2 | 108                | 130±5   | 118                | 530                    | 110                |
|           |  |  |   | 51-55    | <b>3</b>         | 5                   | 4.2±0.3 | 85                 | 90±10   | 82                 | 360                    | 75                 |
|           |  |  |   | 51-55    | 4                | 3                   | 3.5±0.3 | 70                 | 65±10   | 59                 | 240                    | 50                 |
|           | allen generatur et al.<br>2019 - San | sta da<br>nomesta esta esta esta esta esta esta esta | a kanala sa | 51-55    | 5                | 2                   | 3.1±0.2 | 62                 | 48±10   | 44                 | 200                    | 42                 |

\* See Fig. 3.6.

\*\* 1, background; 2, increased humidity; 3, weakly-xeromorphic; 4, moderately-xeromorphic; and 5, strongly-zeromorphic.

depends on exposition and forms of slopes (Polupan, 1998; Polupan et al., 2000).

Five regimes of soils were discriminated relative to background on humus content and thickness of humified horizon on plateau (Table 3.3; Polupan et al., 1999).

The first regime consists of soils analogical to background soils and they are spread on different locations of relief. Soils of the second regime are spread in different depressions of plateau and also in lower parts of slopes that receive additional moisture. As a result, they have higher content of humus in plow layer, i.e.105-125 % referring to background soils, and increased thickness of the profile for 10-30%. Therefore, they are attributed to soils with increased humidity. The remaining three regimes of soils are characterized with decrease of water supply due to location on slopes of straight and convex forms. They are separated into weakly-, moderately- and strongly-xeromorphic regimes by the level of dryness. Weakly-xeromorphics (3rd regime) are characterized by lowered content of humus in plow layer by 8-12% relative to background soil and by less thickness of humified profile by 10-25%, moderately-xeromorphics, correspondingly, by 22-35% and 25-30%, stronglyxeromorphics, 35-50% and 50-70%, respectively.

Hence, even within a province humus content is quite variable. For example, in steppe part of Kharkov region (province 26, Fig. 3.6), humus stock in plakor Chernozems of light clay texture is in average 500±50 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>, which is within a typological gradation of 480-540 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>. Soils of increased humidity are characterized by the stock of organic matter of 580±20 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>, which is within the gradation of 540-650 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>. Weakly-xermorphic Chernozems are in average 370±70 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>, which is within the 340-400 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> gradations. Similarly humus contents in moderately- and strongly-xeromorphic Chernozems are 250±50 and 150±50 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>, which are fallen into the 230-280 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> and more minimal gradations, respectively. Therefore, within one

#### Table 3.3. Continued.

| - 1 C     | Climati   | c parameters                                    | Temperature        |          | a 1              | Amount              | Hum     | us content         | Profile | e thickness        | Hum                    | us stock           |
|-----------|-----------|---|--------------------|----------|------------------|---------------------|---------|--------------------|---------|--------------------|------------------------|--------------------|
| province* | HTC       | precipitation<br>during the cold<br>period (mm) | of January<br>(°C) | clay (%) | Soll<br>regime** | of soil<br>profiles | (%)     | % of<br>background | (cm)    | % of<br>background | (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> ) | % of<br>background |
| 32        | 0.95±0.02 | 140-160   | -8.06.9            | 56-60    | 1                | 19                  | 5.5±0.3 | 100                | 125±5   | 100                | 565                    | 100                |
|           |           |   |                    | 56-60    | 2                | 4                   | 6.3±0.3 | 115                | 140±7   | 112                | 650                    | 115                |
|           |           |   |                    | 56-60    | 3                | 8                   | 4.8±0.3 | 87                 | 100±10  | 80                 | 430                    | 76                 |
|           |           |   |                    | 56-60    | 4                | 4                   | 3.9±0.4 | 71                 | 70±10   | 56                 | 300                    | 53                 |
|           |           |   |                    | 56-60    | 5                | 2                   | 3.2±0.3 | 58                 | 50±8    | 40                 | 210                    | 37                 |
|           |           |   |                    | 51-55    | 1                | 26                  | 5.0±0.3 | 100                | 130±5   | 100                | 530                    | 100                |
|           |           |   |                    | 51-55    | 2                | 5                   | 5.8±0.3 | 116                | 145±5   | 111                | 600                    | 113                |
|           |           |   |                    | 51-55    | . 3              | 13                  | 4.3±0.3 | 86                 | 105±5   | 81                 | 420                    | 79                 |
|           |           |   |                    | 51-55    | 4                | 6                   | 3.6±0.3 | 72                 | 78±10   | 60                 | 250                    | 47                 |
|           |           |   |                    | 51-55    | 5                | 2                   | 3.2±0.3 | 64                 | 55±5    | 42                 | 200                    | 38                 |
| 36        | 1.02±0.02 | 160-180   | -8.06.9            | 56-60    | 1                | 5                   | 6.2±0.2 | 100                | 125±5   | 100                | 620                    | 100                |
|           |           |   |                    | 56-60    | 2                | 2                   | 7.0±0.4 | 117                | 145±5   | 116                | 700                    | 113                |
|           |           |   |                    | 56-60    | 3                | 3                   | 5.2±0.4 | 84                 | 100±10  | 80                 | 480                    | 77                 |
|           |           |   |                    | 56-60    | 4                | 2                   | 4.5±0.3 | 73                 | 85±10   | 68                 | 320                    | 48                 |
|           |           |   |                    | 56-60    | 5                | 2                   | 4.0±0.2 | 65                 | 65±10   | 52                 | 250                    | 40                 |
|           |           |   |                    | 51-55    | 1                | 12                  | 5.7±0.3 | 100                | 130±5   | 100                | 570                    | 100                |
|           |           |   |                    | 51-55    | 2 .              | 4                   | 6.4±0.3 | 112                | 150±10  | 115                | 630                    | 111                |
|           |           |   |                    | 51-55    | 3                | 8                   | 4.9±0.3 | 86                 | 110±5   | 85                 | 400                    | 70                 |
|           |           |   |                    | 51-55    | 4                | 3                   | 4.3±0.3 | 75                 | 85±10   | 65                 | 300                    | 53                 |
|           |           |   |                    | 51-55    | 5                | 3                   | 3.7±0.3 | 65                 | 70±10   | 54                 | 230                    | 40                 |
|           |           |   |                    | 46-50    | 1                | 4                   | 5.1±0.3 | 100                | 135±5   | 100                | 530                    | 100                |
|           |           |   |                    | 46-50    | 2                | 2                   | 5.6±0.2 | 110                | 150±5   | 111                | 580                    | 109                |
|           |           |   |                    | 46-50    | 3                | 3                   | 4.1±0.2 | 80                 | 125±10  | 93                 | 380                    | 72                 |
|           |           |   |                    | 46-50    | 4                | 4                   | 3.7±0.2 | 73                 | 80±10   | 67                 | 270                    | 51                 |
|           |           |   |                    | 46-50    | 5                | 5                   | 3.2±0.3 | 63                 | 75±10   | 56                 | 200                    | 38                 |
|           |           |   |                    | 36-40    | 1                | 6                   | 4.0±0.2 | 100                | 140±10  | 100                | 430                    | 100                |
|           |           |   |                    | 36-40    | · 2              | 4                   | 4.7±0.3 | 118                | 150±10  | 107                | 480                    | 112                |
|           |           |   |                    | 36-40    | 3                | 5                   | 3.2±0.2 | 80                 | 110±10  | 79                 | 300                    | 70                 |
|           |           |   |                    | 36-40    | 4                | 3                   | 2.8±0.2 | 70                 | 75±10   | 54                 | 200                    | 47                 |
|           |           |   |                    | 36-40    | 5                | 2                   | 2.4±0.2 | 60                 | 50±10   | 36                 | 140                    | 33                 |

\* See Fig. 3.6.

\*\* 1, background; 2, increased humidity; 3, weakly-xeromorphic; 4, moderately-xeromorphic; and 5, strongly-zeromorphic.

province on the same-textured parent materials we have differentiation from typological gradation, which ranges from 540-650 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>, being peculiar for Typical chernozems, to 140-180 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>, that is, parameters for soils on the Dry steppe zone.

In addition there are semi-hydromorphic soils in the steppe zones; Meadow chestnut soils in the Dry steppe zone and Meadow chernozems in the chernozems (Typical or Ordinary) zones. Due to additional water supply they are characterized with increased capacity of biological cycle, usually 30-50% higher relative to background soils. This was reflected in humus stock. For example, in Southern chernozems with heavy-loamy texture, average humus stock is 180-230 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>, while in Meadow chernozems it amounts 240-300 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>. In Typical chernozems of medium-loamy (41-45% of physical clay) under very humid areas, humus stock reaches 650 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>, while in Meadow chernozems 750 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>.

Within each soil-ecological province, fluctuations of total humus content in soils, depending on water supply relative to background soil, are:  $130\pm10\%$  in Meadow chernozems (or in Meadow chestnut soils),  $115\pm5\%$  under increased humidity,  $100\pm10\%$  in background soils,  $75\pm15\%$  under weakly-xeromorphic,  $50\pm10\%$  under moderately-xeromorphic, and  $30\pm10\%$  under strongly-xeromorphic conditions, respectively.

Thus, spatial variation of total content of organic matter

in soils of Ukrainian steppe areas is determined by comfortability of ecological environment and proportionally depends on the complex of the factors: content of physical clay, hydrothermal condition during the warm period, amount of precipitation during the cold period (November-March), and surface properties of soils or water assimilation. Deviation in the humus accumulation in soils within a province is a result of difference in water accumulation due to additional water supply by surface flow or vice versa, increase of drought due to water loss and exposure effect of slopes. Gradations of natural potential of humus content relative to the background, based on xeromorphic levels and increased humidity, are developed. Background soils are divided into 11 classes based on humus stock in the profile. However, even in the territories of these classes of soils, differentiation on humus content toward increase and decrease take a place that is caused by additional moistening and drying.

# 3.5. Quantitative diagnostics of soil formation type - it is promising precise determination of ecological/genetic status of soils and their humus stocks

In early stages of soil science, determination of genetic properties of soils was realized only on a basis of morphological diagnosis. There was no alternative. A detailed diagnostics of genetic status of soils on morphological properties were developed (Field soil determinant, 1981;

|                   |  |           | Chernoze               | ms (12)                 |  |                                    |  |
|-------------------|--|-----------|------------------------|-------------------------|--|------------------------------------|--|
| Depth<br>(cm)     | Typical  | Leached   |                        | Podzolized              | (1977)<br>2010 (2010)<br>2010 (2010)       | Xerophyte-<br>forest               |  |
|                   | 1* 2**   | 1* 2**    | 1* 2**                 | 1* 2**                  | 1* 2**                                     | 1* 2**                             |  |
| 0-30              | 68 4.8   | 65 5.6    | 59 4.2                 | 62 5.0                  | 64 5.6                                     | 46 5.3                             |  |
| 30-40             | 64 3.9   | 63 4.4    | 61 2.8                 | 63 3.2                  | 64 4.1                                     | 41 4.6                             |  |
| 50-60             | 64 3.3   | 64 2.4    | 61 1.6                 | 64 1.4                  | 65 3.3                                     | 43 3.0                             |  |
| 70-80             | 63 2.5   | 58 1.2    | 68 0.9                 | 64 1.0                  | 63 2.4                                     | 43 1.8                             |  |
| 90-100            | 65 1.9   | - 1.1     | 59 -                   | 65 0.8                  | 65 2.1                                     | 46 1.0                             |  |
| 100-110           | 61 -   | - 1.1     | 59 0.7                 | 63 -                    |  |                                    |  |
| 110-120           |  | 68 -      | 58 -                   | 61 -                    | - 1.1                                      | 46 0.7                             |  |
|                   |  | 0.098/sol | Diagnostic inde        | xes                     |  |                                    |  |
| CPAH              | 0.055  | 0.052     | 0.037                  | 0.040                   | 0.056                                      | 0.067                              |  |
| CRAH              | 0.71   | 0.86      | 0.71                   | 0.80                    | 0.87                                       | 1.15                               |  |
| Genetic<br>status | Ordinary;<br>medium<br>weakly-<br>accumulative |           | Dark gray; me<br>accum | dium weakly-<br>Ilative | Podzolized;<br>moderately-<br>accumulative | Typical;<br>highly-<br>accumulativ |  |

 Table 3.4. Ecological/genetic status of Chernozems of southwestern part of the Steppe zone (Moldova) on morphological diagnostics and quantitatively corrected criteria.

\* Physical clay (<0.01 mm) in %.

\*\* Humus content (%)

sti meneri i ni meni i sta

Classification and diagnosis of USSR soils, 1977; Classification of USSR soils, 2000). It is necessary to note that to correctly determine diagnostic properties in field condition is very difficult because their status depends on many factors that cannot be taken into account. Therefore, in practice it results in errors in determination of genetic properties of soils. This is represented in discrepancy of parametric characterization of given genetic types, when originally different soils have the same quantitative properties or vice versa, in spite of similarity in genesis soils have different properties.

In Ukraine, two tours of large-scale soil survey were conducted. Its analysis based on quantitative criteria of diagnostics showed that actual consistency of soil cover structure on large-scale (1:10,000 and 1:25,000) maps is 30-50% (Polupan and Solovei, 1998). This is typical not only for Ukraine. Let us show discrepancy between genetic properties of soils based on morphological determination and those based on detailed quantitative parameters of diagnostic properties in regional aspect.

We shall discuss southwestern part of steppe zone using the data of I.A. Krupennikov "Chernozems of Moldova" (Krupennikov, 1974). Table 3.4 shows significant divergence in ecological/genetic properties of soils on two methods of determination. Typical and Leached chernozems as the Forest-steppe individuals (classified in the upper) in fact are the North-steppe types of the Ordinary chernozems according to quantitative parameters (lower). This is confirmed not only by quantitative characteristics but also by the presence of "white eyes" in parent materials and by forms of carbonates typical for the soils in the Typical steppe zone (Field soil determinant, 1981). The same type of parametric humus profile both in the average and maximum/minimum deviation after statistical calculation of data 310 and 318 presented in the monograph indicates that the Typical and Leached chernozems actually belongs to one category of Ordinary chernozems.

Leached chernozems as representatives of the Foreststeppe refuge correspond to their group or to the Ordinary chernozems. And xerophyte-forest chernozems in fact are Typical chernozems.

Very large discrepancy between typological classifications by different methods of determination is observed among chernozems of sub-Caucasian region (Table 3.5; Chernozems of USSR (sub-Caucasus and Caucasus), 1985). Ordinary, Typical and Leached chernozems of west part of sub-Caucasus in fact are Southern chernozems. There is no similarity in soils of central and eastern sub-Caucasus. Only 15-25% of soils in the monograph agreed with our classification based on the quantitative parameterization.

|                   |                         |  |         |            |                                       |          |                                     | Chernoz | ems (32                               | 2)    |  |          |                           |                                       |     |       |
|-------------------|-------------------------|--|---------|------------|---------------------------------------|----------|-------------------------------------|---------|---------------------------------------|-------|--|----------|---------------------------|---------------------------------------|-----|-------|
| Depth             | -                       | i<br>Line of the second s | West C  | aucasus    |                                       |          |                                     |         |                                       | Centr | al and e                                 | east Cau | casus                     | ak-appendajitanen bir                 |     | X     |
| (cm)              | Ord                     | inary  | Тур     | oical      | Lea                                   | ched     | Podz                                | olized  | Lea                                   | ched  | Lea                                      | ched     | Туј                       | oical                                 | Ord | inary |
|                   | 1*                      | 2**  | 1*      | 2**        | 1*                                    | 2**      | 1*                                  | 2**     | 1*                                    | 2**   | 1*                                       | 2**      | 1*                        | 2**                                   | 1*  | 2**   |
| 0-30              | 70                      | 4.2  | 61      | 4.0        | 63                                    | 4.2      | 63                                  | 4.2     | 58                                    | 7.0   | 66                                       | 4.3      | 54                        | 4.4                                   | 50  | 4.9   |
| , 30-40           | 68                      | 3.9  | 61      | 3.5        | 63                                    | 3.4      | 62                                  | 3.6     | 58                                    | 5.3   | 67                                       | 3.5      | 51                        | 4.2                                   | 49  | 4.3   |
| 50-60             | 68                      | 3.4  | 61      | 3.1        | 63                                    | 2.9      | 67                                  | 1.9     | 59                                    | 4.6   | 71                                       | 2.0      | 50                        | 2.9                                   | 48  | 3.1   |
| 70-80             | 68                      | 3.2  | 59      | 2.3        | 63                                    | 2.5      | <b>67</b>                           | 1.5     | 58                                    | 3.8   | 73                                       | 1.3      | 49                        | 2.3                                   | 51  | 2.8   |
| 90-100            | 65                      | 2.9  | 59      | 2.0 62 2.3 |                                       | 2.3      | 68                                  | 1.0     | 58                                    | 2.6   | 74                                       | 1.2      | 50                        | 2.0                                   | 50  | 1.9   |
| 100-110           | 66                      | 2.7  | 59      | 1.8        | 63                                    | 2.2      | 64                                  | 0.8     | 58                                    | 2.0   | 65                                       | 1.0      | 53                        | 1.3                                   | 50  | 1.5   |
| 110-120           | 63                      | 2.3  | 58      | 1.6        | 65                                    | 2.1      |                                     | 0.7     | 59                                    | 1.5   |  | 0.9      | 53                        | 0.8                                   | 48  | 1.2   |
| 120-130           | 62                      | 2.2  | 59      | 1.5        | 65                                    | 1.7      | 65                                  | 0.6     | 60                                    | 1.1   | 60                                       | 0.8      | 53                        | 0.6                                   | 51  | 0.8   |
|                   |                         |  |         |            | Diagno                                | stic ind | exes                                |         |                                       |       |  |          |                           |                                       |     |       |
| CPAH              | 0.0                     | 049  | . 0.0   | 046        | 0.                                    | 045      | 0.                                  | 032     | 0.                                    | 068   | 0.0                                      | 031      | 0.                        | 053                                   | 0.  | 063   |
| CRAH              | 0.                      | 60   | 0.      | .65        | 0                                     | .66      | 0.                                  | .66     | 1                                     | 20    | 0.                                       | 65       | 0                         | .81                                   | 0   | 98    |
| Genetic<br>status | Southern; weakly-accumu |  | mulativ | e          | Dark gray;<br>weakly-<br>accumulative |          | Typical;<br>highly-<br>accumulative |         | Dark gray;<br>weakly-<br>accumulative |       | Ordinary;<br>moderately-<br>accumulative |          | Ord<br>mode<br>w<br>accum | inary;<br>erately<br>ell-<br>iulative |     |       |

 Table 3.5. Ecological/genetic status of soils of central European part of Forest-steppe based on morphological diagnostics and corrected based on quantitative criteria.

\* Physical clay (<0.01 mm) in %.

\*\* Humus content (%)

Big difference between genetic natures of soils diagnosed on morphological properties and on the basis of quantitative criteria is typically found for central European part of the Forest-steppe zone (Table 3.6; Akhtyruev and Serikov, 1983). Here, soil cover is very complex and is represented by Light-gray forest soil, Gray forest soil, Darkgray podzolized soil and Podzolized, Leached and Typical chernozems. Every soil occupies certain ecological niche that is well shown by the quantitative diagnostic indices of humus accumulation. The analysis of data from the monograph showed that Gray forest soils are diagnosed by morphological properties for 70-80%, Dark-gray podzolized soils for 50-60%, and Podzolized chernozems for 50%. Under such genetic status of soils, it is impossible to correctly solve the problem of content of organic matter in the soils and to clarify the factor that controls it.

**Table 3.6.** Ecological/genetic status of soils of central European part of Forest-steppe based on morphological diagnostics and corrected based on quantitative criteria.

|                   |                |                     |                     |                                      |             |                           |                        |                               | Soil                 | s (2)                     |                 |                       |                       |                                |                      |                           |                       |                               |
|-------------------|----------------|---------------------|---------------------|--------------------------------------|-------------|---------------------------|------------------------|-------------------------------|----------------------|---------------------------|-----------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|--------------------------------|----------------------|---------------------------|-----------------------|-------------------------------|
| Depth             | Gray           | forest              | Dark                | c gray                               | Darl        | c gray                    | Notiot                 |                               | A                    | Sec. 22.23                | 94851X) é       | Chern                 | ozems                 | iling in t                     | 98. M                | siland                    |                       | Kalos                         |
| (cm)              | ្រែ ្រទ្ធ ទ    | oil                 | fores               | st soil                              | pouz<br>s   | oil                       | Podz                   | olized                        | Podz                 | olized                    | Lea             | ched                  | Lea                   | ched                           | Tyj                  | pical                     | Ty]                   | pical                         |
| NO.               | 1*             | 2**                 | 1*                  | 2**                                  | 1*          | 2**                       | 1*                     | 2**                           | 1*                   | 2**                       | 1*              | 2**                   | 1*                    | 2**                            | 1*                   | 2**                       | 1*                    | 2**                           |
| 0-30              | 53             | 2.9                 | 57                  | 4.2                                  | 57          | 3.6                       | 64                     | 5.8                           | 56                   | 3.9                       | 56              | 5.9                   | 57                    | 5.1                            | 59                   | 6.7                       | 63                    | 6                             |
| 30-40             | 58             | 2.1                 | 59                  | 3.3                                  | 60          | 3.3                       | 63                     | 4.2                           | 63                   | 3.2                       | 58              | 4.9                   | 58                    | 3.9                            | 59                   | 5.9                       | 63                    | 5                             |
| 50-60             | 63             | 1.1                 | 62                  | 1.9                                  | 63          | 2.3                       | 64                     | 2.9                           | 64                   | 2.5                       | 59              | 3.6                   | 61                    | 2.8                            | 60                   | 4.6                       | 64                    | 3.4                           |
| 70-80             | 63             | 0.8                 | 64                  | 1.1                                  | 64          | 0.8                       | 61                     | 2.1                           | 64                   | 1.6                       | 61              | 2.5                   | 65                    | 2.2                            | 62                   | 2.9                       | 65                    | 2.4                           |
| 90-100            | 63             | 0.6                 | 60                  | 0.7                                  | 69          | 0.1                       | 64                     | 1.3                           | 63                   | 1.0                       | 62              | 1.8                   | 65                    | 1.4                            | 62                   | 1.8                       | 64                    | 1.2                           |
| 100-110           | 51             | 0.5                 | 61                  | 0.5                                  | 55          | 0.1                       | 69                     | 1.1                           | 61                   | 0.9                       | 62              | 1.5                   | 65                    | 1.1                            | 62                   | 1.3                       | 65                    | 0.6                           |
| ann an            | i dagend       | ibingbi             | 005.0               | 10 the s                             |             | RHQQR                     |                        | Diagno                        | stic ind             | exes                      | ang ask         | baselje               | 9.99 h                | 10000                          | ekog (               | ng si si s                | d y ort               | digita p                      |
| CPAH              | 0.             | 026                 | 0.0                 | 038                                  | 0.          | 032                       | 0.0                    | 051                           | 0.0                  | 039                       | 0.0             | 065                   | 0.                    | 050                            | 0.                   | 072                       | 0.                    | 056                           |
| CRAH              | 0              | .55                 | 0.                  | 73                                   | 0           | .63                       | 0.                     | 90                            | 0.                   | 69                        | 1.              | .05                   | 0                     | .89                            | 1                    | .13                       | 0                     | .95                           |
| Genetic<br>status | Gray;<br>accun | weakly-<br>1ulative | Dark<br>mode<br>/we | gray;<br>crately<br>akly-<br>ulative | Dark<br>wea | gray;<br>akly-<br>alative | Podzo<br>mode<br>accum | olized;<br>rately-<br>ulative | Dark<br>wea<br>accum | gray;<br>akly-<br>alative | Typica<br>accum | ıl; well-<br>ıulative | Podz<br>mode<br>accum | olized;<br>rately-<br>iulative | Tyr<br>hig<br>accurr | oical;<br>hly-<br>ulative | Podz<br>mode<br>accum | olized;<br>rately-<br>iulativ |

\* Physical clay (<0.01 mm) in %.

\*\* Humus content (%)

**Table 3.7.** Ecological/genetic status of soils of Forest-steppe, sub-Volga and sub-Ural based on morphological diagnostics and corrected diagnostics based on quantitative criteria.

|                   |                       |                            |                     |                           |                     |                           | 899 (A) (           | Chernoz                    | æms (33             | 9)                         |                      |                            |                      |                          |                     |                          |
|-------------------|-----------------------|----------------------------|---------------------|---------------------------|---------------------|---------------------------|---------------------|----------------------------|---------------------|----------------------------|----------------------|----------------------------|----------------------|--------------------------|---------------------|--------------------------|
| Depth             | Y BER                 | 19/0/91                    | 01.000              |                           | Volga               | a basin                   |                     |                            |                     |                            |                      | trans                      | -Volga               | and sub                  | Ural                | 5010<br>10.50            |
| (cm)              |                       | Podz                       | olized              |                           |                     | Lea                       | ched                |                            | Туј                 | oical                      | Podz                 | olized                     | Lea                  | ched                     | Тур                 | oical                    |
| din de land       | 1*                    | 2**                        | 1*                  | 2**                       | 1*                  | 2**                       | 1*                  | 2**                        | 1*                  | 2**                        | 1*                   | 2**                        | 1*                   | 2**                      | 1*                  | 2*'                      |
| 0-30              | 51                    | 5.7                        | 55                  | 7.0                       | 60                  | 7.8                       | 64                  | 9.6                        | 56                  | 7.3                        | 52                   | 7.1                        | 52                   | 8.0                      | 66                  | 8.6                      |
| 30-40             | 51                    | 3.2                        | 54                  | 4.7                       | 58                  | 7.3                       | 64                  | 5.6                        | 57                  | 6.2                        | 51                   | 4.8                        | 61                   | 3.6                      | 63                  | 6.1                      |
| 50-60             | 55                    | 2.1                        | 52                  | 3.4                       | 60                  | 4.2                       | 63                  | 3.0                        | 58                  | 4.0                        | 58                   | 1.3                        | 60                   | 1.4                      | 61                  | 3.6                      |
| 70-80             | 49                    | 1.3                        | 51                  | 1.2                       | 58                  | 2.0                       | 63                  | 1.2                        | 59                  | 2.0                        | 58                   | 1.0                        | 56                   | 0.8                      | 62                  | 2.2                      |
| 90-100            | 51                    | 0.8                        | 51                  | 1.1                       | 57                  | 1.2                       | 61                  | 1.0                        | 54                  | 1.3                        | 58                   | 0.6                        | 54                   | 0.4                      | 61                  | 1.6                      |
| 100-110           | 48                    | 0.5                        | 51                  | 0.9                       | 56                  | 0.5                       | 62                  | 0.7                        | 54                  | 0.6                        | 56_                  | 0.3                        | 53                   | 0.3                      | 63                  | 1.0                      |
|                   |                       |                            |                     |                           |                     |                           | Diagno              | stic ind                   | exes                | es                         |                      |                            |                      |                          |                     |                          |
| CPAH              | 0.0                   | 059                        | 0.0                 | 073                       | 0.0                 | 077                       | 0.                  | 075                        | 0.0                 | 072                        | 0.0                  | 060                        | 0.0                  | 059                      | 0.0                 | 077                      |
| CRAH              | 1940 <b>1</b> .       | 11                         | 1.                  | 25                        | 198 de <b>l</b> .   | 30                        | 1                   | .50                        | 1.                  | 30                         | 1                    | .36                        | 1.                   | .55                      | 1.                  | 36                       |
| Genetic<br>status | Podze<br>hig<br>accum | olized;<br>hly-<br>ulative | Typ<br>hig<br>accum | pical;<br>hly-<br>ulative | Typ<br>hig<br>accum | oical;<br>hly-<br>ulative | Tyr<br>hig<br>accun | oical;<br>hly-<br>nulative | Typ<br>hig<br>accum | pical;<br>hly-<br>nulative | Podz<br>hig<br>accun | olized;<br>hly-<br>ulative | Podz<br>extro<br>hig | olized;<br>emely<br>hly- | Typ<br>hig<br>accum | oical;<br>hly-<br>ulativ |

\* Physical clay (<0.01 mm) in %.

\*\* Humus content (%)

Analogous picture is typical also for soils of the Foreststeppe zone of Volga and sub-Ural regions (Table 3.7; Chernozems of USSR (sub-Volga and sub-Ural), 1978). Precision of determination of genetic properties based on morphological properties is within the above-mentioned limits of parameters for central part. Morphological diagnostic in general is characterized with substantial shortcomings that practically cannot be eliminated. This has nothing to do with level of proficiency of the researchers because big team of authors took a part in preparing the references. All the errors are due to methodology of determination of morphological criteria, which cannot be precisely standardized. As a proof we cite results of foreststeppe soils of Orenburg region of Russia (Table 3.8; Lavrenko, 1956).

According to the cited both morphological and quantitative soil properties, Chernozems belong to one category. The reasons why the presented Chernozems are diagnosed into three categories are unclear.

There are many similar examples. In informative world discrepancy between genetic status of soil and its quantitative properties is more a rule than exception. Therefore, in order to solve the problem of dynamics of organic matter in soils of Eurasian steppes, it is necessary to research and develop quantitative criteria for diagnosis types of soil formation. On the basis of these diagnostic criteria, available information about soils of studied region will be corrected in order to

Table 3.8. Genetic-diagnostic properties of Chernozem in Orenburg region (Lavrenko, 1956).

| Morphological properties                       | Podzolized | Leached | Typical                                    |
|--|------------|---------|--|
| Depth of chernozem (cm)                        |            |         |  |
| Ao   | 5          | 5       | 5  |
| Ao+A   | 30         | 29      | 28   |
| Ao+A+AB  | 99         | 98      | 86   |
| Parent rock C                                  | 143        | 132     | 130  |
| Humus content (%)                              |            |         |  |
| Ao   | 15.8       | 14.6    | 13.9                                       |
| Α  | 11.0       | 12.8    | 11.6                                       |
| AB   | 8.6        | 8.1     | 8.0  |
| В  | 5.0        | 5.4     | 4.0  |
| Humus stock in 0-100 cm (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> ) | 638        | 630     | 619  |
| Effervescence from HCl (cm)                    | 108        | 97      | 65   |
| Depth of carbonates (cm)                       | 136        | 125     | 102  |
| CEC (cmolc $kg^{-1}$ )                         |            |         | ali anti anti anti anti anti anti anti ant |
| Ao   | 49         | 52      | 54   |
| Α  | 46         | 50      | 51   |
| AB   | 42         | 46      | 48   |
| pH (H <sub>2</sub> O) in A horizon             | 6.7        | 7.0     | 7.3  |
| N (%) in A horizon                             | 0.44       | 0.52    | 0.50                                       |

precisely determine their genetic status and will be correctly determined their parametric properties.

Soil-ecological mapping and classification of soils on quantitative principles is scientific basis to solve the problem of geography of humus accumulation in steppe soils of Eurasian region. There is no alternative.

#### 3.6. Conclusions

- 1) Based on available information, structure of soil cover of Eurasian steppes meets the real situation for 35-50%. This is conditioned not by correctness of determination of genetic status of soils based on morphological properties, but also by discrepancy among ecological conditions for their formation. As a result, significant inconsistency between soil properties and their genetic nature is observed. Therefore, huge information on soil characteristics cannot be used for solving the problem of soil organic matter dynamics in the area studied. It needs a correction towards establishing the real precise genetic nature of soils and differentiation of steppe territory onto homogeneous regions from ecological point of view.
- 2) Existence of the steppe as a natural phenomenon is determined by water condition. However, its separation and internal typological differentiation both on floral composition and soil cover have qualitative level today. This is because the moisture indices used do not completely reflect resource water. The moisture indices do not make possible precise determination of the steppe parameters at which certain floral type of vegetation is formed, and beneath it type of soil formation and intensity of humus accumulation is formed.

The most complete reflectors of water supply and energy for soil formation are hydrothermal coefficient (HTC<sub>V-IX</sub>) for the period with air temperature above 10°C, amount of precipitation during the cold period and its assimilation by soil. Therefore, they can be used for mapping of Eurasian steppes into moisture-homogeneous territories. Results of the researches done in Ukraine indicate that there is a close correlation between these indices and humus contents in soils (R>0.9).

 Based on HTC<sub>v-IX</sub>, amount of precipitation during November to next March and its assimilation by soil, steppe zone of Ukraine is clearly differentiated into 4 soil-ecological zones, where each of them is characterized by inherent hydrothermal parameters, type of soil formation and quantitative indices of humus accumulation. Soil ecological zones are divided into sub-zones on quantitative demonstration of humus-accumulating intensity that is conditioned by differentiation of hydrothermal conditions.

Soil-ecological zones and sub-zones are further differentiated into 6 phases, which are characterized by certain parameters of assimilation of winter precipitations into soils that is reflected in depth of humified horizon.

- Basic unit for distribution of soil cover onto relatively homogeneous territories is a province. Province is situated within sub-zones and is characterized by the same indices of both water supply and soil properties.
- 4) It is necessary to research quantitative criteria of diagnosis of soil formation type within study area. On the base of that, available information about the soil for research will be corrected in order to precisely establish genetic status of soils and correct determination of parameters.
- 5) Spatial dynamics of organic matter in soils of steppe territories in Ukraine is determined by comfortability of ecological environment and proportionally depends on the complex of factors: content of physical clay (particle < 0.01 mm), parameters of hydrothermal index for May to September (HTC<sub>V-IX</sub>), amount of precipitation for the cold period (November to March), and its assimilation by soil. The humus stock in background soils increases with the increase in fine particles in the textural composition and the increase of humidity, and it also reflects winter temperature from very cold to moderately cold due to increase of assimilation of winter precipitation. In total 11 classes are detected: i.e. <80, 80-140, 140-180, 180-230, 230-280, 280-340, 340-400, 400-480, 480-540, 540-650 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> and higher. However, within these provincial standards, certain deviations is observed in the humus content, which are caused by the difference in supply of water resources due to additional water feed by surface flow or contrary increase of drought by water loss due to expositional effect of slopes. It is established that deviations of total humus content against background soils within each soil-ecological province are, depending on water supply: 130±10% for Meadow chernozems (or Meadow chestnut soils) with semihydromorphic, 115±5% for soils with increased humidity,  $100\pm10\%$  for the background,  $74\pm15\%$  for weaklyxeromorphics, 50±10% for moderately-xeromorphics,
- 6) <u>Soil-ecological mapping</u>, which is based on HTC coefficient, amount of precipitation during the cold period

and  $30\pm10\%$  for strongly-xeromorphics.

and its assimilation ability by soil as priority criteria for resource water supply and energy for soil formation as well as soil classification on quantitative principles using humus as index of ecological/genetic status of soil formation, <u>is scientific base</u> to solve the problem of geography of humus accumulation in soil cover of Eurasian steppes, productivity of soils of natural and agroecosystems. Today there are no other alternatives.

#### References

- Afanasieva EA, 1966. Chernozems of Mid-Russian highland. *M. Nauka* (in Russian).
- Akhtyruev BP, Serikov DD, 1983. Soil cover of Lipetsk region.- Voronezh. Publ. of Voronezh University (in Russian).
- Beregovoi PI, Lipa AL, Potulnitski PM, 1972. Vegetation. In Ukraine and Moldova. M. Nauka (in Russian).
- Bilik GI, 1963. Kiev: Vid. Academy of Science of Ukraine, (in Russian).
- Bolotina NI, Korovikna TP, 1960. Seasonal dynamic of labile nitrogen compounds in thick chernozems of Kursk region. Publ. of Central Chernozem Natural Reserve, 6 (in Russian).
- Chernozems of USSR (sub-Caucasus and Caucasus), 1985. - M.: Agropromizdat (in Russian)
- Chernozems of USSR (sub-Volga and sub-Ural), 1978. M.: 'Kolos' (in Russian).

Classification and diagnosis of USSR soils, 1977. -M.: 'Kolos' (in Russian).

Classification of USSR soils, 2000.-M., (in Russian).

Dokuchaev VV, 1891. To the question about ratio between age and height of locality from one side, and character and distribution of chernozems, forestlands and solonetz from other side. *Vestnik estestvoznania* 1-3 (in Russian). Field soil determinant, 1981. -Kiev: Urozhai (in Russian).

- Keller BA, 1931. Steppes of Central-Chernozem region. In publ. Steppes of Central-Chernozem region, M.-L., (in Russian).
- Korotkov EI, 1957. Dynamic of development of fescuefeather grass natural reserve steppe in connection with weather conditions. *Botanical journal* 6, 42 (in Russian).
- Krasnov AN, 1881. Materials for description of flora in Poltava province. Publ. of Society of nature investigators at Kharkov University, V.24, (in Russian).
- Krupennikov IA, 1974. Chernozems of Moldova. Chernozems of USSR. I.-M (in Russian).

Kulakov EV, 1960. Pattern of distribution of organic residues

- in profile of chernozem soils of northern Kazakhstan. *Pochvovedenie* 3 (in Russian).
- Lavrenko EM, Prozorovski AV, 1939. Vegetation of European part of USSR. Soils of USSR, 1. M.-L.: Academy of Science of USSR (in Russian).
- Lavrenko EM, Andreev VN, Leontiev VP, 1955. Profile of productivity of aboveground part of vegetation cover of USSR from tundra to desert. *Botanical journal* 40, 3 (in Russian).
- Lavrenko EM, 1956. Vegetation cover of USSR. 2, Academy of science of USSR (in Russian).
- Larin IV, 1936. Materials on dynamic of vegetation mass and chemical matters of grass stand during vegetation period in different zones of USSR. Publ.of Institute of Geography of Academy of Science of USSR, 21 (in Russian).
- Novopokrovski NV, 1925. Vegetation of north-Caucasian area. Natural conditions of north-Caucasian area, Rostov-na-Donu, (in Russian).
- Pachoski YuK, 1923. List of plants inhabiting on the territory of Natural Reserve Askania Nova. Proceedings of Natural Reserve Askania Nova, V.2, Kherson (in Russian).
- Pershina MN, Yakovleva ME, 1960. Biological cycle of ash elements in dry steppe zone of USSR. Publ. of soviet soil scientists in VII International congress in USA. -M (in Russian).
- Polupan NI, Solovei VB, 2001. To the question about theoretical and practical basis for soil qualitative estimation. - Vestnik agrarnoi nauki, Kiev, 6 (in Russian).
- Polupan NI, Solovei VB, 1998. Quantitative functionalecological diagnosis of soil genetic status.- Vestnik agrarnoi nauki, Kiev, 3 (in Russian).
- Polupan NI, 1998. Influence of micro-relief of slope lands on erosion processes. *Pochvovedenie* 6 (in Russian).
- Polupan, N.I., Solovei, V.B., Velichko, V.A., 2000. Intensity of soil erosion depending from type of snow melting and organization of land use. - Vestnik of Dnepropetrovsk Agrarian University, 1-2 (in Russian).
- Polupan NI, Solovei VB, 1997. Priority of soil-ecological mapping of soil resources. - vestnik agrarnoi nauki, Kiev, 4 (in Russian).
- Polupan NI, Solovei VB, Velichko VA, 2001. Methodical approaches to form genetic- substantional classification of Ukraine soils on parametric base. - Vestnik agrarnoi nauki, Kiev, 11 (in Russian).

Polupan NI, Solovei VB, Kovalev VG, 1999. Determination

of natural potential of accumulative type of soils. -Vestnik agrarnoi nauki, Kiev, 11 (in Russian).

- Rodin LE, Bazilevich NI, 1965. Dynamic of organic matter and biological cycle of ash elements and nitrogen in the main vegetation types of Earth. *M.-L. Nauka* (in Russian).
- Semenova-Tian-Shanskaia AM, 1960. Relationship between live green mass and dead plant residues in meadowsteppe and meadow coenoses. *Journal of general biology* 2 (in Russian).
- Titova NA, 1972. Nature of humus and forms of its bonds with mineral part of virgin and cultivated soils in drysteppes of southeast part of European USSR. Organic matter of virgin and cultivated soils. *M. Nauka* (in Russian).
- Shabanova GA, 1972. Cereals of Moldova and their role in forming of fluffy-oaken forest-steppe. Autoreferat, Kishinev (in Russian).
- Shalyt MS, 1930. Geobotanical outline of natural steppe reserve 'Chapli' (ex-Askania Nova) bulletin of phytotechnical station Askania Nova, 1 (in Russian).
- Shalyt MS, 1949. Belowground part of vegetation part of steppe and desert zone and its significance for erosion processes. Publ. of jubilee session devoted to 100's birthday of Dokuchaev V.V., Academy of Sciences of USSR (in Russian).
- Shalyt MS, 1950. Belowground part of some meadow, steppe and bush plants and phytocoenoses. Part 1. Grass and semi-bush plants and phytocoenoses of forest, meadow and steppe zones. Publ. of institute of botany of Academy of Sciences of USSR, series III, Geobotany, 6 (in Russian).
- Valter G, 1975. Vegetation of the Earth. III.-M.: *Progress* (in Russian).
- Vedenkov EP, Drogobych NE, 1998. Main results of reinventory of flora in natural core of biosphere reserve "Askania Nova" - Actual questions of preservation and rehabilitation of steppe ecosystems. Askania Nova (in Russian).

an ulterantenen for Monlow one single vollage withost n 10 de devinementate (d. 5550) dot suite entrementation 01 de destricter de Castra de Castra entrementation 11 contra 5023 Oradon aurugionation de Castra entre 12 contra 5023 Oradon aurugionation de Fernal much 13 chuil fascological magninger which de Fernal much 14 conficient, amount of provintation durugination de contra 15 conficient, amount of provintation durugination de contra

### Chapter 4

## Processes and regimes in soils under *Festica-Stipa* steppe and reclaimed agricultural land in Askania, southern Ukraine, with special reference to dynamics of soil organic matter Nikolai Ivanovich Polupan

#### 4.1. General information about Askania steppe

Steppe biosphere, natural reserve of Askania Nova, is situated within north part of the Dry Steppe zone. In grass stand composition of the steppe, zonal turf-cereal vegetation is dominant in placor conditions. This vegetation occupies about 70% of the area, including fescue, stipa, and sedge (*Carex praecox*) associations, followed by *Artemisia austridca* etc. The fescue associations occupy 45-55%, whereas stipa associations, which include *Carex praecox*, *Poa angustifolics, Festuca valesiaca* etc., distribute 25-35% of the area of zonal turf-cereal vegetation. The third group consists of rhizome-cereal and sedge associations and their proportion is 10-30%.

In horizontal structure of vegetation cover, the relation with relief and soil cover is well observed.

Askania steppe is characterized by large diversity of flora. In 1923, 310 naturally growing species were registered, and they increased later to 357 in 1954, 436 in 1975 and 478 in 1990. They are combined into 15 leading families. In biomorphological spectrum of flora, perennial grasses predominate (51%). The basis of this group is long-vegetating perennials (47%). Annuals constitute 38%; followed by twoyear vegetating plants (9%) and semi-shrubs (1%). Rod-root grasses dominate among the steppe grasses (63%).

In ecological structure of flora, larger areas are occupied by meso-xerophytes (37.8%), mesophytes (20.3%), and xerophytes (18.9%). Dominant species are representatives of two (spring-summer and summer) phyto-rhythm plants (62.4%). Based on ecological analysis eight <u>coenomorphs</u> are allocated. The most spread group is <u>steppants</u> (one of steppe plants) constituting 65.2%. The volume of steppe species (36%) exceeds all others.

There is a large proportion of meadow-steppe species (22%) because of the presence of numerous depressions in steppe (Vedenkov and Drogobych, 1998; Vedenkov and Vedenkova, 1998).

The fescue, stipa and meadow-steppe associations, the dominant groups of natural steppe vegetation, are encompassed by a research station for studying soil regimes and processes in Askania nova. It was situated in strictly controlled reserve, where human activity has been prohibited from about 100 years ago. Therefore, this research station can be considered as a standard of virgin fescue-stipa steppe of Ukraine. Following researches were conducted in 1967-1974.

#### 4.2. Characteristics of soils at the station

Soils under fescue-stipa associations are represented by Dark chestnut soils, which have depth of humus horizon 55-65 cm with 56-60% content of physical clay. Effervescence after treating by 10% HCl is from 45-56 cm depth, 'white eye' carbonates present from 65-70 cm till 95-105 cm, and gypsum is from 180-220 cm.

Under the meadow-steppe associations in negative shallow depressions ('saucer'), soils have increased depth of humus layer to 70-80 cm, lower depth of effervescence, usually, under humified layer, 'white eye' carbonates from 90-100 cm, and gypsum at 220-250 cm or often there is no gypsum in the profile at all.

On cultivated Dark chestnut soils, plot with similar profile thickness and particle-size composition to the soils in the virgin lands was selected for the present study.

#### Profile description:

| Hed -   | 0-8 (10) cm         | Humus-turf, dark-gray when moist and gray<br>when dry; structure is crumby-granular-<br>powdery; eluviated; structural separates have<br>glassy powdering of SiO <sub>2</sub> ; light-clay; gradual<br>transition to |
|---------|---------------------|--|
| H(i) -  | 8 (10) - 25 (28) c  | m Humified, dark-chestnut, crumby-<br>granular-nutty, compacted, clay, gradual<br>transition to  |
| Hpi -   | 25 (28) - 38 (42)   | cm Upper transitional, dark-chestnut with<br>brown tone, crumby-granular, compacted, clay,<br>structural separates have weak colloidal<br>lacquering, many crotovinas, gradual transition<br>to                      |
| Phi -   | 38 (42) - 55 (65)   | cm Lower transitional, dark-brown, dark-<br>gray bands, crumby-nutty-prismatic,<br>compacted, carbonated from 45-56 cm,<br>crotovinas, clay, gradual transition to   |
| Pk(h) - | 55 (65) - 65 (70)   | cm Loess, weakly humified, straw-brown with gray tones;  |
| Pk - 65 | 5 (70) - 160 cm and | l deeper Loess, straw-brown, crumby, compacted, porous, clay.  |



Figure 4.1. Distribution of particle size (0.25-0.05, 0.05-0.01, 0.01-0.001 and < 0.001 mm) of soils from virgin (A) and cultivated (B) lands.

The characteristics of soils from the virgin and the cultivated lands are presented in Table 4.1 and Figs. 4.1 and 4.2. There were no significant differences in physical properties and particle-size composition of both the soils (Table 4.2; Fig. 4.1).

Thus, properties of the studied soils are practically the same. Therefore, it is possible to assume their similarity at initial stage.

#### 4.3. Climatic conditions during the experiment

Many researchers (Buchinskii, 1963; Predtechenskii, 1957; Schwartsbach, 1955; Shnitnikov, 1969; Shulgin, 1972; and others) indicate the presence of centuries-cyclic changes of climate by periods from 1800 till 3000 years. On the background of those changes centuries and inter-centuries changes occur with different duration of cycles. During these

| T-LL 41    | Classes + + - + = + = + = + = + = + = + = + = + | Dout - to care |             |              |
|------------|---|----------------|-------------|--------------|
| 1able 4.1. | Characteristic of I                             | Jark chesthut  | soms at the | study plots. |

|            |               |   | Bulk                           |            | Exchar | ngeable   | cations         |         | p.           | H                    |                  |           |                       | Hea      | avy me                      | etals                 | 1.101                            | nòqo                                     |   |
|------------|---------------|---|--------------------------------|------------|--------|-----------|-----------------|---------|--------------|----------------------|------------------|-----------|-----------------------|----------|-----------------------------|-----------------------|----------------------------------|--|---|
| Background | Depth<br>(cm) | Humus   | density                        | Ca         | Mg     | Na        | K               | Sum     | ionsi in i   | in salt              | В                | Cu        | Zn                    | Co       | v                           | Cr                    | Ni                               | Sr                                       | Pl                                      |
|            | (em)          | content (70)  | $(g \text{ cm}^{-3})$          |            | (c     | molc kg   | <sup>-1</sup> ) |         | in water     | solution             |                  |           |                       | (1       | mg kg                       | 1)                    |                                  | on ni                                    |   |
|            |               |   |                                |            | Prof   | ile deptl | n 55-65         | cm, phy | sical clay - | - 56-60%             |                  |           |                       |          |                             | 1963 (                | 1465                             |  |   |
| virgin     | 0-30          | 3.4±0.2   | 1.22                           | 22         | 7      | 0.4       | 1.2             | 30.6    | 6.7          | 5.8                  | 30               | 37        | 60                    | 16       | 56                          | 84                    | 33                               | 130                                      | 26                                      |
|            | 30-40         | 2.1±0.2   | 1.37                           | 23         | 8      | 0.5       | 0.9             | 32.4    | 6.9          | 6.0                  | 46               | 30        | 62                    | 16       | 50                          | 100                   | 38                               | 140                                      | 24                                      |
|            | 40-50         | 1.9±0.2   | 1.42                           | 26         | 5      | 0.8       | 0.7             | 36.5    | 7.3          | 6.4                  | 32               | 29        |                       | 16       | 56                          | 100                   | 32                               | 150                                      | 27                                      |
|            | 50-60         | 1.2±0.2   | 1.48                           |            |        | 1.0       |                 |         | 7.9          | 7.2                  | 38               | 30        | 0.840                 | 15       | 56                          | 90                    | 30                               | 150                                      | 34                                      |
|            | 60-70         | 0.9±0.2   | 1.50                           |            |        | 1.2       |                 |         | 8.0          | las <del>-</del> nos |                  |           | -                     | -        | •                           |                       | goto                             | 0070                                     | m - 1                                   |
|            | 70-80         | an a  | 1.51                           |            |        | 1.3       | a Si ka sana    |         | 8.2          |                      | 26               |           |                       |          | -                           |                       | 있다.<br>2017년—1917<br>2018년—1917년 |  | - 1                                     |
|            | 80-90         |   | 1.50                           |            |        | 1.5       |                 |         | 8.2          |                      | 26               | 19        |                       | 14       | 50                          | 90                    | 27                               | 160                                      | 25                                      |
|            | 90-100        | 1867 N 1867 N   | 1.51                           | 98, 8.8. j |        | 3.8       |                 |         | 8.2          |                      | 26               | 17        |                       | 17       | 58                          | 110                   | 32                               | 150                                      | 25                                      |
| cultivated | 0-30          | 2.9±0.2   | 1.28                           | 21         | 7      | 0.2       | 1.0             | 29.2    | 6.9          |                      | 38               | 34        | 60                    | 18       | 58                          | 91                    | 37                               | 120                                      | 27                                      |
|            | 30-40         | 2.0±0.2   | 1.38                           | 23         | 7      | 0.3       | 0.9             | 31.2    | 7.1          |                      |                  |           | -                     |          | -                           | 2017-000<br>Color-000 |                                  |  | - 14 - 14 - 14 - 14 - 14 - 14 - 14 - 14 |
|            | 40-50         | 1.8±0.2   | 1.43                           |            |        | 0.5       |                 |         | 7.4          |                      | 37               | 35        | 61                    | 18       | 63                          | 86                    | 40                               | 120                                      | 28                                      |
|            | 50-60         | 1.3±0.2   | 1.50                           |            |        | 0.8       |                 |         | 7.9          |                      |                  | aani Tala |                       |          |                             |                       | 1. e- j                          | 62 <sup>2</sup> -5                       | - 1                                     |
|            | 60-70         | 0.8±0.2   | 1.50                           |            |        | 0.9       |                 |         | 8.0          |                      | 34               | 31        | -989                  | 16       | 58                          | 90                    | 32                               | 134                                      | 30                                      |
|            | 70-80         | in the states of the second | 1.53                           |            |        | 1.2       |                 |         | 8.1          |                      | - 1999<br>- 1999 |           |                       |          | ्या सम्प्रदा थ<br>हे स्ट्रि |                       | ganger sons<br>Ging Bran         | 가장 오르는 것<br>Canacity                     |   |
|            | 80-90         | a Che Ao <sub>sta</sub> n   | 1.51                           |            |        | 1.3       |                 |         | 8.1          |                      |                  | 10.2      |                       | 4        |                             | ( <b>.</b>            | ar <b>a</b> y                    | 1001                                     | - (A                                    |
|            | 90-100        |   | 1.52                           |            |        | 1.5       |                 |         | 8.2          |                      | _27              | 26        | v                     | 16       | 54                          | 84                    | 33                               | 145                                      | 30                                      |
| in sources |               | ana ang ang an<br>Nang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang ang  | ningenein<br>Nu <u>n</u> erein |            | Prof   | ile deptl | n 70-80         | cm, phy | sical clay   | - 56-60%             |                  |           |                       |          |                             | i lisa                |                                  | an a |   |
| virgin     | 0-30          | 4.1±0.2   | 1.24                           | 26         | 8      | 0.3       | 1.4             | 35.7    | 6.5          |                      | 1                |           |                       |          |                             |                       |                                  | 843440                                   |   |
|            | 30-40         | 2.5±0.2   | 1.38                           | 27         | 9      | 0.4       | 1.0             | 37.4    | 6.7          |                      |                  |           |                       |          |                             |                       | en namer o<br>Gerklande b        |  |   |
|            | 40-50         | 2.3±0.2   | 1.41                           | 26         | 10     | 0.5       | 0.8             | 37.3    | 6.9          |                      |                  |           |                       |          |                             |                       |                                  |  |   |
|            | 50-60         | 1.9±0.2   | 1.50                           |            |        | 0.6       |                 |         | 9.0          |                      |                  |           |                       |          |                             |                       |                                  |  |   |
|            | 60-70         | 1.6±0.2   | 1.51                           |            |        | 0.7       |                 |         | 7.2          |                      |                  |           |                       |          |                             |                       |                                  |  |   |
|            | 70-80         | 1.1±0.2   | 1.53                           |            |        | 0.8       |                 |         | 7.3          | di Banter IV         |                  |           |                       |          |                             |                       |                                  |  |   |
|            | 80-90         |   | 1.50                           |            |        | 0.8       |                 |         | 7.4          |                      |                  |           |                       |          |                             |                       |                                  |  |   |
|            | 90-100        |   | 1.55                           |            |        | 1.1       |                 |         | 7.8          | asha y s             | 17078            |           | la na si<br>Nga na si | 082 X 34 |                             |                       |                                  | sis en en es                             |   |
| cultivated | 0-30          | 3.4±0.2   | 1.28                           | 25         | 8      | 0.2       | 1.4             | 34.2    | 6.4          |                      |                  |           |                       |          |                             |                       |                                  |  |   |
|            | 30-40         | 2.3±0.2   | 1.40                           | 24         | 9      | 0.3       | 1.0             | 34.3    | 6.6          |                      |                  |           |                       |          |                             |                       |                                  |  |   |
|            | 40-50         | 2.1±0.2   | 1.42                           |            |        | 0.4       |                 |         | 6.8          |                      |                  |           |                       |          |                             |                       |                                  |  |   |
|            | 50-60         | 1.8±0.2   | 1.45                           |            |        | 0.4       |                 |         | 6.9          |                      |                  |           |                       |          |                             |                       |                                  |  |   |
|            | 60-70         | 1.5±0.2   | 1.50                           |            |        | 0.5       |                 |         | 7.0          |                      |                  |           |                       |          |                             |                       |                                  |  |   |
|            | 70-80         | 1.2±0.2   | 1.51                           |            |        | 0.5       |                 |         | 7.6          |                      |                  |           |                       |          |                             |                       |                                  |  |   |
|            | 80-90         | 0.8±0.2   | 1.53                           |            |        | 0.6       |                 |         | 7.8          |                      |                  |           |                       |          |                             |                       |                                  |  |   |
|            | 90-100        | 1   | 1.52                           |            |        | 0.7       |                 |         | 8.0          |                      |                  |           |                       |          |                             |                       |                                  |  |   |



Table 4.2. Physical properties of the study soils.

| Depth (cm) | Bulk dens | ity (g cm <sup>-3</sup> ) | Particle den | Biy doud<br>sity (g cm <sup>-3</sup> ) | Total por | osity (%) | Field wat<br>capac | er-holding<br>ity (%) | Moisture<br>the capilla<br>point (te<br>wilting p | content at<br>ry-braking<br>mporary<br>oint) (%) | Moisture<br>the permar<br>poin | content at<br>ient wilting<br>t (%) |
|------------|-----------|---------------------------|--------------|--|-----------|-----------|--------------------|-----------------------|---|--|--------------------------------|-------------------------------------|
|            | 1*        | 2*                        | 1*           | 2*                                     | 1*        | 2*        | 1*                 | 2*                    | 1*  | 2*   | 1*                             | 2*                                  |
| 0-10       | 1.15      | 1.25                      | 2.72         | 2.71                                   | 56.3      | 53.8      | 32.2               | 32.0                  | 18.2  | 18.0   | 12.3                           | 12.0                                |
| 10-20      | 1.20      | 1.28                      | 2.73         | 2.72                                   | 54.6      | 52.9      | 30.3               | 31.6                  | 18.6  | 18.1   | 12.0                           | 12.0                                |
| 20-30      | 1.25      | 1.30                      | 2.75         | 2.73                                   | 53.2      | 53.4      | 27.5               | 28.0                  | 18.3  | 18.0   | 13.8                           | 12.6                                |
| 30-40      | 1.31      | 1.37                      | 2.74         | 2.74                                   | 50.9      | 50.0      | 25.3               | 26.0                  | 18.4  | 18.1   | 13.6                           | 13.3                                |
| 40-50      | 1.40      | 1.42                      | 2.75         | 2.75                                   | 47.6      | 48.3      | 23.9               | 24.0                  | 17.3  | 18.0   | 12.5                           | 12.7                                |
| 50-60      | 1.44      | 1.44                      | 2.70         | 2.70                                   | 46.7      | 46.7      | 22.0               | 21.9                  | 17.4  | 17.1   | 12.3                           | 12.1                                |
| 60-70      | 1.45      | 1.46                      | 2.69         | 2.70                                   | 46.1      | 45.9      | 21.7               | 21.0                  | 17.5  | 17.3   | 11.8                           | 12.0                                |
| 70-80      | 1.48      | 1.48                      | 2.69         | 2.69                                   | 45.0      | 45.1      | 21.8               | 22.0                  | 16.3  | 16.8   | 11.1                           | 11.4                                |
| 80-90      | 1.48      | 1.48                      | 2.71         | 2.71                                   | 45.4      | 45.4      | 21.7               | 21.6                  | 16.0  | 16.3   | 11.2                           | 11.3                                |
| 90-100     | 1.50      | 1.50                      | 2.73         | 2.73                                   | 45.1      | 45.0      | 21.0               | 21.4                  | 16.2  | 16.5   | 11.2                           | 11.5                                |
| 100-110    | 1.52      | 1.50                      | 2.73         | 2.72                                   | 44.3      | 44.3      | 21.5               | 21.0                  | 16.4  | 16.5   | 11.2                           | 11.1                                |
| 130-140    | 1.49      | 1.50                      | 2.72         | 2.73                                   | 45.2      | 44.9      | 21.3               | 21.2                  | 16.0  | 16.1   | 11.8                           | 11.5                                |
| 150-150    | 1.50      | 1.52                      | 2.73         | 2.73                                   | 45.1      | 44.1      | 21.4               | 21.0                  | 16.3  | 16.1   | 11.9                           | 11.8                                |
| 160-170    | 1.57      | 1.50                      | 2.75         | 2.74                                   | 42.9      | 43.6      | 21.9               | 21.0                  | 16.1  | 16.1   | 12.0                           | 11.9                                |
| 190-200    | 1.47      | 1.61                      | 2.74         | 2.74                                   | 46.2      | 40.1      | 21.2               | 21.0                  | 16.9  | 16.3   | 12.0                           | 11.9                                |
| 220-230    | 1.48      | 1.52                      | 2.75         | 2.75                                   | 43.2      | 42.1      | 20.6               | 21.3                  | 15.8  | 16.0   | 12.1                           | 12.0                                |
| 250-260    | 1.55      | 1.55                      | 2.73         | 2.72                                   | 44.3      | 44.0      | 20.3               | 20.6                  | 15.6  | 15.3   | 12.1                           | 12.0                                |
| 280-290    | 1.52      | 1.54                      | 2.73         | 2.73                                   | 46.4      | 46.0      | 19.3               | 20.1                  | 14.8  | 15.0   | 11.9                           | 12.0                                |
| 310-320    | 1.47      | 1.50                      | 2.74         | 2.74                                   | 45.4      | 43.2      | 18.8               | 20.3                  | 14.5  | 15.0   | 11.7                           | 12.0                                |
| 340-350    | 1.48      | 1.51                      | 2.74         | 2.74                                   | 45.1      | 43.5      | 19.3               | 19.4                  | 14.8  | 15.0   | 11.9                           | 12.0                                |
| 370-380    | 1.50      | 1.51                      | 2.73         | 2.74                                   | 46.7      | 45.9      | 19.6               | 19.5                  | 15.1  | 15.3   | 11.7                           | 11.9                                |
| 400-410    | 1.45      | 1.49                      | 2.72         | 2.73                                   | 46.7      | 43.2      | 20.3               | 19.9                  | 15.6  | 15.4   | 12.8                           | 12.1                                |
| 430-440    | 1.45      | 1.49                      | 2.72         | 2.72                                   | 46.4      | 45.3      | 20.6               | 19.6                  | 15.7  | 15.3   | 13.8                           | 12.6                                |
| 460-470    | 1.47      | 1.52                      | 2.74         | 2.74                                   | 46.4      | 45.3      | 20.8               | 19.3                  | 15.8  | 15.2   | 13.6                           | 13.0                                |
| 490-500    | 1.48      | 1.50                      | 2.73         | 2.73                                   | 45.8      | 44.3      | 21.0               | 19.8                  | 16.1  | 15.6   | 14.9                           | 13.0                                |

\* 1: virgin land; 2: cultivated land

35



Figure 4.3. Analysis of long-term fluctuation of annual precipitation at meteorological stations of Askania Nova (A) and Kherson (B).

time intervals fluctuations of climate both toward humidcold and toward dry-warm have taken place. Blagoveshchenski (1946) notes that the climatic changes on the territory of European part of USSR were not uniform; in southern part the fluctuation changes weakened. Buchinski (1963) thinks that in steppe part of Ukraine climate fluctuations were smoother; and during the last 10,000 years the landscape-climatic appearance of steppes was similar to today. Kostin (1965) notes that during the last 4000 years only rotation of dry and warm with humid and cold cycles took place.

The period of our observation (1967-1982) is characterized by the cycle with high amount of precipitation (Fig. 4.3). The validity of the data depends on the degree the climatic conditions of the studying period, which reflect upon its fluctuations in a long-term cycle.

During our researches in Askania Nova (1967-1974), three years (38%) were moderately humid ( $\pm 10\%$  from the average) (Table 4.3). Frequency of occurrence of such years is 34% in long-term cycle. Other three years were droughty; amount of precipitation was 10-30% less than the long-term average. Probability of such years on the studying territory is 32% in long-term cycle. Two years (24%) were extremely humid; amount of precipitation was 30-40% higher than the average. Such years constitute up to 15% in long-term cycles.

Table 4.3. Frequency of occurrence of annual or periodical precipitation in long-term basis (1925-1981) and for years of our research (1967-1974); at meteorological station of Askania Nova (without 1941-1943).

|                                    | 0.05               | Re          | lative amo  | ounts of p   | recipitati | on in indiv   | idual year | s against  | long-term                 | average | (%)    |
|------------------------------------|--------------------|-------------|---|--------------|------------|---------------|------------|--|---------------------------|---------|--------|
|                                    |                    | <60         | 60-70   | 70-80        | 80-90      | <u>100±10</u> | 110-120    | 120-130  | 130-140                   | >140    | Sum    |
| Throughout one year; 380 mm in a   | verage             |             |   |              |            |               |            |  |                           |         | 05-08- |
| T and towns basis (1025-1081)      | No. of observation | 1           |   | 7            | 10         | 19            | 5          | 2  | 6                         | 3       | 53     |
| Long-term basis (1923-1981)        | percentage (%)     | 2           |   | 13           | 19         | 36            | 10         | 4  | 11                        | 5       | 100    |
| D1(1067-1074)                      | No. of observation |             | 1. Q. 38. 3                                       | 1            | 2          | 3             |            | 02.1   | 2                         |         | 8      |
| Research years (1967-1974)         | percentage (%)     | -           | 이 사망 같은 것이<br>이 것 같은 것이 같이 같이 같이 같이 같이 같이 같이 않는다. | 12           | 25         | 38            |            |  | 25                        |         | 100    |
| Cold half of a year; 171 mm in ave | rage               |             | S. S. S. C  |              |            |               |            | 07.1   |                           |         | N NAME |
| T (1005-1001)                      | No. of observation | 3           | 4   | 4            | 14         | 18            |            | 3  | - 33                      | 7       | 53     |
| Long-term basis (1925-1981)        | percentage (%)     | 5           | 8   | 8            | 27         | 34            | -2735<br>- | 5  |                           | 13      | 100    |
| <b>D</b> 1(10(7.1074))             | No. of observation |             | 1   | 1            | 3          | 2             |            | 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 -<br>1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - |                           | 1       | 8      |
| Research years (1967-1974)         | percentage (%)     | 1010        | 12  | 12           | 39         | 25            |            | 02.4   | - 38                      | 12      | 100    |
| Warm half of a year; 209 mm in av  | /erage             |             |   |              |            |               |            |  |                           |         |        |
| T                                  | No. of observation | 5           | 1   | 6            | 10         | 13            | 8          |  | -                         | 10      | 53     |
| Long-term basis (1925-1981)        | percentage (%)     | 9           | 2   | 11           | 19         | 8             | 15         |  |                           | 19      | 100    |
| Becenrob vegro (1067-1074)         | No. of observation | 988<br>2018 | 1   | 16.0<br>19.0 | 2          | 3             | 1          |  | 47.000 (10)<br>488 (1-10) | 1       | 8      |
| Research years (1907-1974)         | percentage (%)     | -           | 12  | -            | 25         | 39            | 12         | la≓ai Ì  | annithia                  | 12      | 100    |

Intensity of precipitation of the studying period on 84% reflects humidity of the given region in long-term cycle. In seasonal distribution of precipitation high probability of the years (74-84%) was also observed (Table 4.4).

An average yearly air temperature of the studying years varied insignificantly (Table 4.4). During the period 1967-1974, only in 1969 and 1973 deviations were 10-12% lower from the average annual norm, and deviations in other years were 0-2%.

For all the studied years, during warm half of the year the variation of air temperature did not exceed  $\pm$  10% of the long-term average; only few months' variations reached  $\pm$ 20-22%. In cold period differences in air temperature between the years were larger, especially in January-February. Variation from the long-term average was  $\pm$  7-386%. However, probability of such temperatures in long-term line is 63-82%.

Relative air humidity both yearly and seasonally varied insignificantly during the whole studied years (Table 4.4).

Thus, the characteristics of climate conditions, especially yearly and seasonally distribution of precipitation in 1967-1974, practically completely covered their variation in longterm line. This allows interpretation of results of observation of water and other regimes during these years with high confidence.

# 4.4. Temperature regime of the soils during the period of research on water balance

Dynamics of soil moisture depends on its temperature regime to some degree. It was measured under natural vegetation with extensible thermometers. For plotting thermoisoplets soil temperatures of decades were used on depths: 10, 20, 40, 120, 160, 240 and 320 cm.

In a yearly cycle of soil temperature regime of Dark chestnut soils there are two periods: warming and cooling (Fig. 4.4). Duration of these periods had been changing depending on income and consumption time of heat on soil surface from soil moisture and other factors.

Negative temperature in soil started from III decade of December (1970) and from January (from I decade in 1971-1973, II in 1969 and III in 1967 and 1974), and ended in February (in I decade in 1970 and 1974, II in 1971 and 1974, and III in 1967) and in March (in II decade in 1969 and 1972). Depth of frosting fluctuated significantly; it's up to 10 cm (1971), 20 cm (1970), 30 cm (1968), 40 cm (1967 and 1974), 50 cm (1973), 70 cm (1969) or 120 cm (1972). Cooling of soil up to 5°C reached 130-240 cm and to 8°C 260-320 cm depth.

Soil warming started in different decades of March: in I (1970 and 1973), in II (1967, 1968 and 1971), in III (1969, 1972 and 1974). Heat from surface till 40-50 cm depth was

| <b>Fable 4.4.</b> Mean a | nnual air t | emperature a | and relative | humidity on | studied p                                | lots in lon | g-term a | verage |
|--------------------------|-------------|--------------|--------------|-------------|--|-------------|----------|--------|
| and in the studied       | year.       |              |              |             | an a |             |          |        |

| <b>V</b> 2 |       |      |      |                        |      | Mo   | onth      |           |      |       |     |      | Average    |
|------------|-------|------|------|------------------------|------|------|-----------|-----------|------|-------|-----|------|------------|
| rear       | I     | II   | III  | IV                     | V    | VI   | VII       | VIII      | IX   | X,    | XI  | XII  |            |
| Long-term  |       |      |      | ft silverback.<br>Eise | 40   | Ai   | r tempe   | rature (° | C)   | 66893 |     |      |            |
| average    | -2.9  | -2.8 | 2.0  | 9.3                    | 16.7 | 20.8 | 23.5      | 22.5      | 16.6 | 9.8   | 4.5 | -0.1 | <b>9.9</b> |
| 1967       | -4.8  | -4.8 | 1.6  | 9.9                    | 17.1 | 18.9 | 23.0      | 23.2      | 17.7 | 12.3  | 6.6 | -0.6 | 10.1       |
| 1968       | -4.1  | -1.2 | 3.7  | 11.0                   | 18.9 | 20.5 | 22.0      | 21.1      | 17.5 | 9.3   | 4.3 | -1.0 | 10.1       |
| 1969       | -6.7  | -4.4 | -0.2 | 8.2                    | 15.2 | 19.8 | 20.5      | 22.1      | 15.7 | 8.1   | 6.5 | -0.5 | 8.7        |
| 1970       | -1.3  | 0.2  | 4.0  | 11.9                   | 15.2 | 18.5 | 24.2      | 20.1      | 15.7 | 8.2   | 5.1 | -0.3 | 10.1       |
| 1971       | -0.2  | -0.2 | 1.6  | 8.4                    | 16.0 | 20.0 | 23.2      | 23.0      | 17.2 | 8.5   | 5.7 | 1.4  | 10.2       |
| 1972       | -11.8 | -4.3 | 1.5  | 12.5                   | 17.1 | 23.1 | 23.3      | 23.5      | 16.4 | 9.8   | 5.7 | 0.3  | 9.9        |
| 1973       | -6.0  | 1.4  | 2.1  | 10.1                   | 15.0 | 18.5 | 22.1      | 19.1      | 14.2 | 9.4   | 1.5 | 0.4  | 9.0        |
| 1974       | -4.9  | 0.4  | 2.9  | 6.9                    | 14.0 | 19.2 | 21:2      | 21.7      | 17.6 | 14.2  | 4.3 | 2.5  | 10.0       |
| Long-term  |       |      |      | Paris internet         |      | Re   | lative hu | midity (  | %)   |       |     |      |            |
| average    | 87    | 86   | 81   | 72                     | 67   | 62   | 58        | 58        | 65   | 77    | 87  | 89   | 74         |
| 1967       | 87    | 86   | 86   | 63                     | 65   | 66   | 50        | 53        | 56   | 76    | 88  | 91   | 73         |
| 1968       | 86    | 90   | 76   | 56                     | 55   | 54   | 54        | 61        | 67   | 81    | 91  | 88   | 72         |
| 1969       | 82    | 87   | 83   | 73                     | 68   | 62   | 67        | 56        | 63   | 65    | 84  | 90   | 73         |
| 1970       | 88    | 86   | 78   | 70                     | 76   | 69   | 57        | 63        | 60   | 79    | 86  | 91   | 75         |
| 1971       | 87    | 83   | 82   | 58                     | 68   | 58   | 59        | 50        | 65   | 71    | 88  | 89   | 72         |
| 1972       | 79    | 82   | 69   | 67                     | 63   | 52   | 54        | 56        | 63   | 80    | 86  | 86   | 70         |
| 1973       | 81    | 88   | 81   | 72                     | 67   | 70   | 64        | 67        | 66   | 74    | 88  | 87   | 75         |
| 1974       | 85    | 87   | 70   | 72                     | 73   | 63   | 63        | 49        | 62   | 79    | 87  | 92   | 73         |
|            |       |      |      |                        |      |      |           |           |      |       |     |      |            |



N. I. Polupan

38

spread quickly, because thermoisoplets were set up almost vertically. Warming above 5°C on 20 cm depth, in most of the cases, happened in III decade of March or I decade of April. Slow temperature increase was observed only in 1969 when soil at 20 cm depth was warmed up in II decade of April.

Increase of temperature in this depth happened within 10 to 20 days, except 1974, when this period lasted about 40 days. The increase sometimes falls in I-II decade of April, while extreme cases that coincide with humid springs fall in III decade of April or I decade of May. At the end of April to I decade of May and sometimes II decade of May, temperatures of upper soil horizons reach 15°C. Growth of temperature from 10 to 15°C proceeds fast, which is well shown on the presented figures where intervals between thermoisoplets are narrow.

Up to 20°C the soil is warmed relatively slow. This temperature level in the surface soil takes place at the end of May to beginning of June. Spreading of heat into deep layers depends on the moisture content in the soil and the amount of precipitation in summer period. In humid years (1969, 1973 and 1974) soil temperature of 20°C was recorded at 90-120 cm depth at the end of July and I-II decades of August; in other years at 160 cm soil depth.

In July-August, when soils under virgin vegetation are dried up to the wilting moisture, the layer of 40-50 cm is warmed up above 25°C.

Decline of soil temperature begins from September; it is declined till 15°C in I decade of October, in less cases in II decade; till 10°C between II-III decades of October and I decade of November; and till 5°C in II-III decades of November - I decade of December.

Duration of the period with temperatures above 10°C at 20 cm depth constitute 202 (193-214) days; above 15°C - 160 (142-173) days.

Many authors established that vegetation cover shading soil serves as a thermo-insulator. The more a soil is shaded by vegetation the lower is the temperature of surface layers. Cultivation results in an increase of summer temperature of ploughed field from 2 to 15 degrees higher than that of virgin land (Ikotnikova, 1965; Kolosov, 1924; Shulgin, 1972). Therefore, temperature regime of the studied cultivated lands, which may varies depending on cultivated crops, can be characterized also by large values, especially after harvest when the whole surface remains open.

In yearly cycle of soil temperature regime, fluctuations take place. In the cold period temperature gradient between

20 and 160 cm soil depths is  $6.7^{\circ}C$  (5-11°C), 20 and 320 cm - 13.2°C (10-16°C). Positive inter-soil gradient directs heat flux upward from deeper layers to surface (Dimo, 1970). In warm period the gradient is negative; in the warmest month between the above-mentioned layers the gradient is 8.2°C (7-10°C) and 12.7°C (11-15°C), respectively, and heat flux is directed from soil surface to deeper layers.

Thermal gradients move moisture along soil profile at the same time (Abramova, 1968; Globus, 1962; Panfilov and Yuriev, 1968; Chizhikov, 1967; and others). Flux of moisture in autumn-winter period is directed from warm to cold layers. In warm period moisture mainly moves toward moisture gradient, to drying surface. Heat and moisture conductivities have reverse directions, but it doesn't significantly influence moisture balance. Quantitative changes of moisture under influence of thermal gradients on studied treatments will be given further in corresponding sections.

#### 4.5. Moisture regime under natural condition

Soil moisture was studied by the following method: till 5 m soil moisture was determined in 4 terms: April, June, August and October; till 3 m - in every decade during warm period. Samples were taken every 10 cm till 110 cm, and every 20 cm in deeper layers. Soil moisture was determined by thermostat-weighing method in 4 replications.

Coefficient of variation of moisture did not exceed 10%, except in the upper 10 cm and the horizons located on lower border of the zone of maximum soil moistening where it was 15%. Accuracy of determination of the replications was within 5%.

Yearly regime of moisture in the Dark chestnut soil under virgin vegetation has two periods: accumulation (water absorption) and consumption (drying). The first period falls in autumn-winter-spring and lasts from November till March; and the second period falls in spring-summer. The water budget in the individual periods is summarized in Table 4.5.

Average assimilation of precipitation during the cold period in the virgin land was 82% with fluctuation from 47 to 125% (the last value is due to inflation of snow from neighboring plots). Absolute value is 67-234 mm. This moisture penetrated into 40-230 cm depth.

High percentage of assimilation of precipitation by soils during cold periods is mainly caused by their dry condition at the end of vegetation period. Correlation between depth of freezing and assimilation of precipitation was not observed. However, there is a correlation between moisture accumulation and length of period with soil temperatures of



N. I. Polupan

40



Figure 4.6. Chronoisoplets of moisture content in the Dark chestnut soil on virgin land.

**41** 

|                      |                             |                                      |                        | Table                               | e 4.5. \                            | Water ba               | alance in the                  | Dark c                  | chestnu                             | t soils                            | under v       | /irgin vegeta                  | tion.             |  |                                    |               |                |                         |                    |            |
|----------------------|-----------------------------|--------------------------------------|------------------------|-------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|------------------------|--------------------------------|-------------------------|-------------------------------------|------------------------------------|---------------|--------------------------------|-------------------|--|------------------------------------|---------------|----------------|-------------------------|--------------------|------------|
| Year                 | Precipitation<br>throughout | Precipitation<br>during<br>November- | Moi:<br>differe<br>Nov | sture acc<br>ant layers<br>/ember-A | umulatio<br>s of soil c<br>March (m | on at<br>Juring<br>1m) | Precipitation<br>during April- | Moist<br>differei<br>Aj | ure const<br>nt layers<br>pril-Augt | umption  <br>of soil d<br>ust (mm) | from<br>uring | Precipitation<br>during April- | Moistr<br>differe | ure consu<br>nt layers (<br>3ril-Octob | mption fi<br>of soil du<br>er (mm) | om<br>ring    | early we<br>of | ater balar<br>î October | nce by the<br>(mm) | end.       |
|                      | one year                    | March                                | 0-200<br>cm            | 200-<br>400 cm                      | 400-<br>500 cm                      | 0-500<br>cm            | August (mm)                    | 0-200<br>cm '           | 200-<br>400 cm ź                    | 400-<br>500 cm                     | 0-500 (<br>cm | October (mm)                   | 0-200<br>cm       | 200-<br>400 cm 5                       | 400- (<br>00 cm                    | )-500 (<br>cm | -200<br>cm 4   | 200<br>00 cm 5(         | 400- 0<br>00 cm    | -500<br>cm |
| Long-term<br>average | 380                         | 118                                  |                        |                                     |                                     |                        | 200                            |                         |                                     |                                    |               | 262                            |                   |  |                                    |               |                |                         |                    |            |
| .1967                | 385                         | 187                                  | 224                    | 10                                  | 0                                   | 234                    | 176                            | 243                     | 20                                  | 17                                 | 280           | 198                            | 230               | 8                                      | 2                                  | 240           | 4              | 2                       | -2                 | 4          |
| 1968                 | 416                         | 181                                  | 139                    | 4                                   | Ŷ                                   | 130                    | 165                            | 101                     | 4                                   | 0                                  | 26            | 235                            | 144               | -10                                    | -10                                | 124           | - <b>5</b>     | 9                       | 5                  | 9          |
| 1969                 | 390                         | 132                                  | 85                     | -10                                 | ø,                                  | 67                     | 173                            | 103                     | -15                                 | 3                                  | 91            | 258                            | 102               | -۲                                     | 2                                  | 57            | -17            | r,                      | -10                | -30        |
| 1970                 | 534                         | 248                                  | 122                    | 10                                  | -15                                 | 117                    | 228                            | 120                     | 14                                  | -11                                | 123           | 286                            | 103               | 15                                     | 0                                  | 118           | 19             | -5                      | -15                | 7          |
| 1971                 | 267                         | 132                                  | 66                     | L                                   | 1                                   | 101                    | 114                            | 126                     | 19                                  | 19                                 | 164           | 135                            | 102               | 18                                     | 0                                  | 120           | ÷              | -17                     | I                  | -19        |
| 1972                 | 328                         | 103                                  | 82                     | 24                                  | -3                                  | 103                    | 125                            | 95                      | 36                                  | 18                                 | 149           | 225                            | 32                | 49                                     | 12                                 | 93            | 50             | -25                     | -15                | 10         |
| 1973                 | 523                         | 140                                  | 102                    | 18                                  | -12                                 | 108                    | 314                            | 145                     | 11                                  | 20                                 | 176           | 383                            | 128               | 12                                     | 22                                 | 162           | -26            | 9                       | -32                | -52        |
| 1974                 | 336                         | 125                                  | 117                    | 24                                  | 23                                  | 164                    | 160                            | 154                     | 4                                   | 5                                  | 163           | 211                            | 108               | 2                                      |                                    | 106           | 6              | 26                      | 24                 | 59         |
| Average              | 397                         | 156                                  | 121                    | 6                                   | -7                                  | 128                    | 182                            | 136                     | П                                   | 6                                  | 156           | 241                            | 118               | 10                                     | Э                                  | 131           | 3              | 7                       | -5                 | ÷          |
| Water hala           | nce for 8 vears             | s of the shidy                       |                        |                                     |                                     |                        |                                |                         |                                     |                                    |               |                                |                   |  |                                    |               | 73             | -10                     | 44                 | -31        |

below zero. When length of negative soil temperatures lasts 20-40 days assimilation of precipitation is 80%, when 50-70 days - 50-70%. A minimal proportion of moisture accumulation against precipitation was observed during autumn-winter-spring periods of 1968-1969 (67 mm / 132 mm) and 1969-1970 (117 mm / 248 mm). Strong winds and frosts in 1968-1969 prevented preservation of snow cover and resulted in deep soil freezing (70 cm). On the contrary, in 1969-1970 large losses of moisture occurred due to frequent and sharp temperature fluctuations (-21 and +8°C or -12 and +10°C).

For 7 years insignificant decrease of moisture content in spring (5-15 mm) comparing with autumn has been observed in layer deeper than 200 cm. At this depth moisture of loess materials is kept below the temporary wilting point (or capillary-breaking point); that is the reason why the moisture can move only as a vapor (Globus, 1962; Chizhikov, 1967). Vapor moisture increased humidity of more than 2 m loess layer from 11-12% to 13-14%, since precipitation didn't reach this depth. Movement of vapor moisture is controlled by temperature gradients. Other researchers also observed this phenomenon (Abramova, 1968; Panfilov and Yuriev, 1968; and others).

As positive temperatures are settled, especially when vegetation begins, negative moisture balance is established in soil. In some years moisture penetration into the soil continues till the end of April or beginning of May, depending on weather conditions. The depth of moisture movement in this period is, however, not large (10-20 cm). It is necessary to point out that the virgin vegetation, on the contrary to cultivated crops, is characterized with earlier vegetative periods and has powerful root systems. Therefore, intensity of moisture assimilation is quickly growing from spring; accumulated moisture during autumn-winter-spring period is fully consumed by the end of May or beginning of June. Precipitations that happened during vegetation period didn't significantly influence the moisture balance of the soil (Figs 4.5 and 4.6). Physical evaporation from soil apparently does not significantly influence moisture balance of the virgin lands because the soils are covered by steppe felt.

The soil of virgin land is dried up to the permanent wilting point or lower (11-13%) till 130-150 cm depth. Deeper (290-300 cm) loess has higher moisture, 14-15%, and as lenses 16% (between permanent (pF 4.2) and temporary (pF 3.0) wilting points). On the depth of 300-350 cm constant low moisture 12-13% (permanent wilting point) was preserved, deeper than 350 cm soil moisture was constant at 14-15% and few spots -16% (between permanent and temporary wilting points) during the studied years.

In the warm period moisture movement is mainly directed upward due to the influence of drying gradients. However, in small amounts, as vapor, it moves into lower layers in direction of heat flux. Due to this moisture, relatively constant moisture is preserved below the moisture percolation zone in spite of its losses during the cold months.

By the end of vegetative period the moisture content in 5-m depth on virgin land practically was constant for all the studied years (Table 4.6), variation was not greater than  $\pm$ 4.9-5.3% that is within the limits of error for determination. Based on comparison of inputs and outputs, water balance on the virgin land is suggested to be close to zero, while deeper than 200 cm it is negative, which is an evidence not of accumulation but of consumption of water. But the last values don't exceed accuracy of determination (Table 4.5).

Thus, on the virgin land with natural vegetation cover, moisture distribution in soil follows classical hydrologic profile established by Vysotski for soils with non-percolation water regime. Active moisture circulation covered whole the zone of spring percolation, which did not exceed 200-250 cm depth. Deeper soil moisture is relatively constant, close to moisture at the permanent wilting point. This horizon fully corresponds to "dead" or impermacide according to Vysotski (1962) and Rode (1965). The authors related its origin to vital activity of plants. Rode (1965) pointed out that the activity of plant with deep roots that penetrate till the "dead" horizon completely closes moisture circulation from the below, except for water vapor.

Validity of our conclusions on hydrology of the soils

# Table 4.6. Total stock of moisture (in mm) at the end of October in 0-500 cm layer of the Dark chestnut soils of different ecosystems.

|                               |      |      |      | Ye   | ars  |      |      |      |         |
|-------------------------------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|------|---------|
| <u>o haceria y emo</u>        | 1967 | 1968 | 1969 | 1970 | 1971 | 1972 | 1973 | 1974 | Average |
| Virgin land                   | 1048 | 1070 | 1030 | 1005 | 984  | 1016 | 985  | 1043 | 1022    |
| Non-irrigated cultivated land | 1195 | 1331 | 1360 | 1370 | 1119 | 1183 | 1325 | 1238 | 1265    |

|           | 17 🚔 🕆 🐂  | 물건 집 집 것이 2번 같이 없는 것이 것을 했다. 것을 |             | 그 정말은 이 같은 것은 것은 것은 것을 가지? |                  | • ************************************ |                       |
|-----------|-----------|---------------------------------|-------------|----------------------------|------------------|--|-----------------------|
| Ighia /   |           | VIOICTITO CONTO                 | nt in coile | under noturo               | and cultivator   | Transform ( A                          | nri [ [/ 017 1n 1/2]  |
| I a Dic - | To / o 11 | VIOISLUI C COIIL                | ail ni sons | i unuci natura             | i and cultivated |  | UT 11-1VIAV. 111 701. |

| <b>ban</b> daqanaa | 100.00 | ut va Sat | (ullon) | So    | uthern | cherno | zem             |                | (9.6)               | 0.000                 | 1968-0 | D                                     | ark che | stnut s | oil               | in îce                      | Solo | netzic o | chestnu                | t soil                |
|--------------------|--------|-----------|---------|-------|--------|--------|-----------------|----------------|---------------------|-----------------------|--------|---------------------------------------|---------|---------|-------------------|-----------------------------|------|----------|------------------------|-----------------------|
|                    |        | Ascania   | a stepp | e     |        |        | Crimea          | ı steppe       | 2                   |                       |        | A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A A | Ascani  | a stepp | e                 |                             | No   | ovotroi  | tsk ster               | ope                   |
| Denth (cm)         |        | 19        | 73      |       |        |        | 19              | 77             |                     |                       | 1973   | 19                                    | 81      | 1973    | 19                | 81                          |      | 19       | 73                     |                       |
|                    | vir    | gin       | culti   | vated | vir    | gin 📊  | culti<br>for 15 | vated<br>years | culti<br>for<br>per | vated<br>long<br>riod |        | virgin                                |         | cultiv  | ated fo<br>period | r long                      | vir  | gin      | cultiv<br>for l<br>per | vated<br>long<br>riod |
|                    | 1      | 2         | 1       | 2     | 1      | 2      | 1               | 2              | 1                   | 2                     | 1      | 1                                     | 2       | 1       | 1                 | 2                           | 1    | 2        | 1                      | 2                     |
| 0-10               | 21.0   | 13.0      | 20.4    | 10.3  | 28.0   | 16.1   | 23.1            | 15.0           | 26.4                | 15.4                  | 22.8   | 26.4                                  | 10.4    | 24.6    | 28.3              | 14.2                        | 19.6 | 8.9      | 20.7                   | 10.8                  |
| 20-30              | 23.0   | 16.2      | 21.9    | 13.1  | 18.6   | 15.3   | 21.2            | 14.6           | 25.6                | 14.9                  | 25.5   | 25.8                                  | 14.6    | 24.6    | 27.4              | 15.0                        | 20.4 | 16.3     | 22.5                   | 16.4                  |
| 50-60              | 19.2   | 16.5      | 19.4    | 12.0  | 17.4   | 14.4   | 20.3            | 14.1           | 20.6                | 13.2                  | 20.1   | 24.3                                  | 11.8    | 20:6    | 23.1              | 14.0                        | 18.8 | 12.5     | 19.1                   | 14.2                  |
| 70-80              | 18.5   | 14.7      | 19.0    | 11.4  | 16.9   | 14.0   | 19.4            | 13.8           | 19.8                | 13.4                  | 19.3   | 21.3                                  | 11.8    | 19.2    | 22.4              | 14.2                        | 17.0 | 14.8     | 16.6                   | 13.5                  |
| 90-100             | 18.0   | 15.1      | 19.2    | 12.1  | 15.4   | 13.7   | 18.9            | 13.6           | 21.0                | 13.1 <sup>°</sup>     | 13.9   | 20.0                                  | 12.2    | 20.8    | 21.3              | 14.6                        | 16.8 | 16.8     | 16.4                   | 13.6                  |
| 130-140            | 15.1   | 15.5      | 20.0    | 13.0  | 12.3   | 13.3   | 18.6            | 13.5           | 21.8                | 13.4                  | 13.8   | 16.4                                  | 12.0    | 16.3    | 21.0              | 13.9                        | 15.6 | 16.9     | 16.4                   | 13.9                  |
| 160-170            | 13.4   | 15.0      | 19.3    | 12.4  | 12.9   | 13.2   | 18.2            | 13.8           | 20.8                | 13.6                  | 14.2   | 14.9                                  | 12.7    | 16.1    | 20.0              |                             | 15.9 | -        | 16.2                   | -                     |
| 190-200            | 14.8   | 14.8      | 18.3    | 12.3  | 14.1   | 13.5   | 17.8            | 13.2           | 20.0                | 13.8                  | 14.5   | 14.0                                  | 12.1    | 16.4    | 20.0              | 14.5                        | 16.0 | 16.4     | 16.0                   | 160 <b>1</b> 0        |
| 220-230            | 14.7   | 14.6      | 18.3    | •     | 14.8   | 13.6   | 17.8            | 13.0           | 20.0                | 동안<br>GAN NGAR        | 13.8   | 12.7                                  | 12.1    | 17.0    | 19.8              | al<br>Calget <b>T</b> a cal | 15.7 |          | 16.5                   | 5 ( <b>.</b>          |
| 250-260            | 14.3   | 14.2      | 17.2    | 11.5  | 14.5   | 13.7   | 17.0            | 13.5           | 19.2                | 13.8                  | 14.0   | 13.6                                  | 11.9    | 17.0    | 19.6              | 13.8                        | 16.5 | 16.1     | 16.1                   | 14.4                  |
| 280-290            | 13.0   | 10.8      | 15.8    | 11.8  | 14.6   | 13.5   | 16.9            | 13.2           | 19.8                | 13.5                  | 13.6   | 13.4                                  | 12.1    | 17.1    | 18.9              | -                           | 15.7 | 15.0     | 16.1                   | ettebed of the        |
| 310-320            | 13.8   | 11.0      | 16.2    | 11.0  | 15.1   | 13.5   | 16.8            | 13.0           | 19.5                | 13.6                  | 14.0   | 13.6                                  | 11.9    | 16.3    | 18.9              | 13.8                        | 15.3 | -        | 17.5                   |                       |
| 340-350            | 13.8   | 11.5      | 16.0    | 10.7  | 14.8   | 13.0   | 16.7            | 12.6           | 18.8                |                       | 13.6   | 13.9                                  | 11.7    | 16.5    | 19.0              | 13.0                        | 15.3 | 15.8     | 16.8                   | 13.9                  |
| 370-380            | 13.6   | 12.0      | 16.0    | 11.3  | 14.7   | 13.1   | 16.9            | 12.4           | 18.5                | 13.4                  | 13.8   | 14.0                                  | -       | 16.8    | 19.3              | -                           | 14.7 | 15.8     | 18.0                   | 14.0                  |
| 400-410            | 13.4   | 12.1      | 16.7    | 11.1  | 15.5   | 12.9   | 16.8            | 12.7           | 18.5                | 031                   | 14.4   | 14.2                                  |         | 17.0    | 19.4              |                             | 13.8 | -        | 18.5                   |                       |
| 430-440            | 13.0   | 12.0      | 16.8    | 12.1  | 14.6   | 13.1   | 16.9            | 13.0           | 19.0                | 13.6                  | 14.7   | 15.0                                  | 15.8    | 17.0    | 18.4              | 14.8                        | 13.6 | 14.1     | 18.1                   |                       |
| 460-470            | 13.1   | 12.4      | 16.5    |       | 15.3   | 13.6   | 16.9            | 13.1           | 19.8                |                       | 14.4   | 15.0                                  |         | 17.0    | 18.6              | -                           | 15.0 | -        | 17.7                   |                       |
| 490-500            | 13.4   | 12.7      | 16.8    | 11.5  | 15.5   | 13.8   | 17.0            | 14.2           | 20.0                | 14.8                  | 14.7   | 14.9                                  | 15.9    | 16.9    | 18.9              | 15.4                        | 16.3 | 15.0     | 18.2                   | 15.3                  |

1 – Actual moisture content.

2 – Moisture retention at the wilting point, which was determined by maximum hygroscopicity with coefficient of 1.34.

studied is confirmed by data of water distribution in 5-m depth at different plots, which was determined only once in April-May from 5 points on relatively virgin plot of Askania steppe on Southern chernozem, from 1 point on absolutely virgin plot of Southern chernozem in Krasnogvardeisk district of Crimea region, from 10 points of the whole perimeter of absolutely virgin part of Askania Nova on Dark-chestnut soils, from 6 points of virgin pastures of Solonetzic chestnut soil of Novotroitsk district of Kherson region. Averaged data on water distribution are presented in Table 4.7. In all the virgin plots water contents below 150-200 cm is close to those at the wilting point or a little higher.

The outlined analysis yields the conclusion: South and Dry Steppe zones were dominated by non-percolative water regime before their cultivation by human.

#### 4.6. Moisture regime of cultivated non-irrigated soils

Data on the moisture balance in the cultivated land is summarized in Table 4.8. Assimilation of precipitation by soil in the cold period on the non-irrigated studied plot was in average 72 (18-140) %; in the absolute value it is 113 (24-208) mm. The least proportion of water against precipitation was accumulated under non-favorable climate conditions in 1968-1969 (67 mm / 132 mm) and 1969-1970 (100 mm / 248 mm), as already explained in the previous section for the virgin land. The water accumulation was also low in 1970-1971 (24 mm / 132 mm) and 1972-1973 (79 mm / 140 mm) because of high water contents in the surface layers of soil in the preceding autumn period. On the contrary, higher amounts of water was assimilated in 1966-1967 (170 mm / 180 mm), 1967-1968 (208 mm / 181 mm) and 1971-1972 (144 mm / 103 mm) under the conditions of the low initial soil moisture content that was close to the wilting point, or in 1973-1974 (115 mm / 125 mm) due to warm weather condition in autumn-winter period.

Initial content of water in soils influences assimilation of precipitation in the cold period because when moisture is at near the permanent wilting point, the soil is the most porous and is very cracked. Therefore, water penetrates to lower horizons relatively easily. On the contrary, when moisture is at near the temporary wilting point, water penetration is highly obstructed (Rode, 1959). Such a drop in assimilation of precipitation under high soil moisture conditions was also obtained by Protserov (1948a, b).

The depth of water penetration on the cultivated land at the beginning of the warm period widely fluctuated - 40-500 cm or more. It should be noted that downward movement of water is continuing after appearance of positive temperatures. The period of percolation is determined by type of crops, but anyway it is longer than on the virgin land. Under cropping of winter and early spring cereals this period continues till the middle or end of May, while under corn and fallow - even till August - depending on climate conditions (1969 and 1973; see Figs. 4.7 and 4.8). Therefore, the depth of water percolation fluctuated in wide range of 30-200 cm comparing with early-spring term.

Water movement in the cold period under the influence of thermo-gradients on the cultivated land was found only in 1972, when soil freezing reached 120 cm and water percolation - 40 cm. Apparently, it took place in the other years as well, but was leveled by deep percolation of precipitation water.

Moisture consumption on the cultivated land depends on the type of crops and climatic conditions during vegetation period. The highest amount of moisture is consumed by winter cereals and sudan grass, less by spring cereals and corn (Table 4.8). Yet, cultivated crops consume less water than natural plants. In some years part of water accumulated during the cold period was left non-used, especially in deep layers that leads to positive water balance on the cultivated lands in many years. So, yearly water balance in 0-500 cm by the end of October was in 1968 - 100 mm, 1970 - 26 mm, 1972 - 58 mm, 1973 - 157 mm. High positive balance in 1968 is due to the fact that in spring much water was accumulated along the whole profile, while consumption of water by spring barley was not much due to its biological properties; in 1973 the field was under bare fallow and the year was humid with 523 mm precipitation, where 383 mm fell for vegetation period.

Under cultivation upper zone of drying till 12-13 % level was limited to 30-40 cm depth and only in droughty years it reached 110-140 cm. At the depth 100-200 cm moisture changes during the crop vegetation varied mainly within 2-4 %, and deeper -1-2%. It is necessary to underline that in droughty years (1971 and 1972) moisture that was accumulated deeper than maximum moisture circulation layer (100-150 cm) was consumed by crops. In 1971 24 mm of moisture was accumulated, but winter wheat used 241 mm. Sudan grass planted after winter wheat further out dried the loess depth.

After the harvest at July (August) until October, 20-78 mm of moisture was lost from the soil due to physical evaporation. Especially large losses were observed in years when the soil had much residual moisture. Therefore, agro-

| Year     | Precipitation throughout | Precipitation<br>during | Mo<br>differ<br>No | isture acc<br>ent layers<br>vember-N | umulations<br>of soil of<br>March (n | on at<br>luring<br>1m) | Precipitation<br>for crop | Mois<br>differei | ture cons<br>nt layers<br>of harve | sumption<br>of soil at<br>est (mm) | from<br>the day | Precipitation<br>during April- | Mois<br>differ<br>A   | ture con<br>ent layer<br>April-Oct | sumption<br>s of soil (<br>ober (mn | from<br>during<br>n) | Yearly      | water ba<br>of Octol | ılance by<br>ber (mm) | the end<br>) |
|----------|--------------------------|-------------------------|--------------------|--------------------------------------|--------------------------------------|------------------------|---------------------------|------------------|------------------------------------|------------------------------------|-----------------|--------------------------------|---|------------------------------------|-------------------------------------|----------------------|-------------|----------------------|-----------------------|--------------|
|          | one year (mm)            | March (mm)              | 0-200<br>cm        | 200-<br>400 cm                       | 400-<br>500 cm                       | 0-500<br>cm            | period (mm)               | 0-200<br>cm      | 200-<br>400 cm                     | 400-<br>500 cm                     | 0-500<br>cm     | October (mm)                   | 0-200<br>cm   | 200-<br>400 cm                     | 400-<br>500 cm                      | 0-500<br>cm          | 0-200<br>cm | 200-<br>400 cm       | 400-<br>500 cm        | 0-500<br>cm  |
| 1999-19  |                          | ninger ander<br>Sector  |                    |                                      |                                      |                        | Ascania stu               | dy site. S       | Solonetzi                          | c dark cl                          | nestnut s       | oil                            | ing and the second s |                                    |                                     | MARINA<br>MARINA     |             |                      | Green yn              | an Sile      |
| 1967     | 385                      | 187                     | Winte<br>150       | er barley<br>20                      | 0                                    | 170                    | 158                       | Winter<br>144    | barley**<br>18                     | *<br>0                             | 162             | 198                            | 150   | 30                                 | 0                                   | 180                  | 0           | -10                  | 0                     | -10          |
| 1968     | 416                      | 181                     | Plowed<br>145      | in autum<br>42                       | n<br>21                              | 208                    | 66                        | Spring<br>120    | ; barley*<br>0                     | 0                                  | 120             | 235                            | 102   | 6                                  | 0                                   | 108                  | 43          | 36                   | 21                    | 100          |
| 1969     | 390                      | 132                     | Plowed<br>67       | in autumi<br>0                       | n<br>O                               | 67                     | Co<br>212                 | rn for gro<br>62 | een forag<br>17                    | ge***<br>11                        | 34              | 258                            | 100   | 9                                  | 3                                   | 112                  | -33         | -9                   | -3                    | -45          |
| 1970     | 534                      | 248                     | Plowed<br>118      | in autumi<br>-8                      | n<br>-10                             | 100                    | Co<br>228                 | rn for gr<br>94  | een forag<br>15                    | ge***<br>8                         | 71              | 286                            | 103   | 20                                 | 7                                   | 76                   | 15          | 14                   | -3                    | 26           |
| 1971     | 267                      | 132                     | Winte<br>44        | er wheat                             | 0                                    | 24                     | 103                       | Winter 210       | wheat**<br>21                      | * 10                               | 241             | 135                            | 177   | 27                                 | 8                                   | 212                  | -133        | -47                  | -8                    | -188         |
| 1972     | 328                      | 103                     | Plowed             | in autumi<br>25                      | n<br>14                              | 144                    | 125                       | Sudan            | grass***<br>33                     | 23                                 | 158             | 225                            | 13  | 53                                 | 20                                  | 86                   | 92          | -28                  | -6                    | 58           |
| 1973     | 523                      | 140                     | Plowed             | in autumi                            | n<br>0                               | 79                     | 389                       | Bare             | fallow                             | 18                                 | 104             | 389                            | 27  | 37                                 | 14                                  | 78                   | 98          | 45                   | 14                    | 157          |
| 1974     | 336                      | 125                     | Vinte<br>44        | er wheat                             | 23                                   | 115                    | 150                       | Winter           | wheat**                            | 0                                  | 177             | 211                            |   | 40                                 | 0                                   | 187                  | -98         | 8                    | 23                    | -67          |
| Average  | 397                      | 156                     | <br>93             | 14                                   | 6                                    | 113                    | 179                       | 107              |                                    | 0<br>0                             | 108             | 241                            | 95  | 12                                 | 1                                   | 108                  | -2          | °<br>2               | 5                     | 5            |
| Water ba | lance for 8 years        | of the study            |                    |                                      |                                      |                        |                           |                  |                                    |                                    |                 |                                |   |                                    |                                     |                      | -16         | 9                    | 39                    | 31           |

Chapter 4 Dynamics of SOM in Askania steppe, southern Ukraine

45





46



Figure 4.8. Chronoisoplets of moisture content in the Dark chestnut soil on cultivated land.

technical measures must be directed toward preservation and accumulation of soil moisture in the post-harvest period.

A unique feature of moisture regime on the cultivated land is deep penetration of moisture from precipitation.

As a consequence, moisture at the depth of loess materials in the cultivated land is between the level of field moisture-holding capacity and the temporary wilting point; and Vysotski-Rode's "dead" horizon is absent. The last phenomenon is assumed to be typical for whole the Southern and Dry Steppe regions. High moisture of loess makes premises for sporadically deep (below 500 cm) moistening of soil depth in the cold period.

Therefore, involvement of virgin soils of southern Ukraine into cultivation under non-irrigated conditions



Figure 4.9. Changes  $(\pm)$  in the contents of salts (in %) and representative ions (in cmolc kg<sup>-1</sup>) in the profile of Dark chestnut soil under natural vegetation upon seasons of the year of 1967-1974 (previous term of determination was accepted as a conditional zero).

| Donth (cm) | Southern c | hernozem | Dark che | stnut soil | Solonetzic dar | k chestnut soil |
|------------|------------|----------|----------|------------|----------------|-----------------|
|            | Cl         | Na       | Cl       | Na         | <u>Cl</u>      | Na              |
| 0-100      | 200        | 168      | . 232    | 142        | 2122           | 454             |
|            | 130-500    | 130-250  | 110-400  | 110-170    | 140-8800       | 130-1450        |
| 100-200    | 765        | 170      | 655      | 168        | 2210           | 227             |
|            | 500-20000  | 150-220  | 280-920  | 140-210    | 250-4230       | 170-350         |
| 200-300    | 352        | 124      | 254      | 140        | 180            | 165             |
|            | 160-600    | 110-150  | 120-360  | 110-180    | 170-240        | 150-170         |
| 300-400    | 215        | 103      | 207      | 139        | not determined | not determined  |
|            | 130-300    | 100-106  | 180-220  | 130-150    |                |                 |
|            | 131        | 159      | 181      | 103        | _**_           | _"_ ·           |
|            | 120-170    | 140-170  | 160-200  | 100-110    |                |                 |
| 400-500    | 282        | 128      | 156      | 155        | <u>_"-</u>     | _"_             |
|            | 250-300    | 110-200  | 150-160  | 140-160    |                |                 |
|            | 127        |          | 256      | 103        | <u>_"-</u>     | _**_            |
|            | 110-200    |          | 240-260  | 100-110    |                |                 |

Table 4.9. Changes of the Cl and Na contents in cultivated lands relative to virgin lands (in %; upper, average; lower, range).

resulted in the change of water regime from non-percolative to sporadically percolative.

#### 4.7. Evolution of salt regime in agro-ecosystem

Salt regime was studied by determining composition of water extract in 4 terms, 4 replications. In this report, data on two terms are presented: spring and autumn, which representatively give description on salt migration.

Under the virgin vegetation salt migration occurs in relatively small soil volume that is determined by depth of moisture circulation. For 8 years of the study. The dynamics of salts covered 40-230 cm layers of the soil (Fig. 4.9). For cold period, salts from upper part of soil profile leach out, while in lower horizons of spring moistening they accumulate. For spring-summer period salts are drawn up with water flow to the surface that is well shown in the figures. Average yearly losses of salts, i.e. 0.0062%, for the studied period from 0-50 cm layer in fact were equal to the income in vegetation period (0.0068%).

In Fig. 4.9 the dynamics of particular ions by seasons on the virgin land reflect the pattern of migration of whole salts.

On the cultivated land under non-irrigated conditions geochemical cycle of salts covers the whole studied (5 m) depth of soil (Fig. 4.10). But, comparing with the virgin land, on upper parts of cultivated land leaching of salts is predominant. So, average yearly losses of salts from onemeter depth of the Dark chestnut soil in Askania site during the 8 years' experiment were 0.0076 %, while income during spring-summer period was only 0.0033 %.

Thus, under virgin vegetation seasonal reversible cycle of water-soluble salts is established that occurs within small



Figure 4.10. Changes ( $\pm$ ) of salt contents (in %) in the profile of Dark chestnut soil under cultivation in non-irrigated conditions upon seasons of the year of 1967-1972 (previous term of determination was accepted as a conditional zero).

 Table 4.10. Changes of the Cl and Na contents in the cultivated lands after 17-27 years (in %; upper, average; lower, range).

| Donth (am)   | Southern of | chernozem | Dark che | stnut soil | Solonetzic dar | k chestnut soi |
|--------------|-------------|-----------|----------|------------|----------------|----------------|
| Depui (ciii) | Cl          | Na        | Cl       | Na         | Cl             | Na             |
| 0-100        | 190         | 330       | 138      | 142        | 110            | 408            |
|              | 130-400     | 200-410   | 110-210  | 120-280    | 105-170        | 270-810        |
| 100-200      | 856         | 276       | 193      | 175        | 504            | 430            |
|              | 450-1040    | 260-300   | 140-300  | 120-270    | 170-1310       | 290-620        |
| 200-300      | 606         | 132       | 230      | 170        | 538            | 230            |
|              | 470-940     | 120-160   | 120-330  | 110-215    | 140-1610       | 180-390        |
| 300-400      | 166         | 112       | 245      | 222        | 301            | 154            |
|              | 150-170     | 110-120   | 110-370  | 120-312    | 120-600        | 140-170        |
| 400-500      | 161         | 107       | 612      | 160        | 130            | 106            |
|              | 150-165     | 105-115   | 110-1014 | 110-210    | 110-240        | 100-140        |
|              |             |           | 122      | 110        |                |                |
|              |             |           | 110-130  | 106-120    |                |                |

soil volumes, which is determined by the moisture regime there. On the cultivated land whole the five-meter depth of soil is involved into the cycling of salts (deeper was not studied) with predominance of their leaching. This determined decrease of water-soluble salts on the cultivated land in the 0-300 (500) cm layer.

For confirmation of the last conclusion, an associated research on the contents of water-soluble salts was done in paired virgin and cultivated soils. Research was conducted on 3 points of Southern chernozems, 6 points of Dark chestnut soils and 3 points of Chestnut soils, all of which involved both virgin and cultivated lands. In every point three auger holes were set for soil collection. The soils from all the holes were analyzed for the contents of water-soluble salts. Differences in the contents of Na and Cl in the soils deeper than 50 (70) cm between the studied variants are valid at confidence level of 0.99 in most cases, and rarely at 0.95.

There is a clear difference in the contents of Na and Cl in five-meter depth between the virgin and cultivated soils (Table 4.9). On the cultivated land in 0-300 cm soil layer decrease of Na and Cl was observed; where in 0-100 cm layer Cl was decreased in average by 2.1-25.0, and Na by 1.4-6.6 times; 100-200 cm - by 1.7-14.6 and by 1.2 - 2.6 times; and in 200-300 cm - by 1.2-3.4 and by 1.2-1.4 times, respectively. Deeper, content of these ions decreased in some places and increased in the other. In the last case, moisture did not always penetrate into deeper of the studied layer.

Contents of Na and Cl on the cultivated land decreased after 17-27 years of repeated cultivation (Table 4.10).

Presented data about changes of water-soluble salts in the cultivated land relative to the virgin land confirms the data on evolution of water regime during the cultivation.

Consequence of the changes of salt content in the cultivated lands, especially Na, is a decrease of amount of absorbed Na (Table 4.11).

# 4.8. Productivity of plant biomass of virgin and cropped ecosystems

Plant biomass was measured according to the method of Remezov (1960) and Remezov et al (1963). Aboveground biomass was determined on 1 m x 1 m plots in 5-7 replications. Biomass of cultivated crops was differentiated into stubble residues and harvested part, where harvested part was separated into main and side products.

Belowground biomass was measured by sampling monoliths of 0.25 and 0.36 m<sup>2</sup> in three replicates. They were sampled from every 20 cm till one-meter depth. The roots collected were washed on 0.2 mm Capron meshes for eliminating mineral soils. Possibility of losses of fine plant materials was carefully avoided. Then the roots were differentiated into live and dead parts. Only living plant biomass was counted after drying at 105°C and then absolute dry matter was calculated.

According to the research of Remezov (1960), estimation of biomass productivity of soils under different usage is available only on the basis of repeated measurements for many years. In the present study, therefore, determination of this parameter was done for 8 years (1967-1974) on the virgin and the cultivated non-irrigated lands.

According to literature for the last 25 years of research in Askania steppe, total above-ground biomass of plakor ecosystem is well correlated with the dynamics of precipitation. The correlation is linear and strong (R=0.75-0.86) with a high probability (P=0.999). However, correlation in dense-turf cereals is a little less (R=0.61-0.76), in *Festuca* valesiaca Gand is even less (R=0.41-0.67). At the same time biomass of feather grass does not correlate with precipitation (R=0.10-0.17). Productivity of *Koeliria cristata* significantly depends on precipitation (R=0.68-0.84), motley-grass is satisfactory at high probability (R=0.48-0.74). Dependence of productivity of sedge-wheatgrass association "saucers" is medium (R=0.52) (Vedenkov and Vedenkova, 1998).

 Table 4.11. Seasonal change in the contents of exchangeable cations (average for 1967-1974).

| Denth      |          | Contens | of exchang | eable cation | s in differen | t month (cm | iol <sub>c</sub> kg <sup>-1</sup> ) |     |
|------------|----------|---------|------------|--------------|---------------|-------------|-------------------------------------|-----|
| (cm)       | C        | Sa 👘    | N          | ſg           | No.           | Ja          | 0-09) <b>I</b>                      | X   |
| (,         | IV       | X       | IV         | X            | IV            | х           | IV                                  | X   |
| virgin     | 1992.000 |         |            |              |               |             |                                     |     |
| 0-30       | 20.0     | 20.7    | 6.8        | 7.4          | 0.3           | 0.4         | 1.3                                 | 1.2 |
| 30-40      | 21.8     | 22.1    | 8.2        | 8.9          | 0.4           | 0.5         | 0.9                                 | 0.8 |
| cultivated |          |         |            |              |               |             |                                     |     |
| 0-30       | 21.5     | 21.9    | 6.3        | 6.8          | 0.2           | 0.2         | 1.0                                 | 0.9 |
| 30-40      | 23.0     | 23.4    | 7.3        | 7.5          | 0.2           | 0.3         | 0.9                                 | 0.9 |

Determination of productivity of the aboveground biomass was done on associations of fescue and stipa in two replications, and of couch grass - sedge association "saucer" in one replication. Such approach represented the surface area corresponding to individual vegetation associations and their total productivity.

Productivity of the aboveground biomass was 2.81 Mg  $ha^{-1}$  in average where significant yearly variation was included (1.90-3.60 Mg  $ha^{-1}$ ) (Table 4.12), which was a result of fluctuation of moisture accumulation during the cold period in the soils and the amount of precipitation for April-July (Fig. 4.11). Correlation between the index and plant biomass stock is 0.80. Other authors also obtained similar results of total amount of biomass for Askania steppe (Bazilevich, 1962; Shalyt, 1950). The ratio between the belowground and the aboveground biomasses varied within 6.8-9.0.

Most of the root biomass is concentrated in the upper part of the profile. In 0-20 cm there is 57.2 (48.1-66.2) % of roots.

In steppe formations not all the biomass produced during vegetation period is annually incorporated into the energy/ elements-exchange cycles in soils. All the aboveground biomass, except for semi-shrubs, practically dies off. Root biomass, however, partially enters the cycle due to its longterm evolution. Today, there is no established methodology for counting yearly cycles of biological circulation of the belowground biomass. Yearly roots dying-off are assumed to be the amount of root-fall in total root biomass. According to literature, in the motley-fescue-stipa steppes yearly roots dying-off is 32-35% (Bystritskaya and Osychnyuk, 1975; Rodin and Bazilevich 1965).



**Figure 4.11.** Correlation between productivity of aboveground biomass of virgin vegetation and moisture accumulation in the soil during cold period plus precipitation in April-June.

| Type of biomass       | Year Side and |        |  |       |                          |                  |   |                 | h in the service of t |
|-----------------------|--|--------|--|-------|--------------------------|------------------|---|-----------------|--|
|                       | 1967   | 1968   | 1969                                     | 1970  | 1971                     | 1972             | 1973  | 1974            | Average  |
| virgin land           | La tradición de la comercia de   |        | an a |       | and and an and the state | an tanan sana sa | essa kata a i   |                 |  |
| Aboveground           | 2.88   | 2.01   | 3.20                                     | 3.43  | 2.04                     | 1.90             | 3.60  | 3.40            | 2.81   |
| Belowground           | 24.01  | 18.24  | 23.03                                    | 18.34 | 16.61                    | 15.40            | 25.00   | 22.30           | 20.36  |
| 0-10                  | 7.20   | 6.71   | 9.04                                     | 7.52  | 6.33                     | 6.24             | 9.60  | 8.50            | 7.61   |
| 10-20                 | 4.06   | 2.07   | 6.20                                     | 3.64  | 3.54                     | 3.58             | 4.40  | 3.00            | 3.81   |
| 20-40                 | 6.52   | 5.51   | 4.56                                     | 3.63  | 3.90                     | 2.49             | 6.36  | 6.00            | 4.83   |
| 40-60                 | 3.00   | 2.45   | 2.02                                     | 2.64  | 2.00                     | 2.06             | 2.70  | 2.43            | 2.40   |
| 60-80                 | 2.90   | 1.16   | 0.82                                     | 0.53  | 0.60                     | 0.35             | 1.30  | 1.40            | 1.34   |
| 80-100                | 1.33   | 0.63   | 0.41                                     | 0.34  | 0.24                     | 0.68             | 0.74  | , 0.70          | 0.72   |
| Non-irrigated cultiva | ted land   |        |  |       | ismoo tum                |                  |   | 112808585       |  |
| Crops                 | Winter   | Spring | Corn for green<br>forage                 |       | Winter<br>wheat          | Sudan<br>grass   | Bare<br>fallow  | Winter<br>wheat | Average  |
|                       | barley   | barley |  |       |                          |                  |   |                 |  |
| Aboveground           | 6.88   | 4.43   | 3.60                                     | 3.04  | 7.61                     | 1.56             | karsa bo  | 8.44            | 4.51   |
| Harvested             | 6.09   | 4.05   | 3.00                                     | 2.50  | 6.61                     | 0.83             |   | 7.34            | 3.80   |
| Stubble residue       | 0.79   | 0.88   | 0.60                                     | 0.54  | 1.00                     | 0.73             |   | 1.10            | 0.71   |
| Belowground           | 3.15   | 8.68   | 2.73                                     | 2.10  | 4.56                     | 2.40             |   | 3.80            | 3.43   |
| 0-20                  | 1.80   | 6.69   | 1.98                                     | 1.14  | 2.18                     | 1.55             | -   | 1.65            | 2.12   |
| 20-40                 | 0.67   | 1.10   | 0.39                                     | 0.44  | 1.06                     | 0.48             |   | 1.02            | 0.65   |
| 40-60                 | 0.38   | 0.55   | 0.14                                     | 0.34  | 0.68                     | 0.20             |   | 0.58            | 0.36   |
| 60-80                 | 0.20   | 0.22   | 0.16                                     | 0.15  | 0.40                     | 0.12             | 이 가지 가지 않는다.<br>이 아이 바람이 있는 것이 아이 바람이 있는 것이 아이 아이에 가지 않는다.<br>이 아이에 아이에 아이에 가지 않는다. 아이에 아이에 가지 않는다. 아이에 아이에 가지 않는다. 아이에 아이에 아이에 아이에 하는 것이 아이에 아이에 아이에 아이에 아이에 아이에 아이에 아이에 아이에 아 | 0.36            | 0.20   |
| 90,100                | 0.10   | 0.10   | 0.06                                     | 0.02  | 0.25                     | 0.05             |   | 0.10            | 0.10   |

Table 4.12. Plant biomass of the Dark chestnut soils under different land use (absolute dry mass, Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>).

Amount of the root biomass for the studied years varied in a wide range - 15.4-25.0 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>, implying that the rootfall in average makes about 20% ((((25.0-15.4)/2) / ((15.4+25.0)/2)). The later value would be, at the same time, a mean value of yearly roots production. In a humid year after droughty years, it reached sometimes even 39.4% of the root biomass.

At the present time most researchers consider the stock of total plant biomass as a value of biomass productivity of the natural ecosystem. As a consequence, the opinion about high productivity of natural ecosystem is accepted, and we get higher values in the virgin land than in the cultivated land. However, it is well known that belowground and partially aboveground parts of biomass in natural ecosystems have a perennial character. We can get the true value based on the annual growth. According to our research, annual growth of root biomass is 20%, while according to references it is 30% of total stock. Based on these data, average productivity of belowground biomass of natural ecosystem equals to 5.08 (4.07-6.10) Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>. Summed together with the aboveground productivity of the fescue-stipa steppe association is 7.89 (6.88-8.91) Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>.

As mentioned above, active decomposition of plant residues start with a certain time lag after their input and that leads to decrease of the residues. It is very important to know which part of biomass is incorporated annually into the energy-mass-exchange in soils. Energy of decomposition on virgin land was in average 34.6% (This value was obtained from the decomposition experiment of cellulose sheet, described later in the section 4.10). Hence, in the natural ecosystem about 3 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> is involved in the annual energy-mass-exchange.

Cultivated crops are different from natural plants in the ratio of aboveground and belowground parts. In most of the cultivated crops aboveground biomass predominates (Egorov and Dyuryagina, 1973; Levin, 1972; Stankov, 1972). This is a normal phenomena because root systems of annual cereals and leguminous is weakly developed, while high productivity of aboveground biomass is well developed by breading. Ratio of aboveground to belowground parts in cultivated crops depends on the yield; the higher yield the higher is the ratio. During the studied years ratio of aboveground to belowground to belowground to belowground to belowground to higher is the ratio. During the studied years ratio of aboveground to belowground to belowground to higher is the ratio. During the studied years ratio of aboveground to belowground to belowground to higher is the ratio. Juring the studied years ratio of aboveground to belowground to belowground to belowground biomass in spike cereal crops was 1:0.4-0.6, in corn - 1:0.3-0.8. Only for perennial grasses the ratio was higher than one; in sudan grass - 1:1.5 and in alfalfa - 1:1.5-1.9.

Our results on the productivity of biomass of some crops

comply well with results of other researchers (Danilevskii, 1967; Levin, 1972; Samtsevich, 1968; Tukalova and Zapsha, 1976; Shalyt, 1950; and others).

On non-irrigated cultivated field the amount of aboveground biomass is in average 1.6 times higher than that on the virgin land.

However, total amount of roots in agro-ecosystem is significantly lower: non-irrigated lands have 5.9 times, and irrigated -3.2 times less than in the virgin lands. But comparison should be done upon net growth that in natural ecosystem makes 20-30% of the total root biomass. Considering the latter, biomass productivity of the nonirrigated cultivated land will be less only by 1.2-1.8 times comparing with virgin land; and on irrigated land it is even higher by 1.1-1.6 times.

On the cultivated land, same as on the virgin land, main root biomass is concentrated in upper part of soil profile. In 0-20 cm layer it is 59.4 (43.4-77.0) %. This is well in agreement with data of other researchers.

Mean productivity of the non-irrigated field was 7.94 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>; on the virgin land - 7.89 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> as mentioned before (Table 4.12).

Important characteristics of the biological cycle in the agro-ecosystem are that a part of biomass is removed with harvest. On non-irrigated land in average 3.80 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> (47.8%) of biomass is taken away with harvest.

On the cultivated land organic matter is incorporated into soils as stubble and roots. It amounted 4.14 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> yr<sup>-1</sup> for 8 years of our research in average

Income of organic residues into soil depends on the type of crops. Perennial grasses leave the highest amount of residues and then cereals follows; among them winter crops leave more, and spring crops leave less; row crops leave the least residues. However, average amount of organic residues for crop rotations of different purpose under non-irrigated conditions of Chernozem zone is the same- 4.97 - 5.47 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> (Bisovetskii, 1966; Byaluii, et al., 1953; Sidorov, 1958) that evidences weakly developed zonality of organic residue input in agro-ecosystems.

In our research, based on the data on the productivity of plant biomass mentioned above and the biological activity analyzed in section 4.10, in average 2.91 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> of plant biomass (4.14 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> times 70.3%) participates in the annual energy-mass-exchange of the non-irrigated field.

At present numerous researchers established that the characteristics of exchange of nitrogen and mineral elements on cultivated land was significantly changed relative to virgin land. Biological cycle of elements under the fescuefeathergrass association in Askania Nova is characterized by the following order:  $SiO_2 > N > Ca > K > Mg > Al > Cl >$ P > Fe > Na (Bazilevich, 1962). Biogeochemical cycle of elements in other types of steppes is close to the given series (Egorov and Dyuryagina 1973; Rodin and Bazilevich, 1965).

Crop properties for involving of nitrogen and mineral elements into biological cycle are the following (Egorov and Dyuryagina, 1973; Levin, 1972; Tukalova and Zapsha, 1976; and others): Winter wheat,  $SiO_2 > N > K > Ca > P > Mg > Na > Fe > Al$ Spring barley,  $N > SiO_2 > K > Ca > P > Mg > Na > Al > Fe$ 

 $\begin{array}{ll} Corn, & N > K > Ca > SiO_2 > Mg > P > Na > Fe > Al \\ Peas, & N > Ca > K > SiO_2 > P > Mg > Al > Fe \\ Sunflower, & N > K > Ca > Mg > P > SiO_2 > Na > Fe > Al \\ Alfalfa, & N > Ca > K > Mg > P > Na > SiO_2 > Fe > Al \\ \end{array}$ 

Using the data on the contents of nitrogen and mineral elements (Bazilevich, 1962; Tukalova and Zapsha, 1976; Tomme, 1968), their quantity in biomass was calculated on the studied fields (Table 4.13).

The characteristics of nitrogen and mineral elements cycle on the virgin land are analogous to the abovementioned. Capacity of biological cycle on the virgin ecosystem is by 1.4 times lower than that on non-irrigated cultivated land.

According to data by Tyurin (1956), Kononova (1963), Levin (1972), etc., discriminative property of mineral exchange on cultivated land is the significant excess of nitrogen output and deficiency of macro- and microelements upon their return. In our research on the non-irrigated land

Lealing characteristics from

in average 56% of nitrogen and 30% of mineral elements are taken out. However, their amounts in the annual cycle of the cultivated field is not less than of the virgin land.

In virgin condition all the synthesized biomass of plant organic matter is incorporated into soils after dying and enriches upper soil horizons with humus, nitrogen and mineral elements. Cultivated land loses large parts of humus, nitrogen and mineral elements with harvest. By the opinion of many researchers, from the moment when virgin land is brought into cultivation annual irrevocable loss of large amounts of nitrogen and mineral elements with harvest results in discontinuing of their biological accumulation, and soil in the condition of no fertilizer addition is impoverished with elements that were accumulated during the virgin soil formation. "Impossible, is eternally to take out from the pocket and never return anything into it! Impossible, is really, to think that our chernozems possess inexhaustible stock of nutrients!" - V.V. Dokuchaev.

Need of plants for nitrogen is satisfied by the decomposition of nitrogen-containing organic matters in soil (plant residues and humus) and by atmospheric nitrogen that is fixed by microorganisms. According to Tyurin's opinion (1956) after cultivation of virgin soil, balance of bound nitrogen is significantly changed: instead of accumulation decrease of nitrogen together with decrease of humus happens because nitrogen output is larger than the input. According to Tyurin's calculation every kilogram of nitrogen lost by soil turn in decrease of 0.02 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> of humus. In our study of non-irrigated cultivated land annual output of nitrogen averaged 69 kg. Difference in humus content between virgin

| п ку па         | J•            |                  |          |          |          |           |        |     | and an area | ana ani marite | na kon anana ana ana |
|-----------------|---------------|------------------|----------|----------|----------|-----------|--------|-----|-------------|----------------|----------------------|
| Index of cycle* | N             | SiO <sub>2</sub> | Р        | Ca       | Mg       | Fe        | Al     | K   | Na          | S              | Sum                  |
| Y LABARAS AND   | ant and and a |                  | AN CÂN Y |          | Virgin   | land      |        |     |             |                | Lidy, AM PLOU        |
| 1               | 290           | 368              | 18       | 151      | 35       | 23        | 31     | 101 | 5           | 15             | 1037                 |
| 2               | 99            | 135              | 8        | 41       | 11       | 6         | 10     | 49  | 1           | 6              | 366                  |
| 4               | 34            | 47               | 3        | 14       | 4        | 2         | 4      | 17  | 1           | 2              | 128                  |
|                 |               |                  | 1        | Non-irri | gated ci | iltivated | d land |     |             |                |                      |
| 2               | 124           | 178              | 15       | 27       | 19       | 21        | 7      | 99  | 15          | 24             | 529                  |
| 3               | 69            | 32               | 9        | 11       | 8        | 1         | 1      | 48  | 4           | 9              | 192                  |
| 4               | 55            | 146              | 6        | 16       | 11       | 20        | 6      | 51  | 12          | 15             | 338                  |
| 5               | 41            | 102              | 5        | 11       | 8        | 14        | 4      | 36  | 8           | 11             | 240                  |

**Table 4.13.** Biological cycle of nitrogen and mineral elements in different ecosystems on Dark chestnut soils (average for 1967-1974 at Askania site; in kg ha<sup>-1</sup>).

\*1, total plant biomass; 2, net primary production of plants; 3, amounts that are taken away as crop yield; 4, amounts that are incorporated into soils; 5, amounts that contribute annual exchange in the soil-ecosystems.
and cultivated land is 16.26 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>. This amount of humus, based on Tyurin's calculation, can compensate harvested nitrogen only for 12 years. But the soil is actually used in agriculture for more than 100 years. Therefore, it is difficult to agree with Tyurin that nitrogen used by cultivated crops mainly derived from humus. The fact that nitrogen output is occurring with harvest does not mean inevitable large losses of nitrogen and humus after cultivation of virgin land (Levin, 1972). This is confirmed by results on dynamics of humus and nitrogen in long-term experiments. Under the 50-100years cereal monoculture without fertilization, contents of humus and nitrogen in soils were not decreased, in some cases even increased (Egorov, 1962; Lyubarskaya, 1960; Montulyak, 1960; and others).

There are another sources that also compensate the nitrogen output by agricultural crops: it is first of all plant residues that are decomposed more easily and quickly than humus. Therefore, when large amount of crop residues are left, following crops will consume first of all nitrogen from crop residues of the preceding crops but not from humus.

Apart from the fact that crop residues contain a lot of nitrogen and mineral elements, they contribute to evolution of microbiological processes as well as mobilization of nutrients into plant available forms, including fixation of atmospheric nitrogen. The latter phenomenon in the cultivated soil is observed more intensively than in virgin land (Karnaukhov, 1957; Mishustin and Teplyakova, 1957; Mishustin et al., 1968; Sidorenko, 1966; and others).

At present there are about 200 species of nonleguminous crops that are able to assimilate atmospheric nitrogen in symbiosis with the microorganisms (Mishustin et al., 1968). Therefore, accumulation of nitrogen in soils through fixation of atmospheric nitrogen by microorganisms has important value in balance of biological cycle.

Plants get mineral nutrients not only from soils. Their biological cycle on virgin land has closed cyclic nature. On cultivated land balance of mineral nutrients is negative because part of them is taken out with harvest. Herewith, capacity of biological cycle of mineral elements does not decrease (Table 4.13).

Thus, from the aspect of bio-productivity, the cultivated soils under non-irrigated conditions are close to their virgin analogues. Practically the same amount of biomass takes part in the annual energy-mass-exchange in the virgin and the cultivated non-irrigated land. Capacity of cycles of nitrogenand mineral-elements on the cultivated land is higher than on the virgin land. However, due to output with harvest, a large part of biomass and stock of energy and elements that have been accumulated in organic and mineral components of soils during virgin soil formation period will be decreasing on cultivated land without addition of organic and mineral fertilizers.

Rel investigation of the Real Market State and States and

# 4.9. Peculiarities of microbiological processes in the study zone

From north to south together with the increase of intensive sunshine and heat, energy of summary expression of biological processes increases (Williams, 1939). Therefore, soils of south and dry-steppe zones are characterized by high biosynthesis and high activity of microbiological processes (Egorova, 1966; Mikhnovskaya, 1981; Mishustin, 1954; Petrenko and Glushenko, 1965; Torzhevskii, 1968; and others).

Samtsevich (1955; 1966) noted that the activity of microorganisms in southern soils continues round the year; in winter months at the condition of enough moisture and temperature higher than 0°C their activity does not decrease completely. Maximum evolution of microbiological processes is observed at the first half of vegetation period, with a subsequent decrease in summer when soil is dry. In southern Ukraine, amount of microorganisms in the second half of summer is 2 to 3 times less than in spring and early summer period (Torzhevskii, 1972). In spite of decrease of microbial population in summer, biochemical processes in soils do not weaken. Different kinds of enzymes that are released during cell activity continues to run the processes (Mishustin, 1949).

Soils of the Southern and Dry steppe zones are characterized by high energy of transforming processes: ammonification, nitrification, nitrogen fixation, decomposition of cellulose etc (Mamchenko, 1970a; Mishustin and Teplyakova, 1957; Petrenko and Glushenko 1965; Sidorenko, 1966; and others).

It was determined that cultivated soils are characterized by greater amount of microorganism spores and by different ratio of specified groups of microorganisms (Mamchenko, 1970b; Mishustin and Teplyakova, 1957; Petrenko and Glushenko 1965; Torzhevskii, 1968; and others). In the soil processes role of bacteria and bacillus is increased, while role of actinomycetes and fungi is decreased.

Specific weight of fungi population in the studied soils is not significant; on the virgin lands is 0.3-1.2%, on the cultivated - 0.3-0.4%. But their role in elemental cycle in soil is large, especially in decomposition of cellulose and plant residues (Vaksman, 1934). Teplyakova (1952) notes that cellulose-forming activity of fungi in chestnut soils of Kazakhstan is much greater than cellulose-destroying activity of bacteria. Considering the small sizes of bacterial cell comparing with fungi spore or vegetating fungi, the total weight of fungi often outnumbers weight of bacteria (Vysotski, 1962).

Many researchers consider ratios of the different microorganisms that use organic and mineral nitrogen as an index of intensity of mineralization processes. In the cultivated lands of our research it is significantly higher than under the virgin vegetation (Mamchenko, 1970b; Mikhnovskaya, 1981; Torzhevskii, 1968).

Amount of microorganisms in the soils of the southern Dry steppe zone is decreasing down the profile (Egorova, 1966; Torzhevskii, 1968; Chulakov, 1961). Herewith relative amount of bacteria and mildew fungi is decreasing with depth, while the relative amount of actinomycetes is increasing. Such distribution is typical both for the virgin and the cultivated lands. Many scientists explain decrease of microbial

(%) 100-90 80 70 60 50 40 30 20 10 0. ٧I VII VIII IX X IV 1972 1973 197Yrr 1967 1968 1969 1970 1971 (Year)

**Figure 4.12.** Mean data of cellulose decomposition in Dark chestnut soil along months for the studied years (1967-1974) (1, 2) and for the whole warm period of the years (3, 4) on the virgin land (1, 3) and the cultivated non-irrigated land (2, 4).

population with depth in a soil profile by decrease of organic matter as an energetic source.

In conclusion of the brief literature review it is necessary to point out, that in soils of south Ukraine of different ecological conditions microflora is identical, that evidences the unitypicity of biological processes in them. Increase of the total amount of microorganisms and separate physiological groups is an indicator of the change of their activity and intensity.

#### 4.10. Biological activity

Biological activity was studied during the warm period of year under the virgin and the cultivated vegetation with no irrigation, by the method of Vostrov and Petrova (1961). On every plot a trench was dug; walls were carefully leveled and 21 stripes of cellulose textile of 10 x 80 cm were placed on them. The textile was liberated from starch and every stripe had an exact weight. Textile stripes were covered by a film to prevent contact with backfilling soil. At the end of every month ( $\pm$  3-5 days) three stripes of textile were taken out from soil, dried and weighed by an analytical balance. Decrease of weight indicated the energy of cellulose decomposition. Every following year walls of trench were freshened and the experiment was repeated.

Averaged data of biological activity for the individual months or whole the period of warm months in a year are shown in Fig. 4.12 for 1967-1974.

The smaller activity of decomposition was observed in the Dark chestnut virgin soil than in the cultivated soil. In the virgin soil, amount of decomposed cellulose during whole the warm period in a year was 34.6% in average, with fluctuations between 6.4-71.2%. The highest biological activity was observed in the humid year (1973 - 523 mm), the least in dry years (1971 and 1972 - 267 and 328 mm, respectively).

Low biological activity under virgin ecosystem is also typical for another steppe regions. According Egorov and Dyuryagin (1972), in West Siberia biological activity never exceeded 30%, while on cultivated land in average 60% of cellulose was decomposed.

During the warm period of a year, the highest amount of cellulose was decomposed during May-June when soil had relatively favorable conditions of water and temperature regimes. In July, and sometimes in August, decomposition of the cellulose was undertaken mainly ephemerally, when precipitation occurred and their moisture penetrated into 10-20 cm layer or deeper of soils. From August to October textile was practically not decomposed. In this period soil moisture content in the virgin land was close to the wilting point level.

Thus, biological activity on the Dark chestnut soils on the virgin land is mainly determined by their water regime. This is because water regime is a main factor in evolution of microbial systems under virgin vegetation (Torzhevskii, 1968; Torzhevskii, 1972).

In the Dark chestnut soils of non-irrigated cultivated land the biological activity is significantly higher than in the virgin land (Fig. 4.13). Average amount of annually-decomposed cellulose is 70.3%, with fluctuations -14.3-130.2%. The least activity was observed in dry and the highest in humid years. Herewith, in a humid year (1973) the experimental field was under bare fallow. Due to favorable water and temperature regimes on fallow the textile was practically completely decomposed till 50 cm by the end of July. Therefore, new textile was set in the trench.

Today the fact of such intensive decomposition of organic residues in cultivated soil is well established. Depending on hydrothermal conditions of soil and quality of plant biomass, their decomposition varies within 50-87% (Egorov and Dyuryagina, 1972; Kononova, 1951; Kulakov, 1960; Sultanov, 1972; and others).

Cultivated crops did not exert a direct influence on biological activity. Their effect was exerted through water regime. Under favorable conditions, energy of cellulose decomposition was the same both under cereals and row crops. Based on these results we can conclude that the biological activity in the soils of studied region is determined by the water regime. Under virgin vegetation due to fast water consumption by evapotranspiration, cellulose decomposition is short-termed, and occurs in spring and early summer time; the total activity of decomposition is not so high. In the soils of non-irrigated cultivated lands, the biological activity and decomposition rate increased by 2 times due to the improved water regime.

## 4.11. Carbon-dioxide regime in soil gas phase and its emission

Concentration of  $CO_2$  in the soil air was determined by the method of Makarov (1959). On the experimental plot copper tubes of 3-5 mm in diameter with open ends were set in 4 replications at depths of 10-20, 25-35, 40-50, 70-80 and 150-160 cm. Samples of soil air were taken monthly from early April till late October in three replicates from every point between 8 a.m. and 1 p.m. Convergence of parallel determinations both from one tube and between tubes was high, deviation did not exceed 0.5-6.5%. Carbon dioxide was then absorbed by 0.01 N Ba(OH)<sub>2</sub>, followed by the titration with 0.01N HCl solution with the presence of phenolphthalein.

The  $CO_2$  emission, or soil respiration, was measured by enrichment and absorption method. Brass box 50 x 50 x 30 cm without bottom with attached copper tube for sampling of air was inserted into the soil surface clean from vegetation.

cultivated soil



Month Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Jun Jul Aug Sep Oct Nov Figure 4.13. Fragment of dynamic of cellulose decomposition on the virgin and the fallowed land (1967).



Soils around the box were compacted to prevent from gas exchange with external air. Exposition time was set for 30 min. Then, through the copper tube air probe was sucked out using Makarov equipment where  $0.01N \text{ Ba}(\text{OH})_2$  solution was placed; then the solution was titrated with 0.01N HClsolution. Before determination of soil respiration initial concentration of CO<sub>2</sub> in the box was measured.

Intensity of  $CO_2$  emission (mg m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>) from soil was calculated according to following equation:

 $D = ((a-b) \cdot 0.22 \cdot V_1 \cdot 60) / (V_2 \cdot S \cdot t)$ 

where a is the volume of 0.01N HCl solution consumed for the titration of BaCO<sub>3</sub> after absorption of CO<sub>2</sub> at the beginning of determination (mL); b is also the volume of 0.01N HCl solution spent for the titration of BaCO<sub>3</sub> after absorption of CO<sub>2</sub> at the end of determination (mL); V<sub>1</sub> is the volume of air in the box (L); 0.22 is the volume of CO<sub>2</sub> equivalent to 1 mL of 0.01N HCl (mL); V<sub>2</sub> is the volume of air taken for determination of  $CO_2$  (L); S is the area of soil surface under the box (m<sup>2</sup>); and t is exposition time (min).

"Soil air, together with soil solution, forms integral and composite part of soil that participates and even determines the whole life of soil" (Doyarenko, 1926). Presently it is established that soil air composition is characterized by the intensity and direction of biochemical processes in the soil. It is determined by genetic nature of soils and their status depending on season of the year and other factors. According to numerous literature sources, carbon dioxide in soil is formed due to the activity of microorganisms, soil fauna, root respiration and biochemical processes.

The soils studied in our research are scarcely known in terms of carbon dioxide regime of the soil air. This gap was filled by specially undertaken soil investigations. The task was to study dynamics of  $CO_2$  in the soil air seasonally and its variation under different land usage.

alebando Conta

90.000 Sobel C

**Table 4.14.** Concentration of  $CO_2$  (%) in the soil air and its emission rate from the soil surface (mg m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>) in the Dark chestnut soils of Askania experimental site (upper - mean for 1967-1974, lower fluctuations).

|  |              |               |                | Month  |                             |                 |              |
|--|--------------|---------------|----------------|--|-----------------------------|-----------------|--------------|
|  | April<br>IV  | May<br>V      | June<br>VI     | July<br>VII  | August<br>VIII              | September<br>IX | October<br>X |
|  |              |               | virgin land    | lander i de lander<br>National de la |                             |                 |              |
| $CO_2$ emmision rate<br>from the soil surface<br>(mg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> )                         | 80<br>20-200 | 200<br>60-360 | 330<br>50-680  | 180<br>50-650  | 70<br>20-200                | 60<br>20-160    | 30<br>10-60  |
| CO <sub>2</sub> concentration in s   | soil air (%) |               |                |  | alara (1961)<br>Participati |                 |              |
| -<br>10-20 cm  | 0.2          | 0.4           | 0.6            | 0.3  | 0.1                         | 0.1             | 0.06         |
|  | 0.05-0.4     | 0.1-0.8       | 0.1-1.2        | 0.1-1.3  | 0.03-0.3                    | 0.03-0.2        | 0.03-0.1     |
| 25-35 cm   | 0.2          | 0.5           | 0.7            | 0.4  | 0.2                         | 0.2             | 0.09         |
|  | 0.05-0.6     | 0.2-1.0       | 0.1-1.3        | 0.1-1.3  | 0.03-0.6                    | 0.03-0.3        | 0.03-0.2     |
| 40-50 cm   | 0.3          | 0.6           | 0.7            | 0.5  | 0.3                         | 0.3             | 0.13         |
|  | 0.05-0.6     | 0.2-1.1       | 0.1-1.5        | 0.1-1.3  | 0.05-0.8                    | 0.05-0.5        | 0.03-0.4     |
| 70-80 cm   | 0.2          | 0.5           | 0.6            | 0.7  | 0.5                         | 0.4             | 0.18         |
|  | 0.05-0.4     | 0.1-0.8       | 0.2-0.9        | 0.1-1.1  | 0.2-1.0                     | 0.1-1.1         | 0.07-0.4     |
| 150-160 cm   | 0.2          | 0.4           | 0.5            | 0.6  | 0.7                         | 0.6             | 0.27         |
| al in the second se | 0.1-0.6      | 0.2-0.7       | 0.3-0.8        | 0.4-0.9  | 0.3-1.2                     | 0.2-0.8         | 0.1-0.5      |
|  |              | ias Persee (  | cultivated lar | nđ   |                             |                 |              |
| $CO_2$ emmision rate<br>from the soil surface<br>(mg m <sup>-2</sup> h <sup>-1</sup> )                         | 80<br>20-120 | 260<br>80-540 | 280<br>50-680  | 300<br>50-590  | 160<br>80-360               | 100<br>40-200   | 40<br>10-100 |
| CO <sub>2</sub> concentration in s   | soil air (%) |               |                |  |                             |                 |              |
| 10-20 cm   | 0.2          | 0.6           | 0.5            | 0.6  | 0.4                         | 0.2             | 0.06         |
|  | 0.05-0.3     | 0.2-0.8       | 0.1-1.2        | 0.1-1.0  | 0.2-0.6                     | 0.05-0.4        | 0.02-0.1     |
| 25-35 cm   | 0.2          | 0.6           | 0.6            | 0.6  | 0.4                         | 0.3             | 0.11         |
|  | 0.07-0.3     | 0.2-1.8       | 0.1-1.3        | 0.1-1.2  | 0.1-1.2                     | 0.1-0.6         | 0.03-0.4     |
| 40-50 cm   | 0.3          | 0.7           | 0.6            | 0.6  | 0.5                         | 0.3             | 0.18         |
|  | 0.1-0.4      | 0.4-1.3       | 0.1-1.5        | 0.1-1.3  | 0.2-1.1                     | 0.1-0.5         | 0.03-0.4     |
| 70-80 cm   | 0.2          | 0.6           | 0.6            | 0.8  | 0.8                         | 0.6             | 0.38         |
|  | 0.1-0.3      | 0.2-1.0       | 0.2-1.2        | 0.2-1.3  | 0.3-1.3                     | 0.2-1.0         | 0.1-0.8      |
| 150-160 cm   | 0.2          | 0.5           | 0.6            | 0.8  | 0.8                         | 0.9             | 0.61         |
| an deleter on solid the  | 0.1-0.5      | 0.2-0.8       | 0.4-1.1        | 0.5-1.3  | 0.5-1.5                     | 0.4-1.4         | 0.2-1.0      |

N. I. Polupan

Average data is presented in Table 4.14 and Fig. 4.14. In all the treatments, concentration of  $CO_2$  in the soil air increases from spring towards summer and decreases towards autumn. Differences in the quantity of  $CO_2$  between the sites were observed.

On the virgin land in spring, in April, the  $CO_2$  concentration in the soil air along profile was even with insignificant predominance in lower parts in some years. In May and June increase of  $CO_2$  concentration by 2 to 3 times or more was observed, that was a result of increased activity of biological processes. In this period soils are characterized with the highest activity of organic residue decomposition. Besides, natural vegetation in this period intensively grows with exuding carbonic acid into soil that decomposes into  $CO_2$  and  $H_2O$ . Combined effect of these two processes promotes a sharp increase of partial pressure of carbon dioxide in the soil air.

In the second half of summer  $CO_2$  concentrations gradually decreased due to cease of biological activity both of microorganisms and of plants. In the upper part of soil profile losses of  $CO_2$  occur faster than the lower layers due to gas diffusion into the air, while in the lower part the  $CO_2$ concentration is increased due to downward flux of  $CO_2$  as a heavier gas (Nikolaeva, 1964).

In autumn, the virgin land contains minimum amount of  $CO_2$  in the soil air because of very weak biological processes. The concentration of  $CO_2$  in the upper part of the soil profile is drawn near concentrations of  $CO_2$  in atmosphere.

On the cultivated land, dynamic of  $CO_2$  concentration in the soil air under different crops follows general rules,





namely - the concentration of  $CO_2$  as well as  $CO_2$  emission from the soil surface increases from spring to summer and decreases by autumn.

In April differences in the  $CO_2$  concentration between the studying sites are not significant. On the non-irrigated cultivated land it is practically the same as on the virgin land. The  $CO_2$  concentration increased in May, and then reached maximum values in June and July. In this period the concentration of  $CO_2$  in the soil air on the non-irrigated cultivated land was by 1.3-1.5 times higher than on the virgin land in average.

From August, the concentration of  $CO_2$  in the cultivated land gradually decreased but was still high enough. In the profile of the non-irrigated soils, the  $CO_2$  concentration in August-September is 2.2-1.3 times larger than that of the virgin land. In October, the concentration of  $CO_2$  in the upper part of the soil profile on the non-irrigated land is similar as that on the virgin land, while deeper than 50 cm the soils in the non-irrigated land contains 2 times higher  $CO_2$  than the others.

The accumulation of  $CO_2$  in the soil air is related to both the microbiological activity and its production by cultivated crops. On the bare fallow, increase of  $CO_2$ concentration occurs due only to activation of microflora.

Dynamics of cellulose decomposition activity is well correlated with the concentration of  $CO_2$  in the soil air. In 1973, cellulose decomposition activity under the bare fallow in April was 6.8%, and the concentration of  $CO_2$  in the soil air in the 0.5-m layer was 0.36%, respectively: in May -11.4% and 0.86%, in June - 43.3% and 1.50%, in July - 33.7% and 1.53%, in August - 13.4% and 0.86%, in September -10.8% and 0.60% and in October - 9.8% and 0.45%, respectively. Under corn in the first half of vegetative period due to its slow development, formation of CO<sub>2</sub> depends mainly upon the microbiological activity. In May-June, CO<sub>2</sub> concentration under corn on the non-irrigated land was 0.4-0.6%, the activity of cellulose decomposition reached 10.4-18.2%. In July, the activity of the cellulose decomposition was 16.8-19.0%, while the concentration of  $CO_2$  increased by 0.5 times, which is related to CO<sub>2</sub> production by corn as a result of intensive growth of vegetation.

There is a close relationship between the harvest weight,  $CO_2$  accumulation in the soil and the water supply to the crops. This can be observed on the example of the same crops grown under non-irrigated and irrigated conditions.

For example, under non-irrigated winter barley at the flowering phase in 10-80 cm there was 0.66% of CO<sub>2</sub>,

whereas under irrigated winter barley that has 1.5-2.0 times higher plant biomass there was 1.14% CO<sub>2</sub>. At flowering phase of non-irrigated corn, the CO<sub>2</sub> concentration of the soil air was 0.79% with green mass harvest 15-20 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>, under irrigated corn - 2.00% with green mass harvest 55-60 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>.

On the plots of the long-term bare fallow, the CO<sub>2</sub> concentration was approximately by 1.5 times higher than that on the above-mentioned treatments, which indicate a high biological activity of the soil under proper water supply (Kisel and Polupan, 1975). However, the concentration of CO<sub>2</sub> in the fallow decreased with years. In the first year of observation, the concentration of CO<sub>2</sub> was 2.8%, in the second - 2.3%, and in the third year - it was 1.4%. In spite of the significant reserves of productive moisture under fallow and the favorable temperature regime, decrease of the activity of cellulose decomposition is observed. Most probably it is caused by the decrease of available substrates in the soil, necessary for life activities of microorganisms. Thus, the results of our research convincingly indicate about the influence of characteristics of soil usage on the regime of the soil air CO<sub>2</sub>. On the non-irrigated cultivated land, the amount of CO<sub>2</sub> in the soil air is larger than that on the virgin land throughout the whole warm period.

The process of  $CO_2$  emission from soil surface into the atmosphere was named "soil respiration" by Lundergardh (1924, 1927). Soil respiration characterizes the intensity of gas exchange between soil and the atmosphere and is one of the indicators of biological activity in the soil.

Many researchers determined changes of intensity of gas exchange between soil and the atmosphere during a year and a direct correlation coefficient between  $CO_2$  concentration in the soil air and its emission into the atmosphere (Matskevich, 1950; Makarov, 1952; Bondarev, 1962; Shkurinov, 1975; and others).

Average  $CO_2$  emission from the soil surface on the virgin and the cultivated lands is practically the same for the studied years from April till June. Second half of vegetation period is, however, characterized with the higher  $CO_2$  emission on the cultivated land. This is a natural phenomenon because on the virgin land biological processes and growth of natural vegetation cease due to the lack of available moisture, while on the cultivated land more favorable water regime promotes development of microbiological processes and growth of agricultural crops with a long vegetative period. There is a direct correlation between the  $CO_2$  concentration in the soil air of upper layers and its emission rate into the atmosphere, which is graphically presented in Fig. 4.14. In autumn, both the  $CO_2$  emission rates into the atmosphere and its concentration in the soil air are practically the same for both the soils studied.

Thus, CO<sub>2</sub> regime in the soil air and intensity of gas exchange changed during the vegetative period depending on hydrothermal conditions for the plant evolution. The highest CO<sub>2</sub> concentration and its emission rate are observed in the first half of the warm period as a result of intensive plant growth and high biological activity of the soils. In the second half of vegetative period, CO<sub>2</sub> concentration in the soil air and the intensity of soil respiration significantly decreased due to decrease of plant growth or absence of it and decline of the biological activity in the soil as a result of deterioration of soil water regime. According to literature sources and our results, the amount of CO<sub>2</sub> in the soil air and the intensity of its emission into the atmosphere from the soil depends upon plant composition. On cultivated lands, these parameters are higher under perennial grasses and corn planting comparing with cereals; and also higher under all the mentioned crops than under bare fallow. In average for 8 years of our study, quantitative indices of CO<sub>2</sub> concentration in the soil air and the soil respiration rates for the first half of vegetation period on the virgin and the non-irrigated cultivated land are practically the same; in the second half of vegetation period, the cultivated land has higher indices due to better water regime and favorable microbiological activity and plant growth with long vegetative period.

The patterns of seasonal fluctuation in the  $CO_2$  concentration in the soil air and the intensity of soil respiration comply with fluctuation of biological activity and plant growth that is determined by dynamic of changes of water regime.

From the beginning of warm period,  $CO_2$  concentration in the soil air increased in the upper layers of soil, reaching its maximum in June, then in deeper layers to the end of vegetation  $CO_2$  concentration in the soil air decreased in the same sequence. According to Remezov (1952), Mina (1957), Kachinskii (1975) and others, increase in the  $CO_2$ concentration in lower layers of soil is explained by "downward flux" of  $CO_2$  into deeper soil horizons as heavier gas. Makarov (1988) does not agree with this opinion. He explains this process with different degree of gas exchange in upper and lower parts of soil profile. According to Makarov,  $CO_2$  cannot flow down because it disagrees with rules of gas dynamics, because gas diffusion occurs towards low gas concentrations. Indicators of the  $CO_2$  regime in the autumn period are the same for the virgin and the cultivated non-irrigated lands.

# 4.12. Spatial heterogeneity of humus content in soils of Askania steppe and factors determining it

In Askania steppe, spatial heterogeneity of plant cover is well observed, that is determined by well-developed mesoand micro-relief, which in turn determines the redistribution of the surface-flow and the differences in water regime of soils. We have studied morphological/genetic properties of soil profile, considering microrelief of placor steppe and content of humus in the soils. About 50 profiles were surveyed in all around the Askania steppe; soil samples were taken and analyzed for humus content, particle size distribution and other properties. Such work was done for cultivated land as well around the virgin steppe on different distances from the steppe. Forty soil profiles were surveyed and analyzed. Upon the thickness of humified layer of soils, both the virgin and the cultivated land were separated into two groups: those with 55-65 cm and 70-80 cm; and within the groups the soils were further divided into 5 and 6 groups according to particle size distribution of the soils (Table 4.15).

Natural heterogeneity of the soils on humus contents within the two groups of the profile depth is 27%, and total for the steppe is 48%. On cultivated land there is an analogous picture.

Therefore, when studying evolution of organic matter in soils of the cultivated land relative to the virgin, it is very important to consider the depth of humified layers and similarity of particle size distribution of the soils. Analysis of huge numbers of literature sources, where data of humus content changes during cultivation of virgin land is presented, revealed the absence of these important characteristics when comparing with studying pairs. Therefore, there is a huge parametric bias of humus changes in the cultivated soils. For example, accidental comparison of Dark chestnut virgin soil

| Depth |                  |  | Physical         | clay (%)         |                  |  |
|-------|------------------|--|------------------|------------------|------------------|--|
| (cm)  | 66-70            | 61-65                                    | 56-60            | 51-55            | 46-50            | 41-45  |
| Hı    | umus content     | s in soils wit                           | h depth of h     | umified layer    | rs: 55-65 cm     | (%)  |
|       |                  |  | virgin land      |                  |                  |  |
| 0-30  | 4.1 <u>+</u> 0.2 | 3.8 <u>+</u> 0.2                         | 3.4 <u>+</u> 0.2 | 3.2 <u>+</u> 0.2 | 3.0 <u>+</u> 0.2 |  |
| 30-40 | 2.5              | 2.3                                      | 2.1              | 1.9              | 1.8              |  |
| 40-50 | 2.2              | 2.1                                      | 1.9              | 1.8              | 1.6              | 1997 - 1997<br>1997 - 1997<br>1997 - 1997 - 1997 |
| 50-60 | 1.4              | 1.4                                      | 1.2              | 1.2              | 1.2              | herster store                                    |
| 50-70 | 0.8              | 1.0                                      | 0.9              | 1.0              | 1.0              | Anne the th                                      |
| 70-80 | 0.6              | 0.7                                      | -                | 0.7              | 0.7              | an a         |
|       |                  |  | cultivated lar   | nd               |                  |  |
| 0-30  | 3.4 <u>+</u> 0.2 | 3.2 <u>+</u> 0.2                         | 2.9 <u>+</u> 0.2 | 2.7 <u>+</u> 0.2 | 2.5 <u>+</u> 0.2 | North R  |
| 30-40 | 2.4              | 2.4                                      | 2.0              | 1.9              | 1.7              |  |
| 40-50 | 2.1              | 2.0                                      | 1.8              | 1.7              | 1.4              | 1967 A. 687 A. 687 A. 697<br>                    |
| 50-60 | 1.5              | 1.4                                      | 1.3              | 1.3              | 1.2              |  |
| 60-70 | 0.7              | 0.8                                      | 0.8              | 1.1              | 1.0              |  |
| 70-80 | 0.6              | 0.6                                      |                  | 0.6              | 0.8              |  |
| Hı    | unus content     | s in soils wit                           | h denth of h     | umified lave     | rs: 70-80 cm     | (%)  |
|       |                  |  | virgin land      |                  |                  | (19)   |
| 0-30  | 4.8 <u>+</u> 0.2 | 4.5 <u>+</u> 0.2                         | 4.1 <u>+</u> 0.2 | 3.9 <u>+</u> 0.2 | 3.5 <u>+</u> 0.2 | a haqada   |
| 30-40 | 2.9              | 2.7                                      | 2.5              | 2.3              | 2.1              | ( siste <del>-</del> Gio                         |
| 40-50 | 2.4              | 2.3                                      | 2.3              | 2.0              | 1.9              | -  |
| 50-60 | 1.6              | 1.8                                      | 1.9              | 1.7              | 1.7              |  |
| 60-70 | 1.3              | 1.3                                      | 1.6              | 1.1              | 1.3              |  |
| 70-80 | 0.8              | 0.9                                      | 1.1              | 1.0              | 1.1              | na line <del>-</del> frain                       |
|       |                  | annan an a | cultivated la    | nd               |                  |  |
| 0-30  | 3.8 <u>+</u> 0.2 | 3.6 <u>+</u> 0.2                         | 3.4 <u>+</u> 0.2 | 3.2 <u>+</u> 0.2 | 2.9 <u>+</u> 0.2 | 2.2 <u>+</u> 0.2                                 |
| 30-40 | 2.8              | 2.6                                      | 2.3              | 2.2              | 2.2              | 1.7  |
| 40-50 | 2.2              | 2.1                                      | 2.1              | 2.0              | 1.8              | 1.2  |
| 50-60 | 1.5              | 1.9                                      | 1.8              | 1.8              | 1.6              | 1.0  |
| 60-70 | 1.4              | 1.4                                      | 1.2              | 1.4              | 1.3              | 0.9  |
| 70-80 | 0.0              | 1.0                                      | 0.0              | 1 2              | 1 1              | 07   |

**Table 4.15.** Spatial variation of humus contents in Askania steppe depending on depth of humified layers and particle size distribution of the soils.

with 70-80 cm depth and 66-70% in the content of physical clay with cultivated soil of 55-65 cm depth and 46-50% of physical clay results in humus losses of 48%, while using the methodical approach mentioned above it is only 21%. Generally, under correct comparison decrease of humus content in cultivated relative to virgin lands is 15-21%, while with inappropriate estimation it can be 45% (Ushacheva, 1998). Lack of scientific approach of the later author in determination of changes of humus content in the zone of our research indicates the fact of coincidence of quantitative parameters given by us at accidentally comparison (48%) and given by Ushacheva pairs (45%).

## 4.13. Characteristics and intensity of humus formation

in the virgin and the cultivated Dark chestnut soils of fescue-stipa steppe

According to literatures, intensity of humus mineralization during cultivation of virgin lands is influenced by bioclimatic conditions. Clear decrease of decomposition of soil humus is observed from water resistant to dry steppes (Aderikhin, 1964; Belchikova, 1951; Egorov and Dyuryagina, 1972; Kononova, 1951; Titova, 1972).

According to Tyurin (1937), soil organic matter consists of actual humic substances and detritus or linohumates. The later is semi-decomposed plant residues that lost its initial forms. In virgin soils there is 38.3% of detritus (Tyurin 1937), in soils cultivated for more than 100 years - 26.0% (Grinchenko et al., 1968).

Based on our research, amounts of detritus in the soils of the South and Dry steppe zones is 34-38% in 0-30 cm layer on the virgin land, on cultivated land - 22-26% (Table 4.16).

Today, numerous studies established that losses of organic matter after cultivation of virgin lands occur mainly due to the mineralization of the least stable components, and that is detritus. Our results also confirm this statement (Table 4.16). At the beginning, fresh plant residues are predominantly decomposed. In the first year 18-35%, in the second - 35-55%, in the fifth - 76-79% of the initial amount of fresh plant residues are mineralized (Kulakov, 1960; Rubinstein, 1959).

Presence of seasonal fluctuation of total humus content is an established fact (Aderikhin, 1964; Breus and Mikhnovskaya, 1976; Gertsyk, 1959). However, rhythm of its changes during the vegetative period has a contradictory feature according to literature. Some authors (Breus and Mikhnovskaya, 1976; Gertsyk, 1959) state that humus content is decreasing from spring to summer and again increasing up to its initial level by autumn; according to others - it is decreasing in spring relative to the winter period, increasing during summer, and in autumn its content is restored till the spring level (Aderikhin, 1964).

Authors explain the decrease of the humus content in spring and in the beginning of summer by mineralization of humus and subsequent consumption of the mineralized products by growing plants. By the end of vegetative period, when the consumption of nutrients sharply reduces, incorporation of photosynthetic products into soil takes place as root exudates, which are source of labile forms of humus (Samtsevich, 1968; Ponomareva and Plotnikova, 1980).

According to our research, for all the treatments amount of humus increases by the end of spring - beginning of summer; and at the second half of vegetative period its content is equal to the initial (Table 4.17). There, fluctuating patterns of the humus content are the same for soils with plants (natural and cultivated) and without plants in continuous bare fallow. For all the studied treatments, increase of humus is approximately the same; in the upper part of profile it is 10-15%, in the lower - 15-30%. According to data of Gertsyk (1959), seasonal fluctuation of the humus

| Table 4.16. Contents of humic substances and plant detritus | 5 |
|---|---|
| in soils under natural vegetation and cultivation.          |   |

| ister isklige | tise kijdijsk         | ing of the       | Including:  |  |  |  |  |
|---------------|-----------------------|------------------|---|--|--|--|--|
|               | Depth (cm) content (% |                  | Inherent humic substances (%)   | Plant detritus<br>(%)  |  |  |  |
| e Wibiaco     | Souther               | n chernozems     | in Ascania steppe   | TADIO AT   |  |  |  |
| virgin        | 0-30                  | 3.7              | 2.3 m 2.3 m 2.0 m   | 1.4  |  |  |  |
|               | 30-40                 | 2.6              | : 2012 - 2012 - 2013<br>- 2012 - 2012 - 2013<br>- 2014 - 2014 - 2014 - 2014 - 2014 - 2014 - 2014 - 2014 - 2014 - 2014 | an Selection   |  |  |  |
|               | 40-50                 | 2.2              | en e  |  |  |  |  |
|               | 50-60                 | 1.8              | 친구님, 물문법은 것   | 2011년 - 11 M   |  |  |  |
| cultivated    | 0-30                  | 3.2              | 2.4   | 0.8  |  |  |  |
|               | 30-40                 | 2.6              | 이 사용적 이 사람은 적용이다.<br>사람은 이 사람들은 특별 관람을 얻을 수   |  |  |  |  |
|               | 40-50                 | 2.1              | in in staatstiinin of taskin one as polytikas, polytikas in territoria.<br>T  | ann feirirt hassonrich eitheder en   |  |  |  |
|               | 50-60                 | 1.7              |   | an a   |  |  |  |
| 1 289.1       | Souther               | rn chernozems    | in Crimea steppe  | Sandhang, S.Z  |  |  |  |
| virgin        | 0-30                  | 2.9              | 1.9   | 1.0  |  |  |  |
|               | 30-40                 | 2.0              | and the second      | -  |  |  |  |
|               | 40-50                 | 1.5              | -   | ÷  |  |  |  |
| cultivated    | 0-30                  | 2.3              | 1.8   | 0.5  |  |  |  |
|               | 30-40                 | 1.9              | -   | 1997 - 1998 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 -<br>1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - 1997 - |  |  |  |
|               | Dark c                | hestnut soils ir | n Ascania steppe  |  |  |  |  |
| virgin        | 0-30                  | 3.4              | 2.1   | 1.3  |  |  |  |
|               | 30-40                 | 2.1              | DatioOdd  | -  |  |  |  |
| cultivated    | 0-30                  | 3.0              | 2.2   | 0.8  |  |  |  |
|               | 30-40                 | 2.0              | - 18 C  |  |  |  |  |
| 0.885         | Solonetzi             | ic chestnut soil | s in Ascania steppe   |  |  |  |  |
| virgin        | 0-30                  | 2.4              | 1.5   | 0.9  |  |  |  |
| 5,00,003      | 30-40                 | 1.4              | - 681 - 6810  | -  |  |  |  |
| cultivated    | 0-30                  | 2.0              | 1.5   | 0.5  |  |  |  |
|               | 30-40                 | 1.4              | ina ana ana ang   | a stiggi bitan   |  |  |  |

N. I. Polupan

contents in the upper part of profile of Typical chernozem, on the virgin land, was 22-25%, while according to Breus and Mikhnovskii (1976), the changes in plow layer of the same soils were only 12%.

Dynamics of the humus content in our research complies well with the rhythm of the microbiological activity. In early summer, an intensive decomposition of organic matter takes a place that likely forms some compounds, which occupy an intermediate position between real humic substances and plant litter at different degree of decomposition. The existence of these compounds is the reason of increase of the humus content at the moment. However, the processes of their further humification continue; they undergo transformations and polymerizations and interact with mineral components of soil, becoming less mobile (Kononova, 1951). According to the opinion of Mishustin and Teplyakova (1957), at this moment the significant role in the humification processes belongs to fermentation.

We also have done a research on seasonal fluctuations of the content of humic substances that are freely or loosely bonded with soil mineral components. They were extracted with 0.1 M sodium pyrophosphate solution (Aleksandrova, 1960). Sodium pyrophosphate solution is weakly alkaline. To extract the most loosely bonded organic matter with soil, the pH of the solution was adjusted up to 7. Soil-to-solution ratio was 1:20. Extraction of labile organic matter was done at natural moisture condition in 36 replications. Samples were

**Table 4.17.** Seasonal fluctuation of total humus content in Dark chestnut soils on Askania site (average for 1968-1971; in %).

|            |      | Mc         | Confidence level |         |                                       |
|------------|------|------------|------------------|---------|---------------------------------------|
| Depth (cm) | IV   | VI*        | vi* viii         |         | on the difference<br>observed in June |
|            |      |            | virgin           |         |                                       |
| 0-10       | 4.00 | 4.40       | 3.88             | 4.09    | 0.95-0.995                            |
| 30-40      | 2.07 | 2.31       | 2.04             | 1.98    | 0.995                                 |
| 50-60      | 1.15 | 1.32       | 1.20             | 1.15    | 0.95                                  |
| 70-80      | 0.74 | 1.00       | 0.83             | 0.78    | 0.995                                 |
|            |      | cultivated | without irr      | igation |                                       |
| 0-10       | 2.92 | 3.30       | 3.07             | 3.07    | 0.99-0.995                            |
| 30-40      | 1.85 | 2.10       | 1.95             | 1.85    | 0.95                                  |
| 50-60      | 1.07 | 1.30       | 1.12             | 1.10    | 0.95                                  |
| 70-80      | 0.66 | 0.87       | 0.68             | 0.70    | 0.995                                 |
|            |      | continuo   | ous bare fa      | llow    |                                       |
| 0-10       | 2.90 | 3.13       | 2.90             | 2.87    | 0.995                                 |
| 30-40      | 2.06 | 2.25       | 2.07             | 2.00    | 0.95                                  |
| 50-60      | 1.18 | 1.36       | 1.09             | 1.16    | 0.95-0.995                            |
| 70-80      | 0.72 | 1.00       | 0.85             | 0.84    | 0.95-0.995                            |

\* Difference in the humus content between each term (month) is statistically significant only for the data in June.

taken into vinyl bags, carefully packed and brought into laboratory during the day.

The content of labile organic matter in Dark chestnut soils complies with changes of total humus. Quantitatively, there were no significant differences between the studied treatments (Table 4.18).

Results of water analysis, which was carried out for water samples from lysimeter, indicate a higher mobility of organic matter at early summer time (Table 4.19).

Kokovina (1965, 1967) obtained large amounts of organic matter in summer in lysimetric waters along profile of Typical chernozem on virgin land of Streletsk steppe. According to her results, there is 2.6-3.3 times higher organic matter in summer lysimetric waters than in spring, and 1.3-1.5 time more than in autumn.

Also, results of fractionation using extraction technique on organic matter deserve an attention. Fulvic acids (FA) predominate over humic acids (HA) with a ratio of  $C_{HA}$  :  $C_{FA}$ < 1 (Table 4.20). In spring and the end of summer, amounts of HA and FA are practically the same in the composition of free and weakly bonded organic matter. In early summer time, an increasing tendency of HA and decrease of FA is clearly observed that results in an increase of their ratio. This indicates that main transformations of organic matter are taking place at the moment when soil exhibits the highest biological activity. Today biochemical nature of humification process and participation of microorganisms in the process

Reduction to a series (1969

**Table 4.18.** Seasonal fluctuation of labile humus content in Dark chestnut soils on Askania site, using extraction with 0.1 M sodium pyrophosphate at pH 7 (average for 1968-1971; in %).

|            |      | Mo         | onth        |         | Confidence level                      |  |
|------------|------|------------|-------------|---------|---------------------------------------|--|
| Depth (cm) | IV   | VI* VIII   |             | X       | on the difference<br>observed in June |  |
|            |      |            | virgin      |         |                                       |  |
| 0-10       | 0.46 | 0.60       | 0.37        | 0.30    | 0.995                                 |  |
| 30-40      | 0.22 | 0.40       | 0.21        | 0.16    | 0.995                                 |  |
| 50-60      | 0.18 | 0.26       | 0.15        | 0.20    | 0.995                                 |  |
| 70-80      | 0.10 | 0.18       | 0.09        | 0.08    | 0.995                                 |  |
|            |      | cultivated | without irr | igation |                                       |  |
| 0-10       | 0.30 | 0.54       | 0.27        | 0.24    | 0.995                                 |  |
| 30-40      | 0.16 | 0.30       | 0.18        | 0.16    | 0.95                                  |  |
| 50-60      | 0.11 | 0.25       | 0.10        | 0.11    | 0.95                                  |  |
| 70-80      | 0.08 | 0.15       | 0.09        | 0.08    | 0.95                                  |  |
|            |      | continuo   | ous bare fa | llow    |                                       |  |
| 0-10       | 0.33 | 0.49       | 0.29        | 0.21    | 0.995                                 |  |
| 30-40      | 0.19 | 0.31       | 0.15        | 0.11    | 0.95                                  |  |
| 50-60      | 0.12 | 0.21       | 0.13        | 0.11    | 0.995                                 |  |
| 70-80      | 0.07 | 0.14       | 0.09        | 0.07    | 0.99                                  |  |

\* Difference in the humus content between each term (month) is statistically significant only for the data in June.

is universally recognized. According to Aleksandrova (1975) in 3-30 days after beginning of decomposition process (depending on chemical composition of plant residues) HA is formed as a result of partial carboxylation of plant residue components. In the following phases of humification, aromatization of HA molecules and their fixation in the soil profile in a form of organo-mineral complexes take place.

Fractionation ratios of humus of Eurasian steppes are determined in individual zonal types of soil formation. In all the soils, HA is predominant in composition of organic matter.

**Table 4.19.** Concentration of dissolved organic matter in lysimetric water along profiles of Dark chestnut soils on Askania site (average for 1967-1969; in mg  $L^{-1}$ ).

1.5 .1

|            |               | Month            |                             |
|------------|---------------|------------------|-----------------------------|
| Depth (cm) | IV            | VI               | X                           |
|            | vir           | gin              | <u>1000-1000</u> 33335      |
| 10-15      | 46.8          | 86.1             | ellos poisvalla.            |
| 30-35      | 25.3          | 47.0             |                             |
| 60-65      | 30.4          | 40.1             | n 20) goitoing (55 (r       |
| 80-90      | 29.7          | 43.0             |                             |
| CI         | ultivated wit | hout irrigatic   | n                           |
| 30-35      | 33.5          | 54.8             | 29.4                        |
| 60-65      | 36.4          | 62.6             | i cu <del>n</del> triticati |
| 80-90      | 40.1          | 51.2             | <u> </u>                    |
|            |               | 化化学 人名法法德法法法法法法法 |                             |

However, the ratios of HA/FA are different. In the upper layer of Southern chernozems it is 2.0-2.4, in Dark chestnut soils - 1.9-2.0 and in Chestnut soils - 1.2-1.5 (Table 4.21). By fractional composition, these soils differ slightly. Cultivation of virgin lands practically did not affect the fractional composition of humus.

The characteristics of humus formation on cultivated soils underwent insignificant changes, if any. Amount of humus in them is decreased relative to virgin; herewith, decrease took place in account of the least stable components - detritus. In the soils studied, decrease of the later is 15-21%; according to literature sources, in accumulative type of soils difference of detritus ratio in virgin and cultivated soils is 10-18%.

Decrease of organic matter after cultivation of virgin soils is a natural phenomenon. In natural ecosystems, soil formation tries to reach a balance with exo- and endo-genic factors with time. Therefore, it is described by exponential dependence to maximum. All the macro- and micro-processes of whole soil formation process, including humus formation, depend on this regularity. Based on up-to-date results, process of formation of quasi-equilibrium status of humus in soil profile had been taking place hundreds or thousands years depending on zones. Humans interfered evolution of soil

**Table 4.20.** Seasonal fluctuation of fractionated organic matter (humic acid and Fulvic acid) in Dark chestnut soils on Askania site, using extraction with 0.1 M sodium pyrophosphate at pH 7 (upper, % in weight; lower, % in labile organic matter).

| seite di di  | Month |              |               |           |             |      |  |  |  |
|--|-------|--------------|---------------|-----------|-------------|------|--|--|--|
| Depth (cm)   | IV    |              | 7             | <b>/I</b> | oolisiine 2 | x    |  |  |  |
| <u>an an a</u>  | HA    | FA           | HA            | FA        | HA          | FA   |  |  |  |
|  |       | - Alice high | virgin        | tengto?   |             |      |  |  |  |
| 0-10   | 0.16  | 0.30         | 0.26          | 0.34      | 0.14        | 0.23 |  |  |  |
|  | 35    | 65           | 43            | 57        | 38          | 62   |  |  |  |
| 30-40  | 0.08  | 0.14         | 0.16          | 0.24      | 0.08        | 0.12 |  |  |  |
|  | 36    | 64           | 40            | 60        | 38          | 62   |  |  |  |
| 50-60  | 0.06  | 0.12         | 0.14          | 0.12      | 0.07        | 0.13 |  |  |  |
|  | 33    | 67           | 54            | 46        | 35          | 65   |  |  |  |
|  |       | cultivat     | ed without ir | rigation  |             |      |  |  |  |
| 0-10   | 0.13  | 0.17         | 0.23          | 0.31      | 0.12        | 0.15 |  |  |  |
|  | 43    | 57           | 43            | 57        | 44          | 56   |  |  |  |
| 30-40  | 0.07  | 0.09         | 0.14          | 0.16      | 0.06        | 0.12 |  |  |  |
| Arreston, en esta de la parte de la pa<br>Nota | 44    | 56           | 47            | 53        | 33          | 67   |  |  |  |
| 50-60  | 0.05  | 0.06         | 0.10          | 0.15      | 0.04        | 0.06 |  |  |  |
|  | 45    | 55           | 40            | 60        | 40          | 60   |  |  |  |
|  |       | conti        | nuous bare f  | allow     |             |      |  |  |  |
| 0-10   | 0.15  | 0.18         | 0.25          | 0.24      | 0.12        | 0.17 |  |  |  |
|  | 45    | 55           | 51            | 49        | 41          | 59   |  |  |  |
| 30-40  | 0.09  | 0.10         | 0.18          | 0.13      | 0.06        | 0.09 |  |  |  |
|  | 47    | 53           | 58            | 42        | 40          | 60   |  |  |  |
| 50-60  | 0.05  | 0.07         | 0.11          | 0.10      | 0.04        | 0.09 |  |  |  |
|  | 42    | 58           | 52            | 48        | 30          | 70   |  |  |  |

formation - humus accumulation on the half way of the curve. Therefore, quasi-equilibrium status is established very fast, i.e. within 3-6 (10) years depending on zones. The cultivation of virgin soil destroys the balance between all the factors of soil formation. Soil forming conditions had been changed due to improved water regime, increase of biological activity and other processes and regimes. In a relatively short period (3-10 years), soil formation reaches new state of balance. As mentioned in the previous sections, the amount of plant biomass involved into cycle on the cultivated soils without irrigation is generally close to the virgin soil. However, it takes some time to form a new cycle of organic matter. Therefore, in first years there are 10-20% losses of organic matter in virgin soils that is determined by intensity of anthropogenic activities. However, process of soil-humus formation both at natural and natural-anthropogenic environment is always directed to establish the balance between ecological conditions, anthropogenic activities and soil properties. Systematic application of anthropogenic pressure will lead to stabilization of changes at a certain level.

Processes of humification of organic matter in agroecosystems occur, likely, in the same way as in natural ecosystems. It is indicated by the same patterns of dynamic of total and labile humus on the studied treatments. An increase occurs in early summer time that is well agreed with the rhythm of microbiological activity.

Same characteristics in humus formation in the cultivated and the virgin soils are indicated by the results of fractional composition of humus of both the total and labile forms.

**Table 4.21.** Fractional composition of humus from virgin and cultivated soils (average data; in % to total C; Ponomareva and Plotnikova, 1968).

| Denth (cm) C (%) |                     | Humic acid fraction (% in total C) |      |      |            | Fulvic acid fraction (% in total C) |            |      |           | Residue, not | HA/FA       |             |
|------------------|---------------------|------------------------------------|------|------|------------|-------------------------------------|------------|------|-----------|--------------|-------------|-------------|
| 2-0p.m. (4m)     | epin (ein) - C (76) |                                    | 2    | 3    | Sum        | 1a                                  | 1          | 2    | 3         | Sum          | in total C) | 2-08<br>    |
|                  | - and states (      |                                    |      |      | Southern   | n chernoz                           | zems       |      |           |              |             |             |
|                  |                     |                                    |      |      | vir        | gin soil                            |            |      |           |              |             |             |
| 0-10             | 3.09                | 4.2                                | 25.7 | 10.1 | 40.0       | 1.9                                 | 6.7        | 5.4  | 5.8       | 19.8         | 40.2        | 2.0         |
| 10-20            | 2.18                | 2.9                                | 29.2 | 9.2  | 41.3       | 2.1                                 | 4.8        | 7.8  | 6.5       | 21.2         | 37.5        | 1.9         |
| 30-40            | 1.60                | 2.0                                | 29.9 | 9.0  | 40.9       | 2.8                                 | 2.5        | 8.4  | 8.1       | 21.8         | 37.3        | 1.9         |
| 40-50            | 0.93                | 1.1                                | 26.7 | 8.4  | 36.2       | 3.4                                 | 1.8        | 11.7 | 11.8      | 28.7         | 35.1        | 1.3         |
| 60-70            | 0.71                | ente Tratis                        | 23.2 | 8.2  | 31.4       | 4.5                                 | 0.6        | 9.1  | 14.4      | 28.6         | 40.0        | 1.1         |
| 90-100           | 0.29                | and a state                        | 19.2 | 6.5  | 25.7       | 5.1                                 | 0.1        | 7.3  | 21.0      | 33.5         | 40.8        | 0.8         |
|                  |                     |                                    |      |      | culti      | vated soi                           | 1          |      |           |              |             |             |
| 0-10             | 1.61                | 4.1                                | 28.8 | 8.9  | 41.8       | 2.1                                 | 2.7        | 6.2  | 6.3       | 17.3         | 40.9        | 2.4         |
| 30-40            | 1.23                | 2.9                                | 27.4 | 8.3  | 38.6       | 2.8                                 | 2.0        | 9.0  | 9.6       | 23.4         | 38.0        | 1.6         |
| 40-50            | 0.94                | 2.0                                | 25.0 | 8.4  | 35.4       | 3.2                                 | 2.3        | 7.8  | 10.0      | 23.3         | 41.3        | 1.5         |
| 50-60            | 0.72                | 1.3                                | 20.0 | 7.5  | 28.9       | 2.8                                 | 2.0        | 17.4 | 5.5       | 27.7         | 43.4        | 1.0         |
| 60-70            | 0.46                |                                    | 17.8 | 7.1  | 24.9       | 3.0                                 | 5.6        | 18.0 | 1.7       | 28.3         | 46.8        | 0.9         |
|                  | Mandti              |                                    |      | So   | lonetzic d | ark ches                            | tnut soils |      | la strait | Kana         |             | en de Mille |
|                  |                     |                                    |      |      | vir        | gin soil                            |            |      |           |              |             |             |
| 0-10             | 2.67                | 6.3                                | 20.9 | 10.1 | 37.3       | 2.5                                 | 6.6        | 4.3  | 6.6       | 20.0         | 40.7        | 1.9         |
| 10-20            | 1.76                | 4.5                                | 25.0 | 10.1 | 39.6       | 2.5                                 | 2.5        | 5.9  | 7.6       | 18.5         | 41.9        | 2.1         |
| 20-30            | 1.46                | 1.9                                | 25.1 | 11.8 | 38.8       | 2.7                                 | 2.4        | 5.0  | 8.9       | 19.0         | 42.2        | 2.0         |
| 30-40            | 1.00                | 1.3                                | 22.6 | 11.3 | 35.2       | 2.8                                 | 1.3        | 3.8  | 15.6      | 23.5         | 41.3        | 1.5         |
| 45-55            | 0.79                | 0.6                                | 13.6 | 6.4  | 20.6       | 4.0                                 | 1.8        | 2.1  | 16.5      | 24.4         | 55.0        | 0.8         |
| 75-85            | 0.37                |                                    | 15.4 | 7.7  | 23.1       | 2.7                                 | 0.3        | 19.2 | 15.2      | 37.4         | 39.5        | 0.6         |
|                  |                     |                                    |      |      | culti      | vated so                            | 1          |      |           |              |             |             |
| 0-10             | 1.55                | 3.1                                | 25.1 | 11.3 | 39.5       | 3.0                                 | 4.5        | 5.1  | 6.0       | 18.6         | 41.9        | 2.1         |
| 30-40            | 1.20                | 2.0                                | 22.6 | 9.8  | 34.4       | 3.7                                 | 2.5        | 6.6  | 10.2      | 23.0         | 42.6        | 1.5         |
| 40-50            | 0.78                | 0.8                                | 21.0 | 10.5 | 32.2       | 4.3                                 | 2.0        | 9.5  | 14.5      | 30.3         | 37.4        | 1.0         |
|                  |                     |                                    |      |      | Solonetzia | c chestnu                           | t soils    |      |           |              |             |             |
|                  |                     |                                    |      |      | vir        | gin soil                            |            |      |           |              |             |             |
| 0-10             | 1.57                | 3.4                                | 17.5 | 13.5 | 34.4       | 3.4                                 | 4.9        | 7.3  | 13.1      | 28.7         | 36.9        | 1.2         |
| 10-20            | 1.21                | 2.9                                | 20.1 | 15.4 | 38.4       | 3.2                                 | 2.0        | 12.1 | 16.3      | 36.3         | 28.0        | 1.2         |
| 30-40            | 0.97                | 1.8                                | 15.4 | 11.0 | 28.2       | 4.4                                 | 1.6        | 8.8  | 13.5      | 28.3         | 43.5        | 1.0         |
| 50-60            | 0.64                | 0.5                                | 14.9 | 9.0  | 24.4       | 2.5                                 | 0.5        | 18.1 | 24.1      | 45.2         | 30.4        | 0.5         |
|                  |                     |                                    |      |      | culti      | vated so                            | ii 👘 🔿     |      |           |              |             |             |
| 0-10             | 1.27                | 4.5                                | 20.8 | 10.8 | 36.1       | 3.0                                 | 6.8        | 6.0  | 8.5       | 24.5         | 36.4        | 1.5         |
| 30-40            | 0.95                | 1.6                                | 24.5 | 7.8  | 33.9       | 4.4                                 | 3.8        | 9.6  | 10.6      | 28.4         | 37.7        | 1.2         |
| 40-50            | 0.82                | 1.0                                | 18.3 | 6.8  | 26.1       | 4.2                                 | 0.6        | 10.4 | 15.0      | 30.2         | 43.7        | 0.9         |

#### 4.14. Conclusion

 In zones of the Southern and Dry steppes under natural vegetation, non-percolative water regime is established; in its yearly balance outcomes exceed incomes.

The cultivated soils are characterized with more favorable water conditions. In some years positive yearly water balance is formed in them that makes possible sporadically deep (> 500 cm) percolation of soil depth in the cold periods.

- 2) Salt regime in the soils under the virgin vegetation is characterized by seasonally reversible cycle of watersoluble ions that occurs in small volumes depending on depth of moisture cycle. On the non-irrigated cultivated soils, salt cycle covers whole 5-m soil depth (deeper was not studied) with predominance of desalinization processes. This led to several times decrease in the contents of water-soluble salts in 0-300 (500) cm layers as compared to the initial state.
- 3) Natural and agro-ecosystems without irrigation are characterized by the almost same bio-productivity. On the virgin and the cultivated soils without irrigation, practically the same amount of biomass takes place in the annual energy-mass-exchange. Capacity of cycles for nitrogen and mineral elements on the cultivated system is higher than those on the virgin soil. However, partial removal of biomass along with harvest on the cultivated soils leads to a decrease of the energy reserves and materials accumulated in the soils during the virgin soil formation period.
- 4) Biological activity in the soils of the studied zone is determined by the water regime. Under the virgin vegetation, due to fast consumption of water for evapotranspiration the biological activity is small, and it concentrates in spring and early summer time; the sum of the values for cellulose decomposition throughout a year is not so high.

In cultivated soils with no irrigation, the biological activity including the activity of cellulose decomposition increases by almost 2 times, which is determined by the improved water regime.

5)  $CO_2$  regime in the soil air and the intensity of gas exchange vary during the vegetative period depending upon the hydrothermal conditions and plant development. Maximum concentrations of  $CO_2$  and intensity of its emission rate were achieved in the first half of the warm period as a result of intensive plant growth and high biological activity of the soils. In the

second half of vegetation period, CO<sub>2</sub> concentration in the soil air as well as intensity of soil respiration significantly decreases, that is determined by a decrease in the plant growth, or by its absence, and by cease of the biological activity in the soils, due to deterioration of their water regime. According to literature sources and based upon our results, amounts of CO<sub>2</sub> in the soil air and intensity of its emission into the atmosphere from the soil surface depend upon plant composition. On the cultivated soils, these parameters are higher under perennial grasses and corn than under cereals; and higher under all these crops than under bare fallow. According to the average for 8 years of our study, quantitative indices of CO<sub>2</sub> concentration in the soil air and soil respiration rate for the first half of vegetative period on the virgin and the cultivated non-irrigated soils are practically the same. For the second half, however, they are higher in the cultivated land relative to the virgin land, which is determined by a better water regime and hence by a more favorable microbiological activity and development of plant with a long vegetative period.

The pattern of  $CO_2$  concentration curves in the soil air and intensity of soil respiration rate complies with the same pattern as those of the biological activity and plant growth that are determined by the dynamics of water regime fluctuation. Right from the beginning of the warm period,  $CO_2$  concentrations in the soil air is increasing in the upper soil layers, reaching its maximum in June, then in the deeper layers, by the end of vegetation period  $CO_2$  concentration in the soil air is decreasing in the same order. Indices of  $CO_2$  regime in autumn on the virgin and the cultivated non-irrigated soils are practically the same.

6) Soils of Askania steppe are characterized by spatial heterogeneity of the humus content. Based on the humified layer of soil, both on the virgin and the cultivated soils, two soil groups are separated: i.e. 55-65 cm and 70-80 cm; and within both the groups, on the virgin land there are 5 and on the cultivated land there are 6 groups are divided based on their particle size distribution. Natural heterogeneity of the soils on the humus contents within the two groups of the profile depth is 27%, and total for the steppe is 48%. The same picture is for cultivated soils. Therefore, when studying changes of organic matter due to cultivation of virgin soils it is necessary to select pairs (virgin, cultivated) with the same depth of humified layer and content of physical

- clay.
- In cultivated soils amounts of humus decreased by 10-20% relative to the virgin, herewith decrease occurred due to decrease of the least stable form - detritus.
- 8) Fundamental changes in humus formation in the cultivated soils of different level of intensity relative to virgin analogues were not found. The amount of plant biomass incoming into the cycle on the non-irrigated cultivated soil is close to the virgin. Processes of humification on the studied treatments practically do not differ, that is confirmed by the same characteristics on seasonal dynamics of total and labile humus. Increase of humus is taking place in early summer time that is well agreed with rhythm of microbiological activity. Results of fractional composition of both the total and the labile forms of humus indicate the same characteristics of humus formation both in the cultivated and the virgin soils.

## References

- Abramova MM, 1968. Evaporation of soil moisture in dry conditions. *Pochvovedenie* 8 (in Russian).
- Aderikhin PG, 1964. Changes of chernozem soils of Central Chernozemic Region (CCR) when using them in agriculture. *In* Chernozems of CCR and their fertility, *M. Nauka* (in Russian).
- Aleksandrova LN, 1960. About application of sodium pyrophosphate for extraction of free organic humic matters and organo-mineral compounds from soil. *Pochvovedenie* 2 (in Russian).
- Aleksandrova LN, 1975. Some discussable topics of mechanism of humification of organic residues in soil. *In* Humus and soil formation. Leningrad, Pushkin (in Russian).
- Bazilevich NI, 1962. Exchange of mineral elements in different types of steppes and meadows on chernozems, chestnut soils and solonetz. *In* Problems of soil science, M., Academy of Science of USSR (in Russian).
- Belchikova NP, 1951. Some regularities of content and composition of humus, and properties of humic matters
- in main soil groups of USSR. Publications of the Dokuchaev Soil Sci. Inst. of Acad. of Sci. of USSR. V.38 (in Russian).
- Bisovetskii TYa et al., 1966. Root and stubble residues of field crops of sugar beet crop rotation and their chemical
  - composition. Agrochemistry 9 (in Russian).
- Blagoveshenskii GA, 1946. Formation of loess of glacial

region of European part of USSR. *In* Problems of paleography of the quaternary period, M.-L. (in Russian). Bondarev AG, 1962. Breathe of sod-podzolic soil in relation

- with its moisture and temperature. Publications of interregional thematic scientific conference on cultivation of northern non-chernozemic soils. Kazan, ed. of Kazan state University (in Russian).
- Breus NM, Mikhnovskaya AD, 1976. Seasonal dynamics of organic matter in chernozems. *Pochvovedenie* 12 (in Russian).
- Buchinskii IE, 1963. Climate of Ukraine in the past, present and future. Kiev, Gosizdat agricultural literature of Ukrainian SSR (in Russian).
- Byaluii AM et al., 1953. Dynamics of organic residues in grass-field crop rotation. *Agrobiology* 5 (in Russian).
- Bystritskaya TL, Osychnyuk VV, 1975. Soils and initial biological productivity of Azov steppes. *M. Nauka* (in Russian).
- Chizhikov VV, 1967. Water movement in soil under the influence of temperature gradient. *In* Publ. of Krasnoyarsk research Institute of Agriculture, No. 4 (in Russian).
- Chulakov MA, 1961. Microbiological characteristic of virgin and cultivated dark-chestnut soils of Akhmolinsk region.
  Publ. of Institute of microbiology and virology of Kazakhstan Acad. of Sci., Vol. 4, Alma-Ata (in Russian).
- Danilevskii AF, 1967. About accumulation of root residues of corn in soil. *In* Root system and productivity of agricultural crops. Kiev, Urozhai (in Russian).
- Dimo VN, 1970. Problems of heat and phase transitions in soils. Abstracts of reports at IV Annual Meeting of Soil Scientists, Book II, Part 1, Alma-Ata, (in Russian).
- Doyarenko AG, 1926. Soil air as a composite part of soil. *Scientific-agronomic journal* 3, M. (in Russian).
- Egorov VP, Dyuryagina NI, 1973. Biological cycle of nitrogen and mineral elements on virgin and cultivated chernozems of trans-Ural. *Pochvovedenie* 11 (in Russian).

Egorov VE, 1962. From results of half-century experience on application of fertilizers in crop rotation and under monoculture crops. *Agriculture* 11 (in Russian).

- Egorov VV, Dyuryagina NI, 1972. Comparative characteristic of virgin and cultivated chernozems of trans-Ural. *Agrochemistry* 4 (in Russian).
- Egorova SV, 1966. Microflora of dark-chestnut soils. *In* Microflora of soils of southern part of USSR, *M. Nauka* (in Russian).

- Gertsyk VV, 1959. Seasonal dynamics of humus in thick chernozems. Publication of Central chernozem national reserve, 5, Kursk (in Russian).
- Globus AM, 1962. About thermo-gradient mechanisms of migration of soil and ground moisture and movement of water in frosting layer of ground. Pochvovedenie 2 (in Russian).
- Grinchenko AM, Chesnyak GYa, Chesnyak OA, 1968. Influence of agricultural crop upon evolution of soil formation process and fertility of thick chernozem of Forest-steppe of Ukraine. In Ways to increase soil fertility, Kiev, Urozhai (in Russian).
- Ikotnikova EA, 1965. Study of effect of soil treatment on its thermal regime. L., AFI, (in Russian).
- Kachinskii NA, 1975. Soil, its properties and life, M. Nauka.
- Karnaukhov BG, 1957. Changes of properties of the virgin Azov chernozem after cultivation. Pochvovedenie 8 (in Russian).
- Kisel VD, Polupan NI, 1975. Dynamics of CO<sub>2</sub> content in dark-chestnut soils. In Agrochemistry and Soil Science, Kiev, Urozhai (in Russian).
- Kokovina TP, 1965. Chemical composition of soil solutions
- of thick chernozems under virgin vegetation. Publ. Central-Chernozem reserve, 8, Voronezh.
- Kokovina TP, 1967. To the question about mineral exchange in oak-wood on thick chernozem. Publ. Central-Chernozem reserve, 10 (in Russian).
- Kolosov PI, 1924. Soil temperature as a function of the vegetation cover. Publ. Of Amur agricultural experimental station, (in Russian).
- Kononova MM, 1951. Problem of soil humus and contemporary tasks of its study. M., Academy of Science of USSR (in Russian).
- Kononova MM, 1963. Organic matter, M. (in Russian).
- Kostin, 1965. Fluctuations of climate in Russian plain in the historical era. Publ. GGO, 184 (in Russian).
- Kulakov EV, 1960. Regularities of distribution of organic residues in profile of chernozem soils of Northern Kazakhstan. Pochvovedenie 3 (in Russian).
- Kursanov LI, Microbiology M, Ukrpedgiz, 1940 (in Russian).
- Levin FI, 1972. Amelioration of podzolic soils. M., Kolos (in Russian).
- Lundegarth H, 1924. Der Kreislauf der Kohlensaure in der Natur, Jena.
- Lundegarth H, 1927. Carbon dioxide evolution of soil and crop growth. Soil Sci. 27(6).

- Lyubarskaya LS, 1960. Influence of long-term application of manure and mineral fertilizers under crop yields and soil fertility. In Influence of long-term fertilizer application on fertility of soil and productivity of crop rotations, 1, M., Ministry of Agriculture USSR (in Russian).
- Makarov BN, 1952. Dynamics of gas exchange between soil and atmosphere during vegetation period under different crops. Pochvovedenie 3 (in Russian).
- Makarov BI, 1959. Determination of CO<sub>2</sub> and O<sub>2</sub> content in soil air. Pochvovedenie 1 (in Russian).
- Makarov BN, 1988. Gas regime of soil. M., Agropromizdat (in Russian).
- Mamchenko OO, 1970a. Free amino-acids in the darkchestnut soils of Ukraine. Agrochemistry and Soil Science, 13, Kiev, Urozhai (in Russian).
- Mamchenko OO, 1970b. To the question of decomposition of the labeled analin in dark-chestnut soils. Agrochemistry and Soil Science 13, Kiev, Urozhai (in Russian).
- Matskevich VB, 1950. Observations of carbon dioxide regime in soil air of thick chernozems. Publication of the institute of Soil Science of Dokuchaev, Vol. 31 (in Russian).
- Mikhnovskaya AD, 1981. Microbiological characteristic of chernozems and its changes under the influence of cultivation and fertilization. In Chernozems of USSR (Ukraine), M., Kolos (in Russian).
- Mina VN, 1957. Biological activity of forest soils and its dependence on physico-geographic conditions and structure of stands. Pochvovedenie 19 (in Russian).
- Mishustin EN, 1949. Law of zonality and composition of bacterial population. In Publ. of Anniversary Session of Academy of Science USSR consecrated for 100-years of birthday of Dokuchaev V.V., M.-L. (in Russian).
- Mishustin EN, 1954. Law of zonality and teaching about microbial associations in soil. In Achievements of modern biology. V. 34, No.1 (in Russian).
- Mishustin EN et al., 1968. Biological fixation of atmospheric nitrogen. M. Nauka (in Russian).
- Mishustin EN, Teplyakova ZF, 1957. Virgin soils and their microflora. News of Academy of Science of Kirgiz SSR, Biology series, 12 (in Russian).
- Montulyak GS, 1960. Dynamics of soil organic matter under continuous cropping of rye. Pochvovedenie 3 (in Russian).

Nikolaeva IN, 1964. Air regime of some USSR soils. In

- Physics, chemistry, biology and mineralogy of USSR soils. *M. Nauka* (in Russian).
- Panfilov VP, Yuriev YuN, 1968. Movements of vapor moisture in chestnut soils of Kulundin steppe. *In* Reports of Siberian Soil Scientists to the IX International soil congress. Novosibirsk (in Russian).
- Petrenko MB, Glushenko VV, 1965. About activity of microbiological processes in chestnut soils. *Microbiological journal* 27(6) (in Russian).
- Ponomareva VV, Plotnikova TV, 1968. Method and some results of the fractionation of humus of chernozems. *Pochvovedenie* 11 (in Russian).
- Ponomareva VV, Plotnikova TA, 1980. Humus and soil formation (methods and results of study). *L. Nauka* (in Russian).

Predtechenskii PP, 1957. Outline of late-glacial and postglacial history of USSR climate. Publ. Laboratory of limnology, Vol. 5 (in Russian).

- Protserov AV, 1948a. Influence of the autumn water saturation of soil on the spring flow and accumulation of the precipitations. Soviet agrochemistry, M., 2, 1948 (in Russian).
- Protserov AV, 1948b. Accumulation of cold period precipitation by soil in European part of USSR. Geography, climatology and hydrology. OGIZ, Geografgiz, 1948 (in Russian).
- Remezov NP, 1952. Soils, their properties and distribution.

M., Uchpedgiz. (in Russian).

- Remezov NP, 1960. Biological cycle of elements, its role in soil formation and ways of its' study. *In* Reports of Soviet Soil Scientists to the VII International Congress in USA. M., Academy of Science of USSR (in Russian).
- Remezov NP, Rodin LE, Bazilevich NI, 1963. Methodical instructions to studying the biological cycle of mineral elements and nitrogen of aboveground plant associations in main zones of temperate belt. Botanical journal, Vol. VI, VIII, M., Academy of Science of USSR, 6 (in Russian).
- Rode AA, 1965. Basics of teaching about soil moisture. Vol.1, L., Gidrometeoizdat, 1965 (in Russian).
- Rodin LE, Bazilevich NI, 1965. Dynamics of the organic matter and biological cycle in main vegetation types. *M. Nauka* (in Russian).
- Rubinstein MI, 1959. Rate of decomposition of organic matter of virgin chernozems of Northern Kazakhstan under their cultivation. *Pochvovedenie* 11 (in Russian).
  Samtsevich SA, 1955. About seasonality and periodicity of

the microorganism evolution. Microbiology, vol. XXIV, No.5 (in Russian).

- Samtsevich SA, 1966. Microflora of southern chernozem under forest stand and under steppe. *In* Microflora of soils of northern part of USSR. *M. Nauka* (in Russian).
- Samtsevich SA, 1968. Gel root secretion of plants and their effect on soil and root microflora. *In* Methods of studying the root system productivity. International symposium, L. (in Russian).
- Schwartsbach M, 1955. Climates of the past. Introduction into paleo-climatology. M., (in Russian).
- Shalyt MS, 1950. Underground part of some meadow steppe and desert plants and phytocoenosa. Part 1, Grass and semi-shrub plants and phytocoenosa of forest (meadow) and steppe zone. Publ. of Botanical Institute of Komarov of USSR Academy of Sciences, Series 3, Geobotanic, No. 6 (in Russian).
- Shkurinov PI, 1975. Dynamics of carbon dioxide in soil air under clover. Soil science and Agrochemistry, Minsk, Urozhai, No.12 (in Russian).
- Shnitnikov AV, 1969. Intra-century variability of general moisture components. Outlines, *L. Nauka* (in Russian).
- Shulgin AM, 1972. Soil climate and its regulation. L., Gidrometeoizdat, (in Russian).
- Sidorenko AI, 1966. Changes of microflora and the microbiological processes in chestnut soils of Kulundin steppe under irrigation. *In* Biological basis of irrigated agriculture, *M. Nauka* (in Russian).
- Sidorov IS, 1958. Influence of plant residues on soil fertility. Bulletin of agricultural science, 8 (in Russian).
- Stankov NZ, 1972. Root system of field crops. M., Kolos (in Russian).
- Sultanov RA, 1972. Rate of decomposition of plant residues in ordinary chernozems of Northern Kazakhstan. Reports of Timiryazev Agricultural Academy, No 183, M. (in Russian).
- Teplyakova ZF, 1952. Aerobic cellulose-decomposing microorganisms of the Kazakhstan soils. Publ. of Institute of Soil Science of Kazakhstan Academy of Sciences, Vol. 1, Alma-Ata.
- Titova NA, 1972. Nature of humus and forms of its bonds with mineral part of virgin and cultivated soils in drysteppe of southeast of European part of USSR. *In* Organic matter of virgin and cultivated soils. *M*, *Nauka* (in Russian).
- Tomme, 1968. Mineral composition of forage. M., Kolos (in Russian).

- Torzhevskii VI, 1968. Influence of cultivation on microflora of dark-chestnut soils. Bulletin of agrarian science, Kiev, 2 (in Russian).
- Torzhevskii VI, 1972. Quantitative characteristic of group of microorganisms in dark-chestnut soils. *In* Agrochemistry and Soil Science, 2 (in Russian).
- Tukalova EI, Zapsha NA, 1976. Cycle of nitrogen and mineral elements under field crops on ordinary chernozem. *Agrochemistry* 6, (in Russian).
- Tyurin IV, 1937. Soil organic matter. *M. Selkhozgiz* (in Russian).
- Tyurin IV, 1956. Soil formation process, soil fertility and problem of nitrogen in soil science and agriculture. *Pochvovedenie* 3 (in Russian).
- Ushacheva TI, 1998. Agrochemical characteristic of soils agrocoenosa of "Askania Nova" biosphere national reserve. Actual questions of the preservation and rehabilitation of steppe ecosystems. Askania Nova (in Russian).
- Vaksman SA, 1934. Chemical and microbiological processes happening under decomposition of plant materials in soil. *In* Achievements of biological chemistry, 10 (in Russian).
- Vedenkov EP, Drogobych NE, 1998. Main summaries of reinventory of flora of natural nucleus of "Askania Nova" biosphere reserve. Actual questions of preservation and rehabilitation of the steppe ecosystems. Askania Nova, (in Russian).
- Vedenkov EP, Vedenkova AG, 1998. Correlation of productivity of the root phytocoenosa of Askania Nova with moisture regime. Actual questions of preservation and rehabilitation of the steppe ecosystem. Askania Nova, (in Russian).
- Vostrov IS, Petrova AI, 1961. Determination of the biological activity of soil by different methods. *Microbiology* 30(4) (in Russian).
- Vysotski GI, 1962. Selected works, Volume I, M., Academy of Science of USSR (in Russian).Williams, V.P., 1939. Soil science with the basics of agriculture. M., Selkhozgiz, (in Russian).

and an ery of Ostaume Caranozao, sens was carac of his ring-summer 1600, after phatting the cross. Sont was collected from three field replicates, when each termilewes composed of fire sub-samples. Sold temples were divided. Togethe parts. Malt of each composite sensite was all dried. The templater was shored in field-movement creatings as a C. raibaldanda bhliointid aibhlidh ar

The de-dried solid were ground and analyzed for total 5 (centration using a full automatic analyzed (Shineader NC (1981) Crystolic Court determined in distinguished (Solid Solid Reds) Netson and Solidness, 1999). Solid automatic of (Solid (Courted Netson and Solidness, 1999). Solid automatic of (Solid (Courted Netson and Solidness, 1999). Solid automatic of (Solid (Courted Netson and Solidness) and an excitation with 2 Solid (Courted Netson and Solid analyzed after reduction of (Courted Courted Netson). Solid and courted after reduction of (Solid (Courted Netson). Solid (Courted Courted after reduction of (Solid (Courted Netson). Solid (Courted Courted after reduction and (Solid (Courted Netson). Solid (Courted Courted Solid (Courted Solid (Courted Courted Netson). Solid (Courted Solid Solid (Courted Solid (Courted Courted Solid (Courted Courted Solid (Courted Solid (Courted Solid (Courted Courted Solid (Courted Solid Solid (Courted Solid (Courted Solid (Courted Courted Solid (Courted Solid Solid (Courted Solid (Courted Solid (Courted Courted Solid (Courted Solid (Court



-guva 1. C. Cocacionis or cosmic an association mark in Slocked soli ecological subst

## Chapter 5

## Effect of fertilization and manure application on soil organic matter dynamics of Chernozem soils in Ukraine

Elmira Karbozova-Saljnikov and Takashi Kosaki

## 5.1. Background

In Ukraine, chernozem soils are fundamentals of national agriculture: area of cultivated chernozems in Ukraine is  $21.4 \times 10^6$  ha (67.7% of total cultivated land in the country). The main crops grown are winter wheat (65-68%), corn for grain (89-93%), sunflower (95-99%) and sugar beet (80-85%). Experimental sites were located in three different soil-ecological regions (Fig. 5.1).

Mineral fertilizers are determinative for obtaining contented yield of agricultural crops. Nosko (1987) reported that application of high rates of mineral fertilizer accelerates mineralization of humus of Typical Chernozem and promotes depletion of nitrogen. However, Maximov and Kobozev (1983) and Kuszevski and Zabetowicz (1986) showed that application of mineral fertilizer significantly increases effective fertility of Chernozems and decreases losses of humus comparing with non-fertilized controls.

The role of organic fertilizer in sustaining no deficit balance of humus in soil is irreplaceable. Most of the scientists agree that prolonged application of manure either stabilizes the initial content of humus or increases its content, depending on the rates of manure application (Kononova et al., 1949; Chesnyak, 1981; Chesnyak et al., 1983; Anderson et al., 1986; Voroney, 1988; Kuszewski and Zabetowicz, 1986; Pare et al., 1999).

Proper use with the aim to conserve and restore the fertility of Chernozem soils is a most important responsibility both of scientists and practicing farmers. The main objective of this research is to study agronomic impact via fertilization, manure application and irrigation on soil organic matter (SOM) changes, both total and labile, of Chernozems in Ukraine.

### 5.2. Soil sampling and analytical methods

Soil survey on Ukrainian chernozem soils was carried out in spring-summer 2000, after planting the crops. Soil was collected from three field replicates, where each sample was composed of five sub-samples. Soil samples were divided into two parts. Half of each composite sample was air-dried. The remainder was stored in field-moisture condition at 4°C for subsequent biological analysis.

The air-dried soils were ground and analyzed for total N concentration using a full automatic analyzer (Shimadzu NC-800-13N). Organic C was determined by dichromate oxidation method (Nelson and Sommers, 1996). Soil mineral N (min-N) as  $NO_3^-$  and  $NH_4^+$  ions was analyzed after extraction with 2 M KCl solution. Nitrate N was analyzed after reduction of  $NO_3^-$  ion to  $NO_2^-$  by passing the extract through a Cd column. Ammonium N was analyzed by salicylate nitroprusside method (Keeny and Nelson, 1982). Mineral N was measured colorimetrically using Shimadzu Spectra MAX-190. Because at the time of sampling soil was almost air-dried the amount of  $NH_4^+$  was negligible for all the treatments, we plotted soil mineral N as a sum of  $NO_3^-$  and  $NH_4^+$ .





The soils were assayed for labile OM content using laboratory incubation techniques with a constant temperature of 30°C and moisture of 50% of WHC for 70 days.  $C_{\rm min}$  was measured every 14 days after incubating soil in square-plastic jar (500 mL). The evolved CO<sub>2</sub> was trapped in an alkali solution (10 ml 1 M NaOH) and measured by titration (0.5 M HCl). The alkali trap was replaced every 14 days. Potentially mineralizable C (PMC) was estimated from the rate of CO<sub>2</sub>-C evolution during 70 days of incubation using non-linear regression according to the following equation (SPSS Inc., 1998a):

 $C_{\min} = C_0 (1 - e^{-kt})$ (1) where,  $C_{\min}$  is the quantity of mineralized C (mg kg<sup>-1</sup> dry soil)

at time t (d),  $C_0$  is PMC (mg kg<sup>-1</sup> dry soil), and k is a non-linear mineralization constant, i.e. fraction mineralized d<sup>-1</sup>.

 $N_{\rm min}$  was determined after incubation of soils for 14-, 28-, 42-, 56- and 70-d and analyzed for NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup> and NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> - N. Nitrate N was analyzed after reduction of NO<sub>3</sub> ions to NO<sub>2</sub> by passing the extraction through cadmium column. Ammonium N was analyzed by salicylate nitroprusside method (Keeny and Nelson, 1982). Non-linear regression was used to describe N mineralization potential (PMN) according to the following equation (SPSS Inc., 1998a):

 $N_{\min} = N_0 (1 - e^{-k(t-c)})$ 

where,  $N_{\min}$  is the quantity of mineralized N (mg kg<sup>-1</sup> dry soil) at time t (d),  $N_0$  is PMN (mg kg<sup>-1</sup> dry soil), k is a non-linear mineralization constant, i.e. fraction mineralized d<sup>-1</sup>, and c is an initial delay in mineralization (mg kg<sup>-1</sup> dry soil). Because mineralization of N in the first 2 weeks was delayed for all the treatments the initial delay factor c was introduced in the first order kinetic model for the best fit of the model.

"Light fraction" organic matter (LF-OM) was separated by density separation using reagent-grade NaI solution adjusted to 1.8 g cm<sup>-3</sup> (Spycher et al., 1981; Sollins et al., 1984; Janzen et al., 1992; Elliot and Cambardella, 1991). After centrifugation, the floating material, i.e., the "light fraction", was transferred directly to a vacuum filtration unit. The LF-OM was then washed (three aliquots of 10 ml 0.01M CaCl<sub>2</sub> followed by three aliquots of distilled water), dried at  $70^{\circ}$ C for 15 h and weighed. The residue was resuspended and the procedure was repeated to ensure complete collection of the LF. The composite LF was finely ground and analyzed for total N and C concentrations.

Microbial biomass was retrieved by fumigation-extraction method and calculated by subtraction of values before and after fumigation and dividing by coefficient  $k_{ec}$  - 0.68 (Jenkinson and Powlson, 1976). Extracting reagent was 1 M K<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> solution in the ratio 1 to 5. Content of organic C in the K<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> extract was determined with a total organic carbon analyzer (Shimadzu, TOC-5000), whereas the content of total N in the extract was determined photometrically at 220 nm after potassium peroxodisulfate oxidation treatment (Japanese Industrial Standards Committee 1991).

All variables were subjected to a one-way analysis of variance using SYSTAT software (SPSS Inc., 1998b). Where significant treatment effects were observed (p=0.001), LSD analyses were performed to permit separation of means.

Cosmb 1980 Comments for Diverse Char (\* 80

## 5.3. Effect of manure application in Kharkov experimental site

Sampling scheme in Kharkov experimental site is shown in Table 5.1. Soils from two treatments that are control and manure application were collected from two phases of the 9y rotation that are sugar beet (SB in control and SB+O in manured rotation) and pea (P in control and P+O in manured rotation). Manure was applied twice a rotation after harvest of sugar beet 30 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>, and after harvest of sunflower 30 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>.

## 5.3.1. Soil organic carbon and total nitrogen

Amount of organic carbon and total nitrogen is shown in Table 5.2. Total nitrogen levels were not significantly changed under the long-term application of manure as shown by the same letters, whereas amount of organic carbon was higher under crops in manured rotation (SB+O and P+O) compared to the control (SB and P).

 Table 5.1. Sampling scheme at the Kharkov experimental site for 9-year crop rotation.

| Rotation | 1      | 2     | 3*                   | 4*        | 5     | 6    | 7      | 8      | 9         |
|----------|--------|-------|----------------------|-----------|-------|------|--------|--------|-----------|
| Control  | fallow | wheat | sugar beet<br>(SB)   | pea (P)   | wheat | corn | barley | millet | sunflower |
| Manured  | fallow | wheat | sugar beet<br>(SB+O) | pea (P+O) | wheat | corn | barley | millet | sunflower |

\* Sampled sites are bold.

Higher amount of organic carbon in manured rotation is due to composition of manure. Cattle manure contains wheat straw that has wide C-to-N ratio (20-25/1) (Ilyaletdinov, 1988), which contributes to the soil organic carbon after being transformed into humic substances.

## 5.3.2. Soil mineral nitrogen

Enhanced mineralization processes under sugar beet are also well presented by the data of soil mineral nitrogen (min-N) (Fig. 5.2). Significantly higher accumulation of min-N was observed under sugar beet phase (SB and SB+O) than under pea phase (P and P+O) in both control and manured rotations. Application of manure did not show high accumulation of mineral N because soil sampling was done shortly after application of manure and readily mineralizable N of the manure was released after sampling during incubation showing high PMN.





## 5.3.3. Nitrogen mineralization potentials

Amount of mineralized nitrogen (PMN) during 70 days of laboratory incubation of Typical Chernozem (Kharkov) was too small to fit the first order kinetic model. Therefore, in this section absolute data of PMN is presented in Fig. 5.3. The greatest amount of PMN was under manured pea (P+O), followed by non-manured pea (P), and significantly less PMN was under sugar beet, both manured (SB+O) and control (SB). Amount of PMN was not different under sugar beet in the control and manured rotations (SB and SB+O). However, it was significantly different under pea in the control and manured rotations (P and P+O).

Manure was applied at pea phase (P+O), while sugar beet (SB+O) was the most distant crop from manure application. Manure itself a great source of labile organic matter, containing large amounts of readily mineralizable nitrogen fractions. Subsequently, applied manure greatly



**Figure 5.3.** Potentially mineralizable nitrogen in manure application experiment.

| haaaa      | Tuestinente                         | Manure  | Organic C          | Total N      | - CAL           |
|------------|-------------------------------------|---|--------------------|--------------|-----------------|
| Fllases    | Treatments                          | application   | g kg <sup>-1</sup> | - C/IN ratio |                 |
| SB         | Sugar beet                          | no  | 21.9a              | 2.41a        | ė               |
| Ρ          | Pea                                 | no  | 24.8a              | 2.48a        | 10              |
| B+O        | Sugar beet<br>(manured<br>rotation) | Pre-manure<br>phase<br>Post-                              | 26.4b              | 2.52a        | (10-412<br>10.5 |
| <b>›+O</b> | Pea<br>(manured)<br>rotation        | manure<br>phase<br>30 Mg ha <sup>-1</sup><br>for rotation | 27.1b*             | 2.58a        | 10.5 mm         |

**Table 5.2.** Organic carbon and total nitrogen concentrations in the phases of the rotation upon manure application, Kharkov.

contributed to the amounts of PMN in **P+O** treatment by quickly decomposing during incubation and exerting a shortterm effect on the accumulation of PMN. However, by the time of planting sugar beet (that is 9 years after the manure application) most of the manure was decomposed. Therefore, values of soil mineral N under **SB** and **SB+O** were nearly the same.

## 5.3.4. Carbon mineralization potentials

Potentially mineralizable carbon (PMC) was estimated from the rate of  $CO_2$ -C evolved during 70 days of laboratory incubation using non-linear regression according to the following equation (SPSS Inc., 1998a):  $C_{\min}=C_0(1-e^{-kt})$ , where,  $C_{\min}$  is a quantity of mineralized carbon (mg kg<sup>-1</sup> soil) at time t (days),  $C_0$  is amount of PMC (mg kg<sup>-1</sup> soil), and k is the nonlinear mineralization constant, i.e. fraction mineralized per day.

Carbon mineralization pattern of Kharkov experimental site is shown in Fig. 5.4. In both control and manured rotations

the pea phase (**P** and **P+O**) maintained the higher values of PMC than the sugar beet phase (**SB** and **SB+O**). The values of PMC under sugar beet in both control and manured were nearly the same (657 and 670 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> soil) correspondingly. And values of PMC under pea in control and manured rotations were also nearly the same (995 and 1001 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> soil). Manure was applied after harvest of the sugar beet that is nearly 32 months passed before planting of next season sugar beet. During those 32 months N was either released from the applied manure and utilized by plants and/or stabilized and became a part of soil organic matter (Aleksandrova, 1980; Kharin, 1993). This explains the similar values of PMC in control and manured rotation under sugar beet.

However, under pea the amount of PMC was also nearly the same in control and manured rotations ( $\mathbf{P}$  and  $\mathbf{P+O}$ ). This suggests that carbon mineralization was more affected by the technology of crop cultivation rather than by application of the manure. Sugar beet is a row crop with wide inter-row

**Table 5.3.** "Light fraction" dry matter (LFDM), "light fraction" carbon and nitrogen (LFC and LFN) in the phases of the rotation in Kharkov.

| Phase, rotation   | Manure              | LEDIC | LFC LFN | TITAT | I C/N | Soil organic C and total N (%) |        |  |
|-------------------|---------------------|-------|---------|-------|-------|--------------------------------|--------|--|
|                   | application         | LLDIM |         | LIIN  |       | as LFC                         | as LFN |  |
| Sugar beet (SB)   | no                  | 4.32  | 46.9    | 1013  | 22    | 1.56                           | 3.27   |  |
| Pea (P)           | no                  | 4.92  | 63.4    | 1239  | 20    | 2.08                           | 3.80   |  |
| Sugar beet (SB+O) | Pre-manure<br>phase | 4.56  | 49.3    | 967   | 20    | 1.56                           | 2.84   |  |
| Pea (P+O)         | Post- manure phase  | 7.85  | 105.8   | 1714  | 16    | 3.38                           | 4.91   |  |

Sugar beet (SB)

Pea (P)



**Figure 5.4.** Fitting curves of C mineralization in fertilization experiment as described with the first order kinetic model:  $C_{\min} = C_0(1 - e^{-kt})$ , where  $C_{\min}$  is a mineralized C at time t,  $C_0$  is a potentially mineralizable C (PMC), k is the mineralization rate constant.

spaces; therefore the technology of its cultivation includes multiple cultivation of the field during the vegetation season in order to prevent weed infestation. Such intensive mechanical disturbance promotes mineralization of both SOM and manure. Also, row crops leave few residues on the filed. In the contrary, pea is a dense crop that is not cultivated during growing season, and that leaves much more plant residues, especially roots that contributes to the SOM as easily mineralizable source of C.

#### 5.3.5. "Light fraction" organic matter

The data of "light fraction" organic matter (LFOM) is shown in Table 5.3. Although the amount of LFOM accounted only for 1.6-3.4 % of the organic C and 2.8-4.9 % of the total N, LFOM was highly responsive to the phase of the rotation. Both, "light fraction" C (LFC) and N (LFN) and their proportions in the total SOM were significantly higher under pea than under sugar beet in both control (**P** and **SB**) and manured (**P+O** and **SB+O**) rotations. Noticeably, similar as for PMC, LFC and LFN were more influenced by the rotation phase rather than by application of manure. The highest amounts of LFC and LFN and "light fraction" dry matter (LFDM) were observed under manured pea (P+O). This is due to the composition of the applied cattle manure that consists of straw and animal remains in different stages of decomposition that contributes to the "light fraction" weight in soil.

## 5.3.6. Microbial biomass

Data on microbial biomass analysis are shown in Table 5.4. Microbial biomass was significantly affected by the manure application, but was not affected by the phase of the rotation. Pea after manure application (P+O) showed the highest content of microbial biomass carbon (MBC) and microbial biomass nitrogen (MBN), while sugar beet in manured rotation (SB+O) showed the lowest content of MBC and MBN. The increased amount of microbial biomass, in the treatment after application of manure, was expected.

**Table 5.4.** Microbial biomass carbon and nitrogen content as influenced by manure application in a rotation, Kharkov.

| 5 K. 101, 111 F      |                     |                     |                          |      |                     |                    |
|----------------------|---------------------|---------------------|--------------------------|------|---------------------|--------------------|
| Phase,               | Manure              | MBC                 | MBN                      | C/N  | Soil organic<br>N ( | C and total<br>(%) |
| rotation             | application -       | mg kg <sup>-1</sup> | mg kg <sup>-1</sup> soil |      | as MBC as MBN       |                    |
| Sugar beet<br>(SB)   | no                  | 446                 | 34.98                    | . 13 | 1.42                | 1.15               |
| Pea (P)              | no                  | 447                 | 33.89                    | 13   | 1.38                | 1.12               |
| Sugar beet<br>(SB+O) | Pre-manure<br>phase | 297                 | 29.39                    | 8    | 0.88                | 0.93               |
| Pea (P+O)            | Post-<br>manure     | 544                 | 37.34                    | 19   | 1.56                | 1.2                |

 Table 5.5. Sampling scheme in Uman experimental site from 10-year crop rotation.

| Rotation,<br>treatment                                   | fertilizer<br>Clover                              | (sampled)<br>wheat        | s. beet: | corn grain    | peas      | wheat  | corn silage | wheat               | s. beet | barley+clover | sum of the<br>rotation                                  |
|--|---|---------------------------|----------|---------------|-----------|--|-------------|---------------------|---------|---------------|---|
| M1<br>N <sub>45</sub> P <sub>45</sub> K <sub>45</sub>    | (NH <sub>4</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub>   | 45                        | 90       | 50            | 10        | 45   | 50          | 45                  | 90      | 25            | 450<br>kg N ha <sup>-1</sup>                            |
| M3<br>N <sub>135</sub> P <sub>135</sub> K <sub>135</sub> | (NH <sub>4</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub> 5 | 50 135                    | 180      | 200           | 60        | 135  | 200         | 135                 | 180     | 75            | 1350<br>kg N ha <sup>-1</sup>                           |
| <b>0</b>   | manure  | bus nati                  | 45       | oim lo a      | ster the  | notititi)  | 45          | uluqs y             | 45      |               | 135 Mg ha <sup>-1</sup><br>(675 kg N ha <sup>-1</sup> ) |
| OMI  | (NH <sub>4</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub>   | 22.5                      | 30       | 50            | 2003)<br> | 22.5   | 22.5        | 22.5                | 30      | 25            | 225<br>kg N ha <sup>-1</sup>                            |
| OIVII  | manure  | 6494.<br>1886 - 1997 - 19 | 15       | 5.05.<br>5.85 | e-9.646.  | aa<br>As <sup>2</sup> asta                         | 15          |                     | 15      |               | 45 Mg ha <sup>-1</sup><br>(225 kg N ha <sup>-1</sup> )  |
| OM2  | (NH <sub>4</sub> ) <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub>   | 67.5                      | 90       | 150           | 20        | 67.5   | 75          | 67.5                | 90      | 47.5          | 675<br>kg N ha <sup>-1</sup>                            |
| OIVI3<br>Nev Pisette                                     | manure  | Zin<br>Zister             | 45       |               |           | antini + <sub>53</sub><br>Inisini × <sub>6</sub> 3 | 45          | n dy 191<br>Station | 45      |               | 135 Mg ha <sup>-1</sup><br>(675 kg N ha <sup>-1</sup> ) |

Cattle manure contains a large amount of microorganisms that contribute to the soil microbial biomass.

### 5.3.7. Discussion

The presented results are agree with other findings reporting that manure application increases amount of labile forms of organic matter in soil, because it contains "ready" humic compounds that include both soluble and insoluble forms. Soluble forms are partially decomposed by microorganisms and partially fixed and stabilized in soil. Also, application of manure tends to accelerate mineralization of soil organic matter as well, (Aleksandrova, 1980; Kharin, 1993) due to addition of large number of microorganisms that reside in manure.

## 5.4. Effect of fertilization and manure application at Uman experimental site

Sampling scheme of Uman experimental site is shown in Table 5.5. Soils in Uman were collected from treatments with different rates of organic and mineral fertilizers: 1) control (**CON**, no fertilization); 2) low rate mineral fertilization (**M1**), 3) high rate mineral fertilization (**M3**), 4) manure application (**O**), 5) combination of low rates of mineral and organic fertilization (**MO1**) and 6) combination of high rates of organic and mineral fertilizers (**MO3**). One Mg of cattle manure contains approximately 5 kg of N. Therefore, total N applied with fertilizer and manure in the treatments were: M1=450 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> rotation<sup>-1</sup>; M3=1350 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> rotation<sup>-1</sup>; OM1=450 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> rotation<sup>-1</sup>; OM3=1350 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> rotation<sup>-1</sup>.

## 5.4.1. Soil organic carbon and total nitrogen

Content of organic carbon and total nitrogen in differently fertilized treatments is shown in Table 5.6. The content of soil organic carbon was not increased after 36 years application of fertilizers in most of the treatments; compared to the control. However, application of high rates of manure (**O**) alone maintained the higher soil organic carbon content.

Manure contains humic acids (Aleksandrova 1980). Therefore, application of manure results in accumulation of humic acids in soil and favors humification processes (Kononova, 1951, 1956; Mamontov, 1971). As this experiment has been performed since 1964, the long-term input of high rates of manure contributed to SOM via direct inputs of humic acids into the soil, showing the higher soil organic C than in other treatments without manure application. Content of total nitrogen in the treatments was not statistically different as indicated by the same letters in Table 5.6.

Insignificant effect of the mineral fertilizers on the accumulation of soil organic C and N is probably due to quick depletion of mineral fertilizer in the soil either by means of microbial utilization (Ilyaletdinov, 1988) and by plant consumption, or by direct losses via leaching and/or volatilization.

## 5.4.2. Soil mineral nitrogen

Data of soil mineral nitrogen (min-N) is shown in Fig. 5.5. The highest content of min-N was obtained in OM3 and M3 treatments, followed by O, OM1 and M1 treatments. As shown in Table 5.5, M3 and OM3 treatments received the highest rate of N that was 1350 kg of N per ha per rotation





**Table 5.6.** Organic carbon and total nitrogen concentrations as influenced by application of different rates of mineral fertilizer and manure.

| Treatments | Fertilization rates<br>kg ha <sup>-1</sup> year <sup>-1</sup> | Organic C<br>g kg | Total N<br><sup>1</sup> soil | C/N ratio |  |
|------------|---|-------------------|------------------------------|-----------|--|
| CON        | no  | 20.4a             | 1.64a                        | 12        |  |
| M1         | N45P45K45   | 19.6a             | 1.62a                        | 12        |  |
| M3         | N <sub>135</sub> P <sub>135</sub> K <sub>135</sub>            | 20.8a             | 1.76a                        | 12        |  |
| 0          | Manure N <sub>67.5</sub>                                      | 21.9b             | 1.77a                        | 12        |  |
| OM1        | $N_{22}P_{34}K_{18}$ + manure $N_{22.5}$                      | 20.4a             | 1.71a                        | 12        |  |
| OM3        | N22P34K18 + manure N67.5                                      | 20.1a             | 1.72a                        | 12        |  |

that was the reason of the increased amount of min-N.

Generally, min-N was distributed proportionally to the amount of applied N. But some difference was observed between application of mineral N alone and combination of N applied with mineral fertilizer and manure. For example, **M1** and **OM1** treatments received the same amount of N in whole rotation, where **M1** treatment received only mineral N, and **OM1** treatment received 50% N from the mineral fertilizer and 50% N from the manure. Similar pattern was observed in the case of **M3** and **OM3**. This is due to quick depletion of applied fertilizer N (discussed earlier in this chapter), while N of the manure was decomposed more slowly supplying the soil with min-N longer period.

#### 5.4.3. Nitrogen mineralization potentials

Data on potentially mineralizable nitrogen (PMN) were obtained after fitting the data of mineralized N to the first order kinetic model by using the following equation (SPSS Inc., 1998b):  $N_{\min} = N_0(1 - e^{-kt}))$ , where,  $N_{\min}$  is a quantity of mineralized N (mg kg<sup>-1</sup> soil) at time t (days),  $N_0$  is PMN (mg kg<sup>-1</sup> soil), k is a non-linear mineralization constant, i.e. fraction mineralized per day.

Nitrogen mineralization pattern is shown in Fig. 5.6. Mineralization rate among the treatments varied significantly (p<0.05). The treatments where the high rates of manure were applied showed higher mineralization rate. This is most probably explained by the manure composition that contains organic substances, which have higher potentials to release mineral N under laboratory conditions. All treatments but **OM3** have lowered their mineralization rate by the end of incubation (56-70 days). **OM3** is the treatment that received mineral fertilizer and high rate of manure. Nitrogen of the mineral fertilizer might serve as an easy available substrate for microorganisms at the beginning of the incubation.

Then, after the available mineral nitrogen was depleted by microbial utilization, the nitrogen of the manure was

| Tractmont | Fertilization rates   | n rates PMC PMN |       | CAT    | Soil organic C and total N (%) |     |
|-----------|---|-----------------|-------|--------|--------------------------------|-----|
| Treatment | kg ha <sup>-1</sup> year <sup>-1</sup> mg kg <sup>-1</sup> soil   |                 | C/N   | as PMC | as PMN                         |     |
| CON       | no  | 960             | 75.6  | 12.7   | 4.7                            | 4.6 |
| M1        | N45P45K45 <sup>ii</sup>   | 729             | 84.6  | 8.6    | 3.7                            | 5.2 |
| M3        | N <sub>135</sub> P <sub>135</sub> K <sub>135</sub> <sup>iii</sup> | 1195            | 78.5  | 15.2   | 5.7                            | 4.5 |
| 0         | Manure N <sub>67.5</sub>  | 1159            | 96.4  | 12.0   | 5.3                            | 5.4 |
| OM1       | $N_{22}P_{34}K_{18}$ + manure $N_{22.5}$                          | 1207            | 88.2  | 13.7   | 5.9                            | 5.2 |
| OM3       | $N_{22}P_{34}K_{18}$ + manure $N_{67.5}$                          | 1036            | 151.9 | 6.8    | 5.2                            | 8.8 |



**Figure 5.6.** Fitting curves of nitrogen mineralization in fertilization experiment in Uman, as described with the first order kinetic model:  $N_{\min}=N_0(1-e^{-kt})$ , where  $N_{\min}$  is the mineralized N at time t,  $N_0$  is the potentially mineralizable N (PMN), k is the mineralization rate constant. exposed to microbial attack showing high mineralization rate after 70 days of incubation, while in O treatment, manure was attacked from the beginning because no mineral N was added to the soil. Manure consists of labile as well as of non-labile fractions of organic compounds. After the labile fractions of manure (mainly fulvic acids) were mineralized, the mineralization rate was slowed down thus showing lowered rate after eight weeks of incubation.

Potentially mineralizable nitrogen content was the highest in the treatments where high rates of manure were applied that are **O** and **OM3** (Table 5.7). Manure was applied about 19 months before the soil sampling (after harvest of sugar beet). During about 8 months the soil was frozen and no microbial activity was undergoing. According to studies of Kharin (1993), it takes about 275 days to start releasing

mineral N from manure, and about 391 days for complete mineralization or for reaching the stabilization point. By the time of sampling manure had been releasing N for about 90 days, therefore, during the laboratory incubation manure continued to release mineral N, showing higher PMN in **O** and **OM3** treatments.

#### 5.4.4. Carbon mineralization potentials

Potentially mineralizable carbon (PMC) is shown in Fig. 5.7. Generally, distribution of PMC didn't correlate with the applied N. Distribution of PMC among the treatments was different from the distribution of PMN, having significantly higher PMC content in **O** than in **OM3** treatment. The lowest amount of PMC was obtained under **OM1** treatment, where low rates of both mineral and manure nitrogen was applied.

**Table 5.8.** "Light fraction" dry matter (LFDM), "light fraction" carbon and nitrogen (LFC and LFN) in manure application and fertilization experiment. Uman.

| Taratarat | Fertilization rates   | LFDM                    | LFN                      | LFC  | CAL | Soil organic C and total N (%) |        |
|-----------|---|-------------------------|--------------------------|------|-----|--------------------------------|--------|
| Treatment | kg ha <sup>-1</sup> year <sup>-1</sup>                            | g kg <sup>-1</sup> soil | mg kg <sup>-1</sup> soil |      | C/N | as LFN                         | as LFC |
| CON       | no  | 4.21                    | 58.2                     | 1025 | 18  | 3.3                            | 4.7    |
| M1        | N45P45K45 <sup>ii</sup>   | 4.04                    | 54.6                     | 909  | 17  | 3.1                            | 4.2    |
| M3        | N <sub>135</sub> P <sub>135</sub> K <sub>135</sub> <sup>iii</sup> | 4.15                    | 60.4                     | 915  | 15  | 3.2                            | 4.1    |
| 0         | Manure N <sub>67.5</sub>  | 6.09                    | 82.8                     | 1333 | 16  | 4.3                            | 5.6    |
| OM1       | $N_{22}P_{34}K_{18}$ + manure $N_{22.5}$                          | 5.71                    | 60.1                     | 994  | 17  | 3.2                            | 4.5    |
| OM3       | $N_{22}P_{34}K_{18}$ + manure $N_{67.5}$                          | 6.25                    | 80.7                     | 1459 | 18  | 4.3                            | 6.7    |



**Figure 5.7.** Fitting curves of C mineralization in fertilization experiment, Uman, as described with the first order kinetic model:  $C_{min} = C_0(1 - e^{-kt})$ , where  $C_{min}$  is the mineralized C at time t,  $C_0$  is the potentially mineralizable C (PMC), k is a mineralization rate constant.

| Treatment | Fertilization rates   | MBC   | MBN   | CAT    | Soil organic C and total N (%) |      |  |
|-----------|---|-------|-------|--------|--------------------------------|------|--|
| Treatment | kg ha <sup>-1</sup> year <sup>-1</sup> mg kg <sup>-1</sup> soil   |       | C/N   | as MBC | as MBN                         |      |  |
| CON       | no  | 459a  | 33.3a | 14.0   | 2.09                           | 2.02 |  |
| M1        | N45P45K45 <sup>ii</sup>   | 586b  | 35.5a | 17.0   | 2.72                           | 2.19 |  |
| M3        | N <sub>135</sub> P <sub>135</sub> K <sub>135</sub> <sup>iii</sup> | 531c  | 21.3b | 25.0   | 2.35                           | 1.21 |  |
| 0         | Manure N <sub>67.5</sub>  | 566bc | 85.3c | 7.0    | 2.40                           | 4.81 |  |
| OM1       | $N_{22}P_{34}K_{18}$ + manure $N_{22.5}$                          | 585b  | 71.5d | 8.0    | 2.64                           | 4.19 |  |
| OM3       | $N_{22}P_{34}K_{18}$ + manure $N_{67.5}$                          | 677d  | 69.6d | 10.0   | 3.10                           | 4.05 |  |

 Table 5.9. Microbial biomass in fertilization experiment, Uman.

The distribution of PMC and PMN among the treatments was poorly correlated (r=0.36). In studies of Ilyaletdinov (1988), the amount of mineralized C also did not correspond to applied nitrogen. He found that after adding 0, 10, 30 and 100% N with straw, 18, 22, 18 and 19% of the applied N mineralized, respectively.

Content of SOC, amount of PMC and proportion of PMC in total organic carbon were higher in **O** treatment. Therefore, suggestion is that under prolonged application of high rates of manure, both humification and mineralization processes are intensified. Similar observations were made by a number of other authors (e.g., Kharin, 1988; Mamilov 1998; Ilyletdinov, 1988; Broadbent, 1968).

#### 5.4.5. "Light fraction" organic matter

The data of "light fraction" organic matter (LFOM) are given in Table 5.8. Both LFC and LFN and their proportions in the SOM were the highest in the treatments where high rates of manure were applied that are **O** and **OM3**. This was expected and is explained by the contribution of manure to the accumulation of soil "light fraction" because it contains mixture of decomposing both plant and animal organic remains.

## 5.4.6. Microbial biomass

Results of microbial biomass carbon and nitrogen (MBC and MBN) are given in Table 5.9. MBN in the treatments where manure was applied amounted from 72 to 85 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> soil. In the treatments where no manure was applied MBN amounted from 21 to 36 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> soil. Moreover, application of the high rate of mineral fertilizer alone decreased the MBN content. The ratio of MBC to MBN also shows distinctive difference between the treatments where high ratio was observed under the mineral fertilization and lower ratio under the manure application. Noticeably, highest carbon to nitrogen ratio was under the highest rate of mineral fertilization (M3) and the lowest was under the high rate of manure application (O3). This is most probably due to the fact that **Table 5.10.** Sampling scheme in Kherson experimental sitefrom 7-year crop rotation.

| K. G. S. C. Standard  | irrigation no irrigation                 |
|---|--|
| fertilization<br>no fertilization   | IF F<br>I CON                            |
| ter i serie a seconda se contra | a ha |

mineral fertilizer causes intensive utilization of added nitrogen by microorganisms.

## 5.4.7. Discussion

To synthesize protein cell substances microorganisms intensively utilize ammonia and nitrate N that enters soil with fertilizer. Manure consists of large amount of LFOM that is easily accessible to microbial attack thus contributing to the release of mineral N, and at the same time the humic substances, originally present in the manure might directly contribute to the soil humus. Although the amount of microbial biomass is negligible in the total pool of SOM, microbial tissue might contribute to the synthesis of humic substances. In his study of N transformations Tarvis (1973) found that if the percentage of utilized nitrogen amounts to 50%, as much as 30-40% of the total N is immobilized.

Concentration of PMN and PMC in soil is greatly controlled by mechanisms of immobilization and mineralization of SOM by microorganisms. In Broadbent's experiment (1968) on nitrogen immobilization in soil with added barley straw and labeled ammonium sulfate, most of the labeled nitrogen was included into complex organic compounds of humic and fulvic acid type. Ilyaletdinov (1988) in his study established that in the initial period (10-30 days), mixing of straw with mineral nitrogen decreases the content of mineral nitrogen, while the amount of organic nitrogen in the non-distillable acid-soluble fraction is increase. After 10 days as much as 38.9% of nitrogen was included in this hard fraction and 13.4% was included in other fractions of organic matter. Therefore, there is a high probability that in the present study the PMN was subjected to immobilization by microorganisms after 56 days of incubation.

## 5.5. Effect of fertilization and irrigation in Kherson experimental site

Sampling scheme of the Kherson experiments is given in Table 5.10. Soils from: 1) irrigated plus fertilized treatment (I+F), 2) irrigated only (I); 3) fertilized only (F) and 4) control that was neither fertilized nor irrigated (CON); were sampled from 7-year crop rotation experiment initiated in 1967. The crop rotation was 1.alfalfa, 2. alfalfa (sampled phase), 3. alfalfa, 4.wheat, 5. corn, 6.wheat, and 7. corn. Samples were taken from the second year of the rotation that is alfalfa second year stand. Fertilization rate: N<sub>120</sub>P<sub>120</sub>K<sub>120</sub> kg/ha; Irrigation rate: 3200 m<sup>3</sup> ha<sup>-1</sup> (alfalfa).

## 5.5.1. Soil organic carbon and total nitrogen

Analysis of variance showed that soil organic carbon (SOC) and total nitrogen (TN) were not statistically different among treatments. However, some differences were observed among the treatments in accumulating SOM (Table 5.11).

Table 5.11. Organic carbon and total nitrogen concentration in irrigation experiment, Kherson.

| Treatments    | Applied treatment        | Organic C<br>g kg | Total N<br><sup>1</sup> soil | C/N |
|---------------|--------------------------|-------------------|------------------------------|-----|
| I+F           | Irrigated and fertilized | 16.7a             | 1.29a                        | 13  |
| F             | Fertilized               | 16.4a             | 1.25a                        | 13  |
| ann anns Inns | Irrigated                | 15.8a             | 1.24a                        | 13  |
| CON           | no                       | 15.5a             | 1.17a                        | 13  |

\*Fertilizer was applied as N120P120K120 for every fertilization treatment at rates indicated as subscripted mark.

\*Irrigation water was applied at rate of 3200m<sup>3</sup> ha<sup>-1</sup> for every irrigated treatment.

Irrigation and fertilization (I+F)





0 20 40 60 80 incubation (d)



incubation (d)

Contents of SOC and TN were by 7.19% and 9.30%, respectively, greater in I+F treatments than in the control (CON). The higher accumulation of SOC and TN under I+F treatment is due to higher biomass production that contributes to SOM. Fertilization (F) or irrigation (I) alone maintained similar amount of organic C and total N.

In dry conditions with limited amount of rainfall, fertilization is not effective for biomass production because the applied fertilizer cannot be dissolved and be available for plant consumption.

### 5.5.2. Soil mineral nitrogen

Data on soil mineral nitrogen (min-N) is shown in Fig. 5.8. Soil min-N was different among the treatments at p=0.1. The greatest differences were observed between I+F with non-irrigated treatments (F and CON).

Irrigated treatment accumulated higher min-N than the non-irrigated because irrigation of dry soil results in



Figure 5.9. Fitting curves of nitrogen mineralization in fertilization experiment, Kherson, as described by the first order kinetic model:  $N_{min} = N_0 (1 - e^{-kt})$ , where  $N_{min}$  is the mineralized N at time  $t, N_0$  is the potentially mineralizable N (PMN), k is the mineralization rate constant.

heightened microbial biomass that accelerates mineralization processes in soil. The drying and moistening of soil can explain another reason of the higher accumulation of min-N under irrigation. Moistening of dry soil causes disruption of organic compounds as well as soil particles that may contain organic substances. Subsequently, the disrupted organic material is more sensitive for microbial attack. Alternate drying and moistening increases the mobility of organic matter and results in the release of N as ammonium and amides (Ilyaletdinov, 1988).

#### 5.5.3. Nitrogen mineralization potentials

Potentially mineralizable nitrogen (PMN) was significantly different (p=0.01) among the treatments with the highest mineralization rate under I+F treatment (Fig. 5.9). The highest accumulation of mineralizable N (PMN) was also obtained under the I+F treatment (Table 5.12), while all other treatments maintained statistically not different amounts of PMN.

I+F treatment maintained higher plant biomass that

returned and accumulated on soil surface. And when the soil was placed under the favorable laboratory conditions, those accumulated residues were subjected to mineralization showing higher PMN.

Fertilization alone (F) had suppressed mineralization on the field because of deficiency of water necessary for microbial activity. But when the soil was placed under favorable laboratory conditions it mineralized available organic substrate, thus giving nearly the same amount of PMN as the irrigated treatment.

### 5.5.4. Carbon mineralization potentials

Irrigated plus fertilized treatment (I+F) showed the highest carbon mineralization rate as well as amount of PMC in 70 d (Fig. 5.10; Table 5.12). Irrigation of dry soil disrupts soil structure thereby making previously sequestered carbon available for microbial utilization (Lundquist et al., 1999). Bottner (1985) found that soil drying destroyed 1/3 to 1/4 of biomass, and after remoistening the biomass was progressively restored to approximately the same size as

## Table 5.12. Mineralizable carbon and nitrogen (PMC and PMN) in irrigation experiment, Kherson.

| Tractment | Treatment Applied treatment |                     | PMC PMN C/N |      | Soil organic C and total N (%) |        |  |
|-----------|-----------------------------|---------------------|-------------|------|--------------------------------|--------|--|
| Treatment | Applieu treatment           | mg kg <sup>-1</sup> | soil        | C/N  | as PMC                         | as PMN |  |
| I+F       | Irrigated and fertilized    | 1522                | 171.7       | 8.9  | 9.11                           | 13.31  |  |
| F         | Fertilized                  | 1416                | 160.6       | 8.8  | 8.63                           | 12.84  |  |
| Ι         | Irrigated                   | 1105                | 107.6       | 10.2 | 6.99                           | 8.68   |  |
| CON       | no                          | 858                 | 95.9        | 8.9  | 5.53                           | 8.20   |  |

80

60



20 40 60 80 0 20 40 incubation (d) incubation (d)



before drying.

In this study, the desiccation of soil and high temperatures has probably caused death of microorganisms that were immobilized during desiccation via adsorption on clay surfaces and/or transformation into another forms of organic compounds. Then, the following irrigation revived microbial community and disrupted soil clay particles that released stabilized organic matter. van Gestel (1993b) reported that extra mineralized <sup>14</sup>C, due to soil desiccation, came from nonliving residues, likely to be those that were stabilized by adsorption to clay surfaces.

Proportions of mineralizable fractions of carbon and nitrogen (PMC and PMN) are shown in Table 5.12. The highest percentage of PMC and PMN were under I+F treatment. This is in accordance with the earlier discussion and confirms the hypothesis that there are at least two reasons responsible for it: firstly, irrigation of dry soil causes enhanced mineralization of soil organic matter, and secondly, fertilization of irrigated soil provides higher plant biomass that contributes to the accumulation of labile organic matter.

## 5.5.5. "Light fraction" organic matter

CON

"Light fraction" dry matter (LFDM), carbon (LFC), nitrogen (LFN) and their proportions in soil organic carbon (SOC) and total nitrogen (TN) was the highest under I+F treatment (Table 5.13). One of the reasons is, as discussed earlier, higher biomass production in this treatment, hence higher organic substrate added with residues. Desiccation that caused the death of a large number of microorganisms, followed by immobilization and condensation of their dead tissues in such way increasing the amount of recalcitrant, soluble organic C is another reason (Lundquist, 1999). Moreover, irrigation of desiccated soil also causes the death of microorganisms due to the osmoregulatory shock (van Gestel, 1993a) that also could contribute to the LFOM.

## 5.5.6. Microbial biomass

Microbial biomass carbon (MBC) and nitrogen (MBN) significantly differed among the treatments (Table 5.14). The highest MBC and MBN were obtained under the irrigation alone (I) treatment followed by the irrigated plus fertilized (I+F) treatment. And the least microbial biomass was obtained under the fertilized alone (F) treatment.

Such distribution of microbial biomass was expected because moisture conditions are a major factor controlling survival and activity of microorganisms in the soil. (Pulleman and Tietema, 1999). Drying and remoistening of soils strongly influences microbial biomass and activity (Lund and Goksoyr, 1980; Orchard and Cook, 1983; Bottner, 1985). After remoistening of dried soil, available C components were assimilated and transformed partly into new biomass C, and partly involved into  $CO_2$  that evolved into the atmosphere (van Gestel et al., 1993a).

## 5.5.7. Discussion

Cattle manure contains "ready" humic substances that can be directly and immediately involved in immobilization processes. At present, there is a little information about the quantity of humic substances in manure. According to Aleksandrova (1980), there are about 38% of humic substances in manure. Chesnyak (1986) reported that "ready" humic substances applied with manure might be thermodynamically non-stable and therefore be subjected to fast decomposition and mineralization. Probably, these non-stable organic substances in manure were the main source of mineralized C and N resulting in increased

| Table 5.13. "Light frac | ction" dry matter | (LFDM). carbon | (LFC) and nitro | gen (LFN) | ) in irrigation experiment | . Kherson. |
|-------------------------|-------------------|----------------|-----------------|-----------|----------------------------|------------|
|                         |                   | · //           |                 |           |                            |            |

| Treatment                                      | Applied treatment  | LFDM<br>g mg <sup>-1</sup> soil         | LFC<br>mg k  | LFN<br>g <sup>-1</sup> soil                | C/N                          | Soil organic C<br>as LFC  | and total N (%)<br>as LFN  |
|--|--|---|--|--|------------------------------|---|----------------------------|
| I+F  | Irrigated and fertilized   | 9.27                                    | 1884   | 122  | 15                           | 11.3  | 9.4                        |
| F  | Fertilized   | 8.52                                    | 1591   | 104  | 15                           | 9.7   | 8.4                        |
| Ι  | Irrigated  | 6.49                                    | 1589   | 104  | 15                           | 10.0  | 8.4                        |
| CON  | no   | 6.82                                    | 1684   | 108  | 16                           | 10.8  | 9.2                        |
|  |  |   |  |  |                              |   |                            |
| 5 (1973)<br>1983 <u>- 19</u> 83<br>1983 - 1983 | <b>Table 5.14.</b>   | Microbial b                             | iomass i   | n irrigation                               | experiment                   | t, Kherson.   | 8050 D-                    |
| Treatr   | Table 5.14.       nent     Applied treatme   | Microbial b<br>MB                       | iomass i<br>C M<br>ng kg <sup>-1</sup> soi             | n irrigation<br><sup>BN</sup> C/           | experiment<br>N Soil<br>as   | t, Kherson.<br>organic C and total I<br>MBC as N                    | м (%)<br>Л (%)<br>ЛВN      |
| Treatr<br>I+1                                  | Table 5.14.         nent       Applied treatme         F       Irrigated and fertil                    | Microbial b<br>nt MB<br>ized 61         | iomass i<br>C M<br>ng kg <sup>-1</sup> soi<br>8 1      | n irrigation<br><sup>BN</sup> C/<br>1 60 4 | experiment<br>N Soil<br>as   | t, Kherson.<br>organic C and total I<br>MBC as N<br>3.7 12          | N (%)<br><u>ABN</u><br>2.4 |
| Treatr<br>I+)                                  | Table 5.14.         nent       Applied treatme         F       Irrigated and fertil         Fertilized | Microbial b<br>nt MB<br>ized 611<br>450 | iomass i<br>C M<br>ng kg <sup>-1</sup> soi<br>8 1<br>0 | n irrigation<br>BN C/<br>1 60 4<br>76 6    | experiment<br>N Soil<br>Soil | t, Kherson.<br>organic C and total 1<br>MBC as N<br>3.7 12<br>2.7 6 | N (%)<br>ABN<br>2.4        |

128

5

4.1

10.9

636

accumulation of labile forms of C and N under the manured treatments.

#### 5.6. General discussion

Many researchers recorded positive effects of manure application on SOM (Kononova, 1949, 1951; Chesnyak, 1973, 1981; Chsnyak et al. 1983; Kulagina, 1991; Beauchamp, 1980; Anderson et al., 1986; Voroney, 1988; Kuzsewski and Zabetowicz, 1986). For example, in Nebraska, annual application of 13.5 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> of manure (dry matter) during 31 years on irrigated land has increased content of humus from 0.98 to 1.67% (Chesnin, 1980).

Kharin (1993) found out that increased application of manure resulted in intensification of C mineralization, especially the C that is included in fulvic acids, and in lesser extent in humic acids. Based on the results of biological analysis, he concluded that application of high rates of manure activates the biochemical processes, which is controlled by particular microbiological community that has ability for active transformations not of only simple organic substances (e.g. fulvic acids), but also of more complex and hardly decomposable substances (e.g. humic acid).

Increased microbial activity in irrigated treatments in Kherson has been ascribed to the rapid metabolization of biomass-derived substrate resulting from the death of part of the microbial community during drying (Bottner, 1985; van Gestel et al., 1991; van Gestel et al., 1993a,b) or rapid rewetting of the desiccated soil material (Kieft et al., 1987).

## 5.7. Conclusions 2:0.8 melanor TATEY 2: d8991, and 8292

Application of high rates of manure tended to increase labile forms of SOM, such as potentially mineralizable C and N, as well as soil microbial biomass, due to higher input of humic materials applied with manure. Also, application of manure tends to activate biochemical processes due to addition of large number of microorganisms that reside in manure, hence increasing the possibilities for organic matter transformations, both, mineralization and immobilization.

## References and show the References

Aleksandrova LN, 1980. Soil organic matter and its transformation. *Nauka*, Moscow, p. 288 (in Russian).
Anderson DW, de Joug E, Verity GE, Gregorich EG, 1986. The effect of cultivation on the organic matter of soils of the Canada prairies. Transact. 13 Cong. Int.Soc.Soil Sci., Hamburg, 13-20 Aug., V. 4, SI, S.9., pp.1344-1345.
Beauchamp EG, 1980. Nitrogen from liquid dairy cattle manure

for corn. Highlights Agr. Res. In Ontario, V.3, No.4, pp.10-12.

- Bottner P, 1985. Response of microbial biomass to alternate moist and dry conditions in a soil incubated with <sup>14</sup>Cand <sup>15</sup>N-labelled plant material. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 17, 329-337.
- Broadbent FE, 1968. Isotopes and Radiation in Soil Organic Matter Studies, pp.131-142
- Chesnin L, 1980. Maintain of resources for soil improvement. Farm Ranch and Home Quarterly 27, 18-21.
- Chesnyak GYa, 1981. Changes of humus quantity and quality and the ways of providing of positive humus balance in Typical Chernozems of Ukraine under intensive agricultural use. *In* publications of VI Meeting of Soil Science Society of USSR, V.2, pp.42-43 (in Russian).
- Chesnyak GYa, Gavrilyuk FYa, Krupenikov IA, Laktionov
  NI, Shilikina II, 1983. Russian Chernozem-in 100 years
  after Dokuchaev, *Nauka*, Moscow, pp186-199 (in Russian).
- Chesnyak GYa, 1986. Modification to the determination of coefficient of humification of plant residues in Typical Chernozems of forest-steppe Ukraine in grain-beet crop rotation. *Agrochemistry and soil science* Kiev, 49, 77-92 (in Russian).
- Chesnyak GYa, 1973. Development of cultural soil formation process in thick Chernozem of forest-steppe zone of Ukraine. *In* Cultivation of soils and their fertility, publications of Kharkov Agrarian University, V.185, pp.13-36 (in Russian).
- Elliott ET, Paustain K, Frey SD, 1996. Modeling the measurable or measuring the modelable: a hierarchical approach to isolating meaningful soil organic matter. *In* Elliott, E.T., Cambardella, C.A., 1991. Physical separation of soil organic matter. *Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment* 34, 407-419.
- Ilyaletdinov A, 1988. Microbiological conversion of nitrogen compounds in the soil. *Nauka*, Moscow, 119-154pp.
- Janzen HH, Campbell CA, Brandt SA, LaFond GP, Townley-Smith L, 1992. Light-fraction organic matter in soils from long-term crop rotations. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 56, 1799-1806.
- Japanese Industrial Standards Committee, 1991: Total nitrogen. In Testing methods for industrial water, JIS K 0101-1991, p. 160-168, Japanese Standards Association, Tokyo (in Japanese).
- Jenkinson DS, Powlson DS, 1976. The effect of biocidal treatments on metabolism in soil-V. A method for measuring

soil biomass. Soil Biol. Biochem. 8, 209-213.

- Keeney DR, Nelson DW, 1982. Nitrogen-Inorganic Forms.
  In: Page A.L., (Ed.), Methods of Soil Analysis. Part 2, 2<sup>nd</sup>
  ed., Soil Science Society of America, Madison, pp. 643-698.
- Kharin SV, 1993. Humification and regulation of humus status of different cropping systems in Typical Chernozems of west forest-steppe of Ukraine. PhD thesis, Institute of Soil Science and Agrochemistry after Sokolovski, Kharkov, Ukraine (in Russian).
- Kieft LT, Soroker E, Firestone MK, 1987. Microbial biomass response to a rapid increase in water potential when dry soil is wetted. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 19, 119-126.
- Kononova MM, Pankova NA, Belchikova NP, 1949. Changes in quality and quantity of soil organic matter under cultivation. *Pochvovedenie* 1, 28-37 (in Russian).
- Kononova MM, 1951. Problems of soil humus and contemporary methods of their study. Moscow, pp.390 (in Russian).
- Kononova MM, 1951. The problems of soil humus and current goals in studying it. *Izd. Akad. Nauk* SSSR (in Russian).
- Kononova MM, 1956. Humus of the main soils of SSSR, its nature and ways of forming. *Pochvovedenie* 3, 18-30 (in Russian).
- Kulagina MN, 1991. Changes in soil organic matter under fertilization. *In* author's doctoral thesis, Novosibirsk, p.17 (in Russian).
- Kuszewski L, Zabetowicz J, 1986. Wspoldzialanie nawozenia mineralnego I organicznego w ksztaltowaniu zyznosci gleby. *Roczn. Glebozn.* 37, 411-419.
- Lund V, Goksoyr J, 1980. Effects of water fluctuations on microbial mass and activity in soil. *Microbial Ecology* 6,115-123.
- Lundquist EJ, Jackson LE, Scow KM, 1999. Wet-dry cycles affect dissolved organic carbon in two California agricultural soils. *Soil Biol Biochem.* 31, 1031-1038.
- Mamilov ShZ, Byzov BA, Zvyagintsev DG, 1998. Experimental approaches to studying of microbial productivity of soils. *In Publ.* Of the conference: State and rational use of Kazakhstan soils. Almaty, "Tethis", pp.157. (in Russian).
- Mamontov VT, 1971. Effect of agricultural use on the agronomical properties of thick Chernozem in west
- forest-steppes of Ukraine (in Russian). *In* E. K.-Saljnikov,
  2004. Characterization and dynamics of soil organic
  matter of Chernozem soils in Kazakhstan and Ukraine.
  Doctoral thesis, pp.234.

- Maximov VM, Kobozev IV, 1983. Accumulation of humus and total nitrogen in soil under alfalfa, alfalfa-cereal grasses mixture upon irrigation and fertilization. *In* Organic matter and soil fertility. Moscow, Ed. Timiryazev Agrarian Academy, pp.102-117 (in Russian).
- Nelson DW, Sommers LE, 1996. Total carbon, organic carbon, and organic matter. In: Bartels, J.M. (Eds), Methods of Soil Analysis, Part 3. Chemical Methods. Soil Science Society of America and American Society of Agronomy, Madison, pp. 961-1010.
- Nosko BS, 1987. Changes of humus status of Typical Chernozem upon fertilization. *Pochvovedenie* 5 .26-31 (in Russian).
- Orchard VA, Cook FJ, 1983. Relationship between soil respiration and soil moisture. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 15, 447-453.
- Pare T, Dinel H, Moulin AP, Townley-Smith L, 1999. Organic matter quality and structural stability of a Black Chernozemic soil under different manure and tillage practices. *Geoderma* 91, 311-326.
- Pulleman M, Tietma A, 1999. Microbial C and N transformations during drying and rewetting of coniferous forest floor material. Soil Biol. Biochem. 31, 275-285.
- Sollins P, Spycher G, Glassman CA, 1984. Net nitrogen mineralization from light and heavy-fraction forest soil organic matter. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 16, 31-37.
- SPSS Inc, 1998a. SigmaPlot version 5.0, Programming guide, Chicago, IL.
- SPSS Inc, 1998b. SYSTAT version 8.0, Statistics, Chicago, IL.
- Spycher G, Sollins P, Rose S, 1981. Carbon and nitrogen in the light fraction of a forest soil: vertical distribution and seasonal patterns. *Soil Sci.* 2, 79-87.
- Tarvis TV, 1973. *In* Nitrogen in Agriculture of Non-Chernozemic Zone, Leningrad, Kolos Publishers, p.119 (in Russian).
- van Gestel M, Merckx R, Vlassak K, 1993a. Microbial biomass responses to soil drying and rewetting: the fate of fastand slow-growing microorganisms in soils from different climates. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 25, 109-123.
- van Gestel M, Merckx R, Vlassak K, 1993b. Microbial biomass responses to soil drying and rewetting: the fate of fastand slow-growing microorganisms in soils from different climates. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 25, 125-134.
- van Gestel M, Ladd JN, Amato M, 1991. Carbon and nitrogen mineralization from two soils of contrasting texture and

microaggregate stability: influence of sequential fumigation, drying and storage. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 1.23, 313-322.

- Voroney RP, Paul EA, Anderson DW, 1989. Decomposition of wheat straw and stabilization of microbial products. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 69, 63-77.
- Voroney RP, 1988. Loss of organic matter in Ontario soils. *Highlights*. V.11, No.3, pp25-29.

The case beau trudied strong, as a major process of carting matrice between athrophicity carbon (189  $\times$  10° Mg C) of gluin et al. (2003) and soll organic surbon (189  $\times$  10° Mg C) C. Exversion et al., 1995). Solitesinger, 1993 (1966), Robel and Melonger (1992) camenarized values of soil respiration from minute ecosystems in (6664). M 10° Mg C et alphably, in effect to almutate the dynamics of carbon ander values at a solution and the dynamics of carbon ander values instance, several made is have been developed in g. Robel carbon acception on the carbon dynamics in (organic carbon dynamics) (900). CUNT(JKY (Partor et al., 1987), etc. Spece are ally uncertification on the carbon dynamics in (organic) is carbon for different soil (view, geological regions and carbon for different soil (view, geological regions and carbon terrisphere shows) bet carbon sink rouged about (1994) (1990) in period that non-tropical field areas in the carbon benusphere shows) bet carbon sink rouged about (1994) (1995) (1996), and that sink size in Eurasia

In Tronsial Composition and Rastrativastic polity, which could which shorts or tall-gradic stories vegetation, oproid not note areas near the Hack Sau & nothern Karakhston in ball. These see its Hack Sau & nothern Karakhston in the polyton is the see important but only because of their physiologicity of croins but also of their trigh accumulation of another is another, the sarbida accumulation is it in desire



ngire 6.1. Description of scale in Useane (not) heyed where has the monion of World Reference base for Soil Relaters

National in dependence

durch) Ukraine

A Mollibols, which is roughly equivalent to the Chernosem of Kastabuzzen soils, was calculated in 153 BAg Charl for shale Molikacis, 714, 190, 141 and 52 for Albolis, Udella, Coolfs and Usbolla, expectively (Research et al., 1995), homozem of Ramme and soils which deathins in Ultrains Sig. 6.13. Chermizen soils which deathins in Ultrains Sig. 6.13. Chermizen soils accurs about 20 KM 10° ha (41 5 of Ultrainse Bud area), of which sharest 20 KM 10° ha (41 5 of Ultrainse Bud area), of which sharest 20 KM 10° ha (41 5 of Ultrainse Bud area), of which sharest 20 KM 10° ha (41 5 of Ultrainse Bud area), of which sharest 20 KM 10° ha (41 5 and 10° ha are cultivated for one production, whilst bestim (Kastabutzen) soils crossly shares? Si 10° ha and 3 K 10° ha are cultivated for one production, whilst bestim (Kastabutzen) soils crossly shares? Si 10° ha and (3 K 10° ha are cultivated for one production, whilst here the been devisioned and the production death and (3 K 10° ha are cultivated for one production deathing (100) showed 54 years of agricultural are described the urbate (0.2000) from a content of Topics. Chermizens soil (001 167 to (20 Mg C (ar')) it is important to study SOBA ynames under som natural gradiend correstens.

. Hos lo nomericananticano estre parte of of northera fi enteredative art université of humanes at a provise si traves galactique l'étaut une étes mené arté morad un cal enteried de partecique indication de calacterista fier as forte auto de

So the objectives of this trady and this determine a dependence of *m* via entries flow on soft fishperature and movieus, and 21 to animate annual almater of eacher the open Chaines and Kastaries made in Uktaine.



Pigure 6.2. Location of Granama Toraninanana and Assance Nova Diosphere Fastoria

## Chapter 6

## Carbon flux in semi-arid grassland ecosystems and its dependence on soil temperature and moisture in Ukraine

Atsunobu Kadono

## 6.1. Background

Soil respiration, i.e. carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) emission from soils, has been studied widely, as a major process of carbon dynamics between atmospheric carbon (780  $\times$  10<sup>9</sup> Mg C: Houghton et al., 2003) and soil organic carbon (1550  $\times 10^9$ Mg C: Eswaran et al., 1995; Schlesinger, 1991). Raich and Schlesinger (1992) summarized values of soil respiration from various ecosystems as  $(68\pm4) \times 10^9$  Mg C y<sup>-1</sup> globally. In order to simulate the dynamics of carbon under various ecosystems, several models have been developed, e.g. Roth-C (Jenkinson, 1990), CENTURY (Parton et al., 1987), etc. Since there are uncertainties on the carbon dynamics in terrestrial ecosystems (IPCC, 1996), however, further assessment is required for different soil types, geological regions and climatic zones (Kudeyarov and Kurganova, 1998). Schimel et al. (2001) reported that non-tropical land areas in the Northern hemisphere showed net carbon sink ranged about -2 to -4  $\times 10^9$  Mg C y<sup>-1</sup> for 1990's, and that sink size in Eurasia was twice the size in North America.

In Eurasia, Chernozem and Kastanozem soils, which develop under short- or tall-grass steppe vegetation, spread out from areas near the Black Sea to northern Kazakhstan in a belt. These soils are important not only because of their high productivity of crops but also of their high accumulation of carbon. For instance, the carbon accumulation in 1 m depth

of Mollisols, which is roughly equivalent to the Chernozem or Kastanozem soils, was estimated to 131 Mg C ha-1 for whole Mollisols; 714, 190, 141 and 32 for Albolls, Udolls, Xerolls and Ustolls, respectively (Eswaran et al., 1995). Chernozem or Kastanozem soils widely destibute in Ukraine (Fig. 6.1). Chernozem soils occupy about  $24.8 \times 10^6$  ha (41 % of Ukrainian land area), of which almost  $20 \times 10^6$  ha of these areas are cultivated for crop production, whilst Chestnut (Kastanozem) soils occupy about  $2 \times 10^6$  ha and  $1.3 \times 10^6$  ha are cultivated (by the old soil classification system of USA: Makhov and Stebelsky 1993). Since these soils have been developed under the grassland ecosystems, cultivation causes degradation of soil organic carbon. Shikula (2000) showed 54 years of agricultural use degraded the surface (0-20cm) humus content of Typical Chernozem soil from 163 to 126 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>. It is important to study SOM dynamics under semi-natural grassland ecosystems.

In addition to the study of *in vitro* mineralization of soil organic carbon, it is required to determine the relationship between *in situ* carbon flux from soils and factors regulating the flux, such as soil temperature or moisture.

So the objectives of this study are 1) to determine a dependence of *in situ* carbon flux on soil temperature and moisture, and 2) to estimate annual amount of carbon flux from Chernozem and Kastanozem soils in Ukraine.





Figure 6.2. Location of Grakovo Experimental and Askania Nova Biosphere Reserve.

### 6.2. Materials and methods

*Experimental sites:* Two natural grassland sites were selected to monitor  $CO_2$  flux and soil temperature and moisture (Fig. 6.2). Average monthly air temperature and precipitation are shown in Table 6.1.

- Grakovo Experimental Field (N49° 44', E36° 56', Alt: 154 1) m) is located about 60 km southeast of Kharkov city. The meteorological data were assumed to be the same as this city. Mean annual temperature (MAT) and mean annual precipitation (MAP) were 6.9°C and 536.6 mm, respectively. Dominant plant species were Festuca sulcata, Agropyron repens and Artemisia austriacea, and temporally Salvia verticillata, Matricaria inodora etc. were observed in spring. This experimental field belongs to Institute for Soil Science and Agrochemistry Research. According to the USDA soil classification system, the soil was classified into Pachic Haploxerolls (Soil Survey Staff, 1998), which corresponds to the Typical Chernozem soils in the Ukrainian classification system. Soil texture of the surface layer was classified as LiC by field observation.
- 2) Askania Nova Biosphere Reserve (N46° 27', E33° 53', Alt: 27m) is located about 100 km east of Kherson city. MAT and MAP were 9.5°C and 386.4 mm, respectively. The virgin fescue-feather grass steppe have been reserved for more than 100 years. The feather grass steppe was dominated by *Stipa lessingiana*, *S. ucrainica* and *S. capillata* together with fescue (*Festuca sulcata* and *F. valesiaca*) and crested hair grass (*Koeleria cristata*). According to the USDA soil classification system, the soil was classified into Calcic Haploxerolls (Soil Survey Staff, 1998), which corresponds to the Dark Chestnut soils in the Ukrainian classification system. Soil texture of the surface layer was classified as LiC by field observation.

Monitoring of soil temperature and moisture: The soil temperature at the 15 and 50 cm depth were measured using thermistor probes. The soil moisture at each depth was measured using time domain reflectometry (TDR). Both temperature and moisture data were continuously monitored



Figure 6.3. Closed-chamber method for determination of *in situ* soil respiration rate.(A) Whole soil respiration including root respiration and (B) soil respiration excluding root respiration.

for each site using a datalogger system (CR-10X, Campbell Scientific Inc., Logan, USA).

Measurement of soil respiration: Soil respiration was measured several times during growing season in 2002 and 2003 by a closed-chamber method (Anderson, 1982) using handy type Infrared CO, analyzer (Anagas CD98, Environmental Instruments, Leamington Spa, UK) or CO, monitor (GH-250E, Sensonix japan). There was no difference in measured values by both the equipments. Two series of cylinders (diameter: 10.5 cm, height: 20 cm) were prepared in each five replications (Fig. 6.3). One series were inserted to the soils until 5 cm depth, and the others were until 10 cm depth in order to exclude the respiration of living root (only in 2003). The bottom of the latter cylinders was later covered with fine mesh to support inner soils and further with a plastic sheet to prevent CO, invasion originated from plant-root respiration on each measurement. We suppose that soil respiration in the former  $(C_{em+R})$  include both the SOM decomposition and plant-roots respiration whereas that in the latter  $(C_{em,R})$  can practically exclude root respiration. Both the initial and final (i.e. after 30 minutes) CO, concentration was measured after coverage of the top of cylinders using the equipments mentioned earlier and the rate of soil respiration is calculated based on the increase of CO,

| Table 6.1. Average                                 | e monthly air to   | emperature and                        | precipitation in | Kharkov a | nd Askania N | Nova.   |
|--|--|---------------------------------------|------------------|-----------|--------------|---|
| a 📿 sa 🖉 ha an | and a second | 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 1 | 1 1              |           |              | a da se da se |

| Kharkov (Grakovo)                    | Jan         | Feb         | Mar               | Apr               | May                | Jun              | Jul  | Aug          | Sep                | Oct               | Nov               | Dec         | Year                           |
|--------------------------------------|-------------|-------------|-------------------|-------------------|--------------------|------------------|--|--------------|--------------------|-------------------|-------------------|-------------|--------------------------------|
| air temperature (°C)                 | -7          | -6.3        | -1.1              | 7.8               | 15.1               | 18.6             | 20.3   | 19.3         | 13.8               | 7.1               | 0.6               | -4.3        | 6.9 (1892-1990)                |
| precipitation (mm)                   | 39.9        | 31.4        | 33.9              | 35.9              | 48                 | 64               | 65.3   | 53.7         | 37.6               | 42.4              | 42.2              | 41.9        | 536.6 (1891-1988)              |
|                                      |             |             |                   |                   |                    |                  |  |              |                    |                   |                   |             |                                |
|                                      |             |             |                   |                   |                    |                  | <u> 1999 - 199</u> 9 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 - 1999 | an tha ann a | adag. (2019)       | <u>n din na</u>   |                   |             |                                |
| Askania-Nova                         | Jan         | Feb         | Mar               | Apr               | May                | Jun              | Jul  | Aug          | Sep                | Oct               | Nov               | Dec         | Year                           |
| Askania-Nova<br>air temperature (°C) | Jan<br>-3.3 | Feb<br>-2.7 | <u>Mar</u><br>1.6 | <b>Apr</b><br>9.1 | <u>May</u><br>15.5 | <b>Jun</b><br>20 | Jul<br>22.7  | Aug<br>21.9  | <b>Sep</b><br>16.4 | <u>Oct</u><br>9.7 | <u>Nov</u><br>4.1 | Dec<br>-0.3 | <u>Year</u><br>9.5 (1925-1990) |

concentration during 30 minutes. The root respiration was calculated by  $(C_{\text{em+R}}-C_{\text{em-R}})$ .

Measurement of plant biomass: In Grakovo, aboveground and belowground (100cm depth) biomasses in the area of 15 cm  $\times$  50 cm were collected and weighed after drying in oven (110°C), whilst in Askania Nova those in the area of 30 cm  $\times$  30 cm till 40 cm depth were measured. This experiment was conducted in two replications in 2003.

# 6.3. Air temperature, precipitation, soil temperature and moisture

Monthly average air temperature and precipitation in 2002 and 2003 for each site were shown in Fig. 6.4. The daily average of air temperature, daily precipitation, soil temperature and moisture at 15 and 50 cm depth for each sites were shown in Fig. 6.5.

In Kharkov (referenced meteorological station for Grakovo), mean annual temperature and precipitation in 2002 and 2003 were 8.7°C, 543.8 mm, 7.4°C and 672.6 mm, respectively. Compared to the mean values, annual temperature in 2002 was relatively higher, whilst annual precipitation in 2003 was much higher than in normal years. As shown in Fig. 6.4, climatic condition in 2002 and 2003 was characterized as follows: the early spring and hot summer in 2002, followed by the very severe winter, and the very rainy summer in 2003. Affected by the daily precipitation pattern, the soil moisture decreased continuously during summer in 2003 at the 15 cm depth. Duration of soil temperature below 0°C in 2002/2003 winter was longer than 2001/2002 winter. The winter in 2002/2003 was so severe that winter wheat production in



**Figure 6.4.** Monthly air temperature (line) and precipitation (bar) for the years of 2002 and 2003 with the long-term average in Kharkov and Askania Nova.



**Figure 6.5.** Meteorological data of the study sites during the experiment; (a) air temperature and precipitation at Kharkov city, (b) soil temperature and (c) soil moisture at Grakovo, (d) air temperature and precipitation, (e) soil temperature and (f) soil moisture at Askania Nova, respectively, from 1 Nov. 2001 to 31 Oct 2003.

Shaded area indicates the period in which soil temperature at 15 cm depth is below zero.

2003 declined by 50 % from the previous year (USDA, 2003).

In Askania Nova, mean annual temperature and precipitation in 2002 and 2003 were 10.4°C, 408.6 mm, 9.9°C and 311.5 mm, respectively. Compared to the mean value, it was relatively rainy in 2002 and dry in 2003. Daily air temperature and precipitation data shows relatively wide distribution of rain in 2002, whilst the precipitation was concentrated on July-August in 2003. Reflecting the fewer amounts of precipitation and the higher temperature, the fluctuation of soil moisture was narrower than that in Grakovo. Although Askania Nova suffered the cold winter in 2002/2003 as Grakovo did, the duration was shorter.



**Figure 6.6.** *In situ* soil respiration rates measured in Grakovo and Askania Nova in 2002 and 2003. Bars indicate standard deviation of measured values.



**Figure 6.7.** Average soil respiration rates during the years of 1967-1974 in Askania Nova virgin steppe (in Chapter 4). Bars indicate maximum and minimum values.

## 6.4. In situ soil respiration rates

Fig. 6.6 shows *in situ* soil respiration rates  $(C_{em+R})$  measured for each site in 2002 and 2003. In Grakovo, inter annual variation of soil respiration was much higher than in Askania Nova. Despite the difference in the amount of the respiration, the maximum value for each year was recorded in May. It would be due to optimal condition for the decomposition of organic matter with high soil moisture even though soil temperature in spring was lower than in summer. Although such a seasonal pattern was not clear in Askania Nova, the distribution of daily precipitation might affected it, i.e. the relatively even distribution in 2002, whilst the concentrated distribution throughout a year of 2003 (Fig. 6.5). Similar trend and respiration rate in this virgin steppe area was reported by Polupan (in Chapter 4) and was shown in Fig. 6.7 for comparison.

## 6.5. Amount of the whole soil respiration, soil microbial respiration and root respiration measured in 2003

The amounts of whole soil respiration  $(C_{em+R})$ , soil microbial respiration  $(C_{em-R})$  and plant root respiration  $(C_{em+R}-C_{em-R})$  are given in Fig. 6.8. In Grakovo, the average proportion of root respiration in whole soil respiration was 53.2%, with ranging from 30.8 to 73.4%, whereas in Askania Nova, the average was 37.2% except for one negative value. Raich and Tufekcioglu (2000) summarized values of soil respiration from various ecosystems and reported the percentages of root respiration in whole soil respiration from temperate grassland ecosystems as 17-40%. Our result in Askania Nova was



**Figure 6.8.** Rates of whole soil respiration, soil microbial respiration and root respiration in each site in 2003.

consistent with the value, whilst in Grakovo we observed  $M_{J5}$  and

higher values. It would be due to relatively higher vegetative activity caused by the exceptionally higher precipitation in that year.

In Grakovo, the maximum value of the root respiration was recorded in mid-summer, whereas the microbial respiration was the highest in spring. This trend was also observed in Askania Nova. This might be due to the difference in major factors regulating the activities of soil microbes and plants, i.e. soil moisture for microbes, whilst soil temperature for plants.

# 6.6. Dependence of the soil respiration on soil temperature and moisture

For determining the total annual soil respiration, we firstly derived an equation that describes the relationship between the *in situ* soil respiration rate and/or soil temperature and moisture by multiple regression analysis (Funakawa et al., 2004). The total soil respiration was then calculated by the equation with application of the monitored soil temperature and moisture data. First of all, we assumed that the Arrhenius relationship between the soil temperature and soil respiration rate was as follows:

 $C_{\rm em} = a M_{15}^{\ b} M_{50}^{\ c} \, {\rm e}^{-E/RT}$ 

where  $C_{\rm em}$  is the hourly soil respiration rate (mg C m<sup>-2</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>),

 $M_{15}$  and  $M_{50}$  are the volumetric soil moisture content (L L<sup>-1</sup>) at 15 cm and 50 cm depth, respectively, *E* is the activation energy (J mol<sup>-1</sup>), *R* is the gas constant (8.31 J mol<sup>-1</sup> K<sup>-1</sup>), *T* is the absolute soil temperature (K), *b* and *c* are the contribution to soil moisture at 15 cm and 50 cm, respectively and *a* is a constant of scale factor. We applied the "zero-order" model in which a fixed amount of substrates is assumed throughout the process of decomposition, assuming the existence of an additional source of substrates throughout the period of growing season. The equation was then converted to the logarithm form:

## $\ln C_{\rm em} = \ln a + b \ln M_{15} + c \ln M_{50} - E / RT$

Then a series of coefficients, a, b, c and E were calculated by stepwise multiple regression analysis (p = 0.15) using the measured data,  $C_{\rm em}$ ,  $M_{15}$ ,  $M_{50}$  and T (SPSS, 1998).

The results are shown in Table 6.2. In both the sites, positive correlation between soil respiration and soil temperature as well as soil moisture was observed. The value of *E* was converted to  $Q_{10}$  at the temperature range of 10-20°C for comparison with other numerous literatures. Raich and Schlesinger (1992) reviewed soil respiration rates from various ecosystems, and showed  $Q_{10}$  varied from 1.3 to 3.3 with average value of 2.4. In this study, the  $Q_{10}$  values for Grakovo and Askania Nova were 2.8 and 1.7, respectively. Schleser (1982) reported that higher  $Q_{10}$  values were observed

| Table 6.2. Calculated coefficients in the equa | tion of whole soil respiration for each site |
|--|--|
| throughout the years of 2003 and 2003.         |  |

| Notice | $\mathbb{P}^{2}$ on $\mathbf{r}^{2}$ . The set | lna             | <b>b</b>   | <i>c E</i> ( | (kJ mol <sup>-1</sup> ) (  | 210 |
|---|--|-----------------|--|--------------|--|-----|
| Grakovo 35  | 0.33 ***                                       | 38 ***          | 1.3 *  | 1.9 **       | 71.3 *** 2   | 2.8 |
| Askania-Nova 19   | 0.20 *   | 26 **           | n na serie de la constante de l<br>La constante de la constante de | 4.7 *        | 36.2 *   | 1.7 |
| Treation of the street of the state   | Constant to the second second                  | rosa references |  |              | and a factor of the second |     |

\*, \*\*, \*\*\* Significant at 25, 5, and 1 % levels, respectively.  $C_{em} = aM_{15}^{b} M_{50}^{c} e^{-E/RT}$ , where  $C_{em}$  is the rate of soil respirations (mgC m<sup>-2</sup> hr<sup>-1</sup>), T is absolute temperature (K),  $M_{15}$  and  $M_{50}$  are volumetric moisture content (L L<sup>-1</sup>) at 15 cm, 50 cm, respectively, a is a coefficient, and R is the gas constant (8.315 (J K<sup>-1</sup> mol<sup>-1</sup>)).  $Q_{10}$  was calculated from E at the range of temperature 10-20°C.

| Table 6.3. Calculated coefficients for whole soil | l respiration, | soil microbia | respiration and root |
|---|----------------|---------------|----------------------|
| respiration in each site in 2003.                 |                |               |                      |

|                            | N  | r <sup>2</sup>  | lna    | b   | <i>c E</i> (k   | J mol <sup>-1</sup> )  | Q 10 |
|----------------------------|----|-----------------|--------|---|---|--|------|
| Grakovo                    |    | Anne and a line |        |   |   |  |      |
| whole soil respiration     | 12 | 0.86 ***        | 27 *** | n 1900-lein 1900-<br>Anna ann an 1900 - <mark>T</mark> hairtean an 1900-  | an an ann an Airtean an Airtean<br>An Airtean Anns an Thairtean Airtean | 51.0***  | 2.1  |
| soil microbial respiration | 11 | 0.75 ***        | 34 *** |   |   | 70.8 ***   | 2.8  |
| root respiration           | 11 | 0.70 ***        | 22 *** |   | ليمينية المعرومة ( الله معروف المسيد).<br>23 منذ 14 مراجع – المراجع     | 40.9 ***   | 1.8  |
| Askania-Nova               |    |                 | As the |   |   | e da anticipation de la companya de<br>La companya de la comp |      |
| whole soil respiration     | 8  | 0.00            | -      | i shakar i t  |   | -  | -    |
| soil microbial respiration | 8  | 0.00            |        | en en soldtas se de la composition de l<br>La composition de la c |   |  | -    |
| root respiration           | 7  | 0.94 **         | 78 *** | -2.2 **   | 23.7 **   | 98.1 ***   | 4.1  |

\*, \*\*, \*\*\* Significant at 25, 5, and 1 % levels, respectively.  $C_{em} = aM_{15}^{b} M_{50}^{c} e^{-E/RT}$ , where  $C_{em}$  is the rate of soil respirations (mgC m<sup>-2</sup> hr<sup>-1</sup>), T is absolute temperature (K),  $M_{15}$  and  $M_{50}$  are volumetric moisture content

(L L<sup>-1</sup>) at 15 cm, 50 cm, respectively, a is a coefficient, and R is the gas constant (8.315 (J K<sup>-1</sup> mol<sup>-1</sup>)).  $Q_{10}$  was calculated from E at the range of temperature 10-20°C.
for lower temperature-sites, which was also observed in this study.

As was the case of the whole soil respiration, the dependence of the microbial respiration or the root respiration on soil temperature and moisture was determined (Table 6.3). In Grakovo, only the value of E could explain the fluctuation of whole soil respiration, soil microbial respiration and root respiration. This would be due to the high precipitation and enough amount of available water at the site in 2003. The E and  $Q_{10}$  values for the soil microbial respiration were 70.8 kJ mol<sup>-1</sup> and 2.8, respectively, whilst those values for the root respiration were 40.9 kJ mol<sup>-1</sup> and 1.8, respectively. It is reported that  $Q_{10}$  value of root respiration is higher than that of microbial respiration (Boone et al., 1998). Since the higher values in the microbial respiration in this study was due to the large amount of CO<sub>2</sub> emission in spring with low temperature, it might be suggested that another factors affected the emission rate, such as dissolved organic matter content due to cutting of root in the experiment procedure. Seto and Yanagiya (1983) reported the in situ soil respiration rate was well explained by temperature as well as dissolved organic matter in soils. In Askania Nova, only the root respiration could be explained by soil temperature and moisture. As mentioned above, the E and  $Q_{10}$  values of 98.1 and 4.1 were consistent to the values ever reported (Boone et al. 1998). The volumetric water content at 15 cm contributed negatively whilst that value at 50 cm did positively. It might be due to the higher root activity at the deeper soil layer.







# 6.7. Estimation of annual total soil respiration using monitored soil temperature and moisture data

Using the relationship between the soil respiration and soil moisture and temperature and monitored logger data during the two years, we calculated daily soil respiration and summed up to annual soil respiration rate for each year. The daily respiration estimated were plotted with the measured values for each site (Fig. 6.9), assuming the  $CO_2$  emission below 0°C could be neglected. Annual soil respiration for each year was shown in Table 6.4.

In Grakovo, the annual soil respiration rates in 2002 and 2003 were 3.61 and 5.74 Mg C ha-1, respectively. As shown in Fig. 6.9, the simulated values for 2003 were underestimated the measured values, especially in spring. The estimated value of 3.61 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup> in 2002 was similar to previous reports. Though Raich and Schlesinger (1992) summarized values of soil respiration in temperate grassland ecosystems as 4.42 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>, with widely varied among literatures from 1.32 to 8.30 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>. Coleman et al. (1976) reported 2.30 Mg C ha-1 for short grass prairie in Colorado (MAP: 310 mm, MAT: 9°C). Kucera and Kirkham (1971) reported 4.57 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup> for tall grass prairie in Missouri (MAP: 1000 mm, MAT: 12.8°C). The observed value in Grakovo (MAP: 537 mm, MAT: 6.9°C) would be in the range of this climosequence. In Askania Nova (MAP: 386 mm, MAT: 9.5°C) the annual soil respiration rates in 2002 and 2003 were 2.52 and 2.54 Mg C ha-1, respectively. This observed value was consistent to the value in Colorado (Coleman et al., 1976).

The simulated whole soil respiration rate, soil microbial respiration rate and root respiration rate in 2003 for each site were shown in Fig. 6.10. Due to the failure of regression, soil microbial respiration rate was not plotted for Askania Nova. Annual amount of these respirations were summarized in Table 6.5. In Grakovo, despite the little underestimate in spring, simulation of the trend was improved for whole soil respiration. The sum of annual soil microbial respiration (4.80 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>) and root respiration (7.07 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>) exceeded the whole soil respiration (9.76 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>). This might be due to the relatively higher temperature in winter, i.e. in reality plant respiration would not last at that time. In Askania Nova, the

| Table 6.4. | Calculated | annual soi | l respiration | for each year. |
|------------|------------|------------|---------------|----------------|
|            |            |            |               |                |

| Annual              | soil respiration  |
|---------------------|---|
| r <sup>2</sup> 2002 | 2003  |
| (l                  | Mg C ha <sup>-1</sup> )                                       |
| 0.33 3.61           | 5.74  |
| 0.20 2.52           | 2.54  |
|                     | Annual<br>r <sup>2</sup> 2002<br>(1<br>0.33 3.61<br>0.20 2.52 |

N; the number of values of soil respiration that was used for regression.

estimated annual root respiration was 1.19 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>. The proportion of the root respiration in whole respiration was 51% ((9.76-4.80)/9.76) in Grakovo and 47% in Askania Nova. These values implied relatively high plant activity in each site, compared to the values in literature (Raich and Tufekcioglu, 2000).

# 6.8. Comparison of above- and below-ground biomasses with soil respiration rates

The above- and below-ground biomasses in each site is shown in Fig. 6.11. In addition to the data that we measured, biomass data measured by Polupan (in Chapter 4) in Askania Nova during 1967-1974 was also shown in the figure. The measured values in 2003 was not different with the older data. The aboveground biomass in Grakovo and Askania Nova was 4.1 and 2.8 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>, respectively, whilst the belowground biomass in upper 100 cm was 19.6 and 20.7 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. Sims and Coupland (1979) reported almost same range of belowground biomass in short grass prairie as we observed. In upper 10 cm, we observed 10.1 and 9.5 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> in Grakovo and Askania Nova. Those values were almost half of the contents in 100 cm depth.

Assuming carbon content of the dry matter as 45% (Kudeyarov and Kurganova, 1998), we can conclude that the belowground biomass C in 10 cm (4.5 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>) was almost equivalent to the amount of soil microbial respiration (4.8 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>) in Grakovo, 2003, whilst in Askania Nova the microbial respiration (1.4 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>) was approximately one-



**Figure 6.10.** Estimated (line) and measured (circle) amount of whole soil respiration, soil microbial respiration and root respiration in 2003.

third of belowground biomass in 10 cm (4.3 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>). This result suggested that relatively large amount of carbon can be mineralized if the condition was suitable for decomposition, such as the case of Grakovo in 2003.

#### 6.9. Conclusion

The dependence of *in situ* soil respiration on soil temperature and moisture in two representative steppe soil areas (Chernozem and Kastanozem) was studied. In Grakovo (Chernozem), annual whole soil respiration in 2002 and 2003 was 3.61 and 9.76 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>, respectively, whilst in Askania Nova (Kastanozem) 2.52 and 2.54 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. The difference in Grakovo in the two years would not be explained solely by yearly fluctuation of meteorological factors; another factors such as dissolved organic matter could contribute the occasionally accelerated soil respiration.

**Table 6.5.** Calculated annual whole soil respiration, soil microbial respiration and root respiration in 2003.

| and this introgen in 5<br>Bad A001 Tydnesio M | N      | r <sup>2</sup> | Annual soil respiration<br>(Mg C ha <sup>-1</sup> ) |
|---|--------|----------------|---|
| Grakovo                                       | (astab | Kalèngan       |   |
| whole soil respiration                        | 12     | 0.86           | 9.76  |
| soil microbial respiration                    | 11     | 0.75           | 4.80  |
| root respiration                              | 11     | 0.70           | 7.07  |
| Askania-Nova                                  |        |                |   |
| whole soil respiration <sup>1)</sup>          | 19     | 0.20           | 2.54  |
| root respiration                              | 7      | 0.94           | 1.19  |

N; the number of values of soil respiration that was used for regression 1) This value was same as in Table 6.4.



**Figure 6.11.** Above- and below-ground plant biomasses in each site. Data for Askania-Nova in 1967-74 were measured by Polupan

(in Chapter 4).

The root respiration contributed about half of the whole soil respiration in each site. The soil microbial respiration in Grakovo was equivalent to the belowground biomass in the surface 10 cm, whilst that in Askania Nova was approximately 30% of the belowground biomass in 10 cm.

#### Reference

- Anderson JPE, 1982. Soil respiration. *In* Methods of soil analysis, Part 2, Chemical and microbiological properties, Ed. A.L. Page, p.831-871, American Society of Agronomy, Madison, Wisconsin.
- Boone RD, Nadelhoffer KJ, Canary JD, Kaye JP, 1998. Roots exert a strong influence on the temperature sensitivity of soil respiration. *Nature* 396, 570-572.
- Coleman DC, Andrews R, Ellis JE, Singh JS, 1976. Energy flow and partitioning in selected man-man aged and natural ecosystems. *Agro-Ecosystems* 3, 45-54.
- Eswaran HE, Van den Berg, Reich P, Kimble J, 1995. Global Soil Carbon Resources. *In* Soils and Global Change, Eds. Lal et al.
- Funakawa S, Nakamura I, Akshalov K, Kosaki T, 2004. Soil organic matter dynamics under grain farming in northern Kazakhstan. *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 50, 1211-1218.
- Houghton RA, 2003. The Contemporary Carbon Cycle. *In* Treatise on Geochemistry, Vol.8 Biogeochemistry, Eds. H.D. Holland and K.K. Turekian.
- IPCC, 1996. Climate Change. *In* The Science of Climate Change, Eds. J.T. Houghton et al., p.572, Cambridge.
- Jenkinson DS, 1977. Studies on the decomposition of plant material in soil. V. The effects of plant cover and soil type on the loss of carbon from <sup>14</sup>C labeled ryegrass decomposing under field conditions. *J. Soil Sci.* 28, 424-434.
- Kucera CL, Kirkham DR, 1971. Soil respiration studies in tallgrass prairie in Missouri. *Ecology* 52, 912-915.
- Kudeyarov VN, Kurganova IN, 1998. Carbon dioxide emissions and net primary production of Russian terrestrial ecosystems, *Biol Fertil Soils* 27, 246-250.
- Makhov G, Stebelsky I, 1993. Soil Classification, *In* Encyclopedia of Ukraine, Ed. V. Kubijovyc, University of Toronto Press.
- Parton WJ, Schimel DS, Cole CV, Ojima DS, 1987. Analysis of factors controlling soil organic matter levels in Great Plains grasslands. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 51, 1173-1179.
- Raich JW, Schlesinger WH, 1992. The global carbon dioxide flux in soil respiration and its relationship to vegetation and climate, *Tellus* 44B, 81-99.

- Raich JW, Tufekcioglu A, 2000. Vegetation and soil respiration: Correlations and controls, *Biogeochemistry* 48,71-90.
- Seto M, Yanagiya K, 1983. Rate of CO<sub>2</sub> evolution from soil in relation to temperature and amount of dissolved organic carbon. *Jap. J. Ecol.* 33, 199-205.
- Schimel DS, House JI, Hibbard KA, Bousquet P, Ciais P, Peylin P, Braswell BH, Apps MJ, Baker D, Bondeau A, Canadell J, Churkina G, Cramer W, Denning AS, Field CB, Friedlingstein P, Goodale C, Heimann M, Houghton RA, Melillo JM, Moore III B, Murdiyarso D, Noble I, Pacala SW, Prentice IC, Raupach MR, Rayner PJ, Scholes RJ, Steffen WL, Wirth C, 2001. Recent patterns and mechanisms of carbon exchange by terrestrial ecosystems, *Nature* 414, 169-172.
- Schleser GH, 1982. The response of CO<sub>2</sub> evolution from soils to global temperature changes. Z. Naturforsch. 37a, 287-291.
- Schlesinger WH,1991. An Analysis of Global Change. In Biogeochemistry, vol.6.
- Shikula MK, 2000. A mechanism for the self-regulation of fertility in Ukrainian Chernozems. *In* Soil Quality, Sustainable Agriculture and Environmental Security in Central and Eastern Europe, p.259-266.
- Sims PL, Coupland RT, 1979, Producers. *In* Grassland ecosystems of the world: analysis of grasslands and their uses, Ed. R.T. Coupland, p.49-72, Cambridge University Press.

Soil Survey Staff, 1998. Keys to Soil Taxonomy 8th Edition. SPSS, 1998. SYSTAT 8.0. Statistics.

USDA, 2003. Global crop production review, 2003.

In the second second

## Chapter 7 innerse bas indianabe interest (research education and extended version)

# General outline of soil properties and agriculture in Kazakhstan steppe Shinya Funakawa and Azusa Mishima

#### 7.1. General background

In Kazakhstan, Chernozem soils occupy 32.1×10<sup>6</sup> ha or 11.8% of the country territory (GUGK, 1982). Because of political reasons, the natural grass forb steppes of the area have disappeared over the last decades and have largely been replaced by arable land mainly spring wheat due to Khrushchev's Virgin Lands Agricultural Program from 1954 to 1960 (Medvedev, 1987). Accordingly, these areas are the main agricultural regions of Kazakhstan as is widely alleged to be most productive (Glukhovtse and Yermekbayeva, 2001). It is said that 26.5×10<sup>6</sup> (GUGK, 1982; Morgounov and Zuidema, 2001) or 24.6×106 (Gossen, 1998) Chernozem soils in Kazakhstan are converted to arable land. However, Chernozem soils in northern Kazakhstan not only sustain crop production in our world, but also store 130-160 Mg ha-<sup>1</sup> of organic matter in the top 20 cm, which functions as a huge source and sink of carbon dioxide (Kudeyarov et al., 1995). In this sense, Chernozem is one of the most important resources for both agricultural and environmental aspect.

# 7.2. Historical background of rainfed agriculture in northern Kazakhstan

Although these areas are rich in soil fertility, climatic condition is generally severe in that there is only about 300 mm precipitation within a year and hence drought represents a major abiotic stress (Morgounov et al., 2001). At first, wind erosion became a problem, which was induced with light mechanical composition of soils because they needed to be applied some agricultural machinery in order to produce crops in a large scale with dry farming (Gossen, 1998). Therefore, in the late 1950's, a station in Shortandy (northern Kazakhstan) was transformed into the All-Union Research Institute for Cereal Production and the institute had tremendous impact on production in the region by developing a soil-conservation cropping system (Morgounv et al., 2001). The principal method was 1) snow management, a technology to decrease the snow drifting and optimize thermal and water regime of soils by its spatial redistribution and melting (Shegebaev, 1998; Vladimir et al., 2001), 2) subsoil cutting, a technology to guarantee good penetration of melt-water as well as to prevent evaporation by cutting capillary rise by cutting subsoil (Shegebaev, 1998), 3) summer fallow, a technology to protect weed hazard, to capture soil moisture, and to accelerate mineralization of organic matter for nutrient replenishment by not cultivating one year (Shegebaev, 1998).

Even though it was a strategy for soil-conservation, the result of managing this kind of technology uniformly and intensively during the period of former Soviet Union was rather focused on production, which often came at the expense of sustainability (Srivastava and Meyer, 1998). Various problems of sustainability were essentially inevitable from these practices, i.e., decline in soil fertility, soil erosion, soil compaction (Srivastava and Meyer, 1998) and consequently various changes in soil properties (Sorokina and Kogut, 1997). There is an observation that organic carbon and total nitrogen in the top 10-cm soils reduced 38-43% and 45-53%, respectively, over the last 25-30 years in continuously cropped field of Chernozem soils in Russia (Mikhailova et al., 2000), or that the transition of virgin soils to arable land caused up to 50% reduction in organic matter content during the first years of cultivation (Buyanovsky et al., 1987). Also the soil fertility has declined up to 50% in Chernozem soils in former Soviet Union (Srivastava and Meyer, 1998).

However, in Kazakhstan, it is not managed at present in a way they did because of financial problems after broke up of USSR in 1991 and hence degree of organic matter degradation is thought to be becoming moderate. In contrast, because of severe budget cuts, resulting in reduced operations, herbicides, fuels and low salaries, and aging of machinery after 1991; productions are diminishing (Longmire and Moldashev, 1999; Gossen, 1998; Morgounov et al., 2001). It is said that highest period of crop yield was from 1986 to 1990, i.e., 1.00 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>, whereas average for 1994 to 1996 was 0.65 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> (Gossen, 1998). Since agricultural sector is one of the key elements of the country's economy today, it is crucial to withdraw from this situation. Moreover, socioeconomic circumstances today, which were very different from what it was a decade ago, are changing and people who lived and worked in a number of state- and collective-farms have the right to work individual plots of lands (Meng and Morgounov, 2000). The agricultural

technology system (research, education, and extension) in Kazakhstan entered to new era. A different kind of innovative approach for land management must be reorganized to be responsive and effective (Morgounov et al., 2001).

In this context, the theory of N.K. Azarov should be focused, which indicated that geography has correlation with snow depth, humus contents, moisture contents and cereal productivity and showed opportunity to grow cereals in the best agricultural landscapes (Gossen, 1998). This is the possibility to change from soil conservation system to adaptive landscape system with contour organization of the fields. Azarov defined this as an agrolandscape agricultural system from his results. In addition to that, Wolf (2000) observed that soil organic carbon is determined by the effect of topography, which controls soil genesis through moisture redistribution or wind erosion for example. Moreover, concept of site-specific management, which is a technique that divides a field to small cells for more careful management, proposed by a soil scientist, Prof. H.H. Cheng in the Minnesota University (Shibusawa, 1999), is focused as well. These theories can be applied to an alternative agricultural system that would satisfy both the agroeconomic and environmental concerns on the agriculture here. A possibility of "the site-specific management" will also be analyzed in Chapters 11 and 12 in the present study.

#### 7.3. Materials and methods

Macrolandscape of Kazakhstan is characterized by an east-to-west extension of central desert zone along with Lake Balkhash, Aral Sea and Caspian Sea and surrounded steppe zones both in the north and the south (Fig. 7.1). The southern foothill steppes of Mt. Alatau are situated under s relatively high temperature as well as high rainfall, not like as a northern steppe, which is characterized by severe drought in summer and cold climate in winter (Fig. 7.2).



Figure 7.2. Fluctuation of monthly temperature and precipitation at Almaty (a) and Shortandy (b) during 1990 - 1999.



Profile 2 (Typic Calciudolls)



Profile 8 (Lithic Haplustolls)



Profile 14 (Typic Natrustalfs) Profile 15 (Typic Haplustalfs) Figure 7.3. Representative soil profiles in Kazakhstan steppe.



Profile 5 (Typic Haplustolls)



**Profile 9 (Lithic Dystrustepts)** 





Profile 7 (Typic Haplustolls)



Profile 13 (Typic Haplosalids)



|             |                   |               |                | Par          | ticle size  | distribu | tion           |              | _                     |                       | _                     |            | Saturation ext   | ract                                   |                    |                    |                                 |
|-------------|-------------------|---------------|----------------|--------------|-------------|----------|----------------|--------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|------------|--|--|--------------------|--------------------|---------------------------------|
| Horizon     | Color             | Depth         | Coarse<br>sand | Fine<br>sand | Silt        | Clay     | Coarse<br>clay | Fine<br>sand | Organic C             | CO3-C                 | Gypsum                | рН         | Na <sup>+</sup> +K <sup>+</sup> +Mg <sup>2+</sup><br>+Ca <sup>2+</sup> | Sodium<br>adsorption<br>ratio (SAR)    | Exch.<br>Na        | CEC                | Exch. Na<br>percentage<br>(ESP) |
|             |                   | (cm)          | (%)            | (%)          | (%)         | (%)      | (%)            | (%)          | (g kg <sup>-1</sup> ) | (g kg <sup>-1</sup> ) | (g kg <sup>-1</sup> ) |            | (cmol <sub>c</sub> kg <sup>-1</sup> )                                  | (mmol L <sup>-1</sup> ) <sup>1/2</sup> | kg <sup>-1</sup> ) | kg <sup>-1</sup> ) | (%)                             |
| Profile 1 ( | Pachic Haple      | udolls)       |                |              |             |          |                |              |                       |                       |                       |            |  |  |                    |                    |                                 |
| A1          | 10YR2/2           | 0-10          | 0.0            | 19.5         | 46.3        | 34.2     | 22.3           | 11.8         | 66.6                  | 3.9                   | 0.1                   | 6.5        | 2.4  | 0.7                                    | 0.0                | 33.0               | 0.0                             |
| A2          | 10YR2/3           | 10-26         | 0.1            | 20.4         | 44.7        | 34.7     | 23.6           | 11.1         | 55.4                  | 3.1                   | 0.1                   | 6.0        | 2.4  | 0.7                                    | 0.0                | 31.3               | 0.0                             |
| BA          | 10YR3/3           | 26-41         | 0.1            | 20.3         | 49.0        | 30.6     | 20.5           | 10.2         | 17.7                  | 2.2                   | 0.0                   | 6.8        | 0.2  | 0.2                                    | 0.0                | 19.0               | 0.1                             |
| Bw          | 10YR3/4           | 41-55         | 0.0            | 22.7         | 46.4        | 30.8     | 19.0           | 11.9         | 13.3                  | 1.8                   | 0.0                   | 6.4        | 0.1  | 0.3                                    | 0.0                | 17.2               | 0.1                             |
| BC          | 10YR4/4           | 55-70         | 0.0            | 23.8         | 45.1        | 31.1     | 17.6           | 13.5         | 6.9                   | 1.6                   | 0.0                   | 6.4        | 0.1  | 0.3                                    | 0.0                | 16.1               | 0.2                             |
| С           | 10YR5/3           | 70-120        | 0.1            | 25.2         | 41.6        | 33.1     | 17.4           | 15.7         | 4.2                   | 1.8                   | 0.0                   | 6.2        | 0.1  | 0.4                                    | 0.1                | 16.0               | 0.3                             |
|             |                   | 120+          | 0.0            | 25.1         | 44.2        | 30.6     | 18.2           | 12.4         | 5.9                   | 1.0                   | 0.0                   | 7.3        | 0.2  | 0.4                                    | 0.0                | 15.3               | 0.3                             |
| Profile 2 ( | Typic Calcin      | (alloh)       |                |              |             |          |                |              |                       |                       |                       |            |  |  |                    |                    |                                 |
| A1          | 10VP2/3           | 0.0           | 0.2            | 324          | 35.5        | 32.0     | 15.6           | 16.4         | 107                   | 3.1                   | 0.0                   | 60         | 0.4  | 0.5                                    | 0.0                | 31.1               | 0.0                             |
| 12          | 101102/3          | 0.19          | 0.2            | 10.2         | 16.9        | 120      | 23.2           | 10.4         | 42.5                  | 2.1                   | 0.0                   | 67         | 0.4  | 0.5                                    | 0.0                | 28.0               | 0.0                             |
| A2<br>D1    | 101 K3/3          | 10 22         | 0.0            | 40.5         | 26.2        | 42.9     | 25.5           | 15.0         | 42.5                  | 2.0                   | 0.0                   | 7.0        | 0.0  | 0.1                                    | 0.0                | 20.0               | 0.1                             |
| Dw1         | 101 K3/3          | 10-52         | 0.2            | 31.9<br>42.1 | 21.6        | 31.0     | 13.9           | 10.7         | 33.2                  | 3.2                   | 0.0                   | 7.0        | 0.3  | 0.1                                    | 0.1                | 27.1               | 0.2                             |
| BW2         | 10YR4/3           | 32-42         | 0.2            | 45.1         | 31.0        | 25.1     | 14.8           | 10.3         | 25.5                  | 2.9                   | 0.0                   | 0.8        | 0.2  | 0.2                                    | 0.1                | 22.0               | 0.3                             |
| BC          | 10YR4/4           | 42-61         | 0.0            | 44.8         | 31.2        | 24.0     | 13.5           | 10.5         | 16.3                  | 2.3                   | 0.0                   | 0.9        | 0.2  | 0.2                                    | 0.1                | 21.2               | 0.3                             |
| Cĸ          | 10YR6/3           | 61-90+        | 0.0            | 49.4         | 31.3        | 19.3     | 12.2           | 7.1          | 5.7                   | 30.0                  | 0.0                   | 7.4        | 0.2  | 0.2                                    | 0.0                | 10.5               | 0.4                             |
|             |                   | 150           | 0.0            | 48.9         | 32.4        | 18.7     | 10.5           | 8.2          | 2.7                   | 26.3                  | 0.0                   | 7.8        | 0.2  | 0.2                                    | 0.1                | 9.1                | 0.6                             |
|             |                   | 200           | 0.0            | 46.2         | 38.7        | 15.2     | 12.8           | 2.3          | 2.1                   | 25.1                  | 0.0                   | 7.8        | 0.2  | 0.3                                    | 0.1                | 8.6                | 0.7                             |
|             |                   | 250           | 0.0            | 42.4         | 41.5        | 16.2     | 13.9           | 2.3          | 2.2                   | 19.9                  | 0.0                   | 8.0        | 0.2  | 0.3                                    | 0.1                | 6.3                | 1.2                             |
|             |                   | 300           | 0.0            | 45.2         | 35.4        | 19.3     | 13.9           | 5.4          | 2.8                   | 15.0                  | 0.0                   | 8.0        | 0.3  | 0.4                                    | 0.1                | 8.6                | 1.2                             |
|             |                   | 400           | 0.0            | 45.0         | 38.8        | 16.2     | 13.1           | 3.1          | 3.2                   | 16.2                  | 0.0                   | 8.1        | 0.3  | 0.8                                    | 0.1                | 9.3                | 1.4                             |
|             |                   | 500           | 0.0            | 58.3         | 28.6        | 13.1     | 10.8           | 2.3          | 1.7                   | 20.2                  | 0.0                   | 8.1        | 0.3  | 1.8                                    | 0.2                | 6.8                | 2.6                             |
| Profile 3 ( | Typic Calciu      | istolls)      |                |              |             |          |                |              |                       |                       |                       |            |  |  |                    |                    |                                 |
| <b>A</b> 1  | 10YR3/2           | 0-8           | 2.0            | 33.2         | 36.7        | 28.0     | 19.8           | 8.2          | 33.0                  | 2.9                   | 0.0                   | 7.7        | 0.3  | 0.1                                    | 0.0                | 21.3               | 0.1                             |
| A2          | 10YR3/3           | 8-18          | 1.3            | 31.9         | 39.5        | 27.2     | 22.9           | 4.3          | 24.3                  | 3.1                   | 0.0                   | 7.7        | 0.3  | 0.1                                    | 0.0                | 17.1               | 0.2                             |
| Bw          | 10YR3/4           | 18-40         | 1.3            | 36.8         | 40.6        | 21.3     | 19.0           | 2.3          | 17.8                  | 12.3                  | 0.0                   | 7.7        | 0.3  | 0.1                                    | 0.0                | 14.1               | 0.2                             |
| BCk         | 10YR5/4           | 40-60         | 0.4            | 33.9         | 50.0        | 15.7     | 15.5           | 0.2          | 6.8                   | 31.9                  | 0.0                   | 7.7        | 0.2  | 0.2                                    | 0.0                | 8.9                | 0.3                             |
| С           | 10YR6/4           | 60-90+        | 0.4            | 40.6         | 44.2        | 14.8     | 13.3           | 1.5          | 3.9                   | 27.6                  | 0.0                   | 7.8        | 0.2  | 0.3                                    | 0.1                | 8.7                | 0.6                             |
|             |                   | 100           | 0.3            | 41.8         | 45.7        | 12.2     | 11.4           | 0.9          | 3.1                   | 25.1                  | 0.0                   | 7.8        | 0.2  | 0.6                                    | 0.1                | 6.3                | 1.1                             |
|             |                   | 150           | 0.2            | 43.3         | 47.9        | 8.5      | 7.5            | 1.0          | 2.2                   | 22.8                  | 0.0                   | 7.9        | 0.2  | 0.5                                    | 0.1                | 6.5                | 1.1                             |
|             |                   | 200           | 0.0            | 44.4         | 42.2        | 13.3     | 11.2           | 2.1          | 1.5                   | 19.1                  | 0.0                   | 8.1        | 0.3  | 1.2                                    | 0.1                | 6.1                | 2.1                             |
|             |                   | 250           | 0.0            | 45.0         | 43.5        | 11.5     | 9.7            | 1.8          | 1.6                   | 18.9                  | 0.1                   | 8.0        | 0.9  | 4.9                                    | 0.5                | 6.0                | 8.4                             |
|             |                   | 300           | 0.9            | 47.3         | 42.6        | 9.2      | 7.8            | 1.4          | 1.5                   | 17.5                  | 4.5                   | 7.6        | 5.3  | 7.1                                    | 0.7                | 6.2                | 11.0                            |
| Profile 4 ( | Calcie Haple      | oxerepts)     |                |              |             |          |                |              |                       |                       |                       |            |  |  |                    |                    |                                 |
| A1          | 2.5Y6/3           | 0-8           | 13             | 55.6         | 28.6        | 14.6     | 13.0           | 16           | 11.8                  | 16.0                  | 0.0                   | 77         | 0.6  | 0.2                                    | 0.0                | 8.5                | 0.1                             |
| A2          | 2.5¥6/3           | 8-18          | 1.2            | 55.2         | 29.1        | 14.4     | 12.6           | 1.9          | 81                    | 183                   | 0.0                   | 7.8        | 0.3  | 0.2                                    | 0.0                | 8.0                | 0.1                             |
| Duy         | 2.510/3           | 19 29         | 1.2            | 50.6         | 25.1        | 21 4     | 15.7           | 57           | 6.6                   | 18.0                  | 0.0                   | 7.0        | 0.3  | 0.4                                    | 0.0                | 7.0                | 0.1                             |
| PCL         | 2.510/4           | 29 17         | 0.1            | 50.0         | 20.9        | 121.4    | 10.0           | 20           | 47                    | 22.2                  | 0.0                   | 7.9        | 0.5  | 0.5                                    | 0.0                | 7.5                | 0.5                             |
| C           | 2.510/4           | 47.00         | 0.1            | 62.7         | 20.1        | 14.1     | 10.0           | 2.0          | 7.7                   | 23.2                  | 0.0                   | 7.0        | 0.2  | 0.5                                    | 0.0                | 7.1                | 0.5                             |
| C           | 2.510.5/4         | 100           | 0.0            | 50.7         | 20.5        | 10.8     | 9.2            | 1.0          | 2.5                   | 23.5                  | 0.0                   | 7.9        | 0.2  | 0.7                                    | 0.0                | 6.6                | 0.0                             |
|             |                   | 150           | 0.0            | 59.1         | 29.5        | 10.8     | 0.0            | 2.2          | 2.2                   | 20.0                  | 0.0                   | 7.9        | 0.3  | 0.9                                    | 0.1                | 6.0                | 1.0                             |
|             |                   | 200           | 0.0            | 60.6         | 29.0        | 9.8      | 7.0            | 2.2          | 1.7                   | 10.0                  | 0.0                   | 1.9        | 0.3  | 0.9                                    | 0.1                | 0.2                | 1.4                             |
|             |                   | 200           | 0.0            | 64.2         | 20.4        | 10.5     | 9.0            | 2.4          | 1.4                   | 10.0                  | 0.0                   | 8.0        | 0.2  | 3.0                                    | 0.2                | 1.2                | 2.7                             |
|             |                   | 250           | 0.0            | 64.2         | 25.4        | 10.5     | 8.0            | 1.9          | 1,4                   | 18.3                  | 0.0                   | 8.0        | 0.2  | 2.3                                    | 0.1                | 0.3                | 2.1                             |
|             |                   | 300           | 0.0            | 02.1         | 27.2        | 10.7     | 8.2            | 2.5          | 1.2                   | 19.0                  | 0.0                   | 8.0        | 0.2  | 1.9                                    | 0.1                | 0.3                | 2.0                             |
|             |                   | 400           | 0.0            | 62.9         | 25.1        | 12.0     | 9.0            | 2.4          | 1.2                   | 19.9                  | 0.0                   | 8.0        | 0.2  | 3.1                                    | 0.2                | 6.2                | 3.0                             |
|             |                   | 500           | 0.0            | 03.9         | 24.9        | 11.1     | 8.7            | 2.5          | 1.5                   | 19.6                  | 0.0                   | 7.9        | 0.2  | 2.6                                    | 0.2                | 5.8                | 2.1                             |
| Profile 5   | (Typic Haplu      | stolls, clay  | ey)            |              |             |          |                |              |                       |                       |                       |            |  |  |                    |                    |                                 |
| <b>A</b> 1  | 10YR3/1           | 0-20          | 0.0            | 24.9         | 25.8        | 49.2     | 27.9           | 21.3         | 29.6                  | 7.0                   | 0.0                   | 8.0        | 0.4  | 0.1                                    | 0.1                | 29.7               | 0.2                             |
| A2          | 7.5YR4/2          | 20-40         | 0.0            | 25.2         | 26.8        | 48.0     | 22.0           | 26.0         | 14.3                  | 14.1                  | 0.0                   | 7.3        | 0.4  | 1.2                                    | 0.3                | 26.3               | 1.3                             |
| Bw          | 7.5YR4/2          | 40-50         | 0.0            | 27.1         | 28.9        | 44.0     | 23.1           | 20.9         | 14.1                  | 14.4                  | 0.0                   | 7.8        | 0.4  | 4.5                                    | 1.6                | 24.7               | 6.4                             |
| BCk         | 7.5YR5/4          | 50-75         | 0.0            | 26.1         | 25.8        | 48.1     | 26.1           | 22.0         | 11.3                  | 17.1                  | 0.0                   | 7.9        | 0.6  | 12.5                                   | 4.2                | 24.2               | 17.3                            |
| C1          | 7.5YR5/4          | 75-92         | 0.0            | 27.9         | 21.9        | 50.2     | 26.8           | 23.5         | 2.0                   | 15.2                  | 0.0                   | 7.6        | 2.6  | 14.8                                   | 4.1                | 20.5               | 20.2                            |
| C2          | 7.5YR5/6          | 92-100+       | 0.0            | 29.0         | 22.9        | 48.0     | 27.7           | 20.4         | 1.5                   | 12.7                  | 121.8                 | 7.3        | 4.0  | 10.0                                   | 2.1                | 16.6               | 12.8                            |
|             |                   | 150           | 0.0            | 33.2         | 24.9        | 41.9     | 25.1           | 16.8         | 1.7                   | 13.7                  | 10.3                  | 7.3        | 9.9  | 21.2                                   | 3.5                | 13.6               | 26.1                            |
|             |                   | 200           | 0.0            | 32.4         | 22.6        | 45.0     | 24.4           | 20.6         | 1.5                   | 13.5                  | 8.8                   | 7.4        | 11.2   | 21.3                                   | 3.7                | 18.0               | 20.6                            |
|             |                   | 250           | 0.0            | 33.9         | 24.1        | 42.0     | 25.2           | 16.8         | 1.4                   | 11.6                  | 0.7                   | 7.5        | 11.4   | 22.6                                   | 2.6                | 20.1               | 13.0                            |
|             |                   | 300           | 0.0            | 30.4         | 25.2        | 44.4     | 24.2           | 20.2         | 1.3                   | 11.0                  | 0.0                   | 7.5        | 10.2   | 26.3                                   | 2.5                | 24.7               | 10.0                            |
| Profile 6   | (Typic Haplu      | istolls, sand | iy)            |              |             |          |                |              |                       |                       |                       |            |  |  |                    |                    |                                 |
| Ap1         | 2.5Y3/2           | 0-10          | 27.6           | 28.9         | 14.1        | 29.5     | 14.0           | 15.5         | 17.9                  | 1.4                   | 0.0                   | 6.5        | 0.1  | 0.3                                    | 0.1                | 18.2               | 0.3                             |
| An2         | 2.5Y3/2           | 10-20         | 28.9           | 28.1         | 11.9        | 31.1     | 13.9           | 17.2         | 18.4                  | 1.5                   | 0.0                   | 62         | 0.1  | 0.4                                    | 0.1                | 18.2               | 0.4                             |
| A           | 2.5Y3/2           | 20-30         | 30.4           | 26.1         | 12.7        | 30.8     | 13.2           | 17.5         | 14.8                  | 14                    | 0.0                   | 67         | 0.1  | 0.6                                    | 0.1                | 20.6               | 0.6                             |
| AB          | 2 5V3/2           | 30-40         | 28.8           | 23.5         | 13.8        | 34.0     | 16.1           | 17.9         | 98                    | 1.8                   | 0.0                   | 6.8        | 0.3  | 1 1                                    | 0.2                | 20.4               | 11                              |
| Bk          | 2.5 10/2          | 40-60         | 27 3           | 33.6         | 23.8        | 153      | 14 7           | 0.6          | 6.2                   | 154                   | 0.4                   | 7.0        | 17   | 52                                     | 0.6                | 137                | 4.6                             |
| RC          | 2.5 1 -10         | 60-20         | 20.2           | 320          | 23.0        | 14.2     | 13 /           | 0.0          | 4.6                   | 16.6                  | 0.4                   | 7 7        | 25   | 03                                     | 1 1                | 13.6               | 9.0<br>9.1                      |
| c<br>c      | 2.31314<br>25V5/6 | 80-100        | 120            | 25.7         | 112         | 14.2     | 16 0           | 0.7          | 7.0<br>7 /            | 10.0                  | 0.4                   | 75         | 2.5  | 2.5<br>117                             | 1.1                | 10.6               | 150                             |
| C           | 2.213/0           | 125           | 72 0           | 25.1         | 750         | 26.0     | 2/ 1           | 1 0          | 1.9                   | 160                   | 0.0                   | 7.5        | 2.4  | 20.1                                   | 21                 | 16.0               | 10.0                            |
|             |                   | 120           | 120            | 29.2         | o.c.<br>1 ۵ | 20.0     | 24.1<br>15 0   | 1.0          | 1.0                   | 52                    | 0.0                   | 7.5        | 2.2  | 20.1                                   | J.1<br>1 Q         | 10.0               | 171                             |
|             |                   | 170           | 42.U           | 20.U         | 7.1<br>21.0 | 21.U     | 13.8           | 5.1          | 0.9                   | 5.5<br>7 0            | 10.0                  | 7.0<br>7 4 | 3.4<br>A F   | 20.2                                   | 1.0                | 14.0               | 17.1                            |
|             |                   | 1/2           | 35.4           | 29.0         | 21.8        | 10.5     | 14.9           | 0.4          | 1.4                   | /.ð                   | 19.2                  | 1.4        | 4.5  | 20.7                                   | 2.0                | 14.9               | 17.2                            |
| n er -      | /m                | 200           | 10.0           | 22.4         | 21.4        | 39.0     | 30.8           | 0.8          | 0,1                   | 11.1                  | 2.5                   | 1.5        | 5.1  | 23.9                                   | 4.0                | 19.0               | 20.4                            |
| Profile 7   | (1ypic Haplı      | istolls)      |                |              |             |          |                |              |                       |                       |                       |            |  |  |                    |                    |                                 |
| A1          | 7.5YR2/3          | 0-10          | 15.5           | 13.8         | 18.1        | 52.6     | 27.1           | 25.5         | 49.2                  | 2.7                   | 0.0                   | 7.0        | 0.3  | 0.2                                    | 0.0                | 35.9               | 0.1                             |
| A2          | 7.5YR2/3          | 10-20         | 15.6           | 12.9         | 17.1        | 54.4     | 20.2           | 34.2         | 29.6                  | 1.9                   | 0.0                   | 6.1        | 0.1  | 0.2                                    | 0.1                | 36.3               | 0.2                             |
| A3          | 7.5YR2/3          | 20-30         | 14.3           | 15.3         | 18.5        | 51.9     | 19.4           | 32.5         | 24.1                  | 2.0                   | 0.0                   | 6.5        | 0.1  | 0.2                                    | 0.1                | 35.2               | 0.2                             |
| AB          | 5YR4/4            | 30-65         | 15.3           | 15.5         | 18.0        | 51.2     | 21.2           | 29.9         | 25.8                  | 2.5                   | 0.0                   | 6.8        | 0.2  | 0.2                                    | 0.1                | 36.8               | 0.1                             |
| Bw          | 5YR4/6            | 65-90         | 14.8           | 16.7         | 17.2        | 51.3     | 39.6           | 11.7         | 15.1                  | 7.3                   | 0.0                   | 7.3        | 0.2  | 0.2                                    | 0.1                | 30.6               | 0.2                             |
| BCk         | 5YR4/6            | 90-110+       | 14.6           | 17.4         | 18.8        | 49.3     | 43.7           | 5.5          | 5.4                   | 12.1                  | 0.0                   | 7.3        | 0.2  | 0.2                                    | 0.1                | 26.1               | 0.3                             |

Table 7.1. Physicochemical properties of the soils studied (1).

| 0     | n |  |
|-------|---|--|
| ч     | ч |  |
| - e - | - |  |

Table 7.1. Physicochemical properties of the soils studied (2).

| -                |                     |                 | 10.00              | Pa           | rticle size  | distribut    | ion          |              |                       |                       |                       |                   | Saturation extract   |                                     |                    |                    |                                 |
|------------------|---------------------|-----------------|--------------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|--------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-------------------|--|-------------------------------------|--------------------|--------------------|---------------------------------|
| Horizon          | Color               | Depth           | Coarse<br>sand     | Fine<br>sand | Silt         | Clay         | Coarse       | Fine         | Organic C             | CO3-C                 | -<br>Gypsum           | pH                | Na <sup>+</sup> +K <sup>+</sup> +Mg <sup>2+</sup><br>+Ca <sup>2+</sup> | Sodium<br>adsorption<br>ratio (SAR) | Exch.<br>Na        | CEC                | Exch. Na<br>percentage<br>(ESP) |
|                  |                     |                 |                    |              |              |              | ciay         | sand         |                       |                       | 경찰과의 작품               |                   | (cmol, kg <sup>-1</sup> )  | $(mmol L^{-1})^{1/2}$               | (cmol <sub>c</sub> | (cmol <sub>c</sub> |                                 |
|                  |                     | (cm)            | (%)                | (%)          | (%)          | (%)          | (%)          | (%)          | (g kg <sup>-1</sup> ) | (g kg <sup>-1</sup> ) | (g kg <sup>-1</sup> ) | bibbib            | <u>Seleseer a</u>  | Distance Chile.                     | kg ')              | kg ')              | (%)                             |
| Profile 8 (      | Lithic Haplt        | istolls)        | 21.2               | 0.6          | 27.0         | 42.1         | 22.0         | 10.1         | 07.6                  | 2.0                   | 0.0                   | <b>C</b> 1        | 0.1  | 0.2                                 | 0.0                | 42.2               | 0.1                             |
| A1<br>42         | 2.5Y2/1             | 3-13            | 19.8               | 9.6          | 27.0         | 46.7         | 23.0         | 26.6         | 58.7                  | 3.0<br>1.3            | 0.0                   | 61                | 0.1  | 0.3                                 | 0.0                | 42.2<br>38.6       | 0.1                             |
| Bw               | 10YR3/2             | 13-32           | 16.8               | 10.1         | 22.8         | 50.4         | 14.9         | 35.5         | 22.7                  | 1.5                   | 0.0                   | 6.2               | 0.1  | 0.7                                 | 0.1                | 32.1               | 0.4                             |
| BC               | 7.5YR4/4            | 32+             | 51.4               | 16.5         | 9.1          | 23.1         | 7.6          | 15.5         | 7.6                   | 1.3                   | 0.0                   | 6.2               | 0.1  | 0.9                                 | 0.1                | 14.7               | 0.6                             |
| Profile 9 (      | Lithic Dystr        | ustepts)        |                    |              |              |              |              |              |                       |                       |                       |                   |  |                                     |                    |                    |                                 |
| Oa               | 5YR3/2              | +1.5-0          | 20.3               | 14.3         | 21.8         | 43.6         | 30.0         | 13.6         | 269.5                 | 2.1                   | 0.1                   | 5.9               | 0.4  | 0.3                                 | 0.0                | 31.5               | 0.0                             |
| A                | 7.5YR4/4            | 0-8             | 44.8               | 16.3         | 22.9         | 15.9         | 12.7         | 3.2          | 41.2<br>8 4           | 1.4                   | 0.0                   | 5.9               | 0.1  | 0.4<br>0.4                          | 0.0                | 21.2               | 0.2                             |
| BC               | 7.5YR5/8            | 23-38           | 41.7               | 18.1         | 22.4         | 17.9         | 4.9          | 13.0         | 6.3                   | 1.0                   | 0.0                   | 5.7               | 0.1  | 0.4                                 | 0.0                | 15.4               | 0.4                             |
| C                | 7.5YR5/8            | 38+             | 44.4               | 16.8         | 20.0         | 18.7         | 6.3          | 12.4         | 6.0                   | 1.3                   | 0.0                   | 4.8               | 0.1  | 0.5                                 | 0.0                | 15.6               | 0.3                             |
| Profile 10       | (Typic Hapl         | ustolls)        |                    |              |              |              |              |              |                       |                       |                       |                   |  |                                     |                    |                    |                                 |
| Ap1              | 10YR2/2             | 0-10            | 11.5               | 11.0         | 26.7         | 50.9         | 22.2         | 28.7         | 35.3                  | 2.4                   | 0.0                   | 7.0               | 0.1  | 0.3                                 | 0.0                | 38.3               | 0.1                             |
| Ap2              | 10YR2/3             | 10-20           | 11.7               | 8.7          | 27.4         | 52.1         | 18.7         | 33.4         | 30.2                  | 2.7                   | 0.0                   | 7.0               | 0.2  | 0.3                                 | 0.1                | 39.1               | 0.2                             |
| AB<br>Bw1        | 10YR2/3             | 20-30           | 10.3               | 11.5         | 23.5         | 54.8<br>53.1 | 21.7         | 33.1<br>27 3 | 31.0<br>21.0          | 2.2<br>4.2            | 0.0                   | 7.5<br>7.5        | 0.3  | 0.4                                 | 0.1                | 35.2               | 0.3                             |
| Bw2              | 10YR2/3             | 40-60           | 10.8               | 14.2         | 22.2         | 52.8         | 25.6         | 27.1         | 27.1                  | 4.5                   | 0.0                   | 6.9               | 0.4  | 1.1                                 | 0.3                | 39.8               | 0.8                             |
| BC               | 10YR4/3             | 60-80           | 16.3               | 21.3         | 29.0         | 33.4         | 19.2         | 14.2         | 8.8                   | 5.8                   | 0.0                   | 7.7               | 0.3  | 2.4                                 | 1.2                | 40.4               | 2.9                             |
|                  | 10YR4/6             | 80-100          | 16.5               | 24.5         | 23.3         | 35.7         | 14.6         | 21.1         | 4.2                   | 2.6                   | 0.0                   | 7.6               | 0.4  | 3.0                                 | 1.6                | 43.0               | 3.6                             |
| Profile 11       | (Inceptic Ha        | plustalfs)      | an say.            |              |              |              | 경험과학생        |              |                       |                       |                       |                   |  |                                     |                    |                    |                                 |
| Oa               | 10YR1.7/1           | +7-0            | 3.4                | 17.0         | 43.1         | 36.5         | 20.3         | 16.3         | 267.3                 | 4.6                   | 0.1                   |                   | 0.8  | 0.5                                 | 0.0                | 37.3               | 0.0                             |
| Ae<br>F          | 101 R2/3<br>10YR3/4 | 0-3<br>3-13     | 14.0<br>14.0       | 20.1         | 31.1<br>29.7 | 34.2         | 20.0         | 15.0         | 48.3                  | 2.0                   | 0.0                   | 5.5<br>6.1        | 0.3  | 0.3                                 | 0.0                | 20.9               | 0.2                             |
| Bt1              | 10YR4/6             | 13-25           | 8.1                | 13.2         | 19.9         | 58.9         | 20.4         | 38.5         | 14.1                  | 2.6                   | 0.0                   | 6.4               | 0.1  | 0.4                                 | 0.0                | 30.8               | 0.2                             |
| Bt2              | 10YR4/6             | 25-40           | 6.7                | 14.9         | 22.0         | 56.4         | 20.5         | 35.9         | 9.0                   | 3.0                   | 0.0                   | 7.2               | 0.3  | 0.3                                 | 0.1                | 27.8               | 0.3                             |
| BCk              | 10YR5/6             | 40-60           | 24.6               | 24.9         | 23.3         | 27.2         | 19.3         | 7.9          | 6.9                   | 13.5                  | 0.1                   | 7.6               | 0.4  | 1.6                                 | 0.1                | 9.6                | 1.1                             |
| C                | 10YR5/6             | 60-80<br>80.100 | 25.1               | 29.2         | 27.2         | 18.5         | 16.5         | 2.0          | 2.9                   | 4.2                   | 0.0                   | 7.8               | 0.3  | 1.6                                 | 0.0                | 4.4                | 1.0                             |
| Profile 12       | (Typic Cale         | instolls)       | 20.1               | 33.0         | 23.1         | 12.0         | 12.5         | 0.5          | 1. <b>J</b>           | 1.0                   | 0.0                   | 1.0               | 0.3  | 2.0                                 | 0.0                | <b>J.</b> 4        | 0.5                             |
| A1               | 10YR2/2             | 0-10            | 0.0                | 44.9         | 17.1         | 38.0         | 32.0         | 6.0          | 25.4                  | 7.4                   | 0.1                   | 7.6               | 0.5  | 0.3                                 | 0.0                | 22.4               | 0.2                             |
| A2               | 10YR2/2             | 10-20           | 0.0                | 34.8         | 19.1         | 46.0         | 39.9         | 6.1          | 36.0                  | 5,6                   | 0.0                   | 7.7               | 0.5  | 0.3                                 | 0.1                | 30.3               | 0.2                             |
| A3               | 10YR2/2             | 20-30           | 0.3                | 29.4         | 21.3         | 49.0         | 44.6         | 4.4          | 24.8                  | 9.4                   | 0.0                   | 7.5               | 0.4  | 0.3                                 | 0.1                | 28.1               | 0.3                             |
| AB               | 10YR2/3             | 30-40           | 0.4                | 29.3         | 21.2         | 49.1         | 49.1         | 0.0          | 19.2                  | 12.1                  | 0.0                   | 7.5               | 0.3  | 0.4                                 | 0.1                | 26.2               | 0.3                             |
| Bw1<br>Bw2       | 10YR3/3             | 40-55           | 0.4                | 30.7         | 21.9         | 47.0         | 47.2         | 0.0          | 13.8                  | 13.0                  | 0.1                   | 7.5               | 0.2  | 0.6                                 | 0.2                | 24.6               | 0.6                             |
| BC               | 10YR3/4             | 75-90           | 0.0                | 26.7         | 23.3         | 50.0         | 46.2         | 3.8          | 8.9                   | 13.1                  | 0.0                   | 7.7               | 0.5  | 8.7                                 | 0.9                | 24.2               | 3.8                             |
| Ck               | 10YR4/3             | 100             | 0.0                | 27.8         | 23.4         | 48.9         | 47.0         | 1.8          | 4.6                   | 20.1                  | 0.0                   | 7.7               | 0.7  | 17.4                                | 2.7                | 21.6               | 12.3                            |
|                  |                     | 150             | 1.8                | 29.8         | 22.5         | 45.9         | 43.4         | 2.6          | 1.4                   | 14.0                  | 0.1                   | 8.1               | 0.8  | 22.3                                | 3.9                | 20.5               | 19.2                            |
|                  |                     | 200             | 2.3                | 28.1         | 23.4         | 46.1         | 42.7         | 3.4          | 1.3                   | 13.1                  | 0.0                   | 7.8               | 0.7  | 23.9                                | 3.1                | 21.0               | 14.6                            |
|                  |                     | 300             | 2.9<br>4 1         | 29.9         | 22.0         | 44.0         | 40.5         | 4.4          | 1.2                   | 12.2                  | 0.5                   | 7.0               | 1.0  | 7.0<br>4 3                          | 0.7                | 20.2               | 20                              |
| Profile 13       | (Typic Hanl         | (abilean        | an<br>Robertsi kes |              | entilie      |              |              |              |                       | and the later         |                       | an Rudi           | n<br>National Antipage (197  |                                     |                    | 12.0               |                                 |
| A                | 7.5YR2/1            | 0-13            | 48                 | 57           | 31.2         | 58 2         | 52.7         | 55           | 34.9                  | 89                    | 15.0                  | 73                | 66 1   | 38.9                                | 81                 | 34.1               | 23.8                            |
| AB1              | 7.5YR2/2            | 13-20           | 5.5                | 10.7         | 26.3         | 57.5         | 54.7         | 2.8          | 20.7                  | 8.4                   | 40.5                  | 7.4               | 32.2   | 27.8                                | 6.7                | 30.9               | 21.6                            |
| AB2              | 7.5YR2/2            | 20-33           | 5.1                | 8.1          | 23.6         | 63.2         | 57.8         | 5.4          | 15.8                  | 17.3                  | 8.1                   | 7.1               | 23.1   | 25.7                                | 5.8                | 31.9               | 18.1                            |
| BA               | 7.5YR4/4            | 33-50           | 5.8                | 8.7          | 29.4         | 56.2         | 51.5         | 4.7          | 6.6                   | 20.6                  | 1.6                   | 7.1               | 16.2   | 20.3                                | 4.0                | 27.5               | 14.6                            |
| DW<br>Profile 14 | 7.5 Y K4.5/6        | 50-00           | 7.0                | 7.0          | 30.3         | <b>33.</b> 2 | 50.7         | 4.5          | 3.9                   | 22.1                  | 1.9                   | a. <b>/.1</b> 64. | 14.6   | 18.2                                | 3.9                | 24.3               | 16.2                            |
| Δ                | 7 SVR4/4            | ustans)         | 147                | 34.4         | 22.8         | 28.0         | 170          | 10.2         | 25.8                  | 07                    | 03                    | 68                | 04   | 77                                  | 0.0                | 164                | 0.0                             |
| E                | 10YR6/3             | 5-13            | 19.3               | 33.1         | 20.3         | 27.3         | 17.5         | 13.6         | 10.4                  | 0.7                   | 0.0                   | 6.9               | 0.4  | 8.7                                 | 0.0                | 12.0               | 6.2                             |
| Bth              | 7.5YR4/4            | 13-23           | 12.0               | 19.3         | 14.1         | 54.5         | 16.1         | 38.5         | 13.5                  | 1.8                   | 2.2                   | 7.1               | 8.0  | 22.5                                | 5.2                | 29.6               | 17.5                            |
| Bw               | 7.5YR5/6            | 23-47           | 14.4               | 21.2         | 22.8         | 41.6         | 25.9         | 15.7         | 5.7                   | 14.2                  | 7.9                   | 7.5               | 13.6   | 23.4                                | 3.3                | 19.4               | 16.9                            |
| BCk              | 7.5YR5/4            | 47-65           | 16.7               | 18.4         | 21.0         | 43.9         | 25.8         | 18.1         | 3.1                   | · 19.5                | 31.5                  | 7.4               | 12.2   | 23.8                                | 2.8                | 15.0               | 18.8                            |
| C                | 7.3 I K3/4          | 100             | 9.8                | 19.5         | 20.9         | 47.0         | 24.0<br>22.7 | 23.0         | 1.0                   | 14.0                  | 40.1                  | 7.5<br>77         | 0.0<br>1 9   | 17.4                                | 3.1<br>47          | 20.1               | 23.1                            |
|                  |                     | 150             | 9.8                | 19.2         | 21.5         | 49.5         | 25.5         | 24.0         | 1.6                   | 11.6                  | 0.5                   | 7.5               | 6.8  | 27.7                                | 4.8                | 21.3               | 22.6                            |
|                  |                     | 200             | 3.4                | 12.2         | 27.8         | 56.6         | 26.4         | 30.2         | 1.3                   | 12.0                  | 0.4                   | 7.6               | 5.7  | 29.2                                | 5.9                | 22.7               | 25.7                            |
|                  |                     | 250             | 2.3                | 9.3          | 29.1         | 59.3         | 26.4         | 32.9         | 1.2                   | 13.5                  | 0.1                   | 7.7               | 4.1  | 30.2                                | 6.0                | 23.1               | 26.0                            |
| Profit 1-        | <b></b>             | 300             | 7.1                | 8.2          | 32.0         | 52.6         | 33.5         | 19.2         | 0.9                   | 12.2                  | 0.2                   | 7.7               | 4.0  | 27.5                                | 3.4                | 13.1               | 25.7                            |
| A ronie 15       | (1 ypic Hapl        | ustalis)        | 177                | 16.0         | - 00 C       | 750          | 10.1         | 8280<br>17 0 | 120                   |                       | s ession              | 6 -               | lete total   |                                     | 0.0                | 24.1               | 0.1                             |
| E                | 101K2/3<br>10YR3/4  | 0-8<br>8-18     | 23.5               | 16.9         | 29.0<br>39.0 | 55.8<br>21.5 | 13.1         | 17.8<br>80   | 45.9<br>73            | 0.4                   | 0.0                   | 0.3<br>61         | 0.2  | 0.5                                 | 0.0                | 24.1<br>10 3       | 0.1                             |
| Bt1              | 10YR4/6             | 18-35           | 11.7               | 11.0         | 37.6         | 39.8         | 22.8         | 16.9         | 5.7                   | 0.4                   | 0.0                   | 5.0               | 0.1  | 0.9                                 | 0.0                | 16.0               | 0.3                             |
| Bt2              | 10YR5/4             | 35-50           | 10.6               | 12.4         | 40.2         | 36.8         | 22.5         | 14.3         | 3.7                   | 0.3                   | 0.0                   | 4.4               | 0.1  | 0.9                                 | 0.0                | 14.2               | 0.2                             |
| BC               | 10YR6/4             | 50-65           | 6.7                | 13.5         | 44.1         | 35.8         | 25.5         | 10.4         | 2.8                   | 0.0                   | 0.0                   | 4.3               | 0.0  | 1.1                                 | 0.0                | 9.2                | 0.2                             |
|                  | 101 KO/3            | 03-60           | 51.3               | 29.0         | 20.6         | 13.2         | 8.3          | 4./          | 3.3                   | U.1                   | 0.0                   | 4./               | 0.0  | U.8                                 | 0.0                | 3.0                | U. I                            |



Figure 7.4. X-ray diffractograms of clay specimen collected from soils in Kazakhstan steppe.

The southern foothill steppes are widely covered by loess deposits. In order to analyze general soil characteristics, we collected four soil profiles in the area, including three steppe soils with different moisture regimes (Profiles 2 to 4) and one adjacent forest soil (Profile 1). On the other hand, distribution of soil parent materials in the northern steppe is more complicated; larger areas are covered by quaternary lacustrine and fluvial deposits and some are by granite and metamorphic rocks.

We collected three representative soils in this area; Profile 5 (clayey) and Profile 6 (sandy) from dry steppe zone and Profile 7 from northern forest steppe zone. In addition, in order to compare characteristics of steppe and forest soils pedologically, four soils are collected, i.e., Profile 8 (steppe soil on granite), Profile 9 (forest soil on granite), Profile 10 (steppe soil on quaternary deposit), and Profile 11 (forest soil on quaternary deposit). Another three soils, which have been developed on different sedimental as well as pedological environments are also collected, i.e., Profile 12 (meadowtype Chernozem soil), Profile 13 (Solonchak), Profile 14 (Solonetz), and Profile 15 (Solod).

The soil samples were air-dried and passed through a 2 mm mesh sieve for physicochemical and mineralogical analyses.

- 1) Soil texture was determined by a pipette method with pretreatment with acetate buffer at pH 5.0 to remove the carbonates (Soil Survey Laboratory Staff, 1992).
- Clay mineral species were identified by X-ray diffraction using Cu-Ka radiation for both the whole and separated (coarse and fine) clay fractions.
- 3) The content of organic carbon was determined by wet combustion method.
- The content of carbonate C was determined by back titration with 1 M NaOH after the addition of a known amount of HCl solution (Soil Survey Laboratory Staff, 1992).
- Gypsum content was estimated based on the concentrations of SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup> and Ca<sup>2+</sup> in the saturated and diluted water extracts (Lagerwerff et al., 1965).
- 6) Saturation paste was prepared according to the method 8A in Soil Survey Laboratory Methods Manual (Soil Survey Laboratory Staff 1992). Saturation extract thus collected was analyzed for determination of the concentration of Na<sup>+</sup>, K<sup>+</sup> (flame photometry) Mg<sup>2+</sup>, Ca<sup>2+</sup> (atomic absorption spectrophotometry (Shimadzu, AA640-01)), Cl<sup>-</sup>, NO<sub>3</sub><sup>-</sup>, SO<sub>4</sub><sup>2-</sup> (high performance liquid chromatography (Shimadzu, LC3A)), and carbonaceous

species (by a total organic carbon analyzer (Shimadzu, TOC-5000) and solution pH).

7) The content of exchangeable Na and cation exchange capacity (CEC) was determined with successive extraction/substitution using 1 M NH<sub>4</sub>OAc, methanol for washing, and 10% NaCl solution, followed by NH<sub>3</sub> determination (for CEC) by steam distillation and Na determination by flame photometry.

# 7.4. Characteristics of the loess-derived soils on the foothill of Mt. Alatau in the south (Profiles 1 to 4)

Our sampling sites are given on the map (Fig. 7.1). Physicochemical properties of the soils are shown in Table 7.1. For representative profiles, photo and description are given in Fig. 7.3 and Appendix at the end of this chapter, respectively.

Loess-derived soils distribute east-to-west along the foothills of Mt. Alatau, between inner desert and mountain forest zones. In all the soils studied including Profile 4 next to desert, contents of soluble salts in the saturation extract, exchangeable Na, and gypsum were appreciably low throughout the profiles. The coarser fraction such as fine sand and/or silt were generally higher in these soils than in the soils in northern steppe (described later) and there was a trend that coarser soils distributed near the desert rather than mountain-side, suggesting that risk of soil salinization is limited, if any, in this area. Major components of clay minerals were 1.4 nm-smectite, mica minerals and kaolin minerals.

Profile 2, as shown in Fig. 7.3, is located in tall grass steppe that was scattered in deciduous forest zone. Since organic matter penetrated to deep (> 50 cm) and the depth of carbonates-accumulated layer was also below 60 cm in the profile (Table 7.1), the soil is supposed to have been formed under a relatively wet condition, i.e., annual precipitation exceeding 600 mm. Figure 7.5 describes vertical distribution of organic C and carbonates C in the four profiles in this region. Profile 1 locates under forest, at which the climate is more humid than at Profile 2, whereas Profiles 3 and 4 are situated under drier steppes compared to Profile 2. Since the depth of organic layer decreases in the forest soil (Profile 1) compared to the steppe soil (Profile 2), the amount of the SOM accumulated was highest in Profile 2 among the profiles and it achieved to 250 Mg C ha-1. At the same time, it is obvious that the amount of SOM is decreasing and the depth of carbonates-accumulated layer is also decreasing toward drier climate.

# 7.5. Characteristics of the Chernozem soils in northern steppe (Profiles 5 to 8)

In the northern steppe of Kazakhstan, relatively finetextured soil distribute in the areas of Astana, a present capital, to Kokchetau from south-to-north, whereas coarser soils are often found along with R. Iritish (Pavlodar region) in the northeast and in the Kustanai region in the northwest. The southern limit of Mollisols occurrence is Astana, in which climate is drier than the upper north. In contrast, in the forest steppe zone north of Kokchetau, the soil color is getting darker presumably due to decreasing temperature. Most of the soils found here are classified as Ustolls in U.S. Soil Taxonomy (Soil Survey Staff 2003). According to the soil classification system in former Soviet Union, on the other hand, the former soils are classified as Southern Chernozem or Dark chestnut soils, while the latters as Ordinary Chernozem.

Profiles 5 and 6 are the representatives among the soils found in dry steppe zone, the former being clayey and the latter sandy. Profile 7, clayey, is, in contrast, typical for the forest steppe zone. As discussed later in detail, a larger part of the soils in the northern steppe, which have been derived from quaternary lacustrine and fluvial deposits, are rich in expandable 2:1 minerals and, hence, the soils are subjected to repeated shrinkage/expansion, resulting in a clear tonguedpenetration of SOM into deep layer (see Profile 7 in Fig. 7.3). Judging from the amount of SOM accumulated in the soils, Profile 5 is comparable with Profile 3 in the southern mountain foothills and its SOM content amounted to 150 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>. A difference in the amount of annual precipitation between both the areas resulted in the difference in the depths of carbonates-washing in these profiles, that is, a larger part of the carbonates were washed out form top 30 cm layers in Profile 3, whereas it still remained even at 10 cm depth in Profile 5. The initial concentration of carbonates seems to be higher in the loess-derived soils in the south than those in the northern steppe (Fig. 5.5; Table 7.1). Main characteristics of the soils in the northern steppe are described as below:

 The soils derived from quaternary deposits in the northern steppe were characterized by dominated 1.4 nm-clay minerals that had a higher expandability after Mg saturation and glycerol solvation (Profiles 5 and 14 in Fig. 7.4a). According to Fig. 7.4b, in which X-ray diffractograms were given separately for coarse (2-0.2



Figure 7.5. Vertical distribution of organic C and carbonates-C in soil profiles in southern mountain foothills and northern steppe of Kazakhstan.

mm) and fine (< 0.2 mm) clay fractions, the coarse clay fraction was generally composed of relatively highlycrystalline minerals with sharp peaks in the diffractogram and, hence, was considered to be mainly derived from parent materials, whereas the fine clay fraction was mainly secondary judging from the apparent low crystallinity with relatively broad peaks in the diffractograms. Since there was no significant difference among the soils studied in the diffraction patterns of the coarse clay fraction, major difference was assumed to be derived from properties of the fine clay fraction. Namely, 1.4 nm-clay minerals in the fine clay fraction had a higher expandability in Profile 5 than in Profile 2, judging from the XRD patterns of the fine clay from Profile 5 that showed a easier expansion after Mg saturation and glycerol solvation as well as a more incomplete collapse after K saturation (suggesting low charge density). It is concluded that the 1.4 nm-clay minerals in the fine clay fraction of the soils derived from quaternary deposits in the northern steppe have a more montmorillonitic properties.

2) This clay mineralogical characteristics of the soils is

considered to reflect directly to the expansion and shrinkage of the soils during fluctuation of soil moisture.
For example, in the wet springtime, expanded soil can reduce permeability of water derived from snowmelt, resulting in excessive water loss through accelerated evaporation and/or surface runoff. This may be one of constrains for the agriculture here.

- 3) There were huge amounts of soluble salts and/or gypsum in deeper layers of the soils on the quaternary deposits (Table 7.1; Profiles 5, 6, 13, and 14). The salts may have derived from the parent materials and is considered to cause a potential risk of secondary salinization if irrigation agriculture were introduced in this area.
- 4) There are scattered areas of granite intrusion in the northern steppe. Profiles 8 and 9 are situated on the granite and have quite different properties with the soils derived from quaternary deposits. The development of soil layer is generally limited on the granite, mostly less than 50 cm. The clay mineralogy was characterized by almost complete collapse of 1.4 nm minerals after K saturation (Fig. 7.4; Profile 8) and was rather similar to the soils from loess deposits in the south.





## 7.6. Comparison of properties of soils formed under grassland and forest in northern forest steppe zone (Profiles 8 to 11)

Since northern Kazakhstan is situated in inner continent and subjected to severe drought, a north-to-south extension of the Chernozem belt is limited to within 400 km. Southern half of the belt is covered exclusively by grass forb steppes, whereas the northern part is characterized by forest-mixed steppes. Major locations of such forest are hilly landscape on the granite intrusion and microdepression of the steppes. We compared soil properties of the soils that formed under either grassland or forest on granite (Profiles 8 (grassland) and 9 (forest)) or that on quaternary deposits (Profiles 10 (grassland) and 11 (forest)).

According to the photos in Fig. 7.3, there is a clear difference in appearance between the dark-colored steppe soil (Profile 8) and the brown-colored forest soil (Profile 9). Figure 7.6 plots vertical distribution of soil pH, carbonates-C, and clay content throughout the profiles of both the grassland (Profiles 2 (in the south), 8, and 10) and the adjacent forest (Profiles 1 (in the south), 9, and 11). The forest soils exhibited lower pHs below 6, not like as the steppe soils. The

carbonates-C contents in the surface soil layers in the forest soil were not, however, different significantly from the steppe soils and in both the cases most of the carbonates seemed to be leached out from the surface soils. Among the soils studied, clay translocation in soil profile was obvious only in Profile 11 under forest on quaternary deposits, in which a fairly large amount of expandable 2:1 clay minerals originally existed. It is considered that, in the soils with a high amount of expandable minerals in the fine clay fraction, clay translocation in the profile sometimes occurred after establishment of forest stand and possibly leaching of exchangeable divalent cations as well as carbonates.

## 7.7. Characteristics of soils developed under different hydrological conditions in the northern steppe (Profile 12 to 15)

In the past, the area was once largely covered by lakes and/or marshes and was then transformed to upland environment today. By this reason, the soils derived from the deposits in that period are originally rich in soluble salts and, therefore, different kinds of salt-affected soils are observed in relation to different topographic conditions.





- Profile 5 is considered to be a typical profile (Typic Haploustolls or Southern Chernozem) that occurs on gentle slopes (1/100 to 1/1000) in the area. The profile has been affected by consecutive leaching, resulting in a sequential occurrence of carbonates-accumulated (70 cm), gypsum-accumulated (100 cm), and saltsaccumulated (below 150 cm) layers (Table 7.1).
- 2) Profile 12 is affected by higher amount of water percolated because it has been developed on microdepression on the top of plateau, at which maximum snow depth is usually recorded during early spring. It is called as "meadow subtype" of Chernozems, i.e., Meadow Southern Chernozem in the classification of former Soviet Union. Due to higher amount of water percolated in the springtime, the carbonates-accumulated layer is deeper than the typical one (Profile 5; see Table 7.1) and a gypsum- or salts-accumulated layer is no more observable within 300 cm in the soil profile. The maximum value of exchangeable Na content, exchangeable Na percentage (ESP), and sodium adsorption ratio (SAR) at the 100-200 cm depth is
- considered to be a relict of the Na that had been once rich in the deposits.3) Profile 13 is Solonchak, or Typic Haplosalids in U.S.
- 3) Frome 13 is Solonchak, or Typic Haplosands in U.S. Soil Taxonomy. It is considered that the location was once lowest in ancient lake and a huge amount of soluble salts was left in the course of shrinkage of the lake. After that soluble salts have still continued to remain at the lowest topographically and subjected to high ground water table. A reverse order of occurrence of the layers with salts- (surface), gypsum- (15 cm), and carbonatesaccumulated (below 50 cm) layers indicates that the soil profile is still governed by a net upward movement of water (Table 7.1; Fig. 7.7).
- 4) Profile 14 is Solonetz, or Typic Natrustalfs, which is characterized by the existence of Solonetz layer, or natric horizon. It is considered that at a plot, at which Na salts were once accumulated in the sedimental condition but then they have been leached out after topographical change, clay translocation from the surface layer of soil easily occurred because gradual decrease of ionic strength with maintaining high ESP is quite favorable condition for clay dispersion. According to Fig. 7.4, such clay translocation in the soil profile occurs almost exclusively for fine clay fraction that is rich in expandable 2:1 minerals. As a result, a clear contrast of a loosen and sandy surface horizon (E horizon) and a

dense heavy-textured horizon with clay and humus accumulation (Bth or natric horizon) is formed. Since the latter horizon is too dense and firm for penetration of crop roots, it has been historically amended through gypsum application for agricultural use.

5) Profile 15 is Solod, which is considered to be a last stage of development of solonetz soils (Szabolcs, 1971). There is no more Na-affected layers. The natric layer has also disappeared; only a clear contrast of eluvial and illuvial horizons of clays is obvious.

A clay translocation, which was introduced previously for forest soils and saline soils, is observed almost exclusively among the soils derived from the quaternary deposits in the northern steppe/forest. It is scarcely observed among soils from loess deposits in the south and/or granite-derived soils in the north. The existence of the montmorillonitic fine clay, which might have been formed either under aquatic sedimental or pedogenetic condition, is considered to be a key factor that results in development of soil profiles with clay translocation, although more extensive survey is required for generalizing this consideration.

- 7.8. Conclusion for characteristics of steppe soils in Kazakhstan
- The soils that have been developed on quaternary deposits in northern steppe are strongly affected by the characteristics of the expandable 2:1 minerals mainly in the fine clay fraction. The tongue-penetration of SOM in soil profiles, slow percolation of water from snowmelt at springtime, or clay translocation observed in forest and/or saline soils can be attributed to the mineralogical properties described above.
- 2) A fairly large amount of soluble salts are often accumulated in deeper layers in the soils on the quaternary deposits. It may be a cause of secondary soil salinization if an intensive irrigation agriculture were introduced in this area.
- 3) In the loess-derived soils in the southern mountain foothills, the amounts of soluble salts in deeper layer are small, if any. At the same time, relatively coarsetextured soils distribute in a desert side. A potential risk of secondary salinization is considered to be limited in this area.

#### References

Buyanovsky GA, Kucera CL, Wagner GH, 1987. Comparative analysis of carbon dynamics in native and cultivated

ecosystems, *Ecology* 68(6), 2023-2031.

- Glukhovtsv I, Yermekbayeva L, 2001. Integrating biodiversity into the tourism sector: Best practice and country case studies, Public Centre on conservation of biological diversity in the Republic of Kazakhstan, 60p.
- Gossen E, 1998. Agrolandscape agriculture and forestry management as the basis of sustainable grain production in the steppes of Eurasia. In Spring Wheat in Kazakhstan: Current Status and Future Directions; Proceedings of the Kazakhstan-CIMMYT Conference, 1997. Shortandy, Akmola, Kazakhstan. p.44-48.
- GUGK, 1982. Atlas Kazakhskoi SSR TOM1, pp.81 (in Russian).
- Kudeyarov VN, Khakimov FI, Deyava, NF, Il'ina AA, Kuznetsova TV, Timchenko AV, 1995. Assessment of respiration of the Russian soils, *Pochvovedenye* 1, 33-42 (in Russian with English abstract).
- Lagerwerff JV, Akin GW, Moses SW, 1965. Detection and determination of gypsum in soils. *Soil Sci. Soc. Amer. Proc.* 29, 535-540.
- Longmire J, Moldashev A, 1999. Changing competitiveness of the wheat sector of Kazakhstan and sources of future productivity growth, CYMMIT Economics Working Paper, 45p.
- Medvedev ZA, 1987. Soviet agriculture, W.W. Norton & Company, New York/ London. 464p.
- Meng E, Morgounov A, 2000. Changing competitiveness of the wheat sector of Kazakhstan, CYMMIT Economics Working Paper, 4p.
- Mikhailova EA, Bryant RB, Vaasenev II, Schwager SJ, Post CJ, 2000. Cultivation effects on soil organic carbon and nitrogen contents at depth in the Russian Chernozem, *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 64, 738-745.
- Morgounov A, Karabayev M, Bedoshvili D, Braun HJ, 2001. Improving wheat production in Central Asia and the Caucasus, Research highlights of the CYMMIT Wheat Program 1999-2000, CYMMIT, 65-68.
- Morgounov A, Zuidema L, 2001. The legacy of the Soviet agricultural research system for the Republics of central Asia and the Caucasus. ISNAR Research Report, 20, pp.52.
- Paustian K, Andren O, Janzen HH, Lal R, Smith P, Tian G, Tiessen H, Van Noordwijk M, Woomer PL, 1997.
  Agricultural soils as a sink to mitigate CO2 emissions, Soil Use and Management 13, 230-244.
- Shegebaev OS, 1998. Scientific support for spring wheat production in Kazakhstan. In Spring Wheat in

Kazakstan: Current Status and Future Directions; Proceedings of the Kazakstan-CIMMYT Conference; Shortandy, Akmola, Kazakstan; 22-24 Sep 1997. Morgounov AI, Satybaldin A, Rajaram S, McNab A, Mexico DF (Mexico), CIMMYT. p. 24-29.

- Shibusawa S, 1999. Introduction for precision agriculture in U.S., Jpn. J. Soc. Agr. Machinery 61(1), 7-12.
- Soil Survey Labolatory Staff, 1992. Soil survey laboratory methods manual. Soil Survey Investigations Report No. 42, Version 2.0. pp. 399.

Soil Survey Staff, 2003. Keys to Soil Taxonomy. Ninth Edition. U.S. Department of Agriculture and National Resources Conservation Service, Washington, pp.332.

- Sorokina NP, Kogut VM, 1997. The dynamics of humus content in arable chernozems and approaches to its study, *Euras. Soil Sci.* 30(2), 146-151.
- Srivastava J, Meyer E, Is conservation tillage a viable option in the CIS? World Bank Report, 31p.
- Szabolcs I, 1971. European solonets soils and their reclamation. Akademiai Kiado, Budapest, pp. 204.
- Vladimir A, Shutov I, Kaljuzny L, 2001. Snow management in agricultural landscapes, Hydrosphere, 6p.

ion in the deposits.

Profile 13 is Subnichete or Typic Hapiotalids in U.S. Soil 7 aconomy. It is considered that the location was ance lowellin affectin take and a large amount of Solidie static was lett in the control of airfanage of the late. Affec abay solidble sails have still continued to temain at the lowest topographically and subjected to high ground water table. A revense order 00 occurrence of the layers with sails- (surface), gypsun- 00 contrance of the thoes needed to affec in the solid operator of media is sail governed by a foil upward movement of water (Table 7.1; Fig. 7.7).

Profile 14.38 Sologat 2.59 Typic Natronalis, which is playing the selection of the solones, layer, or maniborison. It is conditioned that at a plot, of which Pla saits were once accumulated in the solumental condition but then they have been leached out after topoghaphicat change, day translocation from the surface layer of soit easily occurred because gradual decrease of topic strength with maintaining high ESP is quite favorable condition for elay disparsion. According to Fat, 7.4, etch exclusively for Eine elay fraction that is rich is inequinable 2.1 isometication further that is rich is a loosen and sandy surface horizon (E horizon) and a

#### Appendix - profile description

| Annua<br>Vegeta | al precipita           | ation: 600 mm  |
|-----------------|------------------------|--|
| Topog           | raphy: gei<br>material | ttle convex slope  |
| Hor.            | Depth<br>(cm)          | Description and the manual of the second sec |
| A1              | 0-9                    | Brownish black (10YR2/3); moderately dry; clay<br>loam; moderate medium granular structure; very<br>friable; many fine roots; no gravel; clear smooth<br>boundary to   |
| A2              | 9-18                   | Dark brown (10YR3/3); moderately dry; light<br>clay; moderate medium subangular blocky<br>structure; friable common fine roots; no gravel;<br>clear smooth boundary to   |
| Bw1             | 18-32                  | Dark brown (10YR3/3); moderately dry; light<br>clay; moderate medium subangular blocky<br>structure; friable common fine roots; no gravel;<br>clear smooth boundary to   |
| Bw2             | 32-42                  | Dull yellowish brown (10YR4/3); moderately<br>dry; light clay; moderate medium subangular<br>blocky structure; friable; few fine roots; no gravel<br>clear smooth boundary to  |
| BC              | 42-61                  | Brown (10YR4/4); moist; light clay; weak<br>medium subangular blocky structure; friable; few<br>fine roots; no gravel; gradual smooth boundary to  |
| Ck              | 61 <b>-</b> 90+        | Dull yellow orange (10YR6/3); moist; light clay;<br>massive; no root; no gravel  |

## Profile 5 (Typic Haploustolls)

| ▲ ···································· | Locat | ion: N 51°<br>al precipita | 34' 35.0", E 71° 15' 46.8"<br>ttion: 300 mm  |
|--|-------|----------------------------|--|
|  | Veget | ation: natu<br>raphy: flat | ral grassland  |
|  | Paren | Donth                      | Decoriation  |
|  | 1101. | (cm)                       |  |
|  | A1    | 0-20                       | Brownish black (10YR3/1); moderately dry; light<br>clay; sticky, plastic; moderate medium subangular<br>blocky structure; friable; abundant fine roots; no<br>gravel; clear smooth boundary to   |
|  | A2    | 20-40                      | Grayish brown (7.5YR4/2) and brownish black<br>(10YR3/2); moderately dry; light clay; sticky,<br>plastic; moderate fine angular blocky structure;<br>friable; many fine roots; no gravel; clear smooth<br>boundary to  |
|  | Bw    | 40-50                      | Grayish brown (7.5YR4/2) and dull brown<br>(7.5YR5/3); moderately dry; heavy clay; very<br>sticky, very plastic; moderate medium angular<br>blocky structure; slightly firm; common fine roots;<br>no gravel: clear smooth boundary to                                       |
|  | BCk   | 50-75                      | Dull brown (7.5YR5/4 and 6/3) and grayish<br>brown (7.5YR4/2) (penetration of organic matter);<br>moderately dry; heavy clay; very sticky, very<br>plastic; strong very coarse prismatic structure;<br>slightly firm; few fine roots; no gravel; clear<br>smooth boundary to |
|  | C1    | 75-92                      | Dull brown (7.5YR5/4); moist; heavy clay; very<br>sticky, very plastic; weak coarse subangular<br>blocky structure; friable; few fine roots; no gravel;<br>abrupt smooth boundary to   |
|  | C2    | 92-100+                    | Bright brown (7.5YR5/6); moist; heavy clay;<br>very sticky, very plastic; weak medium subangular<br>blocky structure; very friable; no root; no gravel   |

| Locat<br>Annu<br>Veget | ion: N 53°<br>al precipita<br>ation: past                 | Hapioustons)<br>09' 21.1", E 69° 08' 17.8"<br>ition: 300 mm<br>ure   |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|------------------------|---|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
| Topog                  | Topography: flat<br>Parent material: quaternary sediments |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Paren                  |   |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Hor.                   | Depth<br>(cm)   | Description  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| A                      | 0-30  | Very dark brown (7.5YR2/3); moderately dry;<br>heavy clay; sticky, very plastic; moderate medium<br>angular blocky structure; friable; abundant fine<br>roots; no gravel; clear wavy boundary to   |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| AB                     | 30-65   | Dull reddish brown (5YR4/3) with tongued<br>penetration of organic matter (7.5YR2/2);<br>moderately dry; heavy clay; sticky, very plastic;<br>thin clay cutan on ped surface; moderate medium<br>to coarse angular blocky structure; slightly firm;<br>many fine roots; no gravel; clear smooth boundary<br>to |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| Bw                     | 65-90   | Reddish brown (5YR4/6); moderately dry; heavy<br>clay; very sticky, very plastic; thin clay cutan on<br>ped surface; moderate medium to coarse angular<br>blocky structure; slightly firm; common fine roots;<br>no gravel; clear smooth boundary to   |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
| BCk                    | 90-110+   | Reddish brown (5YR4/6); moderately dry; heavy<br>clay; very sticky, very plastic; moderate medium<br>to coarse angular blocky structure; slightly firm;<br>few fine roots; no gravels  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |

#### **Profile 8 (Lithic Haploustolls)** Location: N 52° 56' 28.9", E 70° 20' 18.5" Annual precipitation: 350 mm Vegetation: secondary forest (pine and birch) Topography: flat Parent material: granite Hor. Depth Description (cm) Α 0-13 Black (2.5YR2/1); moderately dry; light clay; slightly sticky, plastic; weak medium subangular blocky structure; friable; abundant fine roots; few slightly weathered gravels; clear smooth boundary to Brownish black (10YR3/2); moderately dry; light Bw 13-32 clay; sticky, plastic; moderate fine subangular blocky structure; slightly firm; common fine roots; many slightly weathered gravels; clear smooth boundary to BC Brown (7.5YR4/4); moderately dry; sandy clay; 32+ slightly sticky, slightly plastic; few fine roots; abundant slightly weathered gravels

#### Profile 9 (Lithic Dystrustepts) Location: N 52° 56' 50.6", E 70° 20' 25.2" Annual precipitation: 350 mm Vegetation: natural grassland Topography: flat Parent material: granite Hor. Depth Description (cm) Oa +1.5-0Dark reddish brown (5YR3/2) A 0-8 Brown (7.5YR4/4); moderately dry; sandy clay loam; slightly sticky, plastic; weak medium platy structure breaking into weak fine subangular blocky structure; friable; many fine roots; few slightly weathered gravels; clear smooth boundary to Bw 8-23 Reddish brown (5YR4/6); moderately dry; sandy clay loam; slightly sticky, plastic; weak fine

ng she mine as she la sha ne shebara para sa na 1 to mal

 BC
 23-38
 Bright brown (7.5YR5/8); single grain; common fine roots; abundant slightly weathered gravels; clear smooth boundary to

 C
 38+
 Composed of weathered rocks

#### Profile 13 (Typic Haplosalids)

| Vegeta<br>Topog<br>Parent | ation: few<br>raphy: fla<br>t material: | vegetation due to strong salinity<br>t<br>quaternary sediments   |
|---------------------------|---|--|
| Hor.                      | Depth<br>(cm)                           | Description  |
| A                         | 0-13                                    | Black (7.5YR2/1); moist; heavy clay; very sticky,<br>very plastic; moderate medium angular blocky<br>structure; friable; common fine roots; no gravel;<br>clear wavy boundary to                   |
| AB                        | 13-33                                   | Brownish black (7.5YR2/2 and 10YR3/2); moist;<br>heavy clay; vary sticky, very plastic; moderate fine<br>angular blocky structure; friable; few fine roots;<br>no gravel; gradual wavy boundary to |
| BA                        | 33-50                                   | Brown (7.5YR4/4) and dark brown (7.5YR3/3);<br>moist; heavy clay; very sticky, very plastic; weak<br>coarse subangular blocky structure; friable; no<br>root; no gravel; clear smooth boundary to  |
| Bw                        | 50-60                                   | Bright brown (7.5YR5/6); moist; heavy clay; very sticky, very plastic; friable; no root, no gravel   |

## Profile 14 (Typic Natrustalfs)

| vegeta | ition: natu | irai grassiand   |
|--------|-------------|--|
| Parent | material    | auatemany sediments  |
| Hor    | Denth       | Description  |
|        | (cm)        |  |
| A1     | 0-5         | Brown (8.75YR4/4); moderately dry; clay loam;<br>slightly sticky, plastic; weak fine subangular<br>blocky structure; very friable; many fine roots;<br>few strongly weathered gravels; clear smooth  |
|        |             | boundary to  |
| A2     | 5-13        | Dull yellow orange (10YR6/3); moderately dry;<br>sandy clay loam; slightly sticky; plastic; weak find<br>subangular blocky structure; very friable; many<br>fine roots; few strongly weathered gravels; abrupt<br>smooth boundary to                               |
| Bth    | 13-23       | Brown (7.5YR4/4) and dull orange (7.5YR6/4)  |
|        |             | (carbonates); moderately dry; light clay; very<br>sticky, very plastic; thick humus cutan (7.5YR3/3<br>on ped surface; strong medium columnar<br>structure; firm; common fine roots on ped surface<br>few strongly weathered gravels; abrupt smooth<br>boundary to |
| Bw     | 23-47       | Bright brown (7.5YR5/6); moderately dry; light clay; very sticky, very plastic; weak medium  |
|        |             | prismatic structure; firm; few fine roots; few<br>strongly weathered gravels; gradual smooth   |
|        | 17 65       | Dull brown (7 5VP 5/4) with light vallow orange  |
| DCK    | 47-05       | (7.5 YR8/2) (gypsum); moderately dry; heavy clay<br>very sticky, very plastic; weak coarse prismatic<br>structure; friable; few fine roots; no gravel; clear<br>smooth boundary to   |
| С      | 65-100      | Dull brown (7.5YR5/4) with light yellow orange (7.5YR8/2) (gypsum); moist; heavy clay; very sticky, very plastic; weak medium subangular   |

| Locat  | ion: N 53     | ° 18' 39.2", E 69° 39' 07.2"  |
|--------|---------------|---|
| Annua  | al precipit   | ation: 350 mm   |
| Vegeta | ation: pine   | e and birch   |
| Topog  | raphy: fla    | t   |
| Parent | t material:   | quaternary sediments  |
| Hor.   | Depth<br>(cm) | Description   |
| Α      | 0-8           | Brownish black (10YR2/3); moderately dry; clay  |
|        |               | loam; sticky, plastic; weak fine subangular blocky<br>structure; friable; common fine roots; no gravel;<br>clear wavy boundary to   |
| Е      | 8-18          | Dark brown (10YR3/4); moderately dry; clay  |
|        |               | loam; sticky, plastic; weak to moderate medium<br>platy structure; friable; few fine roots; no gravel;<br>clear smooth boundary to  |
| Bt1    | 18-35         | Brown (10YR4/6); moderately dry; light clay;<br>sticky, very plastic; weak fine angular blocky<br>structure; friable; many medium to coarse roots;<br>no gravel; clear smooth boundary to               |
| Bt2    | 35-50         | Yellowish brown (10YR5/4); moderately dry;  |
|        |               | light clay; sticky, very plastic; moderate medium<br>subangular blocky structure; thin clay cutan on<br>ped surface; friable; many medium to coarse roots;<br>no gravel; gradual smooth boundary to     |
| BC     | 50-65         | Dull yellowish orange (10YR6/4); moderately<br>dry; light clay; sticky, very plastic; moderate<br>medium subangular blocky structure; friable; few<br>coarse roots; no gravel; clear smooth boundary to |
| C      | 65-80         | Dull yellowish orange (10YR6/3); moderately<br>dry; sandy clay loam; slightly sticky, slightly<br>plastic; mainly composed of weathered rocks   |

blocky structure; very friable; no root; no

gravel

| an abaran'i malanda sidalif kantanis sinda           |  |
|--|--|
|  |  |
| and determined later of U.S.V.F.V. Makered determine |  |
|  |  |
|  |  |
|  |  |
|  |  |
|  |  |
|  |  |
|  |  |
|  |  |
|  |  |
|  |  |
|  |  |
|  |  |
|  |  |
|  |  |
|  |  |
|  |  |
| Dail biotes (1.578.574), month heart class year      |  |
| nieży, wary diżelie, west centre mitangelar          |  |
|  |  |
|  |  |
|  |  |

ni brana (7,15 8,26), moist neevy day. staly, vary piseta, west mestam sebrugalar

# Chapter 8 Automation di nononona ninto in stutiani.

# Soil organic matter status of Chernozem soil in North Kazakhstan: effects of summer fallow

Elmira Karbozova-Saljnikov and Takashi Kosaki

#### 8.1. Background

Chernozem soils in North Kazakhstan occupy 25.3×106 ha (Borovski and Uspanov, 1971) and are the most productive soils of the country. An area of approximately 11×106 ha of Chernozem soil was planted annually with spring wheat (Triticum aestivum L) during the Soviet period when the political aim of a rapid increase in grain production was achieved by indiscriminate plowing of as large an area of virgin lands as possible. Under nearly 50 years of monoculture of wheat, summer fallows has been practiced in crop rotation in order to retain moisture, to accumulate nutrients through mineralization and to control weed infestation. Fallowed fields are usually cultivated many times to keep the land bare during the whole cropping season. Of great concern is, however, the adverse effect of fallow, that is, the changes in soil organic matter (SOM) quality and quantity in the context of degradation of the fertility of chernozem soils and subsequent agricultural sustainability.

Ferguson and Gorby (1971), Clarke and Russell (1977) and Dormar (1983) have demonstrated that fallowing significantly exacerbates the depletion of SOM. Janzen (1987) noted that the organic C and N content of soil after 33 years of cropping decreased with increasing frequency of fallow in a rotation on Canadian soils. According to Rubinstein (1959), the Southern Chernozem (Kazakh soil classification; Redkov, 1964) of North Kazakhstan had lost 11% of its SOM compared with its initial amount. Further, Dzhalankuzov and Redkov (1993) reported 28-30% losses of humus in the surface horizon of arable Chernozems of North Kazakhstan from their initial amount before cultivation.

Different type of crop rotation results in significant differences in the mineralization rate of SOM. K. A. Akhmetov (unpublished Ph.D thesis, Kazakh Research Institute of Grain Production, 1999) reported that inclusion of summer fallow in a rotation hastens decomposition of SOM and that differences in SOM among various crop rotations are mainly due to different amount of plant residues returned to the soil.

SOM is highly heterogeneous, consisting of fractions varying in turnover time from days to many centuries.

Gregorich (1994) reported that more than 75% of SOM exists as compounds that are only slowly decomposable and the remainder is readily decomposable or "mineralizable" compounds. The amount of organic C contained in a particular soil is a function of the balance between the rate of deposition of plant residues in or on soil and the rate of mineralization of the residue C by soil biota (Baldock and Nelson, 2000). Operationally defined fractions such as C and N mineralized under controlled conditions and "light" fraction organic matter proved to be good indicators of labile SOM because it affects nutrient dynamics within single growing seasons, organic matter content in soils under contrasting management regimes, and C sequestration over extended periods. Quality of SOM may also be characterized by estimates of kinetically defined pools obtained by fitting of simulation models to data on C and N mineralization (e.g. Elliott et al. 1996).

With increasing cultivation intensity, the SOM of the less stable pools is decomposed, as indicated by decreasing portions of sand-sized SOM (2-0.05 mm) (Bird et al., 1996; Christensen, 1996; Amelung et al, 1998), or light fraction C (Christensen, 1992; Trumbore et al., 1996). Organic compounds adsorbed to surfaces of clay particles might become exposed to microbial attack after disruption of aggregates due to tillage.

Although there are numerous reports regarding the effects of wheat-fallow rotations on total SOM content, the influence of summer fallow on mineralizable fractions has not been studied in semiarid regions of North Kazakhstan. Our objectives were to examine the effects of summer fallow on the characteristics of SOM on a long-term basis (type of crop rotation with a variety of frequencies of fallow) as well as on a short-term basis (pre- and post-fallow phases) with special reference to readily decomposable fractions. Our final goal was to define the most appropriate cropping system for sustainable agriculture in the area studied.

#### 8.2. Materials and methods

#### 8.2.1. Site description and crop rotation

The crop rotation experiment including different frequencies of fallow was conducted at the Kazakh Research

Institute of Grain Production in Shortandy, Astana (51°35'36,54N; 71°10'15,40E). The climate of the experimental site is continental and dry with large daily and monthly fluctuation in air temperatures. Mean annual temperature is around 0°C and the average yearly precipitation (1976-1998) was 324 mm (Table 8.1). The experimental site was initially cultivated in 1933 and a variety of wheat-fallow crop rotation systems have been practiced since 1961. The local cultivars of spring wheat "Tselinnaya 3C" were seeded at the rate of 125 kg ha<sup>-1</sup>.

The rotations were set in a randomized complete block design in three replicates with all phases of each rotation present every year. Plot size was 220 X 10 m<sup>2</sup>. The soil is classified as, Southern Chernozem, clayey calcareous, in the Kazakh Soil Classification System (Redkov, 1964) or as Typic Haplustolls in Soil Taxonomy (USDA, 1999) with surface soil pH of 8.2 and a clay content of 43%.

Among various cropping systems five representatives were selected. They are spring wheat rotations with different frequencies of fallow; 6-y (6R), 4-y (4R), 2-y (2R) rotations, continuous wheat (CW) and continuous fallow (CF) systems. Soil samples were collected from pre- (2R-pre, 4R-pre and 6R-pre) and post-fallow (2R-post, 4R-post and 6R-post) phases in each rotation. Selected treatments did not receive mineral or organic fertilizers except CW, which was fertilized with 60 kg N ha<sup>-1</sup> of NH<sub>4</sub>NO<sub>3</sub> until 1996. At harvest the wheat straw was chopped and spread onto the field. No pesticides were added to the studied fields. In semi-arid regions of Northern Kazakhstan subsoil cutting of 0-40 cm is practiced to overcome the problems associated with wind erosion, and toward preservation of soil moisture through decreased evaporation.

#### 8.2.2. Soil sampling and analysis

In spring 1999, before fieldwork began, five topsoil samples (0-10 cm) were collected from each plot to make a composite sample, from which crop residues were removed with sieving (<2mm). Half of each composite sample was airdried. The remainder was stored in field-moisture condition at 4°C for subsequent biological analysis.

The air-dried soils were ground and analyzed for total N concentration using a full automatic analyzer (Shimadzu NC-800-13N). Organic C was determined by dichromate oxidation method (Nelson and Sommers, 1996). Soil mineral N (min-N) as  $NO_3^-$  and  $NH_4^+$  ions was analyzed after extraction with 2 M KCl solution. Nitrate N was analyzed after reduction of NO<sub>3</sub>ion to NO<sub>2</sub><sup>-</sup> by passing the extract through a Cd column. Ammonium N was analyzed by salicylate nitroprusside method (Keeny and Nelson, 1982). Mineral N was measured colorimetrically using Shimadzu Spectra MAX-190. Because at the time of sampling soil was almost air-dried the amount of NH<sub>4</sub><sup>+</sup> was negligible for all the treatments, we plotted soil mineral N as a sum of  $NO_3^-$  and  $NH_4^+$ .

The soils were assayed for labile OM content using laboratory incubation techniques with a constant temperature of 30°C and moisture of 50% of WHC for 70 days. C<sub>min</sub> was measured every 14 days after incubating soil in square-plastic jar (500-mL). The evolved  $CO_2$  was trapped in an alkali solution (10 mL 1 M NaOH) and measured by titration (0.5 M HCl). The alkali trap was replaced every 14 days. Potentially mineralizable C (PMC) was estimated from the rate of CO<sub>2</sub>-C evolution during 70 days of incubation using non-linear regression according to the following equation (SPSS Inc., 1998a):

 $C_{\min} = C_0 (1 - e^{-kt}) \tag{1}$ where,  $C_{\min}$  is the quantity of mineralized C (mg kg<sup>-1</sup> dry soil) at time t (d),  $C_0$  is PMC (mg kg<sup>-1</sup> dry soil), and k is a non-linear mineralization constant, i.e. fraction mineralized  $d^{-1}$ .

 $N_{\rm min}$  was determined after incubation of soils for 14-, 28-, 42-, 56- and 70-d and analyzed for NO3- and NH4+ - N. Nonlinear regression was used to describe N mineralization potential (PMN) according to the following equation (SPSS Inc., 1998a):

 $N_{\min} = N_0 (1 - e^{-k(t-c)})$  (2)

where,  $N_{\min}$  is the quantity of mineralized N (mg kg<sup>-1</sup> dry soil) at time t (d),  $N_0$  is PMN (mg kg<sup>-1</sup> dry soil), k is a non-linear mineralization constant, i.e. fraction mineralized  $d^{-1}$ , and c is an initial delay in mineralization (mg kg<sup>-1</sup> dry soil). Because mineralization of N in the first 2 weeks was delayed for all the treatments the initial delay factor c was introduced in the

Table 8.1. Average (1976-1998) monthly air temperatures and precipitation at the Shortandy experimental site.

|       |               | Jan   | Feb   | Mar   | Apr | May  | June | July Au   | g Sep  | Oct | Nov De   | c Average | Total                |
|-------|---------------|-------|-------|-------|-----|------|------|-----------|--------|-----|----------|-----------|----------------------|
| Tem   | perature (°C) | -17.0 | -16.5 | -10.0 | 4.0 | 12.5 | 18.5 | 20.5 17.5 | 5 12.0 | 3.5 | -7.0 -14 | .0 -0.3   | g\$t] <b>-</b> 31_8/ |
| Preci | pitation (mm) | 17    | 16    | 12    | 26  | 37   | 36   | 52 32     | 23     | 32  | 23 18    | 3 -       | 324                  |

first order kinetic model for the best fit of the model.

"Light fraction" organic matter (LF-OM) was separated by density separation using reagent-grade NaI solution adjusted to 1.8 g cm<sup>-3</sup> (Spycher et al., 1981; Sollins et al., 1984; Janzen, 1992; Elliot and Cambardella, 1991). After centrifugation, the floating material, i.e., the "light fraction", was transferred directly to a vacuum filtration unit. The LF-OM was then washed (three aliquots of 10 ml 0.01M CaCl<sub>2</sub> followed by three aliquots of distilled water), dried at 70°C for 15 h and weighed. The residue was resuspended and the procedure was repeated to ensure complete collection of the LF. The composite LF was finely ground and analyzed for total N and C concentrations.

A quantitative- weighing method was applied to measure weed biomass (Lykov and Tulikov, 1976). Every plot was diagonally divided into 10 small subplots, each of  $0.25 \text{ m}^2$ . Weeds were pulled out and sorted by biological group. Then they were counted, weighed and determined for fresh and dry weight. Dry weight was determined after drying the weeds in oven at 80°C for 48 h.

Grain yield of wheat was determined by using combine harvester "SAMPO" (Finland), where every plot was harvested separately and the grain yield was weighed.

#### 8.2.3. Statistics

All variables were subjected to a one-way analysis of variance using SYSTAT software (SPSS Inc., 1998b). Where significant treatment effects were observed (P=0.001), LSD analyses were performed to permit separation of means.

**Table 8.2.** Effects of fallow (F) frequency and rotation phase on soil organic C (SOC) and total N (TN) in surface soil of Southern Chernozem.

| Rotation phase | Rotation phase, sampled <sup>2)</sup> | SOC (kg<br>Mg <sup>-1</sup> soil) | TN (kg Mg <sup>-1</sup><br>soil) | C-to-N<br>ratio |
|----------------|---------------------------------------|-----------------------------------|----------------------------------|-----------------|
| CF             | Cont. Fallow                          | 21.9a <sup>1)</sup>               | 1.97a                            | <u>ୀ</u> 11     |
| 2R-pre         | (F)-W                                 | 25.4b                             | 2.26b                            | 11              |
| 2R-post        | F-(W)                                 | 25.1b                             | 2.16b                            | 12              |
| 4R-pre         | (F)-W-W-W                             | 26.1b                             | 2.26b                            | 12              |
| 4R-post        | F-(W)-W-W                             | 24.9Ъ                             | 2.19b                            | 11              |
| 6R-pre         | (F)-W-W-W-W-W                         | 31.0c                             | 2.57c                            | 12              |
| 6R-post        | F-(W)-W-W-W                           | 30.6c                             | 2.50c                            | 12              |
| CW             | Cont. Wheat                           | 27.2c                             | 2.38c                            | 13              |

<sup>1)</sup> a-c: values within columns followed by the same letter are not significantly different (p=0.05) as determined by LSD analysis.

<sup>2)</sup> () denotes rotation phase sampled.

first order kineric model with an initial delay of museralizin

#### 8.3. Results

### 8.3.1. Soil organic carbon and total nitrogen

Soil organic carbon (SOC) content was significantly affected by long-term fallowing. The CF system maintained the least SOC (21.9 kg Mg<sup>-1</sup>), while 6R (31.0 kg Mg<sup>-1</sup>) and CW (27.2 kg Mg<sup>-1</sup>) stored the most SOC (Table 8.2). SOC was inversely proportional to fallow frequency, indicating the negative effect of fallow on long-term accumulation of SOM.

The effect of the rotations on total nitrogen (TN) paralleled that described for SOC (Table 8.2). The highest TN concentrations were observed in the 6R (2.54 kg Mg<sup>-1</sup>) and CW (2.38 kg Mg<sup>-1</sup>) systems and lowest concentrations in the CF system (1.97 kg Mg<sup>-1</sup>).

#### 8.3.2. Potentially mineralizable carbon

Differences in PMC among the rotation systems (p<0.001) were more clearly shown than for SOC (Table 8.3). PMC ranged from 3.6 (CF) to 5.8% (CW) of the SOC. The amount of PMC was more affected by the long-term effect of fallow than by the short-term effect and was inversely proportional to fallow frequency.

#### 8.3.3. Soil mineral nitrogen

On a long-term basis, the CF system accumulated the highest amount of soil mineral nitrogen (min-N). But min-N was strongly affected by summer fallow on a short-term basis as well. Pre- and post-fallow phases showed significant differences with min-N accumulating in post-fallow than in pre-fallow phase (Table 8.3). Post-fallow phases accumulated

**Table 8.3.** Effects of fallow frequency and rotation phase on labile fractions of SOM in surface soil of Southern Chernozem.

|          | Miner                         | alizable C                    | and N                         | "Light fraction" OM          |                               |                               |  |
|----------|-------------------------------|-------------------------------|-------------------------------|------------------------------|-------------------------------|-------------------------------|--|
| Rotation | PMC                           | min-N                         | PMN                           | LF-DM                        | LF-C                          | LF-N                          |  |
| phase    | (mg kg <sup>-1</sup><br>soil) | (mg kg <sup>-1</sup><br>soil) | (mg kg <sup>-1</sup><br>soil) | (g kg <sup>-1</sup><br>soil) | (mg kg <sup>-1</sup><br>soil) | (mg kg <sup>-1</sup><br>soil) |  |
| CF       | 794b <sup>1)</sup>            | 46a                           | 69a                           | 0.9                          | 240a                          | 15a                           |  |
| 2R-pre   | 1194ab                        | 14b                           | 166b                          | 3.6                          | 810b                          | 51b                           |  |
| 2R-post  | 1012b                         | 42a                           | 69a                           | 2.5                          | 660b                          | 38bc                          |  |
| 4R-pre   | 1224a                         | 13b                           | 86c                           | 5.7                          | 1330c                         | 81d                           |  |
| 4R-post  | 1215a                         | 24c                           | 67a                           | 5.3                          | 1250c                         | 73d                           |  |
| 6R-pre   | 1524c                         | 16b                           | 124b                          | 6.4                          | 1560d                         | 74d                           |  |
| 6R-post  | 1300ac                        | 30c                           | 82c                           | 6                            | 1500d                         | 75d                           |  |
| CW       | 1581c                         | 14b                           | 93c                           | 7.4                          | 1730e                         | 103e                          |  |

<sup>1)</sup> a-e: values within columns followed by the same letter are not significantly different (p < 0.001) as determined by LSD analysis.

3.0-, 1.9- and 1.9-fold amounts of min-N of pre-fallow phases in 2R, 4R and 6R, respectively.

#### 8.3.4. Potentially mineralizable nitrogen

The pattern of N mineralization showed a different trend between pre- and post-fallow phases in all rotations (Fig. 8.1). Pre-fallow phases (Fig. 8.1. a, c and e) were characterized by a larger value of PMN ( $N_0$ ), a smaller mineralization rate constant (k), and a shorter initial delay of mineralization (c) than in the post-fallow phases (Fig. 8.1. b, d, and f).

Fallow influenced accumulation of PMN on short-term basis, that is, pre-fallow phases (2R-pre, 4R-pre and 6R-pre) accumulated more PMN than post-fallow (2R-post, 4R-post and 6R-post) phases (Table 8.3). The lowest PMN was observed under the CF system (69 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>) and the highest under 6R-pre (124 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>). Pre-fallow phases accumulated



**Figure 8.1.** Fitting curves of N mineralization of surface soils from pre- and post-fallow phases of the 2-, 4-, and 6-y wheat-fallow rotations in Southern Chernozem, as described by the first order kinetic model with an initial delay of mineralization  $(N_{\min} = N_0(1-e^{-k(t-c)}))$ , where Nmin is mineralized N at time t,  $N_0$  is potentially mineralizable N (PMN), k is a mineralization rate constant, and c is an initial delay in mineralization).

2.4, 1.3 and 1.5 fold amount of PMN of post-fallow phases in 2R, 4R and 6R, respectively.

#### 8.3.5. "Light fraction" organic matter

The amount LF-OM was highly responsive to fallow frequency, accounting for 1.1(CF)-6.3(CW)% of the SOC and 0.8(CF)-4.3(CW)% of the TN (Table 8.4). LF-OM, as expressed on the basis of dry matter (LF-DM), C (LF-C) or N (LF-N), was inversely related to fallow frequency. For example, the LF-C content of the CW system was 7.2 times higher than that in the CF system. These results agree with those of other studies (e.g. Janzen et al., 1992; Haynes, 2000;), where LF content was highest under continuous cropping and lowest in those with a high frequency of summer fallow. Additionally, LF-C was affected by the rotation phase, showing larger amounts in pre- than in post-fallow phases in 4R and 6R rotations.

#### 8.3.6. Grain yields and weed biomass

Weed biomass was linearly proportional to the duration of a rotation (Table 8.4). Average yearly inputs of weed biomass were 132 in 2-y, 155 in 4-y, 162 in 6-y and 869 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> per cropping year in CW plots in 1997. Whereas, the grain yields were negatively proportional to the weed biomass and to the duration of rotation. The largest weed contamination was observed in the CW system, where weed biomass as a dry matter exceeded grain yield by 1.8-fold.

Grain yield of the studied 1998 year was very low in all the rotations (510, 520, 540 and 490 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> y<sup>-1</sup> for 2-y, 4-y, 6y and CW plots, respectively (Table 8.4, K.A. Akhmetov, loc.cit), although low grain yield is common for the area studied, where lack of water is a main limiting factor for wheat growth, the year 1998 was extremely dry. Fertilizer and herbicide free management also affected grain yields. This was undertaken to exclude all other factors but the effects of summer fallows.

# Table 8.4. Grain yield (1986 - 1998) and weed biomass (1986 - 1996 and1997) in wheat-based rotation systems with different frequency offallow in Southern Chernozem.

| Rotation                     | Grain yield | (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> ) | Weeds' bior<br>matter) (N  | Weeds' biomass (dry matter) (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> ) |  |  |
|------------------------------|-------------|------------------------|--|--|--|--|
|                              | 1986-1996   | 1998                   | 1986-1996  | 1997   |  |  |
| Гwo-year (2R)                | śdła od     |                        | a di secolo de la constante de | ans d'h  |  |  |
| Fallow                       | Network 1   | lt on Edit be          | kaling <b>s</b> ing saas   |  |  |  |
| Wheat after fallow           | 1.85        | 1.02                   | 0.12   | 0.13   |  |  |
| Average of rotation          | 0.93        | 0.51                   | 0.06   | n/a  |  |  |
| Four-year (4R)               |             |                        |  |  |  |  |
| Fallow                       |             | an nananan ng          | and the second   |  |  |  |
| Wheat 1st year               | 1.84        | 1.16                   | 0.14   | n/a  |  |  |
| Wheat 2nd year               | 1.78        | 0.48                   | 0.26   | n/a  |  |  |
| Wheat 3rd year               | 1.56        | 0.45                   | 0.12   | n/a  |  |  |
| Average of cropping years    | 1.73        | 0.70                   | 0.17   | 0.16   |  |  |
| Average of rotation          | 1.30        | 0.52                   | 0.13   | n/a  |  |  |
| Six-year (6R)                |             |                        |  |  |  |  |
| Fallow                       | UQUU - SA   | -                      |  | -  |  |  |
| Wheat 1st year               | 2.09        | 1.16                   | 0.09   | n/a  |  |  |
| Wheat 2nd year               | 1.66        | 0.55                   | 0.22   | n/a  |  |  |
| Wheat 3rd year               | 1.61        | 0.56                   | 0.20   | n/a  |  |  |
| Wheat 4th year               | 1.58        | 0.65                   | 0.18   | n/a  |  |  |
| Wheat 5th year               | 1.55        | 0.31                   | 0.15   | n/a  |  |  |
| Average of cropping years    | 1.70        | 0.65                   | 0.17   | 0.16   |  |  |
| Average of rotation          | 1.41        | 0.54                   | 0.14   | n/a  |  |  |
| Continuous wheat cropping (C | W)          |                        |  |  |  |  |
| CW                           | 1.00        | 0.49                   | 1.13   | 0.87   |  |  |

#### 8.4. Discussion

#### 8.4.1. Soil organic carbon and total nitrogen

To protect the field against weeds and to store more moisture and nutrients in the soil, fallowed field are cultivated 4 to 5 times during the vegetative season. Such intensive mechanical disturbance causes enhanced mineralization of SOM in fallow, firstly, due to better aeration of surface soil, and secondly, particular organic matter occluded within aggregates might become exposed to microbial attack after disruption of aggregates. Additionally, bare fallow does not contribute plant residues for the replenishment of SOM.

In general, distributions of SOC and TN among rotations with different fallow frequencies were comparable to those reported by Collins et al. (1992), Campbell and Zentner (1993) and Biederbeck et al. (1994) for Chernozem soils. Frequently fallowing systems such as 2R showed less SOM than less frequently fallowing systems, such as 6R. Our results confirmed the findings from North American arable systems that frequently fallowing system accelerates mineralization of SOM (e.g. Janzen, 1987; Campbell and Zentner, 1993; Biederbeck et al., 1994).

#### 8.4.2. Potentially mineralizable carbon

Continuous wheat (CW) and 6-y systems (6R) had higher amount of PMC that was inversely proportional to fallow frequency and indicated the long-term effect of fallow. These results corroborate the study of Campbell et al. (1999) who found for a silt-loam in southwestern Saskatchewan that mineralized C (measured after 30 days at 21°C) represented 1.06 and 1.45% of SOC in a 2-y fallow-wheat rotation and continuous growing of wheat, respectively. Campbell et al. (1992) found that C mineralization was not related to the amount of crop residue from the previous year. In our study PMC was a little higher in the pre-fallow (2R-pre, 4R-pre and





6R-pre) than in the post-fallow (2R-post, 4R-post and 6R-post) phases, probably reflecting the input of crop and weed residues in the preceding year (Table 8.3).

## 8.4.3. Soil mineral nitrogen

As expected, the CF system maintained the highest amount of soil min-N that was due to enhanced mineralization of SOM compared to the other systems. The short-term effect of fallow on the accumulation of min-N is clearly observed as well. During fallow phase min-N is not subjected to either plant uptake or leaching, thus resulting in a greater accumulation of soil min-N in post-fallow (2R-post, 4R-post and 6R-post) than in pre-fallow phases (2R-pre, 4R-pre and 6R-pre).

8.4.4. Potentially mineralizable nitrogen

Larger amounts of mineralized nitrogen  $(N_0)$  in the prefallow phases indicate larger storage of PMN in these soils than in post-fallow soils. Differences in the rate constant (k)between pre- and post-fallow phases indicate that fallowing has caused changes in the quality of the PMN.

Due to multiple cultivations of fallows the soil is subjected to alternating wet-dry cycles. The wet period provided better moisture condition microorganism activity and produced greater biomass than in cropped fields. Then in the subsequent dry period the greater biomass turned into necromass due to drought. This cycle may be repeated several times in a cropping season. And later, during incubation in the laboratory, this microbial necromass as well as living biomass was rapidly mineralized showing a higher mineralization rate constant in the post fallow than in the pre-fallow phases (Fig. 8.1).

The soils from the post-fallow phase showed a longer initial delay of mineralization, suggesting that higher concentration of min-N compared to pre-fallow phase probably stimulated microbial activity and resulted in immobilization of mineralized N during the initial stages of incubation (Mamilov et al., 1985).

The long-term effect of fallow was not observed for soil min-N or PMN suggesting that N mineralization is only affected by the substrate added during the previous year or the latest cycle of rotation. Nitrogen in the forms of  $NO_3^-$  and  $NH_4^+$  is assimilated by plants and returned into soil whereas C originates from  $CO_2$  in the air and plowed as organic residue into soil. Nitrogen transformations are closely related to the processes of mineralization of its organic forms in plant-soil system.

Therefore, in plant-soil systems N cycling is affected over shorter period than C cycling.

#### 8.4.5. "Light fraction" organic matter

"Light fraction" of SOM (LF-OM) consists mainly of plant residues, small animals and microorganisms adhering to plant-derived particulate matter at various stages of decomposition that serves as a readily decomposable substrate for soil microorganisms and also as a short-term reservoir of plant nutrients (Gregorich et al., 1994).

The "light fraction' C (LF-C) was positively correlated with PMC (Fig. 8.2), and confirm the hypothesis that the reduced fallowing system has more potential to supply soil with easily mineralizable C. However, there was no linear correlation between LF-N and PMN (Fig. 8.3), presumably because the high C-to-N ratio of the LF-OM temporary induced N immobilization (Janzen et al., 1992).

The content of labile OM, which is closely related to LF-OM, may be governed by the degree to which temperature and moisture conditions constrain decomposition of accumulated residues (Beiderbeck et al, 1994). Under the CW system decomposition of residues during periods of favorable soil temperature was retarded by the depleted soil moisture (Shields and Paul, 1973; Douglas et al., 1992; Akhmetov, loc.cit.). Then, when moisture and temperature constraints were removed during laboratory incubations, soil showed a high respiration rate (Janzen et al., 1992). On the contrary, residues in the 2R system during the fallow phase were always exposed to an extended period with favorable moisture and temperature. Therefore, labile organic matter was rapidly depleted in the field, and in the laboratory



with "light fraction" N (LF-N).

anana mater. Sol 2000. Magazakini da salahini da salahini da salahini da salahini da salahini da salahini da s Manana materi da salahini d respiration rates were much lower in 2R than in CW (Biederbeck et al., 1994).

#### 8.4.6. Grain yields and weed biomass

The first year after fallow gave the highest grain yield and the lowest amount of weeds. But in the second and successive years after fallow the yield fell considerably (Table 8.4, Fig. 8.4). This is, firstly, because plants in a post-fallow phase take advantage of higher soil min-N. Secondly, because when a field is in fallow provides the only break for weed infestation, the amount of weeds was generally least in the first year after fallow and reduced competition for nutrients.

In contrast to the grain yield, weed infestation reached its maximum in the second years after fallow in 4R and 6R. probably, some of the weeds were not destroyed during the fallow and their seeds remained dormant but germinated in the second year after fallow (Akhmetov, 1999, loc.cit.).

Correlation between the grain yield and weed infestation average for 1986-1996 is presented by the following equation of multiple linear regression:

$$Y = 20.82 - 0.189X$$

where X total amount of weeds, pieces/m<sup>-2</sup>.

The coefficient of determination was also high ( $R^2 = 0.78$ ) or 78% of changes of the yield depend on weed infestation.

The highest grain output, counting per whole rotation, was obtained by  $6R (540 \text{ kg ha}^{-1})$  that parallels the distribution of soil labile OM (PMC and LF-C) and supports the hypothesis that the longer rotations with fewer fallows contribute more to the accumulation of SOM than shorter rotations with greater fallow frequencies.





F is a fallow; 1,2,3,4,5 are succession of crops after fallow. The values above bars are average yield per rotation including the fallow year.

#### 8.5. Conclusions

Our results on a Southern Chernozem in North Kazakhstan suggested that N dynamics were closely related to the recent input of substrate added as plant residue while C dynamics were more related to long-term substrate addition.

Yearly input of plant residue in a 6-y wheat-fallow rotation system built up more labile OM, especially LF-C or readily decomposable C, whereas 2-y rotation system with a high frequency of fallow depleted SOM via accelerated mineralization. Therefore, with no fertilizer or pesticides application, in the semiarid regions of northern Kazakhstan, the inclusion of fallow in wheat monoculture every 6 years is the most appropriate farming system in terms of sustainability in both grain production and soil fertility.

The relatively high SOM content under CW system may be due to (a) high nutrient content in this soil due to former fertilization, (b) the high input of nutrients from the weed biomass, and (c) the low output of nutrients with the crops. Losses of labile OM as a result of cultivation tend to be disproportional higher than total OM losses. Therefore, labile fractions of soil OM such as PMC, PMN and LF-OM are good indices for detecting subtle changes of SOM quality due to the effects of summer fallow in semiarid regions.

To some extent our results may provide prediction of SOM response to fallow frequency in wheat-based rotation systems in Chernozem soils of semiarid regions: the susceptibility of labile fractions of OM and their relationship to fallow frequency suggest the possibility of managing labile OM through controlling the length of wheat-fallow rotation systems.

#### References

- Amelung W, Flach KW, Zech W, 1998. Climatic effects on soil organic matter composition in the Great Plains. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 61, 115-123.
- Baldock JA, Nelson PN, 2000. Soil organic matter. In Sumner, M.E., (Ed.), Handbook of Soil Science. CRC Press, Boca Raton, pp. B25-B84.
- Biederbeck VO, Janzen HH, Campbell CA, Zentner RP, 1994. Labile soil organic matter as influence by cropping practices in an arid environment. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 12, 1647-1656.
- Bird MI, Chivas AR, Head J, 1996. A latitudinal gradient in carbon turnover times in forest soils. *Nature* 381, 143-146.
- Borovski VM, Uspanov UU, 1971. Soils of Kazakhstan and the ways of their use. Institute of Soil Science, Alma-

Ata, pp.10 (in Russian).

Campbell CA, Moulin AP, Bowren KE, Janzen HH, Townly-Smith L, Biederbeck VO, 1992. Effect of crop rotation on microbial biomass, specific respiratory activity and mineralizable nitrogen in a Black Chernozemic soil. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 72, 417-427.

- Campbell CA, Zentner RP, 1993. Soil organic matter as influenced by crop rotations and fertilization. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 57, 1034-1040.
- Campbell CA, Biederbeck VO, McConkey BG, Curtin D, Zentner RP, 1999. Soil quality-effect of tillage and fallow frequency. Soil organic matter quality as influenced by tillage and fallow frequency in a silt loam in southwestern Saskatchewan. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 31, 1-7.
- Christensen BT, 1992. Physical fractionation of soil and organic matter in primary particles and density separates. Advances in Agriculture 20, 2-90.
- Christensen BT, 1996. Carbon in primary and secondary organo-mineral complexes. Advances in Soil Science 24, 97-165.
- Clarke AL, Russell JS, 1977. Crop sequential practices. In J.S. Russell, E.L. Greacen, (Eds), Soil Factors in Crop Production in a Semi-arid Environment. University of Queensland Press, St. Lucia, pp. 279-300.
- Collins HP, Rasmussen PE, Douglas CL, 1992. Crop rotation and residue management effects on soil carbon and microbial dynamics. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 56, 783-788.
- Dormaar JF, 1983. Chemical properties of soil and water-stable aggregates after sixty-seven years of cropping to spring wheat. *Plant Soil* 75, 51-61.
- Douglas CL Jr, Rickman RW, Klepper BL, Zuzel JF, Wysocki DJ, 1992. Agroclimatic zones for dryland winter wheat producing areas of Idaho, Washington, and Oregon. Northwest Science 66, 26-34.
- Dzhalankuzov TD, Redkov VV, 1993. Changes in morphological and agrochemical properties of calcareous Southern Chernozems of North Kazakhstan due to longterm cultivation. *In* Proceedings of Academy of Sciences of Republic of Kazakhstan. Biology Series 1, 53-58 (in Russian).
- Elliott ET, Paustain K, Frey SD, 1996. Modeling the measurable or measuring the modelable: A hierarchical approach to isolating meaningful soil organic matter. *In* Elliott, E.T., Cambardella, C.A. 1991. Physical Separation of Soil Organic Matter. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 34, pp.407-419.

Ferguson WS, Gorby BJ, 1971. Effect of various periods of

seed-down to alfalfa and bromegrass on soil nitrogen. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 51. 65-73.

- Gregorich EG, Carter MR, Angers DA, Monreal CM, Ellert BH, 1994. Towards a minimum data set to access soil organic matter quality in agricultural soils. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 74, 367-385.
- Haynes RJ, 2000. Labile organic matter as an indicator of organic matter quality in arable and pastoral soils in New Zealand. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 32, 211-219.
- Janzen HH, 1987. Soil organic matter characteristics after long-term cropping to various spring wheat rotations. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 67, 845-856.
- Janzen HH, Campbell CA, Brandt SA, LaFond GP, Townley-Smith L, 1992. Light-fraction organic matter in soils from long-term crop rotations. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 56, 1799-1806.
- Keeney DR, Nelson DW, 1982. Nitrogen-Inorganic Forms. In Page A.L., (Ed.), Methods of Soil Analysis. Part 2, 2<sup>nd</sup> ed., Soil Science Society of America, Madison, pp. 643-698.
- Lykov AM, Tulikov AM, 1976. Practical work on agriculture with basics of soil science. M., Kolos.
- Mamilov ShZ, Beisenova KO, Mamilov ASh, Yanovskaya MK, 1985. Biological activity and dynamic of nutrients in Chernozem soils with different agronomic use. *In* State and Rational Use of Soils of Kazakhstan, Soil Science Society of Kazakhstan, Alma-Ata, pp. 132-134 (in Russian).
- Nelson DW, Sommers LE, 1996. Total carbon, organic carbon, and organic matter. *In* Bartels, J.M. (Eds), Methods of Soil Analysis, Part 3. Chemical Methods. Soil Science Society of America and American Society of Agronomy, Madison, pp. 961-1010.
- Redkov VV, 1964. Soils of Tselinograd oblast. Nauka, Alma-Ata, pp. 325-326. (in Russian).
- Rubinstein MI, 1959. Decomposition rate of organic matter of virgin Chernozem in Northern Kazakhstan during their cultivation. *Soviet Soil Science* 11, 1332-1335.
- Shields JA, Paul EA, 1973. Decomposition of <sup>14</sup>C-labelled plant material under field conditions. *Can.J. Soil Sci.* 53,297-306.
- Soil Survey Staff, 1999. Soil Taxonomy, second ed., USDA, Washington, DC
- Sollins P, Spycher G, Glassman CA, 1984. Net nitrogen mineralization from light and heavy-fraction forest soil organic matter. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 16, 31-37.

Sorensen LH, 1974. Rate of decomposition of organic matter

in soil as influenced by repeated air drying-rewetting and repeated additions of organic matter. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 6, 287-292.

- SPSS Inc, 1998a. SigmaPlot version 5.0, Programming guide, Chicago, IL.
- SPSS Inc, 1998b. SYSTAT version 8.0, Statistics, Chicago, IL.
- Spycher G, Sollins P, Rose S, 1981. Carbon and nitrogen in the light fraction of a forest soil: vertical distribution and seasonal patterns. *Soil Sci.* 2, 79-87.
- Trumbore SE, Chadwick OA, Amundson R, 1996. Rapid exchange between soil carbon and atmospheric carbon dioxide driven by temperature change. *Science* 272, 393-396.

een die land hare mit te minimit 2 wegenrenen minister dering is coopping season. This printice is also commonly scolles i the steppe area of Nerth America, in wordt the season secondaries is below 500 and leng. Furthaul et 21, 1998) intertemately, is has other been reported sheat such scientifical propince on Chertforner softs had accelerated symbol matter decomposition (Baysmovsky et al., 1987) tivaatava and Moyer, (998). Mikuallova et al., 2000 is burger decisional, 2004).

Given the out acrimed of Senal production in normoral exablestic, it is important to realize an SOM there from both to transmission and a contributer blownishing. This ministering union out to provide information on SOM builded called most production in the Chernogens soft or normoral reactions and microscies of real-soft realized and thirts and academics. Dynamics of transportation and thirts and academics and the second information in the importance and providers were transported in order to driven in SOM budget and the factor's first affect the SOM of SOM budget and the factor's first affect the SOM

This experiment was conducted in 2000 of the perimental form of Baratev Katakh Research and odaction Center of Grain Fundles, Sheddardy Barthare residence (51237), 71203 Eb. According to the Regionant ecorological instituting at the Center Sequence of pitation and overage year respectively for 2000 were contacted and the C. respectively by generative (1970-2000 were to call characteristics and brieffly described before only tempined in water was provide residually and the security tempined in water was provide residually and the security tempined in water was provide residually and the security tempined in water was provide residually and the security tempined in water was provide residually and the security antana Angeranan I. Serahara Zi

# Chapter 9 mini listor interes andres sieren autein-

# Soil organic matter dynamics under grain farming in northern Kazakhstan Shinya Funakawa, Iwao Nakamura and Kanat Akshalov

# 9.1. Background

The natural grass forb steppes of northern Kazakhstan have largely been replaced by arable land mainly for the cultivation of spring wheat due to the implementation of Khrushchev's Virgin Lands Agricultural Program from 1954 to 1960 when Kazakhstan was ruled by the former Soviet Union (Medvedev, 1987). Chernozem soil (Mollisols), which is a typical soil found in this region, is considered to be one of most productive soils in the world. In Kazakhstan, Chernozem soil covers 32.1×10<sup>6</sup> ha or 11.8% of the country territory (GUGK, 1982). It is stated that an area of 26.5×106 (GUGK, 1982; Morgounov and Zuidema, 2001) or 24.6×106 ha (Gossen, 1998) of Chernozem soil in Kazakhstan had already been converted to arable land. Presently, the significance of food production in this area is widely recognized. On the other hand, the characteristics of the Chernozem soils which can store a large amount of soil organic matter (SOM) have recently drawn considerable attention in terms of both the large source and sink of carbon dioxide in relation to the problem of "global warming". In this sense, Chernozem soils are one of the most important resources from both agricultural and environmental viewpoints (Paustian et al., 1997).

This area is strongly affected by the continental climate, being typically cold and dry. For example, at our study site, mean annual precipitation and average year temperature were 323 mm and  $1.6^{\circ}C$  (1936-2000), respectively (Barayev Kazakh Research and Production Center of Grain Farming; unpublished data). Because of the harsh conditions during the winter period, only spring cereals such as wheat, barley, and/or oats have become adapted, except for a few crops such as sunflower, maize for silage, etc. Additionally, very dry conditions during the summer period are also one of the main constraints on crop yields there, e.g. the average grain yield is generally as low as 1.0 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> (in 1986-90 for whole Kazakhstan) (Gossen, 1998).

Therefore, since the primary concern of agriculture in this area has been to ensure water resources for crop production, several water management practices have been developed for this purpose. They include 1) snow management, which is conducted mainly in February, in order to accumulate additional snowfall by making parallel snowrows at certain intervals, 2) summer fallow to store rainfall water for the next cropping, and 3) subsoil cutting in autumn to reduce the loss of water through evaporation by decreasing capillary rise (Shegebaev, 1998). Among them, summer fallow is usually practiced in the rotation systems once in five years in order to store moisture in soils, to decrease weed hazard, and to accumulate mineral nitrogen through mineralization of soil organic matter. Fields under fallow are usually mechanically harrowed several times to keep the land bare and to minimize evapotranspiration during the cropping season. This practice is also commonly applied in the steppe area of North America, in which the annual precipitation is below 500 mm (e.g. Farahani et al., 1998). Unfortunately, it has often been reported that such agricultural practices on Chernozem soils had accelerated organic matter decomposition (Buyanovsky et al., 1987; Srivastava and Meyer, 1998; Mikhailova et al., 2000; Karbozova-Saljnikov et al., 2004).

Given the vast acreage of cereal production in northern Kazakhstan, it is important to maintain SOM there from both environmental and agricultural viewpoints. This study was carried out to provide information on SOM budget under cereal production in the Chernozem soil of northern Kazakhstan. Dynamics of *in situ* soil respiration and microbial biomass, as well as soil environmental factors such as soil temperature and moisture, were analyzed in order to determine the SOM budget and the factors that affect the SOM decomposition rate.

#### 9.2. Study methods

This experiment was conducted in 2000 at the experimental farm of Barayev Kazakh Research and Production Center of Grain Farming, Shortandy, northern Kazakhstan (51°35'N, 71°03'E). According to the long-term meteorological monitoring at the Center, mean annual precipitation and average year temperature (1936-2000) were 323 mm and 1.6°C, respectively, as previously mentioned. The soil characteristics are briefly described below; pH determined in water was neutral to slightly alkaline, usually ranging from 7.5 to 9, texture was typically clayey with more

than 40% of clay, organic carbon content ranged between 20 and 25 g kg<sup>-1</sup> in the plow layer (surface 30 cm), carbonates were detected near the soil surface, and the depth of the layer with organic matter-accumulation was approximately 50 cm. According to the USDA soil classification system, the soils are classified into Typic Haplustolls, which corresponds to the Southern Chernozem soils in the classification system of the former Soviet Union.

For the present study, five plots (F0-C, O0-C, F1-C, O1-C, and F4-C) were established in the experimental farm. These plots were included in an experimental block in which long-term experiments had been conducted since 1983 for improving farming technology. The size of each plot was 6 m  $\times$  60 m and crop species and land use stages of the experimental plots are summarized in Table 9.1. The F0-C plot was left fallow in 2000. The O0-C and O1-C were included in the rotation system in which oat cropping was substituted for summer fallow. Spring wheat was planted in the F1-C, O1-C and F4-C plots, whereas oats were planted in the O0-C

plot. It should be noted that since F1-C was the field just after fallow, it had not received any residue input in the preceding year. The climatic conditions during the experiment in 2000 are summarized in Fig. 9.1. Monthly data on precipitation and air temperature both in 2000 and the average in 1990-1999 are listed in Table 9.2. The mean annual precipitation and average year temperature in 2000 were 362 mm and 2.4°C, respectively. Precipitation which was recorded at the early stage of crop growth, i.e. in May and June in 2000 was higher than the 10-year average, which may account for the higher crop yield in that year than the average one indicated in Table 9.1. On the other hand, the temperature during summer time (June, July, and August) in 2000 was similar to the average one. In these plots, CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from the soil surface were measured in triplicate 14 times with approximately two-week intervals during the period of April to September, 2000. In order to mitigate the effect of possibly high daily fluctuations of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions due to temperature fluctuations, the alkali-trap method for one-day

significance of food production in this area is widely ecognized. On the other hand, the characteristics of the

| Table 9             | .1. Descri | ption of | study plo | ots. |  |
|---------------------|------------|----------|-----------|------|--|
| a table har a state |            | 1. 11    | 12.1.2    |      |  |

| Plot | Crop rotation<br>system1) 2)Overall crop yield at the<br>same stage of rotation<br>2000 average in 1990-99 |                        | op yield at the<br>ge of rotation<br>werage in 1990-99 | Remarks<br>a oddie of a sine bas course signal and does not remain a nonzer<br>2 aoddie of a sine bas course signal and does not not remain a signal<br>2 aoddie of a sine bas courses and a signal and a sign |
|------|--|------------------------|--|--|
|      |  | (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> ) | (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> )                                 |  |
| F0-C | F-w-w-b-w  | 0                      | 0  | Summer fallow  |
| 00-C | О-w-w-в-w  | 3.01                   | 1.82   | Fallow in conventional rotation was substituted by oat cultivation   |
| F1-C | F-W-W-B-W  | 1.52                   | 1.63   | 1st year after fallow  |
| 01-C | о-W-w-в-w  | 1.90                   | 1.34   | 1st year after oats in the modified rotation   |
| F4-C | F-W-W-В-   | 2.09                   | 1.29   | 4th year after fallow  |

1) F: fallow, W: wheat, B: barley, O: oats

2) Bold letters denote the cropping stage of each plot.





| Table 9.2. Com   | parison of mo | onthly mete | orologica  | al data   |
|------------------|---------------|-------------|------------|-----------|
| in 2000 with the | 10-year avera | ige.        | ovais cist | s to bill |

| Month   | Temperat  | ure (°C) | Precipitati | ion (mm) |
|---------|-----------|----------|-------------|----------|
|         | 1990-1999 | 2000     | 1990-1999   | 2000     |
| Jan-Mar | -13.7     | -13.6    | 54.0        | 53.0     |
| Apr     | 3.9       | 7.7      | 20.0        | 11.3     |
| May     | 12.9      | 10.6     | 35.7        | 64.1     |
| Jun     | 18.7      | 19.4     | 30.4        | 60.9     |
| Jul     | 19.9      | 20.2     | 62.8        | 35.0     |
| Aug     | 17.4      | 18.4     | 35.8        | 21.5     |
| Sep     | 11.2      | 10.5     | 33.1        | 31.4     |
| Oct-Dec | -5.8      | -5.6     | 66.0        | 84.4     |

ebee ni vanasi ni **vanisi babbabba** ilainiy insanganan

respiration was used in the present study. The procedure basically followed the guidelines of Anderson (1982). On each measurement, after removal of the plants in the surroundings to minimize the influence of root respiration, steel cans with a diameter of 10 cm were installed on the ground surface upside-down, in which 1 mol L<sup>-1</sup> NaOH solution was placed in an evaporation dish. After 24 hours, the amount of CO<sub>2</sub> absorbed in the alkali solution was determined by a second-step titration (from pH 8.3 to pH 4.3 using phenolphthalein and bromocresol green as indicators) with a standardized HCl solution. At the same time, the contents of microbial biomass C and N were determined for fresh soils from the surface 15-cm depth using the chloroform fumigation-extraction method (Brookes et al. 1985; Vance et al. 1987). The soil temperature at the 5 cm depth and soil moisture at the surface 0-30 cm depth were continuously monitored for each plot using a datalogger system (CR-10X, Campbell Scientific, Inc.). At the time of harvest, plant biomass and grain yield were measured in a 1 m2 subplot in triplicate.

## 9.3. Fluctuations of soil temperature, soil moisture content, and soil respiration rate

Figure 9.2 shows the fluctuations of the soil temperature and soil moisture content during the experiment, which were monitored by the datalogger. During a certain period, data were missing due to mechanical treatment of the field at the time of seeding (May 25- June 7 in all the plots) and malfunction of the datalogger (July 4 - 19 in F4-C).

Mean daily soil temperature increased to above 0°C in early April and remained at above 20°C from mid-June to mid-August. Then it sharply decreased to below 5°C at the end of September. Most of the biological activities were considered to be limited during this period, i.e. April to September. On the other hand, the soil moisture content in the surface layers remained high after thawing until mid-June. Then in the cropped plots, it continuously decreased except during the rainfall events. In contrast, the fallow plot (F0-C) could maintain a certain level of soil moisture after July because of the lack of transpiration by plants. The soil







moisture content at  $0.18 \text{ L L}^{-1}$  was equivalent to the permanent wilting point (-1.5 MPa) of the soils, based on the moisture retention curves (unpublished data). Hence, the cropped soils here were subjected to very dry conditions during late summer (late June to August), with a remarkable increase of the soil temperature. These data were later used for the calculation of annual CO<sub>2</sub> emissions after interpolated correction of the missing data.

Figure 9.3 shows *in situ*  $CO_2$  emissions, i.e. the soil respiration rates, during the cropping period in 2000. Maximum values were recorded on June 24 or July 4, during which soil was still moist in spite of the high temperature of above 20 °C, and then the values decreased, as soil was getting drier. The overall profile of  $CO_2$  fluctuations, however, still seemed to be similar to that of the soil temperature.

#### 9.4. Dynamics of soil microbial biomass

According to Fig. 9.4, the amounts of microbial C and N in the soils were high in early summer and then drastically decreased, indicating similar trends to those of the soil moisture content. Actually, there was a highly positive correlation between the soil moisture content and microbial biomass except for the fallow plot (F0-C), in which repeated plowing during the summer may have interfered with such a clear relationship (Fig. 9.5).

The difference in the fluctuation patterns between the soil respiration rate and the amount of soil microbial biomass brought a unique dynamics in the values of the soil respiration rate / microbial biomass C content, which showed an apparent increase in late summer (Fig. 9.6). This implied that, in spite of the decrease in the amount of soil microbial biomass due to the very dry conditions, some microorganisms



Figure 9.4. Fluctuations of microbial biomass C and N contents in the surface soils.









were still active and contributed to soil respiration, by possibly using dead microbial debris as additional substrates.

## 9.5. Estimation of CO<sub>2</sub> emissions throughout the cropping period using the measured data of soil temperature, moisture content, and soil respiration rate

For estimating the total soil respiration rate throughout the cropping period, we first derived an equation that represented the relationship between the *in situ* daily soil respiration rate and climatic factors such as soil temperature and moisture content by multiple regression analysis. Then we calculated the daily soil respiration rate by substituting each parameter of the equation using monitored data, and summed up the daily soil respiration rates for a given period. In the first step, we assumed that the Arrhenius relationship between the soil temperature and respiration rate was as follows:

 $C_{\rm em} = a M^b {\rm e}^{-E/RT}$ 

where  $C_{em}$  is the daily soil respiration rate (mol C ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>), Mis the volumetric soil moisture content (L L<sup>-1</sup>), E is the activation energy (J mol<sup>-1</sup>), R is the gas constant (8.31 J mol<sup>-1</sup> K<sup>-1</sup>), T is the absolute soil temperature (K), b is a coefficient related to the contribution of soil moisture, and a is a constant. The first order kinetic model, in which the direct proportion of the decomposition rate and the amount of substrates at a given time is assumed, has been most widely used to simulate laboratory data for SOM decomposition. However, we applied the "zero-order" model in which a fixed amount of substrates is assumed throughout the process of decomposition, because of the possibility of the existence of an additional source of substrates caused by the fluctuations of the temperature and moisture content during the field experiment. The equation was then rewritten in the logarithm form:

 $\ln C_{\rm em} = \ln a + b \ln M - E/RT$ 

Then a series of coefficients, a, b, and E were calculated by stepwise multiple regression analysis (p=0.25) using the measured data,  $C_{em}$ , M, and T (SPSS, 1998).

The results are given in Table 9.3. Generally a significant relationship at 1 or 5% level was obtained between the soil respiration rate and the activation energy, E, indicating a significant dependency of the soil respiration rate on the soil temperature. Based on the value of E, we could estimate that the  $Q_{10}$  values from 10 to 20°C ranged between 1.3 and 2.0. In contrast, the contribution of moisture was somewhat uncertain, except for the O0-C and F4-C plots, based on the fact that the moisture parameter was rejected even at the level of p=0.25 in the stepwise regression. In some cases (especially O1-C), the  $r^2$  value was unexpectedly low, presumably because short-term effects of surface soil disturbance on seeding and harrowing, occasional rainfall events during the dry summer, etc may have been neglected.

Thus the positive contribution of the soil temperature to the soil respiration rate was obvious in the present study. Although the reasons why the soil moisture did not affect appreciably the soil respiration rate still remained to be elucidated, the contribution of some soil microorganisms that were still active under severely dry conditions after summer might be considered, as observed in Fig. 9.6. Such a dependency of the soil respiration rate mainly on the soil temperature was also reported for Chernozem soils in Russia by Kudeyarov and Kurganova (1998) and in Argentina by Alvarez et al. (1995). Using these regression equations and

|      | ln <i>a</i> |     | Ъ     |     | E<br>(kJ mol <sup>-</sup> | <sup>1</sup> ) |      |     | . (at | T = 298K, $M = 0.2$ L L <sup>-1</sup> )<br>(mol C ha <sup>-1</sup> d <sup>-1</sup> ) | emission from Apr. 1<br>to Oct. 3 (Mg C ha <sup>-1</sup> |
|------|-------------|-----|-------|-----|---------------------------|----------------|------|-----|-------|--|--|
| F0-C | 17.5        | *** | -2.01 | *   | 30.6                      | ***            | 0.53 | *** | 13    | 4485   | 2.92   |
| 00-C | 22.0        | *** | 0.68  | **  | 33.0                      | ***            | 0.59 | *** | 13    | 2014   | 3.19   |
| F1-C | 26.5        | *** |       |     | 46.6                      | ***            | 0.65 | *** | 12    | 2197   | 2.52   |
| 01-C | 19.0        | *** |       |     | 28.4                      | **             | 0.42 | **  | 13    | 1927   | 2.76   |
| F4-C | 17.3        | *** | 0.90  | *** | 20.9                      | **             | 0.69 | *** | 10    | 1634   | 3.06   |

 Table 9.3. Coefficients determined by stepwise multiple regression analysis.

T: Temperature (K)

M:Volumetric moisture content of soil (L L<sup>-1</sup>)

a: Coefficient (mol C ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>)

 $R = 8.315 (J K^{-1} mol^{-1})$ 

This equation is converted to;  $\ln C_{em} = \ln a + b \ln M - E/RT$ 

**Restructors distribution** of COC extrassions through net the meming search using the regression equations obtained in bate of t

the data monitored by the dataloggers, the fluctuations of the soil respiration rate during the cropping season were simulated as indicated in Fig. 9.7 and cumulative soil respiration throughout the period of Apr. 10 to Oct. 3 was calculated to be 2.9 (F0-C), 3.2 (O0-C), 2.5 (F1-C), 2.8 (O1-C), and 3.1 (F4-C) Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. Since the monthly trend of air temperature during summer time in this year was similar to the 10-year average (Table 9.2), the calculated values here can represent the conditions in normal years. The lower value of the soil respiration rate estimated in the F1-C plot, just after summer fallow, than the others suggested the possible depletion of readily decomposable SOM due to the absence of crop residues in the preceding year. Excluding further the fallow plot, F0-C, the average value of the remaining three cropped plots (O0-C, O1-C, and F4-C), which received crop residues at least in the preceding year, was 3.0 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> during the cropping phase.

# 9.6. Soil carbon budget under rain-fed grain farming in northern Kazakhstan

Although the soil respiration was generally considered to be associated with both SOM decomposition by the soil microorganisms and plant root respiration, the results obtained in the present study were considered to have practically excluded a large part of root respiration due to the removal of nearby plant materials during the measurements. Table 9.4 gives summarized data on SOM budget in the

terpendency of the soli respiration rate mainly up the sec temperature was also exported for Chernogen solid in Russia by Rideyarify and Wargadova (1998) and in Argéntins by





experimental plots. The crop yields in the experimental plots, which were primarily determined by the amounts of available water during the cropping season (Funakawa et al., 2004). were 3.2 (O0-C, oat), 1.9 (F1-C), 1.4 (O1-C), 2.0 (F4-C) Mg ha-<sup>1</sup>, respectively. After harvest, 4.5 (O0-C), 2.3 (F1-C), 1.6 (O1-C), and 2.6 (F4-C) Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>, respectively, were expected to be returned to the soils as plant residues. Assuming that all the soil respiration determined here was caused by the SOM decomposition, the budget of the SOM pool was estimated to be -2.9 (F0-C), 1.3 (O0-C), -0.2 (F1-C), -1.2 (O1-C), and -0.5 (F4-C) Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. Except for the plot planted with oats (O0-C), in which the exceptionally higher residue biomass of oats than that of wheat contributed positively to the budget, the SOM budget in the cropped plots was slightly negative in this year, that is, the soils lost their organic matter stock. This trend might be more conspicuous in an average year since the crop yield of 2000 was considerably higher than the 10-year average, as indicated in Table 9.1. In the fallow plot, F0-C, such SOM loss was much higher than that in the cropped plots because of the lack of residue input.

In the same plots, a significant relationship was observed between the amount of available water and wheat production (Funakawa et al. 2004). Using the same data, the following relationship can be established between the amount of evapotranspiration (*ET* in mm) and content of organic C of the wheat residues (*CR* in Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>):

CR = 0.0201 ET - 2.43  $r^2 = 0.48, n = 9$ 

In order to obtain the wheat residues that could compensate for the  $CO_2$  emissions, namely 3.0 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup> in the corrected average of the present study or 2.0 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup> under the assumption that one third of the  $CO_2$  emissions in the present study was derived from root respiration, approximately 270 or 220 mm of water would be required for evapotranspiration, respectively, according to the equation listed above. However, since even in the experimental farm,

# **Table 9.4.** Budget of soil organic carbon in the period of April 10to October 3, 2000, in the experimental field of Shortandy.

| Site | Cummulative CO <sub>2</sub><br>emission from Apr. 10 | Crop yield   | Plant residue            | Budget of SOM            |
|------|--|--|--------------------------|--------------------------|
|      | to Oct. 3 (Mg C ha <sup>-1</sup> )                   | (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> )   | (Mg C ha <sup>-1</sup> ) | (Mg C ha <sup>-1</sup> ) |
| F0-C | 2.92   | the state of the s |                          | -2.92                    |
| 00-C | 3.19   | 3.20 (0.19)  | 4.46 (0.27)              | 1.27                     |
| F1-C | 2.52   | 1.86 (0.07)  | 2.28 (0.15)              | -0.24                    |
| 01-C | 2.76   | 1.36 (0.12)  | 1.60 (0.08)              | -1.16                    |
| F4-C | 3.06   | 2.03 (0.03)  | 2.61 (0.04)              | -0.45                    |

\* Parrensis denotes standard error.

125

in which land and water management was ideally practiced, the maximum value of evapotranspiration was 259 mm under intensive snow management in 1999/2000 (Funakawa et al., 2004), it would be very difficult for individual farmers to secure 220 to 270 mm of available water for wheat production. In addition, burning of cereal husks in springtime and/or cattle grazing, which were sometimes actually practiced in farmers' fields, would further reduce the crop residue input into soils. Since the amount of potentially mineralizable carbon of the surface 15-cm soils in our field, which was determined by application of the first order kinetic model for the dataset of the laboratory incubation experiment of fresh soils for 133 d under constant conditions (temperature and gravimetric soil moisture fixed to 30°C and 60%, respectively), was  $5.44 \pm$ 0.14 (S.E.) Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup> soil (n = 4) and was significantly higher than that in the nearest farm in Shortandy  $(2.72 \pm 0.13 \text{ (S.E.)})$ Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>, n = 70), both the C input and output as well as mineralizable pool of SOM in farmers' fields were expected to be lower than those in the present study. Although it is difficult to generalize the C budget in different years because of the large variations in crop growth due to the fluctuations of annual precipitation, the disadvantage of summer fallow is obvious from the viewpoint of SOM budget. The annual loss of SOM in the fallow plot (F0-C), 2.9 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>, was approximately equivalent to 4% of the total SOM stock in the plow layer (30 cm) (70 to 80 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>).

To reduce further loss of SOM, at least evenly extensive use of summer fallow should be reconsidered. Intensive snow management would be an alternative approach to improve the soil moisture conditions at some topographical locations (Funakawa et al., 2004). Since the results of the present study were associated with unique condition, i.e. strictly managed experimental farm, it is still necessary to determine the actual relationship between the topographical characteristics and the possible water management or carbon dynamics. A general conclusion from this study, namely that the soil respiration was mostly controlled by the soil temperature while residue input was a function of moisture conditions, would give an insight into the development of an appropriate land use system in accordance to the topographical characteristics that would enable to obtain yields at a reasonable level and decrease the net C release at the same time.

#### References

Alvarez R, Santanatoglia OJ, Garcia R, 1995. Soil respiration and carbon inputs from crops in a wheat-soybean rotation under different tillage systems. *Soil Use Manage*. 11, 45-50.

- Anderson JPE, 1982. Soil Respiration. In Methods of Soil Analysis. Part 2. Chemical and Microbiological Properties. 2nd Edition. Page, A.L., Miller, R.H., and Keeney, D.R. (Eds.), Madison, Wisconsin, USA, pp. 831-871.
- Brookes PC, Landman A, Pruden G, Jenkinson DS, 1985,
  Chloroform fumigation and the release of soil nitrogen:
  A rapid direct extraction method to measure microbial biomass nitrogen in soil. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 17, 837-842.
- Buyanovsky GA, Kucera CL, Wagner GH, 1987. Comparative analysis of carbon dynamics in native and cultivated ecosystems. *Ecology* 68, 2023-2031.
- Farahani HJ, Peterson GA, Westfall DG, Sherrod LA, Ahuja LR, 1998. Soil water storage in dryland cropping systems: The significance of cropping intensification. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 62, 984-991.
- Funakawa S, Nakamura I, Akshalov K, Kosaki T, 2004. Water dynamics in soil-plant systems under grain farming in northern Kazakhstan. *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 50, 1219-1227.
- Gossen E, 1998. Agrolandscape agriculture and forestry management as the basis of sustainable grain production in the steppes of Eurasia. *In* Spring Wheat in Kazakstan: Current Status and Future Directions; Proceedings of the Kazakstan-CIMMYT Conference, 1997, Shortandy, Akmola, Kazakstan, p. 44-48.

GUGK, 1982. Atlas Kazakhskoi SSR TOM1, pp.81 (in Russian).

- Karbozova-Saljnikov E, Funakawa S, Akhmetov K, Kosaki T, 2004. Soil organic matter status of Chernozem soil in North Kazakhstan: effects of summer fallow. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 36, 1373-1381.
- Kudeyarov VN, Kurganova IN, 1998. Carbon dioxide emissions and net primary production of Russian terrestrial ecosystems. *Biol. Fertil. Soils* 27, 246-250.
- Medvedev ZA, 1987. Soviet agriculture. W.W. Norton & Company, New York/ London. pp.464.
- Mikhailova EA, Bryant RB, Vaasenev II, Schwager SJ, Post CJ, 2000. Cultivation effects on soil organic carbon and nitrogen contents at depth in the Russian Chernozem. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 64, 738-745.
- Morgounov A, Zuidema L, 2001. The legacy of the Soviet agricultural research system for the Republics of central Asia and the Caucasus. ISNAR Research Report, 20, pp.52.

Paustian K, Andren O, Janzen HH, Lal R, Smith P, Tian G,

Tiessen H, Van Noordwijk M, Woomer PL, 1997. Agricultural soils as a sink to mitigate  $CO_2$  emissions. Soil Use Manage. 13, 230-244.

- Shegebaev OS, 1998. Scientific support for spring wheat production in Kazakhstan. *In* Spring Wheat in Kazakhstan: Current Status and Future Directions; Proceedings of the Kazakhstan-CIMMYT Conference, 1997. Shortandy, Akmola, Kazakhstan, p.24-29.
- Srivastava J, Meyer E, 1998. Is conservation tillage a viable option in the CIS? World Bank Report, pp.31.
- SPSS, 1998. SYSTAT 8.0. Statistics. SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL. pp.1086.
- Vance ED, Brookes PC, Jenkinson DS, 1987. An extraction method for measuring soil microbial biomass C. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 19, 703-707.

 LR, 1998. Soit water nonge in tryland höpping synthic The significance of cropping intensification. Soit Sci 9, 2008; Red F. R. Margay, and a segund nodes: Los.
 Fursiewa S, Nakanana L, AtshaloV C, Kökköl T, 2009; Water O'Statishiki T, and Qiadr Synthic Vinter (Balin Hilling, 1)
 The data Rissing States States (Error 1)
 The data Rissing States States (Error 1)
 The data Rissing States (Error 1)
 The Rissing States (Error 1)

OUGIC 1982. Adas Kazakhskal SSR TOMI, pp.81 (in Russian)
 Karbozova-Saljinkov E, Punskawa S, Akimunov K, Kosaki T,
 2004. Soli organic instance status of Chermozara soli in
 2004. Soli organic instance status of Chermozara soli in
 2004. Soli organic instance status of Chermozara soli in
 2004. Soli organic instance status of Chermozara soli in

Participante and a second s

## Chapter 10

# Water dynamics in soil-plant systems under grain farming in northern Kazakhstan Shinya Funakawa, Iwao Nakamura and Kanat Akshalov

#### 10.1. Background

Since the 1950s when Kazakhstan was ruled by the former Soviet Union, large-scale grain farming has been developed in the steppe region of northern Kazakhstan. Approximately  $11 \times 10^6$  ha of land covered with Chernozem soil (mostly Typic Haplustolls or Typic Calciustolls) are planted with spring wheat (*Triticum aestivum* L.). This area is strongly affected by the continental climate, being typically cold and dry. Because of such extremely dry conditions for wheat growth, the average grain yield was generally as low as 1.0 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> (during the period of 1986-90 for whole Kazakhstan) (Gossen, 1998) and water management is one of the major concerns for sustainable production. Main water management practices here include 1) snow management, which is conducted mainly in February, in order to accumulate additional snowfall by making parallel snow-rows at certain intervals (see Fig. 10.1a), 2) summer fallow to store rainfall water for the next cropping (Fig. 10.1b), and 3) subsoil cutting (conservation tillage) in autumn to reduce the loss of water through evaporation by decreasing capillary rise (Fig. 10.1c) (Shegebaev, 1998). Among them, summer fallow is usually practiced in the rotation systems once in five years in order to store moisture in soils, to decrease weed hazard, and to accumulate mineral nitrogen through mineralization of soil organic matter. Surface soils under fallow are usually mechanically harrowed several times to keep the land bare and to minimize evapotranspiration during the cropping season. This practice is also commonly applied in the steppe area of North America, in which the annual precipitation is below 500 mm (e.g. Farahani et al., 1998). The sustainability







**Figure 10.1.** a) Snow management in mid-winter for accumulation of additional snowfall by making parallel snowrows at certain intervals (February 1, 1998).

b) Landscape of cropped field after harvest (left) and adjacent fallow field (right) (April 13, 2000). In the cropped field, plant residues were left standing in order to accumulate snowfall as much as possible. In the fallow field, on the contrary, almost no plant residues remained were incorporated into soil.

c) Attachment for conservation tillage (subsoil cutting) (replica in the exhibition room of the Center).

one of the most controversial subjects because the very low water storage efficiency or possible effect on the acceleration of decomposition of soil organic matter through repeated disturbance of soils (Janzen, 1987; Mikhailova et al., 2000; Karbozova-Saljnikov et al., 2004). The objectives of the present study were to compare water budgets in fallow and cropped fields and to specify the conditions under which a particular type of water management is more effective.

#### 10.2. Study methods

This experiment was conducted over a period of two years from autumn, 1998 to autumn, 2000 at the experimental farm of Barayev Kazakh Research and Production Center of Grain Farming, Shortandy, northern Kazakhstan (51°35'N, 71°03'E). According to the long-term meteorological monitoring at the Center, the mean annual temperature was 1.6°C and the mean annual precipitation was 323 mm (Table 10.1). The soil characteristics are briefly described below; pH determined in water was neutral to slightly alkaline, usually ranging from 7.5 to 9, texture was typically clayey with more than 40% of clay, organic carbon content ranged between 20 and 25 g kg<sup>-1</sup> in the plow layer (surface 30 cm), carbonates were detected near the soil surface, and the depth of the layer with organic matter accumulation was approximately 50 cm. According to the USDA soil classification system (Soil Survey Staff 1999), the soils are classified into Typic Haplustolls, which corresponds to the Southern Chernozem soils in the classification system of the former Soviet Union.

of such management including summer fallow is, however, For the present study, five plots in 1998-1999 and seven plots in 1999-2000, respectively, were established in the experimental farm. These plots were included in an experimental block in which long-term experiments had been conducted since 1983 for improving farming technology. The size of each plot was  $6 \text{ m} \times 60 \text{ m}$  and the plots were managed under different farming methods. Crop species and field management of the experimental plots for the present study are given in Table 10.2. They included plots with crop rotation at different stages as well as mechanical management at different intensities such as depth of main tillage or degree of snow capturing. The meteorological data recorded during the experiments are presented in Table 10.1 with long-term data collected at the Center. While the precipitation during the winter time (January to April) and cropping period (May to August) in 1999 and 2000 was almost similar to the longterm averaged data, the precipitation after the harvest season (September to December) in 1998 and 1999 was lower than the average.

> In these 12 plots, soil samples were collected in duplicate from every 15 cm depth up to 90 cm by augering on September 16, 1998 and thereafter at 10 to 20-day intervals throughout the cropping seasons from April to September 1999 and 2000. Gravimetric moisture content of the soil samples was determined by oven-drying and converted to a volumetric basis, based on the bulk density determined for each layer in advance. The bulk density ranged mostly from 1.1 to 1.3 g cm<sup>-3</sup> in the layers with organic matter accumulation up to the 50 cm depth and from 1.3 to 1.5 g cm<sup>-3</sup> below the 50 cm depth. Daily rainfall was recorded at the Center. To calculate the

|         | Monthly p<br>(mm) | recipitation |       |           | Mean mon<br>(°C) |       |       |           |
|---------|-------------------|--------------|-------|-----------|------------------|-------|-------|-----------|
|         | 1998              | 1999         | 2000  | 1936-2000 | 1998             | 1999  | 2000  | 1936-2000 |
| Jan     | 4.4               | 20.5         | 21.3  | 16.5      | -20.7            | -13.2 | -15.2 | -16.9     |
| Feb     | 27.1              | 10.5         | 20.8  | 13.1      | -14.6            | -11.4 | -11.4 | -16.8     |
| Mar     | 1.4               | 14.8         | 10.9  | 13.0      | -9.8             | -17.0 | -8.3  | -10.5     |
| Apr     | 19.2              | 33.2         | 11.3  | 20.2      | -3.3             | 3.5   | 7.7   | 3.2       |
| May     | 41.4              | 32.4         | 64.1  | 32.8      | 12.2             | 14.1  | 10.6  | 12.3      |
| Jun     | 24.9              | 72.4         | 60.9  | 38.4      | 21.0             | 14.0  | 19.4  | 18.3      |
| Jul     | 86.1              | 41.5         | 35.0  | 56.6      | 23.0             | 20.5  | 20.2  | 20.0      |
| Aug     | 6.3               | 4.6          | 21.5  | 40.1      | 20.9             | 19.3  | 18.4  | 17.3      |
| Sep     | 4.0               | 23.2         | 31.4  | 25.3      | 10.5             | 14.3  | 10.5  | 11.2      |
| Oct     | 14.7              | 7.9          | 27.4  | 28.0      | 4.5              | 6.6   | 0.0   | 2.7       |
| Nov     | 12.0              | 30.4         | 22.3  | 20.2      | -11.2            | -9.8  | -11.8 | -7.8      |
| Dec     | 13.3              | 4.2          | 34.7  | 19.2      | -10.8            | -10.0 | -11.1 | -14.1     |
| Jan-Apr | 52.1              | 79.0         | 64.3  | 62.8      | -12.1            | -9.5  | -6.8  | -10.3     |
| May-Aug | 158.7             | 150.9        | 181.5 | 167.9     | 19.3             | 17.0  | .17.2 | 17.0      |
| Sep-Dec | 44.0              | 65.7         | 115.8 | 92.7      | -1.7             | 0.3   | -3.1  | -2.0      |
| Total   | 254.8             | 295.6        | 361.6 | 323.3     | 1.8              | 2.6   | 2.4   | 1.6       |

Table 10.1. Climatic conditions in Shortandy during the experiments
water supply derived from thawing, maximum depths of snow coverage and snow density were measured on April 2, 1999 and March 17, 2000, except for Plot 11 and Plot 12. In the representative plots, including both the fallow and cropped plots in the preceding year, fluctuations of the soil temperature during springtime were recorded using dataloggers (CR-10X, Campbell Scientific, Inc). During the cropping period, plant biomass was measured several times in a 1 m<sup>2</sup> subplot in triplicate. Grain yield was also measured at the time of harvest.

| Tal | ble 1 | 0.2. | Des | cript | ion of | study | plots. |
|-----|-------|------|-----|-------|--------|-------|--------|
|     |       |      |     |       |        |       |        |

| Plot<br>No. | Plot | Crop rotation<br>system <sup>1) 2)</sup> | Depth of<br>main tillage<br>in autumn<br>(cm) | Maxmum<br>depth of<br>snow coverage<br>(cm) | Remareks     |
|-------------|------|--|---|---|--------------|
| 1998-       | 1999 |  |   |   |              |
| 1           | F0-C | <b>F</b> -w-w-в-w                        | 20-25   | 30  | Fallow       |
| 2           | F1-S | F-W-w-в-w                                |   |   | After fallow |
| 3           | F1-C | F-W-w-в-w                                | 20-25   | 30  | After fallow |
| 4           | F1-I | F-W-w-в-w                                | 25-27   | 45-50                                       | After fallow |
| 5           | 01-I | о- <b>W</b> -w-в-w                       | 25-27   | 45-50                                       |              |
| 1999-       | 2000 |  |   |   |              |
| 6           | F0-C | <b>F</b> -w-w-в-w                        | 20-25   | 30  | Fallow       |
| 7           | 00-C | О-w-w-в-w                                | 20-25   | 30  |              |
| 8           | F1-C | F-W-w-в-w                                | 20-25   | 30  | After fallow |
| 9           | 01-C | о- <b>W</b> -พ-в-w                       | 20-25   | 30  |              |
| 10          | F4-C | F-W-W-B-W                                | 20-25   | 30  |              |
| 11          | CW-I | W-w-w-w                                  | 25-27   | 45-50                                       |              |
| 12          | P1-I | р- <b>W</b> -w-в-w                       | 25-27   | 45-50                                       |              |

1) F: fallow, W: wheat, B: barley, O: oat, P: chick pea 2) Bolding letter shows cropping stage of each plot.

### 10.3. Water dynamics in the pre-cropping seasons of 1998/ 1999 and 1999/2000 under different land use stages and types of field management

The soil profiles here displayed a layer with gypsum accumulation at around 1 m depth with a drastic increase in the amounts of soluble salts below 1 m, suggesting that the water movement was almost equilibrated around that depth. Based on the assumption that the water budget was balanced at the depth of 90 cm, we calculated the amount of evapotranspiration as the difference between precipitation and soil moisture increment in a given period. Downward or upward movement of water beyond this depth may, therefore, result in possible error by over- or under-estimation of evapotranspiration.

Figure 10.2 shows the dynamics of the soil moisture content and cumulative precipitation, including water derived from thawing and cumulative evapotranspiration estimated throughout both the pre-cropping and cropping phases. Table 10.3 summarizes the water budget during the pre-cropping seasons of 1998/1999 and of 1999/2000. According to Table 10.3-1, total water contents up to 90 cm depth (*a*) were 295 and 297 mm in Plot 3 and Plot 4 on September 16, 1998, respectively. These plots had been laid fallow with plowing conducted several times during the preceding cropping season in 1998, and hence they had accumulated higher amounts of water than the cropped fields, Plot 1 (144)

| Table 10.3.1. Water balance | during the pro- | e-cropping season | of 1999 (from S | ep. 1998 to Apr. 1999). |
|-----------------------------|-----------------|-------------------|-----------------|-------------------------|
|                             | U . I           |                   |                 |                         |

| Plot<br>No. | Plot          | Soil moisture in 0-90<br>cm on Sep. 16<br>(mm) | <pre>†Accumulation of<br/>snow on Apr. 2<br/>(mm)</pre> | Soil moisture in 0-90<br>cm on May 11<br>(mm) | Increment of soil<br>moisture during<br>thawing (mm) | Loss of water<br>during thawing<br>(mm) | Water capturing<br>efficiency<br>(%) | Remarks      |
|-------------|---------------|--|---|---|--|---|--------------------------------------|--------------|
|             | The Core Core | a  | b   | C   | d=(c-a)  | (b+†74.9)-d                             | d/(b+†74.9)                          | n kanisanin  |
| 1           | F0-C          | 144.1 (1916)                                   | 116.7   | 217.8   | 73.7   | 117.9                                   | 38.5                                 | Fallow       |
| 2           | F1-S          | 218.2  | 102.7   | 206.2   | -12.0  | 189.6                                   | -6.8                                 | After fallow |
| 3           | F1-C          | 294.6  | 150.7   | 254.2   | -40.4 ·  | 266.0                                   | -17.9                                | After fallow |
| 4           | F1-I          | 296.5  | 234.2   | 257.6   | -38.8  | 347.9                                   | -12.6                                | After fallow |
| 5           | 01-I          | 244.3  | 234.2   | 299.2   | 54.9   | 254.2                                   | 17.8                                 |              |

<sup>†</sup>During the period of Sep. 16 to May 10, 74.9 mm of rainfall and 70.6 mm of snowfall were recorded. It is assumed that all the rainfall was directly supplied to the soil, whereas all the snowfall had been accumulated on Apr. 2 on the soil surface.

r (232 mm) han his dropped plots (Plet 6: 1/4 mm, Plot 2.) 🦢 namely sweping man 🕫 mm (Plot 2) to 74 mm (Plot 2) may e

|            | 수가는 것 같이 잘 드루는 것 수 것 수 많아? | 지수는 것이 같아요. 그 사람은 것 같은 것 같은 것 같은 것 것 같은 것 같은 것 같은 것 같이 | 1. 18 State 2.       | 그는 눈도 못 한 말을 못 한 것 같 것 같 것 같 것 같 것 같 것 같 것 같 것 같 것 같 것 | 사람들이 집 것 다양감 지신것 좋겠어? 그는 그는 것 같아? |
|------------|----------------------------|--|----------------------|--|-----------------------------------|
| Table 10   | 2 7 Watan h                | alongo duning the neg  | momming appage of 7  | 000 (from Con 1  | $000 \pm 1000$                    |
| I adre i u | J.J.Z. Waler D             | alance during the bre-   | crooding season of Z | 000 (mom sec. )  | 999 to War. 2000 L                |

| Plot<br>No. | Plot | Soil moisture in 0-90<br>cm on Nov. 11<br>(mm) | †Accumulation of<br>snow on Mar. 17<br>(mm) | Soil moisture in 0-90<br>cm on Apr. 25<br>(mm) | Increment of soil<br>moisture during<br>thawing (mm) | Loss of water<br>during thawing<br>(mm) | Water capturing<br>efficiency<br>(%) | Remarks      |
|-------------|------|--|---|--|--|---|--------------------------------------|--------------|
|             |      | 5  | b   | C  | d=(c-a)  | (b+†10.2)-d                             | <i>d</i> /( <i>b</i> +†10.2)         |              |
| 6           | F0-C | 174.3  | 165.5                                       | 221.1  | 46.8   | 128.9                                   | 26.6                                 | Fallow       |
| 7           | 00-C | 175.4  | 165.5                                       | 246.2  | 70.9   | 104.8                                   | 40.3                                 |              |
| 8           | F1-C | 232.1  | 166.3                                       | 225.9  | -6.2   | 182.7                                   | -3.5                                 | After fallow |
| 9           | 01-C | 170.7  | 166.3                                       | 241.9  | 71.2   | 105.3                                   | 40.3                                 |              |
| 10          | F4-C | 170.2  | 191.6                                       | 253.9  | 83.7   | 118.2                                   | 41.5                                 |              |

†During the period of Nov. 11 to Apr. 24, 10.2 mm of rainfall and 86.9 mm of snowfall were recorded.

It is assumed that all the rainfall was directly supplied to the soil, whereas all the snowfall had been accumulated on Apr. 2 on the soil surface.



**Figure 10.2.1.** Dynamics of soil moisture and cumulative precipitation, including water derived from thawing and estimated cumulative evapotranspiration. \*For Plot 11, the amount of accumulated snow was estimated from the values in the plots with the same level of snow management (Plots 4 and 5 in 1999). \*\*For Plots 11 and 12, the amount of moisture content in autumn, 1999 was estimated based on the average values determined in autumn, 1999 for cropped plots, i.e. Plots 2, 3, 4, and 5. \*\*\*For Plots 1 and 6, negligible amounts of weed biomass were detected.

mm) and Plot 5 (244 mm). Since Plot 2 had also been laid fallow but had been more extensively managed (Table 10.2), the soil did not accumulate an appreciable amount of water. A similar trend was also observed for the plots in 1999/2000 (Table 10.3-2), in which the fallow plot in the preceding summer (Plot 8) had accumulated appreciably higher amounts of soil water (232 mm) than the cropped plots (Plot 6: 174 mm, Plot 7: 175 mm, Plot 9: 171 mm, and Plot 10: 170 mm).

During the wintertime, 70.6 mm and 86.9 mm of snowfall were recorded in 1998/1999 and 1999/2000, respectively. From late January to early February, during which the snow depth reached 20 to 30 cm, snow management was carried out at different intensities (i.e. different heights of snow-rows) in order to accumulate the snow-cover by making parallel snowrows at certain intervals (Fig. 10.1a). Total amount of snowcover, which was expected to be added to the soils at the time of thawing in the springtime, ranged from 102 to 234 mm of water on April 2, 1999 and March 17, 2000 (*b* in Table 10.3).

After thawing, soils accumulated 206 to 299 mm of water in 1999 and 221 to 254 mm of water in 2000, respectively (*c* in Table 10.5.3). The increase in the soil water content since autumn of the preceding year was, however, quite variable, namely ranging from -40 mm (Plot 3) to 74 mm (Plot 1) in 1999 and -6 mm (Plot 8) to 84 mm (Plot 10) in 2000, respectively (*d* in Table 10.3), and the difference between the highest and lowest water catchment amounted to 114 mm in 1999 and 90 mm in 2000, respectively. In spite of snow management during winter, the amount of soil water decreased in some cases. Figure 10.3 shows that, during thawing, the increment of soil moisture decreased (Fig. 10.3a) and the loss of water increased (Fig. 10.3b), as the soil moisture storage in the preceding autumn increased.



**Figure 10.2.2.** Dynamics of soil moisture and cumulative precipitation, including water derived from thawing and estimated cumulative evapotranspiration. \*For Plot 11, the amount of accumulated snow was estimated from the values in the plots with the same level of snow management (Plots 4 and 5 in 1999). \*\*For Plots 11 and 12, the amount of moisture content in autumn, 1999 was estimated based on the average values determined in autumn, 1999 for cropped plots, i.e. Plots 2, 3, 4, and 5. \*\*\*For Plots 1 and 6, negligible amounts of weed biomass were detected.



Figure 10.3. Relationships between soil moisture content in autumn and a) increment of soil moisture or b) loss of water by evaporation and/or surface runoff during thawing. Accumulation of snow:  $\bigcirc$  100-150 mm,  $\triangle$  150-200 mm, and  $\bigcirc$  >200 mm, respectively.

The fluctuations of the soil temperature during thawing were considered to reveal the reasons why in some cases the soils could not accumulate water (Fig. 10.4). The soils after the summer fallow (Plot 3 in 1998/1999 and Plot 8 in 1999/2000), which had accumulated larger amounts of water than the cropped soils, had been frozen over a longer period of time than the others at the time of thawing. In 1999, the soil temperature exceeded 0°C on April 13 to 14 at the 15-cm depth in both Plot 1 (after cropping) and Plot 3 (after fallow). The soil temperature at the 45-cm depth in Plot 3, however, remained below 0°C until April 28, whereas that of Plot 1 had already increased to above 0°C on April 17. The soil temperature fluctuations at the 75-cm depth showed a similar trend to those at 45 cm, that is, the soil temperature in Plot 3 was still below 0°C on April 30, when the soil temperature in Plot 1 started to rise. This delay in thawing of soil frost was again observed in 1999/2000 for Plot 8, where the soil temperature remained below 0°C at the 45-cm depth for about 10 days after the temperature of the other plots (Plots 6, 7, 9, and 10) had increased to above 0°C around April 10. Higher



moisture content in the frozen soil layer was considered to be the main cause for such a delay in thawing, resulting in a slower water percolation from the soil surface or overlying layers of the profile. The water from thawing, then, remained in/upon the surface layers and was rapidly lost through evaporation and/or possibly surface runoff. The loss of water amounted to 105 to 348 mm at the time of thawing. Thus the accumulation of larger amounts of soil water in autumn was considered to occasionally hinder water percolation at the next thawing stage and to decrease the water-capturing efficiency of snow management (Table 10.3). According to the record in the autumn of 1999 (data not shown), the soil temperature fell below 0°C in early November at the 15-cm depth, in late November at the 45-cm depth, and in mid-December at the 75-cm depth, respectively. Since the snow cover on the soil surface had been still limited during December due to the low precipitation and strong wind, soil frost should have been very severe in the plots in the present study. Similar behavior of frost soils upon thawing was also observed by Johnsson and Lundin (1991) and Hardy et al. (2001) in northern USA. Such a water loss can occur quite extensively in the northern steppe regions of inner continents.

### 10.4. Water dynamics in the cropping seasons of 1999 and 2000 under different land use stages and types of field management in the used a guodit A. boilton add actual

Figure 10.2 shows the dynamics of the soil moisture content, cumulative precipitation including water derived from thawing, and cumulative evapotranspiration estimated for the study plots. After the end of thawing in April, the loss of soil moisture was not extensive during May, as evidenced by the low evapotranspiration estimated for this period. Subsoil cutting was, therefore, considered to be effective to decrease evaporation loss during this period, though comparable data for non-treated soils were not available. In late May, wheat or oat crops were seeded in the plots except for the fallow plots (Plots 1 and 6). The evapotranspiration then increased, and the soil became drier during June and/or July. Total rainfall during the cropping periods of 1999 and 2000 was 142 mm and 122 mm, respectively.

Table 10.4 summarizes the water budget during the cropping seasons of 1999 and 2000 as well as the yield data. Compared to the soil moisture content at the time of seeding in May, that at harvest time in September drastically decreased except for the fallow plots (Plots 1 and 6). The evapotranspiration values in the cropped plots were estimated to range between 194 and 259 mm (d in Table 10.4), being equivalent to 1.67 and 2.31 mm as daily average, approximately 30 and 90 mm more water than the cropped

| Plot<br>No. | Plot                  | Soil moisture in 0-<br>cm on May 21<br>(mm) | 90 Soil moisture in 0-90<br>cm on Sep. 14<br>(mm) | Apparent<br>decrease of soil<br>moisture (mm) | Evapo-<br>transpiration (ET)<br>(mm)  | Relative contribution<br>of initial soil moisture<br>to ET (%) ( | Yield<br>Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> | Water use<br>efficiency<br>(kg ha <sup>-1</sup> mm <sup>-1</sup> ) | Remarks      |
|-------------|-----------------------|---|---|---|---------------------------------------|--|------------------------------|--|--------------|
|             | anna a ci<br>Marcheol | <i>a</i>                                    | <b>b</b>  | <i>c=a-b</i>                                  | <i>d</i> =†141.7+ <i>a</i> - <i>b</i> | c/d*100  | е                            | e/d*1000   |              |
| 1           | F0-C                  | 225.7                                       | 212.3   | 13.3  | 155.0                                 | 8.6  | -                            |  | Fallow       |
| 2           | F1-S                  | 218.2                                       | 165.8   | 52.4  | 194.1                                 | 27.0   | 1.0                          | 5.3  | After fallow |
| 3           | F1-C                  | 238.7                                       | 167.4   | 71.3  | 213.0                                 | 33.5   | 1.4                          | 6.8  | After fallow |
| 4           | F1-I                  | 254.0                                       | 162.6   | 91.4  | 233.1                                 | 39.2   | 2.0                          | 8.5  | After fallow |
| 5           | 01-I                  | 293.5                                       | 175.9   | 117.6   | 259.3                                 | 45.4   | 2.1                          | 8.0  |              |

| · • • |      | · · · |     | XXX . | 4. 1 | 1     |        | 14 1 2 | 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1. 1 |           | 100     | ٦O |
|-------|------|-------|-----|-------|------|-------|--------|--------|--|-----------|---------|----|
| ahl   | e 11 | 14    | Ŀ., | Water | ha   | lance | durino | the    | cronning                                 | season in | 1 1 9 5 | ノフ |

\*Rainfall during May 21 - Sep. 13, 1999: 141.7 mm

Table 10.4.2. Water balance during the cropping season in 2000.

| Plot<br>No. | Plot             | Soil moisture in 0-90<br>cm on May 31<br>(mm) | Soil moisture in 0-90<br>cm on Sep. 18<br>(mm) | Apparent<br>decrease of soil<br>moisture (mm) | Evapo-<br>transpiration (ET)<br>(mm)  | Relative contribution<br>of initial soil moistunt<br>to ET (%) | on Yield<br>ire<br>(Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> | Water use<br>efficiency<br>(kg ha <sup>-1</sup> mm <sup>-1</sup> | Remarks      |
|-------------|------------------|---|--|---|---------------------------------------|--|---|--|--------------|
|             | Net in the later | <b>a</b>                                      | b  | c=a-b   | <i>d</i> =†121.6+ <i>a</i> - <i>b</i> | c/d*100  | е                                       | e/d*1000   |              |
| 6           | F0-C             | 264.7   | 251.1  | 13.6  | 135,2                                 | 10.1   |   | -  | Fallow       |
| 7           | 00-C             | 295.5   | 162.7  | 132.8   | 254.4                                 | 52.2   | *3.2                                    | 12.6   |              |
| 8           | F1-C             | 268.6   | 162.8  | 105.9   | 227.5                                 | 46.5   | 1.4                                     | 6.0  | After fallow |
| 9           | 01-C             | 284.5   | 164.5  | 120.0   | 241.6                                 | 49.7   | 1.9                                     | 7.7  |              |
| 10          | F4-C             | 277.0   | 163.4  | 113.6   | 235.2                                 | 48.3   | 2.0                                     | 8.6  |              |
| 11          | CW-I             | 300.4   | 167.9  | 132.5   | 254.1                                 | 52.2   | 2.3                                     | 9.0  |              |
| 12          | P1-I             | 271.1   | 165.7  | 105.4   | 227.0                                 | 46.4   | 1.7                                     | 7.5  |              |

\*Rainfall during May 31 - Sep. 18, 2000: 121.6 mm

\*Yield of oat

respectively. These values were considered to correspond to the upper limit of the amount of water that crops could use during the period. Although the yield data recorded here was somewhat higher than those reported in farmers' fields in whole Kazakhstan, i.e. 1.00 Mg ha-1 during 1986-90 and 0.65 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> during 1994-1996 after the financial crisis, respectively (Gossen 1998), presumably because of better management in the experimental field, a positive correlation between the evapotranspiration and the biomass or yield of wheat at the harvest time was obvious, indicating that crop production here was mostly determined by the amount of available water. The yield increase for every 1 mm of water supply (i.e. estimated evapotranspiration) in the present study, which was calculated to be 0.017 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> (Fig. 10.5a), was similar to the reported values for winter cereals, i.e. 0.015 or 0.019 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> (Leggett 1986; Cook and Veseth 1991). The relative contribution of the initial soil moisture to whole evapotranspiration was calculated to range from 27 to 52%. Since the amount of precipitation in both cropping periods of 1999 and 2000 was not appreciably different, there was also a positive correlation between the soil moisture content just before seeding and crop yield or biomass (Fig. 10.5b).

According to Fig. 10.2 and Table 10.4, the relative benefit of summer fallow for the accumulation of soil moisture was obvious, because the fallow plots (Plots 1 and 6) retained approximately 50 and 90 mm more water than the cropped plots at harvest time (*b* in Table 10.4), respectively. But it was remarkable that, even under fallow, 155 and 135 mm of water were already lost through evaporation in Plots 1 and 6, respectively, (*d* in Table 10.4), which exceeded the precipitation during that period (142 and 122 mm). The difference in the evapotranspiration indicated that the fallow

plots accumulated 39 to 104 mm more water in 1999 and 100 to 119 mm in 2000 than the cropped plots, respectively (d in Table 10.4). These values were almost comparable to the difference in moisture acquisition upon thawing under different conditions, that is, 114 mm in 1999 and 90 mm in 2000, respectively, which was considerably affected by the soil moisture content in the preceding autumn.

#### **10.5.** Conclusion

Comparison of the water budgets during the pre-cropping and cropping seasons in the plots under fallow and cropping revealed that both summer fallow and snow management could increase the soil moisture content up to approximately 100 mm, but that the benefit of snow management would be occasionally canceled by the effect of the summer fallow. since the moisture increment in autumn could decrease the water-capturing efficiency in the next spring through severe soil frost. Taking into account the possibly negative effect of the summer fallow on enhanced decomposition of soil organic matter (e.g. Karbozova-Saljnikov et al., 2004; Funakawa et al., 2004), we recommend that snow management should be the main approach for capturing water in the studied plots rather than the summer fallow practice, at least from the viewpoint of water management. However, the possible benefit of snow management could largely vary in fields depending on the topographical characteristics, soil properties such as texture and/or organic matter contents, etc. At the same time, such an emphasis on snow treatment over the summer fallow practice would inevitably require the development of alternative technologies for N management and weed control that have been traditionally involved in the function of fallow. It is very important to determine



Figure 10.3. Relationships between soil moisture content in autumn and a) increment of soil moisture or b) loss of water by evaporation and/or surface runoff during thawing. Accumulation of snow:  $\bigcirc$  100-150 mm,  $\triangle$  150-200 mm, and  $\bigcirc$  >200 mm, respectively.

whether soil and/or topographical conditions are more effective for individual water-capturing management and also are more suitable from economic and environmental viewpoints, together with the possibility of developing an alternative technological package.

#### References

- Cook RJ, 1986. Wheat management systems in the Pacific Northwest. *Plant Dis.* 70, 894-898.
- Farahani HJ, Peterson GA, Westfall DG, Sherrod LA, Ahuja LR, 1998. Soil water storage in dryland cropping systems: The significance of cropping intensification. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 62, 984-991.
- Funakawa S, Nakamura I, Akshalov K, Kosaki T, 2004. Soil organic matter dynamics under grain farming in northern Kazakhstan. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr. 50, 1211-1218.
- Gossen E, 1998. Agrolandscape agriculture and forestry management as the basis of sustainable grain production in the steppes of Eurasia. *In* Spring Wheat in Kazakhstan: Current Status and Future Directions; Proceedings of the Kazakhstan-CIMMYT Conference, 1997. Shortandy, Akmola, Kazakhstan. p.44-48.
- Hardy JP, Groffman PM, Fitzhugh RD, Henry KS, Welman AT, Demers JD, Fahey TJ, Driscoll CT, Tierney GL, Nolan S, 2001. Snow depth manipulation and its influence on soil frost and water dynamics in a northern hardwood forest. *Biogeochem.* 56, 151-174.
- Janzen HH, 1987. Soil organic matter characteristics after long-term cropping to various spring wheat rotations. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 67, 845-856.
- Johnsson H, Lundin L-C, 1991. Surface runoff and soil water percolation as affected by snow and soil frost. *J. Hydrol.* 122,141-159.
- Karbozova-Saljnikov E, Funakawa S, Akhmetov K, Kosaki T, 2004. Soil organic matter status of Chernozem soil in North Kazakhstan: effects of summer fallow. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 36, 1373-1381.
- Leggett GE, 1959. Relationships between wheat yield, available moisture and available nitrogen in eastern Washington dry land areas. *Bulletin* No. 609, Washington Agricultural Experiment Station, Institute of Agricultural Sciences, Washington State University (cited from Fuentes JP, Flury M, Huggins DR, Betzdicek DF, 2003. Soil water and nitrogen dynamics in dryland cropping systems of Washington State, USA. *Soil and Tillage Research* 71, 33-47).

Mikhailova EA, Bryant RB, Vassenev II, Schwager SJ, Post

CJ, 2000. Cultivation effect on soil carbon and nitrogen contents at depth in the Russian Chernozem. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 64, 738-745.

- Shegebaev OS, 1998. Scientific support for spring wheat production in Kazakhstan. *In* Spring Wheat in Kazakhstan: Current Status and Future Directions, Proceedings of the Kazakhstan-CIMMYT Conference, 1997. Shortandy, Akmola, Kazakhstan. p.24-29.
- Soil Survey Staff, 1999. Soil Taxonomy, A Basic System of Soil Classification for Making and Interpreting Soil Surveys. Second Edition. U.S. Government Printing Office, Washington.

annalized y during the former Soviet Union are was accessed in annual of crop graduation. Molecular, an eleased yield was achieved as the explanated organic contexcomposition has been repertudiversatily (Sravanawa and level, 1986). For example, repetition of signal contextermonic on a reduction of up to SOV index organic contexates led to a reduction of up to SOV index organic contexates led to a reduction of up to SOV index organic contexands led to a reduction of up to SOV index organic contexates induced in the verse of culturation (Buyanawake in Cropen in the top 10 cm levers decreated in the renges of \$43% and 45-52%, respectively, daring the same 15-30 years (Molecularity (ropped States of Clippersons) bedget of soil querie maner states conventional acopping symmet bedget of soil in the top 10 cm levers decreated in the renges of states (Molecularities on 2000) or the overaal bedget of soil querie maner states conventional acopping symmet bedget (a), 50040). Also the amount of polaritate enderstation (doe depletion of soil degradic matter are secondershift does accepted of soil degradic matter are secondershift (doe depletion of soil degradic matter are s

### Chapter 11

## Spatial variability of organic matter dynamics in the semi-arid croplands of northern Kazakhstan: analysis on distribution patterns of organic matter-related properties of soils in agro-landscape using geostatistics

Junta Yanai, Azusa Mishima and Kanat Akshalov

#### 11.1. Background

Chernozems, derived from the Russian term "black soil", are typical soils mainly found in the mid-latitude steppe or prairie zone of Eurasia, North America with an abundant vegetation and high natural fertility (Boul et al., 1989). The soils cover 230 million ha in the world (ISSS Working Group RB, 1998) and approximately 8% of the area of the former Soviet Union (Gerasimov and Grazovskaya, 1964). These have been, therefore, one of the most important areas for food production and also for the sink of organic matter on a global scale.

In Kazakhstan, a country belonging to the former Soviet Union in central Asia, Chernozem soils cover 32.1×10<sup>6</sup> ha or 11.8% of the country territory (GUGK, 1982). Because of political reasons, the natural grass forb steppes of the area have disappeared over the last decades and have largely been replaced by arable land, mainly for the cultivation of spring wheat, due to Khrushchev's Virgin Lands Agricultural Program implemented from 1954 to 1960 (Medvedev, 1987). Accordingly, 26.5 ×10<sup>6</sup> (GUGK, 1982; Morgounov and Zuidema, 2001) or 24.6 ×106 (Gossen, 1998) of the Chernozem soils in Kazakhstan were converted to arable land and these areas are one of the main agricultural regions of Kazakhstan. Chernozem soils in northern Kazakhstan are also considered to store a substantial amount of organic matter, which functions as a huge source and sink of carbon dioxide. In this sense, Chernozem soils are one of the most important resources from both agricultural and environmental viewpoints (Paustian et al., 1997).

Even though these areas show high soil fertility, the climatic conditions are generally harsh, with an annual precipitation of about 300 mm. Accordingly, drought has become a major abiotic stress (Morgounov et al., 2001). A new cropping system with the following types of management was therefore introduced (Morgounov et al., 2001); 1) summer fallow to protect weeds, to capture the soil moisture and to accumulate nutrients due to the increased mineralization of organic matter by skipping cultivation for one year, 2) subsoil cutting to reduce evaporation by interrupting the capillary

flow of water from the subsoil and 3) snow management to decrease snow drifting and optimize the water regime of soils due to spatial redistribution and melting of snow (Shegebaev, 1998).

Introduction of this kind of technology uniformly and intensively during the former Soviet Union era was successful in terms of crop production. However, the increased yield was achieved at the expense of sustainability, as soil degradation or accelerated organic matter decomposition has been reported recently (Srivastava and Meyer, 1998). For example, transition of virgin soils to arable status led to a reduction of up to 50% in the organic matter content during the first years of cultivation (Buyanovsky et al., 1987), the contents of soil organic carbon and soil total nitrogen in the top 10 cm layers decreased in the ranges of 38-43% and 45-53%, respectively, during the past 25-30 years in the continuously cropped fields of Chernozem soils in Russia (Mikhailova et al., 2000) or the overall budget of soil organic matter under conventional cropping systems became slightly negative, which led to soil degradation (Funakawa et al., 2004a). Also the amount of potentially mineralizable carbon in soil was inversely proportional to the frequency of fallow, suggesting that a frequent fallow system would lead to the depletion of soil organic matter via accelerated mineralization (Karbozova-Saljinikov et al., 2004). This tendency was in contrast to the recent general requirement from the environmental viewpoint, according to which organic matter decomposition or CO<sub>2</sub> emission from soil should be reduced.

Furthermore, after the collapse of the USSR in 1991, the intensity of agricultural markedly decreased due to financial problems. The drastic changes in the socio-economic conditions resulted in a reduced use of fertilizers and herbicides and a lower dependency on agricultural machinery in agricultural management. As a consequence, the average yield of wheat also decreased after 1991 from 1.00 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> during the period of 1986-1990 to 0.65 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> during the period of 1994-1996 (Gossen, 1998). In this context, an alternative approach for the promotion of sustainable

agriculture is now urgently required, which would enable to harmonize agricultural production with environmental conservation.

Against this background, the current situation of organic matter dynamics in large-scale upland fields in northern Kazakhstan was investigated to develop a rational system of management for the promotion of sustainable agriculture in this region. The objectives of the current study were 1) to evaluate the carbon-related properties of soil and plant in relation to the topography and amount of available water, 2) to analyze their spatial variability using geostatistics and 3) to propose a rational system of management for the control of organic matter dynamics in upland fields.

#### 11.2. Materials and methods

Location of the study site: The present study was carried out in large-scale upland fields located near the Barayev Kazakh Research and Production Centre of Grain Farming in Shortandy, Akmolinsk Oblast, northern part of the Republic of Kazakhstan (Fig. 11.1). The latitude and longitude of the site were N51° 30-37' and E71° 08-17', respectively. The area was characterized by a continental climate with hot summers and cold winters and abrupt changes of temperature and rainfall. Mean annual precipitation was 323 mm with large variations among years, suggesting the existence of harsh conditions for crop growth. Average annual air temperature was 1.6°C. Average monthly temperature was below zero from November to March, causing frost damage that did not enable to cultivate winter wheat in this region. In addition, there were some risks of frost damage in April and May, and early frost in late August. The cultivation season was, therefore, fixed from the end of May to mid-September for about 110



70°E

days, during which the average temperature was 18.5°C.

Soil: Chernozem soils are characterized by a thick and black topsoil, a neutral pH, a large amount of humus and a high natural fertility. Chernozem soils are fine-grained and easily cultivated but also highly susceptible to wind erosion. As a result of the natural fertility, the areas covered with these soils are rated among the world best zones for growing wheat, sugar beets and other crops. The Chernozem soil of this site occurred in a relatively dry region, reflecting the relatively low precipitation. Accordingly, calcium carbonate was observed from the surface soil and a gypsum accumulation layer was found at the 110-120 cm depth. A preliminary study showed that the general properties of the surface soil in this area were as follows: pH (H<sub>2</sub>O), 7.9-8.1; electrical conductivity, 0.15-0.24 dS m<sup>-1</sup>; texture, light clay to silty clay; cation exchange capacity, 27.8 cmol, kg<sup>-1</sup>. The soil of the study site was, therefore, classified as Typic Haplustolls (Soil Survey Staff, 1998), Haplic Chernozem (FAO, ISRIC and ISSS, 1998) or Southern Chernozem based on the classification system of the former USSR.

Land use of the study site: The original vegetation of the study site was represented by grassland or a semiarid grassforb steppe dominated by *Stipa capillata, Stipa lessingiana, Agropyron cristatum, Kochia prostrata, Medicago falcata, Festuca valesiaca, Salvia stepposa, Artemisia marshalliana,* and *Artemisia glauca* (Johnson et al., 1999). Grasslands cover nearly one-fifth of the world's land surface or approximately  $2.4 \times 10^7$  km<sup>2</sup>. These ecosystems are large reservoirs of carbon globally, containing approximately 30% of global soil C stocks (Anderson, 1991; Eswaran et al., 1993) and the soil component is the main C reservoir in these ecosystems. Under Khrushchev's Virgin Lands Program, people were encouraged

> unis sense. Chernozem soils are one of the most in resenteess from both agricultural and environ devicents (Faustian et al., 1997).

Figure 11.1. Location of the study site.

to cultivate Kazakhstan's northern pastures to increase grain production, by the application of agricultural technology to produce crops on a large scale, including deep cultivation, snow management, and summer fallow to store soil moisture levels for use during the cropping season. However, the application of this technology, in particular repeated cultivation or soil disturbance during summer fallow uniformly and intensively, led to the acceleration of soil organic matter degradation (Karbozova-Saljinikov et al., 2004). After the collapse of the USSR in 1991, Kazakhstan's agriculture became much less intensive because of the lack of equipment, herbicides, fuel and labour. Tractors, harvesters and other items of farm equipment had been subjected to minimal maintenance. Due to limited investment, farm machinery was generally old and in poor condition. At present, most of the farms are managed without the use of fertilizers and herbicides. The land use of the study sites consisted mostly of arable land with the cultivation of spring wheat as major crop and barley and oats as minor crops. The other types of land use included fallow, grassland, and abandoned land. The crop rotation system at this study site consisted of a four-year rotation, i.e. fallow-wheat-wheatwheat/barley.

Soil and plant sampling and measurement of microtopography: The study field (14 km×5 km) was divided into 70 plots (1 km×1 km each), as shown in Fig. 11.2(A) and the organic matter dynamics was investigated at the center of each plot. Namely, soils were sampled to a depth of 90 cm at 15 cm intervals in June 2001, i.e. at the beginning of the growing season. Samples of surface soil (0-15 cm) were collected at three points within 1 m around the center of each plot using a hand auger, mixed and used as a soil sample. Subsoil samples (15-90 cm) were collected every 15 cm at the center of each plot using a hand auger. Plant sampling was carried out from late August to September 2001. From each plot, above- and belowground plants in 1 m×0.92 m quadrates were harvested at the planted sites. In addition to soil and plant sampling, the elevation of the center point of each plot was measured using a differential Global Positioning System (GPS) (Magellan ProMARK X) in May 2001 to investigate the micro-topography of the study field. Accordingly, it was found that the elevation ranged from 402 m to 437 m with an average value of 427 m. The central plateau showed the highest elevation and the north-facing slope and south-facing slope stretched very gently from the plateau, as shown in Fig. 11.2(B). Furthermore, the snow depth was measured at each sampling site in March 2002 to investigate the distribution of snow accumulation.

Analytical methods for soil and plant samples: For the overall soil samples (0-90 cm), the organic carbon content, total nitrogen content and C/N ratio were measured to investigate the organic matter status of the soils; the water content was measured to obtain an index of the amount of available water stored in the soil profile at the beginning of the growing season and the bulk density was calculated. For the surface soil samples (0-15 cm), the amount of potentially mineralizable carbon (PMC) was also measured. That is, the amount of soil organic carbon was measured by the Tyurin method; the total nitrogen content was measured by the dry combustion method (Sumika NC-800-13N); the soil water content and bulk density were determined by drying the soil samples at 105°C for 24 h. PMC was determined by the incubation of 15 g of fresh soil samples for 19 weeks, controlling the water content at 60% of the maximum waterholding capacity at 30°C. CO<sub>2</sub> emitted during the incubation period was repeatedly collected using an alkaline trap (10 mL





of 1 M NaOH) and the amount was measured by titrating with 0.1 M HCl. The amount of PMC was then calculated using a first order kinetic model, on the assumption that the rate of carbon mineralization was proportional to the amount of mineralizable carbon present with the following equation:  $PMC = Ct / (1 - e^{-kt})$ , where Ct is the amount of carbon mineralized in time t and k is the mineralization rate constant.

Plant samples were separated into ears, stems and leaves, dried at 70°C for 24 h and then weighed as plant biomass. For the ear samples, grains were threshed with a thresher and weighed to represent the yield. Total carbon and nitrogen contents were measured for the dried samples by the dry combustion method (Sumika NC-800-13N).

*Statistical analysis:* The mean, maximum and minimum values and the coefficient of variation of each property were calculated as descriptive statistics. Correlation analysis was also carried out for all the datasets to investigate their relationship. A statistical software SYSTAT 8.0 (SPSS Inc., 1998) was used for the analysis.

*Geostatistical analysis:* In this analysis, a semivariogram was first used to evaluate the spatial variability of the properties (i.e., to describe the average variances of pairs of points at a given distance apart) (Oliver, 1987; Webster and Oliver, 2001; Yanai et al., 2001). This mirrors the similarity of pairs separated by an equal distance. Often, it is found that the semivariance increases with the increasing distance between sampling points to a maximum (the sill), at a moderate distance (the range). Points closer together than the range are autocorrelated, whereas points further apart are not related to one another. The variation below the scale of investigation and/or due to experimental errors, the nugget variance, is determined as the ordinate intercept. In the analysis, two indices of spatial dependency were employed. One is the Q value [calculated as (sill-nugget)/sill], which indicates spatial structure or the degree of development of spatial dependence at the sampling scale, and the other is the range, which indicates the limit of spatial dependence. In the analysis, the semivariogram model with the smallest residual sum of squares was used for the estimation of the semivariogram parameters. Maps were computed subsequently using block kriging to evaluate the regional patterns of variation rather than local details. The geostatistical software, GS<sup>+</sup> Version 5.3 for Windows (Gamma Design Software), was used for the analysis (Robertson, 1998).

#### 11.3. General trend of organic matter dynamics

Table 11.1 shows the descriptive statistics of the field properties measured. The average content of soil organic carbon which was 25.6 g kg<sup>-1</sup> for the surface soil, decreased with depth until 6.1 g kg<sup>-1</sup> at the depth of 75-90 cm. Reflecting the trend of the organic matter content in soil, the bulk density increased with depth; 1.04, 1.21, 1.22, 1.32, 1.43 and 1.60 Mg m<sup>-3</sup> from 0-15 cm to 75-90 cm. Accordingly, the total amount of C stored in soil which was 39.8 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> for the surface soil, gradually decreased with depth, i.e. 37.0, 31.1, 26.7, 21.7 and 14.6 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> for 15-30, 30-45, 45-60, 60-75 and 75-90 cm, respectively. Even though there was a decreasing trend with depth, the subsoil also contained a considerable amount of C, which cannot be ignored from the environmental viewpoint, i.e. the total amount of organic C stored within the 90 cm depth was 170.9 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>, with a coefficient of variation of 17.4%. Potentially mineralizable C of the surface soil amounted to 2.7 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> or was equivalent to 6.8% of



di se ino 21 vievo katodian stave (na 1624) esterna letadi

**Figure 11.3.** Average C stock and flow of the soil-plant system at the study site (Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>). Mineralizable C indicates the potential C pool evaluated under optimal conditions for organic matter mineralization.

the amount of organic C, suggesting that a considerable part of the C in soil could be released as CO<sub>2</sub> under favourable conditions for organic matter decomposition. The coefficient of variation exceeded 40%, suggesting the existence of a higher variation compared to the total C stock (17.1%), presumably because the amount of potentially mineralizable C depends on both the amount of chemically mineralizable C and the microbiological activity for mineralization.

Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> was returned to the field as plant residues and 0.6 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> was removed as crop (ear). Average crop yield, calculated based on 54 data with crop cover, amounted to 1.38 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> on a dry weight basis, which was almost similar to the average crop yield in this area. It was also noted that the coefficients of variation of all the plant properties exceeded 40%, suggesting the existence of a large variation in the field. Based on these results, the average C stock and flow of this soil-plant system are presented in Fig. 11.3.

Plant biomass contained 1.8 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> of C, of which 1.2

| Field properties  | Mean         | Maximum  | Minimum         | CV (%)     |
|---|--------------|--|-----------------|------------|
| Soil  |              | and the second sec | n contrationes. | 1010 20500 |
| Organic carbon: 0-15cm (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )                    | 25.6         | 36.1   | 16.3            | 17.1       |
| Organic carbon: 15-30cm (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )                   | 20.4         | 31.1   | 6.3             | 21.6       |
| Organic carbon: 30-45cm (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )                   | 17.0         | 34.9   | 3.9             | 27.5       |
| Organic carbon: 45-60cm (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )                   | 13.5         | 21.5   | 4.3             | 27.5       |
| Organic carbon: 60-75cm (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )                   | 10.1         | 18.5   | 1.4             | 41.4       |
| Organic carbon: $75-90$ cm (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )                | 61           | 13.4   | 0.5             | 55.2       |
| Organic carbon: 0-15cm (Mg hg <sup>-1</sup> )                   | 30.8         | 65.1   | 22 7            | 19.4       |
| Organic carbon: 15 30cm (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> )                  | 37.0         | 56.0   | 11.7            | 21.0       |
| Organic carbon: 13-30cm (lvg na )                               | 37.0<br>21.1 | 50.9   | 11.2            | 21.0       |
| Organic carbon. 30-43 cm (Mg na )                               | 51.1         | 03.3   | 7.0             | 27.1       |
| Organic carbon: 45-60cm (Mg ha)                                 | 26.7         | 41.4   | 8.2             | 27.6       |
| Organic carbon: 60-75cm (Mg ha <sup>+</sup> )                   | 21.7         | 41.1   | 3.2             | 41.6       |
| Organic carbon: 75-90cm (Mg ha <sup>-+</sup> )                  | 14.6         | 32.2   | 1.2             | 55.2       |
| Organic carbon: 0-90cm (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> )                   | 170.9        | 250.3  | 108.1           | 17.4       |
| Potentially mineralizable carbon: 0-15cm (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> ) | 2.72         | 6.87   | 0.69            | 40.4       |
| Plant   |              |  |                 |            |
| Yield (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> ) <sup>b</sup>                       | 1.38         | 3.52   | 0.00            | 56.4       |
| Ear C: output C (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> )                          | 0.61         | 1.51   | 0.00            | 56.6       |
| Residue C: input C (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> )                       | 1.22         | 2.33   | 0.27            | 42.5       |
| Total C (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> )                                  | 1.82         | 3.72   | 0.41            | 42.2       |
| Soil water  |              |  |                 |            |
| Soil water: 0-15cm (mm)   | 32           | 52   | 15              | 18.1       |
| Soil water: 15-30cm (mm)  | 39           | 50   | 22              | 15.1       |
| Soil water: 30-45cm (mm)  | 40           | 49   | 27              | 11.4       |
| Soil water: 45-60cm (mm)  | 41           | 54   | 21              | 14.2       |
| Soil water: 60-75cm (mm)  | 42           | 60   | 25              | 18.2       |
| Soil water: 75-90cm (mm)  | 43           | 57   | 27              | 17.7       |
| Soil water: 0-90cm (mm)   | 237          | 293  | 158             | 12.0       |
| Snow depth (mm)   | 302          | 462  | 135             | 21.8       |
| Topography  |              |  |                 |            |
| Altitude (m)  | 427          | 437  | 402             | 2.1        |

|             | <b>The second s</b> | 0.1 11 1              |                     |
|-------------|---|-----------------------|---------------------|
|             | I locorintivo statistico  | of the coll plant and | Water properties    |
| Lavic II.I. | Descriptive statistics  | or the son, plant and | i water properties. |

ight

|   |   |   |    |    |     |   |      |         |        | 2 . C. |        |        |     |      |         |  |
|---|---|---|----|----|-----|---|------|---------|--------|--------|--------|--------|-----|------|---------|--|
| Т | à | b | le | 11 | .2. | C | orre | elation | matrix | of     | select | ed fie | eld | prop | erties. |  |

|                                  | 141                 | ne 11.2.             | Correlatio           | on mau            | ix of select          | ed field pro           | pernes.     | 1000          |                  |
|----------------------------------|---------------------|----------------------|----------------------|-------------------|-----------------------|------------------------|-------------|---------------|------------------|
| hililitation. 🤶 👘 processi       | Altitude            | SW <sup>a</sup> 0-15 | SW <sup>a</sup> 0-90 | Snow <sup>b</sup> | SOC <sup>°</sup> 0-15 | SOC <sup>c</sup> 15-30 | SOC° 30-45  | SOC° 0-90     | PMC <sup>d</sup> |
| Soil water: 0-15cm               | 0.33** <sup>e</sup> | 196.8                | Stead                |                   |                       |                        | Can ghày là | aaquuo (Q ush | 3                |
| Soil water: 0-90cm               | 0.46**              | 0.59**               |                      |                   |                       |                        |             |               |                  |
| Snow depth                       | 0.41**              | 0.12                 | 0.30*                |                   |                       |                        |             |               |                  |
| Soil organic carbon: 0-15cm      | 0.47**              | 0.44**               | 0.33**               | 0.10              |                       |                        |             |               |                  |
| Soil organic carbon: 15-30cm     | 0.06                | -0.14                | -0.03                | 0.12              | 0.19                  |                        |             |               |                  |
| Soil organic carbon: 30-45cm     | 0.14                | -0.14                | 0.02                 | 0.25*             | 0.16                  | 0.72**                 |             |               |                  |
| Soil organic carbon: 0-90cm      | 0.32**              | 0.17                 | 0.40**               | 0.25*             | 0.47**                | 0.61**                 | 0.66**      |               |                  |
| Potentially mineralizable carbon | 0.28*               | 0.19                 | 0.12                 | 0.06              | 0.43**                | -0.14                  | -0.04       | 0.11          |                  |
| Plant ear C                      | 0.29*               | 0.07                 | 0.05                 | 0.28*             | -0.03                 | 0.15                   | 0.06        | -0.03         | -0.06            |
| Plant residue C                  | 0.05                | 0.15                 | 0.09                 | 0.32*             | -0.04                 | 0.06                   | -0.01       | -0.02         | -0.12            |
| Plant total C                    | 0.17                | 0.14                 | 0.08                 | 0.35*             | -0.04                 | 0.10                   | 0.02        | -0.03         | -0.11            |
| Plant vield                      | 0.31*               | 0.08                 | 0.05                 | 0.29*             | -0.01                 | 0.16                   | 0.08        | -0.01         | -0.04            |

<sup>a</sup>Soil water, <sup>b</sup>Snow depth, <sup>c</sup>Soil organic carbon and <sup>d</sup>Potentially mineralizable carbon. <sup>c</sup>\* and \*\* indicate significant level of 0.05 and 0.01, res

The amount of soil water stored at the beginning of the growing season was about 30-40 mm at each 15 cm depth with a tendency for a slight increase with depth. Soil water at the 0-90 cm depth amounted to 237 mm, which was more than one and a half the amount of the average precipitation during the growing season (about 160 mm). This suggests the importance of stored soil water in springtime for sound growth of wheat/barley in this region, even though not all the soil water would be available to plants. Furthermore the snow depth measured in the winter of 2002 was 302 mm on the average, which would correspond to 75 mm of water based on the assumption of 0.25 Mg m<sup>-3</sup> for the snow density. Management of snow during the wintertime would, therefore, contribute considerably to the storage of available water in the soil profile, as suggested by Funakawa et al., (2004b).

#### 11.4. Correlation of the field properties

Table 11.2 shows the correlation matrix of selected field properties. Elevation showed a positive relationship with the amount of soil water in both surface layer (0-15 cm) and whole profile (0-90 cm), snow depth, soil organic C content, in both surface layer (0-15 cm) and whole profile (0-90 cm) (p<0.01), potentially mineralizable C content, plant ear C content and plant yield (p<0.05). The amount of soil water (0-15 cm, 0-90 cm) showed a positive relationship with the soil organic C content, but did not show a significant relationship with the plant properties, even though the soil water content (0-30 cm) showed a moderately positive relationship with the yield and ear C content (p<0.10). Snow depth showed a positive relationship with the soil organic C content at the 30-45 cm and 0-90 cm depths (p<0.01) and all the plant properties (p<0.05). The amount of potentially mineralizable C was positively correlated with the organic C content at the same depth (p<0.01), indicating the presence of a strong link between the C source and the amount of CO<sub>2</sub> emission. As a result, topography, available water content, soil C stock, plant C content and yield were all interrelated, as N.K. Azarov, Kazakh Research Institute of Grain Farming in Shortandy, suggested that the geographical characteristics were correlated with the snow depth, humus content, moisture content and cereal productivity.

#### 11.5. Spatial variability of organic matter dynamics

Geostatistical parameters of the field properties are shown in Table 11.3. The Q values of soil organic C ranged between 0.7 and 1.0, suggesting the existence of a highly developed spatial structure, whereas those of the potentially mineralizable C and soil water were about 0.5-0.7, suggesting a considerable development of the spatial structure. For the plant properties, total and residue C displayed a welldeveloped spatial structure, whereas yield and ear C displayed a poorly developed one. As the spatial structures

| Field properties  | Nugget | Sill      | Range (km)                        | Q value   | Model <sup>a</sup>  |
|---|--------|-----------|-----------------------------------|-----------|---------------------|
| Soil  |        | ine de la | <ol> <li>(nito) anolos</li> </ol> | Notione I | e<br>Millerei la 74 |
| Organic carbon: 0-15cm (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> )                   | 24.7   | 79.2      | 6.9                               | 0.69      | S                   |
| Organic carbon: 15-30cm (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> )                  | 4.3    | 63.6      | 1.6                               | 0.93      | S                   |
| Organic carbon: 30-45cm (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> )                  | 13.9   | 77.4      | 1.6                               | 0.82      | Е                   |
| Organic carbon: 45-60cm (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> )                  | 1.9    | 54.4      | 1.0                               | 0.97      | S                   |
| Organic carbon: 60-75cm (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> )                  | 10.6   | 83.3      | 1.6                               | 0.87      | Е                   |
| Organic carbon: 75-90cm (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> )                  | 1.4    | 64.7      | 1.3                               | 0.98      | S                   |
| Organic carbon: 0-90cm (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> )                   | 115    | 901       | 2.6                               | 0.87      | Е                   |
| Potentially mineralizable carbon: 0-15cm (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> ) | 1.02   | 2.04      | 9.0+                              | 0.50      | Е                   |
| Plant All All All All All All All All All Al                    |        |           |                                   |           |                     |
| Yield (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> ) <sup>b</sup>                       | 0.40   | 1.04      | 9.0+                              | 0.38      | S                   |
| Ear C: output C (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> )                          | 0.08   | 0.22      | 9.0+                              | 0.34      | S                   |
| Residue C: input C (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> )                       | 0.24   | 0.26      | 1.7                               | 0.95      | L                   |
| Total C (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> )                                  | 0.5    | 0.62      | 9.0+                              | 0.81      | L                   |
| Soil water  |        |           |                                   |           |                     |
| Soil water: 0-15cm (mm)   | 20     | 37        | 3.5                               | 0.46      | Е                   |
| Soil water: 15-30cm (mm)  | 5      | 36        | 2.6                               | 0.85      | Е                   |
| Soil water: 30-45cm (mm)  | 10     | 29        | 9.0+                              | 0.65      | S                   |
| Soil water: 45-60cm (mm)  | 5      | 36        | 1.4                               | 0.86      | Е                   |
| Soil water: 60-75cm (mm)  | 35     | 69        | 7.7                               | 0.50      | S                   |
| Soil water: 75-90cm (mm)  | 43     | 98        | 9.0+                              | 0.56      | E                   |
| Soil water: 0-90cm (mm)   | 575    | 1259      | 9.0+                              | 0.54      | E                   |
| Snow depth (mm)   | 1512   | 4021      | 3.0                               | 0.62      | S                   |

 Table 11.3. Geostatistical parameters of the soil. plant and water properties.

<sup>a</sup>S: Spherical, E: Exponential and L: Linear.

were moderately to well-developed, the ranges could be interpreted as the limit distances of spatial dependency. The ranges of the soil water content (0-15 cm), snow depth and plant residue C were 3.5,3.0 and 1.7 km, respectively, suggesting a relatively short spatial dependency. On the contrary, the soil organic C content (0-15 cm), potentially mineralizable C and plant yield showed relatively long ranges of 6.9 or well-developed spatial structure and hence had the potential to be managed spatially or more than 9 km. These results suggest that most of the field properties displayed a site-specifically based on this spatial dependency.

Figure 11.4 shows the isarithmic maps or spatial patterns of the selected properties in the field, which were obtained based on the data of spatial dependency described above. Spatial pattern of elevation is also shown for comparison and contour lines in other maps indicate the isarithm of elevation. Soil water content (0-15 cm) was relatively high in the central plateau and relatively low in the north-facing and south-facing slope areas, confirming the strong correlation between the elevation and soil water content (p<0.01), presumably because soil water is retained more stably in the central flat plateau than in other slope areas. Soil organic C content and the amount of potentially mineralizable C showed a similar trend to that of the soil water content (0-15 cm), indicating that the value in the central plateau was the highest, followed by the north-facing slope and then the south-facing

slope areas. These results suggest that the central plateau had the greatest sink of organic matter and accordingly became the largest source of CO<sub>2</sub> as well. The lowest soil organic C level in the south-facing slope area may be due to the lower plant C input mentioned below, reflecting the lower soil water content due to the larger amount of sunshine and hence evaporation. It should also be noted that the spatial pattern of the amount of potentially mineralizable C showed only a general trend of CO<sub>2</sub> emission under optimal conditions for organic matter decomposition and further studies should be carried out to estimate actual values of CO<sub>2</sub> emission in the field in situ under field conditions. The C budget of the field would be properly evaluated, therefore, if the amount of CO<sub>2</sub> emission could be estimated based on the amount of potentially mineralizable C in soil and annual data of the field conditions such as soil temperature and moisture content.

On the contrary, plant properties showed slightly different spatial patterns, i.e. plant residue C was higher in the north-facing slope area, slightly north compared with the content of soil C. This tendency was more pronounced for the plant yield; the yield was the highest in the northfacing slope area followed by the central plateau and southfacing slope area. Ear C content, an index of C output from the system, showed an almost similar pattern to that of yield. These patterns would be mainly ascribed to those of the



Altitude



Soil water (0-15cm)



Soil organic C (0-15cm)



mineralizable C (0-15cm)



Range: 5.9km

Range: 4.3km Q value: 0.49 (ton/ha) 3.5 3.1 2.7 2.3 1.9 1.5 1.1 1.5 1.1 0.7

Plant yield

Ames.lova Moreceller, HD target CL, Wagnet HD, 1987, Comp Multiple of cothon dynamics in Baliye and the Figure 11.4. Spatial variability of selected field

Figure 11.4. Spatial variability of selected field properties related to organic matter dynamics.

content of soil water and of available or mineralizable organic matter because water and available nitrogen are generally considered to be the two major determining factors for plant growth in this region.

#### 11.6. Site-specific management for sustainable agriculture

Spatial patterns of the field properties strongly suggest that the organic matter dynamics in the field was markedly affected by the topography and that the most favourable area for the storage of organic matter was slightly different from that for food production. Namely, in the north-facing slope area, the yield was relatively high and the soil C stock was moderate, in the central plateau, the yield was moderate and the soil C stock and release of  $CO_2$  from soil were the highest, whereas in the south-facing slope area, the yield and soil C dynamics were relatively low. Judging from these results, it would be reasonable to propose a site-specific management as an alternative for sustainable agriculture in this region. For example, one possibility would be to intensify management in the north-facing slope area to maximize crop yield without accelerating organic matter decomposition. This could be achieved by the intensification of fertilizer use and/or seed spreading in this area. Another possibility would be to reduce or even discontinue agricultural management in the south-facing slope area because crop yield was expected to be considerably low under current management. Obviously, since the most appropriate management would vary regionally depending on both environmental and socioeconomic conditions (Paustian et al., 1997), the type of sitespecific management should be carefully selected depending on the conditions. In conclusion, site-specific agricultural management based on the spatial patterns of organic matter dynamics could become a suitable option for the promotion of sustainable agricultural production and for limiting organic matter decomposition or soil degradation.

#### References

- Anderson JM, 1991. The effects of climate change on decomposition processes in grassland and coniferous forests. *Ecological Applications* 1, 326-347.
- Buol SW, Hole FD, McCracken RJ, 1989. Soil genesis and classification (3rd ed.), Iowa State University Press, Ames.Iowa.
- Buyanovsky GA, Kucera CL, Wagner GH, 1987. Comparative analysis of carbon dynamics in native and cultivated ecosystems, *Ecology* 68, 2023-2031.

Eswaran HE, Van den Berg E, Reich P, 1993. Organic carbon

in soils of the world. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 57, 192-194.

FAO, ISRIC, ISSS, 1998. World reference base for soil resources.

- Funakawa S, Nakamura I, Akshalov K, Kosaki T, 2004a. Soil organic matter dynamics under grain farming in northern Kazakhstan. Soil Sci. Plant. Nutr. 50, 1211-1218.
- Funakawa S, Nakamura I, Akshalov K, Kosaki T, 2004b. Water dynamics in soil-plant systems under grain farming in northern Kazakhstan. *Soil Sci. Plant. Nutr.* 50, 1219-1227. Gerasimov IP, Grazovskaya MA, 1964. Basics of soil geology.

Tsukiji shokan, 42-60 (in Japanese).

Gossen E, 1998. Agrolandscape agriculture and forestry management as the basis of sustainable grain production in the steppes of Eurasia. *In* Spring Wheat in Kazakstan: Current Status and Future Directions; Proceedings of the Kazakstan-CIMMYT Conference, 1997, Shortandy, Akmola, Kazakstan, p44-48.

GUGK, 1982. Atlas Kazakhskoi SSR TOM1, 81p. (in Russian). ISSS Working Group RB, 1998. *World reference base for soil* 

- resources: Introduction (Bridges, M.E., Batjes, F.O., Nachtergaele, O.F., Eds.), ISRIC-FAO-ISSS-Acco. Leuven, 80p. (in Japanese).
- Johnson DA, Gilmanov TG, Saliendra NZ, Laca EA, Akshalov K, Dourikov M, Madronov B, Nasyrov M, 1999. Dynamics of CO<sub>2</sub> flux and productivity on three major rangeland types of Central Asia. *In* 1999 Growing Season, livestock development and rangeland conservation tools project reports, 29p.
- Karbozova-Saljinikov E, Funakawa S, Akhmetov K, Kosaki T, 2004. Soil organic matter status of Chernozem soil in north Kazakhstan: effects of summer fallow. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 36, 1373-1381.
- Medvedev ZA, 1987. *Soviet agriculture*, W.W. Norton & Company, New York/ London. 464p.
- Mikhailova EA, Bryant RB, Vaasenev II, Schwager SJ, Post CJ, 2000. Cultivation effects on soil organic carbon and nitrogen contents at depth in the Russian Chernozem, *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 64, 738-745.
- Morgounov A, Zuidema L, 2001. The legacy of the Soviet agricultural research system for the Republics of central Asia and the Caucasus, ISNAR Research Report, 20, 52p.
- Morgounov A, Karabayev M, Bedoshvili D, Braun HJ, 2001. Improving wheat production in Central Asia and the Caucasus, Research highlights of the CYMMIT Wheat Program 1999-2000, CYMMIT, 65-68.
- Oliver MA, 1987. Geostatistics and its application to soil science. *Soil Use and Management* 3, 8-20.

- Paustian K, Andren O, Janzen HH, Lal R, Smith P, Tian G, Tiessen H, Van Noordwijk M, Woomer PL, 1997.
  Agricultural soils as a sink to mitigate CO<sub>2</sub> emissions, Soil Use and Management 13, 230-244.
- Robertson GP, 1998. GS+: Geostatistics for the environmental sciences. Gamma Design Software, Plainwell, MI.
- Shegebaev OS, 1998. Scientific support for spring wheat production in Kazakhstan. In: Spring Wheat in Kazakstan: Current Status and Future Directions; Proceedings of the Kazakstan-CIMMYT Conference; Shortandy, Akmola, Kazakstan; p24-29.
- Soil Survey Staff, 1998. Keys to Soil Taxonomy (8th edition). USDA Natural Resources Conservation Service, Washington, pp326.
- SPSS, 1998. SYSTAT 8.0. Statistics. SPSS, Chicago, IL.
- Srivastava J, Meyer E, 1998. Is conservation tillage a viable option in the CIS?, World Bank Report, 31p.
- Webster R, Oliver MA, 2001. Geostatistics for environmental scientists. John Wiley & Sons, Chichester, UK.
- Yanai J, Lee CK, Kaho T, Iida M, Matsui T, Umeda M, Kosaki T, 2001. Geostatistical analysis of soil chemical properties and rice yield in a paddy field and application to the analysis of yield-determining factors. *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 47,291-301.

Linear mark loss of natural reservity of will organic carbox, or example, submert follow, which is a generally adopted matter in the northern follow, which is a generally adopted matter in the northern follow, which is been anothered to be also necessarily about 1.5% of cropland (50) excesses of and accountilation and will mitrogen availability relate to ming object planting, in worst control, and more stable carpends (Moregousby et al., 2001). From though it was a stratugy of fidnesses to graph production efficiency. Timform of matter applied and will restrict former, for former, so that a stratugy of fidnesses to graph production efficiency. Timform of matter applied and of sould restriction of the production of the strategies of the separate of signal to filling the period of fidnesses. (992), by net, soil organic carbon is too. (10 car fidness) (992), by net, soil organic carbon is too. (10 car fidness) (992), by net, soil organic carbon is too. (10 car fidness) (992), by net, soil organic carbon is too. (10 car fidness) (992), by net, soil organic carbon is too. (10 car fidness) (10 carbon carbon to fundate the fidness) former. (992), by net, soil organic carbon is too. (10 car fidness) (10 carbon carbon to fundate the fidness) former (16 do). Charaozen, to fundate the fidness is at fidness of partition of al., (1997). This randomey is in complete to the recent general requirement from hold carbon is in the fidness of al., (1997). This randomey is in complete to the recent general requirement from hold carbon partition in agricultured view point free organic random detection, soil or agricultured view point free organic random detection, soil or agricultured view point free organic random detection, soil or agricultured view point free organic random detection, soil or agricultured view point free organic random detection, there is a general point from the produced. Therefore, there daniscape in northern Excalibetan.

i a next for a for that will estimate new management system will affect organic charact sincage in some at the ane-specific syst. These estimates could be provided by a field, is on a bon somester for product worshive to invalve its charact, for establish system, and yields.

It the numbers (excellence, Yanai and (2005) evaluated with organic menter dimension in relation to topography. The incover, that begins charter dimension, which estimated using theorem y dualities, one that it affected by topography and they been variabled that there is need to end case incover, values (FCC), consider makes the field constitues incover, the objective of this research in F1 to make the interestive and the control of this research in F1 to make the interestive result of an and argunic manner based as an estimation of CC, backstood to each 20 to evaluate the interestive model of and argunic manner based are and estimation of CC, backstood to each 20 to evaluate the intimenenestimation of CC, backstood to any 20 to evaluate the intimenenstate of CC, backstood to each 20 to evaluate the intimenented only remaining phase and topography on carbon backge and by Critic with the final cost of this research backge are interprised of agricultural system that enable a program interprised of agricultural system that states of program interprised of agricultural system that are the final states interprised of agricultural system that enable a

5.2. Westerlah and mathema

Starty 2002. This starty was control out in the Barbaro Karakh Research and Production Control of Grant Factoring which is closered in Shortmary. Actualities Object In the excitere part of the excitation (Excelosition The error product system is failed was wheat wheat (Excel) in this starty even A study Hold (Control Excelosition (Excel) in this starty sees. A study Hold (Control Excel) was divided into 10 plots of the error of the error (Exc.) was divided into 10 plots of the error of the track (Exc. (11)). The altitude of the study study of the error (Exc. (11)). The altitude of the study start was uncentroid asing a diffusionial glubbal module study of the error plot. The altitude of the study field was replaced in the track of a start plot, and gravitability intervention is the track of the error of the error plot. The entities was replaced in the track of the error plot. The entities field was appreciate to the action of store, a could fixing simple and the error of the altitude of 3 form.

(and provide a second standard Standard Standard (2004)

### Chapter 12

# Spatial variation of carbon budget in agro-landscape in northern Kazakhstan Yusuke Takata, Azusa Mishima and Kanat Akshalov

#### 12.1. Background

Organic carbon in soils plays a key role in the carbon cycle and has a potentially large impact on the greenhouse effect (Lal et al., 1998). World soil carbon content is estimated  $1.5 \times 10^{18}$  g, which is twice as much as the atmosphere and three times the level held in terrestrial vegetation (Post, 1998). Annual net release of carbon from agricultural land has been estimated at  $2.5 \times 10^{15}$  g, which is about 15% of current global fossil fuel emission (Smith, 1999). The increase in atmospheric  $CO_2$  can be slowed by retaining the carbon captured by plant photosynthesis. Soil organic matter is a natural reservoir of organic carbon. The amount of carbon that could potentially be stored in soils in the U.S. has been estimated to be between 5 and 10% of the current annual emission of U.S. (Lal et al., 1998).

In Kazakhstan, a country of former Soviet Union in central Asia, Chernozem occupy 32.1×10<sup>6</sup> hectares or 11.8% of the country (GUGK, 1982), and it store 65-80 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> of organic carbon in the top 20 cm (Kudeyarov et al., 1995). Historical land-use changes that converted grass to cropland as well as many conventional agricultural practices in this area have caused much loss of natural reservoir of soil organic carbon. For example, summer fallow, which is a generally adopted practice in the northern Kazakhstan, has been amounted to 5 million hectares, taking about 15% of cropland (Suleimenov et al., 2001). It is justified by its advantages in increase of water accumulation and soil nitrogen availability prior to spring wheat planting, in weed control, and more stable crop yields (Morgounov et al., 2001). Even though it was a strategy for increase in crop production efficiency. Uniform of intensive application of such technologies during the period of former Soviet Union was rather focused on production, which often came at the expense of sustainability (Srivastava and Meyer, 1998). In fact, soil organic carbon in top 10 cm reduced 38-43% over the last 25-30 years in continuously cropped field of Chernozem in Russia (Mikhailova et al., 2000). Carbon loss can be linked to soil production, soil quality, carbon sequestration, and, ultimately, crop production (Paustian et al., 1997). This tendency is in contrast to the recent general requirement from both environmental and agricultural viewpoint that organic matter decomposition or CO<sub>2</sub> emission from soil should be reduced. Therefore, there

is a need for a tool that will estimate how management system will affect organic matter storage in soils at the site-specific level. These estimates could be provided by a field-level carbon sequestration model sensitive to local soils, climate, crop rotation system, and yields.

In the northern Kazakhstan, Yanai et al. (2005) evaluated soil organic matter dynamics in relation to topography. They showed that organic matter dynamics, which estimated under laboratory condition, was highly affected by topography, and they also mentioned that there is need to estimate absolute values of  $CO_2$  emission under the field condition. Therefore, the objective of this research is 1) to make the mineralization model of soil organic matter based on an estimation of  $CO_2$  emissions *in situ*, 2) to clarify the spatial variability of carbon budget, and 3) to evaluate the influence of crop rotation phase and topography on carbon budget in the field, with the final goal of this research being an establishment of agricultural system that enable a proper management of organic matter in the northern Kazakhstan steppe zone.

# 12.2. Materials and methods

Study area: This study was carried out at the Barayev Kazakh Research and Production Centre of Grain Farming, which is situated in Shortandy, Akmolinsk Oblast, in the northern part of the republic of Kazakhstan. The crop rotation system is fallow-wheat-wheat-wheat (barley) in this study area. A study field ( $14 \text{ km} \times 5 \text{ km}$ ) was divided into 70 plots of dimensions 1 km×1 km (Fig. 12.1). The altitude of the study field was measured using a differential global positioning system at the each plot. The altitude of the study field was highest in the middle-eastern part, and gradually decreased to the north and south direction. The entire field was separated into a north-facing slope, a south-facing slope, and a plateau at the altitude of 430 m.

Analytical methods: Surface soils were collected in the end of May 2001 and 2003 from three points within each plot, mixed and used for analysis. The potentially mineralizable organic carbon content was determined by incubation method (30°C, 19 weeks). To evaluate seasonal fluctuation of  $CO_2$ emission *in situ*,  $CO_2$  emission was measured once a week from the end of May 2002 to mid September 2002, during the

cropping season. Three typical points in each section were selected considering the organic carbon and potentially mineralizable carbon distribution data. They are A, B, C, D, E, F, G, H, and I (Fig. 12.1). An alkaline absorption method was used for the determination of CO<sub>2</sub> emission. Chambers were installed at the soil surface and CO<sub>2</sub> respired within 24 h was measured by 0.1 M HCl. A root-impermeable mesh was buried at a 15 cm depth to limit the influence of root respiration. At the time of measurement, maximum and minimum temperature at 5 cm depth was recorded using maximum minimum thermometer (AD-5625, AND, Inc.) installed at each plot; volumetric water content (%) at 0-15 cm depth using a soil moisture sensor (Hydro Sense, Campbell Scientific, Inc.) was also recorded. Air temperature, soil temperature (5 cm, 15 cm), soil moisture (0-15 cm), and precipitation was monitored from 26th May to 10th September, 2002 using a micro logger (Campbell Scientific, Inc.) at 30 minute intervals at the D plateau plot (Fig. 12.1). Plant sampling was carried out from late August to September 2001, 2002 and 2003. From each plot, above and below ground plants in 1 m×0.92 m quadrates were harvested in non-fallow plots (2001: 55 plots, 2002: 57 plots, 2003: 45 plots). Harvested plant samples were dried at 70°C for 24 h and weighed. Total carbon content was measured for the dried sample by dry combustion method (SumikaNC-800-13N).

Statistical analysis: Stepwise multiple regression analysis using soil temperature, soil water content, precipitation and potentially mineralizable carbon using Arrhenius model was carried out to explain main factor of  $CO_2$  emission. Daily  $CO_2$  emission was estimated by inputting daily monitoring data of soil temperature and precipitation, and potentially mineralizable carbon to the equation



obtained.

Geostatisitical analysis: Geostatistics is a branch of applied statistics that quantifies the spatial dependence and spatial structure of a measured property and, uses the spatial structure to predict values of the property at unsampled locations. These two steps typically involve spatial modeling (variography) and spatial interpolation (kriging) (Mulla and McBratney 2000). Spatial dependence can be quantified and modeled using the semivarigram (Burgess and Webster, 1980). The semivariogram  $\gamma$  (h) is calculated using the equation:

$$\gamma(h) = \frac{1}{2n(h)} \sum_{i=1}^{n(h)} [z_i - z_{i+1}]^2$$

where h is the distance between locations  $x_i$  and  $x_{i+h}$ ,  $z_i$  and  $z_{i+h}$  are the measured values for the regionalized variable at locations  $x_i$  or  $x_{i+h}$ , and n(h) is the number of pairs at any separation distance h. The semivariogram model and its parameters provide a quantitative expression of spatial structure for the measured property. The nugget parameter is a measure of the amount of variance due to errors in sampling, measurement, and other unexplained source of variance. The sill is theoretically equal to the variance of the sampled population at large separation distances if the data have no trend. The Q value; [(sill-nugget)/sill], which indicates the spatial structure at the sampling scale. The range indicates the limit of spatial dependence. Kriging is a general term describing a geostatistical approach for interpolation at unsampled locations. There are several types of univariate kriging method including punctual, indicator, disjunctive, universal, and block kriging. In this study, block kriging was used to evaluate regional patterns of variations. The geostatistical software, GS+ Version 5.3 for Windows (Gamma Design Software), was used in the analysis.

apring wheat planting, in weed control, and more stable stop yields (Morgounov et al., 2001). Even though it was a strategy for increase in errop production efficiency. Uniform of intensive application of such technologies during the period of former Soviet Union was rather focused on production (n which often came at the expense of sustainability (Savasc 044 and Meyer, 1973). In fact, soft organic carbon in top 10 **264** reduced 38-43% over the last 25-30 years in continuou 05 apposed field of Chemozeta in Russia (Mithallova et 25 2000). Carbon ioss can be linked to soft production, soft apality, carbon ioss can be linked to soft production, soft apality, carbon sognestration, and, utimately, c 014

**Figure 12.1.** (A) Schematic diagram of the sampling plots indicated as dots in the field and (B) topography of the study site.

#### 12.3. Land use history

Land-use history from 2001 to 2003 in this study site is shown in Fig. 12.2. The crop rotation phase were divided into following 6 groups; two years of summer fallow and one year of wheat (Two years of fallow), continuous wheat cropped without summer fallow (Continuous wheat), continuous barley without fallow (Continuous barley), two years of barley and one year of wheat (Two years of barley), one year fallow and two years of cereal (One year of fallow), and continuous grassland or continuous abandoned. It should be noted that plant sampling was conducted only in the wheat and barley plots, and continuous grassland and abandoned plots are omitted from following discussions.

#### 12.4. Potentially mineralizable organic carbon

The isarithm map of potentially mineralizable organic carbon content, which collected in 2001 and 2003 is shown in Fig. 12.3. Potentially mineralizable organic carbon in 2001 and 2003 had average values of 2.72 and 2.56 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>, and ranged from 0.7 to 6.9 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup> and from 1.4 to 5.1 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. In geostatistical analysis, the ranges of 2001

and 2003 sampling sets were 8.5 km and 6.2 km, respectively. This difference of range might be influenced by the carbon input as plant residue in 2001 and 2002. The Q value of 2001 and 2003 sampling set were 0.50 and 0.53, respectively, suggesting a considerable degree of spatial structure. In both years, potentially mineralizable organic carbon was highest in the plateau, and it was higher in the north-facing slope than south-facing slope. This result indicated that the potential contribution as a source of carbon dioxide was highest in the plateau followed by north-facing slope and then south-facing slope.

#### 12.5. Seasonal change of soil

Dynamics of  $CO_2$  emission in 2002 are shown in Fig. 12.4. The measurement started from the end of May and finished in September. Total of 15 measurements were accomplished.  $CO_2$  emission rose toward summer, attained maximum in summer, and declined toward autumn. It is possible that the period of high  $CO_2$  emission maybe due to climatic factor, but it could also be due to the release of plant derived C as indicated by Stoyan et al. (2000). There were high  $CO_2$ 



Continuous wheat (without summer fallow) Continuous barley (without summer fallow) Two years of barley (without summer fallow) One year of fallow Two years of fallow (one year of wheat) Continuous grassland or abandoned field



Figure 12.2. Land-use history.

Figure 12.3. Spatial variability of potentially mineralizable organic carbon.

emission at plateau plots, especially F plot. The result coincide well with pattern of potentially mineralizable organic carbon.

To estimate daily  $CO_2$  emission and to comprehend main factor of  $CO_2$  emission fluctuation, relationship of  $CO_2$ emission to soil temperature, water content, precipitation, and potentially mineralizable carbon was examined by multiple regression by all plots using Arrhenius model. Arrhenius model is often used to determine the activation energy for a reaction based on how the rate constant changes with temperature. Arrhenius equation together with extensive form of estimating  $CO_2$  emission can be stated as follows:

 $C_{\rm em} = a P^b C_0^{\ c} W^d e^{-E/RK}$ 

#### $\ln C_{\rm em} = \ln a + b \ln P + c \ln C_0 + d \ln W - E/RK$

where  $C_{em}$  is CO<sub>2</sub> emission (kg C ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>), *a* is rate constant, *T* is minimum temperature, *P* is precipitation for a week,  $C_0$  is potentially mineralizable organic carbon (Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>), *W* is volumetric water content (L L<sup>-1</sup>), *b* is order of reaction with respect to *P*, *c* is order of reaction respect to C, *d* is order of reaction respect to *W*, *E* is activation energy, *R* is gas constant; 0.082, and *K* is Kelvin temperature. The following

#### regression model was obtained,

 $C_{\rm em} = e^{47.72} \times P^{0.137} \times C_0^{0.34} \times e^{-1089.65/RK}$  $(n=130, R^2=0.49)$ Soil moisture factor in the multiple regression for CO, emission were excluded by stepwise estimation with probability 0.15. Kudeyarov and Kurganova (1998) found that correlation between soil respiration rates and soil moisture was weaker than that between soil respiration rates and soil temperature in Russian Chernozems. The study of Alvarez et al. (1995) indicated soil respiration had no relationship with soil moisture, and was regulated only by the temperature in the wheat-soybean field in Argentina pampas. These studies were similar with this study. But precipitation factor, which show drastic change of soil moisture and obtained high correlation coefficient (data was not shown). From the study of Rochette et al. (1991), it indicates precipitation factor strongly contributed than soil moisture content factor to CO<sub>2</sub> emission, particularly rainfall occurred after a dry period.

Estimated daily  $CO_2$  emissions at plots A, D, and G are shown in Fig. 12.5. The  $CO_2$  emission was small from January to April, rose up from May and reached its peak in July, then



decreased progressively, and became nearly zero from October. In fact, soil temperature of January to mid of March and from November to December was below zero. Regarding that there is practically naught  $CO_2$  emission when soil temperature is below zero (Frank et al., 2002).

#### 12.6. Carbon budget from 2001 to 2003

Descriptive statistics of  $CO_2$  emission and carbon input as plant residue is listed in Table 12.1. Carbon input of summer fallow was calculated 0 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>. Total  $CO_2$  emission and total carbon input as plant residue had average values of 3.71 and 3.46 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>, and ranged from 2.85 to 4.64 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup> and 1.07 to 6.52 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. The mean carbon budget was -0.21 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>, implying that soil degradation is progressing under the current conditions.

Figure 12.6 show isarithmic maps of the total carbon input as plant residue, total  $CO_2$  emission, and carbon budget, each of them show the data set from 2001 to 2003. In the geostatistical study, the range of total carbon input and carbon budget was about 5.0 km, and the Q value of was about 0.9, and this result show that the spatial pattern of

Table 12.1. Descriptive statistics of  $CO_2$  emission, carbon input as plant residue, and carbon budget.

|             | CO <sub>2</sub> emission | Carbon input as plant residue | Carbon budget            |
|-------------|--------------------------|-------------------------------|--------------------------|
|             | (Mg C ha <sup>-1</sup> ) | (Mg C ha <sup>-1</sup> )      | (Mg C ha <sup>-1</sup> ) |
| Mean ± S.D. | 3.71±0.38                | 3.46±1.24                     | -0.21±1.27               |
| Minimum     | 2.85                     | 1.07                          | -2.66                    |
| Maximum     | 4.64                     | 6.52                          | 3.07                     |
| C.V. (%)    | 10.2                     | 35.7                          | 601                      |

total carbon input and carbon budget is similar. The range of total CO<sub>2</sub> emission was 7.4 km, and the Q value was 0.5. The total carbon input was highest in the eastern part of northfacing slope which was continuous wheat zone. Contrary, in summer fallow plots, especially two years fallow plots, carbon input was small. And, the carbon input of barley plots, which were situated in the western part of north-facing slope, was relatively small than in the continuous wheat plots. These results indicate that total carbon input as plant residue is strongly related to crop rotation phase. The total CO<sub>2</sub> emission was highest in the plateau followed by north-facing slope then south-facing slope. The distribution pattern of soils respiration showed similar trend with potentially mineralizable organic carbon, and these results suggest that the loss of soil organic carbon is related to topography. The carbon budget was highest in the eastern part of north-facing slope where total carbon input was highest, and their total CO<sub>2</sub> emission was small. The carbon budget was positive in the eastern part of north-facing slope, northern part of plateau, and western part of south-facing slope, and it is indicated that these zones contributed to carbon accumulation. Contrary, the carbon budget was negative in the all of summer fallow plots. Most of the barley plots which were situated in the western part of north-facing slope, also were negative carbon budget. There was relatively large CO2 emission and small carbon input in the barley plots. In this agricultural ecosystem, the summer fallow management and crop rotation system regardless of local condition is resulting in the significant decrease of soil organic carbon.

In the semiarid croplands of northern Kazakhstan, the



Figure 12.6. Spatial variability of A) total carbon input as plant residue, B) total  $CO_2$  emission, and C) carbon budget.

fate of soil organic carbon is related to landscape and crop rotation phase. To establish an agricultural system that properly manages organic matter, site-specific management should be paid more attention.

#### References

- Alvarez R, Santanatoglia OJ, Garcia R, 1995. Soil respiration and carbon inputs from crops in a wheat-soybean rotation under different tillage systems, *Soil Use Manage*. 11, 45-50.
- Burgess TM, Webster R, 1980. Optimal interpolation and isarithmic mapping of soil properties. 1. The semivariogram and punctual kriging. J. Soil Sci. 31. 315-331.
- Frank AB, Liebig MA, Hanson JD, 2002. Soil carbon fluxes in northern semiarid grasslands, *Soil boil. Biochem.* 34, 1235-1241.

GUGK, 1982. Atlas Kazakhskoi SSR TOM1, 81p. (in Russian). Kudeyarov VN, Khakimov FI, Deyava NF, Il'ina AA, Kuznetsova TV, Timchenko AV, 1995. Assessment of respiration of the Russian soils, *Pochvovedenye* 1, 33-42 (in Russian with English abstract).

- Lal R, Kimbel JM, Follett RF, Cole CV, 1998. The potential of U.S. cropland to sequester carbon and mitigate the greenhouse effect. Ann Arbor Press, Chelsea, MI.
- Mikhailova EA, Bryant RB, Vaasenev II, Schwager SJ, Post CJ, 2000. Cultivation effects on soil organic carbon and nitrogen contents at depth in the Russian Chernozem, *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 64, 738-745.
- Morgounov A, Karabayev M, Bedoshvili D, Braun HJ, 2001. Improving wheat production in Central Asia and the Caucasus, Research highlights of the CYMMIT Wheat Program 1999-2000, CYMMIT, 65-68.
- Paustian K, Collin HP, Paul EA, 1997. Management controls on soil carbon. *In* Soil Organic Matter in Temperate Agroecosystems; Paul, E.A. (eds.). CRC press, FL, p.15-49.
- Post WM, Tsung HP, Emanuel WR, King AW, Dale VH, DeAngelis DL, 1990. The global carbon cycle. *American Scientist* 78, 310-326.
- Rochette P, Desjardins RL, Pattey E, 1991. Spatial and temporal variability of soil respiration in agricultural fields, *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 71, 189-196.
- Smith K, 1999. After the Kyoto protocol: can soil scientists make a useful contribution? *Soil Use Manage*. 15, 71-75.
- Srivastava J, Meyer E, Is conservation tillage a viable option in the CIS? World Bank Report, 31p.

Stoyan H, De-Polli H, Bohm S, Robertson GP, Paul EA, 2000.

Spatial heterogeneity of soil respiration and related properties at the plant scale, *Plant Soil* 222, 203-214.

- Suleimenov M, Akshalov K, Akhmetov K, Kanafin B, 2001. Possibilities to reduce summer fallow for better soil conservation in northern Kazakhstan. World Congress on Conservation Agriculture. Madrid, Spain.
- Yanai J, Mishima A, Funakawa S, Akshalov K, Kosaki T, 2005. Spatial variability of organic matter dynamics in the semiarid croplands of northern Kazakhstan. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr. 51, 191-199.

Table 12.1: Descriptive statistics of CO, emission. Each main as plant realdue, and estbolt hadres:



# Chapter 13

# Features and properties of chernozemic soils and humic substances in the Eurasian steppe Masayuki Tani, Mika Sasaki, Yosuke Takahashi, Hitoshi Shinjo, Nobuhide Fujitake, Hiroaki Sumida and Takashi Kosaki

# 13.1. Background

The climatic conditions are one of the most critical factors to determine the soil formation processes and distribution in the Eurasian steppe area. Steppe and steppic regions receive between 250 and 500 mm of precipitation annually, i.e. more than twice the quantity that falls in true desert areas where rainfall is insufficient to support vegetation that could protect the land from erosion, degradation, and desertification (FAO, 2002). These areas are usually covered with 'loess' materials carried by strong winds during the Ice Age, or either covered with tills, deglaciation sediments, or lacustrine sediments. These materials are usually calcareous, unstratified, and yellowishgrey. The vast loess and till plains are now colonized by grass and/or forest as natural vegetation. They are the home of some of the best soils of the world: the 'black earths'. Deep, black Chernozems occupy the central parts of the Eurasian steppe zone. Brown Kastanozems are typical of the drier parts of the steppe zone and border on arid and semiarid lands.

The steppe and steppic regions in Eurasia are extensively covered by loess materials, from which Chernozems and Kastanozems in WRB classification (FAO, 1998) are commonly formed and developed. Chernozems are soils of the tall grass or steppe plains and hills in region with a continental climate (warm summers and cold winters). Vast areas of Chernozems are found in Eastern Europe, Central Asia, and North America. During the warm summers, large quantities of organic matter are produced, which is incorporated in the soils mainly by soil fauna. During the cold wintertime, soil animals move downwards, thereby homogenizing the soil. Popularly known as "Black Earths", Chernozems have typically a deep black surface horizon, high in organic matter, immediately over a brown or yellowish horizon with calcium carbonate accumulation. Russian soil scientists rank the deep, central Chernozems among the best soils in the world. With less than half of all Chernozems in Eurasia being used for arable cropping, these soils constitute a formidable resource for the future (FAO, 2002). Preservation of the favorable soil structure thoroughly timely cultivation

and careful irrigation at low water rates prevents ablation and erosion. Application of P-fertilizers is required for high yields. Wheat, barley and maize are the principal crops grown, alongside other food crops and vegetables. Part of the Chernozem area is used for livestock rearing. In the northern temperate climatic belt, the possible growing period is short and principal crops grown are wheat and barley, in places in rotation with vegetables. Maize is widely grown in the warm temperate belt. Maize production tends to stagnate in drier years unless the crop is adequately irrigated.

Kastanozems occur adjacent to Chernozems on the drier side of the Chernozem belt (FAO, 2002). The climax vegetation consists of short grasses. The name of Kastanozems refers to the chestnut color of many of these soils. Organic matter production on Kastanozems is less than in the Chernozem belt but enough to form a dark mollic surface horizon. Accumulation of calcium carbonate or gypsum in the solum is a characteristic of Kastanozems. The vast, almost level plains of the Central Asian Kastanozem belt are suitable for large-scale mechanized agricultural enterprises. Kastanozems are potentially rich soils; periodic lack of soil moisture is the main obstacle to high yields. Irrigation is nearly always necessary for high yields; care must be taken to avoid secondary salinization of the surface soil. Small grains and (irrigated) food and vegetable crops are the principal crops grown. Wind erosion is a problem of Kastanozems, especially on fallow lands. Extensive grazing is another important land use on Kastanozems but the sparsely vegetated grazing lands are inferior to the tall grass steppe on Chernozems and overgrazing is a serious problem (FAO, 2002).

Both Chernozems and Kastanozems in the Eurasian steppe are rich in soil organic matter (SOM), which can support a luxuriant production of plant and biomass. SOM plays a fundamental role in the maintenance of the main soil properties and regimes related not just to the soil fertility. The whole functioning of soils is profoundly influenced by SOM, its ability to provide conditions for plant growth, soil biota functioning, reduction of greenhouse gases, modification of pollutants and maintenance of soil physical condition (Shevtsova *et al.*, 2003). In the respective soils,

carbon sequestration in SOM through agricultural practices is of great importance, and a steady state between the C input and mineralization of SOM should be optimum (Rasmussen et al., 1998; Filip and Kubát, 2003). SOM quality parameters as well as SOM quantitative level are common indicators of the effect of agricultural management practices on SOM change. Shevtsova et al. (2003) investigated the changes in topsoil C content and quality measured in 60 experiments on soddy-podzolic soils in the Russian Federation, Belarus, Ukraine, Lithuania, and Latvia with different management characteristics, reporting that the management practices lead to changes not only in total SOM but also in SOM quality parameters. Especially, the influences of long-term cultivation and organic cropping on SOM dynamics of humic substances had been paid much attention (Aoyama and Kumakura, 2001; Klimowicz and Uziak, 2001; Doane et al., 2003; Filip and Kubát, 2003).

Humic acids are the mixture of continuum of HA molecules with different degree of humification and their chemical characteristics vary depending on their degree of humification (Maie et al., 2002). Therefore, indexes of humification are useful to evaluate the effects of agricultural management practices on SOM dynamics and qualities of humic substances. Most humified HAs (Type A HAs), of which solution shows very dark color per unit carbon, have been commonly in the surface layer of grassland soils developed on volcanic ash in Japan and in Chernozemic soil in Europe (Kumada, 1987). Vast areas of Chernozems are found in the Eurasian steppe, mostly being used for arable cropping, however, little was known on features and properties of Chernozemic soils and their SOM dynamics of humic substances in the Eurasian Steppe. Especially, the SOM qualities of humic fractions should be critical to understand the fate of soil organic carbon in the Eurasian steppe, which would affect the soil fertility and the environmental impact.

In the present study, Chernozemic and related soil samples under natural grasslands and arable lands were collected from nine profiles in Ukraine and Hungary to investigate the properties and characteristics of the SOM dynamics of humic substances in the Eurasian Steppe. Chernozemic soils collected from three profiles in Canada were also used to compare with the Eurasian soils and distinguish their features. Some physico-chemical properties of soil samples were analyzed to clarify the soil development and features of the Chernozemic profiles. Humification indexes ("  $^{L} \log K$  and RF) were used to classify the

Chernozemic humic acids and to examine the influences of natural and artificial impacts on degree of humification. <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectroscopy was also applied to characterize the structure and composition of humic acids in the Eurasian Chernozems. The objectives of this study are to investigate 1) the effects of climate and moisture regimes on soil development and SOM dynamics of four Chernozemic subtypes in Ukraine, 2) the effects of agricultural impacts on changes in soil features and humic fractions of Chernozems under intensive management practices in Hungary and Canada, 3) the relationship between soil carbon degradation and expense of humic acids in the Eurasian steppe.

#### 13.2. Materials and methods

#### 13.2.1. Soil survey and sample collection

The soil survey was carried out from October to November in 2001; where soil samples were collected horizonwise form four profiles in Ukraine and five profiles in Hungary (Table 13.1). Popularly known as "Black Soil Belts", Chernozemic zones are composed of one of the most fertile and rich black-soils in the world, distributing in Eastern Europe, Central Asia including South Russia, North America (known as 'prairie') and South America (known as 'pampas'). In particular, the greater part of lands is covered by Chernozems and related soils (Kastanozems) in Ukraine, where must be the central and representative Chernozemic zones in the Eurasian steppe. Four sites, where the soils had been covered by natural steppe vegetation except for one site (Ordinary Chernozem), were selected to assess the relationship between moisture regimes and soil development in Ukraine (Table 13.1). The eastern part of Hungary boarders on Ukraine, being covered by vast plains of Chernozems called as 'puszta'. Since the intensive wheat and maize productions have been conducted in such areas of Hungary, lands under the natural steppe vegetation are almost scarce (Table 13.1). Canadian soil samples were also used in the present study to contrast the soils in the Eurasian steppe with those in the Great Plains. These soils were collected in 1999 by Tani and Fujitake (data was not published), from three profiles of wheat fields in Saskatchewan, Canada (Table 13.1). The collected soil samples were air-dried and passed through a 2 mm pore-size sieve. Finely ground soil samples were also prepared for the analysis of soil organic carbon, inorganic carbon, total carbon and nitrogen, and humic substances.

Several statistical data of agricultural production, which are yields of total crops, wheat, and ,maize, from 1998 to 2000

| No. | Country       | Site and land use   | Location                                 |   | Soil classification                  |   |
|-----|---------------|---|--|---|--------------------------------------|---|
|     | an an that an | n a <u>n tean an a</u>         | New Strategies - Color of Antonio Sector | Russian   | WRB                                  | Others  |
| U1  | Ukraine       | Grakovo<br>Natural grassland                                    | <br>silinen ospa                         | Typical Chernozem                                     | Chernic-Siltic<br>Chernozems         | nilisi a (il tinilisitati ist   |
| U2  | Ukraine       | Krasnograd<br>Arable land (wheat)                               | e To Meta                                | Ordinary Chernozem                                    | Calcic-Siltic<br>Chernozems          | iloz bomb-tis la nolenegroz   |
| U3  | Ukraine       | Askania-Nova<br>Natural grassland                               | N 46° 28'<br>E 33° 54'                   | Southern Chernozem                                    | Hypocalcic-Siltic<br>Chernozems      | nig <u>a</u> diwibaansan www.c.s<br>comingen of Contestanto in  |
| U4  | Ukraine       | Askania-Nova<br>Natural grassland                               | N 46° 30'<br>E 34° 2'                    | Dark Chestnut   | Calcic-Siltic<br>Chernozems          | an <mark>antini kawanan</mark> ah a   |
| H1  | Hungary       | Valence Lake, near Budapest<br>Arable land                      | N 47° 15'<br>E 18° 40'                   | le⊈tels - Harènta<br>Attivita                         | Calcic-Siltic<br>Chernozems          | Typic Calcisutolls (USDA)   |
| H2  | Hungary       | Valence Lake, near Budapest<br>Arable land                      | N 47° 15'<br>E 18° 40'                   | ta bolinen  | Calcic Chernozems                    | Typic Calciudolls (USDA)  |
| Н3  | Hungary       | University of Gödöllõ<br>Arable land (wheat)                    | N 47° 42'<br>E 19° 37'                   | Leached Chernozem                                     | Haplic Chernozems<br>(Chernic?)      | n n <del>-1</del> 022 (1996)<br>An the state of the st |
| H4  | Hungary       | Karcag, University of Debrecen<br>Arable land (wheat and maize) | N 47° 17'<br>E 20° 54'                   |   | Vertic-Siltic<br>Chernozems (Luvic?) | esting (MWP)betalles no   |
| Н5  | Hungary       | Latokép, University of Debrecen<br>Arable land                  | N 47° 34'<br>E 21° 27'                   | 0 <del>2</del> 01. Stabolas<br>Status                 | Haplic Chernozems (Chernic?)         | ili t <del>e</del> tenento entre i se   |
| C1  | Canada        | Wakaw, Saskatchewan<br>Arable land (wheat)                      | N 52° 60'<br>W 105° 75'                  | e <del>da</del> ana ana ana ana ana ana ana ana ana a | Calcic-Siltic<br>Chernozems          | Black Chernozemic soil<br>(Canada)  |
| C2  | Canada        | Kenaston, Saskatchewan<br>Arable land (wheat)                   | N 51° 50'<br>W 106° 22'                  | r-an Chana  | era <del>(</del> 1717), Skopeneoviš, | Dark Brown Chernozemic soil (Canada)  |
| C3  | Canada        | Swift Current, Saskatchewan<br>Arable land (wheat)              | N 50° 42'<br>W 105° 5'                   |   | Calcic-Anthric<br>Kastanozems        | Brown Chernozemic soil<br>(Canada)  |

Table 13.1. Location and land use of study sites and soil classification of the profiles.

National and a statement of the statemen

Vield of total crops

Table 13.2. Statistical data of agricultural production from 1998 to 2000 in Ukraine, Hungary, and Canada (FAO, 2003).

Vield of wheat

|         | 1998 | 1999<br>(kg | 2000 ha <sup>-1</sup> ) | Avg.  | 1998 | 1999<br>(kg | 2000<br>ha <sup>-1</sup> ) | Avg.  | 1998 | 1999<br>(kg | 2000<br>ha <sup>-1</sup> ) | Avg. |
|---------|------|-------------|-------------------------|-------|------|-------------|----------------------------|-------|------|-------------|----------------------------|------|
| World   | 3059 | 3094        | 3034                    | 3062  | 2694 | 2758        | 2698                       | 2717  | 4433 | 4363        | 4230                       | 4342 |
| Ukraine | 2106 | 2003        | 1949                    | 2019  | 2648 | 2290        | 1972                       | 2303  | 2534 | 2522        | 3002                       | 2686 |
|         |      |             |                         | (66)  |      |             |                            | (85)  |      |             | e oo careedd               | (62) |
| Hungary | 4555 | 4695        | 3623                    | 4291  | 4139 | 3595        | 3622                       | 3785  | 6008 | 6413        | 4145                       | 5522 |
|         |      |             |                         | (140) |      |             |                            | (139) |      |             |                            | (127 |
| Canada  | 2783 | 3088        | 2801                    | 2891  | 2255 | 2595        | 2445                       | 2432  | 8007 | 8030        | 6273                       | 7437 |
|         |      |             |                         | (94)  |      |             |                            | (90)  |      |             |                            | (171 |

Values in the parentheses are the percentage to the averaged values in the World.

in the World, Ukraine, Hungary, and Canada are shown in Table 13.2 (FAO, 2003). The yields of total crops, wheat, and maize in Hungary are considerably higher than those in the World and Ukraine, indicating that extremely intensive agricultural practices have been enforced. The area of total arable land in Hungary is about 4.8 million ha in 1999 (FAO, 2003), which is similar to that in Japan (4.5 million ha) and obviously smaller than that in Canada (46 million ha) and Ukraine (34 million ha). The intensive managements and practices to increase agricultural productivity per unit land area would lead to serious soil degradation and erosion in Hungary (Gábris *et al.*, 2003; Birkás *et al.*, 2004). The yield of total crops in Canada is one-and-a-half times as high as that in Ukraine, and especially the yield of maize is almost three times as high as that in Ukraine. From these data, it can be supposed that the Chernozems in arable lands of Hungary and Canada should be strongly affected by agricultural impacts, such as mineral fertilization, tillage, irrigation, and long-term cultivation, than those of Ukraine. However, Ukraine traditionally has been a major agricultural region of Europe, resulting in soil degradation and decrease in soil fertility. After the independence in 1991, Ukraine is growing into sizeable agriculture and steps are underway to improve soils and restore them to their former levels of fertility and productivity (Medvedev, 2004).

Vield of maize

e mn 000 ni 001 meni aziki se

#### 13.2.2. Analytical methods for physico-chemical properties

Selected physico-chemical properties of the soil samples were analyzed by following methods. The particle distribution was determined by a sedimentation method. Soil pH in a suspension of air-dried soil / distilled water in the ratio of 1 : 2.5 was measured with a glass electrode, and was designated as pH(H<sub>2</sub>O). The organic carbon content was determined by a dichromate oxidation method (modified Tyurin method). The inorganic carbon content was determined by a weightloss method (Blakemore et al., 1987). The cation-exchangecapacity (CEC) was measured by a Schollenberger method combined with a steam distillation method to determine an ammonium ion, which was retained by soil colloids and percolated with potassium chloride solution. The exchangeable cations in the ammonium acetate percolate, obtained in the Schollenberger method for CEC determination, were measured by an atomic adsorption spectrophotometry (Z-5010, Hitachi, Japan).

# 13.2.3. Analytical methods for humic substances13.2.3.1. Extraction of humic substances and humification index

Two grams of air-dried samples were placed into 50 mL plastic centrifuge tubes and once washed by using 30 mL of 0.05 mol L<sup>-1</sup> H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> solution and shaking for 1 h before the extraction to remove free calcium carbonate, which might occlude organic matter. After centrifugation of the suspension at  $10,000 \times g$  for 15 min, the supernatant was decanted. The humic fraction was then extracted by using 30 mL of 0.1 mol L<sup>-1</sup> NaOH solution and shaking for 16 h at an ambient temperature. The extract was separated from the soil residue by centrifugation at  $10,000 \times g$  for 15 min. The supernatant was transferred into a 100 mL volumetric flask and the residue was extracted twice with 20 mL of 0.1 mol L<sup>-</sup> <sup>1</sup> NaOH solution containing 3 % of Na<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> by shaking for 20 min and centrifugation at  $10,000 \times g$  for 15 min. The supernatants were collected together in the volumetric flask, then added with 1 mL of concentrated H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, diluted to 100 mL and allowed to stand for overnight. The extract was filtered using No. 6 Filter Paper (Advantec Toyo, Japan), collecting the filtrate into a 100 mL volumetric flask. The precipitate retained on the filter paper was then washed with 1 % H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>, and the filtrates were combined in the volumetric flask and diluted to 100 mL (fulvic acid fraction, FA). The precipitate was dissolved with 0.1 mol L<sup>-1</sup> NaOH solution and diluted to 100 or 200 mL in a volumetric flask (humic acid fraction, HA).

The absorbances of the HAs from 220 to 700 nm were

recorded on a spectrophotometer (UV-2200, Shimadzu, Japan) within 2 h after the dissolution. Organic carbon contents in the HA (Ch) and FA (Cf) solutions were determined by a colorimetric method using a potassium dichromate-sulfuric acid solution as a reagent (Tatsukawa, 1966).

In the classification of HAs, " $^{\perp} \log K$  and RF based on the spectrophotometric properties of the HAs are used as indexes of degree of humification of the HAs, which are defined as follows: " $^{\perp} \log K = \log E_{400} - \log E_{600}$ , where  $E_{400}$ and  $E_{600}$  are the absorbances at 400 and 600 nm, respectively, and  $RF = E_{600} / c \times 15$ , where c is mg C / mL of the HA solutions (Kumada *et al.*, 1967; Kumada, 1987). By using these indexes, the HAs are categorized into four groups (Types A, B, P, and Rp), and Type A HAs are the most humified HAs of which " $^{\perp} \log K < 0.7$  and RF > 80 (Kumada *et al.*, 1967; Kumada, 1987; Maie *et al.*, 2002).

#### 13.2.3.2. <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectroscopy of humic acids

The preparation of HA samples and procedures for solution <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectroscopy were described by Kawahigashi et al. (1995) and Fujitake and Kawahigashi (1999). Solution <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra were recorded at 62.896 MHz on a Bruker DPX 250 spectrometer (Bruker GmbH, Karlsruhe) using sample tubes 10 mm in diameter. Solutions of the humic acid samples were prepared by suspending 50-120 mg in 1 mL of 0.5 mol L<sup>-1</sup> NaOH. The solution was then filtered through a glass column filled with absorbent cotton, which was then washed with  $1 \text{ mL of } D_2O$  (for a deuterium NMR lock signal). The filtrates were combined in a final volume of 2.2 mL. For the chemical shifts, an external TMS capillary was used as reference. To obtain quantitative conditions for the integration of the spectra, <sup>13</sup>C signals were proton-decoupled by the inverse gated decoupling technique as follows: pulse width 45°, acquisition time 0.2 s. A total repetition time of 2.5 s was applied to permit complete relaxation of all the spins. To improve the signal-to-noise ratio, a line broadening of 40 Hz was used. Scans numbering 18,000 to 48,000 were accumulated.

#### 13.3. Climate and soils in the Eurasian steppe

#### 13.3.1. Moisture regime and soil development in Ukraine

The distribution of each subtype of Chernozems in Ukraine is controlled by mostly climatic conditions, especially the soil moisture regime, and the soil zonality is quite distinct. In the northern part of Ukraine, the mean temperature, annual precipitation, and evaporation is relatively cool, high, and low, respectively, compared to the southern part. As a result, the soil moisture regime is drier in the southern part than the northern part. The more moist conditions can stimulate the accumulation of plant residues and their humification processes, resulting in a deep black surface horizon, high in organic matter. The leaching of calcium carbonate from surface horizons to lower parts of the profile and the consecutive 'mycelium'-type accumulation of calcium carbonate in the deeper horizons can be also observed. In the meantime, the more droughty conditions can build up a profile with a relatively thin dark-brown or brown surface horizon and a 'white eye'-type calcium carbonate accumulation at the shallower depth of the profile.

As an instance, four subtypes of Chernozems and the related soils, which can be found in the eastern part of Ukraine; 'Typical Chernozems', 'Ordinary Chernozems', 'Southern Chernozems', and 'Dark Chestnuts' according to Russian classification system (Stolbovoi, 2000) are described here (Table 13.3). The illustrative profile of Typical Chernozems under natural steppe vegetation was found in Grakovo, close to Kharkiv where the second largest cities in Ukraine, distinguished by a thick black A horizons (0-70 cm). On the way from Kharkiv to the south, the representative profile of Ordinary Chernozems was found in wheat filed of Krasnograd, which had a thick black to dark-brown A horizons (0-65 cm). Askania-Nova, the southeastern part of Ukraine, is the vast 'UNESCO Natural Reserved' area of natural virgin-steppe vegetation. The most dominant soils

in Askania-Nova were Dark Chestnuts and Southern Chernozems, characterized by thin dark-brown A horizons (38 and 55 cm, respectively) and 'white-eye' type calcium carbonate accumulation in Bk horizons at the shallower depths.

# 13.3.2. Physico-chemical properties of Chernozems in Ukraine

Some general physico-chemical properties of the soil samples in Ukraine were shown in Table 13.4. Chernozemic soil samples in Ukraine were high in silt and clay fractions, exhibiting fine texture. Most soil texture was classified into silty clay loam (SiCL) or silty clay (SiC) except for some surface and subsurface soil samples, of which soil texture was classified into light clay (LiC) or heavy clay (HC). The soil pHs were neutral to slightly alkaline, reflecting high exchangeable calcium contents. The pH(H<sub>2</sub>O) of Typical Chernozem (U1), Southern Chernozem (U3), and Dark Chestnut (U4), which were under natural steppe vegetation, increased with increase in soil depth. Organic carbon contents were high in surface horizons of each profile, decreasing with increase in soil depth. Cation-exchangecapacity (CEC) were also high in topsoils and highly correlated with organic carbon contents (r = 0.881, p < 0.001). Inorganic carbon contents, which mainly originated from calcium carbonate, were highest in the Bk horizons of U1, U3, and U4, and in the BA horizon of Ordinary Chernozem

| Sample        | Horizon       | Depth (cm)     | Soil color (Wet and field condition)                       | Accumulation                     |
|---------------|---------------|----------------|--|----------------------------------|
| Typical Cherr | nozem in Gr   | akovo, Ukraine | (U1)   | kinkaten er Grakinka, Men        |
| U1-1          | <b>A</b> 1    | 0-30           | black (2.5Y 2/1)   | humus                            |
| U1-2          | A2            | 30-46          | black (10YR 2/1)   | humus                            |
| U1-3          | A3            | 46-70          | brownish black (7.5YR 3/1)                                 | humus                            |
| U1-4          | AB            | 70-105         | dull yellowish brown (10YR 5/3)                            | mycelium-type CaCO3              |
| U1-5          | Bk            | 105-120+       | dull brown (7.5YR 5/4)                                     | mycelium-type CaCO <sub>3</sub>  |
| Ordinary Che  | ernozem in K  | Trasnograd, Uk | raine (U2)   |                                  |
| U2-1          | Ар            | 0-23           | brownish black (10YR 3/1)                                  | humus                            |
| U2-2          | Al            | 23-48          | black (7.5YR 2/1)  | humus                            |
| U2-3          | A2            | 48-65          | brownish black (7.5YR 3/1)                                 | humus                            |
| U2-4          | BA            | 65-88          | dull yellowish brown (10YR 5/3)                            | mycelium-type CaCO3              |
| U2-5          | BC            | 88-100+        | dull yellowish brown (10YR 5/4)                            | white eye-type CaCO <sub>3</sub> |
| Southern Che  | rnozem in A   | skania-Nova, L | Tkraine (U3)   |                                  |
| U3-1          | A1            | 0-25           | brownish black (7.5YR 3/1)                                 | humus                            |
| U3-2          | A2            | 25-55          | brownish black (7.5YR 3/1)                                 | humus                            |
| U3-3          | BA            | 55-70          | brownish black & dull yellowish brown(10YR 3/2 & 10YR 5/4) |                                  |
| U3-4          | Bk            | 70-92          | dull brown (7.5YR 5/4)                                     | white eye-type CaCO <sub>3</sub> |
| U3-5          | BC            | 92-103+        | dull yellowish brown (10YR 5/4)                            |                                  |
| Dark Chestni  | ıt in Askania | -Nova, Ukraine | ? (U4)   |                                  |
| U4-1          | A1            | 0-25           | brownish black (7.5YR 3/2)                                 | humus                            |
| U4-2          | A2            | 25-38          | grayish brown (7.5YR 4/2)                                  | humus                            |
| U4-3          | BA            | 38-64          | dull yellowish brown(10YR 4/3)                             |                                  |
| U4-4          | Bk            | 64-90          | dull brown (7.5YR 5/4)                                     | white eye-type CaCO <sub>3</sub> |
| U4-5          | С             | 90-108+        | dull yellowish brown (10YR 5/4)                            |                                  |

 Table 13.3. Brief description of the soil profiles in Ukraine.

(U2), where distinct mycelium-type and/or white eye-type  $CaCO_3$  accumulations were observed in the profiles (Table 13.3). Distribution of total carbon contents in each profile of Chernozems was shown in Fig. 13.1. The total carbon contents were more than 2 % for all horizons of U1 and U2, even in the lower horizons. The total carbon contents were higher in the A1 and Bk horizons of U3 and U4, where humus and calcium carbonate accumulations were found in the profiles, respectively, and lowest in the A2 horizons of both profiles.

The profiles of Typical Chernozem (U1), Southern Chernozem (U3), and Dark Chestnut (U4) investigated in the present study were under natural steppe vegetation, never affected by cultivation and agricultural practices. However, the profile of Ordinary Chernozem (U2) was under wheat cultivation. Strongly-developed angular blocky and/or subangular blocky structures with fine to medium sizes were distinctly observed in all horizons of the U1, U3, and U4 profiles. Moderately-developed fine subangular blocky structure was found in the Ap horizon of the U2 profile, and moderately- to strongly-developed subangular blocky structures were also observed in other horizons of the U2 profile. Although the soil color of the A2 horizon of the U2 profile was slightly darker than that of the Ap horizon (Table 13.3), the organic carbon content of the Ap horizon was slightly higher than that of the A2 horizon (Table 13.4). Judging from well-developed structures, soil dark colors, and organic carbon contents of the surface and subsurface soils of the arable U2 profile, it was supposed that agricultural management practices in this area were relatively extensive compared with those in Hungary and Canada described in the later section.

#### 13.3.3. Characteristics of humic substances of Chernozems in Ukraine

Properties of humic substances and humification indexes in the surface and subsurface horizons of the Ukrainian profiles were presented in Table 13.5. The extracted carbon



Figure 13.1. Organic and inorganic carbon contents of the soil samples in Ukraine.

|              |   | Particl                                      | e size dist         | ribution         | Soil                          | pH                 | Carbor   | 1 contents | OF C                                  |                       | Exchangea | ble cation                      | IS   |
|--------------|---|--|---------------------|------------------|-------------------------------|--------------------|--|------------|---------------------------------------|-----------------------|-----------|---------------------------------|------|
| Sample       | horizon   | Clay   | Silt                | Sand             | texture                       | (H <sub>2</sub> O) | Organic  | Inorganic  | CEU                                   | Mg                    | Ca        | Na                              | K    |
|              | and a subsect of the second | )<br>Normaniae a sectore d<br>Internetion de | (%)                 |                  |                               |                    |  | (%)        | (cmol <sub>c</sub> kg <sup>-1</sup> ) |                       | (cmol     | <sub>c</sub> kg <sup>-1</sup> ) |      |
| Typical Cher | nozem in Gra  | akovo, Ukra                                  | aine (UI)           |                  |                               |                    |  |            |                                       |                       |           |                                 |      |
|              | A1  | 43.4   | 37.7                | 18.9             | LiC                           | 7.52               | 3.32   | 0.06       | 35.0                                  | 3.80                  | 68.9      | 0.16                            | 2.17 |
| U1-2         | A2  | 23.9   | 57.6                | 18.5             | SiCL                          | 8.15               | 2.61   | 0.23       | 32.4                                  | 3.28                  | 113       | 0.28                            | 1.69 |
| U1-3         | A3  | 21.6   | 59.9                | 18.5             | SiCL                          | 8.32               | 2.23   | 0.58       | 25.3                                  | 4.26                  | 118       | 1.34                            | 1.65 |
| U1-4         | AB  | 19.2   | 62.5                | 18.3             | SiCL                          | 8.68               | 0.94   | 1.53       | 17.8                                  | 5.51                  | 107       | 0.94                            | 1.29 |
| U1-5         | Bk  | 27.8   | 54.7                | 17.5             | SiC                           | 8.79               | 0.33   | 1.84       | 16.3                                  | 6.40                  | 103       | 0.79                            | 1.29 |
| Ordinary Che | ernozem in K  | rasnograd,                                   | Ukraine (           | T2)              |                               |                    |  |            |                                       |                       |           |                                 |      |
| U2-1         | Ap  | 37.9   | 40.5                | 21.6             | LiC                           | 8.34               | 2.67   | 0.06       | 31.1                                  | 3.07                  | 75.2      | 0.13                            | 2.45 |
| U2-2         | AÌ  | 32.6   | 45.5                | 21.9             | SiĈ                           | 8.25               | 2.33   | 0.09       | 30.3                                  | 3.02                  | 83.8      | 0.21                            | 1.84 |
| U2-3         | A2  | 19.6   | 59.9                | 20.4             | SiCL                          | 8.38               | 1.63   | 0.48       | 21.8                                  | 3.24                  | 111       | 0.24                            | 1.62 |
| U2-4         | BA  | 17.6   | 60.7                | 21.7             | SiCL                          | 8.51               | 0.77   | 1.86       | 11.5                                  | 3.63                  | 104       | 0.28                            | 1.14 |
| U2-5         | BC  | 19.2   | 58.5                | 22.3             | SiCL                          | 8.66               | 0.38   | 1.68       | 15.4                                  | 5.77                  | 104       | 0.44                            | 1.31 |
| Southern Che | ernozem in As   | skania-Nov                                   | a, Ukraine          | e (U3)           |                               |                    |  |            |                                       |                       |           |                                 |      |
| U3-1         | A1  | 39.0   | 36.1                | 24.9             | LiC                           | 6.76               | 2.59   | N.D.       | 23.9                                  | 5.29                  | 38.5      | 0.16                            | 5.13 |
| U3-2         | A2  | 45.5   | 36.1                | 18.3             | HC                            | 7.75               | 1.33   | N.D.       | 26.0                                  | 7.71                  | 38.6      | 0.36                            | 2.76 |
| U3-3         | BA  | 22.6   | 58.4                | 19.0             | SiCL                          | 8.53               | 0.75   | 0.73       | 20.7                                  | 9.52                  | 94.1      | 0.78                            | 2.23 |
| U3-4         | Bk  | 28.5   | 53.1                | 18.4             | SiC                           | 9.15               | 0.44   | 1.64       | 15.9                                  | 10.6                  | 91.3      | 2.55                            | 1.41 |
| U3-5         | BC  | 26.7   | 56.3                | 17.0             | SiC                           | 9.28               | 0.33   | 1.37       | 16.8                                  | 12.2                  | 121       | 4.67                            | 1.46 |
| Dark Chestn  | ut in Askania   | -Nova, Ukr                                   | aine (U4)           |                  |                               |                    |  |            |                                       |                       |           |                                 |      |
| U4-1         | A1  | 35.1   | 38.3                | 26.6             | LiC                           | 7.11               | 1.95   | N.D.       | 19.4                                  | 4.82                  | 28.5      | 0.09                            | 3.83 |
| U4-2         | A2  | 46.4   | 32.8                | 20.8             | HC                            | 7.58               | 1.08   | 0.06       | 25.0                                  | 5.95                  | 27.9      | 0.15                            | 2.23 |
| U4-3         | BA  | 21.2   | 57.1                | 21.7             | SiCL                          | 8.57               | 0.63   | 0.78       | 18.4                                  | 8.22                  | 90.5      | 0.25                            | 1.91 |
| U4-4         | Bk  | 22.7   | 55.0                | 22.3             | SiCL                          | 8.83               | 0.31   | 1.81       | 15.1                                  | 11.3                  | 91.5      | 0.54                            | 1.53 |
| U4-5         | С   | 23.8   | 53.2                | 23.0             | SiCL                          | 8.99               | 0.26   | 1.47       | 15.0                                  | 13.3                  | 88.7      | 1.32                            | 1.61 |
| N.D. Not de  | tected  | u Viller og kan det som                      | ાર્થયને આ સામગ્રીને | a a di deserve a | a an a State and a state in a | 计公司系统 建建筑电压 化      | An |            | eren in the state in the              | and the second second | Webber    | s volt                          |      |

Table 13.4. General physico-chemical properties of the soil samples in Ukraine.

158

contents were higher in the surface soils than in the subsurface soils of each profile. The extracted carbon contents in fulvic acids (Cf) decreased in the order of *climosequence* of the soils from the northern wetter zone to the southern drier zone. The total extracted carbon content (Cf + Ch) was highest in the A1 horizon of the Typical Chernozem (U1-1) and lowest in the A2 horizon of the Southern Chernozem (U3-1). The Ch to Cf ratio (Ch/Cf) and the humic acid ratio in extracted humus (PQ) of the Southern Chernozem (U3) and Dark Chestnut (U4) were higher than those of the Typical Chernozem (U1) and Ordinary Chernozem (U2). Especially, the PQ values of the subsurface horizons of the U3 and U4 profiles were more than 95 %, probably due to strong affinity of soil mineral colloids to the FAs, microbial depletion of the FAs, and/or other factors.

The humification indexes ( $\Delta \log K$  and RF) and classification diagram of HAs in the surface and subsurface horizons of the soil profiles in Ukraine were shown in Table 13.5 and Fig. 13.2, respectively. The averaged value of  $\Delta \log K$  was 0.56, which was slightly higher than those of HAs (0.52) in Japanese Andisols (Maie *et al.*, 2002), and a distinct difference between the HAs of the Chernozems in Ukraine were not observed. On the other hand, the *RF* values were remarkably higher in the surface and subsurface horizons of the Typical Chernozem (U1-1 and U1-2) and Ordinary Chernozem (U2-1 and U2-2) than those of the Southern Chernozem (U3-1 and U3-2) and Dark Chestnut (U4-1 and U4-2). The *RF* values increase as the humification of highly humified HAs progresses (Kumada, 1987). The humification degree of HAs of the Chernozems developed in the wetter zone of Ukraine was higher than those in the drier zone. Most of HAs in the surface and subsurface horizons of the Chernozems in Ukraine were classified into Type A except for U4-2 (Fig. 13.2).

 $^{13}$ C NMR spectra obtained for the six HAs extracted and purified from the surface and subsurface horizons of the Chernozems in Ukraine were shown in Fig. 13.3. The patterns and peak strength of all the spectra were much the same. Two resonances, due to aromatic and C=C carbon around 130 ppm and C=O in the carboxylic groups around 175 ppm, predominated in the spectra of all the HAs. Especially, the



Figure 13.2. Classification diagram of humic acids in the surface and subsurface horizons of the soil profiles in Ukraine.

|              |                | Extracte   | ed carbon                 | Ch/Cf | DO       | Savore | Humic aci | d             |
|--------------|----------------|------------|---------------------------|-------|----------|--------|-----------|---------------|
| Sample       | horizon        | Cf<br>(mį  | Ch<br>g g <sup>-1</sup> ) |       | PŲ       | ∐logK  | RF        | Туре          |
| Typical Cher | nozem in Gra   | kovo       |                           | e jan |          |        |           |               |
| U1-1         | A1             | 3.8        | 17.4                      | 4.6   | 82       | 0.54   | 134       | Α             |
| U2-1         | A2             | 3.8        | 11.4                      | 3.0   | 75       | 0.56   | 138       | Α             |
| Ordinary Che | ernozem in Ki  | rasnograd  |                           |       |          |        |           |               |
| U <b>2-1</b> | Ар             | 2.9        | 14.5                      | 5.0   | 83       | 0.54   | 139       | Α             |
| U2-2         | ÂÌ             | 2.3        | 13.4                      | 5.8   | 85       | 0.54   | 142       | Α             |
| Southern Che | ernozem in As  | kania-Nova | 2                         |       |          |        |           | Sector States |
| U3-1         | A1             | 1.9        | 17.2                      | 9.1   | 90       | 0.55   | 95        | Α             |
| U3-2         | A2             | 0.5        | 9.6                       | 19.2  | 95       | 0.57   | 86        | Α             |
| Dark Chestni | ıt in Askania- | Nova       |                           |       | XQQ188.5 |        |           |               |
| U4-1         | A1             | 1.4        | 13.9                      | 9.9   | 91       | 0.55   | 90        | Α             |
| U4-2         | A2             | 0.4        | 11.4                      | 28.5  | 97       | 0.61   | 67        | В             |

| T 1 1     | 40      |         | 01 .     |            | a second second second second |         |        | 1 0      | and the second sec |
|-----------|---------|---------|----------|------------|-------------------------------|---------|--------|----------|--|
| I O D I O | 14 5 01 | ONOTION | of humin | cubetoneog | in tha                        | Curtoco | and an | bourtooo | horizona   |
| Ianc      | 13.3.11 | ODELLES | UT HUIHU | SUDSLAHUUS |                               | Surface | anu su | USUITACE | HOUZOHS.   |
|           |         |         |          |            |                               |         |        |          |  |

Cf: extracted carbon contents in fulvic acids (FA) Ch: extracted carbon contents in humic acids (HA)

|               | red the service of | Table 13.        | <b>6.</b> Brief description of the soil profiles in Hungary and Canada.    | angel der bereitene              |
|---------------|--------------------|------------------|--|----------------------------------|
| Sample        | Horizon            | Depth (cm)       | Soil color (Wet and field condition)                                       | Accumulation                     |
| Chernozem (   | Ustolls) in V      | alence Lake, ne  | ar Budapest, Hungary (H1)  |                                  |
| H1-1          | Ap                 | 0-25             | brownish black (7.5YR 3/2)   |                                  |
| H1-2          | BA                 | 25-60            | dark brown (10YR 3/3)  | mycelium-type CaCO <sub>3</sub>  |
| H1-3          | Ck                 | 60-100           | dull vellow (2.5Y 6/4)   | mycelium-type CaCO <sub>3</sub>  |
| H1-4          | 2Ck                | 100-150+         | yellowish brown (2.5Y 5/4)   | mycelium-type CaCO <sub>3</sub>  |
| Chernozem (   | Udolls) in V       | nlonco I ako noi | ar Rudanest Hungary (H2) 541 TO DOSITED SA 545 DI 259701 DI                |                                  |
| H2-1          | $\Delta n$         | 0_32             | hrownish black (10 VR 2/2)   |                                  |
| H2-1          | RΔ                 | 32-75            | brownish black & gravish vellow brown (10VR 3/1 & 10VR 6/2)                | mycelium-type CaCO.              |
| H2-2<br>H2-3  | Ch                 | 75-100           | vellowish brown (2 5V 5/A)   | mycelium-type CaCO.              |
| H2-3          | 2Ck                | 100-150+         | vellowish brown & gravish vellow brown (2.5Y 5/4 & 10YR 5/2)               | myeenum-type Caco3               |
|               | Celling 12         | 100 100          |  |                                  |
| Leached Che   | rnozem in E:       | xperimental Far  | rm, University of Gödöllő, Hungary(H3)                                     |                                  |
| H3-1          | Ap                 | 0-32             | dark brown (10YR 3/3)  |                                  |
| H3-2          | A                  | 32-60            | brownish black (7.5YR 3/2)   | ma US and UA profiles.           |
| H3-3          | В                  | 60-90            | brownish black & dull yellowish brown (7.5YR 3/2 & 10YR 5/4)               |                                  |
| H3-4          | 2Ck1               | 90-135           | brown (7.5YR 4/6)  | mycelium-type CaCO <sub>3</sub>  |
| H3 <b>-</b> 5 | 2Ck2               | 135-170+         | brown (7.5YR 4/4)  | mycelium-type CaCO <sub>3</sub>  |
| Chernozem in  | n Experimen        | tal Farm, Karca  | ag, University of Debrecen, Hungary (H4)                                   |                                  |
| H4-1          | Ap                 | 0-28             | brownish black (10YR 3/1 & 10YR 3/2)                                       | humus                            |
| H4 <b>-</b> 2 | A                  | 28-55            | brownish black (10YR 3/1)  | humus                            |
| H4-3          | AB                 | 55-80            | brownish black (10YR 3/2)  | mycelium-type CaCO <sub>3</sub>  |
| H4-4          | Ck                 | 80-115           | grayish yellow brown & dull yellowish brown (10YR 4/2 & 10YR 5/4)          | mycelium-type CaCO <sub>3</sub>  |
| H4-5          | 2Ck                | 115-135+         | dull yellowish brown (10YR 5/4)  | mycelium-type CaCO <sub>3</sub>  |
| Chernozem i   | n Experimen        | tal Farm. Latok  | én University of Debrecen Hungary (H5)                                     |                                  |
| H5-1          | An                 | 0-30             | brownish black (10VR 3/1)  | humus                            |
| H5-2          | A                  | 30-50            | brownish black (7.5YR 3/1)   | humus                            |
| H5-3          | BA                 | 50-72            | brownish black (7.5YR 3/2)   |                                  |
| H5-4          | Bk1                | 72-93            | gravish vellow brown (10YR $4/2$ )   | mycelium-type CaCO <sub>3</sub>  |
| H5-5          | Bk2                | 93-137           | dull vellowish brown (10YR 5/3)  | mycelium-type CaCO <sub>2</sub>  |
| H5-6          | Ck                 | 137-170+         | dull yellowish brown (10YR 5/4)  | white eve-type CaCO <sub>2</sub> |
|               |                    |                  |  |                                  |
| Black Cherne  | ozemic soil, i     | in Wakaw, Cand   | ada (CI)   | bits (-5,0) mesonrona            |
| C1-1          | Apl                | 0-9              | brownish black (2.5Y 3/1)  | humus                            |
| C1-2          | Ap2                | 9-18             | brownish black (2.5Y 3/1)  | humus                            |
| C1-3          | A/B                | 18-23            | brownish black & olive brown (2.5Y 3/1 & 2.5Y 4/3)                         | 1.                               |
| C1-4          | Bkl                | 23-43            | yellowish brown (2.5Y 5/3)   | white eye-type CaCO <sub>3</sub> |
| C1-5          | Bk2                | 43-56            | yellowish brown (2.5Y 5/3)   | white eye-type CaCO <sub>3</sub> |
| C1-6          | BC                 | 56-70+           | yellowish brown (2.5Y 5/3)   |                                  |
| Dark Brown    | Chernozemi         | c soil in Kenast | on, Canada (C2) da situ na secondo da su numbra secona que i . E. El elder |                                  |
| C2-1          | Ap1                | 0-9              | brownish black (2.5Y 3/2.5)  |                                  |
| C2-2          | Ap2                | 9-20             | olive brown (2.5Y 3.5/3)   |                                  |
| Brown Cherr   | nozemic soil       | in Swift Curren  | t, Canada (C3)   |                                  |
| C3-1          | Ap                 | 0-12             | olive brown (2.5Y 4/3)   |                                  |
| C3-2          | Bk                 | 12-24            | dull vellow (2.5Y 6/3)   | white eye-type CaCO <sub>1</sub> |
| C3-3          | BC                 | 24-37            |  | · •1                             |
| C3-4          | $\frac{1}{2C}$     | 37-48+           |  |                                  |

peak strength of aromatic C around 130 ppm was higher than that of carboxylic C around 175 ppm. Apparently, these spectra were characterized by the presence of highly aromatic HAs with a high content of aromatic C and carboxylic C (Fujitake and Kawahigashi, 1999). The spectra of the HAs extracted from the Chernozems in Ukraine were remarkably similar to those of Type A HAs extracted from Japanese Andisols (Fujitake, 2003). Three resonances, due to aliphatic C around 30 ppm, methoxyl C around 57 ppm, and carbohydrate around 80 ppm, were extremely weak in all the spectra. These distinctive features were most obvious in the spectrum of the HA extracted from Ap horizon of the Ordinary Chernozem (U2-1), being similar to those of HAs extracted buried Andisols (Fujitake, 2003).

-OCH<sub>a</sub> -COO <sub>OH</sub> 💭 HCOH Typical Chernozem -66 -CH<sub>2</sub>, U1-1(A1) U1-2(A2) Ordinary Chernozem U2-1(Ap) U2-2(A1) Southern Chernozem U3-1(A1) Dark Chestnut U4-1(A1) 200 100 0 ppm Chemical shift, ( $\delta$  ppm)

**Figure 13.3.** Solution <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of humic acids extracted and purified from surface and subsurface horizons of Chernozems and Chestnut soils in Ukraine.

# 13.4. Agricultural use and soils in the Eurasian steppe13.4.1. Chernozemic soils in Hungary and Canada

Chernozemic soils are one of the most fertile soils in the world, rich in both organic matter and plant nutrients. During the warm summer, large quantities of organic matter are produced under natural steppe and mixed vegetation, which can assure the everlasting fertility of Chernozemic soils. However, the lands covered by Chernozemic soils and the climatic conditions in such areas are suitable for wheat, barley and maize production, alongside other food crops and vegetables. The intensive agricultural practice would induce soil carbon degradation, due to low input of plant residues and high microbial decomposition of organic matter accompanied by plowing, resulting in irreversible decrease in the soil fertility.

Chernozemic soils are widely distributing in Hungary, especially in the vast areas of the eastern plain called as 'puszta'. Since the intensive wheat and maize productions have been conducted in such areas, lands under the natural steppe vegetation are almost scarce. The soil colors of the surface horizons in these areas are brownish black to dark brown, not real black, probably reflecting the soil carbon degradation through agricultural practices (Table 13.6). Two profiles of Chernozems in Valence Lake, near Budapest (H1 and H2), had relatively thin humic A horizons. Weaklydeveloped fine granular and/or subangular blocky structures were observed in surface and subsurface horizons of the H1 and H2 profiles, and the hardness of these horizons was compact, probably due to intensive agricultural management practices. These profiles were classified into Calcic-Siltic Chernozems or Calcic Chernozems in the WRB system (FAO, 1998). A profile in an experimental farm, University of Gödöllő (H3), had thick Ap and A horizons (0 to 60 cm) and was classified into a Leached Chernozem in the Russian classification system. The external surface of the subangular blocky structure was relatively blackish, however, the inner colors of the structure was nearly brown, suggesting the leaching of the decomposed organic matter and subsequent re-adhesion on the surface of the ped. Although the soil colors of the A horizons were not representative black (a Munsell chroma of less than 2.0, a value darker than 2.0, according to the diagnostic criteria for a Chernic Horizon, in the WRB system, FAO, 1998), it could be presumed that the original H3 profile, before cultivation, was possibly classified into Chernic Chernozems in the WRB system (FAO, 1998). Two profiles of Chernozems in experimental farms, University of Debrecen, were observed in Karcag (H4) and Latokép (H5). The soil colors of A horizons in the H4 and H5 profiles were relatively darker than those in the H1, H2, and H3 profiles, of which Munsell chromas were mostly 1.0. Since the 'slickensides' were observed on the structural surfaces of the Ap and A horizons, and fine fractions of clay and silt were dominated in the A horizons, the H4 profile was classified into Vertic-Siltic Chernozems in the WRB system (FAO, 1998). Strongly-developed fine to medium subangular blocky structures were found in the A horizon of the H4 profile. The H5 profile had thick A horizons (0 to 50 cm) and their hardness was medium, not compact. It could be assumed that the virgin H5 profile was possibly classified into Chernic Chernozems in the WRB system (FAO, 1998) as same as the H3 profile. Moderately-developed fine subangular block structures were observed even in the Ap horizon, suggesting that the impacts of agricultural practices on the soil carbon depletion and soil degradation could be less critical in the H4 and H5 profiles.

Chernozemic soils are widely distributing in the central and south part of Canada, which support the intensive wheat,

|                |                 | Particl                                      | e size dist | ribution       | Soil                     | pH                 | Carbon                        | contents   |                                 |                     | Exchangea    | ble cation           | S    |
|----------------|-----------------|--|-------------|----------------|--------------------------|--------------------|-------------------------------|------------|---------------------------------|---------------------|--------------|----------------------|------|
| Sample         | horizon         | Clav   | Silt        | Sand           | texture                  | (H <sub>2</sub> O) | Organic                       | Inorganic  | CEC                             | Mg                  | Ca           | Na                   | к    |
| Bampie         | nernzen         | <u>—————————————————————————————————————</u> | (%)         | Juna           |                          | (20)               | ()                            | 6)         | $(\text{cmol}, \text{kg}^{-1})$ | 8                   | (cmol        | _ kg <sup>-1</sup> ) |      |
|                |                 |  | ()          | a takan karang | ter in the second second | Nonasiana.         |                               |            | <u>(</u>                        |                     |              | <u> </u>             |      |
| Chernozem (    | Ustolls) in Va  | lence Lake                                   | e, near Buc | lapest, Hun    | gary (H1)                |                    |                               |            |                                 | (Dalis)<br>Sectored | Reading      |                      |      |
| H1-1           | Ар              | 19.7   | 30.2        | 50.1           | CL                       | 8.24               | 1.77                          | 0.88       | 8.34                            | 2.33                | 59.7         | 0.06                 | 0.40 |
| H1-2           | BA              | 5.2  | 46.4        | 48.3           | SiL                      | 8.36               | 1.10                          | 2.06       | 3.94                            | 1.95                | 55.3         | 0.09                 | 0.20 |
| H1-3           | Ck              | 12.3   | 27.4        | 60.4           | $\mathbf{L}$             | 8.86               | 0.24                          | 3.30       | 1.70                            | 7.04                | 46.3         | 0.28                 | 0.11 |
| H1-4           | 2Ck             | 3.9  | 32.9        | 63.2           | SL                       | 9.30               | Tr.                           | 2.76       | 1.84                            | 7.03                | 36.3         | 0.23                 | 0.12 |
| Chernozem (    | Udolls) in Va   | lence Lake                                   | , near Bud  | apest, Hun     | garv (H2)                |                    |                               |            |                                 |                     |              |                      |      |
| H2-1           | Ap              | 24.6   | 37.2        | 38.1           | CL                       | 8.41               | 2.30                          | 0.39       | 17.8                            | 5.90                | 58.7         | 0.10                 | 0.56 |
| H2-2           | BA              | 21.8   | 37.9        | 40.2           | ĊL                       | 8.67               | 1.21                          | 1.71       | 6.79                            | 9.53                | 56.0         | 0.30                 | 0.29 |
| H2-3           | Ck              | 16.6   | 46.7        | 36.7           | SICL                     | 931                | 0.34                          | 3.04       | 4 09                            | 10.7                | 48.8         | 1.39                 | 0.68 |
| H2-4           | 2Ck             | 32.7   | 45.1        | 22.2           | SiC                      | 931                | т.<br>Тг                      | 2.07       | 9.96                            | 20.0                | 42.9         | 1.30                 | 1.71 |
|                | 2011            |  |             |                | ~                        |                    | 1949 - Totalahan<br>Totalahan |            |                                 |                     |              |                      |      |
| Leached Che    | rnozem in Ex    | perimental                                   | Farm, Un    | iversity of (  | Gödöllö, Hun             | igary(H3)          | 1.71                          | ND         | 16.0                            | 2.15                | 1277         | 0.11                 | 0.40 |
| H3-1           | Ap              | 30.7   | 34.4        | 34.9           | LiC                      | 6.62               | 1.61                          | N.D.       | 16.8                            | 3.13                | 23.7         | 0.11                 | 0.49 |
| H3-2           | A               | 36.3   | 29.2        | 34.5           | LiC                      | 6.82               | 1.10                          | N.D.       | 19.2                            | 3.93                | 21.0         | 0.13                 | 0.42 |
| H3-3           | B               | 35.9   | 25.8        | 38.3           | LiC                      | 7.09               | 0.44                          | N.D.       | 17.3                            | 3.93                | 21.0         | 0.27                 | 0.46 |
| H3-4           | 2Ck1            | 17.1   | 38.5        | 44.4           | CL                       | 8.40               | 0.31                          | 1.70       | 8.79                            | 4.15                | 64.2         | 0.18                 | 0.29 |
| H3-5           | 2Ck2            | 18.3   | 38.4        | 43.3           | CL                       | 8.21               | 0.42                          | 0.70       | 19.5                            | 6.89                | 62.5         | 0.26                 | 1.28 |
| Chernozem in   | n Experimenta   | al Farm, K                                   | arcag, Un   | iversity of l  | Debrecen, Hu             | ingary (H4         | )                             |            |                                 |                     |              |                      |      |
| H4-1           | Ар              | 38.0   | 45.2        | 16.7           | SiC                      | 6.73               | 1.76                          | 0.07       | 29.3                            | 1.97                | 11.4         | 0.08                 | 0.40 |
| H4-2           | A               | 42.1   | 39.8        | 18.2           | LiC                      | 7.82               | 1.79                          | 0.11       | 27.5                            | 4.28                | 29.3         | 0.20                 | 0.67 |
| H4-3           | AB              | 7.4  | 76.1        | 16.5           | SiL                      | 8.29               | 1.46                          | 0.53       | 25.7                            | 5.49                | 65.3         | 0.25                 | 0.55 |
| H4-4           | Ck              | 29.2   | 52.3        | 18.4           | SiC                      | 8.45               | 1.07                          | 1.30       | 20.8                            | 8.63                | 61.6         | 0.49                 | 0.43 |
| H4-5           | 2Ck             | 29.2   | 52.3        | 18.5           | SiC                      | 8.88               | 0.47                          | 1.48       | 15.9                            | 11.3                | 54.2         | 1.66                 | 0.41 |
| Chernozem i    | n Exneriment    | al Farm I.                                   | atokén Ur   | niversity of   | Debrecen H               | ungary (H          | 5)                            |            |                                 |                     |              |                      |      |
| H5-1           | An              | 29.8   | 28 0        | 42.2           | LiC                      | 7 79               | 1 57                          | ND         | 25.6                            | 2.27                | 28.5         | 0.09                 | 0.88 |
| H5_2           | Δ               | 203  | 20.0        | 42.9           | LiC                      | 7.90               | 1.26                          | N D        | 21.8                            | 3 31                | 31.8         | 0.10                 | 0.76 |
| Ц5 3           | RA<br>RA        | 29.5   | 35.0        | 42.0           | CI                       | 8 30               | 1.20                          | 0.36       | 10.0                            | 3 34                | 61.3         | 0.07                 | 1 30 |
| 115-5<br>115 / | DA<br>Bb1       | 20.0   | 38.0        | 41.1           | CI                       | 8 53               | 0.65                          | 1.48       | 11.5                            | 0.19                | 14.6         | Tr                   | 0.04 |
| 113-4<br>US 5  |                 | 20.0   | 36.9        | 41.1           | CI                       | 0.55<br>8 55       | 0.05                          | 1.40       | 10.2                            | 4 59                | 557          | 0.08                 | 0.30 |
| H5-5           | Cle             | 177  | 30.8        | 43.0           | CI                       | 8 83               | 0.35                          | 1.00       | 10.2                            | 8 17                | 53.7         | 0.07                 | 0.29 |
|                |                 | 1/./   |             | <u> </u>       |                          | 0.05               | 0.20                          | 1.10       | 10.5                            | 0.17                |              | 0.07                 |      |
| Black Cherno   | ozemic soil, ir | ı Wakaw, (                                   | Canada (C   | 1)             |                          |                    |                               |            | insi icifide ani                |                     |              |                      | • •• |
| C1-1           | Ap1             | 23.2   | 27.6        | 49.2           | CL                       | 8.22               | 2.22                          | 0.36       | 17.0                            | 8.14                | 51.4         | 0.17                 | 2.80 |
| C1-2           | Ap2             | 23.0   | 27.0        | 50.0           | CL                       | 8.32               | 1.90                          | 0.45       | 16.6                            | 10.7                | 54.6         | 0.28                 | 1.50 |
| C1-3           | A/B             | 20.2   | 29.6        | 50.2           | CL                       | 8.30               | 1.01                          | 0.52       | 15.0                            | 14.0                | 48.1         | 0.39                 | 1.24 |
| C1-4           | Bk1             | 21.1   | 29.1        | 49.8           | CL                       | 8.55               | 0.43                          | 2.15       | 5.81                            | 16.7                | 81.9         | 0.55                 | 0.76 |
| C1-5           | Bk2             | 18.1   | 50.9        | 31.1           | SiCL                     | 8.56               | 0.28                          | 2.62       | 6.87                            | 22.4                | 78.8         | 0.86                 | 0.91 |
| C1-6           | BC              | 17.2   | 50.7        | 32.1           | SiCL                     | 8.55               | Tr.                           | 2.06       | 7.88                            | 20.6                | 74.6         | 0.90                 | 1.03 |
| Dark Brown     | Chernozemic     | soil in Kei                                  | naston. Co  | nada (C2)      |                          |                    |                               |            |                                 |                     |              |                      |      |
| C2-1           | An1             | 23.6   | 20.1        | 56.2           | CI.                      | 7 76               | 1 79                          | 0.27       | 14 3                            | 4.72                | 28.5         | 0.12                 | 4.14 |
| C2-2           | Ap2             | 24.3   | 22.8        | 52.9           | CL                       | 7.43               | 0.98                          | 0.31       | 13.0                            | 5.38                | 20.4         | 0.16                 | 1.11 |
| <br>D          |                 | - 0  |             | - 1- (C2)      | sin sin de               |                    | odinistic                     | u alimet i | ton an lo a                     |                     |              |                      |      |
| Brown Cherr    | nozemic soil i  | n swift Cu                                   | rrent, Can  | aaa (C3)       | τ                        | 0 22               | 0.00                          | 0.07       | and an <b>177</b> As assessed   | 6 60                | 20.0         | 0.72                 | 2.60 |
| 02-1           | Ap              | 28.0   | 20.5        | 21./           |                          | 8.23               | 0.88                          | 0.27       | 17.4                            | 0.00                | 30.9<br>01.4 | 0.23                 | 2.00 |
| C3-2           | BK              | 35.0   | 33.6        | 51.4           |                          | 8.71               | 0.69                          | 3.06       | 8.89                            | 10.1                | 91.0         | 0.28                 | 0.00 |
| 03-3           | BC              | 26.7   | 28.5        | 44.8           | LIC                      | 8.85               | 0.56                          | 2.54       | 6.37                            | 15.8                | 85.9         | 0.40                 | 0.85 |
| C3-4           | 2C              | 20.9   | 15.4        | 63.7           | SCL                      | 9.02               | Tr. Se                        | 1.84       | 6.23                            | 16.2                | 14.5         | 0.43                 | U.80 |

Tr., Trace amount; N.D., Not detected.

barley, and canola productions. Three profiles of Chernozemic soils derived from lacustrine deposits, not from loess materials, in Saskatchewan, where must be a center for the crop production in Canada, were classified into a Black Chernozemic soil (C1), a Dark Brown Chernozemic soil (C2), and a Brown Chernozemic soil (C3) according to the Canadian system of soil classification (Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, 1998). Although the C1 profile was classified into Chernozems in the WRB classification system, the C3 profile was classified into Calcic-Anthric Kastanozems (Table 13.1), of which soil color of the surface horizon was olive brown

and not black. Weakly-developed fine granular and/or subangular blocky structures were observed in Ap horizons of the C1 and C3 profiles as observed in those of the H1 and H2 profiles, suggesting that the intensive agricultural management practices and heavy tillage would lead to soil compaction and structural degradation (Birkás et al., 2004).

### 13.4.2. Intensive agriculture and soil physico-chemical properties

Some general physico-chemical properties of the soil samples in Hungary and Canada were shown in Table 13.7.

| Sample        | Horizon | Extracted carbon      |      | Ch/Cf | ЪÓ | Humic acid      |       |                            |
|---------------|---------|-----------------------|------|-------|----|-----------------|-------|----------------------------|
|               |         | Cf                    | Ch   | Cn/Ci | PQ | $\angle \log K$ | RF    | Туре                       |
| ing columnity |         | (mg g <sup>-1</sup> ) |      |       |    |                 |       | n, kin av gan e<br>Standar |
| Hungary       |         |                       |      |       |    |                 |       |                            |
| H1-1          | Ap      | 3.0                   | 0.6  | 0.2   | 17 | 0.78            | 45.7  | В                          |
| H2-1          | Ap      | 2.8                   | 6.0  | 2.1   | 68 | 0.59            | 90.1  | Α                          |
| H3-1          | Ap      | 1.7                   | 8.6  | 5.1   | 83 | 0.59            | 98.5  | Α                          |
| H3-2          | Ā       | 0.9                   | 11.5 | 12.8  | 93 | 0.60            | 79.9  | В                          |
| H4-1          | Ар      | 1.1                   | 13.4 | 12.2  | 92 | 0.58            | 100.5 | Α                          |
| H4-2          | Ā       | 0.7                   | 13.7 | 19.6  | 95 | 0.57            | 107.7 | Α                          |
| H5-1          | Ар      | 1.2                   | 11.9 | 9.9   | 91 | 0.55            | 110.8 | Α                          |
| H5-2          | Â       | 1.1                   | 10.3 | 9.4   | 90 | 0.56            | 118.7 | Α                          |
| Canada        |         |                       |      |       |    |                 |       |                            |
| C1-1          | Ap1     | 2.0                   | 8.7  | 4.4   | 81 | 0.65            | 99.5  | Α                          |
| C1-2          | Ap2     | 1.0                   | 7.3  | 7.3   | 88 | 0.60            | 98.5  | Α                          |
| C2-1          | Ap1     | 1.1                   | 8.0  | 7.3   | 88 | 0.55            | 85.5  | Α                          |
| C2-2          | Ap2     | 1.8                   | 8.4  | 4.7   | 82 | 0.57            | 75.8  | В                          |
| C3-1          | Ap      | 0.5                   | 3.1  | 6.2   | 86 | 0.66            | 57.7  | В                          |

 Table 13.8. Properties of humic substances in the surface and subsurface horizons of the profiles of Hungary and Canada.

Cf: extracted carbon contents in fulvic acids (FA)

Ch: extracted carbon contents in humic acids (HA)

The surface and subsurface horizons of the Chernozems in Hungary and Canada were relatively high in sand fraction except for the H4 profile (Vertic-Siltic Chernozems), exhibiting coarser texture than those in Ukraine. Most soil texture of the topsoil was classified into clay loam (CL) or light clay (LiC), probably due to erosion in some cases (Mezosi and Szatmari, 1998; Gábris et al., 2003), while silty texture was predominated in Ukraine. The soil pHs were mostly neutral to slightly alkaline, reflecting high exchangeable calcium contents. However, the pH(H<sub>2</sub>O) of the surface soils of the H3 and H4 profiles were below 7, probably due to high application of mineral N fertilizers and consequent nitrification of residual N (Nemeth, 1995). Organic carbon contents were high in surface and subsurface horizons of each profile, decreasing with increase in soil depth. Inorganic carbon contents were higher in the Bk and Ck horizons, where distinct mycelium-type and/or white eye-type CaCO<sub>3</sub> accumulations were observed in the profiles (Table 13.6).

The weighted-average values of organic carbon contents (%) in the surface layers (0 to 30 cm) of Chernozems and Kastanozem were shown in Fig. 13.4. The organic carbon content was highest in the Typical Chernozem of Ukraine (U1), followed by the Ordinary Chernozem (U2), and the Southern Chernozem (U3) of Ukraine. The organic carbon contents in arable soils of Hungary and Canada were generally lower than the soils in Ukraine, mostly less than 2%. The soil carbon degradation would cause a global warming through carbon dioxide emission and also a desertification



Figure 13.4. Weighted-average of organic carbon contents in topsoils (0-30 cm) of Chernozems.

of semi-arid and/or steppic zones. The balance of SOM should be critical to preserve the vast areas of the fertile soils in the Eurasian Steppe, which could assure a luxuriant production of crops and grasses.

# 13.4.3. Intensive agriculture and SOM dynamics of humic acids

Properties of humic substances and humification indexes in the surface and subsurface horizons of the Hungarian and Canadian profiles were listed in Table 13.8. The extracted carbon contents (Cf + Ch) in the surface soils of Hungary and Canada ranging from 3.6 to 14.5 mg g<sup>-1</sup>, being less than those of Ukraine ranging from 15.3 to 21.2 mg g<sup>-1</sup>. However, those in the subsurface soils were much the same. Although the extracted carbon contents in humic acids (Ch) were higher



Figure 13.5. Classification diagram of humic acids in surface and subsurface horizons of the Chernozems in Ukraine, Hungary, and Canada.





in the surface soils than in the subsurface soils of each profile in Ukraine, the inverse results were observed in the H3, H4, and C2 profiles. The PQ values were mostly more than 80 % except for the H1 and H2 profiles. Klimowicz and Uziak (2001) reported that the long-term cultivation on silty soils developed from loess materials in Poland had induced no further change in humus content, but increase in the portion of FAs at the expense of HAs. Their results were consistent with those of the H1 and H2 profiles, however, contradictory to those of the H4 and H5 profiles, where the PQ values were high and more than 90 %.

The classification diagram of HAs in the surface and subsurface horizons of all the soil profiles were shown in Fig. 13.5. The  $\Delta \log K$  values of the HAs of Hungary ranged from 0.55 to 0.78, and the mean value was 0.60, which was higher than that of Ukraine (0.56). The mean value was 0.58 without the H1-1, of which the  $\Delta \log K$  value was exceptionally higher than others (Table 13.8). The mean  $\Delta \log K$  value of the HAs of Canada was 0.60, which was also higher than that of Ukraine. The RF values of the HAs of Hungary and Canada were mostly more than 80, while those of the H1-1 and C3-1 were remarkably lower than others (Table 13.8). Most of the HAs in the surface and subsurface horizons of the Chernozems in Hungary and Canada were classified into Type A HAs except for H1-1, H3-2, C2-2, and C3-1, which were classified into Type B HAs (Fig. 13.5). The RF values of the HAs of the H4 and H5 profiles were more than 100, and higher in the subsurface horizons than in the surface horizons, as same as the case of the U1 and U2 profiles (Table 13.5). In the previous section (4-1), it was suggested





that the impacts of agricultural practices on the soil carbon depletion and soil degradation could be less critical in the H4 and H5 profiles than other profiles in Hungary and Canada, judging from well-developed soil structures and blackish soil colors. The relatively high humification degree of the H4 and H5 profiles also supported the above interpretation. However, the *RF* values of the H3 and H5 profiles, of which original soil types before cultivation in the WRB classification system (FAO, 1998) were presumed to be Chernic Chernozems, were lower than the values of the U1 profile corresponding to Chernic Chernozems, suggesting the *RF* values would decrease by the agricultural impacts to greater and lesser degrees.

<sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra obtained for the HAs extracted and purified from the surface horizons of the Chernozems in Hungary and Canada were shown in Fig. 13.6 and Fig. 13.7, respectively. The patterns and peak strength of the spectra of the HAs extracted from H4-1 and H5-1 were much the same with those of the HAs in Ukraine (Figs. 13.3 and 13.6), where two resonances, due to aromatic and C=C carbon around 130 ppm and C=O in the carboxylic groups around 175 ppm, predominated in the spectra of all the HAs. Although these two peaks were distinct even in the HAs extracted from H1-1, H2-1, and H3-1, three resonances, due to aliphatic C around 30 ppm, methoxyl C around 57 ppm, and carbohydrate around 80 ppm, were stronger to a certain extent than the HAs in the H4-1, H5-1, and Ukrainian samples. Especially, the peak strength of aromatic C around 130 ppm was lower than that of carboxylic C around 175 ppm in the spectrum of the HA of H1-1, and the resonances of aliphatic C and methoxyl C of the HA of H1-1 were more obvious than other spectra. The spectra of the HAs of C1-1, C2-1, and C3-1 were comparatively similar to that of H1-1 (Fig. 13.7). The peak strength of carbohydrate around 80 ppm of the HAs in Canada was slightly stronger than the HAs in Hungary and Ukraine. Fujitake and Kawahigashi (1999) reported that the peak strength around 30 ppm assigned to chains of methylene group had increased remarkably with the increase of the particle size in the <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra of fractions with different particle sizes from an Andosol humic acids. The spectra of the larger particle size fraction (more than 100 K) shown by Fujitake and Kawahigashi (1999) were resembling with those of H1-1, H3-1, C1-1, C2-1, and C3-1, suggesting that depletion of the smaller particle size fractions of highly aromatic HA would occur due to the intensive agricultural managements and insufficient conservation.

To compare the carbon species distribution, the spectra were divided into the following seven areas: 10 to 48 ppm, aliphatic C; 48 to 65 ppm, methoxyl C; 65 to 110 ppm, carbohydrate C; 110-145 ppm, aromatic C; 145 to 165 ppm, phenolic C; 165 to 190, carboxylic C; 190 to 220 ppm, carbonyl C (Fujitake, 2003). Aromaticity was calculated by expressing the amount of aromatic C (110 to 165 ppm) as ratio of aliphatic C + methoxyl C + carbohydrate C + aromatic C (Hatcher et al., 1981). The data of all the HAs extracted from surface soils in Ukraine, Hungary, and Canada were listed in Table 13.9. The aromatic C contents were highest for all the HAs, followed by the carboxylic C or aliphatic C. The aromatic C contents of the HAs in Ukraine were considerably higher than others, ranging from 48.2 to 55.7 %, and those in H4-1 (51.7 %) and H5-1 (47.1 %) were also high. Although the aromatic, carboxylic, and phenolic C were the highest three

| Table | 13.9. | Distribution | of carbon s | species of | humic acid | s in the surfa | ce horizons o | of each profile | in Ukraine. | Hungary, | and ( | Canada. |
|-------|-------|--------------|-------------|------------|------------|----------------|---------------|-----------------|-------------|----------|-------|---------|
|       |       |              |             | 1          |            |                |               | 1               |             |          |       |         |

|         | Horizon | Chemical shift (δ, ppm) |                     |                          |                       |                       |                         |                       |             |  |
|---------|---------|-------------------------|---------------------|--------------------------|-----------------------|-----------------------|-------------------------|-----------------------|-------------|--|
| Sample  |         | 10-48<br>(aliphatic)    | 48-65<br>(methoxyl) | 65-110<br>(carbohydrate) | 110-145<br>(aromatic) | 145-165<br>(phenolic) | 165-190<br>(carboxylic) | 190-220<br>(carbonyl) | Aromaticity |  |
| Ukraine |         |                         | VIEBBAS OF          |                          | 19100493              |                       |                         |                       |             |  |
| U1-1    | A1      | 8.63                    | 4.24                | 8.78                     | 48.23                 | 9.95                  | 16.70                   | 3.46                  | 0.73        |  |
| U2-1    | Ap      | 6.57                    | 2.51                | 5.87                     | 55.70                 | 9.37                  | 17.48                   | 2.51                  | 0.81        |  |
| U3-1    | AÌ      | 7.52                    | 3.78                | 8.52                     | 50.50                 | 9.69                  | 16.79                   | 3.21                  | 0.75        |  |
| U4-1    | A1      | 5.60                    | 3.54                | 6.69                     | 53.79                 | 10.18                 | 17.28                   | 2.92                  | 0.80        |  |
| Hungary |         |                         |                     |                          |                       | sti bos slips :       |                         |                       |             |  |
| H1-1    | Ap      | 19.68                   | 10.74               | 11.70                    | 30.94                 | 5.99                  | 18.10                   | 2.84                  | 0.47        |  |
| H2-1    | Ap      | 12.60                   | 6.15                | 8.57                     | 44.61                 | 7.95                  | 18.49                   | 1.64                  | 0.66        |  |
| H3-1    | Ap      | 15.96                   | 7.79                | 11.15                    | 38.60                 | 7.93                  | 15.68                   | 2.90                  | 0.57        |  |
| H4-1    | Ap      | 8.86                    | 4.69                | 7.81                     | 51.69                 | 8.10                  | 17.44                   | 1.41                  | 0.74        |  |
| H5-1    | Ap      | 10.84                   | 5.08                | 6.05                     | 47.13                 | 9.64                  | 18.83                   | 2.43                  | 0.72        |  |
| Canada  |         |                         |                     |                          |                       |                       |                         |                       |             |  |
| C1-1    | Ар      | 12.10                   | 7.68                | 14.41                    | 38.17                 | 7.18                  | 17.37                   | 3.10                  | 0.57        |  |
| C2-1    | Āp      | 17.97                   | 10.06               | 13.33                    | 31.39                 | 6.97                  | 17.72                   | 2.55                  | 0.48        |  |
| C3-1    | Āp      | 11.54                   | 7.17                | 12.34                    | 40.73                 | 7.60                  | 18.74                   | 1.88                  | 0.61        |  |

carbon species in the HAs of Ukraine, the aromatic, carboxylic, and aliphatic C were predominated three carbon species in the HAs of H4-1 and H5-1. The mean contents of aliphatic C of Hungary and Canada were 13.6 and 13.9 %, respectively, twice as high as that of Ukraine (7.1 %). The carbohydrate C contents of Canada were slightly higher than those of Ukraine and Hungary. The aromaticity of U1-1, U2-1, U3-1, U4-1, H4-1, and H5-1 was more than 0.7, and higher than those of others. Fujitake and Kawahigashi (1999) indicated that the aromaticity of the HA in an Andosol decreased from 0.73 to 0.51 with the increase in the particle size from 3 K to 500 K, where the aromaticity of the whole HA was 0.63. From the results, it was inferred that the intensive agricultural impacts could lead to changes in the SOM quality of humic acids, especially the decrease in the aromatic HAs of smaller particle size. It was and the second and the second strategy of

#### 13.5. Conclusion

The greater part of lands is covered by Chernozems and the related soils in Ukraine, where must be the central and representative Chernozemic zones in the Eurasian steppe. In the eastern part of Ukraine, the *climosequence* of the soils from the northern wetter zones to the southern drier zones can be distinctly observed. Under the moist conditions in the north. Typical Chernozems and Ordinary Chernozems, which can be distinguished by a deep black surface horizon with strongly-developed structures and the highly humified Type A humic acids, of which the *RF* value and aromaticity are remarkably high. Southern Chernozems and Dark Chestnuts are the common subtypes under the relatively dry moisture regime, the profiles of which can be characterized by a relatively thin dark-brown or brownish black surface horizon. These soils are also characterized by the Type A humic acids, however, the RF value is less than Typical Chernozems and Ordinary Chernozems. The carbon stock as organic carbon and/or inorganic carbon through the profile is extremely high in either case, can support and assure a luxuriant production of plant and biomass, and can reduce greenhouse gases.

The lands covered by Chernozemic soils and the climatic conditions in such areas are suitable for wheat, barley and maize production, alongside other food crops and vegetables. The intensive agricultural practice would induce soil carbon degradation, due to low input of plant residues and high microbial decomposition of organic matter accompanied by plowing, resulting in irreversible decrease in the soil fertility. The soil colors of the surface horizons in the arable soils of Hungary and Canada are brownish black to dark brown, not real black, and the organic carbon contents in the topsoils are relatively lower than those of Ukraine, probably reflecting the soil carbon degradation through agricultural impacts. They are characterized by the Type A or B humic acids, of which "<sup>L</sup> log K value is higher, the *RF* value is lower, and aromaticity is remarkably lower than those of the typical Type A humic acids observed in Ukraine.

From the results, it was inferred that the intensive agricultural impacts can lead to changes not only in the SOM quantity but also in the SOM quality of humic acids, especially the decrease in the aromatic and highly-humified HAs of smaller particle size. The long-term cultivation and fertilization may contribute to the formation of labile (not stable) humic substances (larger particle size) at the expense of highly aromatic HAs (smaller particle size), which are more resistant to microbial decomposition and act as the binding agents of aggregate stability, resulting in deterioration of soil structure and depletion of soil fertility.

#### References

Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, 1998. The Canadian System of Soil Classification. NRC, Ottawa, Canada.

- Aoyama M, Kumakura N, 2001. Quantitative and qualititative changes of organic matter in an ando soils induced by mineral fertilizer and cattle manure applications for 20 years. *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 47, 241-252.
- Birkás M, Jolánkai M, Gyuricza C, Percze A, 2004. Tillage effects on compaction, earthworms and other soil quality indicators in Hungary. *Soil Till. Res.* 75, 185-196.
- Blakemore LC, Searle PL, Daly BK, 1987. Calcium carbonate. In Methods for Chemical Analysis of Soils. NZ Soil Bureau Scientific Report 80. DSIR, Lower Hutt, New Zealand, p. 83-87.
- Doane TA, Devêvre OC, Horwáth WR, 2003. Short-term soil carbon dynamics of humic fractions in low-input and organic cropping systems. *Geoderma* 114, 319-331.
- FAO, 1998. World Reference Base (WRB) for Soil Resources. FAO, Rome, Italy.
- FAO, 2002. Major Soils of the World, Land and Water Digital Media Series 19. FAO, Rome, Italy (in CD-ROM).
- FAO, 2003. Yearbook of Agricultural Production 2002 (Japanese Edition), FAO Statistics Series No. 163. FAO, Rome, Italy (in Japanese)
- Filip Z, Kubát J, 2003. Aerobic short-term microbial utilization and degradation of humic acids extracted from soils of long-term field experiments. *Eur. J. Soil Biol.*, 39, 175-
182.

- Fujitake N. 2003. Recent trend and view of studies on humic substances in Japan. 3. Techniques for humic substances analysis and prospective techniques in the future. *Jpn. J. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 74, 223-228 (in Japanese).
- Fujitake N, Kawahigashi M, 1999. <sup>13</sup>C NMR spectra and elemental composition of fractions with different particle sizes from an Andosol humic acid. *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 45,359-366.
- Gábris Gy, Kertész A, Zámbó L, 2003. Land use change and gully formation over the last 200 years in a hilly catchment. *Catena* 50, 151-164.
- Hatcher PG, Schnitzer, M, Dennis LW, Maciel GE, 1981. Aromaticity of humic substances in soils. Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J. 45, 1089-1094.
- Kawahigashi M, Fujitake N, Azuma J, Takahashi T, 1995. Preparation of humic acid fractions with a definite range of particle sizes by gel permeation chromatography (GPC). *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 41, 147-150.
- Klimowicz Z, Uziak S. 2001. The influence of long-term cultivation on soil properties and patterns in an undulating terrain in Poland. *Catena* 43, 177-189.
- Kumada K, Sato O, Ohsumi Y, Ohta S, 1967. Humus composition of mountain soils in central Japan with special reference to the distribution of P type humic acid. *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 13, 151-158.
- Kumada K, 1987. Chemistry of Soil Organic Matter. Japanese Scientific Societies Press, Tokyo and Elsevier Science Publishers, Amsterdam, p. 241.
- Maie N, Watanabe A, Hayamizu K, Kimura M, 2002. Comparison of chemical characteristics of Type A humic acids extracted from subsoils of paddy fields and surface ando soils. *Geoderma* 106, 1-19.
- Medvedev V, 2004. UKRAINE Author's impression of soil protection and land use. J. Soil Water Conserv. 59, 36A-37A.
- Mezosi G, Szatmari J, 1998. Assessment of wind erosion risk on the agricultural area of the southern part of Hungary. *J. Hazard. Materials* 61, 139-153.
- Nemeth T, 1995. Nitrogen in Hungarian soils nitrogen management relation to groundwater protection. J. Contam. Hydrol. 20, 185-208.
- Rasmussen PE, Goulding KWT, Brown JR, Grace PR, Janzen HH, Körschens M, 1998. Long-term agroecosystem experiments: assessing agricultural sustainability and global change. *Science* 282, 893-896.

Shevysova L, Romanenkov V, Sirotenko O, Smith P, Smith

JoU, Leech P, Kanzyvaa S, Rodionova V, 2003. Effect of natural and agricultural factors on long-term soil organic matter dynamics in arable soddy-podzolic soils -- modeling and observation. *Geoderma* 116, 165-189.

- Stolbovoi V, 2000. Soils of Russia: Correlated with the Revised Legend of the FAO Soil Map of the World and World Reference Base for Soil Resource. IIASA, Laxenburg, Austria.
- Tatsukawa R, 1966. Rapid determination of organic matter with special reference to soil: Determination for sugars, uronic acids, and amino acids. *Jpn. J. Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 37, 28-33 (in Japanese).
- USDA, 1998. Keys to Soil Taxonomy, Eighth Edition. USDA, Washington, D.C., USA.

Four experimental sites all located within the Charnottan Four experimental sites all located within the Charnottan Sett of former Soviet Union were examined during spring unnext of 1999 and 2006. They are: Kharkov (dry functeppe, east (Ilevaine); Uman (moist farest steppe), central teppe, east (Ilevaine); Uman (moist farest steppe), central for steppe, north Kazaldustan). The sites are located in recipitation; temperature, soil type and vegetation. Central terestriptions are characterized as follows; was fright consupplicat corions are characterized as follows; was fright Kurdov; mean annual temperature S.S.C. mean annual recipitation 542 mm), wet-mesic (Limin 3.5°C, 663 mm), deherence (Fiberson, U°C, 352 mm) and dry-fright (Storman) (C 3.25 mm)

Nagor beerginaa sulgaree ji selaan wheel ( Sarbay (Horotgaw migyree) sara, gan Hasser waroon ji boolareen (Heparibee) ji macadamaa milige

 Stephini Schurtz, sugar pesi, corte pasi, chima, "Information antibiliana (, conversioned conversion).

helarin per darage natura ( marca album), area leha dara perpendienda dilaga

presentative alperation findation i Mante alment proprietation

## Chapter 14

## Characterization of soil organic matter status of Chernozem soils from different climatic regions of former Soviet Union

### Elmira Karbozova-Saljnikov and Takashi Kosaki

#### 14.1. Background

Climate impacts the soil organic carbon (organic C) content primarily through the effects of temperature, moisture, and solar radiation on the array and growth rate of plant species, and on the rate of soil organic C mineralization. Post et al. (1982) have found that amounts of soil organic C were positively correlated with precipitation and, at a given level of precipitation, negatively correlated with temperature.

Soil maintenance can have a varying influence on the total, microbial, and readily mineralizable pools of soil organic carbon (SOC) depending on inherent site characteristics, including soil texture and climate (Collins et al., 1992; Gupta et al., 1994; Franzluebbers et al., 1994; Franzlueberrs and Arshad, 1996). Climatic influences on biologically active fractions of SOM are not well understood. This limits environmental assessment system that is based on the mechanisms of transformations and storage of organic matter (Franzluebbers et al., 2001). Number of studies reported that stock of SOC is generally greater in both colder and wetter climates compared with hotter and drier climates (e.g., Jenkinson, 1988).

Van Veen et al. (1985), Ladd and Amato (1988), and Voroney et al. (1989) have reported stabilizing effect of clay particles on SOM and microbial biomass. West et al. (1988a) have found that soil texture affects the rate of decline of microbial biomass C in air-dried soils; and Marshall (1975) has stated that clay particles may protect cells from the effects of desiccation and predation.

Many studies have demonstrated a relationship between decomposition and plant residue characteristics thought to be indicative of residue quality (Edmonds and Thomas, 1995; Hobbie, 1996; Cortez et al., 1996; Agren and Bosatta, 1996).

#### 14.2. Description of study soils

Four experimental sites all located within the Chernozem Belt of former Soviet Union were examined during springsummer of 1999 and 2000. They are: Kharkov (dry foreststeppe, east Ukraine), Uman (moist forest-steppe, central Ukraine), Kherson (dry steppe, south Ukraine) and Shortandy (dry steppe, north Kazakhstan). The sites are located in different soil-ecological zones and differ in the amount of precipitation, temperature, soil type and vegetation. General site descriptions are given in Table 14.1. The four selected geographical regions are characterized as follows: wet-frigid (Kharkov; mean annual temperature 6.5°C, mean annual precipitation 542 mm), wet-mesic (Uman; 8.5°C, 660 mm), drythermic (Kherson; 11°C, 332 mm) and dry-frigid (Shortandy; 1°C, 325 mm).

| Site location                  | Precipitatio<br>n | Mea<br>tempera                      | m air<br>ture (°C) | Ecological and climatic  | Soil classification   |            | Cropping plants and land management   |  |  |  |
|--------------------------------|-------------------|-------------------------------------|--------------------|--------------------------|---|------------|---|--|--|--|
|                                | (mm)              | winter                              | summer             | region                   | USDA  | Local      |   |  |  |  |
| Kharkov, east<br>Ukraine       | 515-570           | South forest-<br>steppe; Haptudolls |                    | Typical                  | Sugar beet (Beta vulgaris), winter wheat,<br>barley (Hordeum vulgare) corn, pea |            |   |  |  |  |
| 50°N, 360E                     | 010 010           | 10                                  | 10                 | Wet-frigid               | chernozem   |            | ( <i>Pisum sativum</i> ), sunflower ( <i>Helianthus</i> ); conventional tillage           |  |  |  |
| Uman, central<br>Ukraine       | 550-770           | No<br>770 -5 17                     |                    | North forest-<br>steppe; | Argiudolls  | Podzolized | Winter wheat, sugar beet, corn, pea, clover ( <i>Trifolium incarnatum</i> ); conventional |  |  |  |
| 48.8°N, 30.20E                 |                   |                                     |                    | Wet-mesic                | 5   | charnozem  | tillage   |  |  |  |
| Kherson, south<br>Ukraine      | 315-350           | 0                                   | 22                 | South steppe             | Calciustolls  | Southern   | Alfalfa (Medicago sativa ), winter wheat,   |  |  |  |
| 46.6°N, 32.60E                 | 515 550           | Ū                                   |                    | Dry-thermic              | y-thermic chernozer   |            | corn (Zea mays), conventional tillage   |  |  |  |
| Shortandy, north<br>Kazakhstan | 300-350           | -18                                 | 19                 | North steppe;            | Haplustolls   | Southern   | Spring wheat (Triticum aestivum)  |  |  |  |
| 51°N, 70oE                     |                   |                                     |                    | Dry-frigid               | maprustons  | chernozem  | monoculture; sub-soil cutting   |  |  |  |

| Table 14.1. Utilitial cilaracteristics of study si | Table |
|--|-------|
|--|-------|

#### 14.2.1. Ukraine experimental sites

*Kharkov:* Experimental site in Kharkov is located at the border of forest-steppe and steppe zones with mean annual precipitation of 542 mm, mean annual air temperature of -7 to  $+20^{\circ}$ C. Soil of the site is classified as *Typical Chernozem*, in Dokuchaev Soil Classification System (Soil Classification and Diagnosis 1967) or as *Typic Hapludolls* in Soil Taxonomy (Soil Survey Staff, 2003). Profile of the soil is presented in Fig. 14.1a. The soil is characterized with thick humified horizon (A+B is 85-120 cm) and high humus content in the upper layer (in natural land 80-120 g kg<sup>-1</sup> that is about 600 to 750 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>). Texture is homogeneous throughout the profile. Carbonates are presented mainly as mycelium and nodules

 $(CaCO_3; 45-180 \text{ g kg}^{-1})$  at 85-120 cm depth. Soil pH is near to neutral (6.5-7.0) in the upper layer and weakly alkaline in the carbonate accumulation horizon. There are no soluble salts in the profile of Typical Chernozems of the area studied. CEC of the upper layer is about 35-60 cmol<sub>e</sub> kg<sup>-1</sup> soil. The soil is insufficiently supplied with available phosphorus (3 to 10 mg 100 g<sup>-1</sup> soil).

*Uman:* Uman experimental site is located in forest-steppe zone with the highest amount of precipitation among the study sites and is most affected by forest vegetation. The mean annual precipitation is 550-770 mm; mean air temperature in winter is -4°C, in summer +21°C. The soil is classified as *Podzolized Chernozem* in Dokuchaev Soil









Figure 14.1. Profiles of a) Typical Chernozem in forest-steppe zone, Kharkov, Ukraine (2000); b) Podzolized Chernozem in forest-steppe zone, Uman, Ukraine (2000); c) Southern Chernozem in dry-steppe of Crimea, Kherson, Ukraine (2000); and d) Southern Chernozem in steppe zones of northern Kazakhstan, Shortandy (1998). Classification System (Soil Classification and Diagnosis, 1967) that corresponds to *Argiudolls* in Soil Taxonomy (Soil Survey Staff, 2003). Profile of this soil is shown in Fig. 14.1b. Thickness of humus horizon (A+B) is 50 to 70 cm. Humus content of native land is 50-80 g kg<sup>-1</sup>. *A* horizon is slightly bleached. In the humus layer there is a silica powdering. The soil is characterized with absence of carbonates in a humus layer. There are no water-soluble salts in the profile of Podzolized Chernozem. In the upper layer of the profile, formation of new organo-mineral complexes with high CEC (30-45 cmol<sub>c</sub> kg<sup>-1</sup> soil) is taking place. Clay illuviation horizon is present in the profile.

Kherson: Kherson experimental site is located in dry steppe zone in south Ukraine (north of Crimea) with the least amount of precipitation among the study sites. Mean annual precipitation is 315-350 mm; mean air temperature in winter is 0°C, in summer +22°C. The soil of the site is classified as Southern Chernozem in Dokuchaev Soil Classification System (Soil Classification and Diagnosis, 1967) that corresponds to Calciustolls in Soil Taxonomy (Soil Survey Staff, 2003). The profile of the soil is presented in Fig. 14.1c. The A horizon is dark-gray colored. Thickness of the humus horizon is 30-50 cm. Humus content of natural land is 40-60 g kg<sup>-1</sup>. Carbonate accumulation horizon is very distinct and carbonates are presented at 40-60 cm depths as concretions (white eye, CaCO<sub>3</sub>; 90-160 g kg<sup>-1</sup>). pH of the surface soil is 7.0-8.0. Water-soluble salts and gypsum is present at 200-300 cm depth. CEC of the humus layer is around 35-40 cmol. kg<sup>-1</sup> soil.

#### 14.2.2. Northern Kazakhstan experimental site

Shortandy: Shortandy experimental site is situated in dry steppe area of northern Kazakhstan, Astana province, between 51° and 52° latitude and 70° and 72° longitude that is mid-continent region situated in the central part of Eurasia. The landscape is characterized as plain to undulating, with average altitude of 370 m above sea level. The climate is very continental with long-lasting cold winter and short dry summer. The mean annual precipitation is 340 mm; mean air temperature in winter is -17, in summer +19°C. The soil of the Shortandy experimental site is classified as, Southern Chernozem, clayey, calcareous, in Kazakh Soil Classification System (Redkov, 1964) or as Typic Haplustolls in Soil Taxonomy (Soil Survey Staff, 2003). The soil profile is shown in Fig. 14.1d. The soil of the experimental field was formed on a heavy-clay textured parent material and contains up to 60% of silt + clay fraction (< 50  $\mu$ m), including 40-45% of clay. The depth of A horizon is 15-20 cm; humus content in natural steppe is 55-60 g kg<sup>-1</sup>. CEC in A horizon reaches 30 to 35 cmol<sub>e</sub> kg<sup>-1</sup> soil. Soluble salts are at 20-40 cm in natural land, and in arable land might be present from the surface. Carbonate accumulation layer is located at 35-45 cm, with carbonates presented as "white eyes" (white soft spots). Gypsum horizon is present at 150-200 cm depth.

#### 14.3. Analytical methods

Soil pH: Soil pH was measured with a glass electrode pH meter using a soil to solution ( $H_2O$ ) ratio of 1 to 5 after being shaken for one hour (Methods of soil analysis 1996).

*Soil electrical conductivity:* Soil electrical conductivity (EC) was measured with EC meter (TOA CM-5B) after being shaken for one hour. Soil to water ratio was 1 to 5 (Methods of soil analysis 1996).

Total carbon and nitrogen: Total C and N were determined by a dry combustion method using NC-auto analyzer (Sumika NC-800-13N) after the soil samples were ground to powder state and oven dried (Methods of soil analysis, 1996).

Organic carbon: Organic C was measured by acidification of organic C of the soil by excess amount of potassium dichromate:  $3C + 4Cr^{6+}=4Cr^{3+}+3C^{4+}$ . Acidification took place in a strongly acidic environment so it was accompanied by reduction of  $Cr^{6+}$  into  $Cr^{3+}$ . Excess dichromate in the solution after acidification of organic C was titrated by Mohr's Salt. By subtracting the volume of dichromate before and after acidification the amount of organic C was calculated (Methods of soil analysis, 1996).

Labile organic matter (biological analysis): The soils were assayed for labile OM content using laboratory incubation techniques with constant temperature of 30°C and moisture of 50% of WHC for 10 weeks. After the soils were removed from the refrigerator, they were left for several days for conditioning of the samples to avoid flash of  $CO_2$ 

*Carbon mineralization potentials:* Mineralized C was measured by placing 20 g of soil in incubation jar along with 10mL of alkali trap (1 M NaOH). The jar was sealed and placed for 10-weeks incubation. Each sample was duplicated to avoid any experimental error. Alkali trap was to be replaced every two weeks. CO<sub>2</sub> emissions trapped in the alkali was precipitated as carbonate by addition of BaCl<sub>2</sub> solution and titrated with 1 M HCl solution a presence of phenolphthalein indicator. PMC was calculated by summing up 2-, 4-, 6-, 8-, and 10-week CO<sub>2</sub> emissions. Potentially mineralizable carbon (PMC) was obtained after fitting the data of mineralized C to the first order kinetic model

## using non-linear regression model (SPSS Inc., 1998b): $C_{\min}=C_0(1-e^{-kt}),$ (1) where, $C_{\min}$ is the experimental data of mineralized C at a

given time (t), that was plotted to fit the equation 1,  $C_0$  is a value of PMC that was calculated after fitting the curve and  $_k$  is a mineralization rate constant.

Nitrogen mineralization potentials: Mineralized N was determined after incubation of soils for 2-, 4-, 6-, 8-, 10-weeks and analyzed for nitrate and ammonium N content by colorimetric method following extraction with 2 M KCl solution. Nitrate N was analyzed after reduction of  $NO_3$  ions to  $NO_2$  by passing the extraction through cadmium column. Ammonium N was analyzed by salicylate nitroprusside method (Keeny and Nelson, 1982). Potentially mineralizable nitrogen (PMN) for Ukraine soils was obtained after fitting the data of mineralized N to the first order kinetic model (SPSS Inc., 1998b):

 $N_{\min} = N_0 (1 - e^{-kt})$  (2) where,  $N_{\min}$  is an experimental value of mineralized N at a given time (t) that was plotted to fit the equation 2,  $N_0$  is a value of PMN that was calculated after fitting the curve, k is the mineralization rate constant.

N mineralization of Shortandy soil was delayed first two weeks. Therefore PMN of this soil was calculated using the first order kinetic model with initial delay (SPSS Inc. 1998b):

 $N_{\min} = N_0(1 - e^{-k(t-d)})$  (3) where,  $N_{\min}$  is an experimental value of mineralized N at a given time (t) that was plotted to fit the equation 2,  $N_0$  is a value of PMN that was calculated after fitting the curve, k is the mineralization rate constant, and d is initial delay of mineralization.

*Microbial biomass carbon and nitrogen:* Microbial biomass was retrieved by fumigation-extraction method and calculated by subtraction of values before and after fumigation and dividing by coefficient  $k_{ec}$ - 0.68 (Jenkinson and Powlson, 1976). Extracting reagent was 1 M K<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> solution in the ratio 1 to 5. Content of organic C in the K<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> extract was determined with a total organic carbon analyzer (Shimadzu, TOC-5000), whereas the content of total N in the extract was determined photometrically at 220 nm after potassium peroxodisulfate oxidation treatment (Japanese Industrial Standards Committee 1991).

*"Light fraction" organic matter: "Light fraction"* organic matter (LFOM) is the organic debris with recognizable cellular structure. LF may be derived from different sources, but is usually dominated by pieces of plant structures. This fraction of soil organic C serves as a source of both energy and nutrients for soil organisms, and as a source of nutrients for plants. LFOM fills an intermediate position between fresh non-decomposed plant materials and more decomposed humus fraction (Baldock and Nelson, 2000).

"Light fraction" OM was analyzed by densitometry method. It has been applied to isolate "light fraction" of soil (Spycher et al., 1981; Sollins et al., 1984; Janzen, 1992; Elliot and Cambardella, 1991), which has been defined as a fraction with density of 2.0 g cm<sup>-3</sup> or less. Reagent-grade NaI solution was used as the separation medium after adjusting its density to 1.8 g cm<sup>-3</sup>. Ten grams of air-dry soil was suspended in 40mL of NaI solution. After centrifugation the suspended material, "light fraction" (LF), was transferred directly to a filtration unit by vacuum. The LF was then washed (three aliquots of 10-mL CaCl<sub>2</sub> followed by three aliquots of distilled water), dried at 70°C for 15 h and weighed. The residue was resuspended and the procedure was repeated to ensure complete collection of LF. The composite LF was finely ground and analyzed for total N and C concentrations.

Exchangeable cations and cation exchange capacity (CEC): Exchangeable cations (Ca, Mg, K, Na) were extracted from the soils by 1M ammonium acetate solution (pH = 7) after being shaken for one hour. Soil to solution ratio was 1:5. Exchangeable Ca and Mg were determined by atomic absorption analyzer, and exchangeable K and Na by flame emission spectrophotometer (Shimadzu AA-640-12). CEC was determined after replacement of exchangeable cations in residual soils and after the soils was washed with deionized water and ethanol solution successively to remove the excess ammonium. Absorbed  $NH_4$ -N was then extracted with 10% NaCl solution, and measured by the Kjeldahl distillation method (Methods of soil analysis, 1996).

Soil texture: The soil texture was analyzed by pipette method (Methods of soil analysis, 1986). Subsamples were taken by a pipet at a depth h, at time t. Using Stokes' Law, settling times for the clay fraction ( $< 2 \mu m$ ) was calculated for sampling at a given depth for a given temperature. Firstly, carbonates were removed by sodium acetate under 60-70°C for several hours on hot plate. Secondly, organic matter was removed by adding deionized water and heating samples at 90°C on hot plate. Then soluble salts were removed by ultrasonication with addition of water. After sampling sand fraction, silt and clay fractions were sampled.

Statistical analysis: All variables were subjected to a one-way analysis of variance to determine the significance of treatment effects (SPSS, 1998a). Where significant treatment effects were observed (p<0.05), LSD analysis was

| Table 14.2. Soli organic U and N and some chemical charact        | eristics of |
|---|-------------|
| Tuble I har both of Build C und I t und bothe enternieur enderwee |             |
| C1 11 C 11/0C 11 I I I  |             |
| Chernozem soils from different climatic regions                   |             |
| Chernozenii sons nom anterent eninatie regions.                   |             |

|                         | Pagion           | IN    | SOC                 | - C/N ratio | ъU  | EC        |
|-------------------------|------------------|-------|---------------------|-------------|-----|-----------|
| nden jyrnigeringer      | Kegioli          | (g kg | <sup>-1</sup> soil) | C/IN Tatio  | pri | (µS cm-1) |
|                         | Kharkov (n=24)   | 2.5   | 26.8                | 11          | 6.3 | 152       |
| terreteren 6 Derektoren | Uman (n=18)      | 1.7   | 20.5                | 12          | 5.6 | 63        |
|                         | Kherson (n=12)   | 1.24  | 15.3                | 12          | 6.1 | 75        |
|                         | Shortandy (n=24) | 2.29  | 20                  | 9           | 8.2 | 148       |

performed to permit separation of means. The relationships between selected soil properties among treatments were defined by regression analysis. Non-linear regression model was used for C and N mineralization to fit a first order kinetic model to obtain their potentials and corresponding rate constants (SPSS Inc., 1998b).

### 14.4. Soil organic carbon and total nitrogen

In Table 14.2 selected soil characteristics are shown. The highest content of soil organic carbon (SOC) and total nitrogen (TN) was observed in wet-frigid (Kharkov) region, 25.4 and 3.07 g kg<sup>-1</sup>, respectively and the lowest in dry-thermic (Kherson) region, 15.3 and 1.24 g kg<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. These results agree with the previously reported ones where the stock of SOC was generally greater in both colder and wetter climates compared to hotter and drier climates (e.g., Jenkinson, 1988). Franzluebbers et al., (2001) reported that soils of colder regions contain more SOC than soils of hotter regions. They found no significant effect of precipitation on SOC, while other authors have reported general increase in SOC with increasing precipitation (e.g, Sparling, 1992).

In the extensive study of Jenny (1930), nitrogen content of the soil was two to three times lower for each rise of 10°C in mean annual temperature. In this study TN content was also significantly higher in frigid (3.07 and 2.29 g kg<sup>-1</sup> in Kharkov and Shortandy, respectively) than in mesic (Uman and Kherson) (1.70 and 1.24 g kg<sup>-1</sup>, respectively) regions.

Lower temperature and higher precipitation in wet-frigid region (Kharkov) maintained the highest SOM, probably because of lower temperature in winter when it falls below the threshold for biological activity, limits decomposition of SOM resulting in its accumulation with time (Franzluebbers et al., 2001). Also, higher amount of precipitation would potentially lead to higher plant biomass production and organic C input (Sparling 1992). Dry-thermic (Kherson) region maintained the least concentrations of SOC and TN because limited rainfall produces less plant biomass that could contribute to accumulation of SOM.

Dry-frigid (Shortandy) and wet-mesic region (Uman)

maintained approximately equal concentrations of SOC (20.0 and 20.5 g kg<sup>-1</sup> soil, respectively). In Shortandy the plant biomass production was lower due to less precipitation and shorter vegetative season, but the decomposition of SOM was retarded due to moisture deficiency and low temperatures in winter and dry summer. Higher precipitation in Uman produced greater plant biomass that was subjected to faster decomposition due to favorable moisture and temperature conditions.

#### 14.5. Labile soil organic matter

Labile organic matter is derived partially from the death of the portion of soil biota, and partially from nonliving SOM (Jenkinson, 1966; Sorensen, 1974). A number of studies reported that soil microbial biomass carbon (MBC) and potential mineralizable carbon (PMC) are often highly related to the level of SOC (Woods and Schuman, 1986; Insam, 1990; Franzluebbers et al., 1994, 1996), therefore separating these total and active fractions from that of climate can only be achieved with expression of active fractions per unit of SOC (Franzluebbers et al., 2001). However, in this study all variables were not correlated to the amount of SOC. Moreover, high correlation coefficients were observed between the pools of labile fraction and their proportions in total SOM (Table 14.3).

| Table 13.3. | Pearson | correlation | coefficients | between | fractions |
|-------------|---------|-------------|--------------|---------|-----------|
| of SOM.     |         |             |              |         |           |

| A MARK  | SOC    | PMC        | MBC   | LFC   | LFN        |
|---------|--------|------------|---|-------|------------|
| SOC     | 1      | a alte aug | 8. C. C. S. |       |            |
| PMC     | -0.599 | 1          |   |       | G.G. Horis |
| MBC     | -0.288 | 0.642      | 1   |       |            |
| LFC     | -0.04  | 0.619      | 0.617   | 1     |            |
| LFN     | -0.269 | 0.55       | 0.657   | 0.909 | 1          |
| PMC/SOC |        | 0.92       | 0.553   | 0.423 | 0.587      |
| MBC/SOC |        | 0.71       | 0.846   | 0.538 | 0.67       |
| LFC/SOC |        | 0.592      | 0.637   | 0.861 | 0.918      |
| LFN/SOC |        | 0.611      | 0.605   | 0.782 | 0.913      |

SOC - soil organic C; PMC - potentially mineralizable C; MBC microbial biomass C; LFC - "light fraction" C; LFN - "light fraction" N.

#### 14.6. Carbon mineralization potentials

Carbon mineralization patterns are shown in Fig. 14.2 (first order kinetic model) and Fig. 14.3 (scatter plot of site variations). The amount of potentially mineralizable carbon (PMC) was higher in drier (Kherson and Shortandy, 1189 and 1219 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>, respectively) than in wetter (Kharkov and Uman, 741 and 1039 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>, respectively) regions. Mineralization rate constant (k) generally paralleled PMC values, being the least in Kharkov (0.013) and the highest in Kherson (0.031). Dalias et al. (2001), Ellert and Bettany (1992) and Zogg et al. (1997) found that temperature increased the pool size of substrate C and N available for microbial mineralization with little effect on the first order rate constant. Franzluebbers et al. (2001) suggested that temperature increased the pool size of labile fractions due to longer time for plant production. In the present study temperature didn't affect PMC and the first rate constant. But greater amount of PMC was observed in drier than in wetter regions, which indicates effect of precipitation.

There are several possible explanations of these results. In wetter regions (Kharkov and Uman) microbial respiration is always higher (Orchard et al. 1983), and more organic substrate was utilized than in drier regions (Shortandy and Kherson). In contrary, the soils from drier regions experienced moisture deficiency and were unable to use the existing available organic substrate. Consequently, when microbial activity was not limited by moisture during the laboratory incubation there was enough energy substrate to promote







Figure 14.3. Relationship between mineralized C and mineralization rate constant (k) in Chernozem soils from different climatic regions.

Kharkov: C - control; P - pea; O - manure; W - wheat; Uman: C - control; m - low rate mineral fertilizer; M - high rate mineral fertilizer; O - manure;

Shortandy: F - continuous fallow; 2-two year fallow-wheat rotation: 4- four year fallow-wheat rotation; 6 - six year fallow wheat rotation; W - continuous wheat;

Kherson: C-control; I-irrigated; F-fertilized; IF-irrigated and fertilized.

the high respiration rate. Additionally, in dry conditions potential lethal effect could contribute "dead biomass" to the organic substrate pool (Orchard et al., 1983; Jager and Bruins, 1975). And since mineral soils are typically C-limited environment (Dommergues et al., 1978), these readily decomposable organic substrate should be rapidly taken up and utilized by surviving soil microorganisms, thus contributing to the increased soil respiration observed when soils from dry regions were moistened (Orchard and Cook, 1983; Kieft et al., 1987). Lundquist et al. (1999) suggested that severe wet-dry cycles, present in Shortandy and Kherson, enhance turnover of MB and condensation of microbial products, thus increasing the amount of soluble C. They also reported that wet-dry cycles disrupt soil structure thereby making previously protected C more available as dissolved organic carbon. Therefore, since Kherson and Shortandy experience more severe dry-wet regime than Kharkov and Uman, higher amount of PMC in these regions might be partially due to disruption of soil aggregates that exposed insoluble soil organic matter to microbial attack.

Another possibility that Kharkov maintained less PMC is derived from the effect of crop rotation implemented in this site. In Kharkov the crop rotation includes fallow phase and sugar beet phase. Both fallow and sugar beet fields are cultivated many times during the vegetation season to prevent weed infestation. Such intensive cultivation makes favorable conditions for accelerated mineralization of total SOM, thus contributing to higher accumulation of mineral N and less PMC (this aspect is discussed in details in Chapter 5).

# 14.7. Site variation in potentially mineralizable carbon and mineralization rate constant (k)

The largest variations in the amount of potentially mineralizable carbon (PMC) and corresponding first order rate constant (k) within the sites were observed in dry regions that are Kherson and Shortandy as shown in Fig. 14.3.

In Kherson, the highest rate constant (k) and the lowest PMC was found in control (C), and irrigated only (I) treatments, and in Shortandy in continuous fallow (F) indicating that these treatments accumulated smaller amount of easily decomposable substrate, which was subjected to faster decomposition compared to other treatments of the related site. The reasons are different for the two sites. In the case of Kherson, control (C) didn't receive any fertilizer or irrigation treatment, therefore producing the least plant biomass production, which is one of the main sources for labile C. Irrigation only (I) makes favorable conditions for microbial activity that promotes mineralization of easily available organic substrate in the field. Therefore, this soil showed low PMC in the laboratory incubation experiment. F treatment in Shortandy implies firstly no cropping (no substrate addition), and secondly, repeated cultivation of the fallow field (accelerated mineralization of SOM). Therefore, absence of organic substrate added with plants and intensive mineralization of SOM in the field caused the lowest amount of PMC obtained in laboratory incubation.

Variations of PMC and the rate constant k in the other two regions were generally less than variations between the sites. In Uman, however, PMC value was significantly smaller in control treatment (C) that was not receiving any fertilization and in treatment with low-rate mineral fertilization (M). These treatments maintained smaller biomass production that was reflected in the amount of PMC. Treatments where manure and high rates of mineral fertilizer were applied in Uman showed the highest amount of PMC. Manure itself contains easily mineralizable organic compounds that contribute to the PMC, while high rates of mineral fertilization maintain high plant biomass production that serves as organic substrate. Broadbent (1968), Kharin (1993), Ilyaletdinov (1988) and Mamilov et al. (1998) suggested that prolonged application of organic fertilizers contributes to both humification and mineralization processes.

In Kharkov generally, control (C) and continuous growing of pea (P) maintained higher mineralization rate constant and lower PMC, while manured (O) treatment and continuous growing of wheat (W) have higher PMC. As discussed earlier, application of manure contributes to the amount of PMC. Probably, continuous growing of wheat contributes to the accumulation of plant residues that serves as a readily decomposable C when soil is placed under favorable laboratory conditions.

#### 14.8. Microbial biomass carbon

Microbial biomass carbon (MBC) was significantly higher in dry (281 and 309 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> in Kherson and Shortandy, respectively) than in wet (203 and 206 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> in Kharkov and Uman, respectively) regions (Table 14.4). Most probable reason for this is that soils from Shortandy and Kherson were undisturbed for at least several months by the time of sampling: Shortandy soil was sampled early in May, before initiation of any fieldwork; Kherson soil was sampled from the second-year stand of alfalfa that was not cultivated for more than one year. Whereas soils from Kharkov and Uman **Table 14.4.** Microbial biomass carbon (MBC), "light fraction" carbon (LFC) and nitrogen (LFN) of Chernozem soils from different climatic regions.

|                                 | MBC          | LFN                      | LFC           | SOC  | as %  |
|---------------------------------|--------------|--------------------------|---------------|------|-------|
| Region                          | 1.1.1.1.1.1. | mg kg <sup>-1</sup> soil | lenis Seguiro | MBC  | LFC   |
| Kharkov<br>(wet-frigid, n=24)   | 203±15       | 60±8                     | 1180±96       | 0.8  | 4.65  |
| Uman<br>(wet-mesic, n=18)       | 206±14       | 66±5                     | 1106±95       | 1    | 5.39  |
| Kherson<br>(dry-thermic, n=12)  | 281±32       | 110±4                    | 1687±69       | 1.84 | 11.03 |
| Shortandy<br>(dry-frigid, n=24) | 309±24       | 64±10                    | 1436±182      | 1.54 | 7.18  |

#### Table 14.5. Soil organic carbon and clay content.

| united and the second | SOC                       | Sand     | Silt   | Clay |
|-----------------------|---------------------------|----------|--------|------|
| Region                | (g kg <sup>-1</sup> soil) | 200-20µm | 20-2µm | <2µm |
| Kharkov (n=24)        | 25.4                      | 20.4     | 37.5   | 42.1 |
| Uman (n=18)           | 20.5                      | 22.9     | 37.7   | 39.4 |
| Kherson (n=12)        | 15.3                      | 43.4     | 26.9   | 29.7 |
| Shortandy (n=24)      | 20                        | 25.6     | 30.6   | 43.8 |

were sampled soon after planting crops, therefore tillage of soil evidently induced destruction of microorganisms thus decreasing their population (Calderon et al., 2000) and diversity (Lupwayi et al., 1998). Giller (1996) reported that disturbance by tillage may result in reductions in diversity of soil organisms due to desiccation, mechanical destruction, soil compaction, reduced pore volume and disruption of access to food resources.

Van Gestel (1993a,b) reported that after remoistening of soils, microbial cells killed by drying, and other sources of SOM which had become available during drying, were rapidly metabolized, leading to increases in biomass C. Because of abundant organic substrate in Kherson and Shortandy soils, addition of water to these soils reasoned quick increase of microbial population during the three days when moisture and temperature were favorable.

Changes in the relative contribution of bacteria and fungi to soil respiration occur as soil dries (Orchard and Cook, 1983). Kharkov and Uman soils normally undergo less severe fluctuations in water potential than Shortandy and Kherson soils. Wong and Griffin (1976a,b) have shown that bacterial activity is largely restricted to water films in soil in contrast to fungi activity. Hyphae extension occurs at much lower water potentials allowing fungi to bridge air-filled pores and actively explore for nutrients (Griffin, 1969). West et al. (1988b) have demonstrated with soils from a climosequence that the biomass in the soil from the lowest rainfall region was the most resistant to imposed gradual drying treatment. It is possible that in this study microbial community of drier regions might be of different composition than of wetter regions.

#### 14.9. "Light fraction" organic matter

In this study the highest amount of "light fraction" carbon (LFC) was observed in dry-thermic region (1687 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> soil, Kherson), followed by dry-frigid region (1436 mg kg<sup>-1</sup>, Shortandy), and the least was observed in wet regions (1180 and 1105 mg kg<sup>-1</sup> in Kharkov and Uman, respectively) (Table 14.4). Generally, distribution of LFC among sites was well correlated with PMC (r= 0.79). Amount of "light fraction" organic matter (LFOM) was more affected by precipitation rather than by temperature: decomposition processes during the period of favorable soil temperature were inhibited by lack of water (Shields and Paul, 1973; Douglas and Rickman, 1992).

Because LFOM is largely influenced by the amount of plant residues (Gregorich et al., 1994) it was important to consider the cropping practices implemented in the study sites. Crop rotation in Kharkov includes summer fallow and sugar beet. Summer fallow accelerates mineralization of SOM (detailed discussion in Chapter 8). Sugar beet is a row crop and the technology of its growing makes field conditions similar to summer fallow, in that way increasing mineralization of SOM. Soil from Kherson was sampled at alfalfa (secondyear stand) phase, which produces considerably higher amount of plant residues than other crops used in the experiments (Kharin, 1993). Besides, alfalfa second year stand was not cultivated for two cropping seasons that also reduced mineralization rate in the field. Greater amount of plant residues in Shortandy is also explained by monoculture of wheat that greatly contributes to organic substrate due to addition of wheat straw (Kharin, 1993; Akhmetov, 1999).

176

Rodionov et al. (2001) reported that microbial residues in ELF (enriched labile fraction, 2.07-2.22 g cm<sup>-3</sup>) were enriched with fungal debris compared to other fractions. Therefore, as it was discussed in section 14.8, it might be possible that fungi contributed to the amount of "light fraction" C and N in dry regions more than in wet regions.

# 14.10. Relationship between soil organic matter and clay content

The inert carbon is strongly correlated with clay content, while most changes in both carbon and nitrogen occur in the readily decomposable fraction (Körschens et al., 1998). Firstly, clay minerals can adsorb large organic molecules directly, reducing their availability to decomposition. Secondly, organic material may be located in pores too small for microorganisms to enter (Juma, 1993; Elliott, 1986; Gupta and Germida, 1988; Amelung and Zech, 1996; Young and Spycher, 1979; Kyuma et al., 1969; McGill et al., 1974).

In this study, clay content was highest in Kharkov and Shortandy regions (43.1% and 48.8%, respectively) versus Uman and Kherson (39.4% and 29.7%, respectively) (Table 14.5). It is reasonable to conclude that higher clay content and plant biomass production in Kharkov maintained higher SOM. Körschens et al. (1998) reported that inert carbon was strongly correlated with clay content, while most changes in both carbon and nitrogen occur in the readily decomposable fraction. Turchenek and Oades (1979) determined that "light fraction" (LF) of fine silt and coarse clay was more humified and more aromatic than other LF, concluding that LF represents a continuum of undecomposed to highly humified materials. Applying this concept to authors' data it can be assumed that sites with higher silt fraction (2-0.2  $\mu$ m) that are Kharkov and Uman (37.5% and 37.7%, respectively) might form organo-mineral complexes with large molecules of LF. Therefore, those mineral-associated LF probably were not retrieved from these soils during the separation procedure, whereas, Kherson and Shortandy contained less silt fraction (26.9% and 26.6%, respectively) that could entrap LF, resulting in higher LFOM in these soils.

However, although Shortandy possesses the highest clay content the SOM was less than in Kharkov soil. This is explained by the climatic conditions in this region. Lack of water produces less plant biomass, and inhibits mineralization processes contributing to the accumulation of labile OM, which explains higher PMC content in this soil. Also, organic compounds adsorbed to surfaces of clay particles become exposed to microbial attack after disruption of aggregates





due to severe dry-wet conditions on soil in Shortandy (Birch, 1960; Jenkinson and Powlson, 1976). The lowest clay content (29.7%) and lack of water in Kherson can explain the lowest SOM content in this soil.

#### 14.11. Distribution of labile and stable carbon

In Fig. 14.4 the distribution of labile and stable carbon among the four climatic regions is presented. The highest amount of stable C and the least amount of labile C was found in wet-frigid (Kharkov) region, while the least amount of stable and the greatest amount of labile C was found in dry-thermic (Kherson) region. Because wet-frigid (Kharkov) region maintained the highest amount of total SOC and the least amount of easily mineralizable organic matter (PMC), the suggestion is: in wet-frigid region transformation of organic substrates into more stable humified forms of OM has taken place more actively.

#### 14.12. General discussion

Organic matter in soil can be divided into pools of different SOM release and turnover time (van Veen et al., 1984; Parton et al., 1987). The partitioning of organic C and N among such pools depends on several factors, such as cultivation history (Tiessen and Stewart, 1983; Dalal and Mayer, 1986), fertilization (Christensen, 1988) or climate (Bird et al., 1996; Trumbore et al., 1996; Amelung et al., 1998). With increasing cultivation intensity, but also as soil temperature increases, SOM of the less stable pools is decomposed, as indicated by decreasing portions of sand-sized SOM (2-0.05 mm) (Bird et al., 1996; Christensen, 1996; Amelung et al., 1998), or "light fraction" carbon (Christensen, 1992; Trumbore et al., 1996). However, parts of the soil organic matter are not accessible for microbial degradation, because they are physically protected from microbial attack in clay particles (Elliott, 1986; Gupta and Germida, 1988; Amelung

#### and Zech, 1996).

Decline of "light fraction" during laboratory incubations (Ford and Greenland, 1968) or along a cropping chronosequence (Dalal and Mayer, 1987) does not necessarily imply the N mineralization. Decline of LFN can be explained by the conversion of LF to HF (Cameron and Posner, 1979; Ladd and Amato, 1980). Accordingly, LF decline can be associated with LF turnover but cannot be equated with LF mineralization and LFN release.

Readily decomposable substrates were also found to originate partially from nonliving SOM (van Gestel et al., 1993a,b). This source of non-biomass substrate may become available by aggregate disruption, litter defragmentation and substrate desorption, and redistribution of water, oxygen, substrate and microorganisms resulting from drying and rewetting of soil (Lund and Goksoyr, 1980; Sommers et al., 1981; Kieft et al., 1987; van Gestel et al., 1993a,b). Soil drying and rewetting promotes the turnover of carbon derived from added plant material (Gestel et al., 1993). Drier condition causes more disruptions of entrapped or stabilized organic matter when the soil is rewetted. Also, higher respiration in the soils exposed to wet-dry cycles may have been due to utilization of organic substrates that was gradually built up due to limited microbial activity when the soil was air-dried (Orchard and Cook, 1983).

## 14.13. Conclusions

Summarizing the results of this study the author made the following conclusions:

Total SOM among the four agro-ecological regions was distributed as follows:

Kherson (dry-thermic) < Shortandy (dry-frigid) <= Uman (wet-mesic) < Kharkov (wet-frigid)

Labile OM among the four agro-ecological regions was distributed as follows:

Kherson (dry-thermic) >= Shortandy (dry-frigid) > Uman (wet-mesic) > Kharkov (wet-frigid)

The above comparison suggests that wet-frigid zone is the most favorable for accumulation and stabilization of SOM.

Higher precipitation produced higher plant biomass contributing to the amount of SOM with further decomposition upon temperatures and soil texture. While less plant biomass production in drier regions in a lesser degree was subjected to decomposition due to moisture deficiency, thus contributing to the amount of labile SOM. Because wet-frigid (Kharkov) region maintained the highest amount of total organic carbon and the least amount of easily mineralizable organic matter (PMC), transformation of organic substrates into more stable humified forms of organic matter might have taken place more actively in this region.

### another tow manufact References to a Monte Data Data and

- Agren GI, Bosatta E, 1996. Quality: a bridge between theory and experiment in soil aggregates. *Soil Biol. Biochem*. 10,109-115.
- Akhmetov KA, 1999. Scientific substantiation of crop rotation system in dry-steppes of North Kazakhstan. *In* doctoral thesis of Akhmetov K.A., Kazakh Research Institute of Grain production, p.66-76, Shortandy, Astana (in Russian).
- Amelung W, Flach KW, Zech W, 1998 (1997). Climatic effects on soil organic matter composition in the Great Plains. *Soc. Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 61, 115-123.
- Amelung W, Zech W, 1996. Organic species in ped surface and core fractions along a climosequence in the prairie, North America. *Geoderma* 74, 193-206.
- Baldock JA, Nelson PN, 2000. Soil organic matter. *In* Handbook of Soil Science. Sumner M.E., (Ed.), pp.B25-B84.
- Bird MI, Chivas AR, Head J, 1996. A latitudinal gradient in carbon turnover times in forest soils. *Nature* 381, 143-146.
- Birch HF, 1960. Nitrification in soils after different periods of dryness. *Plant and Soil* 12, 81-96. *From* van Gestel, M., Ladd, J.N., and Amato M., 1991. Carbon and nitrogen mineralization from two soils of contrasting texture and microaggregate stability: influence of sequential fumigation, drying and storage. *Soil Biol. Biochem*. 23(4), 313-322.
- Broadbent FE, 1968. Isotopes and Radiation in Soil Organic Matter Studies, 131-142.
- Calderon F, Jackson LE, Scow KM, Rolston DE, 2000. Microbial responses to simulated tillage in cultivated and uncultivated soils. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 32, 1547-1559.
- Cameron RS, Posner AM, 1979. Mineralizable organic nitrogen in soil fractionated according to particle size. *J. Soil Sci.* 30,565-577.
- Christensen BT, 1988. Effects of animal manure and mineral fertilizer on the total carbon and nitrogen contents of soil size fractions. *Biol. Fertil. Soils* 5, 304-307.

Christensen BT, 1996. Carbon in primary and secondary organo-mineral complexes. *Adv.Soil Sci.* 24, 97-165.

- Christensen BT, 1992. Physical fractionation of soil and organic matter in primary particles and density separates. *Adv Agric.*, 20, 2-90.
- Collins HP, Rasmussen PE, Douglas CL, 1992: Crop Rotation and Residue Management Effects on Soil Carbon and Microbial Dynamics. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 56, 783-788.
- Cortez J, Demard JM, Bottner P, Monrozier LJ, 1996. Decomposition of Mediterranean leaf litters – a microcosm experiment investigating relationships between decomposition rates and litter quality. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 28, 443-452.
- Dalal RS, Mayer RJ, 1986. Long-term trends in fertility of soil under continuous cultivation and cereal cropping in
- Southern Queensland. II Total organic carbon and its rate of loss from soil profile. *Aust. J. Soil Res.* 24, 281-292.
- Dalal RC, Mayer RJ, 1987. Long-term trends in fertility of soils under continuous cultivation and cereal cropping in Southern Queensland. VI. Loss of total nitrogen from different particle-size and density fractions. *Aust. J. Soil Res.* 25, 83-93.

Dalias P, Anderson JM, Bottner P, Com<sub>r</sub> teaux M-M, 2001.

Long-term effects of temperature on carbon mineralization processes. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 33, 1049-1057.

Dommergues YR, Belser LW, Scgmidt EL, 1978. Limiting factors for microbial growth and activity in soil. *Advances in Microbial Biology*, 2, 49-104.

Douglas CL Jr, Rickman RW, Klepper BL, Zuzel JF, Wysocki

- DJ, 1992. Agroclimatic zones for dryland winter wheat producing areas of Idaho, Washington, and Oregon. *Northwest Science* 66, 26-34.
- Edmonds RL, Thomas TB, 1995. Decomposition and nutrient release from green needles of western hemlock and

pacific silver fir in an old-growth temperate rain forest,

Olympic national park, Washington. *Can. J. For. Res.* 25, 1049-1057.

Ellert BH, Bettany JR, 1992. Temperature dependence of net

nitrogen and sulfur minerlalization. *Soil Sci.Soc. Am. J.*, 56,1133-1141.

- Elliott ET, 1986. Aggregate structure and carbon, nitrogen and phosphorous in native and cultivated soils. *Soil Sci.Soc. Am. J.*, 50, 627-633.
- Elliott ET, Cambardella CA, 1991. Physical separation of soil organic matter. Agriculture, Ecosystems and Environment 34, 407-419.

Ford GW, Greenland DJ, 1968. The dynamics of partly humified

organic matter in some arable soils. *Trans. 9<sup>th</sup> Int. Congr.* Soil Sci., Adelaide, 2, 403-410.

- Franzluebbers K, Weaver RW, Juo ASR, Franzluebbers AJ, 1994. Carbon and nitrogen mineralization from cowpea plant parts decomposing in moist and in repeatedly dried and rewetted soil. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 26, 1379-1387.
- Franzluebbers AJ, Hons FM, Zuberer DA, 1994. Long term changes in soil carbon and nitrogen pools in wheat management systems. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 58, 1639-1645.
- Franzlueberrs AJ, Arshad MA, 1996. Soil organic matter pools during early adoption of conservation tillage in northwestern Canada. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 60, 1422-1427.
- Franzluebbers AJ, Haney RL, Honeycutt CW, Arshad MA, Schomberg HH, Hons FM, 2001. Climatic influences on active fractions of soil organic matter. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 33,1103-1111.
- Franzluebbers A.J, Haney RL, Hons FM, Zuberer DA, 1996. Determination of microbial biomass and nitrogen mineralization following rewetting of dried soil. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 60, 1133-1139.

Giller PS, 1996. The diversity of soil communities, the "poor

- man's tropical forest". *Biodiversity and conservation* 5,135-168.
- Gregorich EG, Carter MR, Angers DA, Monreal CM, Elert BH, 1994: Towards a minimum data set to access soil organic matter quality in agricultural soils. *Can J. Soil Sci.* 74, 367-385

Griffin DM, 1969. Soil water in the ecology of fungi. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* 7, 289-310.

Gupta VVSR, Grace PR, Roper MM, 1994. Carbon and nitrogen mineralization as influenced by long-term soil and crop residue management systems in Australia. p. 193-200. *In* J.W. Doran et al. (ed.) Defining soil quality for a sustainable environment. SSSA Spec.Publ. 35. SSSA and ASA, Madison, WI.

Gupta VVSR, Germida JJ, 1988. Distribution of microbial biomass and its activity in different soil aggregate size classes as affected by cultivation. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 20,777-786.

Hobbie SE, 1996. Temperature and plant species control over litter decomposition in Alaskan tundra. *Ecol. Monogr.* 66,503-522.

Ilyaletdinov A, 1988. Microbiological conversion of nitrogen compounds in the soil. *Nauka*, Moscow, 119-154pp.

Insam, 1990. Are the soil microbial biomass and basal

respiration governed by the climatic regime? *Soil Biol. Biochem*. 22, 525-532.

- Jager G, Bruins EH, 1975. Effect of repeated drying at different temperatures on soil organic matter decomposition and characteristics, and on the soil microflora. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 7, 153-159.
- Janzen HH, Campbell CA, Brandt SA, LaFond GP, Townley-Smith L, 1992. Light-fraction organic matter in soils from long-term crop rotations. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 56, 1799-1806.
- Japanese Industrial Standards Committee, 1991: Total
- nitrogen. In Testing methods for industrial water, JIS K 0101-1991, p. 160-168, Japanese Standards Association, Tokyo (in Japanese).
- Jenkinson DS, Powlson DS, 1976. The effect of biocidal treatments on metabolism in soil-V. A method for measuring soil biomass. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 8, 209-213.
- Jenkinson DS, 1988. Soil organic matter and its dynamics. In Russels' Soil Condition and Plant Growth (A. Wild, Ed.), 11<sup>th</sup> Edn, pp. 564-607. Longman, New York.
- Jenkinson DS, 1966. Studies on the decomposition of plant material in soil. II. Partial sterilization of soil and the soil biomass. J. Soil Sci. 17, 280-302.
- Jenny H, 1930. A study on the influence of climate upon the nitrogen and organic matter content of the soil. MO Agric. Exp. Stn. Bull. 152.
- Juma NG, 1993. Interrelationship between soil structure / texture, soil biota/soil organic matter and crop production. *Geoderma* 57, 3-30.
- Kharin SV, 1993. Humification and regulation of humus status of different cropping systems in Typical Chernozems of west forest-steppe of Ukraine. PhD thesis, Institute of Soil Science and Agrochemistry after Sokolovski, Kharkov, Ukraine (in Russian).
- Kieft LT, Soroker E, Firestone MK, 1987. Microbial biomass response to a rapid increase in water potential when dry soil is wetted. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 19, 119-126.
- Körschens M, Weigel A, Schulz E, 1998. Turnover of soil organic matter (SOM) and long-term balances-tools for evaluating sustainable productivity of soils. *Z. Pflanzenernähr. Bodenk.* 161, 409-424.
- Kyuma K, Hussein A, Kawaguchi K, 1969. The nature of organic matter in soil organo-mineral complexes. *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 15, 149-155.
- Ladd JN, Amato M, 1988. Relationships between biomass <sup>14</sup>C and soluble organic <sup>14</sup>C of a range of fumigated soils. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 20, 115-116.

- Ladd JN, Amato M, 1980. Studies on nitrogen immobilization and mineralization in calcareous soils-IV. Changes in the organic nitrogen of light and heavy subfractions of siltand fine clay size particles during nitrogen turnover. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 12, 185-189.
- Lykov AM, Tulikov AM, 1976. Practical works on agriculture with basic of soil science. M., Kolos.
- Lund V, Goksoyr J, 1980. Effects of water fluctuations on microbial mass and activity in soil. *Microbial Ecology* 6,115-123.
- Lundquist EJ, Jackson LE, Scow KM, 1999. Wet-dry cycles affect dissolved organic carbon in two California agricultural soils. *Soil Biol Biochem.* 31, 1031-1038.
- Lupwayi NZ, Rice WA, Clayton GW, 1998. Soil microbial diversity and community structure under wheat as influences by tillage and crop rotation. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 30, 1733-1741.
- Mamilov ShZ, Byzov BA, Zvyagintsev DG, 1998. Experimental approaches to studying of microbial productivity of soils. *In Publ.* Of the conference: State and rational use of Kazakhstan soils. Almaty, "Tethis", pp.157. (in Russian).
- Marshall KC, 1975. Clay mineralogy in relation to survival of soil bacteria. *Annual Review of Phytopathology* 13, 357-373.
- McGill WB, Paul EA, Sorensen HL, 1974. The role of microbial metabolites in the dynamics of soil nitrogen. *Matador Proj.* Can. Int. Biol. Program, Saskatoon, Sask. Tech. Rep. 46.
- Orchard VA, Cook FJ, 1983. Relationship between soil respiration and soil moisture. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 15, 447-453.
- Parton WJ, Schimel DC, Cole CV, Ojima DS, 1987. Analysis of factors controlling soil organic matter levels in Great Plains grasslands. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 51, 1173-1179.
- Post WM, Emmanuel WR, Zinke PJ, Stangenberger AG, 1982. Soil carbon pools and world life zones. *Nature* 298, 156-159.

Rodionov A, Amelung W, Urusevskaja I, Zech W, 2001. Origin of the enriched labile fraction (ELF) in Russian Chernozems with different site.

- Redkov VV, 1964. Soils of Tselinograd oblast. *Nauka*, Alma-Ata, 325pp. (in Russian).
- Shields JA, Paul EA, 1973. Decomposition of <sup>14</sup>C-labelled plant material under field conditions. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 53,297-306.

Soil Classification and Diagnosis, 1967 (in Russian). Soil Survey Staff, 2003. Keys to Soil Taxonomy. Ninth Edition. U.S. Department of Agriculture and National Resources Conservation Service, Washington, pp.332.

- Sollins P, Spycher G, Glassman CA, 1984. Net nitrogen mineralization from light and heavy-fraction forest soil organic matter. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 16, 31-37.
- Sommers LE, Gilmour CM, Wildung RE, Beck SM, 1981. The effect of water potential on decomposition processes in soil. *In*: Parr, J.F., Gardner, W.R., Elliot, L.F. (Eds.), Water Potential Relations in Soil Microbiology. Soil Sci. Soc. Am., Madison, pp.97-117.

Sorensen LH, 1974. Rate of decomposition of organic matter

- in soil as influenced by repeated air drying-rewetting and repeated additions of organic matter. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 6, 287-292.
- Sparling GP, 1992. Ratio of microbial biomass to soil organic carbon as a sensitive indicator of changes in soil organic matter. *Aust. J. Soil Res.* 30, 195-207.
- Spycher G, Sollins P, Rose S, 1981. Carbon and nitrogen in the light fraction of a forest soil: vertical distribution and seasonal patterns. *Soil Sci.* 2, 79-87.
- SPSS Inc, 1998(a): SigmaPlot version 5.0, Programming guide, Chicago, IL.
- SPSS Inc, 1998(b): SYSTAT version 8.0, Statistics, Chicago, IL.
- Tiessen H, Stewart JWB, 1983. Particle-size fractions and their use in studies of soil organic matter composition in size fractions. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 47, 509-514.
- Trumbore SE, Chadwick OA, Amundson R, 1996. Rapid exchange between soil carbon and atmospheric carbon dioxide driven by temperature change. *Science* (Washington, DC) 272: 393-396.
- Turchenek LW, Oades JM, 1979. Fractionation of organomineral complexes by sedimentation and density techniques. *Geoderma* 21, 311-343.
- van Gestel M, Ladd JN, Amato M, 1991. Carbon and nitrogen mineralization from two soils of contrasting texture and microaggregate stability: influence of sequential fumigation, drying and storage. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* Vol.23, No.4, 313-322.
- van Gestel M, Merckx R, Vlassak K, 1993a. Microbial biomass responses to soil drying and rewetting: the fate of fastand slow-growing microorganisms in soils from different climates. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 25, 109-123.
- van Gestel M, Merckx R, Vlassak K, 1993b. Microbial biomass responses to soil drying and rewetting: the fate of fastand slow-growing microorganisms in soils from different climates. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 25, 125-134.

- van Veen JH, Ladd JN, Frissel MJ, 1984. Modelling C and N turnover through the microbial biomass in soil. *Plant* and Soil 76, 257-274.
- Van Veen, JA, Ladd JN, Amato M, 1985. Turnover of carbon and nitrogen through the microbial biomass in a sandy loam and a clay soil incubated with [<sup>14</sup>C(U)]glucose and [<sup>15</sup>N](NH<sub>4</sub>)<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> under different moisture regimes. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 17, 257-274.
- Voroney RP, Paul EA, Anderson DW, 1989. Decomposition of wheat straw and stabilization of microbial products. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 69, 63-77.
- West AW, Sparling GP, Spier TW, Wood JM, 1988a. Comparison of microbial C, N-flash and ATP, and enzyme activities of different textured soils subject to gradual drying. *Aust. J. Soil Res.* 26, 217-229.
- West AW, Sparling GP, Spier TW, Wood JM, 1988b. Dynamics of microbial C, N-flash and ATP, and enzyme activities of gradually dried soils from a climosequence *Aust. J. Soil Res.* 26, 519-530.
- Wong PTW, Griffin DM, 1976a. Bacterial movement at high matric potentials-I. In artificial and natural soils. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 8, 215-218.
- Wong PTW, Griffin DM, 1976b. Bacterial movement at high matric potentials-II. In fungal colonies. Soil Biol. Biochem. 8, 219-223.
- Woods LE, Schuman GE, 1986. Influence of soil organic matter concentrations on carbon and nitrogen activity. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 50, 1241-1245.
- Zogg GP, Zak DR, Ringelberg DB, MacDonald NW, Pregitzer KS, White DC, 1997. Compositional and functional shifts in microbial communities due to soil warming. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 61, 475-481.

of the structure regions (1) 8.0 and some monthly or regions (3) 40, and some monthly regions (5) 40, and some monthly annual dimension, and the structure is a structure is a structure is a structure in a structure is a structure is a structure in a structure in a structure is a structure in a structure is a structure in a structure in a structure in a structure in a structure is a structure in a structure in a structure is a structure in a structure is a structure in a structure in a structure is a structure is a structure in a structure is a structure in a structure is structure is a structure is structure is

## Chapter 15 million in the bind of the bind

## Factors controlling mineralization of soil organic matter in Eurasian steppe Atsunobu Kadono and Shinya Funakawa

## 15.1. Background

In global terrestrial ecosystems, dynamics of soil organic carbon has been widely studied because of its vast stock in soil (1550×10<sup>15</sup>g C: Eswaran et al., 1995; Schlesinger, 1991), i.e. almost double of atmospheric carbon (780  $\times$  10<sup>15</sup>g C: Houghton, 2003) and triple of carbon in terrestrial plants  $(560 \times 10^{15} \text{g C})$ . Under aerobic condition, soil organic matter (SOM) decomposes to CO<sub>2</sub> and nutritional elements such as nitrogen in the forms of  $NH_4^+$  and/or  $NO_3^-$ . Therefore degradation of SOM causes the lowering fertility and adverse impact of N to environment as well as emission of the greenhouse gas. Despite the complex process of decomposition of SOM, relatively simple models have successfully described the long-term dynamics of SOM. Smith et al. (1997) tested 9 models to evaluate 12 datasets from 7 long-term field experiments and identified models suitable for a given environment. Since most of the models assume SOM fractions defined by their rate of decomposition, however, this approach does not guarantee accurate prediction at process level, in terms of simulation of short- to medium-term dynamics (De Wiligen, 1991). In addition, it may be more expedient to model the measurable components than to measure the modelable components because separation of all SOM fractions by reactivity is impossible (Christensen, 1996; Elliott et al., 1996; Magid et al., 1996).

SOM is composed of fractions with different turnover rates, which range from hours to thousands of years (Jenkinson and Rayner, 1977; Van Veen and Paul, 1981; Parton et al., 1987). Among these fractions, readily mineralizable organic matter-as determined by incubation experimentshas been studied in the most detail, because it varies widely depending on land use or cultivation practices (El-Harris et al., 1983; Hades et al., 1986; Bonde et al., 1988; Boyle and Paul, 1989). Stanford and Smith (1972) measured inorganic N accumulation during 8 weeks incubation and introduced first order kinetics to estimate the size of readily mineralizable nitrogen pool. The concept has been applied to carbon mineralization, then developed to describe several organic pool (Molina et al., 1980; Lindemann and Cardenas, 1984; Murayama et al., 1990), zero-order kinetics (Seyfried and Rao, 1988), initial flush of mineralization (Jones 1984) or delay in mineralization (Bonde and Lindberg, 1988).

The content of readily mineralizable organic matter in soils has been related to many other soil properties such as total SOM (Zak et al., 1993), water-soluble OM (Stanford and Smith, 1972; Curtin and Wen, 1999), and light fraction OM (Sollins et al., 1984; Curtin and Wen, 1999); microbial biomass (Van Veen et al., 1984); clay content (Saunder and Grant, 1962; Simard and N'dayegamiye, 1993), pH or CEC (Van Veen and Kuikman, 1990; Schrawat 1983).

Because of the complex interactions amongst these factors, however, regional and macroclimatic influences on readily mineralizable organic matter are not yet well understood (Franzluebbers et al., 2001).

The final goal of this study is 1) to determine the factors controlling the readily mineralizable organic matter and 2) to offer a simple process-based model with measurable SOM pools that describe dynamics of SOM. In this paper, we tested soil samples from Eurasia steppe area with respect to the relationship between readily mineralizable OM and soil properties as well as climatic indices.

#### 15.2. Materials and methods

Sample soils: A total of 41 surface soil samples (0-10 cm) was collected from Ukraine in May 2000 and from Kazakhstan in September-October 2000 covering a range of climatic condition and land use (Fig. 15.1). Table 15.1 shows the location of each site and estimated annual precipitation and temperature from their adjacent meteorological stations. According to the US Soil Taxonomy (Soil Survey Staff 1998), soil temperature regime (STR) and soil moisture regime (SMR) were determined for each site. In short, annual mean soil temperature less than 8°C was referred to as frigid, 8-15°C as mesic, 15-22°C as thermic and >22°C as hyperthermic. Continuously moist soil was referred to as udic, soils of moist in winter and dry in summer as xeric, soil of dry for more than 3 months as ustic and soils of dry for more than half of a year as aridic. The sites in Ukraine were classified as mesic temperature regime and ustic or xeric moisture regime. In Kazakhstan, most of the sites in northern region belong to frigid STR whereas the other regions were mostly mesic. Though several xeric and udic sites were included in southern mountain area, major parts of our sites fall into aridic SMR.

All the sites were classified to 4 land use categories, i.e.

grassland, forest, cropland and desert. In grassland sites, pasture, rangeland or natural grassland were included.

Each soil sample was sieved to 2 mm. A portion was stored in the refrigerator for the analysis of readily mineralizable organic carbon ( $C_0$ ) and nitrogen ( $N_0$ ), and the remainder air-dried for chemical analysis.

Readily mineralizable organic carbon: Twenty grams aliquots of fresh soil, adjusted to a moisture content of 60% water holding capacity (Tanaka et al., 1998), were incubated at 30°C in sealed plastic bottles with 1M NaOH (Anderson, 1982) in duplicate. The amount of CO<sub>2</sub> trapped in the alkali solution was measured by titration after 7, 35, 63 and 133 days. Readily mineralizable organic carbon ( $C_0$ ) was calculated by fitting the amounts of CO<sub>2</sub> released to the best equation of the following 3 equations:

low  $C = C_0(1 - e^{-k_c})$  reflect single sidesitetonic viberi

 $C = a(1-e^{-k_{c1}})+b(1-e^{-k_{c2}}), C_0=a+b$ 

 $C = C_0 \exp(-e^{-k_c (t-t_0)})$ 

where  $C (\text{mg C kg}^{-1})$  is cumulative  $\text{CO}_2$  released at time t (d),  $k_C$ ,  $k_{C1}$  and  $k_{C2} (d^{-1})$  are rate constants,  $t_0 (d)$  is calculated time when C equals to  $C_0/e$ . The first equation was simple first order kinetic model, the second was double first order model with different rate constants and the third was known as Gompertz equation.



**Figure 15.1.** Location of Ukraine and Kazakhstan (a), and sampling sites  $(\bigcirc)$  in Ukraine (b) and Kazakhstan (c).

*Readily mineralizable organic nitrogen:* Aliquots of fresh soil equivalent to 10 g in dry weight were weighed into glass bottles and adjusted to 60% water holding capacity (Tanaka et al., 1998). The bottles were sealed with aluminum foil and incubated at 30°C for 7, 35, 63 and 133 d in duplicate. Ammonium and nitrate ions mineralized were extracted from each soil with 50 mL of 2 M KCl solution by shaking for 1 h. The contents of  $NH_4^+$  and  $NO_3^-$  were determined after steam distillation with successive addition of MgO and Devalda's alloy (Bremner, 1965). The amount of nitrogen released in each time was calculated by summation of ammonium and nitrate-N and fitted to the best equation of the following 3 equations:

$$N = N_0 (1 - e^{-k_M t})$$

$$N = N_{\max} / (1 + (N_{\max} / N_{int} - 1) e^{-k_{x}t}), \quad N_0 = N_{\max} - N_{int}$$
$$N = N_0 \exp(-e^{-k_x(t-t_0)})$$

where  $N (\text{mg N kg}^{-1})$  is cumulative N released at time  $t (d), N_0$ (mg N kg<sup>-1</sup>) is readily mineralizable organic N,  $k_N (d^{-1})$  is rate constant,  $N_{\text{max}} (\text{mg N kg}^{-1})$  is calculated maximum amount of

 Table 15.1. Location, land use and meteorological data for sampling sites.

| Site  | Land use                                 | Latitude                                 | Longitude       | Mean annual precipitation | Mean annual temperature | SMR                   | STR         |
|-------|--|--|-----------------|---------------------------|-------------------------|-----------------------|-------------|
|       | an a | de                                       | gree            | mm                        | °C                      | an River and a second |             |
| Ukrai | ne                                       |  |                 |                           |                         | 12/2 19/2             | クリン かず 知識道像 |
| U01   | Forest                                   | 50.26                                    | 30.50           | 598                       | 8                       | ustic                 | mesic       |
| U02   | Cropland                                 | 50.26                                    | 30.50           | 598                       | 8                       | ustic                 | mesic       |
| U03   | Cropland                                 | 50.23                                    | 30.51           | 598                       | 8                       | ustic                 | mesic       |
| U04   | Cropland                                 | 50.09                                    | 30.21           | 598                       | 8                       | ustic                 | mesic       |
| U05   | Forest                                   | 50.08                                    | 30.24           | 598                       | 8                       | ustic                 | mesic       |
| U06   | Cropland                                 | 50.08                                    | 30.24           | 598                       | 8                       | ustic                 | mesic       |
| U07   | Grassland                                | 49.93                                    | 36.63           | 537                       | 7                       | xeric                 | mesic       |
| U08   | Cropland                                 | 49.93                                    | 36.63           | 537                       | 7                       | xeric                 | mesic       |
| U09   | Forest                                   | 49.92                                    | 36.65           | 537                       | 7                       | xeric                 | mesic       |
| U10   | Grassland                                | 49.32                                    | 37.24           | 537                       | 7                       | xeric                 | mesic       |
| U11   | Cropland                                 | 49.32                                    | 37.24           | 537                       | 7                       | xeric                 | mesic       |
| U12   | Cropland                                 | 48.95                                    | 35.33           | 513                       | 9                       | xeric                 | mesic       |
| U13   | Cropland                                 | 48.22                                    | 35.35           | 513                       | 9                       | xeric                 | mesic       |
| U14   | Cropland                                 | 46.86                                    | 35.39           | 513                       | 9                       | xeric                 | mesic       |
| U15   | Grassland                                | 46.48                                    | 33.85           | 386                       | 10                      | xeric                 | mesic       |
| U16   | Grassland                                | 46.48                                    | 33.82           | 386                       | 10                      | xeric                 | mesic       |
| U17   | Grassland                                | 46.46                                    | 33.90           | 386                       | 10                      | xeric                 | mesic       |
| U18   | Cropland                                 | 45.35                                    | 33.92           | 405                       | 11                      | xeric                 | mesic       |
| U19   | Forest                                   | 44.51                                    | 34.25           | 622                       | 13                      | xeric                 | mesic       |
| U20   | Forest                                   | 44.51                                    | 34.24           | 622                       | 13                      | xeric                 | mesic       |
| U21   | Forest                                   | 44.75                                    | 34.35           | 622                       | - 13                    | xeric                 | mesic       |
| U22   | Grassland                                | 45.15                                    | 34.00           | 405                       | 11                      | xeric                 | mesic       |
| U23   | Cropland                                 | 46.74                                    | 32.71           | 450                       | 10                      | xeric                 | mesic       |
| Kazak | chstan                                   | an a | en medala izani | Deserved and a state of   | Stranger Break W        | mana weinebil         |             |
| K01   | Grassland                                | 43.15                                    | 76.88           | 587                       | 6                       | xeric                 | frigid      |
| K02   | Grassland                                | 43.05                                    | 76.96           | 800                       | -2                      | udic                  | frigid      |
| K04   | Grassland                                | 43.17                                    | 76.54           | 587                       | 9                       | xeric                 | mesic       |
| K05   | Grassland                                | 43.32                                    | 76.07           | 453                       | 9                       | xeric                 | mesic       |
| K06   | Desert                                   |  |                 | 50                        | 10                      | aridic                | mesic       |
| K08   | Desert                                   | 44.92                                    | 71.47           | 50                        | 10                      | aridic                | mesic       |
| K10   | Grassland                                | 42.35                                    | 70.37           | 673                       | 9                       | xeric                 | mesic       |
| K11   | Grassland                                | 42.45                                    | 70.43           | 528                       | 11                      | xeric                 | mesic       |
| K12   | Grassland                                | 43.96                                    | 77.26           | 135                       | 6                       | aridic                | frigid      |
| K13   | Grassland                                | 45.35                                    | 78.63           | 135                       | 6                       | aridic                | frigid      |
| K14   | Grassland                                | 45.85                                    | 80.61           | 250                       | 5                       | aridic                | frigid      |
| K15   | Grassland                                | 49.05                                    | 81.97           | 400                       | 4                       | aridic                | frigid      |
| K16   | Grassland                                | 50.23                                    | 80.45           | 264                       | 3                       | aridic                | frigid      |
| K18   | Grassland                                | 50.63                                    | 79.94           | 264                       | 3                       | aridic                | frigid      |
| K19   | Grassland                                | 51.41                                    | 77.84           | 325                       | 2                       | aridic                | frigid      |
| K20   | Grassland                                | 51.70                                    | 74.27           | 325                       | 2                       | aridic                | frigid      |
| K21   | Grassland                                | 51.72                                    | 72.84           | 325                       | 2                       | aridic                | frigid      |
| K22   | Cropland                                 | 51.74                                    | 72.71           | 325                       | 2                       | aridic                | frigid      |

SMR: Soil moisture regime; STR: Soil temperature regime

inorganic N in soil,  $N_{int}$  (mg N kg<sup>-1</sup>) is calculated initial amount of N in soil,  $t_0$  (days) is calculated time when N equals to N<sub>0</sub>/ e. The first model was simple first order kinetic model, the second was known as logistic equation and the third was Gompertz equation.

*Physico-chemical analysis:* Soil pH and electrical conductivity (EC) were measured with a pH meter (Iwaki glass, pH /ion meter 225) and an EC meter (TOA, CM-30S) using a soil to water ratio of 1:5, and shaking for 1 h. Contents of sand (>0.02 mm), silt (0.02-0.002 mm) and clay (< 0.002 mm) were measured by sieving and the pipette method after carbonate removal by HCl, organic matter removal by H<sub>2</sub>O<sub>2</sub>, preparation of pH and ultrasonic dispersion.

Contents of light fraction (LF) and heavy fraction (HF) were determined as follows: 10 g aliquots of air-dried soil were dispersed in sodium iodide solution (1.6 g cm<sup>-3</sup>) and then centrifuged at 3000 rpm (Strickland and Sollins, 1987). Material in the supernatant was considered to be LF (mostly partially decomposed plant residues), whereas that in the

sediment was HF (more fully-decomposed residues and mineral material). Carbon and nitrogen contents in LF (LFC and LFN) were measured by dry combustion with an NC analyzer (Sumika, NC-800-13N). Carbon and nitrogen contents in HF (HFC and HFN) were determined by subtraction of LFC and N from total C and N.

Statistical analysis: Data were analyzed using analysis of variance (ANOVA) for the comparison of land use, except for 2 desert sites. Principal component analysis (PCA) was performed with varimax rotation using the soil properties and meteorological variables (mean annual precipitation and mean annual temperature). Tested soil properties included soil pH, EC, sand, silt and clay content, carbon and nitrogen content of LF and HF, C/N ratio of LF and HF. Then factors controlling  $C_0$  and  $N_0$  were determined by linear regression with the stepwise method, using the extracted factor scores. Statistical analysis was performed with SYSTAT 8.0 (SPSS, 1998).

| THE R R |                                       |              |                  |            | <ul> <li>A second s</li></ul> |
|---------|---------------------------------------|--------------|------------------|------------|--|
| 10000   | 1 5 7 6                               | 040 040 1 10 | 10 10 0 10 1 0 0 | 0 + 0 0 ma |  |
| 12000   | · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · | reneral n    | mernes           | ALL SALL   | nie chuic  |
| Laure   |                                       | ionorar D.   | 10001000         | OI Sum     | DIC SUID.  |
|         |                                       |              |                  |            |  |

| Site    | Land use  | TN       | TC<br>soil | C/N                                      | EC       | pH                                | Sand             | Silt | Clay                               | LFw  | LFN/LFw    | LFC/LFw  | LF C/N          | LFN            | LFC   | HFN<br>soil | HFC         | HF C/N | LFN/TN                | LFC/TC |
|---------|---|----------|------------|--|----------|-----------------------------------|------------------|------|------------------------------------|------|------------|--|-----------------|----------------|-------|-------------|-------------|--------|-----------------------|--------|
| Illeroi | an a sea an th' the sea and | <u> </u> | 3011       | en e | μο απ    | de la contra de<br>gran artes des | reta Albert N.N. | /0   | nin an anna a'<br>Saitean agus ang |      | //         | and a second s | and and and the | and a standard | 5*5   | 3011        | and seattle |        | /                     |        |
| LI01    | Forest  | 0.75     | 94         | 12.5                                     | 127      | 45                                | 72               | 12   | 16                                 | 0.23 | 07         | 18   | 24.6            | 0.02           | 0 4 2 | 0.73        | 90          | 12.2   | 23                    | 45     |
| 1102    | Cropland  | 0.75     | 9.7<br>8.4 | 10.0                                     | 87       | 5.0                               | 72               | 11   | 16                                 | 0.23 | 0.7        | 17   | 18.8            | 0.02           | 0.72  | 0.75        | 8.0         | 10.7   | 2.5                   | 4.5    |
| 1103    | Cropland  | 1 32     | 14.0       | 11.2                                     | 07       | 5.0                               | 67               | 16   | 10                                 | 0.22 | 11         | 21   | 10.0            | 0.02           | 0.17  | 131         | 14.7        | 11.7   | 0.7                   | 11     |
| 1104    | Cropland  | 2.02     | 34.0       | 11.5                                     | 1/12     | 6.1                               | 60               | 10   | 21                                 | 0.00 | 1 1        | 18   | 13.2            | 0.01           | 0.75  | 2 02        | 22.2        | 11.2   | 1.9                   | 2.2    |
| 1105    | Forest  | 2.50     | 31.5       | 12.0                                     | 200      | 18                                | 64               | 19   | 18                                 | 131  | 1.4        | 22   | 15.5            | 0.18           | 283   | 2.52        | 28.6        | 11.7   | 68                    | 9.0    |
| 1106    | Cropland  | 2.05     | 25.2       | 11.6                                     | 104      | 57                                | 60               | 16   | 24                                 | 0.26 | 1.4        | 17   | 17.9            | 0.10           | 0.44  | 2.45        | 20.0        | 11.4   | 1.1                   | 1.8    |
| 1107    | Graceland   | 1 26     | 51 /       | 12.1                                     | 104      | 5.1                               | 10               | 38   | 42                                 | 1.20 | 1.0        | 17<br>25   | 17.0            | 0.02           | 3 21  | 4.07        | 48.1        | 11.5   | 4.4                   | 62     |
| TIOR    | Cropland  | 2.62     | 32.0       | 12.1                                     | 123      | 78                                | 20               | 36   | 42                                 | 0.31 | 1.5        | 18   | 16.7            | 0.03           | 0.57  | 2 50        | 31 4        | 12.2   | 13                    | 1.8    |
| 1100    | Forest  | 2.02     | 1/ 1       | 12.2                                     | 1/4      | 7.0<br>5.5                        | 20               | 40   | 3/                                 | 0.51 | 1.1        | 10   | 21.7            | 0.05           | 2 15  | 3.50        | 42.0        | 11.7   | 27                    | 4.9    |
| 1110    | Grassland   | 1.55     | 575        | 12.0                                     | 115      | 5.5                               | 20               | 30   | 38                                 | 1 00 | 1.2        | 23   | 18.5            | 0.10           | 4.65  | 4 30        | 52.0        | 12.7   | 55                    | 81     |
| 1111    | Cropland  | 7.55     | 31.3       | 12.0                                     | 113      | 0.0                               | 30               | 34   | 36                                 | 0.28 | 1.5        | 25   | 15.9            | 0.04           | 0.61  | 2.51        | 30.6        | 12.5   | 1.5                   | 2.0    |
| 1112    | Cropland  | 2.55     | 31.5       | 12.5                                     | 152      | 7.7                               | 25               | 34   | 41                                 | 0.20 | 1.7        | 10   | 17.0            | 0.07           | 0.01  | 2.51        | 31.8        | 12.2   | 0.9                   | 12     |
| 1113    | Cropland  | 1.57     | 20.0       | 12.4                                     | 132      | 70                                | 41               | 27   | 37                                 | 0.20 | 1,1        | 21   | 18.7            | 0.02           | 1.04  | 1.51        | 18.0        | 12.5   | 35                    | 5.2    |
| 1111    | Cropland  | 0.53     | 20.0       | 14.7                                     | 116      | 7.0                               | 0/               | 0    | 54                                 | 0.24 | 1.1        | 21   | 16.7            | 0.00           | 0.67  | 0.40        | 7.0         | 14.3   | 77                    | 88     |
| 1115    | Graceland   | 4.63     | 52.1       | 11 3                                     | 240      | 56                                | 21               | 36   | 13                                 | 3 73 | 1.7        | 29   | 16.1            | 0.53           | 8.57  | 4 10        | 13.6        | 10.6   | 11.4                  | 16.4   |
| 1116    | Grassland   | 1.54     | 18.3       | 11.0                                     | 72       | 50                                | 36               | 40   | 24                                 | 0.01 | 1.7        | 18   | 16.0            | 0.55           | 1.67  | 1 44        | 16.6        | 11.5   | 64                    | 91     |
| 1117    | Graceland   | 2.96     | 36.0       | 12.2                                     | 125      | 67                                | 20               | 37   | 34                                 | 2 12 | 1.1        | 20   | 16.1            | 0.10           | 4 77  | 2.66        | 31.3        | 11.5   | 10.0                  | 13.2   |
| 1119    | Cropland  | 2.90     | 24.0       | 11.5                                     | 204      | 70                                | 17               | 31   | 57                                 | 0.34 | 1.2        | 10   | 16.1            | 0.04           | 0.66  | 2.00        | 24.2        | 11.7   | 10.0                  | 27     |
| 1110    | Forest  | 5.83     | 00.7       | 15.6                                     | 204      | 60                                | 17<br>17         | 28   | 60                                 | 4.61 | 1.2        | 13   | 24.0            | 0.63           | 15 11 | 5 20        | 75.6        | 14.5   | 10.8                  | 16.7   |
| 1120    | Forest  | 2.04     | 68.6       | 22.6                                     | 100      | 80                                | 55               | 20   | 22                                 | 3.04 |            | 30   | 27.0            | 0.03           | 0.26  | 1 70        | 50 /        | 34.0   | 16.6                  | 13.5   |
| 1121    | Forest  | 5.99     | 81 7       | 12.0                                     | 268      | 63                                | 10               | 40   | 41                                 | 3.40 | 1.1        | 20   | 27.5            | 0.34           | 0.00  | 5.44        | 72.6        | 13.3   | 75                    | 1111   |
| 1122    | Graceland   | 1.85     | 267        | 14.5                                     | 140      | 0.5<br>9 1                        | 19               | 26   | 56                                 | 0.76 | 1.5        | 27   | 20.7            | 0.08           | 1 73  | 1 77        | 25.0        | 14.1   | 4.2                   | 65     |
| 1122    | Cropland  | 1.32     | 15.6       | 11.0                                     | 199      | 67                                | 45               | 20   | 20                                 | 0.70 | 1.0        | 17   | 1/ 0            | 0.05           | 0.81  | 1.77        | 14.7        | 11.1   | 41                    | 5.2    |
| Varal   | heter   | 1.54     | 15.0       | 11.0                                     | 100      | 0.2                               | <del>т</del> Ј   | - 41 |                                    | 0.47 | 1.4        | 17   | 17.7            | 0.05           | 0.81  | 1.27        | 17.7        | 11.7   | т, 1                  | 5.2    |
| KO1     | Graceland   | 6 53     | 73.6       | 112                                      | 356      | 50                                | 25               | 44   | 31                                 | 1.70 | 14         | 25   | 18.4            | 0.23           | 4 27  | 6 30        | 60.3        | 11.0   | 36                    | 58     |
| 1202    | Graceland   | 5 73     | 61.0       | 10.7                                     | 220      | 57                                | 23               | 43   | 33                                 | 1.70 | 1.7        | 23   | 16.4            | 0.23           | 3.87  | 5 50        | 57.2        | 10.4   | 4.0                   | 63     |
| K02     | Grassland   | 3.66     | 11 8       | 11.1                                     | 137      | 87                                | 27               | 45   | 22                                 | 2 72 | 1.4        | 23   | 14.4            | 0.25           | 5.02  | 3.25        | 35.0        | 11.0   | 11.2                  | 14.1   |
| K04     | Grassland   | 1.14     | 22.5       | 10.0                                     | 110      | 8.6                               | 18               | 35   | 17                                 | 1 73 | 1.5        | 10   | 14.7            | 0.71           | 3.21  | 0.02        | 10.3        | 21.0   | 19.1                  | 14.2   |
| K06     | Decert  | 0.12     | 5 2        | 43.0                                     | 54       | 87                                | 97               | 0    | 3                                  | 0.28 | 2.0        | 30   | 14.7            | 0.06           | 0.83  | 0.07        | 44          | 67.1   | 46.1                  | 15.9   |
| KUS     | Desert  | 0.33     | 15.4       | 473                                      | 150      | 87                                | 77               | 13   | 10                                 | 0.20 | 2.0        | 17   | 14.0            | 0.03           | 0.51  | 0.29        | 14.9        | 51.2   | 10.6                  | 33     |
| K10     | Graceland   | 2.45     | 28.8       | 11.8                                     | 401      | 5.6                               | 23               | 44   | 34                                 | 2 11 | 1.1        | 25   | 17.7            | 0.31           | 5 34  | 2 14        | 23.5        | 11.0   | 12.7                  | 18.5   |
| K11     | Graceland   | 2.45     | 367        | 12.4                                     | 170      | 87                                | 33               | 40   | 28                                 | 1 73 | 1.5        | 25   | 15.5            | 0.27           | 4 15  | 2.14        | 32.5        | 12.1   | 91                    | 11.3   |
| K12     | Graceland   | 0.34     | 10.9       | 31 7                                     | 69       | 87                                | 96               | 1    | 3                                  | 0.61 | 1.5        | 19   | 15.5            | 0.07           | 1.17  | 0.27        | 97          | 36.2   | 21.8                  | 10.7   |
| K13     | Graceland   | 0.53     | 12.0       | 22.6                                     | 84       | 85                                | 89               | ŝ    | 6                                  | 0.76 | 1.2        | 20   | 15.0            | 0.10           | 1.53  | 0.43        | 10.5        | 24.4   | 19.0                  | 12.7   |
| K14     | Grassland   | 0.55     | 16.5       | 18.0                                     | 125      | 81                                | 66               | 20   | 14                                 | 1.27 | 1.5        | 20   | 15.2            | 0.10           | 2.86  | 0.68        | 13.6        | 19.9   | 21.5                  | 173    |
| K14     | Graceland   | 1 70     | 32.2       | 18.0                                     | 125      | 84                                | 47               | 20   | 37                                 | 0.71 | 1.3        | 17   | 13.4            | 0.19           | 1.00  | 1.70        | 30.9        | 18.2   | 5 1                   | 38     |
| K15     | Grassland   | 1.73     | 171        | 0.0                                      | 51       | 6.8                               | 42<br>64         | 21   | 14                                 | 3 50 | 1.0        | 13   | 13.4            | 0.34           | 4 53  | 1 38        | 12.6        | 91     | 20.0                  | 26.5   |
| V10     | Grassland   | 0.70     | 20         | 12.6                                     | 27       | 6.1                               | 88               | 6    | 5                                  | 0.05 | 1.0        | 15   | 15.1            | 0.13           | 2.06  | 0.57        | 60          | 12.0   | 18.9                  | 23.1   |
| K 10    | Grassland   | 0.70     | 0.9<br>5.6 | 12.0                                     | 21       | 6.5                               | 00               | 4    | 5                                  | 0.93 | 1.7<br>1 4 | 10   | 14.2            | 0.15           | 0.88  | 0.37        | 47          | 12.0   | 14.4                  | 15.9   |
| K 20    | Grassland   | 2.68     | 37.8       | 12.0                                     | 24<br>70 | 6.1                               | 24               | 37   | 30                                 | 3 17 | 1.4<br>1.7 | 19   | 14.2            | 0.00           | 5.61  | 2 32        | 27.2        | 11.7   | 13.6                  | 17.1   |
| K21     | Grassland   | 1.00     | 14.6       | 12.2                                     | 66       | 6.8                               | 27<br>57         | 20   | 23                                 | 0.80 | 1.4        | 17   | 15.9            | 0.09           | 1.37  | 1 12        | 13.2        | 11.7   | 76                    | 94     |
| K22     | Cropland  | 1.21     | 13.2       | 11.1                                     | 53       | 6.4                               | 59               | 15   | 25                                 | 0.50 | 1.1        | 18   | 15.0            | 0.07           | 1.06  | 1.08        | 12.1        | 11.2   | 6.0                   | 80     |
| 1244    | Ciopialu  | 1.1.2.   | 13.4       | 11.5                                     | 25       | U.T                               |                  | 10   | 45                                 | 0.59 | 1.4        | 10   | 10,0            | v.v.           | 1.00  | 1.00        |             |        | andra <b>Ma</b> nasha | ••••   |

TN, TC: Total nitrogen and carbon; LFw: LF content of the soil weight; LF N/LFw or LFC/LFw (%): C and N concentration in LF

#### 15.3. Soil properties and the comparison in land use

Table 15.2 shows soil properties for each site. The average of soil properties for all sites and each land use were shown in Table 15.3.

Though total N was not significantly different among the land use, total C in the forest sites was higher than the others, i.e. total C in the cropland sites showed about 40 % of the forest sites. Saviozzi et al. (2001) reported continuous corn cropland had organic C of 14.7 g C kg<sup>-1</sup>, which is equivalent with 30 % of adjacent grassland site and 40 % of adjacent forest site in Italy. They also reported total N had a similar trend, but the difference between the value in the cropland and in the forest (or grassland) was smaller than the case for total C. Hajabbasi et al. (1997) showed deforestation caused 50 % degradation of soil organic carbon. Rodionov et al. (2000) compared total organic C and N in native steppe and cultivated land, i.e. C and N in the cropland was 39-64 % and 45-61 % relative to native steppe, respectively. In this paper, the cropland sites had 69 % of TC and 72 % of TN compared to the grassland sites.

Soil EC, pH and soil texture were not significantly different among the land uses, except for the desert sites.

Though light fraction (LF) occupied only 1.3 % of the whole soil by weight, LF carbon (LFC) and nitrogen (LFN) accounted for 9.5 % of total C and 9.3 % of total N. Those values were generally consistent to previous reports. Janzen et al. (1992) reported LF (< 1.7 g cm<sup>-3</sup>) of 0.2-2.4 % in whole soil accounted for 2-17 % of total organic C from cropland soils in Canada. Khanna et al. (2001) summarized 9 articles reporting LF in forest soils and showed mean LFC of 17.9 g C kg<sup>-1</sup> ranging from 0.5 to 77.2 g C kg<sup>-1</sup>. Alvarez et al. (1998) reported on Typic Argiudolls in Argentina that pasture (15 y) soil had 8.2% of LFC in total C. In this study, LFC in the forest sites (6.5 g C kg<sup>-1</sup>) and the grassland sites (3.5 g C kg<sup>-1</sup>) <sup>1</sup>) were 10.8 and 5.8 times higher than the cropland sites (0.6)g C kg<sup>-1</sup>), respectively. LFC/TC in the cropland sites (3.7 %)was significantly lower than the forest sites (9.9 %) and grassland sites (12.7%). Saviozzi et al. (2001) reported LFC (<1.7 g cm<sup>-3</sup>) in cropland, forest and grassland sites were 0.16, 2.4, 2.2 g C kg<sup>-1</sup>, respectively.

Several articles reported similar LF C/N values in spite of the difference in methodology and land use (Christensen, 1992). Greenland and Ford (1963) reported the LF C/N ranging from 12 to 30 in Australian soils. In this study, LF C/N ranged from 13.1 to 27.3 with the higher values in the forest sites. It might be due to the higher net primary production in the forests.

#### 15.4. Amounts of $C_0$ and $N_0$ under different land use

Calculated amounts of  $C_0$  and  $N_0$ , their rate constants, their proportion in total carbon and nitrogen and their bestfitted models for all soils were shown in Table 15.4. In most cases, the amounts of carbon mineralization were fitted to first order kinetic model, whilst models for nitrogen mineralization were varied in several equations. It might be due to delay in net mineralization of N in early stage. Ellert and Bettany (1988) reported lagged mineralization patterns, which were observed in soils from a long-term cultivated field, a recently clear cut field or an organic layer of native forest, were best described by Gompertz models.

Average value of  $C_0$  and  $N_0$ , their proportions of total C and N for all the soils and each land use were shown in Table

|         |                            | Total ( | N=41)  | Cropland (I | N=12) | Forest (N    | J=6) | Grassland    | (N=21) | Desert | (N=2) |
|---------|----------------------------|---------|--------|-------------|-------|--------------|------|--------------|--------|--------|-------|
|         |                            | AVR     | CV (%) | AVR         | SD    | AVR          | SD   | AVR          | SD     | AVR    | SD    |
| TN      | (gN kg <sup>-1</sup> soil) | 2.3     | 72     | 1.8 a       | 0.8   | 3.5 a        | 2.1  | 2.5 a        | 1.8    | 0.2    | 0.1   |
| TC      | (gC kg <sup>-1</sup> soil) | 30.8    | 70     | 21.6 b      | 9.6   | 54.3 a       | 31.4 | 31.3 b       | 19.1   | 10.3   | 7.2   |
| C/N     |                            | 15.5    | 54     | 12.0 a      | 0.9   | 16.6 a       | 8.5  | 14.4 a       | 5.2    | 45.2   | 3.1   |
| EC      | (µS cm <sup>-1</sup> )     | 143     | 58     | 127 a       | 47    | 206 a        | 60   | 138 a        | 98     | 102    | 68    |
| pН      |                            | 6.9     | 17     | 6.7 a       | 0.9   | 6.0 a        | 1.3  | <b>7.0</b> a | 1.1    | 8.7    | 0.04  |
| Sand    | (%)                        | 48      | 55     | 49 a        | 24    | 41 a         | 26   | 45 a         | 27     | 87     | 14    |
| Silt    | (%)                        | 25      | 53     | 22 a        | 11    | 27 a         | 11   | 28 a         | 15     | 6      | 9     |
| Clay    | (%)                        | 27      | 55     | <b>28</b> a | 13    | 32 a         | 17   | 26 a         | 15     | 7      | 4     |
| LFw     | (%)                        | 1.3     | 91     | 0.3 b       | 0.1   | 2.2 a        | 1.7  | 1.7 a        | 1.0    | 0.3    | 0.01  |
| LFN/LFw | (%)                        | 1.3     | 18     | 1.2 a       | 0.2   | <b>1.2</b> a | 0.2  | 1.3 a        | 0.2    | 1.6    | 0.6   |
| LFC/LFw | (%)                        | 21.4    | 20     | 19.8 b      | 3.2   | 25.9 a       | 5.4  | 20.8 b       | 3.2    | 23.3   | 9.0   |
| LFN     | (gN kg <sup>-1</sup> soil) | 0.17    | 93     | 0.04 b      | 0.02  | 0.28 a       | 0.23 | 0.22 a       | 0.13   | 0.05   | 0.02  |
| LFC     | (gC kg <sup>-1</sup> soil) | 2.9     | 107    | 0.6 c       | 0.3   | 6.5 a        | 5.6  | 3.5 b        | 2.0    | 0.7    | 0.2   |
| LF C/N  |                            | 17.1    | 18     | 16.8 b      | 1.8   | 22.2 a       | 4.0  | 16.0 b       | 2.0    | 14.8   | 0.1   |
| HFN     | (gN kg <sup>-1</sup> soil) | 2.2     | 74     | 1.8 a       | 0.8   | 3.2 a        | 1.9  | 2,3 a        | 1.7    | 0.2    | 0.2   |
| HFC     | (gC kg <sup>-1</sup> soil) | 27.9    | 69     | 21.0 b      | 9.6   | 47.9 a       | 26.2 | 27.8 b       | 18.0   | 9.7    | 7.4   |
| HF C/N  |                            | 16.2    | 71     | 11.9 a      | 0.9   | 16.4 a       | 9.1  | 14.5 a       | 6.4    | 59.2   | 11.3  |
| LFN/TN  | (%)                        | 9.3     | 93     | 2.8 b       | 2.2   | 7.8 ab       | 5.4  | 11.6 a       | 6.4    | 28.4   | 25.1  |
| LFC/TC  | (%)                        | 9.5     | 66     | 3.7 b       | 2.6   | 9.9 a        | 4.8  | 12.7 a       | 5.9    | 9.6    | 8.9   |

#### Table 15.3. Average and SD values of soil properties in each land use

TN, TC: Total nitrogen and carbon;

LF N/LFw or LFC/LFw (%): C and N concentration in LF; LFw: LF content of the soil weight

For each variables in land use, different letter indicates significant difference (p<0.05)

15.5. According to analysis of variance, average  $C_0$  value was increasing in the order of the cropland sites (1115 mg C kg<sup>-1</sup>), grassland sites (2824 mg C kg<sup>-1</sup>) and forest sites (5630 mg C kg<sup>-1</sup>), whilst C<sub>0</sub>/TC in forest (10.0%) and grassland (10.1%) sites were not significantly different. Similar values have been reported elsewhere. Khanna et al. (2001) measured  $C_0$  of 56 forest soils from Australia and reported that  $C_0/TC$ was lower than 10% in most cases. Ajwa et al. (1998) reported that, in the surface layer under tallgrass prairie,  $C_0$  of 2561 mg C kg<sup>-1</sup> and  $C_0$  proportion in organic C of 11.6%, whereas for adjacent agricultural land 1655 mg C kg<sup>-1</sup> and 21.0%, respectively. In our study,  $N_0$ /TN in the cropland (8.7%), the forest (8.8%) and the grassland sites (11.6%) were not significantly different, whilst  $N_0$  in the cropland sites (141 mg N kg<sup>-1</sup>) was lower than the forest sites (291 mg N kg<sup>-1</sup>). These values were consistent to previous reports. Zak et al. (1993) reported  $N_0$ /TN of soils under several tree species

Statumia di bomubiano any siz

ial dation, the contribution of

near Great Lakes ranging from 5.4-14.9%. Ajwa et al. (1998) showed  $N_0$  of 291.2 mg N kg<sup>-1</sup> and  $N_0$ /TN of 12.2% for prairie, whilst 93.3 mg N kg<sup>-1</sup> and 10.2% for agricultural land, respectively.

# 15.5. Principal component analysis (PCA) on soil and meteorological properties

Soil and meteorological properties were summarized into 4 factors by PCA, and correlation coefficients between factor scores and each soil property are shown in Table 15.6. Though all the factors were independent each other, HFC was correlated with 2 factors. This relationship may suggest HFC can be affected by possible two different components, i.e. that closely associating with clay content and that just processed from LF. Since HF C/N was correlated with pH ( $r = 0.57^{**}$ ) and mean annual precipitation ( $r = -0.60^{**}$ ), these 3 variables were summarized to one factor. The low precipitation

| Site     | land use  | C <sub>0</sub>            | C model     | k <sub>C</sub>    | C <sub>0</sub> /TC | N <sub>0</sub> 1          | N model | k <sub>N</sub>    | N <sub>0</sub> /TN |
|----------|-----------|---------------------------|-------------|-------------------|--------------------|---------------------------|---------|-------------------|--------------------|
| 45 S. J. |           | mgC kg <sup>-1</sup> soil | a and the s | day <sup>-1</sup> | (%)                | mgN kg <sup>-1</sup> soil | NGOW    | day <sup>-1</sup> | (%)                |
| U01      | Forest    | 1223                      | Fi          | 0.006             | 13.0               | 91                        | Fi      | 0.008             | 12.1               |
| U02      | Cropland  | 874                       | G           | 0.021             | 10.4               | 183                       | G       | 0.008             | 23.7               |
| U03      | Cropland  | 1082                      | Fi          | 0.003             | 7.3                | 77                        | G       | 0.017             | 5.8                |
| U04      | Cropland  | 1224                      | Fi          | 0.008             | 3.6                | 195                       | Fi      | 0.007             | 6.5                |
| U05      | Forest    | 2379                      | Fi          | 0.009             | 7.6                | 195                       | Fi      | 0.012             | 7.4                |
| U06      | Cropland  | 1138                      | Fi          | 0.007             | 4.5                | 208                       | Fi      | 0.005             | 9.5                |
| U07      | Grassland | 3248                      | Fi          | 0.011             | 6.3                | 301                       | G       | 0.029             | 7.1                |
| U08      | Cropland  | 1184                      | Fi          | 0.013             | 3.7                | 169                       | G       | 0.011             | 6.5                |
| U09      | Forest    | 2687                      | Fi          | 0.009             | 6.1                | 208                       | Fi      | 0.013             | 5.6                |
| U10      | Grassland | 3976                      | Fi          | 0.013             | 6.9                | 230                       | Lo      | 0.045             | 5.1                |
| U11      | Cropland  | 1008                      | Fi          | 0.015             | 3.2                | 111                       | Lo      | 0.045             | 4.3                |
| U12      | Cropland  | 969                       | Fi          | 0.014             | 3.0                | 186                       | G       | 0.010             | 7.2                |
| U13      | Cropland  | 1022                      | Fi          | 0.016             | 5.1                | 114                       | Fi      | 0.015             | 7.2                |
| U14      | Cropland  | 653                       | Fi          | 0.010             | 8.5                | 47                        | G       | 0.052             | 8.8                |
| U15      | Grassland | 4038                      | Fi          | 0.013             | 7.8                | 388                       | G       | 0.036             | 8.4                |
| U16      | Grassland | 2097                      | Fi          | 0,007             | 11.5               | 164                       | Fi      | 0.013             | 10.6               |
| U17      | Grassland | 3122                      | Fi          | 0.014             | 8.7                | 296                       | Fi      | 0.009             | 10.0               |
| U18      | Cropland  | 1737                      | Fi          | 0.011             | 7.0                | 211                       | Fi      | 0.008             | 9.7                |
| U19      | Forest    | 14787                     | Fi          | 0.007             | 16.3               | 687                       | G       | 0.006             | 11.8               |
| U20      | Forest    | 5399                      | Fi          | 0.010             | 7.9                | 199                       | G       | 0.034             | 9.7                |
| U21      | Forest    | 7307                      | Fi          | 0.007             | 8.9                | 366                       | Lo      | 0.021             | 6.2                |
| U22      | Grassland | 3081                      | Fi          | 0.011             | 11.5               | 165                       | G       | 0.031             | 8.9                |
| U23      | Cropland  | 1167                      | Fi          | 0.013             | 7.5                | 113                       | Fi      | 0.014             | 8.6                |
| K01      | Grassland | 3487                      | Fi          | 0.014             | 4.7                | 278                       | G       | 0.027             | 4.3                |
| K02      | Grassland | 5610                      | Fi          | 0.007             | 9.2                | 220                       | G       | 0.037             | 3.8                |
| K04      | Grassland | 5114                      | Fi          | 0.012             | 12.2               | 437                       | Fi      | 0.008             | 11.9               |
| K05      | Grassland | 2752                      | Fi          | 0.012             | 12.2               | 239                       | G       | 0.020             | 21.0               |
| K06      | Desert    | 459                       | Fi          | 0.016             | 8.8                | 23                        | Fi      | 0.017             | 18.5               |
| K08      | Desert    | 581                       | Fi          | 0.021             | 3.8                | 35                        | G       | 0.042             | 10.9               |
| K10      | Grassland | 3135                      | Fi          | 0.023             | 10.9               | 211                       | Fi      | 0.022             | 8.6                |
| K11      | Grassland | 5419                      | Fi          | 0.012             | 14.8               | 438                       | Fi      | 0.007             | 14.9               |
| K12      | Grassland | 760                       | Fi          | 0.020             | 7.0                | 51                        | Lo      | 0.045             | 15.0               |
| K13      | Grassland | 1557                      | Fi+Fi       |                   | 12.9               | 135                       | Fi      | 0.014             | 25.5               |
| K14      | Grassland | 2379                      | Fi          | 0.014             | 14.4               | 192                       | G       | 0.026             | 22.1               |
| K15      | Grassland | 1543                      | Fi          | 0.009             | 4.8                | 109                       | G       | 0.055             | 6.1                |
| K16      | Grassland | 1793                      | Fi          | 0.017             | 10.5               | 168                       | Fi      | 0.015             | 9.7                |
| K18      | Grassland | 1263                      | Fi          | 0.013             | 14.2               | 95                        | G       | 0.045             | 13.4               |
| K19      | Grassland | 762                       | Fi          | 0.014             | 13.7               | 67                        | Lo      | 0.047             | 15.4               |
| K20      | Grassland | 2679                      | Fi          | 0.020             | 8.2                | 288                       | Fi      | 0.016             | 10.8               |
| K21      | Grassland | 1486                      | Fi          | 0.015             | 10.2               | 146                       | Fi      | 0.011             | 12.1               |
| K22      | Cropland  | 1322                      | Fi          | 0.014             | 10.0               | 79                        | Lo      | 0.039             | 6.9                |

#### Table 15.4. Readily mineralizable C and N of the soils.

Fi: First order kinetics, G: Gompertz equation, Lo: Logistic equation

#### **Table 15.5.** Average and SD values of $C_0$ and $N_0$ and their proportions in each land use.

| State Cale Contractor         | Total ( | N=41) | Cropland     | (N=12) | Forest       | (N=6) | Grassland | (N=21) | Desert | (N=2) |
|-------------------------------|---------|-------|--------------|--------|--------------|-------|-----------|--------|--------|-------|
|                               | AVR     | CV(%) | AVR          | SD     | AVR          | SD    | AVR       | SD     | AVR    | SD    |
| $C_0 (mgC kg^{-1})$           | 2622    | 97    | 1115 c       | 264    | 5630 a       | 5008  | 2824 b    | 1435.5 | 520    | 86    |
| C <sub>0</sub> /TC (%)        | 8.8     | 40    | <b>6.2</b> b | 3      | 10.0 a       | 4     | 10.1 a    | 3      | 6.3    | 4     |
| $N_0$ (mgN kg <sup>-1</sup> ) | 198     | 65    | 141 b        | 57     | <b>291</b> a | 213   | 220 ab    | 111    | 29     | 9     |
| N <sub>0</sub> /TN (%)        | 10.5    | 51    | <b>8.7</b> a | 5      | 8.8 a        | 3     | 11.6 a    | 6      | 14.7   | 5     |

TC and TN: Total C and N contents in soil

| 19 - 19 - 19 19 - 19 - 19 - 19 - 19 - 1 |               | Facto       | r Name       | a an |
|---|---------------|-------------|--------------|--|
| variable                                | Clay-HF       | LF          | pH-HF C/N    | LF C/N                                   |
| EC                                      | 0.53 **       | 0.40 **     | -0.15        | 0.40 **                                  |
| pH                                      | 0.04          | -0.09       | 0.91 **      | -0.03                                    |
| Sand                                    | -0.94 **      | -0.23       | 0.11         | -0.11                                    |
| Silt                                    | 0.88 **       | 0.27        | -0.14        | -0.05                                    |
| Clay                                    | 0.87 **       | 0.16        | -0.07        | 0.20                                     |
| LFC                                     | 0.22          | 0.92 **     | -0.01        | 0.23                                     |
| LFN                                     | 0.25          | 0.93 **     | -0.00        | 0.02                                     |
| LF C/N                                  | 0.04          | 0.18        | -0.26        | 0.84 **                                  |
| HFC                                     | 0.58 **       | 0.62 **     | -0.16        | 0.31 *                                   |
| HFN                                     | 0.67 **       | 0.53 **     | -0.32 *      | 0.11                                     |
| HF C/N                                  | -0.46 **      | 0.05        | 0.73 **      | 0.21                                     |
| MAP                                     | 0.46 **       | 0.10        | -0.67 **     | 0.38 *                                   |
| MAT                                     | 0.21          | 0.09        | 0.33 *       | 0.78 **                                  |
| exprained                               |               |             |              | 68. A.D.                                 |
| (%)                                     | 31            | 21          | 16           | 14                                       |
| IAP: mean                               | annual precip | itation, MA | T: mean annu | ial<br>orbori                            |

 Table 15.6.
 Correlation matrix between factors and soil properties.

tend to accumulate carbonates in surface soil. Mean annual temperature (MAT) correlated with LF C/N (r = 0.46\*\*). Scatter plot between LF C/N and MAT (Fig. 15.2) suggested forest sites in high MAT area contributed the higher LF C/N.

Judging from the correlation between factors and variables,

and (\*\*: p<0.01)

p<0.05)



Mean annual temperature (°C)



these factors were named "Clay-HF", "LF", "pH-HF C/N" and "LF C/N" factors.

#### 15.6. Relationship between factors and land use

Factor scores of each soil were plotted separately in terms of land use (Fig. 15.3). The clay-HF factor showed no difference in land use, whilst LF factor in cropland sites was lower than the others. It would be due to the more labile nature of LF than HF associating with clay minerals and/or relatively low amount of organic matter input in the cropland caused low accumulation of LF. The pH-HF C/N factor in desert sites was relatively higher than the others. This could be explained by the higher evapotranspiration in the desert sites. The LF C/N factor in the forest sites showed the highest of all. It might be due to high accumulation of C in the residues in the forest sites.

## 15.7. Determination of factors controlling readily mineralizable C and N by linear regression with the stepwise method

Linear regression analysis was conducted to simulate  $C_0$  or  $N_0$  as dependent variables by using the clay-HF, LF, pH-HF C/N and LF C/N factors as independent variables. The following two equations were obtained:

 $C_0 (\text{mg C kg}^{-1}) = 2622 + 1976 (\text{LF factor}) + 837(\text{clay-HF})$ factor) + 778 (LF C/N factor) (R<sup>2</sup>=0.81\*\*)

 $N_0$  (mg N kg<sup>-1</sup>) = 198 + 88 (LF factor) + 66 (clay-HF factor) +18 (LF C/N factor) (R<sup>2</sup>=0.75\*\*)

Since each factor was standardized by PCA, each coefficient in equation indicates its relative contribution.

Though average LF content in soils was 1.3% in whole soil by weight and 9.5% in total carbon, the contribution of LF to  $C_0$  was much higher than that of HF associating with clay content. This probably reflects the relatively labile nature of LFC, which is more easily decomposed than HFC. There



Figure 15.3. Scatter plots among factors: (a) clay-HF factor and LF factor and (b) LF C/N factor and pH-HF C/N factor.

are several reports that LF is enriched in carbohydrates relative to both the whole soil and HF (Oades, 1972; Whitehead et al., 1975; Murayama et al., 1979; Dalal and Henry, 1988). Alvarez et al. (1998) reported that 58, 37 and 10 % of the LF (<1.13 g cm<sup>-3</sup>), MF (1.13-1.37 g cm<sup>-3</sup>) and HF carbon, respectively, was mineralized during 160-day incubation experiment.

The contribution of LF to  $N_{0,}$  however, was not conspicuous as  $C_0$ . Using an anaerobic incubation technique, Boone (1994) showed that LFN was less available than HFN. Later Wharlen et al. (2000) reported that addition of LF to soil decreased net N mineralization due to N immobilization. Such a function of LF both as possible sink and source for N mineralization could explain the relatively small contribution of LF to  $N_0$ , compared to the case of  $C_0$ .

LF C/N contributed positively both to  $C_0$  and  $N_0$ . Though higher C/N of organic matter generally causes net immobilization of N by soil microbes, relatively low LF C/N (17.1, N=41) might not prevent mineralization in the present study.

#### 15.8. Conclusion

In this study, the factors controlling readily mineralizable carbon  $(C_0)$  and nitrogen  $(N_0)$  content were LF, HF associating with clay mineral and LF C/N. The contribution of LF to  $C_0$  was much higher than that of HF. The contribution of LF to  $N_0$  however, was not conspicuous as  $C_0$ . The higher  $C_0$  values in the forest sites were considered to be contributed by the higher amount of LFC and LF C/N in the forest sites. In tern, the lowest amounts of  $C_0$  and  $N_0$  in the cropland sites were caused by low LF content in these soils.

#### References

- Ajwa HA, Rice CW, Sotomayor D, 1998. Carbon and nitrogen mineralization in tallgrass prairie and agricultural soil profiles. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 62, 942-951.
- Alvarez CR, Alvareaz R, Grigera MS, Lavado RS, 1998. Associations between organic matter fractions and the active soil microbial biomass. Soil Biol. Biochem 30, 767-773.
- Anderson JPE, 1982. Soil respiration. p.831-871 *In* Methods of Soil Analysis, Part 2: Chemical and Microbiological Properties. 2nd Ed. American Society of Agronomy.
- Bonde TA, Lindberg T, 1988. Nitrogen mineralization kinetics in soil during long-term aerobic laboratory incubations: a case study. J. Env. Qual. 17, 414-417.

Bonde TA, Schnürer J, Rosswall T, 1988. Microbial biomass

as a fraction of potentially mineralizable nitrogen in soilsfrom long-term field experiments. *Soil Biol. Biochem.*20, 1459-1465.

- Boyle M, Paul EA, 1989. Carbon and nitrogen mineralization kinetics in soil previously amended with sewage sludge. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am J.* 53, 99-103.
- Boone RD, 1994. Light-fraction soil organic matter: origin and contribution to net nitrogen mineralization. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 26, 1459-1468.
- Bremner JM, 1965. Inorganic forms of nitrogen. *In* Methods of Soil Analysis, ed. C.K. Black, p. 1179-1237. American Society of Agronomy.
- Christensen BT, 1992. Physical fractionation of soil and organic matter. *In* Advances in soil science, vol.20, p.1-90.
- Christensen BT, 1996. Matching measurable soil organic matter fractions with conceptual pools in simulation models of carbon turnover. Revision of model structure. *In* Evaluation of soil organic models using long-term datasets. eds. D.S. Powlson et al. p.143-160.
- Curtin D, Wen G, 1999. Organic matter fractions contributing to soil nitrogen mineralization potential. *Soil Sic. Soc. Am. J.* 63,410-415.
- Dalal RC, Henry RJ, 1988. Cultivation effects on carbohydrate contents of soil and soil fractions. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 52, 1361-1365.
- De Willigen P, 1991. Nitrogen turnover in the soil-crop system; comparison of fourteen simulation models. *Fertil. Res.* 27, 141-149.
- El-Haris MK, Cochran VL, Elliott LF, Bezdicek DF, 1983. Effect of tillage, cropping, and fertilizer management on soil nitrogen mineralization potential. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 47, 1157-1161.
- Ellert BH, Battany JR, 1988. Comparison of kinetic models for describing net sulfer and nitrogen mineralization. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 52, 1962-1702.
- Elliott ET, Paustian K, Frey SD, 1996. Modeling the measurable or measuring the modelable: A hierarchical approach to isolation meaningful soil organic matter fractions. *In* Evaluation of soil organic models using long-term datasetsp, ed. D.S. Powlson et al. p.161-179.
- Eswaran HE, Van den Berg, Reich P, Kimble J, 1995. Global Soil Carbon Resources. *In* Soils and Global Change. ed. Lal et al.
- Franzluebbers AJ, Haney RL, Honeycutt CW, Arshad MA, Schomberg HH, Hons FM, 2001. Climatic influences on active fractions of soil organic matter. *Soil Biol. Biochem.*

33,1103-1111.

- Greenland DJ, Ford GW, 1964. Separation of partially humified organic materials from soils by ultrasonic dispersion.
  8th International Congress of Soil Science, Bucharest, III 137-148.
- Hadas A, Feigenbaum S, Feigin A, Portnoy R, 1986, Nitrogen mineralization in profiles of differently managed soil types. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 50, 314-319.
- Hajabbasi MA, Jalalian A, Karimzadeh HR, 1997. Deforestation effects on soil physical and chemical properties, Lordegan, Iran. *Plant Soil* 190, 301-308.
- Houghton RA, 2003. The contemporary carbon cycle. *In* Treatise on Geochemistry, eds. H.D. Holland and K.K. Turekian, Vol.8, Biogeochemistry.
- Janzen HH, Campbell CA, Brandt SA, Lafond GP, Townley-Smith L, 1992. Light-fraction organic matter in soils from long-term crop rotations. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 56, 1799-1806.
- Jenkinson DS, Rayner JH, 1977. The turnover of soil organic matter in some of the Rothamsted classical experiments. *Soil Sci.* 123, 298-305.
- Jones CA, 1984. Estimation of and active fraction of soil nitrogen. *Commun. Soil Sci. Plant Anal.* 15, 23-32.
- Khanna PK, Ludwig B, Bauhas J, O'Hara C, 2001. Assessment and significance of labile organic C pools in forest soils. *In* Assessment Methods for Soil Carbon. ed. R. Lal, J.M. Kimble, R.F. Follett and B.A. Stewart, p.167-182.
- Lindemann WC, Cardenas M, 1984. Nitrogen mineralization potential and nitrogen transformations of sludgeamended soil. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 48, 1072-1077.
- Magid J, Mueller T, Jensen LS, Nielsen NE, 1996. Modelling the measurable: Interpretation of field-scale  $CO_2$  and Nmineralisation, soil microbial biomass and light fractions as indicators of oilseed rape, maize and barley straw decomposition. p.349-362. *In* Driven by nature: Plant llitter quality and decomposition, eds. G. Cadisch and K. E.Giller.
- Molina JAE, 1980. Potentially mineralizable nitrogen in soil: The simple exponential model does not apply for the first 12 weeks of incubation. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 44, 442-443.
- Murayama S, Asakawa Y, Ohno Y, 1990. Chemical properties of subsurface peats and their decomposition kinetics under field conditions. *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 36, 129-140.
- Murayama S, Cheshire MV, Mundie CM, Sparling GP, Shepherd H, 1979. Comparison of contribution to soil organic matter fractions, particularly carbohydrates,

made by plant residues and microbial products. J. Sci. Food Agric. 30, 1025-1034.

- Oades JM, 1972. Studies on soil polysaccharides: úL, Composition of polysaccharides in some Australian soils. *Aust. J. Soil. Res.* 10, 113-126.
- Parton WJ, Schimel DS, Cole CV, Ojima DS, 1987. Analysis of factors controlling soil organic matter levels in Great Plains grasslands. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 51, 1173-1179.
- Rodionov A, Amelung W, Urusevskaja I, Zech W, 2000. Carbon and nitrogen in the enriched labile fraction along a climosequence of zonal steppe soils in Russia. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 64, 1467-1473.
- Saunder DH, Grant PM, 1962. Rate of mineralization of organic matter in cultivated Rhodesian soils. *In* Int. Soil Conf., Wellington, New Zealand, p.1-7.
- Saviozzi A, Levi-Minzi R, Cardelli R, Riffaldi R, 2001. A comparison of soil quality in adjacent cultivated, forest and native grassland soils. *Plant Soil* 233, 251-259.
- Schlesinger WH, 1991. An Analysis of Global Change *In* Biogeochemistry, Vol.6.
- Schrawat KL, 1983. Mineralization of soil organic nitrogen under waterlogged conditions in relation to other properties of tropical rice soils. *Aust. J. Soil Res.* 21, 133-138.
- Seyfried MS, Rao PSC, 1988. Kinetics of nitrogen mineralization in Costa Rican soils: Model evaluation and pretreatment effects. *Plant Soil* 106, 159-169.
- Simard RR, N'dayegamiye A, 1993. Nitrogen-mineralization potential of meadow soils. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 73, 27-38.
- Smith P, Smith JU, Powlson DS, McGill WB, Arah JRM, Chertov OG, Coleman K, Franko U, Frolking S, Jenkinson DS, Jensen, LS, Kelly RH, Klein-Gunnewiek H, Komarov AS, Li C, Molina JAE, Mueller T, Parton WJ, Thornley JHM, Whitmore AP, 1997. A comparison of the performance of nine soil organic matter models using datasets from seven long-term experiments. *Geoderma* 81,153-225.

Soil Survey Staff, 1998. Keys to Soil Taxonomy, 8th Edition.

Sollins P, Spycher G, Glassman CA, 1984. Net nitrogen mineralization from light- and heavy-fraction forest soil organic matter. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 16, 31-37.

SPSS, 1998. SYSTAT 8.0, Statistics.

- Stanford G, Smith SJ, 1972. Nitrogen mineralization potentials of soils. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. Proc.* 36, 465-472.
- Strickland TC, Sollins P, 1987. Improved method for separating light- and heavy-fraction organic material from soil. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 51, 1390-1393.

- Tanaka S, Funakawa S, Kaewkhongka T, Yonebayashi K, 1998. N mineralization process of the surface soils under shifting cultivation in northern Thailand. *Soil Sci. Plant Nutr.* 44, 539-549.
- Van Veen JA, Kuikman PJ, 1990. Soil structural aspects of decomposition of organic matter by micro-organisms. *Biogeochem.* 11, 213-233.
- Van Veen JA, Paul EA, 1981. Organic carbon dynamics in grassland soils. 1. Background information and computer simulation. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 61, 185-201.
- Van Veen JA, Ladd JN, Frissel MJ, 1984. Modelling C and N turnover through the microbial biomass in soil. *Plant Soil* 76, 257-274.
- Wharlen JK, Bottomley PJ, Myrold DD, 2000. Carbon and nitrogen mineralization from light- and heavy- fraction additions to soil. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 32, 1345-1352.
- Whitehead DC, Buchan H, Hartley RD, 1975. Components of soil organic matter under grass and arable cropping. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 7, 65-71.
- Zak DR, Grigal DF, Ohmann LF, 1993. Kinetics of microbial respiration and nitrogen mineralization in Great Lake's forests. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 57, 1100-1106.

football of MR. Alman A a box between depert and examinents. Unique of MR. Alman A a box whet another to Mediterranean, with dry summer and wet whether Armail precipitation is doubleatly mercasing from 200 to \$500 rms from some to south the to the influence of the nondertain. Soft is inpensively regime in shortly mercie below elevation of 1500 rm. The becological tones in this area we roughly separated ball two regimes its first order of Mr. Kalifan, which excludes that your point the transmission of Mr. Kalifan, which excludes that your units as a branche of Mr. Arman. The bastern half (Alexan State) is manipuly could and western half (Soft) Recording that different regions of Eurasian steppe i Pachikin and Tiber Tath

nate including Shinekani clos ( in horner than the east. In this writers, within schedal kin internals, Storogens (Clearling), Soid keyres Smith 1998). Clearling (east) of Crew management (area) othe (owen) (anterscooling to Ecoolin/Edollinged Theory) or distributed from the detect to management frequent. The means materials of socia in any monthy deems demonstration in this register, her. Chi and DC mean Alaminy constant Chicks in this register, her. Chi and DC mean Alaminy constant Chicks in this register, her. Chi and DC mean Alaminy constant Chicks in this register, her. Chi and DC mean Alaminy constant Chicks in this register. The Chicks of the

The Great Holgs in Plan is the Western state follows in some in Gravitan stages. The dense in the contraction we border of Continuum, Method services and of West Simologics, Mean annual comparative of states of West Simologics, Mean annual comparative of states and the some production in show 300 ages. Product some is a consistent production in show 300 ages. Product with the solution was presented these approximations and the transmission of West State of Product and Solution of States and the solution of the solution of the transmission of West State of Product and Solution of the solution of West (Markov a constant was solution of the solution of West (Markov a constant was solution of the solution of West (Markov a constant was solution of the solution of West (Markov a constant was solution of the solution of West (Markov a constant was solution of the solution of West (Markov a constant was solution of the solution of the solution of West (Markov a solution of the solution of the solution of West (Markov a solution of the solution of the solution of the solution with which was planted with one solution of West (Markov a solution of the solution of the solution of the solution with which are solution of the solution of the solution with which was planted with one solution of the solution with which are solution of the solution of the solution with which are solution of the solution of the solution with which are solution of the solution of the solution with which are solution of the solution of the solution with which are solution of the solution of the solution with which are solution of the solution of the solution which are solution of the solution of the solution which are solution of the solution of the solution which are solution of the solution of the solution which are solution of the solution of the solution which are solution of the solution of the solution which are solution of the solution of the solution of the solution which are solution of the solution of the solution which are solution of t

|  | en e |  |  |
|--|--|--|--|
|  |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |

## Chapter 16

## Comparison of in situ soil respiration in different regions of Eurasian steppe Shinya Funakawa, Konstantin Pachikin and Tibor Toth

#### 16.1. Background

There are a huge number of studies on in situ soil respiration under different ecosystems (Kucera and Kirkham, 1971; de Jong et al., 1974; Coleman et al., 1976; Warembourg and Paul, 1977; Buyanovsky et al., 1987; Raich and Tufekcioglu, 2000). It generally increases along with temperature/moisture increases and positively correlates net primary production of ecosystems (Raich and Schlesinger, 1992). In the present research, soil respiration in Ukraine and northern Kazakhstan was investigated in Chapters 4, 6 and 9. In this chapter, results from Hungary and southern Kazakhstan are additionally reported and comparatively discussed in order to clarify possible factors that regulate in *situ* soil respiration.

#### 16.2. Materials and methods

Study sites: Information about the study sites is given in Table 16.1. Steppe landscapes are spread in northern foothill of Mt. Alatau as a belt between desert and mountains. Climatic conditions are somewhat similar to Mediterranean. with dry summer and wet winter. Annual precipitation is drastically increasing from 200 to 800 mm from north to south due to the influence of the mountain. Soil temperature regime is mostly mesic below elevation of 1500 m. The ecological zones in this area are roughly separated into two regions by the presence of Mt. Kalatau, which extends from south to north as a branch of Mt. Alatau. The eastern half (Almaty State) is relatively cold and western half (South Kazakhstan

State including Shimkent city) is hotter than the east. In this territory, within several km intervals, Sierozem (Cambids; Soil Survey Staff, 1998), Chetnut (east) or Grav cinnamonic (west) soils (mostly Ustolls) and Chenozems (east) or Cinnamonic soils (west) (corresponding to Ustolls/Udolls and Udalfs) are distributed from the desert to mountain in this order. The parent materials of soils in are mostly loess deposit. We measured field soil respiration rate at semi-natural pastures in this region, i.e. CH and DC near Almaty city and CN and GC in east of Shimkent city.

The Great Hungarian Plain is the western end of Mollisols' distribution in Eurasian steppe. The climate in the area is situated in the border of Continental, Mediterranean and of West Europe's. Mean annual temperature is about 10°C, and annual precipitation is about 500 mm. Parent materials of soils are loess and its secondary deposits. Since most of the area has already been cultivated unless being affected by salinization, we selected three agricultural fields for the present study; i.e. VC (Velence) at southwest of Budapest city, KC (Karcag) and KH (Kunhegeyes) at west of Debrecen city. At VC, two plots were installed, one of which was planted with spring barley (VC-BY) and the other with winter wheat (VC-WT). At KC, similarly two plots were installed on the no-fertilized block (KC-CL) and on fertilized block (200-0-100 kg ha<sup>-1</sup> in N-P-K). These plots were planted with spring barley. At KH, winter wheat was planted. The soils of the Hungarian sites were Ustolls.

Measurements: In these 9 plots, CO, emissions from the

|                         | 法正法委任任职             | S. Salari Martin Mar | Annual                | Mean annual         | Altitude |                   | Particle                         | e size distri | bution      | nH                 | Organic                    | Total N               | CN    |
|-------------------------|---------------------|---|-----------------------|---------------------|----------|-------------------|----------------------------------|---------------|-------------|--------------------|----------------------------|-----------------------|-------|
| Sites                   | Classification      | Location  | precipitation<br>(mm) | temperature<br>(°C) | (m)      | Land use          | sand<br>(%)                      | silt<br>(%)   | clay<br>(%) | (H <sub>2</sub> O) | C<br>(g kg <sup>-1</sup> ) | (g kg <sup>-1</sup> ) | ratio |
| Southern Kaza           | ıkhstan             | l   | sil distant p         |                     |          | an star star son  | er trickenen tr<br>Statute ander |               | da se       |                    |                            |                       |       |
| СН                      | Pachic Hapludolls   | N43°20' E77°37'   | 730                   | 7.6                 | 1200     | pasture           | 34                               | 39            | 28          | 7.5                | 49.1                       | 5.4                   | 9.1   |
| DC                      | Typic Calciustolls  | N43°13' E76°26'   | approx. 350           | approx. 9           | 900      | pasture           | 30                               | 45            | 25          | 8.1                | 24.3                       | 2.4                   | 10.1  |
| CN                      | Typic Hapludalfs    | N42°28' E70°35'   | 650                   | 9.5                 | 1300     | pasture           | 23                               | 41            | 36          | 6.5                | 24.8                       | 2.5                   | 9.9   |
| GC                      | Udic Argiustolls    | N42°28' E70°05'   | approx. 350           | approx. 11.5        | 900      | pasture           | 18                               | 44            | 37          | 7.1                | 28.0                       | 2.5                   | 11.2  |
| Hungary                 |                     |   |                       |                     |          |                   |                                  |               |             |                    |                            |                       |       |
| VC-BY                   | Typic Calciustolls  | N47°15' E18°40'   | 520                   | 10.4                | 125      | cropland          | 24                               | 47            | 29          | 7.9                | 19.0                       | n.d.                  | n.d.  |
| KC-CL                   | Typic Haplustolls   | N47°17' E20°54'   | 530                   | 10.9                | 90       | cropland          | 25                               | 33            | 42          | 6.7                | 23.0                       | 2.1                   | 11.1  |
| KH                      | Typic Haplustolls   | N47°22' E20°40'   | 530                   | 10.9                | 80       | cropland          | n.d.                             | n.d.          | n.d.        | <u>n.d.</u>        | n.d.                       | n.d.                  | n.d.  |
| Ukraine                 |                     |   |                       |                     |          |                   |                                  |               |             |                    |                            |                       |       |
| GK                      | Pachic Haploxerolls | N49°56' E36°12'   | 540                   | 6.9                 | 150      | pasture           | 17                               | 35            | 48          | 6.2                | 40.0                       | 3.6                   | 11.1  |
| AN                      | Calcic Haploxerolls | N46°27' E33°47'   | 390                   | 9.5                 | 30       | natural grassland | 24                               | 39            | 38          | 6.5                | 33.2                       | 2.9                   | 11.4  |
| Northern Kaza           | ikhstan             |   |                       |                     |          |                   |                                  |               |             |                    |                            |                       |       |
| Shortandy <sup>1)</sup> | Typic Haplustolls   | N51°35' E71°03"   | 320                   | 1.6                 | 390      | cropland          | 30                               | 34            | 36          | 8.0                | 21.4                       | 2.4                   | 9.1   |

| T. | - 1 | 61 | 0 | 16 | 1 | 0 | itlin/ | and | annor | 1 m | hani | 000 | homion | Inron | ortion | of | tha | coil | a atu | diad |  |
|----|-----|----|---|----|---|---|--------|-----|-------|-----|------|-----|--------|-------|--------|----|-----|------|-------|------|--|
|    |     |    |   |    |   |   |        |     |       |     |      |     |        |       |        |    |     | ~    |       |      |  |

soil surface were measured using a closed chamber method in five replications for more than ten times, in which temperature and moisture conditions considerably fluctuated. At the plots in southern Kazakhstan, the measurement was conducted over two consecutive years from May 2001 to April 2003, whereas in Hungary during one year from April 2002 to May 2003. The experimental procedure was the same as that presented in Chapter 6. The concentration of  $CO_2$ was measured with a portable Infrared  $CO_2$  analyzer (Anagas CD98; Environmental Instruments, Leamington Spa, UK). While both the whole and microbial soil respirations were measured at the Hungarian plots, only whole soil respiration was measured in southern Kazakhstan since to eliminate plant roots was somewhat unrealistic on the developing of rootmat in semi-natural grassland. At the same time, the soil temperature at the 5 cm depth and soil moisture at the surface 0-15 cm depth were measured. The datalogger systems (CR-10X, Campbell Scientific, Inc.) were installed in CH, CN. VC-BY and VC-WT during the experiment to continuously monitor the soil temperature, moisture and rainfall. Plant biomass was measured at the time of harvest in the cropped plots in Hungary or in early spring in semi-natural grassland in southern Kazakhstan.

Data analysis: Same approach as in Chapter 6 was employed: For estimating the total soil respiration rate throughout the cropping period, we firstly derived an equation that represented the relationship between the *in* situ hourly soil respiration rate and climatic factors such as soil temperature and moisture content by multiple regression analysis. Then we calculated the hourly soil respiration rate



Figure 16.1. Fluctuation of soil temperature and moisture and precipitation recorded datalogger stations at CH (a), CN (b) and VC(c).

by substituting each parameter of the equation using monitored data, and summed up the hourly soil respiration rates for a given period. In the first step, we assumed that the Arrhenius relationship between the soil temperature and respiration rate was as follows:

$$C_{am} = aM^{b}e^{-E/RT}$$

where  $C_{em}$  is the hourly soil respiration rate (mol C ha<sup>-1</sup> h<sup>-1</sup>), M is the volumetric soil moisture content (L L<sup>-1</sup>), E is the activation energy (J mol<sup>-1</sup>), R is the gas constant (8.31 J mol<sup>-1</sup> K<sup>-1</sup>), T is the absolute soil temperature (K), b is a coefficient related to the contribution of soil moisture, and a is a constant. The equation was then rewritten in the logarithm form:

 $\ln C_{em} = \ln a + b \ln M - E/RT$ 

Then a series of coefficients, *a*, *b*, and *E* were calculated by stepwise multiple regression analysis (p=0.15) using the measured data,  $C_{em}$ , *M*, and *T* (SPSS, 1998). Using these regression equations and the data monitored by the dataloggers, the fluctuations of the soil respiration rate under a given period were calculated. Since good correlations were always obtained between actual soil temperature/moisture determined in the plots at the CO<sub>2</sub> measurement and those monitored at the nearby datalogger stations (station at CH for CH and DC plots, that at CN for CN and GC plots, VC-BY station for VC-BY, KC-CL and KC-200 plots, VC-WT station for VC-WT and KH plots, respectively), these monitored data were used for the estimation of continuous soil respiration after conversion using their correlation.

#### 16.3. Fluctuation of soil temperature and moisture and *in* situ soil respiration rate at the experimental plots

The monitored data at the datalogger stations (CH, CN and VC) are given in Fig. 16.1. During a certain period, data were missing due to mechanical treatment of the field at the time of harvest and malfunction of the datalogger. Both the soil temperature and moisture fluctuated appreciably during the periods. In the southern Kazakhstan (CH and CN), a clear contrast of dry summer and wet winter was observed. For the datasets of the field  $CO_2$  measurement, a negative correlation between soil temperature and moisture was also observed in the plots of southern Kazakhstan. Although such a trend was week in Hungarian plots, it might bring some uncertainty to analysis of temperature/moisture dependence of soil respiration caused by the interactive of soil temperature and moisture.

The fluctuation of soil respiration as well as soil temperature and moisture measured in Kazakhstan plots is given in Fig. 16.2. It is much higher than the values in the Hungarian cropland (data were later shown in Fig. 16. 3 together with estimated values), suggesting active dynamics of SOM as well as high plant-root respiration in the seminatural grassland.

#### 16.4. Parameters for simulating in situ soil respiration rates

Using the datasets obtained, parameters in the equations given above were calculated (Table 16.2). The data from



Figure 16.2. Measured values of soil temperature, moisture and respiration rates in the plots of southern Kazakhstan.

196

Chapters 6 (Ukraine) and 9 (Kazakhstan) are also cited for comparison after correction of the unit of soil respiration into mol C ha-1 d-1. GK and AN in this chapter represent the plots of Grakovo and Askania Nova in Chapter 6, respectively. In some cases, the stepwise analysis and calculation of parameters failed to be established, or was unexpectedly in low confidence level. It would be caused by agricultural practices in cropland and/or irregular rainfall during dry summer, which might bring a flush of SOM mineralization.

The parameter relating to temperature-dependence of SOM decomposition, namely activation energy E, was usually significant, while the contribution of moisture dependence (b) was somewhat uncertain especially in the East European plots (Ukraine and Hungary) compared to the southern Kazakhstan plots. Several interpretations are

possible for the difference. Firstly, the former ecosystems were often experienced dry summer in normal years, resulting in an establishment of drought tolerance of soil microbes. and possibly of plant activity, in terms of soil respiration. It may cause a continuous mineralization of SOM even under severely dry conditions. Additionally it is possible to assume the effect of mineralization flush during dry summer in the datasets. They may cease apparent moisture-dependence of soil respiration. Another aspect is that there is a clear negative correlation between soil temperature and moisture among the datasets of southern Kazakhstan. The high contribution of soil moisture in the soils was possible to be statistically emphasized by the uniqueness of the datasets.

Compared to the uncertainty involved in the moisturedependence, the contribution of temperature is obvious. It

Table 16.2. Comparison of parameters for *in situ* soil respiration rate and estimated amounts of annual soil respiration in different steppe soils.

|            |                    | P      | arame  | eters deter             | mining for i        | n situ so                                | il respi          | ration r       | ates            | A Shaffi | $C_{\rm em}$ (at T=25°C,                                       | Q 10          | Annual soil   |                       |
|------------|--------------------|--------|--------|-------------------------|---------------------|--|-------------------|----------------|-----------------|----------|--|---------------|---|-----------------------|
| Sites      | Type <sup>1)</sup> | а      |        |                         | Ь                   | E<br>(kJ mol                             | [ <sup>-1</sup> ) | R <sup>2</sup> |                 | n        | $M=0.3 L L^{-1}$ )<br>(kg C ha <sup>-1</sup> d <sup>-1</sup> ) | (15-25°C)     | respiration<br>(Mg C ha <sup>-1</sup> y <sup>-1</sup> ) | Period for estimation |
| Southern K | azakhstan          |        |        | ant al 28.              |                     |  |                   |                |                 |          |  | 1 Andrew P    |   |                       |
| СН         | WR                 | 39.1   | ***    | 1.21                    | ***                 | 69.5                                     | ***               | 0.66           | ***             | 15       | 184  | 2.65          | 22.6 <sup>4)</sup>                                      | 2001/7/2-2002/7/1     |
| DC         | WR                 | 49.4   | ***    | 1.22                    | ***                 | 96.0                                     | ***               | 0.70           | ***             | 13       | 114  | 3.84          | 9.37 <sup>4)</sup>                                      | same as above         |
| CN         | WR                 | 46.3   | ***    | 1.64                    | ***                 | 84.7                                     | ***               | 0.82           | ***             | 12       | 303  | 3.28          | 10.6 <sup>4)</sup>                                      | 2001/5/29-2002/5/28   |
| GC         | WR                 | 28.6   | ***    | 1.26                    | ***                 | 44.5                                     | ***               | 0.89           | ***             | 13       | 106  | 1.87          | 13.2 <sup>4)</sup>                                      | same as above         |
| Hungary    | serie Merce P      |        | Readed | tina di basanci         | na hater di Sama da | an a | Balani            |                | a.<br>Na series |          | and the second second  | and the state | al subscription of                                      |                       |
| VC-BY      | WR                 | 24.8   | **     |                         |                     | 43.6                                     | *                 | 0.19           | *               | 15       | 16.7   | 1.84          | 3.60 <sup>4)</sup>                                      | 2002/4/23-2002/10/20  |
| VC-WH      | WR                 |        |        |                         | FAILED -            | and Star Sec.                            |                   |                |                 | 15       | n.d.   | n.d.          | n.d.  | same as above         |
| KC-CL      | WR                 |        |        |                         | FAILED -            |  |                   |                |                 | 14       | n.d.   | n.d.          | n.d.  | same as above         |
| KC-200     | WR                 | 14.9   | ***    | <u>giyahan</u>          |                     | 18.5                                     | *                 | 0.20           | *               | 14       | 20.9   | 1.30          | 3.31 <sup>4)</sup>                                      | same as above         |
| KH         | WR                 | 11.1   | ***    | <u></u>                 |                     | 8.7                                      | *                 | 0.14           | *               | 11       | 23.1   | 1.13          | 3.78  | same as above         |
| VC-BY      | MR                 | 54.7   | ***    | 1.83                    | ***                 | 109.9                                    | ***               | 0.67           | ***             | 12       | 41.9   | 4.67          | 1.35  | 2002/4/23-2002/10/20  |
| VC-WH      | MR                 | 39.9   | ***    | 1.87                    | **                  | 73.6                                     | ***               | 0.58           | **              | 12       | 35.4   | 2.80          | 2.01  | same as above         |
| KC-CNTL    | MR                 | 39.5   | ***    | 1.55                    | **                  | 73.8                                     | ***               | 0.59           | ***             | 14       | 30.4   | 2.81          | 1.27  | same as above         |
| KC-200     | MR                 | 39.7   | ***    | 2.09                    | *                   | 71.8                                     | **                | 0.36           | **              | 14       | 43.3   | 2.74          | 1.35  | same as above         |
| KH         | MR                 |        |        |                         | FAILED -            | 1.988828<br>28882                        |                   |                |                 | 11       | n.d.   | n.d.          | n.d.  | same as above         |
| Ukraine    |                    |        |        | <i>b1</i> <sup>3)</sup> | b2 <sup>3)</sup>    |  |                   |                |                 |          |  |               | Ne. states  |                       |
| GK         | WR                 | 40.7   | ***    | 1.31 *                  | 1.90 **             | 71.3                                     | ***               | 0.33           | ***             | 35       | 39.7   | 2.72          | 3.61 <sup>4)</sup>                                      | 2002/1/1-2002/12/31   |
|            |                    | 29.6   | ***    |                         |                     | 51.0                                     | ***               | 0.86           |                 | 12       | 96.7   | 2.04          | 9.76 <sup>4)</sup>                                      | 2003/1/1-2003/12/31   |
| AN         | WR                 | 29.3   | **     |                         | 4.73 *              | 36.2                                     | *                 | 0.20           | *               | 19       | 101  | 1.66          | 2.52 4)   | 2002/1/1-2002/12/31   |
|            |                    |        |        |                         |                     | used s                                   | ame ec            | uation         | above           |          |  |               | 2.54 <sup>4)</sup>                                      | 2003/1/1-2003/12/31   |
| GK         | MR                 | 36.9   | ***    |                         |                     | 70.8                                     | ***               | 0.75           |                 | 11       | 49.4   | 2.70          | 4.80  | 2003/1/1-2003/12/31   |
| AN         | MR                 |        |        |                         | FAILED -            |  | Ē                 |                |                 | 8        | n.d.   | n.d.          | 1.35 <sup>2)</sup>                                      | 2003/1/1-2003/12/31   |
| Northern K | azakhstan          | 1.36.3 |        |                         | 0.8.8.1             | 1. 68 A. 9                               | 6                 |                |                 |          | ANTIGAD  |               | N. A. 1993 - 1. 10                                      | 化化化工作化化               |
| F0-C       | WR                 | 17.5   | ***    | -2.01                   | *                   | 30.6                                     | ***               | 0.53           | ***             | 13       | 23.8   | 1.54          | 2.92 <sup>4)</sup>                                      | 2000/4/10-2000/10/3   |
| 00-C       | WR                 | 22.0   | ***    | 0.68                    | **                  | 33.0                                     | ***               | 0.59           | ***             | 13       | 31.8   | 1.59          | 3.19 <sup>4)</sup>                                      | same as above         |
| F1-C       | WR                 | 26.5   | ***    |                         |                     | 46.6                                     | ***               | 0.65           | ***             | 12       | 26.4   | 1.92          | 2.52 <sup>4)</sup>                                      | same as above         |
| 01-C       | WR                 | 19.0   | ***    |                         |                     | 28.4                                     | **                | 0.42           | **              | 13       | 23.1   | 1.49          | 2.76 <sup>4)</sup>                                      | same as above         |
| F4-C       | WR                 | 17.3   | ***    | 0.90                    | ***                 | 20.9                                     | **                | 0.69           | ***             | 10       | 28.2   | 1.34          | 3.06 4)   | same as above         |

The original function is:  $C_{\rm em} = AM^b e^{-E/RT}$ ,

converted to:  $\ln C_{em} = a + b \ln M - E/RT$ , where

 $C_{em}$ : Rate of CO<sub>2</sub> emission (mol C ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>)

T: Temperature (K)

M:Volumetric moisture content of soil (L L<sup>-1</sup>)

R: gas constant (8.31 (J K<sup>-1</sup> mol<sup>-1</sup>))

A: Coefficient (mol ha<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>)

a, b: Coefficients;  $a = \ln A$ ,  $R = 8.31 (J \text{ K}^{-1} \text{ mol}^{-1})$ 

<sup>1)</sup> WR: whole soil respiration; MR: microbial respiration excluding plant-root respiration.

<sup>2)</sup> Calculated from difference between WR and root respiration, the latter of which was successfully simulated.

<sup>3)</sup> For Ukrainian soils, the soil moisture both in the surface 15- and subsurface 50-cm depths were used in the equation:  $C_{em} = AM_1^{bI}M_2^{b2}e^{ERT}$ .

<sup>4)</sup> These data were included in the statistical analysis using PCA and stepwise regression to reveal factors affecting annual soil respiration in section 16.6. \*, \*\*, \*\*\*: Significant at 25%, 5%, and 1% levels, respectively.

is one of the main characteristics of SOM decomposition in temperate regions, not like as the case in the tropical countries such as Thailand or Indonesia, where annual fluctuation of soil temperature is limited (Funakawa et al., unpublished data). The values of E or  $Q_{10}$ , which was related to temperaturedependence of the soil respiration, mostly ranges between 30 and 80 kJ mol<sup>-1</sup> and 1.5 and 3, respectively. Since the datasets covered a relatively wide-range of temperature fluctuation, the obtained values relating to temperaturedependence were mostly consistent with the range determined by laboratory-incubation experiment (Katterer et al.,1998; Chapter 17 in this volume).

When comparing soil respiration rate under a fixed condition, namely  $C_{em}$  was calculated at the condition of  $T = M = 0.3 \text{ L L}^{-1}$ , it was the highest in the southern Kazakhstan plots (grassland), followed by Ukrainian plots (grassland); and that in the Hungary or northern Kazakhstan (cropland) was the lowest. A higher contribution of root respiration under grassland is supposed.



Figure 16.3. Simulated fluctuation of soil respiration rates using the parameters given in Table 16.2 superimposed with the measured values.

# 16.5. Simulation of annual fluctuation of soil respiration using the parameters

Using the parameters obtained and soil-climatic data monitored by the datalogger at the nearest sites, annual fluctuation of soil respiration was calculated and plotted together with the measured data in Fig. 16.3. Generally the data in southern Kazakhstan plots were comfortably simulated (high  $R^2$  in Table 16.2). Although some of the Hungarian datasets were poorly simulated, it would be possible to use later in the comparison of the amounts of annual respiration in different regions because the values at Hungarian plots were mostly kept low.

In the plots of southern Kazakhstan, the overall pattern in the fluctuation of soil respiration was similar to that of soil temperature. Although the contribution of soil moisture was also significant based on the statistical analysis, it could say that the fluctuation of soil respiration in this area was primarily determined by soil temperature. Similar trend was also observed in Ukraine (Chapter 6), northern Kazakhstan (Chapter 9), and possibly Hungarian plots though in the latter there was still some uncertainty due to extrapolation for the possibly highest period (Fig. 16.3). The contribution of rainfall and stimulated pulse of  $CO_2$  emission during the summer period to the overall soil respiration should be investigated in more detail. The simulated values of the soil respiration were summed up for a given period, usually for one year, and the annual soil respiration calculated was also given in Table 16.2. Although the monitoring data did not cover the winter period in Hungary and northern Kazakhstan, the estimated values were considered to be very close to the annual amounts because the winter temperature in these regions was too low to expect high soil respiration.

According to Table 16.2, it is obvious that the amount of annual soil respiration was higher in the southern Kazakhstan plots than in the others. Although most of them were within the range of previous reports introduced in Chapter 6 (p.92), the values in southern Kazakhstan, especially of CH, were higher than the reported values. The favorable conditions both for the primary production and decomposition were supposed from meteorological data in this region, i.e. there were several rainfall events even in dry summer time (Fig. 16.1), and might partially explain the high annual soil respiration. In the plots in Hungary and Ukraine, both the soil respirations with or without root respiration were analyzed. According to the available paired data, the contribution of the root respiration in the whole soil respiration was 63% (VC-BY), 60% (KC-200), 51% (GK) and 47% (AN), respectively. Both in the grassland and the cropland ecosystems, the root respiration occupied

|             | and provide the second | Above-<br>bior         | -ground<br>nass        | Below-<br>bior         | ground<br>nass         | Total b                | viomass                | Danth for    |                                |
|-------------|------------------------|------------------------|------------------------|------------------------|------------------------|------------------------|------------------------|--------------|--------------------------------|
| Sites       | planted crops          | average                | standard<br>error      | average                | standard<br>error      | average                | standard<br>error      | collection   | Remarks                        |
|             |                        | (Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> ) |              |                                |
| Southern Ka | azakhstan              |                        |                        |                        |                        |                        |                        |              |                                |
| СН          | pasture                | 2.2                    | 0.3                    | 5.8                    | 1.6                    | 8.0                    |                        | 30 cm        |                                |
| DC          | pasture                | 0.4                    | 0.1                    | 11.4                   | 1.5                    | 11.8                   |                        | 50 cm        |                                |
| CN          | pasture                | 5.9                    | 0.3                    | 8.7                    | 1.0                    | 14.6                   |                        | 30 cm        |                                |
| GC          | pasture                | 4.0                    | 0.1                    | 8.2                    | 0.7                    | 12.2                   |                        | 50 cm        |                                |
| Hungary     |                        |                        |                        |                        | n ndektori             |                        |                        |              |                                |
| VC-BY       | spring barley          |                        |                        |                        |                        | 8.8                    | 1.1                    | 30 cm        |                                |
| VC-WH       | winter wheat           |                        |                        |                        |                        | 15.4                   | 1.4                    | 30 cm        |                                |
| KC-CNTL     | spring barley          |                        |                        |                        |                        | 7.4                    |                        | 30 cm        | yield: 2.0 Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> |
| KC-200      | spring barley          |                        |                        |                        |                        | 9.1                    |                        | 30 cm        | yield: 2.9 Mg ha               |
| KH          | winter wheat           |                        |                        |                        |                        | 21.3                   | 0.9                    | 30 cm        |                                |
| Ukraine     |                        |                        |                        |                        |                        |                        |                        |              |                                |
| GK          | pasture                | 4.1                    | 1.1                    | 19.6                   | 4.0                    | 23.7                   |                        | 100 cm       |                                |
| AN          | natural grassland      | 2.8                    | 0.3                    | 20.7                   | 1.3                    | 23.5                   |                        | 100 cm       |                                |
| Northern K  | azakhstan              |                        |                        |                        |                        |                        |                        |              |                                |
| F0-C        | bare fallow            |                        | No p                   | lant biomass           | was left in th         | e field due to         | practice of s          | summer fallo | w.                             |
| 00-C        | oats                   |                        |                        |                        |                        | 13.1                   | 0.8                    | 30 cm        | yield: 3.2 Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> |
| F1-C        | spring wheat           |                        |                        |                        |                        | 6.9                    | 0.4                    | 30 cm        | yield: 1.9 Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> |
| 01-C        | spring wheat           |                        |                        |                        |                        | 4.9                    | 0.3                    | 30 cm        | yield: 1.4 Mg ha <sup>-1</sup> |
| F4-C        | spring wheat           |                        |                        |                        |                        | · 7.8                  | 0.1                    | 30 cm        | vield: 2.0 Mg ha               |

approximately a half of the whole soil respiration.

# 16.6. Factors affecting the amounts of annual soil respiration in the study plots

In order to analyze the factors affecting the amounts of annual soil respiration in the study plots, principal component analysis followed by stepwise multiple linear regression was conducted for the datasets. The datasets used for the analysis were of CH, DC, CN, GC, VC-BY, KC-200, GK (average of 2002 and 2003), AN, and SHT (average of the 5 plots in northern Kazakhstan), as indicated in Table 16.2. Variables employed includd mean annual precipitation (MAP), mean annual temperature (MAT), altitude, clay content, organic C content, total N content, content of potentially mineralizable C ( $C_0$ ), and total biomass measured (Tables 16.1 and 16.3). Plant biomass (Table 16.3) was measured either at the harvest time at the cropped plots in Hangary and northern Kazakhstan or in moist spring time at the grassland in southern Kazakhstan and Ukraine.

Table 16.4 shows the factor pattern for the first three principal components after varimax rotation, which accounted for 83% of the total variance.

High positive coefficients were given to MAP, organic C content, total N content for the first component. These variables corresponded to the properties derived from climatic humidity and whole SOM accumulation in soils and, hence, the first component was referred to as the "humidity and SOM accumulation" factor. Based on Fig. 16.4, our plots in Hungary and northern Kazakhstan showed relatively low scores for the first component, while some of southern Kazakhstan and Ukraine (CH and GK) exhibited showed high scores.

The second component showed high coefficients with

 Table 16.4.
 Factor pattern for the first three principal components.

| Variable                                   | PC1                                 | PC2                        | PC3                     |
|--|-------------------------------------|----------------------------|-------------------------|
| Biomass                                    | 0.195                               | -0.229                     | 0.802                   |
| Mean annual precipitation                  | 0.734                               | -0.400                     | -0.170                  |
| Mean annual temperature                    | -0.041                              | -0.920                     | -0.020                  |
| Altitude                                   | 0.408                               | -0.068                     | -0.733                  |
| Clay content                               | 0.009                               | -0.004                     | 0.841                   |
| Organic C                                  | 0.949                               | 0.145                      | 0.156                   |
| Total N                                    | 0.955                               | 0.237                      | -0.073                  |
| PMC ( <i>C</i> <sub>0</sub> )              | 0.082                               | 0.962                      | -0.196                  |
| Eigenvalue                                 | 2.566                               | 2.367                      | 1.984                   |
| Total variance explained (%)               | 32.1                                | 25.8                       | 24.8                    |
| purcenty coming Read<br>SCAL which vestion | Humidity and<br>SOM<br>accumulation | Delay of SOM decomposition | Biomass<br>accumulation |

MAT (negative) and the  $C_0$  content and was considered to be a "delay of SOM decomposition" factor. The plot of northern Kazakhstan, referred as SHT, showed a very high score in this factor.

The third component exhibited high coefficients, positive or negative, with biomass, clay content (positive) and altitude (negative), indicating a close relation with biomass accumulation on clayey soils. Higher moisture retention in clayey soil may serve a favorable condition for accumulation of production into plant biomass, and hence, the third component was referred to as the "biomass accumulation" factor. Our study plots in Ukraine showed relatively high scores in this factor, while those in southern Kazakhstan was the opposite (Fig. 16.4). All of the variables employed were closely related to only one component with high coefficients above 0.7.

In the next step, stepwise multiple regression analysis was conducted to examine the contribution of each factor to annual soil respiration (*ASR*) estimated. The following equations were obtained:





Figure 16.4. Scattergram between the first and second or third principal component scores determined for each plot.



Figure 16.5. Relationship between the annual soil respiration based on the field-measured data and that from bio-environmental factors.

#### factor) - 3.658 × ("biomass accumulation" factor);

 $R^2 = 0.87^{**} (n = 9)$ 

The relationship between the annual soil respiration based on the field-measured data and that from bioenvironmental factors are shown in Fig. 16.5. This equation indicated that:

- The increasing humidity, i.e. precipitation, increased overall SOM accumulation and also increased annual soil respiration possibly through different manners; that is, as a direct source of SOM decomposition, and by enhancing plant root respiration under comfortable moisture regime or through providing good soil physical/chemical conditions.
- 2) The negative contribution of "biomass accumulation" factor was considered to be an indirect one. That is, as perennial properties of the plant community increased, C accumulation into plant biomass increased mostly as root biomass; or annual species cannot accumulate the primary production and could rapidly consume it through respiration.

The main reason for the highest soil respiration observed in CH could be related to the highest score in the "humidity and SOM accumulation" factor as well as the lowest in the "biomass accumulation" factor.

Thus our approach successfully analyzed the possible factors that regulate annual soil respiration under different climatic conditions.

#### References

Raich BJW, Schlesinger WH, 1992. The global carbon dioxide flux in soil respiration and its relatioship to vegetation and climate. Tellus 44B, 81-99.

- Buyanovsky GA, Kucera CL, Wagner GH, 1987. Comparative analyses of carbon dynamics in native and cultivated ecosystems. *Ecology* 68, 2023-2031.
- Coleman DC, Andrews R, Ellis JE, Singh JS, 1976. Energy flow and partitioning in selected man-man aged and natural ecosystems. *Agro-Ecosystems* 3, 45-54.
- de Jong E, Schappert HJV, MacDonald KB, 1974. Carbon dioxide evolution from virgin and cultivated soil as affected by management practices and climate. *Can. J. Soil Sci.* 54, 299-307.
- Katterer T, Reichstein M, Andren O, Lomander A, 1998. Temperature dependence of organic matter decomposition: a critical review using literature data analyzed with different models. *Biol. Fertil. Soils*, 27, 258-262.
- Kucera CL, Kirkham DR, 1971. Soil respiration studies in tallgrass prairie in Missouri. *Ecology* 52, 912-915.
- Raich JW, Tufekcioglu A, 2000. Vegetation and soil respiration: Correlations and controls, *Biogeochemistry* 48,71-90.

Soil Survey Staff, 1998. Keys to Soil Taxonomy 8th Edition. SPSS, 1998. SYSTAT 8.0. Statistics. SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL.

- pp.1086. pp.1086. pp.100 prifection of the provide a
- Warembourg FR, Paul EA, 1977. Seasonal transfers of assimilated <sup>14</sup>C in grassland: Plant production and turnover, soil and plant respiration. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 9,295-301.

soures for the first companying, while some of sou Resolution and Ukraine (CH and GK) exhibited showed

The second commonent showed high coefficients wi

|  |  |  |  | Sec. 2011 |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|--|--|--|--|-----------|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|--|
|  |  |  |  |           |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |           |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |           |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |           |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |           |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |           |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |           |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |           |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |           |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |           |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |           |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |           |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |           |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |           |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |           |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |           |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |           |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |           |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |           |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |           |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |
|  |  |  |  |           |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |  |

Chapter 17<sup>02</sup> tool to collection along the stands of

## Temperature/moisture dependence of organic matter decomposition in soils from different environments with special reference to contribution of light- and heavy-fraction C Shinya Funakawa, Yuko Nishiyama and Ayako Kato

#### 17.1. Background

Dynamics of soil organic matter (SOM) is recently drawn considerable attention in terms of both the large source and sink of carbon dioxide in relation to the problem of "global warming". There are several attempts to simulate quantitatively SOM dynamics in models such as NCSOIL (Molina et al., 1983), CENTURY (Parton et al., 1987), RothC (Jenkinson, 1990), DAYSY (Hansen et al., 1991), etc., which have succeeded under given environments. The models listed are usually multi-compartments models, in which several pools of organic materials are supposed to be decomposed according to first order kinetics with given decomposition rate constants. To fix the parameters, a huge numbers of investigation have been conducted using different methodologies; i.e. laboratory incubation for determination of readily decomposable SOM pools and their decomposition rate constants (e.g. summarized by Katterer et al., 1998), radiocarbon-dating technique associated with acid hydrolysis for determination of resistant pool of SOM (Paul et al., 1997), so on. It was suggested, however, that generally better simulation by each model tends to be limited within a respective ecosystem, i.e. either forest or grassland soils (Smith et al., 1997).

Another problem relating to simulation of SOM dynamics lies in the fact that one of most serious problems is drastic changes in land uses and soil environments in tropical countries. They are still straggling to overcome the problems for sufficient food supply - it means that additional reclamation of forest is necessary for agricultural use, being required to conserve forest as a  $CO_2$  sink at the same time. Most of the models established for simulating SOM dynamics are, however, developed in temperate countries. It is still questionable whether they can appropriately simulate such situations as changes from forest to cropland or the reverse under extremely humid and/or warm conditions in tropical countries.

The authors consider that main difficulty in validating the fitness of these models under different environments are partially coming from their "hypothesized" fractionation of SOM, which restricted us to trace only changes in total amount of SOM when we try to compare actual and simulated changes in SOM. In this context, models having more fractions of SOM that are experimentally measurable are more desirable (Paul et al., 2001; Six, et al., 2002). The approach for investigating dynamics of SOM based on its physical fractionation into light- and heavy-fractions (LF and HF, respectively) has been tried repeatedly (Spycher et al., 1983; Sollins et al., 1984; Dalal and Meyer, 1986; Strickland and Sollins, 1987; Kogel-Knabner and Ziegler, 1993; Boone, 1994; Golchin et al. 1994; Kadono et al., 2002; Karbozova-Saljnikov, 2004) and possibly overcomes the limitation mentioned above; but the information are not integrated in a single model vet.

In the present study, we comparatively analyze possible relationships between the physical fractions of SOM (LF and HF) and parameters biologically determined by incubation experiment, such as readily (or potentially) mineralizable organic C ( $C_0$ ), rate constant of decomposition, its temperature/moisture dependence, etc., using soils from ecologically different environments, i.e. steppe soils from Ukraine and Kazakhstan and forest soils from Japan. Main objectives here are seeking possibility for constructing SOM simulation models based on physically determined fractions as well as to fix parameters that should be taking into account when we compare the behaviors of SOM under different environments.

### 17.2. Materials and methods

#### 17.2.1. Soil samples

Nine steppe soils and ten forest soils were collected from Eurasian steppes (Ukraine and Kazakhstan) and Japanese forest, respectively, for the present study. General information of the soils is given in Table 17.1.

All the steppe soils except for one sample from southern Kazakhstan, *CN*, are classified into Mollisols in Soil Taxonomy (Soil Survey Staff, 2003). Their parent materials are mostly loess deposit, except for the soils from northern Kazakhstan (*KZ5* and *KZ7*), where quaternary lacustrine and fluvial deposits are widely distributed. As is generally known, such dark-colored steppe soils are formed under a relatively

dry climate with annual precipitation of less than 500 mm. The values of soil pH are, consequently, close to neutral among the soils. AN1 and AN2 were collected in different years, i.e. 1997 and 2002, from natural steppe of Askania-Nova Biosphere Reserve, which was located in southern dry steppe of Ukraine. GK was collected from pasture of Grakovo Experimental field of Institute for Soil Science and Agrochemistry Research, Kharkov, in northeastern Ukraine. These soils are classified into Xerolls. KZ5 and KZ7 were collected from cropland and pasture in northern Kazakhstan, respectively. They have been formed under continental and hence cold and dry climate and classified into Haplustolls. The remaining four steppe soils, i.e. CH, DC, CN, and GC were collected from pasture under different climatic conditions in the foothill of Tien Shan Mountains in southern Kazakhstan. CH and DC are located near Almaty city and CN and GC are west of Shimkent. They are classified into different taxonomic groups as shown in Table 17.1. All the steppe soils were collected from surface 15 cm for the present study.

On the other hand, the forest soils in Japan are largely affected by volcanic ejecta as is classified into Andisols or termed by "andic" in Soil Taxonomy. Such an andic nature of soil is especially conspicuous in the soils of Y, which were collected from the foothill of Mt. Yatsugatake and strongly

affected by volcanic ash (acid-ammonium-oxalate-extractable Al (Alo) and Fe (Feo) amounted 44 g kg<sup>-1</sup> in Alo+1/2Feo). The soils of B, S and N were situated under cool temperate forest with different vegetation, i.e. beech (Fagus crenata), Japanese cedar (Criptomeria japonica) and deciduous oak (Quercus mongolica), respectively, and were also affected by the andic nature to some degrees with certain amounts of Alo+1/2Feo, i.e. 15-34, 16-20 and 15-18 g kg<sup>-1</sup>, respectively, for the studied soil layers. K was collected from the deciduous evergreen forest of Kyoto city and situated in warm temperate zone. The Japanese forest soils exhibit low pH values between 3.9 and 4.7 (Table 17.1) and hence the contents of exchangeable Al were high as ranging from 2.4 to 15.1 cmol, kg<sup>-1</sup> (data are not shown). The chemical properties and possible soil-forming factors of the Japanese forest soils were presented by Mori et al. (2005). All the forest soils were collected from different two surface layers as given in Table 17.1.

All the sample soils exhibit medium to fine texture with relatively high SOM contents, i.e. greater than 20 g kg<sup>-1</sup> in total organic C (Corg). According to Table 17.1, main differences in soil properties between the steppe and forest soils are: 1) the values of pH are significantly lower in the Japanese forest soils than in the Eurasian steppe soils, and 2) the contents of organic matter are higher in the forest soils

| Soil Sampling         |               | na an a |  | Annual                | Mean annual         | Altitude |                      | Particle size distribution |               |              | pH                 | Organic C             | Total N                                  | CN ratio     |
|-----------------------|---------------|--|--|-----------------------|---------------------|----------|----------------------|----------------------------|---------------|--------------|--------------------|-----------------------|--|--------------|
| samples depth<br>(cm) | depth<br>(cm) | Classification                           | Location                               | precipitation<br>(mm) | temperature<br>(°C) | (m)      | Land use             | sand<br>(%)                | silt<br>(%)   | clay<br>(%)  | (H <sub>2</sub> O) | (g kg <sup>-1</sup> ) | (g kg <sup>-1</sup> )                    | Civitatio    |
| urasian ste           | ppe soils     | ILTERATION CONTINUES                     | 1010 2002010800                        | Q.X.Q. (01.80)        | 145799 (21)         | 60103    | saya ayaa            | 6.30.01                    | AL POALASE VI |              |                    | 2010/010.1            | an a |              |
| ANI<br>AN2            | 0-15<br>0-15  | Calcic Haploxerolls                      | N46°27' E33°47'                        | 390                   | 9.5                 | 30       | natural<br>grassland | 22.1<br>23.8               | 37.8<br>38.5  | 40.0<br>37.7 | 5.9<br>6.5         | 27.3<br>33.2          | 2.6<br>2.9                               | 10.5<br>11.4 |
| GK                    | 0-15          | Pachic Haploxerolls                      | N49°56' E36°12'                        | 540                   | 6.9                 | 150      | pasture              | 17.3                       | 35.2          | 47.5         | 6.2                | 40.0                  | 3.6                                      | 11.1         |
| KZ5                   | 0-15          | Typic Haplustolls                        | N54°32' E69°34'                        | 320                   | 0.5                 | 120      | cropland             | 19.3                       | 25.4          | 55.3         | 7.0                | 40.2                  | 3.5                                      | 11.5         |
| KZ7                   | 0-15          | Typic Haplustolls                        | N54°32' E69°31'                        | 320                   | 0.5                 | 130      | pasture              | 20.3                       | 26.1          | 53.6         | 8.0                | 38.7                  | 3.7                                      | 10.5         |
| CH                    | 0-15          | Pachic Hapludolls                        | N43°20' E77°37'                        | 730                   | 7.6                 | 1200     | pasture              | 33.7                       | 38.8          | 27.6         | 7.5                | 49.1                  | 5.4                                      | 9.1          |
| DC                    | 0-15          | Typic Calciustolls                       | N43°13' E76°26'                        | approx. 350           | approx. 9           | 900      | pasture              | 30.0                       | 44.7          | 25.3         | 8.1                | 24.3                  | 2.4                                      | 10.1         |
| CN                    | 0-15          | Typic Hapludalfs                         | N42°28' E70°35'                        | 650                   | 9.5                 | 1300     | pasture              | 23.2                       | 41.1          | 35.7         | 6.5                | 24.8                  | 2.5                                      | 9.9          |
| GC                    | 0-15          | Udic Argiustolls                         | N42°28' E70°05'                        | approx. 350           | approx. 11.5        | 900      | pasture              | 18.4                       | 44.2          | 37.4         | 7.1                | 28.0                  | 2.5                                      | 11.2         |
| Average               |               |  |  |                       |                     | SIC11    |                      | 23.1                       | 36.9          | 40.0         | 7.0                | 34.0                  | 3.2                                      | 10.6         |
| CV (%)                |               |  |  |                       |                     |          | meta KAC             | 22                         | 18            | 25           |                    | 24                    | 28                                       | 7            |
| apanese for           | est soils     | The management and the                   |  |                       |                     |          |                      |                            |               |              |                    |                       |  |              |
| Kl                    | 0-5           | Temio Destandonto                        | NI260011 E1260471                      | 1510                  | 16 7                | 80       | natural              | 47.1                       | 24.8          | 28.1         | 3.9                | 41.6                  | 2.4                                      | 17.3         |
| K2                    | 5-15          | Typic Dystrudepts                        | N35 01 E135 47                         | 1510                  | 15.7                | 00       | forest               | 43.2                       | 26.0          | 30.8         | 4.1                | 16.8                  | 0.9                                      | 18.7         |
| YI                    | 0-10          | Acrudoxic                                | N1250501 TT1200201                     | 1420                  | 69                  | 1450     | secondary            | 25.0                       | 31.2          | 43.8         | 4.7                | 173.8                 | 11.3                                     | 15.4         |
| Y2                    | 10-20         | Melanudands                              | N33 36 E136 28                         | 1430                  | 0.8                 | 1450     | forest               | 26.2                       | 30.7          | 43.1         | 4.6                | 178.3                 | 11.1                                     | 16.1         |
| BI                    | 0-10          | Andie Hanlohumode                        | N25027 E125011                         | 1750                  | 10.7                | 680      | narural              | 11.6                       | 39.7          | 48.7         | 4.0                | 86.5                  | 5.0                                      | 17.3         |
| <i>B2</i>             | 10-20         | Andre Haptonumous                        | N35 57 E155 II                         | 1750                  | 10.7                | 000      | forest               | 13.6                       | 41.7          | 44.7         | 4.2                | 60.6                  | 3.5                                      | 17.3         |
| SI .                  | 0-10          | Andic Dystrudents                        | N25027 E125011                         | 1750                  | 10.7                | 640      | natural              | 19.6                       | 34.4          | 46.0         | 4.0                | 97.1                  | 5.8                                      | 16.7         |
| S2                    | 10-20         | Think Dystracepts                        | N33 37 E135 II                         | 1750                  | 10.7                | 010      | forest               | 17.6                       | 34.2          | 48.2         | 4.3                | 74.8                  | 4.3                                      | 17.4         |
| NI                    | 0-10          | Alic Hapludands                          | N35º38' E135º10'                       | 1750                  | 10.7                | 650      | artificial           | 13.7                       | 45.2          | 41.1         | 4.0                | 97.0                  | 5.9                                      | 16.4         |
| N2                    | 10-20         | The Inspiruumus                          | 1100 00 1100 10                        |                       |                     |          | forest               | 11.7                       | 44.0          | 44.3         | 4.2                | 58.4                  | 3.4                                      | 17.2         |
| Average               |               | 2001/2010/00 0001                        |  |                       |                     |          |                      | 22.9                       | 35.2          | 41.9         | 4.2                | 88.5                  | 5.4                                      | 17.0         |
| CV (%)                |               |  | ente partes<br>Recorde d'inclusion por |                       | i dan manafiki      |          |                      | 53                         | 19            | 16           |                    | 56                    | 61                                       | 5            |
| Differenc             | e between     |  |  |                       |                     |          |                      |                            |               |              | **                 | **                    |  | **           |

<sup>1)</sup> Significantly different at: \*5% level, \*\*1% level.

than in the steppe soils with higher CN ratios. At the same time, the values of CV (coefficient of variation; in %) indicates that the clay content of the steppe soils is more variable than that of the forest soils while organic matter-related properties ( $C_{org}$  and total N) exhibits the reverse tendency.

#### 17.2.2. Analytical methods

Aerobic incubation under different conditions. The fresh soils collected were passed through a 2 mm mesh sieve and preserved in a refrigerator without drying until analyses. Before the incubation experiment, moisture content of each sample soil was adjusted to 0.1, 0.25 and 0.4 L L<sup>-1</sup> on volumetric basis ( $\theta$ ) (the bulk density was already determined elsewhere) for the steppe soils and to 0.2, 0.4 and 0.6 L L<sup>-1</sup> for the forest soils, respectively, by drying slowly in the refrigerator. These moisture contents were selected based on the frequency that the soils have been actually experienced in the respective field conditions. Then the steppe soils were incubated in duplicate under different nine conditions (three temperature levels at 10, 20 and 30°C×three moisture levels described above) and forest soils under seven conditions  $(10^{\circ}C \times 0.2(\theta),$  $10^{\circ}C \times 0.6(\theta), 20^{\circ}C \times 0.2(\theta), 20^{\circ}C \times 0.4(\theta), 25^{\circ}C \times 0.2(\theta),$  $25^{\circ}C \times 0.4(\theta)$  and  $25^{\circ}C \times 0.6(\theta)$ , respectively. The soil prepared was put in a 50 mL of vial and then placed in a plastic bottle (500 mL) together with a 10 mL of 1 M NaOH solution for CO<sub>2</sub> absorption in a separate vial. In the bottom of the plastic bottle, few mL of weakly acidified water was added to prevent for drying during the incubation. Then the lid of the bottle was closed tightly. Mineralized C, or CO<sub>2</sub> emitted, which was absorbed in a NaOH solution, was determined by secondstep titration by HCl solution (from pH 8-9 to pH 4) using phenolphthalein and bromocresol green as indicators. On each measurement, a new alkali solution was placed for next term of measurement.

Measurement of organic matter in light and heavy fractions. The LF and HF were separated based on the difference in specific gravity. Each 10 g aliquot of soils (airdried) were dispersed in NaI solution (1.6 g cm<sup>-3</sup>) and then centrifuged at 3000 rpm (Strickland and Sollins, 1987). Materials remaining in the supernatant were collected and regarded as LF (mostly partially decomposed plant residues), whereas those included in the sediment were as HF (more decomposed organic materials possibly fixed by soil mineral parts). The contents of C and N in LF were determined by dry combustion with an NC analyzer (Sumika, NC-800-13N). Those in HF were determined by subtracting the contents of C and N in LF from C<sub>org</sub> and total N.

#### 17.3. Results

The C mineralization patterns under different conditions are presented in Fig. 17.1 for each sample soil. As is well known, increasing temperature and/or moisture resulted in an apparent increase of C mineralization. In both the series of soils, no initial flush was observed during the incubation experiment, suggesting that the soil-drying effect during the pretreatment was practically avoided.

Soil properties relating to the physical fractionation into the LF and HF are presented in Table 17.2. Both the C contents in LF and HF (LFC and HFC, respectively) are significantly higher in the Japanese forest soils than in the Eurasian steppe soils. The relative proportion of the two fractions is, however, not significantly different; LFC occupies approximately 7% of  $C_{org}$ . Rather higher CN ratios of LF in the forest soils indicate a possible difference in their quality, presumably due to vegetation. The obtained values of LFC/  $C_{org}$  as well as CN ratio in the present study are still lower than many cases of forest soils reported (28% and 37.9 in average; Khanna et al., 2001). Thus the forest soils and their organic components are characterized by lower pH, higher LFC and HFC, and higher CN ratio of LF compared to the steppe soils.

| TT 1 1 4 T 6 C |                 |              | • • • • •            |
|----------------|-----------------|--------------|----------------------|
| Table 17.7 Not | nronortiog ro   | lating to nh | reical tractionation |
| 14010 17.4.00  | I properties re | raume to pm  | sical nactionation.  |

|  | Organic C<br>content  | C content in (L           | light fraction<br>FC) | CN ratio of light | C content in heavy<br>fraction (HFC)<br>(g kg <sup>-1</sup> soil) |  |
|--|-----------------------|---------------------------|-----------------------|-------------------|---|--|
|  | (g kg <sup>-1</sup> ) | (g kg <sup>-1</sup> soil) | (% in SOM)            | fraction          |   |  |
| Eurasian steppe soils                              |                       |                           |                       |                   |   |  |
| ANI  | 27.3                  | 1.57                      | 5.73                  | 18.0              | 25.7  |  |
| AN2  | 33.2                  | 5.80                      | 17.5                  | 16.4              | . 27.4  |  |
| GK   | 40.0                  | 0.896                     | 2.24                  | 21.4              | 39.1  |  |
| KZ5  | 40.2                  | 0.543                     | 1.35                  | 18.6              | 39.7  |  |
| KZ7  | 38.7                  | 1.40                      | 3.61                  | 16.9              | 37.3  |  |
| CH   | 49.1                  | 1.25                      | 2.55                  | 16.9              | 47.9  |  |
| DC   | 24.3                  | 4.26                      | 17.5                  | 13.0              | 20.0  |  |
| CN   | 24.8                  | 1.28                      | 5.17                  | 16.3              | 23.5  |  |
| GC   | 28.0                  | 2.07                      | 7.40                  | 18.2              | 25.9  |  |
| Average  | 34.0                  | 2.12                      | 7.00                  | 17.3              | 31.8  |  |
| - CV (%)   | 24                    | 78                        | 84                    | 12                | 28  |  |
| Japanese forest soils                              |                       |                           |                       |                   |   |  |
| KI   | 41.6                  | 6.32                      | 15.2                  | 17.5              | 35.3  |  |
| K2   | 16.8                  | 0.860                     | 5.12                  | 22.5              | 15.9  |  |
| YI   | 174                   | 11.7                      | 6.73                  | 17.5              | 162   |  |
| Y2   | 178                   | 5.87                      | 3.29                  | 21.2              | 172   |  |
| B1   | 86.5                  | 4.17                      | 4.82                  | 20.6              | 82.3  |  |
| B2   | 60.6                  | 1.64                      | 2.71                  | 28.1              | 59.0  |  |
| <i>S1</i>  | 97.1                  | 11.5                      | 11.9                  | 25.1              | 85.6  |  |
| S2   | 74.8                  | 5.47                      | 7.31                  | 30.3              | 69.3  |  |
| NI   | 97.0                  | 8.86                      | 9.13                  | 19.4              | 88.1  |  |
| N2   | 58.4                  | 1.33                      | 2.28                  | 25.5              | 57.1  |  |
| Average  | 88.5                  | 5.78                      | 6.85                  | 22.8              | 82.7  |  |
| CV (%)   | 56                    | 65                        | 58                    | 18                | 57  |  |
| Difference between<br>the two groups <sup>1)</sup> | **                    | •                         |                       | **                | **  |  |

<sup>1)</sup> Significantly different at: \*5% level, \*\*1% level.



S. Funakawa, Y. Nishiyama and A.Kato



205
S. Funakawa, Y. Nishiyama and A.Kato

#### 17.4. Outline of data analysis

In order to assess the C mineralization patterns of the soils in relation to the physicochemical properties and/or physically determined organic fractions (LF and HF), we tried different two approaches to simulate the C mineralization patterns observed. One is supposing first-order kinetics for C mineralization of each sample with one fixed readily mineralizable pool of SOM  $(C_0)$ , which is decomposed under varying k values according to temperature and moisture conditions, followed by statistical analysis between the parameters and physicochemical properties or the amounts of LF and HF. The other is supposing, for analyzing each of the steppe or forest soils all together, a universal relationship between the rates of C mineralization at the initial stage of the incubation, i.e. 7th day, (CR7), the amounts of LFC and HFC and their respective rate constants,  $k_1$  and  $k_2$ , which are variable according to temperature and moisture conditions.

The first approach is represented by Eq. 1 for each

sample soil.

| $CRt = e^{a} \theta^{b} e^{-E/RT}$ | $(C_{\circ}-C_{\circ})$ | <b>)</b> | (Eq. | 1) |
|------------------------------------|-------------------------|----------|------|----|

where CRt is the CO<sub>2</sub> emission rate at time t (g C kg<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>),  $C_0$  is the amount of readily mineralizable C (g C kg<sup>-1</sup> soil),  $C_{min}$  is the amount of C mineralized C by time t, T is absolute temperature (K),  $\theta$  is volumetric moisture content of soil (L L<sup>-1</sup>), E is the activation energy (kJ mol<sup>-1</sup>), R is the gas constant (i.e.  $8.31 \times 10^{-3}$  (kJ K<sup>-1</sup> mol<sup>-1</sup>)), and a and b are coefficients. The values of CRt,  $\theta$ , T and  $C_{min}$  are known variables from the dataset and a, b, E and  $C_0$  are calculated by non-linear fitting using SigmaPlot 8.0 (SPSS, 2002). In this case, the rate constant, k, is represented as  $e^a \theta^b e^{-E/RT}$ .

The second approach is given in Eq. 2, in which all the datasets of CR7 in each of the forest or steppe soils are included.

 $C_{R7} = e^{a_1} \theta^{b_1} e^{-E_1/RT} LFC7 + e^{a_2} \theta^{b_2} e^{-E_2/RT} HFC7$  (Eq. 2) where  $C_{R7}$  is the rate of CO<sub>2</sub> emission at 7th day, LFC7 and HFC7 are the amounts of organic C in the LF and HF at the

|  | Fitting parameters for first order kinetic model <sup>2)</sup> |                   |                              |                              |                |      |  |                          | CalOreania C |
|--|--|-------------------|------------------------------|------------------------------|----------------|------|--|--------------------------|--------------|
|  | a  | b                 | E<br>(kJ mol <sup>-1</sup> ) | C 0<br>(g kg <sup>-1</sup> ) | R <sup>2</sup> | n    | $k = \exp(a) \theta^{b} \exp(-E/RT)$<br>(at T = 25°C, $\theta$ = 0.4) (d <sup>-1</sup> ) | <i>Q 10</i><br>(15-25°C) | (%)          |
| Eurasian steppe soils                      | Bistinana  | a separate second | na an tha bhair              |                              |                | 1.44 | a di di Barang Adalah kara   | aga di Ja                | jila ya      |
| ANI  | 22.8   | 1.40              | 64.0                         | 1.77                         | 0.85           | 45   | 0.01337  | 2.45                     | 6.5          |
| AN2  | 20.5   | 1.37              | 59.9                         | 1.68                         | 0.78           | 45   | 0.00722  | 2.31                     | 5.1          |
| GK   | 25.7   | 1.28              | 72.6                         | 1.78                         | 0.92           | 45   | 0.00849  | 2.77                     | 4.5          |
| KZ5  | 12.3   | 0.387             | 40.2                         | 0.627                        | 0.53           | 45   | 0.01424  | 1.76                     | 1.6          |
| KZ7  | 18.4   | 0.832             | 54.0                         | 1.49                         | 0.68           | 45   | 0.01642  | 2.13                     | 3.8          |
| CH   | 23.4   | 1.50              | 66.0                         | 2.32                         | 0.82           | 45   | 0.00971  | 2.52                     | 4.7          |
| DC   | 15.5   | 1.34              | 46.5                         | 2.10                         | 0.75           | 45   | 0.01183  | 1.92                     | 8.7          |
| CN   | 19.0   | 1.70              | 53.4                         | 1.32                         | 0.79           | 45   | 0.01690  | 2.11                     | 5.3          |
| GC   | 19.3   | 1.58              | 55.1                         | 1.67                         | 0.81           | 45   | 0.01239  | 2.17                     | 6.0          |
| Average                                    | 19.7   | 1.26              | 56.9                         | 1.64                         |                |      | 0.01229  | 2.24                     | 5.1          |
| CV (%)                                     | 20   | 30                | 17                           | 28                           |                |      | 26   | 13                       | 36           |
| Japanese forest soils                      |  |                   |                              |                              |                |      |  |                          |              |
| KI   | 25.5   | 0.846             | 73.8                         | 2.27                         | 0.93           | 49   | 0.00669  | 2.81                     | 5.4          |
| K2   | 5.56   | 0.587             | 24.2                         | 0.462                        | 0.60           | 49   | 0.00874  | 1.40                     | 2.7          |
| Y1   | 28.0   | 0.498             | 81.1                         | 6.64                         | 0.94           | 49   | 0.00573  | 3.12                     | 3.8          |
| Y2   | 26.8   | 0.325             | 78.3                         | 2.58                         | 0.92           | 49   | 0.00605  | 3.00                     | 1.4          |
| B1   | 21.3   | 0.832             | 63.9                         | 3.81                         | 0.90           | 49   | 0.00507  | 2.45                     | 4.4          |
| B2   | 10.2   | 0.714             | 35.0                         | 0.795                        | 0.75           | 49   | 0.00987  | 1.63                     | 1.3          |
| SI   | 21.5   | 0.557             | 65.4                         | 4.70                         | 0.86           | 49   | 0.00467  | 2.50                     | 4.8          |
| S2   | 10.1   | 0.258             | 36.7                         | 1.50                         | 0.86           | 49   | 0.00730  | 1.67                     | 2.0          |
| NI   | 23.8   | 0.884             | 70.3                         | 5.80                         | 0.94           | 49   | 0.00477  | 2.68                     | 6.0          |
| N2   | 21.7   | 0.763             | 63.1                         | 1.11                         | 0.80           | 49   | 0.01202  | 2.42                     | 1.9          |
| Average <sup>3)</sup>                      | 19.5   | 0.627             | 59.2                         | 2.97                         |                |      | 0.00709  | 2.37                     | 3.4          |
| CV (%) <sup>3)</sup><br>Difference between | 39   | 33                | 32                           | 69                           |                |      | 33   | 24                       | 48           |
| the two groups <sup>1)</sup>               |  | **                |                              |                              |                |      | **   |                          |              |

**Table 17.3.** Fitting parameters for incubation data assuming a fixed value of  $C_0$ .

<sup>1)</sup> Significantly different at: \*5% level, \*\*1% level.

<sup>2)</sup> Dataset obtained was simulated usaing the following equation:

 $C_{R_t} := \exp(a) \theta^b \exp(-E/RT) (Co-Cmin)$ 

 $C_{R_t}$ : Rate of CO<sub>2</sub> emission at time t (g C kg<sup>-1</sup> d<sup>-1</sup>)

Co: Readily mineralizable C (g C kg<sup>-1</sup> soil)

Cmin : Mineralized C by time T: Absolute temperature (K)

1. Absolute temperature (K)

 $\theta$ : Volumetric moisture content of soil (L L<sup>-1</sup>) E: activation energy (kJ mol<sup>-1</sup>)

*R*: Gas constant (=  $8.31 \times 10^{-3}$  (kJ K<sup>-1</sup> mol<sup>-1</sup>))

a, b, c : Coefficients

7th day, respectively, E1 and E2 are the activation energy (kJ mol<sup>-1</sup>) for decomposition of LFC and HFC, respectively, and a1, a2, b1 and b2 are coefficients, in addition to the variables defined in Eq. 1. The values of CR7,  $\theta$ , T and C<sub>min</sub> are initially known from the datasets and a1, a2, b1, b2, E1 and E2 are calculated by non-linear fitting using SigmaPlot 8.0 (SPSS, 2002). Since the values of LFC7 and HFC7 are unknown, we temporarily used the initial values (i.e. experimentally determined values of LFC and HFC) for the first approximation and then repeated the fitting using the values of LFC7 and HFC7, which were calculated using the parameters determined after the approximation. This stepwise approximation was repeated until practically fixed values of parameters were obtained. In this case, the universal rate constants,  $k_1$  and  $k_2$ , are determined for LF and HF, respectively, both in the steppe and forest soils.

## 17.5. Simulation of C mineralization patterns under different temperature/moisture conditions using firstorder kinetics for determining $C_0$ and k

Table 17.3 summarizes the fitting parameters for incubation data according to Eq. 1. These parameters generally well simulate the measured mineralization rates with high  $R^2$  values (Fig. 17.2). The values of  $C_0$  range from 0.63 to 6.64 g kg<sup>-1</sup>, corresponding to 1.3 to 8.7% of C<sub>org</sub>. Larger parts of C<sub>org</sub> are, therefore, not readily decomposable within the incubation experiment. Except for  $C_0$  in the forest soils, which include both the surface and subsurface layers of soils, variation of each parameter within a given environment is not large, usually less than 40% in CV.

The values of coefficient *b*, which is related to moisture dependence of rate constant, are significantly higher in the steppe soils than in the forest soils. However, the temperature dependence, which is represented by the value of *E* or  $Q_{10}$ , is

not significantly different between the two groups of soils, i.e. in the steppe soils the  $Q_{10}$  values (15-25°C) varies from 1.76 to 2.52 (average: 2.24) and in forest soils from 1.40 to 3.12 (average: 2.37). The values of k under a fixed condition (at  $T = 25^{\circ}$ C,  $\theta = 0.4$ ) in the steppe soils range from 0.0072 to 0.0169 d<sup>-1</sup> - mean resident times (MRT) are approximately from 60 to 140 d - are also higher than those in the forest soils, i.e. from 0.0047 to 0.0120 d<sup>-1</sup> or from 80 to 210 d in MRT. As analyzed earlier, significant differences in the physicochemical and organic matter-related properties are observed in pH, C<sub>org</sub>, CN ratio and LFC content between the two groups of soils. Therefore some of these parameters are assumed to influence the difference in the values of parameter b or k between the two groups of soils.

In Table 17.4, correlation coefficients between the parameters and soil physicochemical or organic matter-related properties in each group of soils are listed. The value of b is negatively correlated with clay content in the steppe soils and with pH in the forest soils, respectively. On the other hand, the k value under a fixed condition is negatively correlated with LFC in the forest soils though such clear trend is not observed for the steppe soils. These parameters might be important for determining decomposition-rate constants within each soil group.

### 17.6. Simulation of C mineralization patterns using a universal relationship between the C mineralization rates at 7th day of incubation and amounts of LFC and HFC in each of ecosystems

There are several reports on initial flush of  $CO_2$  emission after soil disturbance accompanying dry-rewet treatment (Birch, 1958; Soulides and Allison, 1961; Funke and Harris, 1968; Clein and Schimel, 1994; Franzluebbers et al., 2000). By this reason, pre-incubation for conditioning is often

|   | Organic C      | Light<br>fraction-C<br>(LFC) | LFC/OC | C/N ratio of<br>LF | Heavy<br>fraction-C<br>(HFC) | pH                | Clay         |
|---|----------------|------------------------------|--------|--------------------|------------------------------|-------------------|--------------|
| Eurasian steppe   | soils $(n=9)$  |                              |        |                    |                              | Sec. Sec. Sec. 19 | and a second |
| a   | 0.24           | -0.09                        | -0.18  | 0.46               | 0.24                         | -0.48             | -0.20        |
| в   | -0.41          | 0.27                         | 0.31   | -0.20              | -0.42                        | -0.25             | -0.76*       |
| Ε   | 0.31           | -0.08                        | -0.19  | 0.50               | 0.29                         | -0.48             | -0.15        |
| Co  | 0.04           | 0.34                         | 0.34   | -0.29              | -0.02                        | 0.19              | -0.76*       |
| k at $T = 25$ °C,<br>$\theta = 0.4$                       | -0.31          | -0.50                        | -0.38  | -0.18              | -0.19                        | 0.21              | 0.31         |
| Japanese forest   | soils $(n=10)$ |                              |        |                    |                              |                   |              |
| a   | 0.66*          | 0.63                         | 0.30   | -0.68*             | 0.64*                        | 0.22              | 0.07         |
| Ь   | -0.44          | -0.16                        | 0.20   | -0.39              | -0.45                        | -0.69*            | -0.29        |
| Ε   | 0.68*          | 0.65*                        | 0.31   | -0.68*             | 0.66*                        | 0.23              | 0.08         |
| Co  | 0.65*          | 0.89**                       | 0.36   | -0.58              | 0.61                         | 0.18              | 0.26         |
| $k \text{ at } T = 25^{\circ}\text{C},$<br>$\theta = 0.4$ | -0.50          | -0.78**                      | -0.54  | 0.49               | -0.46                        | 0.04              | -0.12        |

 Table 17.4. Correlation coefficients between parameters determined

 for C mineralization and physicochemical properties of the soils.



Figure 17.2. Fitting parameters for incubation data assuming a fixed value of  $C_0$ .

|                                  | Para   | Parameters on LF |   | Parameters on HF |       |                         |                |     | $k = \exp(a) \theta^{b} \exp(-E/RT)$     |                       | Q 10      |      |
|----------------------------------|--------|------------------|---|------------------|-------|-------------------------|----------------|-----|--|-----------------------|-----------|------|
|                                  | a1     | <i>b 1</i>       | $ \begin{array}{ccc}     E_{I} \\     (kJ mol^{-1}) \end{array} $ | a 2              | b 2   | E 2                     | R <sup>2</sup> | · n | (at $T = 25^{\circ}$ C, $\theta = 0.4$ ) |                       | (15-25°C) |      |
|                                  |        |                  |   | an grade gan     |       | (kJ mol <sup>-1</sup> ) |                |     | LF (d <sup>-1</sup> )                    | HF (d <sup>-1</sup> ) | LF        | HF   |
| Urasian steppe soils (9 samples  | 10.6   | 1.26             | 37.5  | 7.92             | 0.696 | . 37.6                  | 0.72           | 81  | 0.00322                                  | 0.00037               | 1.69      | 1.69 |
| Japanese forest soils (8 samples | ) 23.6 | 0.642            | 74.2  | 6.99             | 0.496 | 37.8                    | 0.81           | 56  | 0.00100                                  | 0.00016               | 2.83      | 1.70 |

**Table 17.5.** Fitting parameters for determining  $CO_2$  emission rate at 7th day of incubation using LFC and HFC contents for separately all the steppe and forest soils.

recommended. Although such an initial flush was not clearly observed in the present study, we use the  $CO_2$  emission rate at 7th day, which is comparable with the data after conditional

 $\theta$ : Volumetric moisture content of soil (L L<sup>-1</sup>)

 $R: Gas constant (= 8.31 \times 10^{-3} (kJ K^{-1} mol^{-1}))$ 

a1, a2, b1, b2: Coefficients

incubation in another studies.

 $E_1$  and  $E_2$ : activation energy for LF and HF decomposition, respectively (kJ mol<sup>-1</sup>)

Using Eq. 2, fitting parameters for determining  $CO_2$ emission rate at 7th day of the incubation are calculated and listed in Table 17.5. Generally the  $CO_2$  emission rates are well simulated by the parameters with high  $R^2$  values (Fig. 17.3). It should be noted, however, that the soils with strong amorphic property, i.e. *Y1* and *Y2*, are excluded from this calculation because our first trial including them failed because extremely high HFC in these samples was not reflected in the  $CO_2$ emission.

General trend of the parameters determined here is similar to the first approach in that coefficient b and the rate constant k at a given condition are higher in the steppe soils than in the forest soils (see the average values in Table 17.3). The rate constants for LF are approximately ten-times higher than those for HF whereas the amounts of LF are only 1/13 of HF in average, resulting in almost similar contribution of LF and HF on soil respiration rate at the time. This estimation is well consistent with the results of statistical analysis in Chapter 15 in this volume, in which the  $C_0$  values are contributed both by the amounts of LF and HF similarly.

According to Table 17.5, the moisture/temperature dependence of HF is similar in both the soils. Main differences in the parameters are observed for LF; i.e. coefficient  $b_i$  of the steppe soils is higher and  $E_i$  of the forest soils is also higher than those for the other cases. This implies that under humid temperate zone in Japan the major constraint of SOM decomposition is low temperature during wintertime and therefore temperature-susceptible LF - which can be decomposable if suitable temperature were given - is remaining in soils, while in Eurasian steppes severely dry condition during summertime retards decomposition of SOM

and hence more moisture-susceptible LF is left in soils. Thus the properties of LF are variable in different ecosystems while those of HF are rather similar.

The values of k under a given condition (at  $T = 25^{\circ}$ C,  $\theta = 0.4$ ) are considerably different; that in the steppe soils is much higher than in the forest soils. As discussed before, main differences of the two groups of soils are pH, C<sub>org</sub>, CN ratio, and LFC content. Most of the differences are still significant if the soils of Y are excluded from the analysis. Therefore factors relating to higher LFC content with increasing CN ratio of whole the soils, or lower pH of the forest soils are considered to be responsible for lowering k



**Figure 17.3.** Relationships between the decomposition rates measured and estimated on the 7th day of the incubation; a) Eurasian steppe soils and b) Japanese forest soils.

value of LF for the forest soil; presumably through suppressing microbial activity or giving selection for survival among soil microbes, resulting domination of those with higher tolerance against acidity. These factors retard active decomposition of LF in forest soils and may contribute to its accumulation in the ecosystems. On the other hand, the *k* value of HF is also possibly influenced by the content of inactive SOM pools in HF; namely if such inactive SOM is larger, *k* value is assessed to be lower than actual. Most of the Japanese forest soils are affected by volcanic activity more or less and the inactive pool of SOM is expected to be high. This may cause, in addition to the effect of low pH, the apparent lower rate constant of the soils. In any cases, the values of *k* under a fixed condition (at  $T = 25^{\circ}$ C,  $\theta = 0.4$ ) are much lower in the second approach, i.e. 0.0032 and 0.0010 d<sup>-</sup> <sup>1</sup> for LF and 0.00037 and 0.00016 d<sup>-1</sup> for HF, respectively, corresponding approximately 310, 1000, 2700 and 6300 d in MRT. This is due to the fact that the amount of the mineralizable pool of SOM is hypothesized to be large as total SOM (LF plus HF) in the second approach though in the first approach the values of  $C_0$  occupy only 1.3 to 8.7% of  $C_{org}$ .

Another aspect is, as shown in Fig. 17.4, that the decomposition of LF is more pronounced than that of HF under more favorable conditions, that is, the values of  $k_{\rm HF}/k_{\rm LF}$  is decreasing along with increase of temperature and/or moisture. In turn, there is a possibility that small changes in climatic factors can substantially affect the amounts and properties of LF.

20

10



0.1

Volumetric soil moisture

(L L<sup>-1</sup>)

0 25

0.4

0.000 0.2 0.4 0

Volumetric soil moisture (L L<sup>-1</sup>)

0.005

0.00

0.003

0.002

0,00



Volumetric soil moisture (L L<sup>-1</sup>)



listed in Table 17.5 gener annulated by the garameter should be acted, however, property, 1 e. 27 and 22, because our first trial incluhigh HFC in the sutragent contention

to the first approach in that is at a given condition are the forest solls (see the ev rate constrats for LF are a these for HF whereas the a these for HF whereas the a set on soil requiration was consistent with the cesulta

According to Table dependence of HP is simila in the parameters are obtain the storpe colls is higher o

Temperature



10

(°C)

# 17.7. General discussion on the possibility of inclusion of physical fractionation into SOM dynamic models

In the first approach, a fixed  $C_0$  with varying k values according to temperature/moisture conditions is supposed; but the actual figure of mineralization suggest the existence of different values of maximum mineralization under different conditions (Fig. 17.1). It is, therefore, questionable to suppose only one fixed  $C_0$  as a SOM pool with rather homogeneous characteristics in terms of temperature/moisture dependence of decomposition. The varying sizes of pools are, however, not practical in handling in models and would not be actually used in simulation. Even so, we should note the possibility of variable pool sizes under varying environments; e.g. in case we apply established models to different environments, such as humid tropics, with its original condition in temperate regions.

In addition, there might be another difficulties for supposing a fixed  $C_0$  value based on long-term incubation data. When simulating in situ mineralization process, the initial mineralization rates would be one of the most important parameters since under field conditions additional substrates are usually supplied to soils continuously, indicating that the decomposition rate in later stage of the incubation becomes somewhat meaningless. Moreover, there is some uncertainty in the respiration rates in the later stage of incubation, as well as the values of  $C_0$ , because after longterm incubation microbial composition and soil properties such as pH and/or available nutrients (e.g. N or P) might be changed. By these reasons, the authors would like to seek the possibility of the second approach, in which a universal relationship is supposed between the rates of C mineralization at the initial stage of the incubation, i.e. 7th day, (CR7), the amounts of LFC and HFC and their respective rate constants,  $k_1$  and  $k_2$ , which are variable according to temperature and moisture conditions.

As mentioned earlier, the overall trend of the parameters obtained is similar in both the approach tested in the present study. But there are several differences among the values obtained. As for temperature dependence, the *E* or  $Q_{10}$  values determined in the first approach are consistent with the summary report on temperature dependence by Katterer et al. (1998), in which the average parameter values of *E* and  $Q_{10}$ are determined to be 52.7 to 54.8 kJ mol<sup>-1</sup> and 2.02 to 2.13, respectively, using 25 datasets published. On the other hand, in the second approach of the present study, the parameters on temperature dependence are lower (approximately 38 kJ mol<sup>-1</sup> corresponding to a  $Q_{10}$  value of 1.7 except for LF in the forest soils) when we focus on the initial stage of decomposition. This is much lower than widely believed. Such difference is considered to be derived from datasets used; that is, in the first approach using a long-term incubation data, maximum decomposition under more favorable conditions has the highest loading in non-linear fitting and, therefore, the value of  $C_0$  is inevitably set to high whereas quite low decomposition rates under lower temperature are optimized by lowering k, i.e. increasing E or  $Q_{10}$ . Although the analysis of Katterer et al. (1998) was a little different from the first approach of our study in that they firstly determined parameters at the highest temperature using the single or double sets of first order kinetic model and then optimized the datasets at lower temperature by temperature-correction parameters of rate constant such as E or  $Q_{10}$ , the situation of highest loading of the datasets under highest temperature is similar as far as all datasets are optimized into a single equation. It is necessary to analyze whether such low Evalues as determined in the second approach are commonly found in the SOM decomposition, especially among HF.

Additionally, there is another serious problem in the second approach, that is, how to fix SOM pools that are actually inactive under a given environmental condition. For example, in the CECTURY model, a passive SOM pool with MRT of several thousand years is supposed to amount 30-40% of SOM (Century Soil Organic Matter Model version 5). In our second trial, the soils with strong amorphic property derived from volcanic ash, i.e. Y1 and Y2, are excluded from the calculation because extremely high HFC in these samples was not actually reflected in the CO<sub>2</sub> emission. This is due to a relatively large pool of stable organo-mineral complexes of these soils. Moreover, there are several reports on the existence of charcoal and charred material in environment (Skjemstad et al., 1996; Masiello and Druffel, 1998), which could be inevitably contained in HF. It would be necessary to apply another approach to determine an inactive SOM pool, such as trial by Paul et al. (1997), in which a SOM fraction that still remains after 6 M HCl treatment (at 115°C for 16 hrs) is proposed to be a measurable resistant pool.

In spite of several questions involving in the second approach, it successfully simulates the  $CO_2$  emission rates at the initial stage of incubation and give us several insights on possible reasons of variability of rate constant, k, and its temperature/moisture dependence. Taking into account for the possible disadvantage of long-term incubation as mentioned earlier, it would be worthwhile to test the temperature/moisture dependence of k based on the shortterm basis. This approach would, however, require us such a condition that time-step of possible simulation models is shortened, in which decomposition rates could be practically regarded as a function of a fixed pool of SOM.

#### 17.8. Conclusion

- Using the physical fractions of SOM (i.e. LFC and HFC) as measurable pools, the SOM decomposition rate at early stage of incubation (7th day) was successfully simulated for each of different ecosystems. In this approach, possible disadvantages involved in the analysis of long-term incubation were avoided.
- 2) The amounts and properties of LF also influenced on the decomposing properties of SOM such as rate constant and its temperature/moisture dependence. These parameters were rather similar within a given ecosystem but substantially different between the ecosystems.
- Such an analysis enabled us to fix possible factors that should be taken into account when we constructed global SOM dynamics models over different ecosystems. In the present study, a possible effect of pH on SOM decomposition as well as different nature of LF from the

respective environments was supposed.

- However some problems still remained in this approach, i.e. low temperature dependence of rate constant, difficulty to fix a resistant pool of SOM, etc.
- 5) The integration of the measurable fractions into SOMsimulation models would increase the possibility of validation of the models when we compare actual and
- simulated changes of SOM in different ecosystems.

### References

- Birch H, 1958. The effect of soil drying on humus decomposition and nitrogen availability. *Plant Soil* 10, 9-31.
- Boone RD, 1994. Light-fraction soil organic matter: origin and net contribution to net nitrogen mineralization. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 26, 1459-1468.
- Clein J, Shimel J, 1994. Reduction in microbial activity in birch
- litter due to drying and rewetting events. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 26, 403-406.
- Dalal RC, Meyer RJ, 1986. Long-term trends in fertility of soils under continuous cultivation and cereal cropping
- in couthern Queensland. 4. Loss of organic-carbon from
- different density-functions. Aust. J. Soil Res. 24, 301-

Funke BR, Harris JO, 1968. Early respiratory responses of soil treated by heat or drying. *Plant Soil* 28, 38-47.

- Franzluebbers A, Haney R, Honeycutt C, Scomberg H, Hons F, 2000. Flush of carbon dioxide following rewetting of dried soil relates to active organic pools. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 67, 798-805.
- Golchin A, Oades JM, Skjemstad JO, Clarke P, 1994. Study on free and occluded particulate organic matter in soils by solid state <sup>13</sup>C CP/MAS NMR spectroscopy and scanning electron microscopy. *Aust. J. Soil Res.* 32, 285-309.
- Hansen S, Jensen HE, Nielsen NE, Svendsen H, 1991.Simulation of nitrogen dynamics and biomass production in winter wheat using the Danish simulation model DAISY. *Fert. Res.* 27, 245-259.
- Jenkinson DS, 1990. The turnover of organic carbon and nitrogen in soil. *Phil. Trans. R. Soc.* B. 329, 361-368.
- Kadono A, Funakawa S, Kosaki T, 2002. Factors controlling mineralization of soil organic matter in humid Asia. *In* Transactions of 17th World Congress of Soil Science, p.1211-1-9, and in Abstracts, Vol I. p.170, Bangkok, Thailand.
- Karbozova-Saljnikov E, Funakawa S, Akhmetov K, Kosaki T, 2004. Soil organic matter status of Chernozem soil in North Kazakhstan: effects of summer fallow. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 36, 1373-1381.
- Katterer T, Reichstein M, Andren O, Lomander A, 1998. Temperature dependence of organic matter decomposition: a critical review using literature data analyzed with different models. *Biol. Fertil. Soils* 27, 258-262.
- Khanna PK, Ludwig B, Bauhus J, O'hara C, 2001. Assessment and significance of labile organic C pools in forest soils. *In* Assessment Methods for Soil Carbon. Eds. R. Lal,
- J.M. Kimble, R.F. Follett, and B.A. Stewart, pp.167-182, Lewis Publishers
- Kogel-Knabner I, Ziegler F, 1993. Carbon distribution in different compartments of forest soils. *Geoderma* 56, 515-525.
- Masiello CA, Druffel ERM, 1998. Black carbon in deep-sea sediments. *Science* 280, 1911-1913.
- Molina JAE, Clapp CE, Shaffer MJ, Chichester FW, Larson WE, 1983. NCSOIL, a model of nitrogen and carbon transformations in soil: description, calibration, and behavior. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 47, 85-91.
- Mori K, Shinjo H, Kato A, Kosaki T, 2005. Comparison of different soil classification systems using 5 profiles from

different forest ecosystems in Japan. Jpn. Pedologist (in Japanese with English summary) (in press)

- Paul EA, Follett RF, Leavitt SW, Halvorson A, Peterson GA, Lyon DJ, 1997. Radiocarbon dating for determination of soil organic matter pool sizes and dynamics. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 61, 1058-1067.
- Paul EA, Morris SJ, Bohm S, 2001. The determination of soil C pool sizes and turnover rates: Biological fractionation and tracers. *In* Assessment Methods for Soil Carbon. Eds. R. Lal, J.M. Kimble, R.F. Follett, and B.A. Stewart, pp.193-206, Lewis Publishers
- Parton WJ, Schimel DS, Cole CV, Ojima DS, 1987. Analysis of factors controlling soil organic matter levels in great plains grasslands. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 51, 1173-1179.
- Skjemstad JO, Clarke P, Taylor JA, Oades JM, McClure SG, 1996. The chemistry and nature of protected carbon in soil. *Aust. J. Soil Res.* 34, 251-271.
- Six J, Conant RT, Paul EA, Paustian K, 2002. Stabilization mechanisms of soil organic matter: Implications for Csaturation of soils. *Plant Soil* 241, 155-176.
- Smith P, Smith JU, Powlson DS, McGill WB, Arah JRM, Chertov OG, Coleman K, Franko U, Frolking S, Jenkinson DS, Jansen LS, Kelly RH, Klein-Gunnewiek H, Kamarov AS, Li C, Molina JAE, Mueller T, Parton WJ, Thornley JHM, Whitmore AP, 1997. A comparison of performance of nine soil organic matter models using datasets from seven long-term experiments. *Geoderma* 81, 153-225.
- Soil Survey Staff, 2003: Keys to Soil Taxonomy. Ninth Edition. U.S. Deppartment of Agriculture and National Resources Conservation Service, Washington.
- Sollins P, Spycher G, Glassman CA, 1984. Net nitrogen mineralization from light- and heavy -fraction forest organic matter. *Soil Biol. Biochem.* 16, 31-37.
- Soulides, D.A., Allison, F.E., 1961. Effect of drying and freezing soils on carbon dioxide production, available mineral nutrients aggregation and bacterial population. *Soil Sci.*, 91, 291-298.
- SPSS, 2002. SYSTAT 8.0. User's Guide. SPSS Inc, Chicago, IL. pp.447.
- Spycher G, Sollins P, Rose S, 1983. Carbon and nitrogen in the light fraction of a forest soil: vertical distribution and seasonal patterns. *Soil Sci.* 135, 79-87.
- Strickland TC, Sollins P, 1987. Improved method for separating light- and heavy-fraction organic material from soil. *Soil Sci. Soc. Am. J.* 51, 1390-1393.

on organic material from soil. *Soil* 0-1393.

omogeneous formories. A sould of the researces also litudes instants that from it is a close correlation whereas new traines and humo commute in soils (2000). She we be indices. Typeral stepper some of the ender the entitled into 4 web ecological summaries excess the indices. Typeral stepper some of the ender the entitled into 4 web ecological summaries excess the indices. Typeral stepper some of the ender the entitled into 4 web ecological summaries excess the indices. Typeral stepper some of the ender the entitled into 4 web ecological summaries excess the indices. To your 11 stepper steppers whereas it web commutations. To your 11 stepper are determined without a second indices in significant in a second dominant in a second indices in supply of super occurred, without are indiced in and higher. However, without excess provident is an indice in supply of super occurred of the anti-sole indites in a superfittering effect of stepper 10 and the indices is supply of super occurred and in a second fitter is indiced with excess provide and the indiced is indiced of the indiced spectrum area of the effect is indiced of the indiced spectrum area of the effect is indiced and the indiced spectrum area of the effect is indiced as a superfittering the indiced spectrum is indiced with indiced spectrum area of the effect is indiced as a superfittering the indiced spectrum is indiced spectrum indiced spectrum indiced spectrum is indiced spectrum indice

Some boomers another reasons of Armenia ontone Uranica, is similarly what is not reacted at the tenes and in gran third controls to a bar store, and arf condition is dominant to place condition in a second registerion is dominant to place condition in a second registerion is a second product of the dominant of 5000 as well as conditioner solution of the dominant of 5000 as well as conditioner solution of the dominant of 5000 as well as conditioner solution of the dominant of 5000 as well as conditioner solution of the dominant of 5000 as well as conditioner solution of the dominant of 5000 as well as conditioner solution of the dominant of 5000 as well as conditioner solution of the dominant of 5000 as well as the second of the dominant of 5000 as well as the second of the dominant of 5000 as well as the second of the dominant of 5000 as well as the second of the dominant of 5000 as well as the second of the dominant of 5000 as well as the second of the dominant of 5000 as well as the second of the dominant of 5000 as well as the second of the dominant of 5000 as well as the second of the dominant of 5000 as well as the second of the dominant of 5000 as well as the second of the dominant of 5000 as well as the second of the dominant of 5000 as well as the second of the dominant of 5000 as well as the second of the dominant of 5000 as well as the second of the dominant of 5000 as well as the second of the second of the dominant of 5000 as well as the second of the second of the dominant of 5000 as the second of the second of the dominant of 5000 as the second of the second of the second of the dominant of 5000 as the second of the second of the second of the dominant of 5000 as the second of the second of the second of the dominant of 5000 as the second of the seco

Example of the Southern and Large scales and a second s

Additional and a state woods and a state of the state of

# Chapter 18 Conclusion Shinya Funakawa and Takashi Kosaki

# 18.1. SOM dynamics in Ukrainian steppe (Chapters 2 to 6)

Eurasian steppe in central Europe is distributed insularly and occupies the river valleys of Morava, Vltava and Laba, as well as the vast plains of Mid-German low hills. In the southeastern part it lays as a large continuous massive within Lower-Danube lowland and in the west - within the system of Middle Danube lowlands. Eurasian steppes continuously spread from the western border of Ukraine, including Moldova, through Northern Caucasus, Lower Volga, southern Ural, Kazakhstan, Mongolia, and southern Siberia to northern China. Total surface area of Eurasian steppe is about  $700 \times 10^6$ ha. Formation of steppe landscapes in the Typical steppe zone is conditioned mainly by climate and first of all by water insufficiency, whereas in the Forest-steppe zone, which receives more water, it is conditioned by a geomorphologic factor, namely by the poor drainage of the territory **(Chapter** 

2).

Large extension of European steppe zone from west to east and from north to south conditions variability of climatic characteristics, which has influenced the characteristics of distribution of vegetation cover. Meadow steppes and steppened meadows as the most water-resistant type of steppe landscapes are spread over the territory of the Forest-steppe zone. Motley-tipchak-feathergrass typical steppe is extended in northern part of the Typical steppe zone. Tipchakfeathergrass steppe extends only in Eastern Europe over three regions: Black Sea coast, Caucasus-Lower Don and eastern bank of Volga, and was characterized with domination of xerophile dense-turf cereals. Wormwood-tipchakfeathergrass steppe is typical for the Dry steppe zone. In southern part of tipchak-feathergrass and especially in wormwood-tipchak-feathergrass steppe, steppened-desert and desert vegetation cover, which was conditioned by solonetz and solonchak spots, could be found.

Existence of the steppe as a natural phenomenon is primarily determined by water condition. The most complete reflectors of water supply and energy for soil formation are hydrothermal coefficient ( $HTC_{v.Ix}$ ) for the period with air temperature above 10°C, amount of precipitation during the cold period and its assimilation by soil. Therefore, they can be used for mapping of Eurasian steppes into moisturehomogeneous territories. Results of the researches done in Ukraine indicate that there is a close correlation between these indices and humus contents in soils (R>0.9). Based on the indices, Typical steppe zone of Ukraine is clearly differentiated into 4 soil-ecological zones, where each of them is characterized by inherent hydrothermal parameters, type of soil formation and quantitative indices of humus accumulation. In total 11 classes are detected in terms of humus accumulation: i.e. <80, 80-140, 140-180, 180-230, 230-280, 280-340, 340-400, 400-480, 480-540, 540-650 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> and higher. However, within these provincial standards, certain deviations are observed, which are caused by the difference in supply of water resources due to additional water feed by surface flow or contrary increase of drought by water loss due to expositional effect of slopes. It is established that deviations of total humus content against background soils within each soil-ecological province are, depending on water supply: 130±10% for Meadow chernozems (or Meadow chestnut soils) with semi-hydromorphic, 115±5% for soils with increased humidity, 100±10% for the background,  $74\pm15\%$  for weakly-xeromorphics,  $50\pm10\%$  for moderately-xeromorphics, and 30±10% for stronglyxeromorphics (Chapter 3).

Steppe biosphere, natural reserve of Askania Nova, southern Ukraine, is situated within north part of the Dry Steppe zone. In grass stand composition of the steppe, zonal turf-cereal vegetation is dominant in placor conditions. Researches relating to soil temperature and moisture regimes, dynamics of SOM as well as plant production, and soil microbial activity both under natural steppe and cultivated land were conducted in 1967-1974. Following results were obtained.

- In zones of the Southern and Dry steppes under natural vegetation, non-percolative water regime was established. The cultivated soils were characterized with more favorable water conditions. In some years positive yearly water balance was formed in them that makes possible sporadically deep (> 500 cm) percolation of soil depth in the cold periods.
- Natural and agro-ecosystems without irrigation were characterized by the almost same bio-productivity. On the virgin and the cultivated soils without irrigation,

216

practically the same amount of biomass took place in the annual energy-mass-exchange. Capacity of cycles for nitrogen and mineral elements on the cultivated system was higher than those on the virgin soil. However, partial removal of biomass along with harvest on the cultivated soils led to a decrease of the energy reserves and materials accumulated in the soils during the virgin soil formation period.

- 3) Biological activity in the soils of the studied zone was determined by the water regime. Under the virgin vegetation, due to fast consumption of water for evapotranspiration, the biological activity concentrates in spring and early summer time. In cultivated soils with no irrigation, the biological activity including the activity of cellulose decomposition increased by almost 2 times, which was determined by the improved water regime.
- 4) CO<sub>2</sub> regime in the soil air and the intensity of gas exchange varied during the vegetative period depending upon the hydrothermal conditions and plant development. Maximum concentrations of CO<sub>2</sub> and intensity of its emission rate were achieved in the first half of the warm period as a result of intensive plant growth and high biological activity of the soils. In the second half of vegetation period, CO<sub>2</sub> concentration in the soil air as well as intensity of soil respiration significantly decreased. The pattern of CO<sub>2</sub> concentration curves in the soil air and intensity of soil respiration rate complied with the same pattern as those of the biological activity and plant growth that were determined by the dynamics of water regime fluctuation. Soils of Askania steppe were characterized by spatial 5) heterogeneity of the humus content. Based on the humified layer of soil, both on the virgin and the cultivated soils, two soil groups were separated: i.e. 55-65 cm and 70-80 cm; and within both the groups, on the virgin land there were 5 and on the cultivated land there are 6 groups were divided based on their particle size distribution.

6) In cultivated soils amounts of humus decreased by 10-20% relative to the virgin, herewith decrease occurred due to decrease of the least stable form - detritus. Fundamental changes in humus formation in the cultivated soils of different level of intensity relative to virgin analogues were not found. The amount of plant biomass incoming into the cycle on the non-irrigated cultivated soil is close to the virgin. Processes of humification on the studied treatments practically did

not differ, that was confirmed by the same characteristics on seasonal dynamics of total and labile humus. Results of fractional composition of both the total and the labile forms of humus indicated the same characteristics of humus formation both in the cultivated and the virgin soils (Chapter 4).

Since fertilizer application is determinative for obtaining contented yield of agricultural crops, its proper use with the aim to conserve and restore the fertility of Chernozem soils is a most important responsibility both of scientists and practicing farmers. The agronomic impact via fertilization, manure application and irrigation on SOM changes, both total and labile, of Chernozems in Ukraine were investigated through analyzing dynamics of labile organic matter. As a result, it was concluded that application of high rates of manure tended to increase labile forms of SOM, such as potentially mineralizable C and N, as well as soil microbial biomass, due to higher input of humic materials applied with manure. Also, application of manure tended to activate biochemical processes due to addition of large number of microorganisms that resided in manure, hence increasing the possibilities for organic matter transformations, both, mineralization and immobilization (Chapter 5).

Soil respiration, i.e. carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) emission from soils both under Forest steppe zone in Kharkov, northeastern Ukraine and Dry steppe zone in Askania Nova was measured in order to determine a dependence of in situ carbon flux on soil temperature and moisture as well as to estimate annual carbon flux from Chernozem and Kastanozem soils in Ukraine. Two experimental plots were selected; i.e. Grakovo Experimental Field (N49° 44', E36° 56', Alt: 154 m) and Askania Nova Biosphere Reserve (N46° 27', E33° 53', Alt: 27 m). At these plots soil respiration with  $(C_{em+R})$  or without  $(C_{\rm em-R})$  plant roots-respiration was measured several times during growing season in 2002 and 2003 by a closed-chamber method. It should be noted that the annual precipitation in 2003 was much higher than in normal years. As a result, in Grakovo, inter-annual variation of soil respiration was much higher than in Askania Nova. Despite the difference in the amount of the respiration, the maximum value for each year was recorded in May in Grakovo. The seasonal pattern of soil respiration was not clear in Askania Nova. Based on the measured data, the amounts of  $C_{\rm em+R},\,C_{\rm em-R}$  and plant root respiration  $(C_{em+R}-C_{em-R})$  are calculated; in Grakovo, the average proportion of root respiration in whole soil respiration was 53.2%, with ranging from 30.8 to 73.4%, whereas in Askania Nova, the average was 37.2% except for one negative value. For determining the total annual soil respiration, we firstly derived an equation that describes the relationship between the in situ soil respiration rate and/or soil temperature and moisture by multiple regression analysis using Arrhenius type model. The total soil respiration was then calculated by the equation with application of the monitored soil temperature and moisture data. As a result, in both the sites, positive correlation between soil respiration and soil temperature as well as soil moisture was observed. The  $Q_{10}$  value for Grakovo was 2.8, whilst for Askania Nova was 1.7. In conclusion, in Grakovo (Chernozem) annual whole soil respiration in 2002 and 2003 was 3.61 and 9.76 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>, respectively, whilst in Askania Nova (Kastanozem) 2.52 and 2.54 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. The root respiration contributed about half of the whole soil respiration in each site. The soil microbial respiration in Grakovo was equivalent to the belowground biomass in the surface 10 cm, whilst that in Askania Nova was about 30% of the belowground biomass in 10 cm (Chapter 6).

### 18.2. SOM dynamics in northern Kazakhstan steppe (Chapters 7 to 10)

General soil characteristics in Kazakhstan steppe were investigated. The soils that had been developed on quaternary deposits in northern steppe were strongly affected by the characteristics of the expandable 2:1 minerals mainly in the fine clay fraction. The tongue-penetration of SOM in soil profiles, slow percolation of water from snowmelt at springtime, or clay translocation observed in forest and/or saline soils can be attributed to the mineralogical properties described above. A fairly large amount of soluble salts were often accumulated in deeper layers in the soils on the quaternary deposits in the northern steppe. It may be a cause of secondary soil salinization if an intensive irrigation agriculture were introduced in this area. On the other hand, in the loess-derived soils in the southern mountain foothills, the amounts of soluble salts in deeper layer were small, if any. At the same time, relatively coarse-textured soils distributed in a desert side. A potential risk of secondary salinization is considered to be limited in this area (Chapter 7).

In order to examine the effects of summer fallow on the characteristics of SOM on a long-term basis (type of crop rotation with a variety of frequencies of fallow) as well as on a short-term basis (pre- and post-fallow phases), dynamics of labile SOM such as readily mineralizable and "light fraction" SOM were investigated on Southern chernozem in northern Kazakhstan. Our results suggested that N dynamics were closely related to the recent input of substrate added as plant residue while C dynamics were more related to longterm substrate addition. Yearly input of plant residue in a 6y wheat-fallow rotation system built up more labile OM, especially LF-C or readily decomposable C, whereas 2-y rotation system with a high frequency of fallow depleted SOM via accelerated mineralization. The relatively high SOM content under continuous-wheat system may be due to (a) high nutrient content in this soil due to former fertilization, (b) the high input of nutrients from the weed biomass, and (c) the low output of nutrients with the crops. Losses of labile OM as a result of cultivation tend to be disproportional higher than total OM losses. Therefore, labile fractions of SOM such as PMC, PMN and LF-OM are good indices for detecting subtle changes of SOM quality due to the effects of summer fallow in semi-arid regions (Chapter 8).

In order to determine the SOM budget under grain farming in the Chernozem soil of northern Kazakhstan, in situ soil respiration and soil environmental factors such as soil temperature as well as moisture content were investigated. Five experimental plots including one fallow field were established at the experimental farm of Barayev Kazakh Research and Production Center of Grain Farming, Shortandy, northern Kazakhstan (mean annual precipitation and average year temperature are 323 mm and 1.6°C, respectively). Mean daily soil temperature increased to above 0°C in early April, remaining at above 20°C from mid-June to mid-August, and then sharply decreased to below 5°C at the end of September. Most of the biological activities were considered to be limited from April to September. On the other hand, the soil moisture content remained high after thawing until mid-June and then continuously decreased in the cropped plots except during the rainfall events. The soil respiration rate recorded the highest values from late June to early July and overall fluctuations were similar to those of the soil temperature, unlike the fluctuations of soil microbial C and N contents, which exhibited similar patterns to those of the soil moisture content. In order to represent the daily soil respiration rates using the soil environmental factors, the following relationship was introduced as a model function:  $C_{em} = aM^b e^{-E/RT}$ . The coefficients, a, b, and E (activation energy in Arrhenius equation), were determined by stepwise multiple regression after logarithm transformation using the measured data,  $C_{em}$  (daily soil respiration rate), M (volumetric soil moisture content), and T (absolute soil temperature). As a result, a significant

relationship was always obtained between the soil respiration rate and the activation energy, E, while the contribution of the soil moisture content to the soil respiration rate was uncertain. Using the regression equations and monitored data of soil temperature and moisture content, cumulative soil respiration throughout the cropping period was calculated to be in the range of 2.5 to 3.2 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>. On the other hand, the amounts of crop residues in the cropped plots that were expected to be incorporated into the soils ranged from 1.6 to 4.4 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>. Except for the plot planted with oats (higher amounts of residues than for wheat), the SOM budget was slightly negative in this year, that is, the soils lost their organic matter stock. Although it is difficult to generalize the C budget in different years because of the large variations in crop growth due to fluctuating water resources, the disadvantage of summer fallow (no residues) was obvious in terms of SOM budget. The net soil respiration rate in the fallow plot, 2.9 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>, was approximately equivalent to 4% of the total SOM stock in the plow layer (30 cm) (70 to 80 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>). To reduce further loss of SOM, at least evenly extensive use of summer fallow should be reconsidered (Chapter 9).

The water dynamics and budget in soil-plant ecosystems under dry farming in northern Kazakhstan were investigated for two consecutive years from autumn in 1998 to the end of the cropping season in 2000. In total, 12 plots were established at the experimental farm of Baravev Kazakh Research and Production Center of Grain Farming, Shortandy, and the soil moisture content up to the 90 cm depth was measured several times throughout the period. In spite of snow management during the winter time, in which parallel snow rows were developed in order to accumulate additional snowfall between the rows, the increase in the soil moisture content at the time of thawing widely ranged from -40 to 74 mm in 1999 and from -6 to 84 mm in 2000, respectively. Monitoring of the soil temperature revealed that, in the plots after fallow, a higher moisture content in the frozen subsurface soil layer was responsible for the slow thawing there, resulting in slower water percolation from the overlying layers of the profile and in water loss through enhanced evaporation and possible surface runoff. After thawing, the soil moisture content decreased throughout the cropping season, except during several rainfall events. The evapotranspiration was estimated to range between 194 and 259 mm during the cropping season. The biomass and yield of wheat at harvest time were linearly correlated with the estimated evapotranspiration, indicating that crop production here was mostly determined by the amounts of available

water. The initial soil moisture content accounted for 27 to 52% of the total evapotranspiration. In the summer fallow plots, 39 to 104 mm more water accumulated in 1999 and 100 to 119 mm in 2000 than in the cropped plots, respectively. Comparison of the water budgets during the pre-cropping and cropping seasons in the plots under fallow and cropping revealed that both summer fallow and snow management could increase the soil moisture content up to approximately 100 mm, but that the benefit of snow management would be occasionally canceled by the effect of the summer fallow. Given the possibly adverse effects of the summer fallow on enhanced decomposition of SOM, we recommend that snow management should be the main approach for capturing water in the studied plots rather than the summer fallow practice. Further studies should be carried out to determine whether soil and/or topographical conditions are more effective for individual water-capturing management and also are more suitable from economic and environmental viewpoints (Chapter 10).

## 18.3. Comparison of properties of SOM in steppe ecosystems in different environments (Chapters 13 and 14)

The climatic conditions are one of the most critical factors to determine the soil formation processes and distribution in the Eurasian steppe area. Both Chernozems and Kastanozems in the Eurasian steppe are rich in SOM, which can support a luxuriant production of plant and biomass. Humic acids are the mixture of continuum of HA molecules with different degree of humification and their chemical characteristics vary depending on their degree of humification. Therefore, indexes of humification are useful to evaluate the effects of agricultural management practices on SOM dynamics and qualities of humic substances. In the present study, Chernozemic and related soil samples under natural grasslands and arable lands were collected from Ukraine, Hungary and Canada to investigate the properties and characteristics of the SOM dynamics of humic substances in the steppes.

The greater part of lands is covered by Chernozems and the related soils in Ukraine, where must be the central and representative Chernozemic zones in the Eurasian steppe. In the eastern part of Ukraine, the *climosequence* of the soils from the northern wetter zones to the southern drier zones can be distinctly observed. Under the moist conditions in the north, Typical Chernozems and Ordinary Chernozems, which can be distinguished by a deep black surface horizon with strongly-developed structures and the highly humified Type A humic acids, of which the *RF* value and aromaticity are remarkably high. Southern Chernozems and Dark Chestnuts are the common subtypes under the relatively dry moisture regime, the profiles of which can be characterized by a relatively thin dark-brown or brownish black surface horizon. These soils are also characterized by the Type A humic acids, however, the *RF* value is less than Typical Chernozems and Ordinary Chernozems. The carbon stock as organic carbon and/or inorganic carbon through the profile is extremely high in either case, can support and assure a luxuriant production of plant and biomass, and can reduce greenhouse gases.

The lands covered by Chernozemic soils and the climatic conditions in such areas are suitable for wheat, barley and maize production, alongside other food crops and vegetables. The intensive agricultural practice would induce soil carbon degradation, due to low input of plant residues and high microbial decomposition of organic matter accompanied by plowing, resulting in irreversible decrease in the soil fertility. The soil colors of the surface horizons in the arable soils of Hungary and Canada are brownish black to dark brown, not real black, and the organic carbon contents in the topsoils are relatively lower than those of Ukraine, probably reflecting the soil carbon degradation through agricultural impacts. They are characterized by the Type A or B humic acids, of which  $\Delta \log K$  value is higher, the *RF* value is lower, and aromaticity is remarkably lower than those of the typical Type A humic acids observed in Ukraine.

From the results, it was inferred that the intensive agricultural impacts can lead to changes not only in the SOM quantity but also in the SOM quality of humic acids, especially the decrease in the aromatic and highly-humified HAs of smaller particle size. The long-term cultivation and fertilization may contribute to the formation of labile (not stable) humic substances (larger particle size) at the expense of highly aromatic HAs (smaller particle size), which are more resistant to microbial decomposition and act as the binding agents of aggregate stability, resulting in deterioration of soil structure and depletion of soil fertility (Chapter 13).

Climate impacts the soil organic C content primarily through the effects of temperature, moisture, and solar radiation on the array and growth rate of plant species, and on the rate of soil organic C mineralization. In this chapter, properties of SOM from different climatic conditions, i.e. Kharkov (dry forest-steppe, east Ukraine; wet-frigid (mean annual temperature 6.5°C, mean annual precipitation 542 mm)), Uman (moist forest-steppe, central Ukraine; wet-mesic (8.5°C, 660 mm)), Kherson (dry steppe, south Ukraine; drythermic (11°C, 332 mm)) and Shortandy (dry steppe, north Kazakhstan; dry-frigid (1°C, 325 mm)), were analyzed with special reference to its labile fractions. Following results were obtained: Total SOM among the four agro-ecological regions was distributed as follows:

Kherson (dry-thermic) < Shortandy (dry-frigid) <= Uman (wet-mesic) < Kharkov (wet-frigid)

Labile OM among the four agro-ecological regions was distributed as follows:

Kherson (dry-thermic) >= Shortandy (dry-frigid) > Uman (wet-mesic) > Kharkov (wet-frigid)

The above comparison suggests that wet-frigid zone is the most favorable for accumulation and stabilization of SOM. Higher precipitation produced higher plant biomass contributing to the amount of SOM with further decomposition upon temperatures and soil texture. While less plant biomass production in drier regions in a lesser degree was subjected to decomposition due to moisture deficiency, thus contributing to the amount of labile SOM. Because wet-frigid (Kharkov) region maintained the highest amount of total organic carbon and the least amount of easily mineralizable organic matter (PMC), transformation of organic substrates into more stable humified forms of organic matter might have taken place more actively in this region (Chapter 14).

# 18.4. Geostatistic approach to realize SOM study for regional scale agriculture (Chapters 11 and 12)

Soil degradation or accelerated organic matter decomposition has been reported recently in northern Kazakhstan due to specific agricultural management such as summer fallow to increase the soil moisture for the cropping season. The objectives of this study were 1) to evaluate the carbon-related properties of soil and plant in relation to the topography and amount of available water in upland fields, 2) to analyze their spatial variability using geostatistics and 3) to propose a rational system of management for the promotion of sustainable agriculture in this region. Field investigations were carried out in large-scale upland fields in Shortandy, northern Kazakhstan, where a crop rotation system had been developed on Typic Haplustolls or Southern Chernozem soils. The study field (14 km×5 km) was divided into 70 plots (1 km×1 km each) and, at the center of each plot, organic carbon (C) content (0-90cm) and potentially mineralizable C content (0-15cm) in soil, total, ear and shoot

C contents in plant, and crop yield were investigated in addition to the elevation and soil water content at the beginning of the growing season. The total amount of C stored in soil (0-90cm) was 170.9 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> with the highest C content of 39.8 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> being recorded in the surface soil (0-15cm). Potentially mineralizable C in soil (0-15cm) amounted to 2.72 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>, equivalent to 6.8% of the total C in the surface soil, suggesting that a considerable part of C in soil could be released as CO<sub>2</sub> under favorable conditions for organic matter decomposition. Plant aboveground biomass C amounted to 1.8 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup>, of which 1.2 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> was returned to the field as plant residues and 0.6 Mg ha<sup>-1</sup> was removed as crop (ear). Coefficients of variation in the amount of soil mineralizable C and plant properties exceeded 40%, suggesting a considerable variation in the field. Correlation analysis indicated that the elevation showed a positive relationship with the water content, soil organic C content (p < 0.01), content of potentially mineralizable C and plant yield (p < 0.05). The spatial patterns of the measured properties in the isoarithmic maps showed that the content of soil organic C was the highest in the top plateau; water content, plant C content and yield were the highest in the north-facing slope area; whereas the values of all of these parameters were relatively low in the south-facing slope area. These results strongly suggest that the organic matter dynamics in the field was considerably affected by the topography and that the most favourable area for the storage of organic matter was different from that for food production (Chapter 11).

In this chapter, in situ CO2 emission was measured in order to evaluate the influence of crop rotation phase and topography on carbon budget in the field, with the final goal of this research being an establishment of agricultural system that enable a proper management of organic matter in the northern Kazakhstan steppe zone. Potentially mineralizable organic carbon in 2001 and 2003 had average values of 2.72 and 2.56 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>, and ranged from 0.7 to 6.9 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup> and from 1.4 to 5.1 Mg C ha-1, respectively. In geostatistical analysis, the ranges and Q values of 2001 and 2003 sampling sets were 8.5 km and 6.2 km, and 0.50 and 0.53, respectively, suggesting a considerable degree of spatial structure. In both years, potentially mineralizable organic carbon was highest in the plateau, and it was higher in the north-facing slope than south-facing slope. This result indicated that the potential contribution as a source of CO<sub>2</sub> was highest in the plateau followed by north-facing slope and then south-facing slope. In nine representative plots in terms of topography and the SOM stock above analyzed, in situ CO<sub>2</sub> emission was measured in 2002. Total of 15 measurements were accomplished during May to September. CO<sub>2</sub> emission rose toward summer, attained maximum in summer, and declined toward autumn. There were high CO<sub>2</sub> emission at plateau plots. The result coincide well with pattern of potentially mineralizable organic carbon. To estimate daily CO2 emission and to comprehend main factor of CO<sub>2</sub> emission fluctuation, relationship of CO<sub>2</sub> emission to soil temperature, water content, precipitation, and potentially mineralizable carbon was examined by multiple regression by all plots using Arrhenius model and the following equation was obtained:  $C_{\rm em} = e^{47.72} \times P^{0.137} \times C_0^{0.34} \times e^{-1089.65/RT}$  (n=130, R<sup>2</sup>=0.49) where  $C_{em}$  is CO<sub>2</sub> emission, P is precipitation for a week,  $C_0$ is potentially mineralizable organic carbon, R is gas constant; 0.082, and T is Kelvin temperature. It is notable that soil moisture factor in the multiple regression for CO<sub>2</sub> emission were excluded by stepwise estimation with probability 0.15. Total CO<sub>2</sub> emission estimated by the equation above and total carbon input as plant residue had average values of 3.71 and 3.46 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>, and ranged from 2.85 to 4.64 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup> and 1.07 to 6.52 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>, respectively. The mean carbon budget was -0.21 Mg C ha<sup>-1</sup>, implying that soil degradation is progressing under the current conditions. In the geostatistical study, the range of total carbon input and carbon budget was about 5.0 km, and the Q value of was about 0.9, and this result show that the spatial pattern of total carbon input and carbon budget is similar. The range of total CO<sub>2</sub> emission was 7.4 km, and the Q value was 0.5. The total CO<sub>2</sub> emission was highest in the plateau followed by north-facing slope then south-facing slope. The distribution pattern of soils respiration showed similar trend with potentially mineralizable organic carbon, and these results suggest that the loss of soil organic carbon is related to topography. The carbon budget was highest in the eastern part of north-facing slope where total carbon input was highest, and their total CO<sub>2</sub> emission was small. The carbon budget was positive in the eastern part of north-facing slope, northern part of plateau, and western part of south-facing slope, and it is indicated that these zones contributed to carbon accumulation. Contrary, the carbon budget was negative in the all of summer fallow plots. Most of the barley plots which were situated in the western part of north-facing slope, also were negative carbon budget. There was relatively large CO<sub>2</sub> emission and small carbon input in the barley plots. In this agricultural ecosystem, the summer fallow management and crop rotation system regardless of local condition is resulting in the significant decrease of soil organic carbon. In the semi-arid croplands of northern Kazakhstan, the fate of soil organic carbon is related to landscape and crop rotation phase. To establish an agricultural system that properly manages organic matter, site-specific management should be paid more attention (Chapter 12).

### 18.5. Toward the establishment of SOM dynamics model under different bio-climatic conditions (Chapters 15 to 17)

Because of the complex interactions amongst several factors, regional and macroclimatic influences on readily mineralizable organic matter are not vet well understood. In this chapter, we analyzed factors controlling mineralization of SOM in different regions of Eurasian steppe using a total of 41 surface soil samples (0-10 cm) from Ukraine and Kazakhstan. All the sites were classified into 4 land use categories, i.e. grassland, forest, cropland and desert. The amount of C and N ( $NH_4^+$  and  $NO_3^-$ ) mineralized was measured by titration after 7, 35, 63 and 133 days and simulated by the simple first order kinetic model, the double first order model with different rate constants (for C), logistic model (for N) and Gompertz equation. The contents of light fraction (LF) and heavy fraction (HF) were determined using sodium iodide solution (1.6 g cm<sup>-3</sup>). Though light fraction (LF) occupied only 1.3 % of the whole soil by weight, LF carbon (LFC) and nitrogen (LFN) accounted for 9.5% of total C and 9.3% of total N. The amount of LFC in the forest sites (6.5 g C kg<sup>-1</sup>) and the grassland sites (3.5 g C kg<sup>-1</sup>) were 10.8 and 5.8 times higher than the cropland sites (0.6 g C kg<sup>-</sup> <sup>1</sup>), respectively. The LF C/N ranged from 13.1 to 27.3 with the higher values in the forest sites. The average  $C_0$  value was increasing in the order of the cropland sites (1115 mg C kg<sup>-1</sup>), grassland sites (2824 mg C kg<sup>-1</sup>) and forest sites (5630 mg C kg<sup>-1</sup>), whilst  $C_0/TC$  in forest (10.0%) and grassland (10.1%) sites were not significantly different.

Soil and meteorological properties were summarized into 4 factors by PCA, namely, "Clay-HF", "LF", "pH-HF C/N" and "LF C/N" factors. The clay-HF factor showed no difference among land uses, whilst LF factor in cropland sites was lower than the others. It would be due to more labile nature of LF against decomposition than HF associating with clay and/or relatively low input of plant residues into the cropland soils. The pH-HF C/N factor in desert sites was higher than the others. The LF C/N factor in the forest sites showed the highest of all. It might be due to high accumulation of C from litterfall in the forest sites. Using the four factors as independent variables, stepwise regression analysis was conducted to simulate  $C_0$  or  $N_0$  as dependent variables. The following two equations were obtained:

 $C_{0} (\text{mg C kg}^{-1}) = 2622 + 1976 (\text{LF factor}) + 837 (\text{clay-})$ HF factor) + 778 (LF C/N factor)  $(R^2 = 0.81^{**})$  $N_{0}$  (mg N kg<sup>-1</sup>) = 198 + 88 (LF factor) + 66 (clay-HF factor) +18 (LF C/N factor)  $(R^2 = 0.75^{**})$ Though average LF content in soils was 1.3% in whole soil by weight and 9.5% in total carbon, the contribution of LF to  $C_0$  was much higher than that of HF associating with clay. This probably reflects the relatively labile nature of LFC, which is more easily decomposed than HFC. The contribution of LF to  $N_0$  was, however, not conspicuous as  $C_0$ . LF C/N contributed positively both to  $C_0$  and  $N_0$ . In conclusion, the factors controlling readily mineralizable carbon  $(C_0)$  and nitrogen  $(N_0)$  content were LF, HF associating with clay and LF C/N. The higher  $C_0$  values in the forest sites were considered to be contributed by the higher LFC or higher LF C/N in the forest sites. In tern, the lowest amounts of  $C_0$  and  $N_0$  in the cropland sites were caused by low LF content in these soils (Chapter 15).

In the present research, soil respiration in Ukraine and northern Kazakhstan was investigated in Chapters 4, 6 and 9. In this chapter, results from Hungary and southern Kazakhstan are additionally reported and comparatively discussed in order to clarify possible factors that regulate in situ soil respiration. As was conducted in the previous chapters, in situ soil respiration was simulated using an Arrhenius-type equations:  $C_{em} = aM^{b}e^{-E/RT}$  and corresponding parameters were obtained. As a result, the parameter relating to temperature-dependence of SOM decomposition, namely activation energy E, was usually significant, while the contribution of moisture dependence (b) was somewhat uncertain especially in the East European plots (Ukraine and Hungary) compared to the southern Kazakhstan plots. Such a clear temperature-dependence of in situ soil respiration would be one of the main characteristics of SOM decomposition in temperate regions, not like as the case in the tropical countries, where annual fluctuation of soil temperature is limited. The values of E or  $Q_{10}$  mostly ranges between 30 and 80 kJ mol<sup>-1</sup> and 1.5 and 3, respectively, and were consistent with the range determined by laboratoryincubation experiment. Using the parameters obtained and soil-climatic data monitored by the datalogger at the nearest sites, fluctuation of soil respiration rates was calculated and then summed up for determining total annual soil respiration. It was obvious that the amount of annual soil respiration was higher in the southern Kazakhstan plots than in the others.

According to the available paired data, the contribution of the root respiration was calculated to be approximately a half of the whole soil respiration.

In order to analyze the factors affecting the amounts of annual soil respiration in the study plots (four from southern Kazakhstan, 2 from Hungary, 2 from Ukraine and 1 from northern Kazakhstan), principal component analysis followed by stepwise multiple linear regression was conducted for the datasets. Variables employed included mean annual precipitation (MAP), mean annual temperature (MAT), altitude, clay content, organic C, total N, potentially mineralizable C ( $C_0$ ), and total biomass measured. As a results, three principal components were obtained; i.e. "humidity and SOM accumulation", "delay of SOM decomposition", and "biomass accumulation" factors. The annual amount of soil respiration (*ASR*) was well explained with the following equation:

 $ASR = 8.304 + 4.928 \times$  ("humidity and SOM accumulation" factor) - 3.658 × ("biomass accumulation" factor); and R<sup>2</sup> = 0.87\*\* (n = 9).

This equation indicated that:

 The increasing humidity, i.e. precipitation, increased overall SOM accumulation and also increased annual soil respiration possibly through different manners; that is, as a direct source of SOM decomposition, and by enhancing plant root respiration under comfortable moisture regime or through providing good soil physical/ chemical conditions.

2) The negative contribution of "biomass accumulation" factor was considered to be an indirect one. That is, as perennial properties of the plant community increased, C accumulation into plant biomass increased mostly as root biomass; or annual species cannot accumulate the primary production and could rapidly consume it through respiration.

Thus our approach successfully analyzed the possible factors that regulate annual soil respiration under different climatic conditions (Chapter 16).

In this chapter, we comparatively analyze possible relationships between the physical fractions of SOM (LF and HF) and parameters biologically determined by incubation experiment, such as readily (or potentially) mineralizable organic C ( $C_0$ ), rate constant of decomposition, its temperature/moisture dependence, etc., using soils from ecologically different environments, i.e. steppe soils from Ukraine and Kazakhstan and forest soils from Japan. Main objectives here are seeking possibility for constructing SOM

simulation models based on physically determined fractions as well as to fix parameters that should be taking into account when we compare the behaviors of SOM under different environments. In order to assess the C mineralization patterns of the soils in relation to the physicochemical properties and/ or physically determined organic fractions (LF and HF), we tried different two approaches to simulate the C mineralization patterns observed. One is supposing first-order kinetics for C mineralization of each sample with one fixed pool of readily mineralizable SOM  $(C_0)$ , which is decomposed under varying k values according to temperature and moisture conditions:  $CRt = e^{\alpha} \theta^{b} e^{-E/RT} (C_0 - C_{min})$ . The other is supposing, for analyzing each of the steppe or forest soils all together, a universal relationship between the rates of C mineralization at the initial stage of the incubation, i.e. 7th day, (CR7), the amounts of LFC and HFC and their respective rate constants,  $k_1$  and  $k_2$ , which are variable according to temperature and moisture conditions:  $CR7 = e^{a_1} \theta^{b_1} e^{-E_l/RT} LFC7$  $+ e^{a_2} \theta^{b_2} e^{-E_2/RT}$  HFC7. In this case, the universal rate constants,  $k_1$  and  $k_2$ , are determined for LF and HF, respectively, both in the steppe and forest soils.

In the first approach, the values of coefficient b, which is related to moisture dependence of rate constant, are significantly higher in the steppe soils than in the forest soils. However, the temperature dependence, which is represented by the value of E or  $Q_{10}$ , is not significantly different between the two groups of soils. The values of k under a fixed condition (at  $T = 25^{\circ}$ C,  $\theta = 0.4$ ) in the steppe soils range from 0.0072 to 0.0169 d<sup>-1</sup> - mean resident times (MRT) are approximately from 60 to 140 d - are also higher than those in the forest soils, i.e. from 0.0047 to 0.0120 d<sup>-1</sup> or from 80 to 210 d in MRT. In the second approach, the CO<sub>2</sub> emission rates were also well simulated by the parameters with high  $R^2$  values. It should be noted, however, that the soils with strong amorphic property were excluded from this calculation because our first trial including them failed because extremely high HFC in these samples was not reflected in the  $CO_2$ emission. General trend of the parameters determined is similar to the first approach in that coefficient b and the rate constant k at a given condition (at  $T = 25^{\circ}$ C,  $\theta = 0.4$ ) are higher in the steppe soils than in the forest soils. The rate constants for LF are approximately ten-times higher than those for HF whereas the amounts of LF are only 1/13 of HF in average, resulting in almost similar contribution of LF and HF on soil respiration rate. The properties of LF are variable in different ecosystems while those of HF are rather similar. The values of k under a given condition are much higher than in the forest soils. Since main differences of the two groups of soils are pH, Core, CN ratio, and LFC content, factors relating to higher LFC content with increasing CN ratio of whole the soils, or lower pH of the forest soils are considered to be responsible for lowering k value of LF for the forest soil; presumably through suppressing microbial activity or giving selection for survival among soil microbes, resulting domination of those with higher tolerance against acidity. These factors retard active decomposition of LF in forest soils and may contribute to its accumulation in the forest ecosystems. The decomposition of LF is more pronounced than that of HF under more favorable conditions, that is, the values of  $k_{\rm HF}/k_{\rm LF}$  is decreasing along with increase of temperature and/or moisture. In turn, there is a possibility that small changes in climatic factors can substantially affect the amounts and properties of LF. Thus using the physical fractions of SOM (i.e. LFC and HFC) as measurable pools. the SOM decomposition rate at early stage of incubation (7th day) was successfully simulated for each of different ecosystems. In this approach, possible disadvantages involved in the analysis of long-term incubation were avoided. The integration of the measurable fractions into SOM-simulation models would increase the possibility of validation of the models when we compare actual and simulated changes of SOM in different ecosystems (Chapter 17).

#### 18.6. General conclusion

As summarized in Chapter 16, CO<sub>2</sub> flux from soil surfaces varied widely; it was higher in some grassland ecosystems (southern Kazakhstan) than in most of the cropland. Nonetheless a rather simple relationship was obtained between the in situ annual soil respiration and bioenvironmental factors (namely "humidity and SOM accumulation" and "biomass accumulation" factors). At the same time, in spite of apparent large difference in the CO<sub>2</sub> fluxes under the field conditions, the laboratory approach to fix decomposition rates of SOM showed an overall similarity of the rate constants within each respective ecosystem such as steppe or forest (Chapter 17). This might be one of main reasons for an apparent success of simulation models ever established, in which several pools of organic materials are supposed primarily based on the difference in the order of decomposition rate constants.

Lowering soil respiration under cropped ecosystems tended to alleviate an active degradation of SOM-related properties of soils, which was initially observed. A significant change after reclamation of natural grassland mostly appeared in the decrease of more labile fractions of SOM, such as light fraction C or  $C_0$  (Chapters 4, 5, 8 and 15). In the regional scale, the value of  $C_0$  was useful for predicting CO<sub>2</sub> emission (Chapter 12). Chernozem soils seemed to be, relatively speaking, stable against changes in environmental conditions and/or land use, not like as forest ecosystems, in which accelerated decomposition of SOM was often observed after reclamation. In this case, to simulate a drastic change of decomposition rate constants with response to environmental factors including soil acidity and/or C/N ratio, using measurable pools such as LFC, would be more important.

The geostatistical analysis in Chapters 11 and 12 suggested that the overall accumulation of SOM in agrolandscape in northern Kazakhstan was primarily affected by the cumulative primary production as a result of soil moisture regime and land use/management. Such a variation caused by topography and water regime was also pointed out in Chapter 3 for Ukrainian steppe soils. The most important determinant for primary production is water availability, whereas that of decomposition is usually temperature in the steppe ecosystems investigated (Chapters 6, 9, 10 and 16). Agricultural practices usually modifies soil water regime for achieving maximum crop production, followed by removal of primary production as harvest, but it does not essentially change the dynamics of SOM and/or nutrients (Chapter 4). If the adverse effect of agricultural practices on SOM regime under steppe environment is actually limited, as suggested in Chapters 4, 15, 16 and 17 from different approaches, a site-specific agricultural management based on the spatial patterns of organic matter dynamics would be a suitable option in reality for harmonizing sustainable agricultural production with environmental conservation by reducing organic matter decomposition.